



SAP[®] Process Control The Comprehensive Guide

- Implement SAP Process Control to manage compliance in your organization
- > Automate your processes with continuous control monitoring
- > Evaluate internal controls, manage the policy lifecycle, remediate issues, and more

Raghu Boddu Ramakrishna Chaitanya



Prathyusha Garimella, Shashidhar Garimella

SAP® Landscape Transformation Replication Server

The Practical Guide



Bonn • Boston

Imprint

This e-book is a publication many contributed to, specifically:

Editor Meagan White
Acquisitions Editor Hareem Shafi
Copyeditor Julie McNamee
Cover Design Graham Geary

iStockphoto: 157288739/© ranplett

Production E-Book Hannah Lane
Typesetting E-Book Satz-Pro, Germany

We hope that you liked this e-book. Please share your feedback with us and read the <u>Service Pages</u> to find out how to contact us.

The Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Control Number for the printed edition is as follows: 2024001803

ISBN 978-1-4932-2525-5 (print) ISBN 978-1-4932-2526-2 (e-book) ISBN 978-1-4932-2527-9 (print and e-book)

© 2024 by Rheinwerk Publishing Inc., Boston (MA) 1st edition 2024

Notes on Usage

This e-book is **protected by copyright**. By purchasing this e-book, you have agreed to accept and adhere to the copyrights. You are entitled to use this e-book for personal purposes. You may print and copy it, too, but also only for personal use. Sharing an electronic or printed copy with others, however, is not permitted, neither as a whole nor in parts. Of course, making them available on the internet or in a company network is illegal as well.

For detailed and legally binding usage conditions, please refer to the section <u>Legal Notes</u>.

This e-book copy contains a **digital watermark**, a signature that indicates which person may use this copy:

Notes on the Screen Presentation

You are reading this e-book in a file format (EPUB or Mobi) that makes the book content adaptable to the display options of your reading device and to your personal needs. That's a great thing; but unfortunately not every device displays the content in the same way and the rendering of features such as pictures and tables or hyphenation can lead to difficulties. This e-book was optimized for the presentation on as many common reading devices as possible.

If you want to zoom in on a figure (especially in iBooks on the iPad), tap the respective figure once. By tapping once again, you return to the previous screen. You can find more recommendations on the customization of the screen layout on the <u>Service Pages</u>.

Table of Contents

Notes on Usage Table of Contents

Preface

1 Introduction to SAP Process Control

1.1 History of SAP Process Control

1.1.1 Semi-Automated Controls

1.1.2 Manual Control Performance Integration with Continuous Control Monitoring

- 1.1.3 Standalone Jobs
- 1.1.4 Mass Maintenance of User Assignments
- 1.1.5 Introduction New Reports and Dashboards Based on SAP Fiori Tiles
- 1.2 Architecture and Landscape

1.3 Regulatory Requirements, Supported Systems, and Integrations

1.3.1 Regulatory Requirements and SAP Process Control

1.3.2 Business Benefit of SAP Process Control

1.3.3 Supported Systems

1.3.4 Integrations

1.4 Enterprise Risk and Internal Control Management

1.5 Enterprise Risk and Compliance Management

- 1.5.1 First Line of Defense
- 1.5.2 Second Line of Defense
- 1.5.3 Third Line of Defense
- 1.6 Summary

2 Governance

- 2.1 Strengthen Internal Controls
 - 2.1.1 People
 - 2.1.2 Processes
 - 2.1.3 Technology
- 2.2 Manage Internal Controls
- 2.3 Integration Approach
 - 2.3.1 SAP GRC Solutions
 - 2.3.2 Third-Party Solutions
- 2.4 Summary

3 Prerequisites

3.1 Check License Agreements

3.1.1 Creating the SAP GRC System in the SAP for Me Portal

3.1.2 Generating and Applying the SAP GRC License

3.2 System Sizing

- 3.2.1 Initial Sizing
- 3.2.2 Expert Sizing
- 3.2.3 Customer-Specific Sizing
- 3.3 Component and Plug-In
- Requirements
 - 3.3.1 SAP Process Control Component
 - 3.3.2 SAP GRC Plug-Ins
- 3.4 Summary

4 Basic Configuration

- 4.1 Initial Configuration
 - 4.1.1 Activate the Application in the Client
 - 4.1.2 Activate the BC Sets
 - 4.1.3 Activate Transaction SICF Services

4.1.4 Second-Level Authorizations: Maintain Authorization Customization

4.2 Workflow Configuration

- 4.2.1 Task-Specific Customizing
- 4.2.2 Entity Role Assignment
- 4.2.3 Custom Agent Determination
- 4.2.4 Fallback Users

4.3 Shared Master Data Settings

4.3.1 Create a Root Organization Hierarchy

4.3.2 Activate the Workflow for Master Data Changes

4.3.3 Maintain the Ability to Add Locally Defined Controls

4.4 Integration Framework

- 4.4.1 Create Connectors
- 4.4.2 Maintain Connectors and Connection Types
- 4.4.3 Maintain Connection Settings
- 4.5 Multiple Compliance Framework
 - 4.5.1 Define Subtypes for Regulation-Specific Attributes
 - 4.5.2 Configure Compliance Initiatives
 - 4.5.3 Relate Regulation to Plan Usage
- 4.6 Other Configurations
 - 4.6.1 Maintain Master Data Attribute Values
 - 4.6.2 Check Customizing for Case Management

4.7 Introduction to Work Centers for SAP Process Control

- 4.7.1 My Home
- 4.7.2 Master Data

- 4.7.3 Rule Setup
- 4.7.4 Assessments
- 4.7.5 Access Management
- 4.7.6 Reports and Analytics
- 4.8 Summary

5 Master Data Management

- 5.1 Introduction to Master Data
 - 5.1.1 Overview of Key Master Data Elements
 - 5.1.2 Relationship between Master Data Attributes
- 5.2 Business Process Hierarchies
 - 5.2.1 Business Process
 - 5.2.2 Subprocess
 - 5.2.3 Control
- 5.3 Organization Hierarchies
 - 5.3.1 Creation of an Organization
 - 5.3.2 Control Localization
 - 5.3.3 Add a Control Directly under the Local Subprocess
- 5.4 Users and Roles
 - 5.4.1 User Assignment
 - 5.4.2 Replacing Users
 - 5.4.3 Removing Users
 - 5.4.4 Maintaining User Assignments from the
 - Access Management Work Center

5.4.5 Central Delegation

5.5 Working with Indirect Entity-Level Controls

5.5.1 Indirect Entity-Level Control Group

- 5.5.2 Indirect Entity-Level Control
- 5.5.3 Localization of Indirect Entity-Level Controls
- 5.6 Approval Workflow for Master Data Changes
 - 5.6.1 Request Change
 - 5.6.2 Approve Change
 - 5.6.3 Implement Change
 - 5.6.4 Review Change
- 5.7 Uploading Master Data Using the Master Data Upload Generator
- 5.8 Summary

6 Control Evaluation

- 6.1 Introduction to Control Evaluation
- 6.2 Control Design Assessment
 - 6.2.1 Define Survey Library
 - 6.2.2 Scheduling Controls Using the Planner
 - 6.2.3 Workflow Structure
 - 6.2.4 Assessment and Issue Remediation Process
- 6.3 Control Self-Assessment

- 6.3.1 Define Survey Library
- 6.3.2 Scheduling Controls Using the Planner
- 6.3.3 Workflow Structure
- 6.3.4 Assessment and Issue Remediation Process

6.4 Manual Control Performance

- 6.4.1 Define Performance Plans
- 6.4.2 Scheduling Controls Using the Planner
- 6.4.3 Workflow Structure
- 6.4.4 Control Performance Process
- 6.4.5 Mass Maintenance of Performance Plans

6.5 Manual Test of Effectiveness

- 6.5.1 Define Manual Test Plans
- 6.5.2 Map Test Plans to Controls
- 6.5.3 Schedule Manual Controls Using the Planner
- 6.5.4 Workflow Structure
- 6.5.5 Control Testing and Issue Remediation Process

6.5.6 Usage of Control Performance Results

- 6.6 Reporting
- 6.7 Summary

7 Ad Hoc Issue Management

- 7.1 Configuration
 - 7.1.1 Enable Ad Hoc Issues by Object Type
 - 7.1.2 Maintain Ad Hoc Issue Sources

7.2 Issue Remediation Process

- 7.2.1 Stages
- 7.2.2 Reporting Ad Hoc Issues
- 7.2.3 Issue Remediation
- 7.2.4 Implementation of Remediation Plan
- 7.2.5 Close Issue
- 7.3 Reporting
- 7.4 Summary

8 Continuous Control Monitoring

8.1 Introduction to Continuous Control Monitoring

8.2 Data Sources

- 8.2.1 Usage of Configurable Subscenarios
- 8.2.2 Usage of Other Key Subscenarios
- 8.3 Business Rules
 - 8.3.1 Configuration of Business Rules
 - 8.3.2 Customized Date Filters and Runtime Determination Rules
 - 8.3.3 BRFplus Condition and Calculations in a Business Rule
- 8.4 Perform Control Business Rule Assignment

- 8.5 Create an Automated Monitoring Job
 - 8.5.1 Automated Monitoring Job
 - 8.5.2 Standalone Job
- 8.6 Transport Procedure
 - 8.6.1 Preparation Activities in the Original System for Transport
 - 8.6.2 Activities in the Target System after Transport

8.6.3 Transport of BRFplus Business Rule Data

8.7 Export and Import Functionality 8.7.1 Export Data Sources and Business Rules Configuration

8.7.2 Import Data Sources and Business Rules Configuration

- 8.8 Usage of the SAP HANA Subscenario
 - 8.8.1 Configuration of Calculation Views in SAP HANA
 - 8.8.2 Establishing RFC Connectors
 - 8.8.3 Creation of a Data Source in SAP Process Control
- 8.9 Reporting
 - 8.9.1 Job Monitor
 - 8.9.2 Monitoring Issue Status
 - 8.9.3 Monitoring Remediation Status
- 8.10 Summary

9 Additional Features in SAP Process Control

- 9.1 Policy Lifecycle Management
 - 9.1.1 Configuration of Policy
 - 9.1.2 Policy Review/Approve Workflow
 - 9.1.3 Policy Distribution Methods
- 9.2 Disclosure Surveys
 - 9.2.1 Types of Disclosure Surveys
 - 9.2.2 Schedule Disclosure Survey Using the Planner
 - 9.2.3 Workflow Structure
 - 9.2.4 Respond to Disclosure Survey and Ad Hoc Issue Remediation
- 9.3 Sign-Off Functionality
 - 9.3.1 Sign-Off Process Overview and Prerequisites
 - 9.3.2 Roles and Workflow
 - 9.3.3 Scheduling Using the Planner
 - 9.3.4 Perform Sign-Off
 - 9.3.5 Post Sign-Off: Master Data Freeze
 - 9.3.6 Monitor Sign-Off Report
- 9.4 Summary

10 Reporting

10.1 Reports by Work Centers

- 10.1.1 Key Reports under Master Data
- 10.1.2 Key Reports under Rule Setup
- 10.1.3 Key Reports under Assessments
- 10.1.4 Key Reports under Reports and Analytics
- 10.2 Personalization and Configuration
 - 10.2.1 Personalize Columns
 - 10.2.2 Personalize Organization Filters
- 10.3 Interpretation of Report Results 10.3.1 Report Interpretation with Time Frame Filters
 - 10.3.2 Report Interpretation with Regulation Filters
- 10.4 Summary

11 SAP Fiori for SAP Process Control

11.1 SAP Fiori Apps for SAP Process Control

- 11.1.1 SAP Fiori Architecture
- 11.1.2 Terminology

11.2 SAP Fiori Configuration

- 11.2.1 Prerequisites
- 11.2.2 Activating SAP Gateway

11.2.3 Activating Internet Communication Framework Services

11.2.4 Maintain OData Services

11.2.5 Set Up Remote Function Call Connections

11.2.6 Mapping Remote Function Call Connections to the System Alias

11.2.7 Replicate the SAP Fiori Catalog

11.3 Working with SAP Fiori Apps

11.3.1 Creating Custom Catalogs

11.3.2 Create a Custom Group

11.4 Mapping Custom Catalogs, Groups,

- and Space IDs to Transaction PFCG Roles
 - 11.4.1 Adding Catalogs to Transaction PFCG Roles
 - 11.4.2 Adding Groups to Transaction PFCG Roles
 - 11.4.3 Mapping Space IDs
- 11.5 Summary

12 SAP Financial Compliance Management

12.1 Overview

12.2 Master Data Elements

- 12.2.1 Controls
- 12.2.2 Organizations
- 12.2.3 Process

- 12.2.4 Regulations
- 12.2.5 Master Data Dashboards
- 12.3 Control Evaluation Procedures
 - 12.3.1 Procedures
 - 12.3.2 Work Packages
 - 12.3.3 Perform Manual Procedures
 - 12.3.4 Process Issues/Found Items
 - 12.3.5 Evaluation Dashboards
- 12.4 Summary

A The Authors

Index

Service Pages Legal Notes

Preface

In today's world, security breaches and compliance violations are on the rise, making it imperative for organizations to have a strong and effective approach to managing security and compliance risks. SAP Process Control is a solution enabling enterprises to manage their governance, risk, and compliance (GRC) needs and streamline their compliance management and internal control processes with its advanced features and functionalities. SAP Process Control has revolutionized the way organizations approach internal controls and compliance reporting.

This book is the ultimate guide to SAP Process Control. Whether you're an experienced GRC professional, a security analyst, or an SAP consultant, this book will equip you with a comprehensive understanding of the various features and functionalities found in SAP Process Control. From configuration to master data management, from control evaluation to reporting, this book covers everything.

So, let's embark on a journey to explore the world of SAP GRC solutions and SAP Process Control. This book will help you discover what SAP Process Control can do for you and take your career to new heights!

Target Audience

This book is written for security analysts who need to acquire an in-depth knowledge of the software to manage security risks in their organizations and for SAP consultants who want to develop expertise in SAP Process Control to help their clients manage their GRC needs.

The book is also for auditors who want to comprehend the importance of SAP Process Control and its impact on audits, IT professionals who want to learn how to use SAP Process Control to manage security and compliance risks in their organization, compliance professionals who want to understand the role of SAP Process Control in managing compliance risks, and risk managers who want to learn how to use SAP Process Control to identify and mitigate risks.

Additionally, the book targets business analysts who want to understand how SAP Process Control can help their organizations maintain compliance with regulatory requirements, C-level executives who want to grasp the significance of SAP Process Control in managing security and compliance risks, and project managers who need to implement SAP Process Control in their organizations and want to understand its features and functionalities.

Other target audiences for the book include business process owners who want to understand how SAP Process Control can help them manage their business processes and identify potential risks, SAP end users who want to understand how to use SAP Process Control to manage their access to SAP applications, compliance officers who need to manage compliance risks in their organization, and internal and external auditors who need to perform audits on an organization's or a client's security and compliance controls.

The book is a great start for consultants who want to provide advisory services on SAP Process Control to their clients, data privacy professionals who want to understand how SAP Process Control can help their organizations protect sensitive data, and system administrators who need to configure and maintain SAP Process Control in their organizations.

Furthermore, this book is a comprehensive guide catering to a wide range of professionals who need to develop a deep understanding of SAP Process Control and its features and functionalities to manage security and compliance risks in their organizations.

How to Read This Book

To make the most of this book, we suggest that you follow a specific reading approach by reading the chapters in order, as concepts introduced in earlier chapters are revisited and expanded upon later in the book. For instance, custom agent determination rules explained in <u>Chapter 4</u> are referenced in understanding the workflow rules for master data management explained in <u>Chapter 5</u> and assessments detailed in <u>Chapter 6</u> through <u>Chapter 9</u>. If you have a particular interest in a certain topic or chapter, we strongly suggest that you first read the introduction before diving into specific sections. The first few chapters provide an overview of SAP Process Control and configuration, while the following chapters discuss the individual solutions in detail.

We suggest that you read both types of chapters sequentially. However, if you want to gain more knowledge about a specific topic, you can read those chapters independently.

By following this approach, you can gain a comprehensive understanding of SAP Process Control and its features and functionalities.

How This Book Is Organized

This book is structured to serve the various individuals who work with SAP Process Control. Each chapter illustrates a specific knowledge area and builds on the skills obtained in previous sections. The chapters are as follows:

• Chapter 1

In this chapter, we'll introduce SAP Process Control and its place in the wider SAP landscapes. This chapter covers the history of both SAP GRC solutions and SAP Process Control, as well as the architecture of the solutions, their capabilities, internal control management, and more. By the end of this chapter, you'll have a solid understanding of the fundamentals of SAP Process Control and how it relates to the broader field of GRC.

• Chapter 2

In this chapter, you'll understand the importance of governance and how it helps businesses improve their compliance processes and risk management. It also gives an overview of how SAP Process Control can help strengthen internal controls.

• Chapter 3

This chapter guides you through the prerequisites required to configure SAP Process Control by providing a detailed walkthrough of how the license key can be generated and also a brief overview of the factors to be considered to arrive at the system sizing requirements.

<u>Chapter 4</u>

In this chapter, you'll learn about the basic configuration required for SAP Process Control. These steps involve activating different components of the application and defining initial configurations. This chapter provides stepby-step instructions for these tasks, which are typically performed by SAP Process Control consultants along with the support of Basis administrators in a few areas.

• Chapter 5

This chapter focuses on defining the master data required to manage and report on control testing in SAP Process Control. It covers how to maintain regulation requirements, organization hierarchies, business process hierarchies, localization of controls, and other related topics to provide you with a comprehensive understanding of the master data management process.

• Chapter 6

This chapter dives into control evaluations in SAP Process Control and their relevance. It also provides step-by-step instructions for defining the survey library, performance plans, and test plans required to evaluate the design, operating effectiveness, and other related topics to provide you with a comprehensive understanding of control evaluation.

• Chapter 7

This chapter will help you understand how to report issues identified on an ad hoc basis at various entity levels. The chapter also covers remediation, which is the process of reporting issues in addition to those identified as part of the periodic assessments.

<u>Chapter 8</u>

This chapter provides a comprehensive guide on how to automate the controls testing procedure and use processes to evaluate their operating effectiveness. Additionally, you'll learn how to define the various types of data sources and business rules to test these controls.

• Chapter 9

In this chapter, you'll learn how to manage the lifecycle of a policy using SAP Process Control. Additionally, you'll learn about additional features such as disclosure surveys and using the sign-off functionality.

<u>Chapter 10</u>

This chapter will help you learn about key standard reports delivered by SAP across master data, as well as rule setup, assessments, and Reports and Analytics work center.

• Chapter 11

In this chapter, we'll introduce you to SAP Fiori for SAP Process Control. Detailed steps on how to enable the SAP Fiori UI for SAP Process Control and how to define custom SAP Fiori groups and tiles are covered in this chapter.

<u>Chapter 12</u>

This chapter introduces you to SAP Financial Compliance Management and shows how it fits into the SAP landscape. It provides a detailed overview of the SAP Financial Compliance Management solution and how it can be effectively used for evaluating various controls.

Conclusion

By reading this book, you'll gain a comprehensive understanding of how to use the SAP Process Control application to effectively evaluate and monitor internal controls. This book is an ideal resource for anyone involved in managing SAP Process Control, SAP functional consultants with knowledge of business processes, and professionals managing an organization's GRC process because we provide comprehensive content covering all aspects of process control. Not only does this book help you understand the use of SAP Process Control to maximize the benefits of GRC processes, but you'll understand the value it can create for organizations. With its depth and breadth, the book will help you develop both business knowledge and system configuration skills for a successful SAP Process Control implementation. Overall, this book is a key reference for understanding the SAP Process Control solution, making it an essential read for anyone looking to enhance their knowledge and skills in the field.

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our heartfelt gratitude to all of those who have contributed to the creation of this book. Their support, encouragement, and expertise have been invaluable throughout this journey.

First and foremost, we want to thank our family members for their unwavering support and understanding during the countless hours we spent researching and writing this book. We also want to thank our friends and colleagues for their encouragement and support throughout the writing process.

To the team at Rheinwerk Publishing, especially Meagan White, Megan Fuerst, and Hareem Shafi, thank you for your continuous support, guidance, and belief in this project. It has been a pleasure working with you again to shape up this book.

Lastly, we want to express our gratitude to the readers who pick up this book. It's our hope that you find it insightful and thought-provoking. Your interest in these pages is the ultimate reward for the effort and dedication that went into its creation.

Thank you, one and all, for being part of this remarkable journey.

Raghu Boddu and Ramakrishna Chaitanya

1 Introduction to SAP Process Control

This chapter provides an overview of the SAP Process Control solution regarding how it has evolved over a period of time, the architectural requirements to use the solution, and the business benefits that organizations can reap in managing their internal control framework.

SAP Process Control, one of the solutions in the SAP GRC solutions portfolio, enhances an enterprise's ability to streamline compliance processes. Its primary goal is to establish a central repository for internal control documentation, serving as a definitive source and enabling automated control monitoring. Additionally, SAP Process Control offers manual control assessment capabilities through test plans and surveys.

This chapter provides an introduction to the SAP Process Control solution, its architecture, and its key functionalities. Furthermore, it highlights the solution's integration with other SAP GRC solutions (e.g., SAP Access Control, SAP Risk Management, and SAP Audit Management) and outlines its role in supporting organizations in managing risk and controls in accordance with the three lines of defense approach.

1.1 History of SAP Process Control

SAP Process Control offers support to organizations in streamlining their internal control processes and complying with various regulatory requirements. It serves as a comprehensive platform for documenting the organization's risk and control matrix (RCM) as a part of its master data, enabling the assessment of control effectiveness through standard features such as business rules, test plans, and surveys. Further details about the various elements in master data and the essential evaluation procedures are elaborated on in subsequent chapters of this book.

SAP Process Control was first released in the early 2000s. The initial release was version 2.5. However, the subsequent versions of the product, including 3.0, 10.0, and 10.1, were introduced with enhanced functionalities, integration options with other SAP GRC solutions, and improved user interfaces (UIs). The most current version of SAP Process Control available in the market is 12.0.

SAP Process Control 12.0 brings various new functionalities compared to the previous releases. Some of the key new functionalities are detailed in the following sections.

1.1.1 Semi-Automated Controls

In earlier versions of SAP Process Control, users were limited to assigning either a business rule or a manual test plan to evaluate the operational effectiveness of a control. However, from SAP Process Control version 10.1 Service Pack 15 (SP 15), SAP has added the capability to assign both a manual test plan and a business rule to the same control. To access this feature, select the **Semi-Automated** option in the **General** tab configuration of the control. For more detailed instructions on defining a control, see <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.3</u>. It's important to note that in version 10.1, once results from the business rule (automated monitoring) are obtained, the functionality to respond to the test plan wasn't available.

SAP Process Control 12.0 introduces the full design for semiautomated control testing, which allows users to access exception results generated by the business rules. Users can review these results and use them as a foundation before proceeding with the manual test plan in the context of semi-automated control testing. See <u>Chapter 6</u> and <u>Chapter 8</u> for more detailed information on how to use manual test plans and business rules.

1.1.2 Manual Control Performance Integration with Continuous Control Monitoring

Manual control performance is an important feature in SAP Process Control that the process owners utilize to assess the effectiveness of process execution. In earlier versions of SAP Process Control, specifically those with an SP level lower than 4 for version 12.0, performance plans were limited to a list of steps that performers had to carry out to evaluate process efficiencies. In these versions, automatic data extraction as a part of manual control performance wasn't supported. For a more detailed understanding of the purpose and usage of the manual control performance functionality, see <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.4</u>. With the introduction of this new feature as part of manual control performance execution, the control that is in scope with a business rule assigned will be triggered first to analyze data. The results are added to the control performance as links that the performers can use to complete the rest of the steps in performance plan. SAP Note 3089242 provides more details about this new functionality.

1.1.3 Standalone Jobs

This new feature is part of SAP Process Control's continuous control monitoring (CCM) functionality, which is designed to automate the testing of controls. In previous versions of SAP Process Control, it was mandatory to assign a business rule to a control before it could be scheduled for automated monitoring. However, with the introduction of standalone jobs, SAP has provided the flexibility to schedule business rules directly, without the requirement of assigning them to a control. Any issues identified by the system during standalone monitoring can be reviewed by the GRC admin team, and ad hoc issues can be reported as needed. Refer to <u>Chapter 8</u>, <u>Section 8.5.2</u>, to understand more about standalone jobs.

1.1.4 Mass Maintenance of User Assignments

A key feature in SAP Process Control involves assigning responsibility by mapping users to master data entities. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.4.1</u>, to understand more about the relevance of assigning users and the steps involved. As a

part of ongoing business operations, a need may arise to replace users for various reasons, such as individuals leaving the organization or moving to different roles. In earlier versions of SAP Process Control, this is a manual process. However, with the introduction of the mass role reassignment functionality in version 12.0, it's now possible to remove user assignments or perform mass replacements, streamlining this process for greater efficiency.

1.1.5 Introduction New Reports and Dashboards Based on SAP Fiori Tiles

With SAP Process Control 12.0, SAP introduced multiple SAP Fiori app-based reports to provide greater insights to management. Following are the key SAP Fiori app-based reports introduced in version 12.0:

My Compliance Tasks

An overview page providing a holistic view of the control evaluation results to the compliance manager.

Manual Test of Effectiveness

The enhanced list view offers a more comprehensive way to review the results of manual tests of effectiveness, providing information on the current status of the steps completed within each of the test plans triggered. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.5</u>, to understand more about the manual test of effectiveness functionality.

Monitor Issue Status

A new report providing a detailed view of the issues reported across control evaluations basis on the issue priority.

Monitor Control Status

An enhanced report providing a detailed view of the test results for control effectiveness, design assessment, and self-assessment. This is an interactive report where the granular details of the evaluation can be accessed using the hyperlinks available in the report.

SAP continuously enhances SAP Process Control by introducing numerous additional functionalities and features with each SP release. For in-depth information on the latest enhancements and capabilities, visit the following website: *http://s-prs.co/v579900*.

1.2 Architecture and Landscape

As mentioned, SAP Process Control is a robust solution that plays a pivotal role in helping organizations effectively manage their compliance processes and internal control requirements. This section speaks more about its core components, architecture, landscape, and alignment with an organization's broader IT infrastructure.

SAP Process Control 12.0 offers various implementation options. It can be deployed as an add-on, either on a standalone SAP NetWeaver application or as an embedded version within the SAP S/4HANA environment. The core GRC Foundation for ABAP (GRCFND_A) component acts as the foundation, facilitating the seamless integration of SAP Access Control, SAP Process Control, and SAP Risk Management solutions.

Figure 1.1 provides a detailed overview of the SAP Process Control architecture. It details how the solution connects to the database, presents a user-friendly frontend interface through SAP Business Client or SAP Fiori, and showcases its integration capabilities with other SAP ERP and SAP S/4HANA systems via Remote Function Calls (RFCs). This architecture diagram is a valuable reference for understanding the key components and interfaces within the SAP Process Control environment.



Figure 1.1 SAP Process Control Architecture

Refer to the following link to learn more about the architecture and other information: *http://s-prs.co/v579901*.

SAP Process Control can be installed on any database. However, to utilize some of the reporting functionalities and CCM capabilities, an SAP HANA database is required and recommended.

The only functionality in SAP Process Control that uses data from other backend systems is CCM (automated monitoring) where the SAP Process Control system connects with the target system using RFC connections. See <u>Chapter 8</u> to understand more about automated monitoring.

The UI in SAP Process Control can be through web-based SAP Business Client, which is available by default with the installed component (GRCFND_A). However, if the organization would like to enhance the UI, the SAP Fiori component for SAP Process Control (UIGRRMPC 200) can be installed to use the SAP Fiori UI. SAP Fiori can be implemented as an embedded model or a central hub model. Detailed steps to configure and use SAP Fiori apps are outlined in <u>Chapter 11</u>.

The backend systems must have the GRCPIERP and GRCPINW plug-ins. More information about the add-on versions and plug-in versions is given in <u>Chapter 3</u>, <u>Section 3.3.1</u> and <u>Section 3.3.2</u>.

1.3 Regulatory Requirements, Supported Systems, and Integrations

The SAP Process Control solution enables enterprises to strengthen the process of managing internal control procedures by providing a platform that acts as a central repository of all the controls across various processes that are defined to mitigate the risks. In addition, the solution also has inherent features to evaluate the controls and identify their owners, which increases the responsibility to ensure that controls are operated effectively in the organization. This section provides an overview of how organizations are surrounded by various regulatory requirements to have a strong internal control framework and how SAP Process Control can help meet these requirements.

1.3.1 Regulatory Requirements and SAP Process Control

Numerous regulatory bodies and standards place an obligation on organizational senior management to establish a robust internal control framework to prevent the materialization of risks that could adversely affect the organization. Here is a brief overview of some of these requirements, along with an explanation of how SAP Process Control can assist in fulfilling these obligations:
Auditing Standard AS 2201 from the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

The Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) is a corporation established to oversee and provide guidelines for audits of public companies to ensure there are no adverse impacts to investors. One of the key auditing standards released by PCAOB is AS 2201, which talks about the audit of internal controls over financial reporting.

This standard establishes requirement to have effective internal controls over financial reporting, which provides reasonable assurance about the financial statements. When evaluating the controls, auditors consider the following areas:

Selection of controls and testing

The selected controls in the scope of audit should be assessed for design effectiveness, which can be performed by inquiring with appropriate personnel and evaluating the relevant documentation. SAP Process Control provides the standard functionality to evaluate the design effectiveness of controls using the survey functionality. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2</u>, to understand more about the configurations and steps involved in using the control design assessment functionality in SAP Process Control.

Similarly, the selected controls are also tested for operating effectiveness to evaluate whether the control as designed is ensuring no unauthorized activities or fraudulent activities are taking place. SAP Process Control provides the standard functionalities to evaluate the operating effectiveness of controls based on the nature of testing (automated or manual). See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.5</u>, to understand more about how manual controls are tested, and see <u>Chapter 8</u> to understand more about how automated controls are tested for operating effectiveness.

 Identifying significant accounts and disclosures and their relevant assertions

While auditing the financial reports of an organization, it's important for the audit team to identify significant accounts that have major influence on the financial reports and to identify the relevant financial assertions. These significant accounts drive the control selection process to test and determine the required evidence for the scope of audit.

SAP Process Control provides a feature to document account groups and establish necessary relationships with the processes that are influenced by them. Similarly, there is an inherent functionality to manage how significant accounts can be determined. See the discussion of the **Account Groups** tab under <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.2</u>, to understand more about defining account groups, mapping relevant assertions, and determining significant account groups.

Sarbanes-Oxley Act, 2002

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act is another key regulation that addresses the process of managing risks in financial reporting. It establishes guidelines for publicly listed organizations on how to manage the financial reporting process, internal audits, and internal control mechanisms. Following are the two key clauses of this regulation and details regarding how SAP Process Control provides the platform to manage these regulatory expectations:

Section 302: Corporate Responsibility for Financial Statements

This clause mandates that the company's top management should certify the effectiveness of the internal control framework and also accept responsibility by acknowledging the internal controls defined in the organization and their current effectiveness.

SAP Process Control provides a sign-off functionality that is scheduled on a periodic basis to obtain sign off from the organization's top management on the effectiveness of the internal controls defined in the organization and the number of open issues identified during the evaluation of these controls. See <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.3</u>, to understand the process of enabling the sign-off functionality, the impact on the master data after sign-off, and open issues/remediation plans.

Section 404: Internal Control over Financial Reporting Requirements

This clause establishes the requirement that management of the organization has to periodically assess and report the results of such assessments on the effectiveness of the controls.

SAP Process Control provides a platform to document all the internal controls defined in the organization and also evaluate the effectiveness of the controls across various dimensions on a periodic basis. Following are the key assessments that can be performed using SAP Process Control and reference to respective sections in this book to understand the details of how each can be used:

- Control design assessment: <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2</u>
- Control self-assessment: <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.3</u>
- Manual control performance: Chapter 6, Section 6.4
- Manual test of effectiveness: Chapter 6, Section 6.5
- Automated control monitoring: <u>Chapter 8</u>

In addition to these functionalities to evaluate the controls, SAP Process Control also provides multiple standard reports that can be used to present the current status of the control's health across the organization. See <u>Chapter 10</u> to understand more about the standard reports and dashboards SAP delivers out of the box and the process of extracting the results using such reports

Committee of Sponsoring Organization Framework

The Committee of Sponsoring Organization (COSO) is another important internal control regulatory framework that establishes guidelines as to how the internal controls should be defined, which can provide reasonable assurance on how effectively the processes are operating in the organization. The COSO framework has five key components that specify how the controls should be classified:

- Control environment
- Risk assessment and management
- Control activities
- Information and communication

• Monitoring

SAP Process Control provides two features you can use to classify controls into these five categories:

Business process controls

While configuring the control under the business process hierarchy in SAP Process Control, the control classification can be mapped using the **Control Relevance** field under the **General** tab. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.3</u>, to understand more about how to use this field.

Indirect entity-level controls

Similar to the business process controls, SAP Process Control provides a different functionality to capture the indirect entity-level controls that are conceptually classified into the five categories directed by the COSO framework. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.5</u>, to understand the process of defining indirect entity-level controls.

In addition to the regulations just stated, there are many other regulations and frameworks, such as J-SOX (Japan's version of Sarbanes-Oxley) and Control Objectives for Information and Related Technologies (COBIT), that also drive the importance of having a strong internal control framework and also establish management's responsibility for certifying the control operations in the organization.

1.3.2 Business Benefit of SAP Process Control

As outlined, SAP Process Control holds a critical role within an organization's internal control management process, offering a range of business advantages that can be realized through via its functionalities. Following are some of the benefits that organizations can obtain using SAP Process Control:

• Single source of truth

The business process hierarchy functionality in SAP Process Control allows for the centralization of processes that were previously managed in isolated and manual ways. This functionality assigns ownership for each control, establishing accountability among the designated users. As a result, it creates a foundation to ensure that controls are effectively executed throughout the organization, moving away from siloed management toward a more integrated and accountable approach.

Strengthen control framework

SAP Process Control improves the governance processes in the organization by aligning the controls with the objectives of the processes. In addition, it improves the accountability throughout the organization with owners identified at each master data entity level.

Streamlined process

SAP Process Control features make it easier to determine the scope of control evaluations. The attributes of the control, such as key or non-key, control the risk level and level of evidence supports in driving the testing scope decision. See <u>Section 1.5</u> to understand more about the importance of these fields when setting the testing strategy.

In addition, the process of control testing and issue remediation is much more streamlined with the use of workflow-enabled environments. Any action performed in the testing process is logged in the system and can be used for future reviews using the audit trails. With this proactive approach of evaluating the controls and remediating issues, SAP Process Control empowers organizations to manage risks more effectively and lower the chances of adverse events occurring.

Automation

Automating the control testing process is another critical feature in SAP Process Control. This functionality allows for continuous monitoring of controls without the need for human intervention, generating reports only when a violation is detected. This proactive approach empowers control owners to address any issues before they are identified or reported by internal control or audit teams. This not only enhances efficiency but also saves valuable time for control owners. The system continually evaluates data according to the predefined schedule of job triggers. Control owners are alerted only in the event of systemidentified exceptions. In the absence of notifications during a scheduled job, they can have confidence that the control is effectively operating within the organization. This automated approach streamlines control monitoring and ensures prompt responses to any anomalies.

Track actions

The responsibility for taking action on control evaluations or remediating identified issues before the due date falls on the respective process owner. SAP Process Control offers the flexibility to configure reminders based on organizational requirements. These reminders can be set to notify the responsible owner before a specific time frame (in minutes, hours, or days) from the due date. Additionally, the system provides an escalation mechanism through SAP Process Control's escalation functionality. The escalation is triggered based on custom agent determination rules defined in the Transaction SPRO configuration. This escalation process ensures that unaddressed issues are appropriately escalated within the organization for resolution. Detailed steps to configure reminders and the escalation functionality are provided in subsequent chapters.

• Reports

SAP Process Control delivers a range of reports that facilitate the real-time monitoring of compliance status and associated assessment outcomes. These reports are valuable for generating periodic updates for senior management on the overall control status within the organization. These are interactive reports that allow users to go deeper into the analysis with various sublinks within the report. Additionally, it allows users to customize the report with columns that are relevant for the analysis, enabling a more in-depth examination and a presentation of only pertinent data to the key stakeholders.

1.3.3 Supported Systems

SAP Process Control can be connected to SAP S/4HANA or SAP ERP systems only when using the continuous control monitoring (CCM) functionality. See <u>Chapter 8</u> to understand more about using the CCM functionality. SAP Process Control can connect with all the ABAP-based SAP systems using the RFC connectors configured in Transaction SM59. To connect with web-based systems or non-SAP systems to perform data analysis, you must use additional third-party connectors or web services. Determining which subscenarios to use in a data source is covered in <u>Chapter 8</u>, <u>Section 8.2</u>.

With the recent enhancements in CCM, SAP S/4HANA Cloud systems can be connected to SAP Process Control, enabling the SAP Process Control system to fetch data to perform analysis. A new connection type for SAP S/4HANA Cloud was introduced to facilitate using this feature.

1.3.4 Integrations

SAP offers multiple solutions to manage the governance, risk, and compliance (GRC) processes in an organization. Each of these solutions are integrated so that the data flows seamlessly between the solutions to manage the GRC processes in the organization. In line with the integration approach, SAP Process Control is integrated with other SAP GRC solutions such as SAP Access Control, SAP Risk Management, and SAP Audit Management.

As mentioned, SAP Process Control can be integrated with SAP Audit Management, which can be installed using the SAPFRA and UIACS components. The following sections detail the specifics of how data is shared between these solutions. Additionally, SAP Process Control can be integrated with the new generation analytic solutions, such as SAP Signavio and SAP Analytics Cloud, which we'll also cover.

SAP Process Control and SAP Access Control

SAP Process Control and SAP Access Control can be integrated, which enables the following two key features:

• Sharing mitigation controls

The mitigation controls created in SAP Access Control can be extended to SAP Process Control to perform further evaluations, such as design assessment or effectiveness tests using automated monitoring or self-assessment. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.1</u> and <u>Section 5.2.2</u>, to understand the steps involved in sharing the same control between SAP Access Control and SAP Process Control.

Segregation of duties (SoD) integration

CCM is a key feature within SAP Process Control, and it enables the ongoing monitoring of user access authorization levels, especially with regard to critical access and SoD. This is achieved using the SoD Integration subscenario when defining the data source and business rules.

It's important to note that the SoD integration scenario operates effectively only when the SAP Access Control application is activated in the same client and Access Risk Analysis is properly configured. This integration leverages the rules and risks defined within the Access Risk Analysis functionality of SAP Access Control to establish the business rules in SAP Process Control for monitoring user access and roles.

To gain a more in-depth understanding of how SoD integration business rules are created in SAP Process Control, see the "SoD Integration" subsection in <u>Chapter 8</u>, <u>Section 8.2.2</u>. This integration ensures that organizations can effectively monitor and manage critical access and SoD in a systematic and more compliant way.

SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management

Another key integration point between SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management is that the controls and policies defined in SAP Process Control can be used as responses in SAP Risk Management to mitigate the inherent risk levels.

In addition to just mapping the controls from SAP Process Control as responses in SAP Risk Management, the control evaluation results can be converted using Transaction SPRO configurations to identify the completeness and effectiveness percentage of the responses, which drives the calculation of residual risk levels in SAP Risk Management. Figure 1.2 (from SAP Risk Management) shows how **Control** from SAP Process Control can be mapped as a response.



Figure 1.2 Controls Assigned as Responses in SAP Risk Management

For a more comprehensive understanding of how assessments in SAP Process Control are linked to determine response completeness and effectiveness, refer to the configuration **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Risk Management** • **Response and Enhancement Plan Path** • **Set Up Link from Control Results to RM**. Additionally, to understand the process of converting assessment results into response completeness and effectiveness percentages, you can explore the configuration **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Risk Management** • **Response and** **Enhancement Plan Path • Convert Control Rating for RM Response Field**. These configurations offer the flexibility to tailor the assessment results to the desired response completeness and effectiveness criteria. For more information, see *http://s-prs.co/v579902*.

SAP Process Control and SAP Audit Management

SAP Process Control can be seamlessly integrated with SAP Audit Management. Following are three key features that facilitate the integration between SAP Process Control and SAP Audit Management:

Controls master data

An internal audit in an organization can be conducted across a wide range of auditable items. As part of evaluating the auditable items, it's important for the auditors to identify relevant risks that can be materialized and also the controls in place to mitigate these risks impacting the organization. For organizations using SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management to manage the controls and risks, the audit teams can use the master data defined already in these solutions, eliminating the efforts involved to define them in SAP Audit Management again. SAP Audit Management has an inherent feature to schedule the standard jobs that runs on a frequent basis to import the controls from SAP Process Control and to import the risks from SAP Risk Management.

• Uses business rules in audit execution Any audit that is performed in an organization typically

follows these phases:

- Planning: Identify the areas to be audited and the teams that will conduct the audit.
- Preparation: Define the test procedures to be executed as part of the next phase.
- Execution: Execute the test procedures defined, gather the audit working papers, report any findings identified, and align on the action plans to be implemented with the auditee.
- Reporting: Prepare and align the final audit report.
- Follow-up: Follow-up and close the action plans aligned and findings reported.

As part of the audit preparation phase where the test procedures are defined by the audit teams, it's possible to integrate with SAP Process Control to fetch data and analyze it using business rules. The results of business rules can be used by the auditors as part of the execution phase to report any findings. <u>Figure 1.3</u> (from SAP Audit Management) shows where **Business Rule** can be mapped to fetch results.

2023-033	/ Financial Rep	porting I Financial	Statement - Balance	Sheet I		
Accoun	its Payabl	e				
General	Risks (0)	Controls (0)	Procedures (0)			
Description		Basic				
				Person Responsible: Sal Krishna		
Risks (O)					
						Remove +
	ID		iame	Risk Level (Inherent)	Risk Level (Residual)	Validity
				No entries found		
Proces	dures (0)					
						Add
Type		Status	Title		Person Responsible	Start D Business Rule
				No entries found		Detection
						Test
						Question

Figure 1.3Usage of Business Rules from SAP Process Control to DefineProcedures in SAP Audit Management

Raises issues from SAP Audit Management

Another key integration between SAP Audit Management and SAP Process Control is part of the auditing follow-up phase mentioned earlier: the auditor has an option to report an issue, which creates an ad hoc issue in SAP Process Control to do a further root-cause analysis and perform the remediation process. See <u>Chapter 7</u> to understand the ad hoc issue management process. Figure 1.4 shows the **Raise Issue** option available to report an issue from the SAP Audit Management solution.



Figure 1.4 Option to Raise an Issue in SAP Audit Management

SAP Process Control and SAP Signavio

SAP Signavio can be seamlessly integrated with SAP Financial Compliance Management (see <u>Chapter 12</u> to learn more about SAP Financial Compliance Management) and SAP Process Control. This integration facilitates the smooth exchange of data, ensuring a coordinated flow of information between GRC processes and other business operations. The collaborative synergy of these solutions enhances the overall effectiveness and offers a unified and robust management approach.

SAP Signavio enables the creation of visual representations for GRC processes, risk maps, control frameworks, and compliance requirements. These visualizations simplify the comprehension of intricate GRC information, aiding communication with stakeholders and generating meaningful reports for decision-making and audits.

SAP Signavio offers many flexibilities, allowing organizations to customize the platform to meet their specific GRC needs. This adaptability ensures alignment with unique frameworks, methodologies, and compliance requirements, making it a versatile solution that caters to the organization's context and objectives.

SAP Signavio's live integration points with SAP Financial Compliance Management, and SAP Process Control provides its customers with an automated, unified, and robust GRC management approach.

SAP Analytics Cloud Dashboards

SAP Analytics Cloud solution enables us to seamlessly integrate analytics and planning in a single platform, offering distinctive integrations to SAP applications and effortless access to various data sources. SAP Analytics Cloud provides 10 dashboards within SAP Analytics Cloud (9 for SAP Risk Management and 1 for SAP Process Control) and provides the flexibility to incorporate additional dashboards based on specific business needs. The existing default dashboards are listed here:

- Risk Aggregation by Risk Category
- Risk Aggregation by Impact Category
- Risk Aggregation by Driver Category
- Driver Interdependencies
- Impact Interdependencies
- Probability Level
- Driver Risk Count Heatmap
- Risk Profile
- Risk Count Heatmap
- Continuous Control Monitoring (Process Control)

For organizations that have implemented both Process Control and Risk Management, SAP Analytics Cloud can be a single platform to see all the analytical reports.

With SAP Analytics Cloud's powerful evaluations, aggregations as well as interdependency assessments are available for analysis together with monitoring capabilities on risk profile, risk bearing capacity, and probability.

Now that you've seen the overview of SAP Process Control, its architecture, and the integration with other solutions of SAP GRC, SAP Signavio, and SAP Analytics Cloud, the next sections summarize how SAP Process Control provides a platform in managing the internal control framework and compliance needs of the organization. 1.4 Enterprise Risk and Internal

SAP Process Control serves as a comprehensive platform for organizations, offering streamlined management of their internal control framework. It acts as a centralized repository for all risk- and control-related documentation and evaluations, simplifying the management of internal controls. With its built-in capabilities to manage various dimensions and automate testing procedures, SAP Process Control enhances the efficiency of internal control processes. The use of provided dashboards and reports ensures that the internal controls team has continuous access to real-time insights into control health and any associated issues identified during assessments.

Following are the key features that the internal controls teams can use in SAP Process Control:

Centralized control repository

Control Management

SAP Process Control provides all the standard features required to capture the dimensions of the RCM of the organization in one place. All the internal controls can be documented in the business process hierarchy, and the related control objectives, risks, and responsible organizations managing the controls can be mapped to establish the relationships as part of the master data. SAP also provides a standard RCM report, which can be generated to have the detailed view of the relationship between master data elements such as organization \rightarrow subprocess \rightarrow risk \rightarrow control. See <u>Chapter 10</u> to understand more about standard reports delivered in SAP Process Control.

Delivered workflows and email notifications

The control evaluations that are performed on a periodic basis are workflow driven, and the business events required to enable the workflows are delivered and easy to configure in Transaction SPRO configurations to determine the agents to whom the workflow should be triggered. See <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>, to understand more about performing custom agent determination rules configuration. In addition to sending a notification to SAP work inbox, email notifications can also be triggered to notify users as soon as an action is triggered to their inbox.

Platform for all control evaluations

As part of the defining the testing strategy in the organization and to comply with the audit requirements and compliance needs, business processes should undergo various types of evaluations. SAP Process Control provides a platform that facilitates evaluating the standard evaluations for organizations, subprocesses, controls, and policies. Following are the key evaluations that the solution caters and the references to respective chapters which provides a detailed explanation of how SAP Process Control can be configured to perform the evaluations:

- Control design assessment: <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2</u>
- Control self-assessment: Chapter 6, Section 6.3
- Manual control performance: <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.4</u>

- Manual test of effectiveness: <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.5</u>
- Automated control monitoring: <u>Chapter 8</u>
- Policy review and approvals: <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.1</u>
- Disclosure surveys: <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.2</u>
- Sign-off: <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.3</u>

1.5 Enterprise Risk and Compliance Management

SAP Process Control stands as a key component within SAP's enterprise risk and compliance solutions portfolio, enabling organizations to effectively address and manage risks and controls in accordance with regulatory requirements.

The SAP GRC solutions cater to the requirements of three lines of defense by providing seamless integrations to use the data of risks and controls and seeking independent assurance. SAP Process Control is one of the key solutions enabling this process by acting as a single source of truth with respect to internal control and compliance-related matters. The following sections detail the requirements in each line of defense and how SAP GRC solutions can meet these requirements.

1.5.1 First Line of Defense

This phase details how the regular operational activities relating to risks and compliance are managed by the business process and risk owners. As the first line of defense, it's the responsibility of the business process and risk owners to ensure the operational risks are identified, documented, assessed, and appropriately mitigated by implementing necessary controls/responses in the organization. In addition to managing the operational risks, it's also required to comply with the applicable regulations and manage policies of the organization. These risks and controls that are implemented should be continuously monitored, any issue identified as part of the process should be remediated, and details of the fix should be properly documented.

SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management are the key solutions from SAP GRC that offers functionalities to meet these requirements. SAP Risk Management offers a platform to document risks, manage the risk assessment, and implement responses to mitigate the risk level. For the other compliance needs of the first line of defense, SAP Process Control offers the following functionalities:

- Control monitoring using design assessment, selfassessment, and test of effectiveness
- Issue management, which is an inherent feature of every assessment functionality
- Policy lifecycle management (see <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.1</u> to understand more about the process of documenting and evaluating the effectiveness of the policy)

1.5.2 Second Line of Defense

This phase discusses how the corporate level risk and compliance activities should be managed by the organization. As the second line of defense, it's the responsibility of the compliance specialists to aggregate the results of risk and compliance activities from various business entity levels. The responsible owners should evaluate the overall regulatory compliances, review the internal control management processes, and present the holistic view of the current status of risks and controls in the organization.

SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management are the key solutions from SAP GRC that offer functionalities to meet the second line of defense requirements. SAP Risk Management offers a platform to aggregate the risks using underlying risks functionality and presents the status of risks using dashboards such as Heatmap. For the regulatory and internal control compliance requirements of the second line of defense, SAP Process Control offers the following functionalities:

- Aggregate deficiencies to find the overall operational effectiveness levels at the organization.
- Review the regulatory compliances using the standard reports, which can be extracted based on the regulations mapped to the controls. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.3</u>, to understand the process of how regulations are defined and mapped to the controls. In addition, see <u>Chapter 10</u> to understand how reports can be extracted for compliance status with specific regulation requirements.

1.5.3 Third Line of Defense

This phase explains about seeking independent assurance on the first and second lines of defense. As the third line of defense, it's the responsibility of the internal audit team to review and provide assurance on the activities carried out in the first and second lines of defense which are driving the maintenance of effective internal controls processes in the organization. SAP Audit Management solution supports managing the third line of defense by providing a platform to manage the life cycle of the audit, starting from planning, preparation, execution, reporting and follow-up. Because SAP Process Control, SAP Risk Management and SAP Audit Management are integrated, the details of controls and risks along with the test results can be extended to the audit management solution which becomes an input for the auditors to priorities high risk or ineffective controls in the evaluation process to provide an independent assurance.

1.6 Summary

This chapter has provided an introductory overview of SAP Process Control, beginning with its historical evolution through various versions over time. It also discussed the solution's architecture, emphasizing its integration with SAP S/4HANA and SAP ERP systems and its UI options.

Further, the chapter delved into how SAP Process Control can be effectively integrated with the other SAP GRC solutions such as SAP Access Control, SAP Risk Management, and SAP Audit Management, illustrating its holistic approach and various benefits.

2 Governance

This chapter offers an outline of the significance of governance and internal control requirements within the organization. It also presents a guide on enhancing the internal control management process and its administration through SAP GRC solutions.

Governance refers to a structured framework offering that outlines roles, responsibilities, and decision-making processes crucial for sustainable operations and success. It encompasses the mechanisms by which an organization is directed, managed, and held accountable, ensuring that it operates effectively, ethically, and in alignment with its objectives and values.

Effective governance enables companies to navigate complexities, adapt to changes, and uphold their mission and values. For example, the governance structure of a multinational enterprise defines how decisions are made across diverse geographical locations, ensuring compliance with local laws, maintaining uniformity in business practices, and safeguarding the company's reputation amid cultural variations and regulatory landscapes.

Without robust governance, organizations may face instability, inefficiencies, and a higher likelihood of encountering legal or ethical challenges that can impact growth and sustainability. The key aspects of governance include the following:

- Establishment of clear decision-making processes and structures within an organization, defining roles, responsibilities, and authorities of various stakeholders
- Ensuring transparency in operations, where information is readily available and accessible to stakeholders whenever needed
- Accountability to ensure that individuals and entities within the organization take responsibility for their actions and decisions
- Adherence to legal and regulatory requirements, as well as ethical standards and best practices, to maintain integrity and trust
- Implementing measures to identify, assess, and mitigate risks
- Engaging with various stakeholders, including shareholders, employees, customers, communities, and regulators

Good governance can help businesses in many ways. The key advantages are as follows:

- Grow the business with a clear vision, competitive advantage, new opportunities, and improved performance.
- Stay ahead of risks with risk insights, better strategies, reducing fraud and corruption, and learning lessons.
- Improve compliance with better legal understanding, reducing time and effort, and increasing accountability

and compliance adherence.

• Improve trust and reputation with ethical boundaries and responsibilities.

As mentioned, growing businesses require a multifaceted approach that encompasses various strategic initiatives. First, establishing a clear vision, steering the company toward its goals, and focusing on enhancing performance and achieving better financial outcomes are pivotal for sustained growth. This includes optimizing operations, leveraging resources efficiently, and consistently delivering on financial targets.

A comprehensive risk management strategy involves a deep understanding of current and potential future risks. Formulating strategies to mitigate these risks, preventing fraud or mismanagement, and learning from past experiences are crucial steps in bolstering the company's resilience. Improving compliance is another critical facet of business growth. Understanding legal responsibilities, particularly in the face of regulatory changes, helps ensure the company operates within the boundaries of the law. Streamlining compliance processes not only saves time, money, and effort but also ensures accountability at an operational level, fostering a culture of responsibility and adherence to regulations.

Enhancing trust and reputation is equally important, and establishing trust among stakeholders increases the company's reputation. Demonstrating responsible and ethical business practices not only builds customer loyalty but also assures investors that the business is managed sensibly and prioritizes safety and ethical standards. Now, let's consider how an effective governance can be implemented and the fundamental aspects of reinforcing governance in organizations. Does this happen through internal controls or efficient compliance management?

2.1 Strengthen Internal Controls

Before we discuss strengthening the internal controls, let's understand what an internal control is. Internal control refers to a system of policies, procedures, practices, and processes implemented by an organization to ensure the reliability of financial reporting, safeguard assets, uphold compliance with laws and regulations, and optimize operational efficiency.

These controls are designed to mitigate risks and prevent errors, fraud, and mismanagement within an organization. Internal controls encompass a wide range of activities, including segregation of duties (SoD), interim audits, checks, authorization and approval processes, physical security measures, and regular monitoring and assessment of operations. They serve as a protective mechanism, providing assurance to management, stakeholders, and external parties that the organization's operations are conducted effectively, accurately, and ethically.

These controls mitigate risks associated with noncompliance, ensuring accuracy, reliability, and transparency in operations. By continually assessing and adapting these controls, organizations can effectively navigate evolving regulatory landscapes, maintain alignment with standards, and demonstrate their commitment.

A reactive approach to compliance creates complexity and forces organizations to be less agile. Earlier, organizations viewed compliance as an obligation and created multiple siloed initiatives to meet the objectives. These initiatives typically rely on manual compliance management processes burdened with costly assessments managed using errorprone spreadsheets, documents, and email. This reactive methodology makes adapting to new regulatory requirements and changing business environments difficult.

Effective compliance management requires a common compliance risk management process, information, and technology architecture tailored to the organization's strategy and operational risk management. Compliance must now be an integral part of the organization and culture that can identify and prevent problems as an ongoing process that must be monitored, maintained, and nurtured in the context of governance, risk, and compliance (GRC) management. The three pillars of an effective compliance management program are people, processes, and technology.

As mentioned, with the constantly rising risk factors and challenges as well as regulatory changes a business faces, the compliance management process is no longer just an obligation, but rather, it has become a critical solution to navigate the challenging times as a consolidated, systematic framework helps organizations avoid high penalties, security breaches, and irrecoverable reputational damage. To safeguard an organization, the compliance management framework must be covered in all three aspects mentioned earlier—people, processes, and technology—which we'll discuss next.

2.1.1 People

A compliance function starts with people. People are the greatest asset or the biggest burden in managing compliance. They play a pivotal role in any compliance management strategy, serving as the key that ensures its effectiveness. They are responsible for understanding, implementing, and upholding regulatory requirements within an organization, making their engagement, training, and commitment essential components of a robust compliance framework. To develop a strong compliance management culture, management can use the following methods:

Identity, roles, and access management

Define clear job roles and responsibilities for users. Define the right access management approaches, and set physical and logical access rights to each of the employee.

Define accountability

This is where 7 out of 10 organizations fail. They define roles and responsibilities, but never make people accountable. For example, the individual roles of purchase assistant and purchase manager are defined, but people use shared user IDs in the enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems, which won't have any accountability. Ensure that everyone is responsible for compliance. Organizations need to do more than just addressing trivial IT security issues; compliance so much more than that, and every individual's contribution is important.

Training and awareness

Develop proper training and awareness programs for employees. Employees outside of compliance teams may not be aware of or even worried about information risk management. With data protection laws and regulations, it's much more important to conduct necessary training and awareness programs. It becomes the job of the compliance officer and compliance leadership to keep employees engaged, interested, and informed about security and holistic compliance requirements.

Build a culture of compliance management

Achieving effective compliance requires the creation of internal policies that reflect industry best practices. Developing a culture-centric organization serves as a motivating factor for the team to strive for excellence in quality. Further, it's essential to develop policies aligned with compliance management standards and integrate them into a comprehensive compliance plan. It's also crucial to consider compliance as an integral part of the key result areas (KRAs) rather than merely a routine business exercise.

2.1.2 Processes

Processes play a critical role in a compliance management strategy. They involve tasks such as evaluating risks, formulating policies, overseeing and inspecting, reporting, and implementing corrective measures. Every phase must be carefully designed to provide assurance to the organization to recognize, handle, and reduce compliance risks.

One crucial function of processes within compliance management involves optimizing the flow of information and tasks among various departments and teams. They serve as a guide for employees, directing them through the essential steps and decision-making processes needed to maintain compliance standards. Moreover, these processes facilitate documentation, record-keeping, and creation of an audit trail, which is essential in demonstrating adherence to regulatory requirements to both regulatory bodies and stakeholders. Ultimately, well-established and properly implemented compliance processes are vital to ensuring an organization consistently fulfills its responsibilities while reducing the likelihood of regulatory violations and associated risks.

Compliance management processes encompass the entirety of compliance and risk management, including the organizational structure and the systematic, methodical approach employed to address potential threats effectively.

To understand the steps necessary for creating a compliance management plan, it's crucial to recognize that the following actions are required:

- Assess potential risks throughout the product lifecycle.
- Emphasize the significance of compliance management to all stakeholders, including board members, the leadership

team, and employees.

- Allocate responsibilities effectively among relevant parties.
- Create compliance management workflows to establish repeatable compliance management processes.
- Acknowledge and address violations promptly, taking appropriate actions to mitigate the impact.

Processes should address internal and external business risks, with appropriate frameworks to deal with both external and internal threats.

It's important to answer the following questions:

- Do you have processes in place that accommodate both proactive and reactive approaches? This involves being proactive in preventing risks and reactive in responding should an incident occur.
- Do your existing processes cater to both proactive and reactive approaches?

This involves being proactive to prevent risks and having the capability to react effectively in the event of an incident.

2.1.3 Technology

Technology is clearly important for an effective compliance management program, but using it appropriately is crucial. A comprehensive compliance management framework is incomplete without suitable tools. This software significantly enhances operational efficiency and extends capabilities in overseeing and controlling an organization's compliance risks. Several key areas where technological tools can prove particularly beneficial are discussed in the following sections.

Compliance Risk Repository

The primary function of compliance management software is to serve as a repository of various compliance risks encountered by the organization along with their accompanying details. It serves as a central reference point for the organization whenever a new risk factor arises. Typically, this repository includes the following:

- Descriptions of each compliance risk
- Applicable laws or pertinent control regulations
- Identification of potentially impacted business units or functions
- Core components integral to the compliance program

Control Automation Using Workflows

Automating internal controls through workflows involves leveraging technology to automate management and control of organizational activities. This is achieved by using a workflow application to establish a sequence of automated tasks aimed at achieving specific control objectives. For example, these workflows can be set up to automate internal checks and reminders, ensuring adherence to established policies and procedures. Through this automation, organizations can reduce the likelihood of human errors, enhance operational efficiency, and improve the accuracy of their reporting. Further, workflow automation generates a transparent trail of audits, which serves as evidence of compliance with both internal policies and regulatory mandates. Ultimately, leveraging workflow automation for internal control purposes significantly enhances the efficiency and effectiveness of an organization's control processes.

Insights and Analytics

Instances of compliance issues frequently occur not only from negligence of management but also from inadequate management of existing data and the failure to identify potential risk factors. The challenge lies in the huge volume of data and difficulty in establishing connections between related data elements and sources. This is a critical area where compliance tools can offer significant assistance. These tools enable the consolidation and analysis of data from diverse sources within the organization. They facilitate the identification of deviations from standard patterns or outliers that might indicate an impending compliance issue.

By leveraging these tools, organizations can proactively detect anomalies or irregularities in their data, potentially signaling an imminent compliance problem, thereby allowing for timely intervention and resolution.

Best Practices for Building a Winning Compliance Management Program

A comprehensive compliance management system stands as a pivotal factor distinguishing successful organizations from those that fail in today's business landscape. A compliance management program safeguards your organization from potential risk factors and navigates emerging compliance challenges. However, building a compliance management program from the ground up can be quite daunting. The best recommendation is to adopt industry best practices that are offered by various compliance solutions. The following subsections describe the steps for building a successful compliance management program for your organization.

Conduct a Comprehensive Risk Assessment

In most industries, regulatory standards typically provide a clear framework that serves as a foundation for a compliance plan. Nevertheless, certain hidden risk factors often emerge during later stages that could significantly impact the compliance process. It's essential to proactively develop a comprehensive compliance risk assessment plan based on existing threats and industry insights. This plan should aim to identify, continually monitor, and effectively mitigate potential errors and threats to ensure that robust compliance measures are in place.

Establish Company Policies and Procedures

Compliance management is a top-down initiative where active involvement of leadership and the equal engagement of all stakeholders is critical for achieving regulatory readiness. While the compliance team is primarily
responsible for maintaining compliance, the program's optimal success requires responsibility and support from top-level management.

Create a policy outlining the roles and responsibilities related to compliance for each department and team within your organization. Additionally, establish clear deadlines to ensure the expected outcomes and timelines.

Communicate the Plan and Provide Training

It's crucial to understand that the greater the risk, the more intensive attention should be given to details within compliance management. Help employees understand the criticality of compliance with easily understandable training. This could involve simplifying training methods for holistic inclusion, such as offering bilingual training materials or presenting concrete examples supported by practical use cases.

Adopt a Risk-Based Approach to Compliance Management

A risk-based approach strategy for compliance and ethics management involves identifying, assessing, and uncovering high-priority risks within an organization. Implementing risk-based compliance programs facilitates capturing, consolidating, and centralizing risk management in accordance with established standards, controls, and actions.

Through the implementation of a risk-centered approach throughout the organization, GRC experts can implement

best practices to emphasize the most critical compliance risks across the enterprise. This also enables organizations to showcase various measures taken to mitigate issues, violations, investigations, and penalties.

A standard risk-based approach includes the following:

- Keeping up with standards
- Ensuring comprehensive understanding of requirements among all employees
- Aligning business functions with compliance requirements
- Promptly identifying and rectifying violations to optimize the process
- Periodically reviewing processes and procedures

Invest in Compliance Management Software

Addressing every risk factor and potential error manually is an impossible task. Given the continuously rising stakes, there is negligible room for errors and experiments. In such a scenario, the implementation of compliance management software becomes essential, as it enables the proactive management of the three crucial facets of your business: people, processes, and technology.

When considering compliance management software, it's imperative to seek out the following capabilities:

- Customizability to align with specific compliance obligations and meet your objectives effectively
- Ability to oversee and manage compliance programs across diverse locations or business functions

• Capacity to generate user-friendly, real-time reports via unified dashboards

2.2 Manage Internal Controls

The internal control system plays a pivotal role in mitigating the chance of errors or fraudulent activities. However, navigating recommendations like those from the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (COSO) framework can be challenging for companies. <u>Figure 2.1</u> shows the 10 key steps for handling internal controls effectively.





Let's look at each of these steps with relevant examples:



Defining the scope of internal control

The initial step in establishing internal control involves defining its scope, which stands as the most critical phase and serves as the backbone of the entire internal control structure. Three plans form a clear and comprehensive starting framework:

• Geographical framework, which involves formalizing the locations encompassed within the purview of

internal control

- Identification of specific activities or processes under consideration
- Identification of risk categories, referred to as "objectives" in COSO, that internal control aims to effectively manage

Therefore, to define this scope of action, three essential questions need to be addressed:

- Which sites and subsidiaries are included within this scope?
- Which activities or processes fall under consideration?
- What risk categories does internal control aim to mitigate?

The risk categories/families may encompass the following:

- Financial: Risks that could potentially cause monetary losses to the company.
- Financial statement (or reporting): Risks involving anomalies in financial accounts, inaccurate accounting data, and so on.
- Compliance: Risks related to noncompliance with established standards or laws.
- Operational: Risks that could prevent the company from fulfilling its objectives.
- Occupational health: Risks impacting the physical or mental well-being of individuals associated with

the company.

- Information security: Risks affecting the confidentiality, integrity, and accessibility of information.
- Reputation: Risks that could detrimentally affect the company's image.
- Environmental: Risks that might impact the environment (air, water, soil, resources, energy, etc.).

Given that internal control primarily originates from the accounting domain, it typically encompasses, at a minimum, risks associated with financial statement reporting.

2 Cataloguing activities

Once the scope of action is defined, it's necessary to catalogue the activities or processes undertaken by the company to identify associated risks. Activities can significantly differ from one company to another, and it's essential to highlight establishment-specific activities.

In other words, the granularity in delineating activities should be appropriate and consistent across sectors. For example, the following three statements relate to the same process but don't offer the same levels of information:

- "I do accounting."
- "I pay supplier invoices."
- "I enter accounting data."

Therefore, it's important to create a framework that facilitates the identification of activities performed without falling into a list of detailed micro tasks.



B

Identifying risks

The risks to which the company is exposed mainly result from the activities it undertakes. In this stage, the following question is relevant for each activity: "What are the risks associated with the families/categories of the selected risks?" For example, for the "Payment of supplier invoices" process, what financial, operational, or financial reporting risks can be identified? Identifying risks may potentially lead to an extensive list of possible risks. Despite the numerous potential risks, it's crucial to maintain close to real-world scenarios. One approach is to start with situations that are previously encountered by the company or within a similar industry. For example, if the company has previously experienced payroll errors, that indicates the potential financial loss requiring preventive measures.



Identifying existing controls

In the realm of internal control, the term *control* covers all measures employed to manage a risk: control actions, procedures, regulations, control application, tangible protective measures, and so on. Based on past experiences and industry expertise, each company typically possesses existing internal controls and effective procedures for managing specific risks. Identifying these controls becomes important because often 90% of controls are already in place but may lack formal documentation. The focus should be on identifying the measures that mitigate or address the identified risks effectively. Further, the concept of controls of controls (or surveillance of controls) should also be considered, if such measures already exist. For example, this could involve guarterly verification to ensure the execution of the monthly salary control.

6 Assessing risks

Note that all risks don't carry the same exposure, so companies may see different levels of exposure to these risks. Thus, the crucial task lies in assessing these risks concerning the specific circumstances of each company. This assessment determines whether the existing mitigation strategies are relevant and suffice, or if additional controls need to be implemented.

While this step isn't mandatory and might become time-intensive, establishing the *criticality* helps rank risks based on their significance. This criticality considers both the likelihood of a risk and its potential impact.

For example, in the context of generating payslips, errors are highly probable, but their effect on a company's survival is relatively moderate. Similarly, for a banking institution, the risk of fraud carries immense consequences, especially if adequate control measures aren't implemented. As a result, this risk would be deemed severe, scoring a maximum of 90, signifying it as a top priority risk.

6 **Performing risk management**

In the implementation of internal control, there are four potential strategies for handling risks efficiently: avoid, reduce, transfer, and accept (see Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2 Risk Management Strategies

Consider the scenario of collecting invoice payments in cash. In this process, the potential for human or software errors are always possible and, in some cases, highly probable. Consequently, this activity carries inherent risks. Here are four potential strategies that can be applied to address this risk:

- Avoid: Stop collecting invoice payments in cash. There will be no more cash transactions in the company. This will avoid (eliminate) the "Risk of cash register error" or the "Risk of cash being stolen from the register."
- Reduce: Set up a control on the collection of invoices with a step of checking the amount in the cash register to reduce the risk.
- Transfer or share: Take out specific insurance for theft, which transfers or shares the risk.
- Accept: Don't make it a priority and instead accept the risk that sometimes there will be errors in the collection of invoices and that the consequences will have to be dealt with on a case-by-case basis.

If the existing controls don't align with the company's defined *risk appetite*, it becomes necessary to introduce supplementary controls and initiate risk mitigation projects to align with the desired risk management objectives.

Establish mitigation measures

Remember, the aim isn't to create huge volumes of documents that end up on the shelf; rather, it's about making a selection. The objective is to identify the mitigation measures that require documentation to effectively reduce the risks. Therefore, the focus lies in describing control actions, processes, procedures, regulations, and so on.

For example, when multiple departments work together, it's relevant to describe the cross-functional process to improve interdepartmental cooperation and mitigate risks arising from inadequate coordination. Documenting a mitigation measure should serve the following purposes:

- Reduce errors
- Clearly define employee responsibilities
- Ensure consistent execution of controls
- Safeguard uninterrupted operations in case of employee absence

The documentation should be tailored accordingly. It can be a simple checklist, a comprehensive set of rules, or even an explanatory video. The objective is to identify the mitigation measures that best require documentation to effectively reduce the risks.



Identifying key controls and describing surveillance

Determining the controls is crucial to ensure that these measures are consistently executed and executed correctly—achieving the goal of done and done right. For example, consider a monthly control that has been established to verify system access. In such a case, it might be relevant to implement surveillance on this. This may involve establishing a periodic review to validate the IDs in the system, thereby minimizing information security risks. Remember, too many controls kill their effectiveness. To prevent this, it's advisable to refrain from defining an excessive number of key controls. Doing so would require investing valuable time in implementing and managing them, potentially diluting their impact.

Communicating with and training employees The effectiveness of internal control only materializes when employees see its usefulness. The necessary communication and trainings should be planned to ensure widespread adherence to these controls. While highlighting the importance of internal control concerning legal obligations is crucial, it's equally important to demonstrate to employees the personal benefits it offers. Demonstrating that internal control brings a sense of security, reduces errors, and minimizes omissions becomes important. Employees are reassured by working in an environment where risks are managed and controlled in a more effective way!

10

Managing internal control over time

Finally, even if your current internal control system is effective, it's crucial to recognize that it will be embedded and will evolve with the company. It's not an ad hoc and isolated action but an ongoing process. To make it useful and effective, it's important to do the following:

- Conduct an annual reassessment of risks.
- Ensure compliance with new legislations.
- Keep documentation up-to-date.
- Monitor the proper execution of controls and surveillance.
- Monitor risk mitigation projects.
- Track and address incidents as opportunities for improvement.

Note that any changes or adaptations should be accompanied by updated documentation and clear, effective communication.

In short, these 10 steps form the framework for implementing internal control and its subsequent monitoring. They enable the company to leverage an effective internal control system that is tailored to its needs, bringing satisfaction to both employees and management.

2.3 Integration Approach

While the previous sections highlighted the role of technology in enabling effective governance and compliance processes within organizations, choosing appropriate technology solutions becomes critical in enhancing operational efficiency while enabling proactive measures for risk detection and mitigation. SAP GRC solutions are designed to address various compliance and internal control needs within an organization, including the following:

- Serving as a central repository for internal controls and risks
- Managing regulatory and compliance requirements
- Handling policies and procedures
- Identifying and defining the roles and responsibilities of key stakeholders involved in internal control management processes
- Conducting regular evaluations of controls and risks within a workflow-driven environment
- Automating the testing process to assess the effectiveness of controls

The subsequent sections provide an overview of how SAP GRC solutions and third-party applications can effectively manage and fulfill these compliance requirements within an organization.

2.3.1 SAP GRC Solutions

SAP offers a diverse array of solutions designed to address various GRC processes within organizations. These solutions are categorized into different portfolios, such as enterprise, risk, and compliance; access governance; and so on. Each portfolio comprises distinct solutions tailored to meet specific requirements and enhance internal control management processes.

For example, the enterprise, risk, and compliance portfolio encompasses solutions such as SAP Process Control, SAP Risk Management, SAP Audit Management, SAP Business Integrity Screening, and SAP Financial Compliance Management. These solutions are interconnected, facilitating seamless integration and enabling organizations to manage comprehensive compliance needs throughout the entire spectrum of their operations.

SAP Process Control provides a comprehensive set of features aimed at overseeing the entirety of internal control processes. It begins by establishing a centralized repository for risks and controls within the organization. SAP Process Control facilitates the definition of testing strategies for internal controls and evaluates these controls within a workflow-driven environment. It also provides tools to effectively manage issues arising from control assessments and document the remediation process. Further, SAP Process Control offers various prebuilt reports and dashboards to present the status of controls and enable better decision-making. It helps organizations effectively manage and streamline the lifecycle of internal control management processes, which can be segmented into five phases as detailed in Figure 2.3. We'll detail these phases in the following sections.



Figure 2.3 Lifecycle of Internal Control Management Processes

Document Phase

During this phase, all the required master data elements to identify a control are defined using the standard functionalities of SAP Process Control. Here are the key master data elements identified and configured as part of this phase (see <u>Chapter 5</u> to understand the details of each of the following master data elements):

- Organization hierarchy
- Regulations
- Business process hierarchy (process, subprocess, and control)
- Risks
- Control objectives
- Account groups
- Indirect entity level controls

Each of these elements are configured within the SAP Process Control system to effectively identify and manage controls.

Plan Phase

Once the baseline framework of the internal control system is established through the definition of master data, the subsequent step is to define the testing strategy within the organization. During this phase, the organization sets out various types of evaluations that each control should undergo, along with specifying the frequency of testing. Following are the key control evaluations conducted:

- Control design assessment
- Control operating effectiveness test, which includes the following options:
 - Manual control test of effectiveness
 - Automated control monitoring
- Control self-assessment
- Manual control performance

These evaluations are critical in ensuring the effectiveness and efficiency of controls within the organization. For a comprehensive understanding of the significance and process of setting up these functionalities, see <u>Chapter 6</u>.

Perform Phase

Following the definition of the testing strategy in the plan phase, the next step is to schedule necessary jobs using standard functionalities within SAP Process Control. This includes setting up jobs for automated monitoring or Planner functionalities. When controls are scheduled for automated monitoring, the predefined rules will execute at the specified frequency. If any issues are identified, the respective owners will be notified accordingly.

Similarly, for manual control testing, control design assessments, or self-assessments, test plans or survey work items are triggered and sent to the respective owners' SAP GRC Work Inbox. Owners can then take necessary actions through these workflow-driven activities. Users can access these work items from the Work Inbox, available in the **My Home** work center in SAP Business Client.

The entire process involved in control evaluation is workflow-driven, allowing users to respond and take necessary actions efficiently. For a detailed understanding of responding to issues triggered from automated monitoring, see <u>Chapter 8</u>. Additionally, for insights into the process of responding to assessments, <u>Chapter 6</u> provides more detailed information.

Evaluate Phase

During this phase, users evaluate controls by accessing work items from the Work Inbox. They provide responses to test plans or surveys, ultimately determining the final result of testing. In cases where the final assessment result is categorized as "Fail," issues are reported and assigned to respective users.

Subsequently, the responsibility falls on the assigned issue owner to identify the root cause of the problem and initiate actions to rectify the issue. Their role includes not only addressing the current issue but also implementing measures to prevent a reoccurrence of the issue in the future.

Report Phase

In this phase, the internal controls team or GRC team presents how the control master data is structured across various entities in the organization hierarchy using the delivered reports, such as the risk and control matrix (RCM) report or the Organization and Process Structure report. Additionally, the team showcases the status of control health within the organization using standard reports and dashboards. More insights about the available standard reports and their significance are detailed in <u>Chapter 10</u>.



Figure 2.4 Overview of SAP Process Control

Moreover, an essential aspect of this phase involves obtaining acknowledgment from top management regarding their awareness of the existing internal controls within the organization and the outcomes of control evaluations. This acknowledgment aligns with key regulatory frameworks such as Sarbanes-Oxley Section 302. For further understanding of this regulatory requirement, refer to <u>Chapter 1</u>, <u>Section 1.3.1</u>. The sign-off functionality within SAP Process Control facilitates this acknowledgment process. Details about the sign-off process and its importance are given in <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.3</u>.

The processes outlined in these five phases are continuous and contribute to the maturation of the organization. They aid in identifying more controls, improving testing strategies, and reducing issues identified during control evaluations, thereby enhancing the overall control environment and maturity level of the organization.

In brief, the structure of process control encompasses two primary components: the preparation of master data, and testing controls using SAP Process Control functionalities. Figure 2.4 provides a holistic view depicting the setup of master data, the establishment of relationships, and the diverse evaluations that controls undergo. It also details the steps involved in the testing process and subsequent issueremediation procedures.

2.3.2 Third-Party Solutions

Automated control monitoring stands as a crucial functionality within SAP Process Control, allowing continuous

review of SAP system data. However, by default, the system's connectivity is limited to SAP-/ABAP-based systems for automated data analysis. To overcome this limitation, SAP Process Control leverages third-party connectors or web services to establish connections with non-SAP-based systems or non-ABAP-based systems, enabling data analysis.

An example is the use of third-party solutions such as Pathlock's integration capabilities. Pathlock's integrations facilitate connections to non-SAP-based or non-ABAP-based systems, enabling the extraction of change logs from application master data or transactional data within those solutions. Subsequently, the acquired results are transmitted to SAP Process Control using web services. Following this data transmission, the subsequent steps involving reviewing exceptions and initiating issue remediation processes adhere to the standard approach detailed in <u>Chapter 8</u>.

2.4 Summary

This chapter detailed the pivotal role of governance in establishing an effective internal control mechanism within an organization. It highlighted the key areas of focus to enhance the internal control framework and emphasized the significance of technology in managing these processes. In addition, this chapter detailed how SAP Process Control can streamline internal control and compliance processes using its standard functionalities. You also learned how SAP Process Control integrates third-party solutions to address connectivity limitations with non-SAP-based systems and non-ABAP-based systems, thereby improving monitoring processes within the organization.

Now that you've gained an understanding of SAP Process Control and its importance in managing internal control and compliance requirements, the next chapter details the licensing requirements necessary to implement and use the solution.

3 Prerequisites

Now that you know the importance of SAP Process Control, what are the next steps? Let's delve into the licensing requirements and how to kick-start the SAP Process Control journey.

As detailed in the previous chapters, SAP Process Control is a vital tool for enterprises seeking effective management of their governance, risk, and compliance (GRC) requirements. SAP Process Control offers automation capabilities, ensuring that regulatory compliance is efficient and hassle-free when it's configured properly. In this chapter, we dive deep into the licensing agreements, setting up the system, and the hardware and software requirements for implementing SAP Process Control.

3.1 Check License Agreements

SAP Process Control is an integral component of the SAP GRC solutions and is delivered as part of the SAP GRC foundation for ABAP (GRCFND_A), which has the other key SAP GRC solutions, that is, SAP Access Control and SAP Risk Management. There are two key components that we need to consider:

Add-on (product) licenses

A separate license is required to use SAP Process Control. Even though SAP Process Control comes as an add-on to SAP Access Control/SAP Risk Management, a separate component license must be procured.

User blocks

User licenses are another critical aspect of the licensing model. These licenses determine the number of users who can access and use SAP Process Control within your organization.

It's important to note that the licensing model for SAP GRC is different from other models, and the specific requirements can vary based on the size and needs of your organization. To ensure that you obtain the appropriate licenses for your GRC implementation, consult with your SAP partner or with SAP directly to get the relevant guidance on the necessary licenses. Once you have the licenses, the following activities must be performed:

- 1. Create the system in the SAP for Me support portal (registering the system).
- 2. Apply the license key, which enables you to download updates, generate keys, and so on.

3.1.1 Creating the SAP GRC System in the SAP for Me Portal

Because SAP GRC products use SAP NetWeaver technology, SAP GRC license keys can't be created directly, and the license key must be generated for the SAP NetWeaver product.

To use the product and download the respective SAP Notes, updates, and log support incidents, you must add the respective SKU to your licenses. Follow these steps to create a separate GRC system:

- 1. Log in to the SAP for Me portal with your Universal ID (*https://me.sap.com/*).
- 2. Under Systems & Provisioning, navigate to Systems.
- 3. Click the Create New System button.
- 4. Select Installation.
- 5. Click + to create a new system.
- 6. Select **SAP Process Control** from the **Product** dropdown and the version from the **Version** dropdown.
- 7. Click **Continue**, as shown in <u>Figure 3.1</u>.

		1 -	
Product:	Please select or type	\otimes	
Version:	Please select	~	

Figure 3.1 Add New System Screen

The system will be added to the **Systems** list.

3.1.2 Generating and Applying the SAP GRC License

The license key must also be installed on the SAP GRC system. Before proceeding, apply the license key. Follow these steps to create an SAP NetWeaver license key if you don't already have one:

- 1. Log in to the SAP for Me portal with your Universal ID (*https://me.sap.com/*).
- 2. Under Systems & Provisioning, navigate to Keys.
- 3. Select the system, and generate the licenses by entering the **Hardware Key**.
- 4. Enter the **Valid until** date, and click **Add**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 3.2</u>. Once added, you may download the license keys.

Create License Key Request				
License Type*:	Standard - Web Application Server ABAP or ABAP+JAVA	~		
Hardware Key*:				
Valid until*:	31-12-9999			
	Add	Reset	Cancel	

Figure 3.2 Create License Key Request Screen

The newly generated license key should be installed in Transaction SLICENSE. (Refer to KBA 2631419 and KBA 2924570 for more information on applying license keys.)

3.2 System Sizing

The size of the hardware and database is influenced by many business and technological factors. Therefore, it's highly advisable to conduct a thorough sizing assessment before making decisions on the hardware and software choices.

SAP offers a wealth of resources to assist its customers in the sizing process by conducting benchmarking across different platforms. Sizing for SAP applications encompasses the determination of hardware prerequisites, including considerations such as network bandwidth, physical memory, CPU processing power, and input/output (I/O) capacity.

This also involves taking the number of users into consideration. To achieve this, SAP standard application benchmarks can be used. More information on benchmarking can be found at *www.sap.com/benchmark*.

As a result of benchmark testing, customers receive preliminary estimates regarding the required system size, along with evaluations of new hardware, software components, and relational database management systems (RDBMS). Throughout a benchmark run, all relevant performance data associated with the system, users, and business applications is closely monitored.

Furthermore, SAP Application Performance Standard (SAPS) offers a means to assess system performance within an SAP environment, independent of the underlying hardware.

Calculating SAPS accurately involves distinguishing between tasks that run in parallel and those that run sequentially. When tasks are executed simultaneously (in parallel), SAPS should be computed as a group, while tasks that are sequential, such as synchronization and batch user risk analysis, should not be considered parallel in SAPS calculations.

In addition, sizing is typically divided into three stages:

- 1. Initial sizing
- 2. Expert sizing
- 3. Customer-specific sizing

You should perform all three levels of sizing. Each of the sizing levels are described in the following sections.

3.2.1 Initial Sizing

The initial sizing approach provides platform-independent requirements for the hardware resources necessary to run representative, standard SAP applications. The initial sizing guidelines assume optimal system parameters, standard business scenarios, and so on. For greenfield implementations, consultants typically focus on initial sizing.

The following factors are taken into consideration before deciding on the requirements for CPU (in SAPS) and memory requirements (in gigabytes):

Number of work inbox refreshes

Indicates the total number of concurrent users accessing the work inbox to take action on the pending actions. The total number of refreshes per hour is the driving factor to determine the number of SAPS required for CPU and memory requirements

Usage of the planner functionality

The planner is a functionality used in SAP Process Control to schedule jobs with which controls are triggered to the respective owners for evaluation. The number of such jobs scheduled per hour drives the required number of SAPS for the CPU and the required memory.

Managing organization hierarchy

The organization hierarchy is a central master data item where all the controls and policies are localized and responsibilities are established. Maintenance of the organization is a key activity in SAP Process Control, and every change made in the organization is updated only on clicking **Save**. The number of times the organization hierarchy is updated in an hour drives the required number of SAPS and the memory requirements.

For more details, refer to *Sizing Guide for SAP Process Control* at *http://s-prs.co/v579903*.

3.2.2 Expert Sizing

An expert sizing exercise analyzes business requirements and data to provide more customized sizing results. It's the main goal of the study to determine the resource consumption of customized content and applications (not SAP standard deliveries) through comprehensive measurements. The expert sizing is typically carried by the consulting partners based on the inputs provided by the business. They usually do various discovery meetings or provide a list of questionnaires to gather all the information before recommending the sizing recommendations to the client.

3.2.3 Customer-Specific Sizing

Hardware resource and system configuration depend on the requirements of the customer-specific project. For example, one customer may want to go with the Windows operating system and SQL Server as the database, while another customer prefers Linux with an SAP HANA database. This includes the implementation of distribution, security, and high availability solutions by different approaches using third-party tools.

Remember, even though a proper sizing exercise is carried out, your users might face some performance issues due to master data volume, transaction data volume, increase in number of concurrent users, and so on. You should review the sizing periodically to ensure the system responses are good.

Typically, the sizing is performed by taking the following scenarios into account:

- Total number of organizations in the hierarchy
- Total number of controls that needs to be set up in the business process hierarchy
- Total number of control objectives and risks to be defined

- Usage of configuration settings, such as usage of report buffers
- Usage of scheduling functionalities to evaluate the following:
 - Count of controls tested using automated monitoring
 - Count of controls tested using manual testing and number of manual test plans
 - Count of controls tested for self-assessment and design assessment
- Number of maximum concurrent users using/refreshing the SAP Process Control Work Inbox to respond to the pending actions
- Total number of systems connected to SAP Process
 Control

For more information on sizing, visit *www.sap.com/about/benchmark/sizing.html*.

3.3 Component and Plug-In Requirements

Once the sizing exercise is completed, and the required infrastructure is procured, the backend systems need to be prepared. It's crucial to identify which systems will be connected to SAP Process Control and ensure that the necessary components and/or plug-ins have been installed.

The necessary components are based on the systems, configuration, and so on. The following sections provide a good understanding of the components and plug-ins required.

Note

You need SAP NetWeaver 7.52 or higher to implement SAP Process Control 12.0.

3.3.1 SAP Process Control Component

You may need to choose the right SAP GRC add-on. For easy reference, information related to all the GRC Foundation releases are provided in the <u>Table 3.1</u>.

Component	Component Description
GRCFND_A v1000	GRC Foundation for ABAP v 10.0

Component	Component Description
GRCFND_A v1100	GRC Foundation for ABAP v 10.1
GRCFND_A v8000	GRC Foundation - PC for SAP S/4HANA Embedded v 10.1
GRCFND_A v8100	GRC Foundation - PC for SAP S/4HANA Embedded v 12.0
GRCFND_A v1200	GRC Foundation for ABAP v 12.0

 Table 3.1
 SAP Process Control Components

For SAP Process Control 12.0, choose either GRCFND_A v8100 (SAP S/4HANA Embedded) or GRCFND_A v1200 (standalone system).

For more information on the component, refer to SAP Note 2612335 and SAP Note 2602131. The rest of the configurations, such as connector configuration, parameter settings, and so on, remain the same as in a standalone system.

Tips

To access the release information note for SAP Process Control 12.0, review KBA 2622708.

To know more about release strategy and maintenance information for GRCFND_A v1200, review KBA 2602131, and for similar information for GRCFND_A v8100, review KBA 2612335.

3.3.2 SAP GRC Plug-Ins

One or more plug-ins from <u>Table 3.2</u> have to be implemented in the backend systems based on the business requirements.

Plug-In	Description
GRCPINW	SAP Process Control integration with SAP S/4HANA and SAP ERP non-HR functions for SAP NetWeaver 7.40 and higher. This component is required for the continuous control monitoring (CCM) functionality (see Chapter 8 for more details) to fetch data from the source systems. Refer to SAP Note 2602564 for more information.
GRCPIERP	SAP Process Control integration with SAP S/4HANA and SAP ERP HR functions (used for CCM functionality). Refer to SAP Note 2602825 for more information.
Plug-In	Description
-----------------	--
UIGRRMPC 200	This SAP Fiori 2.0 for SAP Risk Management and SAP Process Control component contains the SAP Fiori apps related to both applications. Customers using UIGRRMPC 100 can upgrade to UIGRRMPC 200 directly. If you use the SAP HANA database, it's recommended to use these SAP Fiori apps in UIGRRMPC 200, as performance is significantly improved in the SAP HANA environment. Refer to SAP Note 3311378 for more information.

Table 3.2SAP GRC Plug-Ins

3.4 Summary

You now have a comprehensive understanding of the licensing requirements, component prerequisites, and plugin requirements for SAP Process Control 12.0. It's important to conduct proper sizing assessments before proceeding with the implementation and configuration of an SAP Process Control system. For detailed guidance on sizing, you can refer to *http://s-prs.co/v579903*, which offers further insights.

Once the components and plug-ins are in place, the application can be configured to meet your specific needs. The next chapter details the various configurations that are essential for setting up the SAP Process Control system effectively.

4 Basic Configuration

Now that you understand the importance of governance and internal controls, and you've seen an overview of how SAP Process Control can help organizations in managing their internal controls, this chapter delves into the technical configurations, which are the baseline requirements to start using the solution.

In the previous chapter, you learned about the prerequisites required before using the SAP Process Control solution. This chapter focuses on the basic Transaction SPRO configurations required to activate the SAP Process Control application, important business configuration sets (BC sets), and Transaction SICF services. In addition, we'll cover the usage of various functionalities by configuring workflow settings and the specific stages that should be part of performing control assessments. This chapter also details the steps to configure the connectors to read data from the target systems and the process of setting up the regulation configurations. In addition to the basic configurations, you'll get an overview of the various work centers available in the solution and the key activities performed in each.

4.1 Initial Configuration

This section provides detailed information on the initial setup required to enable SAP Process Control. The initial configuration involves the following activities:

- 1. Enabling the application in the client
- 2. Activating BC sets
- 3. Activating Transaction SICF services, which are necessary for the remaining configurations
- 4. Setting up second-level authorizations

The following sections will detail each of these activities and provide a step-by-step explanation.

4.1.1 Activate the Application in the Client

Installing the GRFND_A (GRC Foundation for ABAP) component will provide you with SAP Access Control, SAP Process Control, and SAP Risk Management by default. To use these applications, they must be enabled in the Transaction SPRO configuration.

Note

The GRCFND_A v1200 component is for a standalone SAP GRC system. However, the version in the SAP S/4HANA system (embedded) of GRCFND_A will be v8100. The configuration steps remain the same in both versions.

To enable, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click the SAP Reference IMG button, and follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance • General Settings • Activate Applications in Client. Check the Active checkbox for the SAP Process Control application (GRC-PC), and click Save, as highlighted in Figure 4.1.

Change View "Ad	tive Applications In	Client": Overview
💖 New Entries 🗅 🗟	9 🖪 🖪 🖪	
Active Applications In Cle	nt	
Арр	Active 🎞	
GRC-AC	▼ √ ▲	
GRC-PC	- V -	
GRC-RM	▼	

Figure 4.1Activate the SAP Process Control Application

Note

Ensure that you have transport request create/release authorization because Transaction SPRO configurations may require you to create transport requests or capture the changes in an existing transport request. It's advisable to have transport requests ready in case you're not authorized to create them.

Once the application is activated, you may proceed with activating BC sets.

4.1.2 Activate the BC Sets

SAP has provided preconfigured BC sets to enable various functionalities easily within SAP Process Control. These configurations can be activated using Transaction SCPR20. Table 4.1 provides an overview of the BC sets associated with key configurations within SAP Process Control, including the navigation path in Transaction SPRO.

Configuration Activity	BC Set Name	Purpose
Governance, Risk and Compliance • General Settings • Key Attributes • Maintain Timeframe Frequencies • Maintain Timeframes	• GRPC-FREQUENCY • GRPC-TIMEFRAME	Define the time frames to be used while defining the master data, rules, or scheduling the automated monitoring/planner functionality to test the controls.
Governance, Risk and Compliance • General Settings • Authorizations • Entity Role Assignment	 BC_SET_ROLES GRPC-ROLE-GLOBAL- UPG 	Configure the mapping of standard roles with various master data entities. These drives identify the ownership and responsibility to act on various workflow stages.

Configuration Activity	BC Set Name	Purpose
Governance, Risk and Compliance • General Settings • Workflow • Custom Agent Determination	 GRPC-AGENT-UPG-25 GRPC-AGENTSLOTC- FDA GRPC-AGENTSLOTC- GLOBAL GRPC-AGENTSLOTC- SOX 	Configure the determination rules to identify the roles that should receive the workflow based on the defined business event for each functionality.
Governance, Risk and Compliance • Shared Master Data Settings • Activate Workflow for Master Data Changes	• GRFN-MDC	Enable the workflow feature where any changes made to the master data entities will be sent to the reviewers as a notification or to seek approval based on the activations.

Configuration Activity	BC Set Name	Purpose
Governance, Risk and Compliance • Shared Master Data Settings • Maintain Ability to Add Locally • Defined Controls	• GRFN-ALLOW- CREATE-LOCAL-CTRL	Enables an option to create a new control directly under the local subprocess, instead of creating a copy in the business process hierarchy. Controls are usually localized only on assignment of a subprocess.
Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values	 GRPC-ATTR- ASSERTION GRPC-ATTR- CATEGORY GRPC-ATTR- CTRL_FREQUENCY GRPC-ATTR- CTRL_GROUP GRPC-ATTR- CTRL_OBJ_CATEGORY GRPC-ATTR-IELC- FREQ 	Enables the attributes that should be part of the control definition. See <u>Chapter 5</u> , <u>Section 5.2.3</u> , to better understand the control definition and the relevant control attributes.

• GRPC-ATTR- INDUSTRY	
• GRPC-ATTR-NATURE	
• GRPC-ATTR-PURPOSE	
• GRPC-ATTR- RELEVANCE	
• GRPC-ATTR- RISK_IMPACT	
• GRPC-ATTR- SAMPLE_METHOD	
• GRPC-ATTR- SCHED_FREQUENCY	
• GRPC-ATTR- SIGNIFICANCE	
• GRPC-ATTR- TEST_TECH	
• GRPC-ATTR- TRANSTYPE	

Table 4.1Key Configurations of BC Sets in SAP Process Control

To activate BC sets, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SCPR20.
- 3. Enter the BC set name (e.g., "GRPC-ATTR-TRANSTYPE").

- 4. Click the **Activate** button.
- Choose Overwrite All Data in the Overwrite Data options, choose Expert Mode in the Select Activation Mode options, and click Execute, as shown in <u>Figure 4.2</u>.

Business Configuration Sets: Activation	Cr Activation Options		×
(a) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b) (b	Caution You have data records will be	started the BC Set activation l created and or existing ones	f you continue, new overwritten.
BC Set GRPC-ATTR-TRANSTYPE	Activation Information		Activation Options
prent rent () interaction rige	Activated by: Data/Time: System/Clant: Workbench Read: Customizing Read: Activation Links: Activation Languiges:	KARTHOA 20.09.2023 / 12:40:20 612 / 100 6120900166 Not Recurred Orwate Locally German French Rench Greek + +	Overvite all Data Observite all Data Observite all Data Do Not Overvite all Data Do Not Overvite all Data Default Mode (Reccomend) Explore Mode Default Mode Default Processial BC Sets
	Messages		
			VIX with Log X

Figure 4.2 BC Set Activation

 Check the log for the activation status, as shown in <u>Figure 4.3</u>. If the log displays entries marked in red (indicating errors), it's required to review and correct these errors before reactivating the BC set.



Figure 4.3 BC Set Activation Log

After activating all the BC sets per <u>Table 4.1</u>, you can proceed with activating the services.

4.1.3 Activate Transaction SICF Services

This section explains how key communications can be enabled using Transaction SICF. You'll activate the key service hierarchies: PUBLIC, BC, and GRC, which are essential to use the SAP Process Control application. To activate these hierarchies, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SICF.
- 3. Select **SERVICE** in **Hierarchy Type**, as shown in <u>Figure 4.4</u>.

Define Services	,	
i		
er for Calling ICF Hiera	rchy	
Hierarchy Type	SERVICE	
Virtual Host		
Service Path		
Service Name		
Reference Service		
Description		
Language	English 👻	

Figure 4.4 Activating Services Using Transaction SICF

- 4. Click the **Execute** icon.
- 5. Expand the node **default_host sap public**.
- 6. Right-click **public**, and choose **Activate Service**.
- 7. Choose **Activate Service** for all subnodes (**Yes** button with subnode option), as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.5</u>.

Wtual Hosts / Sen	vices	O ecumentation	1	Reference Service	
 C default_host 		VIRTUAL DEFA	AT HOST		
* 💮 sap		SAP NAMESPAC	E; SAP IS OBLIGED NOT TO		
 Option 		RESERVED SER	ICES AVAILABLE GLOBALLY		
• • •	Bew Sub-E	lement	nctions)	CP Activation	of ICE Services 🛛 🗙
		PAGES (RSP)	Do you	want to activate service /default_host/sap/public?	
· 👳	Bename Se	INCO	ment		
- :8	Activate Se	ervice	De status		
· 🍝	Qeactivate	Senice 😽		-	me It me It is for fourt
• •	Test Servic	e	2 Cookle According to my		Tes tes 10 Pro X Cancel
۰.	References	to Service	User Resources Service		

Figure 4.5 Activation of the "Public" Service and Subnodes

Activate the services under BC and GRC hierarchies following the same steps by choosing the option **Activate Service** after right-clicking on the relevant service. This will activate all the services that are needed to utilize the SAP Process Control application.

4.1.4 Second-Level Authorizations: Maintain Authorization Customization

The next step in the configuration is to determine the authorization level required for the users to be eligible for assignment as an owner of the master data entity or responsible for receiving a workflow stage in performing any control assessment.

Subsequent sections in this chapter detail the process to determine the roles mapped at a master data entity (see <u>Section 4.2.2</u>) and roles that should receive the workflow for a business event (see <u>Section 4.2.3</u>). Before getting into these workflow configurations, it's important to know the required authorization levels for the process control users to perform the relevant activities. In general, all SAP Process Control users are provided access to the following roles to access the solution:

• SAP_GRC_FN_BASE (GRC - Base Role to Run GRC Applications)

- SAP_GRC_NWBC (Governance, Risk, & Compliance)
- SAP_GRC_FN_BUSINESS_USER (GRC Business User)

In addition, depending on the requirement, the specific task role access will be provided to the user, such as control owner, organization owner, and so on. While performing the user assignments to the roles at the master data entities, the GRC admin can select any valid dialog user from the entire GRC user base with access to business user role <SAP_GRC_FN_BUSINESS_USER> (see <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.4.1</u>, for more on user assignments). However, to have more control on the assignment of user responsibilities to any master data entity/workflow, it's important to have a restriction that selection can be made only from the list of users with access to the specific task role. This can be enabled by activating the **Second-Level Authorizations** configuration.

To enable the second-level authorization, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 General Settings Authorizations Maintain Authorization Customizing.
- 5. Enable the **Active** checkbox for **Second-Level Authorization** option, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.6</u>.
- 6. Click **Save**.

Change View "Authorization Cu	stomizing Maintena	nce": Overview
% 🕫 🖪 🖪 🖪		
Authorization Customizing Maintenance		
Authorizations	Active	•••
Second-Level Authorizations	V	*
Do not allow job scheduling by delegate		*

Figure 4.6Activation of Second-Level Authorizations

4.2 Workflow Configuration

One of the primary features of SAP Process Control involves carrying out the execution of test procedures and workflow stages. Controls in the organization should undergo various evaluations to ensure management has reasonable evidence that internal controls in the organization are being operated effectively. The execution of a test procedure encompasses multiple stages, with each stage being the responsibility of a designated owner to complete.

SAP Process Control streamlines this process by utilizing workflows. To gain a deeper understanding of control evaluation procedures, see <u>Chapter 6</u>. Furthermore, <u>Chapter 7</u>, <u>Chapter 8</u>, and <u>Chapter 9</u> detail various other functionalities that also utilize workflows for stage execution.

This section explains the configurations required to activate and customize workflows for different aspects of the SAP Process Control solution. The configurations are broadly categorized into four subtopics:

- Task-specific customizing
- Entity role assignment
- Custom agent determination
- Fallback users

4.2.1 Task-Specific Customizing

Prior to configuring users and roles, you must set up the workflow functionality along with the stage configuration where the workflow initiation is necessary. To perform this configuration, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the SAP Reference IMG button.
- 4. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance General Settings Workflow Perform Task-Specific Customizing.
- 5. Expand GRC, and double-click GRC-SPC.

You must perform both **Assign Agents** and **Activate event linking** configuration for SAP Process Control, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.7</u>. We'll walk through both tasks in the following sections.

Note

If the **GRC** folder isn't visible, execute program RS_APPL_REFRESH using Transaction SE38 to refresh the apps. Perform the steps to view the folder again.

Task Customizin	g Overview		
I) 🛅			
* 🛅 GRC	Governance, Risk and Compliance	Assign Agents	 Activate event linking
 GRC-ACP 	GRC Access Control Plug-In		
 CRC-PCP 	GRC Process Control Plug-in		
 CRC-RM 	GRC Risk Management	🚔 Assign Agents	Activate event linking
 CRC-AC 	Access Control		
 GRC-SPC 	Process Controls	Assign Agents	Activate event linking
 GRC-AC 	Access Control		

Figure 4.7 Activities to Be Performed under Task-Specific Customizing

Assign Agents

Each stage within a workflow is represented as a task, and it's required to enable all tasks relevant to the workflow functionalities within the scope of workflow activation. The tasks must be defined as a **General Task**. The following steps detail the process:

- 1. Expand the GRC folder, and access GRC-SPC.
- 2. Click on the Assign Agents link.
- 3. Select the task ID, and click the **Attributes** button.
- 4. Select the **General Task** option from the radio button group, and change the **Classification** to **Not classified**.
- 5. Click the Transfer button to update the changes.

Figure 4.8 highlights each of the options in the assign agents task customization.



Figure 4.8 Configuration of Tasks to Enable the Workflow

Note:

Repeat the steps for all the task IDs that are classified as **General Task**. Don't change the attributes for the tasks defined as **Background** by default. <u>Figure 4.9</u> shows the tasks that are listed as **Background task**.

rasks of an Application comp	onent: Ass	ign Agents			
🚅 🗶 Attributes 🔠 🛅 🛄 Org. assig	nment 🛭 😔 🔄				
Name	D	General or Background Task	Task Version	Assigned a	Assigned u
Process Controls	FA GRC-SPC				
 Becute Task Pan 	TS 75900001	Backpround task		01.01.1900	Unlimited
 Enter Details for Remediation Plan 	TS 75900002	General Task		01.01.1900	Unimited
 Seview Remediation Plan Details 	TS 75900003	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited
 Report on Remediation Plan Progress 	TS 75900004	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited
 Serview and Close Remediation Plan 	TS 75900005	General Task		01.01.1900	Unimited
 Start Issue Remediation 	TS 75900006	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited
 Berform Assessment 	TS 75900007	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited
 - S Review Assessment 	TS 75900008	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited
 Bework Assessment 	TS 75900009	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited
 Resolve Issue without Remediation Plan 	TS 75900010	General Task		01.01.1900	Unimited
 3 Read Open Remediation Plans 	TS 75900011	Background task		01.01.1900	Unlimited
 Set Open Issues 	TS 75900012	Background task		01.01.1900	Unlimited
 Sour Remediation Using Remediation 	£ TS 75900013	100000 1000		61.01.1900	Interted

Figure 4.9 Tasks Defined as Background by Default

Activate Event Linking

Once all the tasks are updated to general tasks, the next step is to activate the workflow event linkage. Choose **Activate Event Linking** link from the **Task Specific Customizing Overview** screen. To activate the event linking for a process, follow these steps:

- 1. Expand the relevant workflow stage folder (e.g., WS76300018).
- 2. If the status is **Deactivated**, click the **Details** icon, as highlighted in Figure 4.10.

🛅 🛅 🚺 Object				
Tasks/Events		Task/Event Description	Activate/dea	Detais
 S TS 76307975 		Review and Close Remediation Plan		
 S TS 76307989 		Enter Details for CAPA Plan		
 - S TS 76307990 		Review CAPA Plan Details		
 - 3 TS 76307991 		Rework CAPA Plan		
 TS 76307993 		Perform Corrective action		
 S TS 76307994 		Perform Preventive action		
 S TS 76307995 		Approve CAPA Execution		
 S T5 76307996 		Rework CAPA Execution		
 S T5 76307997 		CAPA Plan Cancelled - Close Issue		
 S T5 76308063 		Display Data Sheet		
 S T5 76308091 		Review Due Date Change		
 S TS 76507942 		Get Issues Present Flag		
 S 76507943 		Create Manual Control Performance		
 TS 76507944 		Perform Manual Control Performance		
 - S 76507945 		Rework Manual Control Performance		
 - S 76507946 		Review Manual Control Performance		
• *** WS 75900001		TaskPlan		
 *** ws 75900002 		Process: Remediation Plan		
 *** WS 75900003 		Process: Issue		
*** WS 75900004		Process: Assessment		
• *** WS 75900005		Process: Testlog		
WS 75900006		Process: Testing		
• *** WS 75900007		Process: Signoff		
WS 75900008		Display Report		
WS 75900014		PROCESS: AOD		
 WS 76300012 		Process: CAPA Plan		
 WS 76300018 		Disclosure survey		
 W) CL_GRPC_WF_DISCSVY-CREATE 	α	Business Object of Disclosure SuCreate W	 Deactivated 	
• ** WS 76300030		Process: Propose Control		_
 WS 76300038 		Remadation Plan		

Figure 4.10Review the Status of the Workflow

Clicking the **Details** icon will display a popup (**Properties of Event Linkage**) screen. The following activities must be performed in this screen:

- 1. Enable the Event linkage activated checkbox.
- 2. Select **Do not change linkage** from the **Error feedback** dropdown, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.11</u>.
- 3. Click Save.

🗁 Properties of Event Linkage							
Object type	CL_GRF	PC_WF_DISCSVY					
Event	CREAT	E					
Receiver Type	WS763	WS76300018					
Properties							
Linkage status		No errors	-				
Ivent linkage activated Enable usage of event queue							
Behavior if linkage with e	errors						
System Defaults		Do not change linkage					
Error feedback		Do not change linkage	-				
			×				

Figure 4.11 Activation of Event Linkage

Once the activation is completed, the status is updated to **Activated**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.12</u>.

🔄 🛅 🚺 Object				
Fasks/Events		Task/Event Description	Activate/dea	Detai
 - S 76307975 		Review and Close Remediation Plan		
 - S 76307989 		Enter Details for CAPA Plan		
 T5 76307990 		Review CAPA Plan Details		
 TS 76307991 		Rework CAPA Plan		
 - S 76307993 		Perform Corrective action		
 T5 76307994 		Perform Preventive action		
 TS 76307995 		Approve CAPA Execution		
 TS 76307996 		Rework CAPA Execution		
 T5 76307997 		CAPA Plan Cancelled - Close Issue		
 S TS 76308063 		Display Data Sheet		
 TS 76308091 		Review Due Date Change		
 TS 76507942 		Get Issues Present Flag		
 TS 76507943 		Create Manual Control Performance		
 TS 76507944 		Perform Manual Control Performance		
 TS 76507945 		Rework Manual Control Performance		
 - S 76507946 		Review Manual Control Performance		
* * W5 75900001		Task9lan		
 ** WS 75900002 		Process: Remediation Plan		
 ** WS 75900003 		Process: Issue		
*** WS 75900004		Process: Assessment		
*** WS 75900005		Process: Testiog		
* * WS 75900006		Process: Testing		
*** WS 75900007		Process: Signoff		
*** WS 75900008		Display Report		
*** WS 75900014		PROCESS: AOD		
 * * WS 76300012 		Process: CAPA Plan		
- 😍 WS 76300018		Disclosure survey		
 OL_GRPC_WF_DISCSVY-CREATE 	α.	Business Object of Disclosure SuCreate W	Activated	
* 1 WS 76300030		Process: Propose Control		-

Figure 4.12 Activated Status of the Workflow Stage

Note

Repeat the same steps for all the workflow items that start with **WS**, and ensure that all of these tasks are activated.

4.2.2 Entity Role Assignment

SAP Process Control serves as a solution to address the compliance needs of an organization. Given its role in managing internal controls, it's vital to establish clear responsibilities across different master data entities, such as the organization, subprocess, and control levels. This ensures that specific users are held accountable in the event of any anomalies. Additionally, there are various workflow-based test procedures that are executed using SAP Process Control.

To facilitate this process, specific roles are assigned at each master data entity. These roles determine which users are designated to receive the associated workflows.

Before assigning users to a master data element, it's necessary to identify and link the Transaction PFCG roles that should exist within each of the master data entities. Once these Transaction PFCG roles are associated with the respective entities, they become accessible in the **Roles** section of the entities in the frontend, allowing you to perform the user assignments.

To review the existing entity role assignments or to perform new assignments access, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- Click the SAP Reference IMG button, and follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance • General Settings • Authorizations • Maintain Entity Role Assignment. The Relevant Roles for GRC Authorization screen will display the existing entities and the roles assigned, as shown in Figure 4.13.

Change View	"Relevant Roles	for GR	C Authorization": Overview	'
Relevant Roles for G	RC Authorization			
Entity	Role	Unique	Application	E
CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_SPC_GL.		Process Control	-
CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_SPC_GL.		Process Control	•
CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_SPC_GL.		Process Control	
CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_SPC_SO.		Process Control	
G_AI	SAP_GRC_FN_ADI.	-	Process Control and Risk Ma	
OPP	SAP_GRC_RM_API.		Process Control and Risk Ma	
ORGUNIT	SAP_GRC_RM_API.		Process Control and Risk Ma	
ORGUNIT	SAP_GRC_RM_API.		Process Control and Risk Ma	
ORGUNIT	SAP_GRC_RM_API.		Process Control and Risk Ma	
ORGUNIT	SAP_GRC_SPC_CR.		Process Control	
ORGUNIT	SAP GRC SPC CR.		Process Control and Risk Ma	

Figure 4.13 Entity Role Assignment Configuration

- 4. To create a new assignment, click the **New Entries** button, and update the following fields, as shown in <u>Figure 4.14</u>:
 - **Entity**: Name of the master data entity for which the role should be assigned. For SAP Process Control, this configuration is performed for the following entities:
 - CORPORATE
 - ORGANIZATION
 - SUBPROCESS
 - CONTROL
 - POLICY
 - Role: Transaction PFCG role that should be tagged to the entity.
 - Unique: Activate this if only one user can be mapped to the role. For example, the CEO/CFO role SAP_GRC_RM_API_CEO_CF0 is marked as unique for the **CORPORATE** entity.
 - **Application**: Because this configuration is common for both SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management, it's important to mention if the entity role assignment is specific to SAP Process Control, SAP Risk Management, or both SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management.

Change View "Relevant Roles for GRC Authorization": Overview								
💖 New Entries	d 🖪 🕫 🖩 🖪 🖪							
Relevant Roles for (RC Authorization							
Entity	Role	Unique	Application					
CONTROL	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ISSU	E_A	Process Control and Risk *					
CONTROL	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PRC_	TES	Process Control					
CONTROL	SAP_GRC_SPC_CTL_OPER	ATOR 🗌	Process Control					
CONTROL	Z_SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_RE	M_0 🗌	Process Control and Risk					
CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_RM_API_CENTR	AL	Process Control and Risk					
CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_RM_API_CEO_C	FO	Process Control and Risk					
CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_RM_API_INTER	NAL.	Process Control and Risk					

Figure 4.14 Relevant Role for SAP GRC Authorization

5. Click **Save** to save the changes.

Note

If an entity-role assignment is marked as **Unique**, the user assignment in the frontend will allow only one user. Once the role is assigned to one user, the **Assign** option (button) is grayed out, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.15</u>. Upon removal of the assignment from the existing user, the **Assign** button will become active.

rganization										1
Organizat	tion: Electri	c Pov	ver							
Parent Organizat	on: •		ID	50000889						
Timeframe: Year	2023		Ef	fective Date	01.01.2023					
Risk Appetite	Risk Thresholds	Users	Owners	AC Roles	Assignme	nts Roles	Issues	Attachments	and Links	
Roles							_			_
Show: All		~					Assi	gn Replac	e Remo	ve
Role			Reg	ulation	Name	User	Valid F	rom Val	id To	^
CEO/CFO					BGUSER	BGUSER	20.09.2	9023 31.	12.9999	1
Central Ris	k Manager									18

Figure 4.15 User Assignment When a Role Is Marked as Unique

Upon successfully configuring the new entity-role assignment, it will become visible within the corresponding master data entity in the frontend. For instance, the **Control Owner** role can be found in the **Roles** tab of the local control. To access it, follow these steps:

- 1. Select the organization from the hierarchy in the Master Data work center.
- 2. Navigate to and expand the Subprocess tab within the selected organization.
- 3. Select the specific control within the subprocess and click on **Open**.
- 4. Navigate to the **Roles** tab to locate the role that has been previously mapped, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.16</u>.

Control: Global Accounti	ng Manual				
rent Organization: Electric Power Parent Subprocess: Financial Reporting methame: Year 2023 Effective Date: 01.01.2023			Allow	Local Changes: No	
Roles					
Show V	Regulation	Name	User	Valid From	Valid To
Cross Regulation Control Owner					
Cross Regulation Control Performer					

Figure 4.16 Review the New Entity-Role Assignment

4.2.3 Custom Agent Determination

All the functionalities in SAP Process Control are workflow driven, and there are multiple stages involved in executing these functionalities. Each stage is represented by a business event, and it's important to determine who should be the recipient of the workflow for each of these business events. As previously mentioned, each functionality within SAP Process Control relies on workflow tasks. To enhance comprehension, you'll need to provide detailed information on the determination rules that need to be configured to generate the workflow stages for various business events, as follows:

- Control design assessment
- Control self-assessment
- Manual control performance
- Manual test of effectiveness
- Ad hoc issues
- Automated monitoring
- Policy lifecycle management
- Disclosure survey
- Sign-off

• Master data changes

The following sections outline the agent determination rules for each of these business events. Note that the roles mentioned are for representation purposes only and can be updated based on the requirements of the organization. First, however, we'll discuss how to maintain the determination of agents for business events.

Configuration Overview

The next configuration step is determination of agents for each business event. To perform this configuration, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the SAP Reference IMG button, and follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance • General Settings • Workflow • Maintain Custom Agent Determination Rules.
- 4. Click New Entries to create a new agent determination rule.

The Business Event, Sort, Role, Entity ID, Subentity, and Business Event Name must be updated. See Figure 4.17 and Table 4.2 for details on each of the fields in the **Customized Business Events** screen.



Figure 4.17 Customized Business Events Screen Elements

Field	Description
Business Event	Represents each stage in a workflow. Every SAP Process Control functionality has multiple stages in completing the assessment workflows, and each stage in the workflow is represented by a business event.
Sort	Represents the sequence in which the system should identify the agent rules. This sequence outlines how the system determines which agent rules to apply. For instance, consider the scenario where the first default processor for an ad hoc issue is the issue owner, and the second processor is the control owner. When an ad hoc issue is reported for a control, the system follows this sequence: Initially, it searches for the user assigned as the issue owner for the control. if no user is assigned as the issue owner role to the control, the system then looks for the user assigned as the control owner. It's important to note that if the sort number isn't defined, the system considers it to be 0.
Role	Represents the Transaction PFCG role that should be mapped to the business event. Note that the roles mapped in custom agent determination rules should be the same as the roles mapped in the entity role assignment.

Field	Description
Entity	Represents the master data entity, issue, or remediation plan of the stage where the business event is getting generated.
Subentity	Helps in determining the functionality for which the business event is getting generated if the entity is shared across multiple functionalities of SAP Process Control.
Business Event Name	Briefly describes the business event for which the workflow is triggered.

 Table 4.2
 Details of Customized Business Events Screen Elements

Once these details are provided, click **Save** to complete the configuration.

Control Design Assessment

<u>Table 4.3</u> shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for control design assessment. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2</u>, to read more about control design assessment and the workflow stages involved. The following events occur in the control design assessment:

- 1. Receive the design assessment
- 2. Review the design assessment
- 3. Receive the issue generated from the design assessment
- 4. Receive a remediation plan to fix the issue identified in the design assessment

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	Βι Εν
OPC_PERF_ASSESSMENT	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER (Control Owner)	G_AS (Assessment)	CD (Control Design Assessment)	Pe as
OPC_VALI_ASSESSMENT	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CTL_REVIEWER (Test Reviewer)	G_AS (Assessment)	CD (Control Design Assessment)	Re as
0PC_RECE_ISSUE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_ISS_OWNER (Issue Owner)	G_AS (Assessment)	CD (Control Design Assessment)	Re
OPC_RECE_REM_PLAN	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_REM_OWNER (Remediation Owner)	G_IS (Issue)	CD (Control Design Assessment)	Re re pl

 Table 4.3
 Custom Agent Determination Rules for Control Design Assessment

Control Self-Assessment

<u>Table 4.4</u> shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for control selfassessment along with the stages involved. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.3</u>, to understand more about control self-assessment and the workflow stages involved. The following events are involved in the control self-assessment:

- 1. Receive the self-assessment
- 2. Review the self-assessment
- 3. Receive the issue generated from the self-assessment
- 4. Receive the remediation plan to fix the issue identified in the self-assessment

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	B E
OPC_PERF_ASSESSMENT	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_TESTER (Control Tester)	G_AS (Assessment)	CE (Control Self- Assessment)	P a
OPC_VALI_ASSESSMENT	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CTL_REVIEWER (Test Reviewer)	G_AS (Assessment)	CE (Control Self- Assessment)	R a
OPC_RECE_ISSUE	1	sap_grc_spc_iss_owner (Issue Owner)	G_AS (Assessment)	CE (Control Self- Assessment)	R is
OPC_RECE_REM_PLAN	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_REM_OWNER (Remediation Owner)	G_IS (Issue)	CE (Control Self- Assessment)	R r p

 Table 4.4
 Custom Agent Determination Rules for Control Self-Assessment

Manual Control Performance

<u>Table 4.5</u> shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for manual control performance. The roles mentioned are for representation purposes and can be updated based on the requirements of the organization. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.4</u>, to understand more about manual control performance. The following events are involved in the manual control performance:

- 1. Perform manual control performance (used only when configuration for stage performers isn't enabled)
- 2. Review manual control performance

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	Busir Even
0PC_PERF_CTRL_PERF	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_PERFORMER (Control Performer)	CONTROL	NA	Perfo manu conti perfo
0PC_VALI_CTRL_PERF	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_SPC_OWNER (Subprocess Owner)	CONTROL	NA	Revie manu conti perfo

 Table 4.5
 Custom Agent Determination Rules for Manual Control Performance

Note

Issue reported as part of manual control performance and following the remediation stage follows the ad hoc issue management workflow.

Manual Test of Effectiveness

<u>Table 4.6</u> shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for the manual test of effectiveness. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.5</u>, to understand more about the manual test of effectiveness and the workflow stages involved. The following events are involved in the manual test of effectiveness:

- 1. Perform testing
- 2. Review testing
- 3. Receive the issue generated from manual control testing
- 4. Receive a remediation plan to fix the issue identified in manual control testing

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	Business Event Na
OPC_PERF_TESTING	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PRC_TESTER (Control Tester)	G_TL (Test Log)	TE (Log for Manual Test of Effectiveness)	Perform testing
0PC_VALI_TESTING	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CTL_REVIEWER (Test Reviewer)	G_TL (Test Log)	TE (Log for Manual Test of Effectiveness)	Review testing

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	Business Event Na
OPC_RECE_ISSUE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_ISS_OWNER (Issue Owner)	G_TL (Test Log)	TE (Log for Manual Test of Effectiveness)	Receive issue
OPC_RECE_REM_PLAN	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_REM_OWNER (Remediation Owner)	G_IS (Issue)	TE (Log for Manual Test of Effectiveness)	Receive remediat plans

 Table 4.6
 Custom Agent Determination Rules for Manual Test of Effectiveness

Ad Hoc Issues

Table 4.7 shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for ad hoc issue management when they are reported for various master data entities/objects. See <u>Chapter 7</u> to understand more about ad hoc issue management and the workflow stages involved.

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity
OFN_AHISSUE_DEFAULT_PRC	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER (Control Owner)	CONTROL	-
OFN_AHISSUE_DEFAULT_PRC	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ICMAN (Internal Control Manager)	CORPORATE	-
OFN_AHISSUE_DEFAULT_PRC	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_ OWNER (Organization Owner)	ORGUNIT	-
OFN_AHISSUE_DEFAULT_PRC	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_SPR_OWNER (Subprocess Owner)	SUBPROCESS	-

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity
OFN_AHISSUE_DEFAULT_PRC	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_POLICY_ OWNER (Policy Owner)	POLICY	-

 Table 4.7
 Custom Agent Determination Rules for Ad Hoc Issue Processing

Automated Monitoring

<u>Table 4.8</u> shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for automated monitoring. See <u>Chapter 8</u> to understand more about continuous monitoring of automated controls and the workflow stages involved. The following events are involved in automated monitoring:

- 1. Receive the issue
- 2. Receive the remediation plan

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	Business Event Name
OPC_RECE_ISSUE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_ISS_OWNER (Issue Owner)	G_IS	МО	Receive issue
0PC_RECE_REM_PLAN	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_REM_OWNER (Remediation Owner)	G_IS	МО	Receive remediation plans

 Table 4.8
 Custom Agent Determination Rules for Automated Monitoring

Policy Lifecycle Management

<u>Table 4.9</u> shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for policy lifecycle management. See <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.1</u>, to understand more about policy lifecycle management and the workflow stages involved. The following events are involved in policy lifecycle management:

- 1. Review policy
- 2. Approve policy

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	Business Event Name
OFN_POLICY_REVIEW	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PLC_REVIEW (Policy Reviewer)	POLICY	-	Review policy
OFN_POLICY_APPROVE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PLC_APPR (Policy Approver)	POLICY	-	Approve policy

Disclosure Survey

<u>Table 4.10</u> shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for the disclosure survey. See <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.2</u>, to understand more about the disclosure survey and the levels of master data entities at which the disclosure survey is triggered. The following events are involved in the disclosure survey:

- 1. Perform the disclosure survey
- 2. Review the disclosure survey

Note

Issues reported as part of the disclosure survey and following the remediation stage follow the ad hoc issue management workflow.

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	B E N
0PC_PERF_DISCSVY	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_OWNER (Organization Owner)	ORGUNIT (Organization)	-	P di su
0PC_PERF_DISCSVY	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_SPR_OWNER (Subprocess Owner)	SUBPROCESS	-	P di su
0PC_PERF_DISCSVY	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER (Control Owner)	CONTROL	-	P di su
0PC_REVIEW_DISCSVY	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ICMAN (Internal Control Manager)	ORGUNIT (Organization)	-	R di su
0PC_REVIEW_DISCSVY	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ICMAN (Internal Control Manager)	SUBPROCESS	-	R di su
0PC_REVIEW_DISCSVY	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ICMAN (Internal Control Manager)	CONTROL	-	R di sı

Table 4.10 Custom Agent Determination Rules for Disclosure Survey

Sign-Off

<u>Table 4.11</u> shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for sign-off, which is performed at the organization level first and then finally at the corporate level. See

<u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.3</u>, to understand more about the sign-off functionality, its relevance, and the levels at which the sign-off is performed.

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Sub
0PC_PERF_SIGNOFF	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_OWNER (Organization Owner)	ORGUNIT (Organization)	-
OPC_PERF_SIGNOFF	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_CEO_CFO (CEO/CFO)	CORPORATE	-

 Table 4.11
 Custom Agent Determination Rules for the Sign-Off Functionality

Master Data Changes

<u>Table 4.12</u> shows the agent determination rules that are to be defined for triggering approval workflow for changes in relevant master data entities or to notify the designated user for any change made to the respective master data element. See <u>Section 4.3.2</u> to understand more about the requirement of having approval workflow for master data changes and how to activate the approval and notification features for the same.

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	Busin Event Name
OFN_MDCHG_APPR	1	SAP_GRC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER	CONTROL	-	Get mast data chang approvide who l the chang autho of the objec
OFN_MDCHG_APPR	1	SAP_GRC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER	SUBPROCESS	-	Get mast data chang approvide who l the chang autho of the objec

Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity	Subentity	Busin Event Name
OFN_MDCHG_APPR	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_ADMIN	ORGUNIT	-	Get mast data chang approvide who l the chang autho of the objec
OFN_MDCHG_NTFY	1	SAP_GRC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER	CONTROL	-	Get notifi persc who l the displa autho of the objec
0FN_MDCHG_NTFY	1	SAP_GRC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER	SUBPROCESS	-	Get notifi perso who l the displa autho of the objec
0FN_MDCHG_NTFY	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_ADMIN	ORGUNIT	-	Get notifi perso who l the displa autho of the objec

 Table 4.12
 Custom Agent Determination Rules for Master Data Change Approval Workflow

Upon completing the workflow for master data elements, you can see the workflow for various business units, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.18</u>.

 New Entries Unstamized Business 	E E	🖙 🕃 😤 🔂 BC Set: Change Fiel	d Values		
Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity ID	Subentity	Business Event Name
OFN_ANISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	CONTROL		Default processor for ad-hoc issue
OFN_ANISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ICMAN	CORPORATE		Default processor for ad-hoc issue
OFN_AMISSUE_DE.	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_POLICY_OWNER	POLICY		Default processor for ad-hoc issue
OFN_ANISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PRC_OWNER	PROCESS		Default processor for ad-hoc issue
OFN_ANISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_SPR_OWNER	SUBPROCESS		Default processor for ad-hoc issue
OFN_ANISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_OWNER	ORGUNIT		Default processor for ad-hoc issue
OFN_ANISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_REG_AIMIN	REGULATION		Default processor for ad-hoc issue
OFN_AMISSUE_DE.	2	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_OWNER	ECONTROL		Default processor for ad-hoc issue
OFN_AM_BRIFP_NO.	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	CONTROL		BRF plus notification
OFN_AM_BREP_NO.	. 1	SAP_GRC_SPC_FDA_CTL_OWNER	CONTROL		BRF plus notification
OFN_AM_BREP_NO.	. 1	SAP_GRC_SPC_SOX_CTL_OWNER	CONTROL		BRF plus notification
OFN ISSUE NOTI	1	SAP GRC SPC CRS CTL OWNER	CONTROL		Send notification to object owner

Figure 4.18 Screen with All the Custom Agent Determination Rules

4.2.4 Fallback Users

As explained in the previous section, workflows are triggered to users based on agent determination rules. If the agent assignment for a specific role isn't performed, the system will look for a fallback receiver (referred to as a fallback user) before ending it with an error. Fallback users can be defined at the system level. Navigate to Transaction SPRO to review the user IDs maintained as current fallback users, to add a new fallback user, or to remove a current fallback user by following these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the SAP Reference IMG button.
- 4. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance General Settings Maintain Fallback Receiver.
- 5. To add a new fallback user, click the **New Entries** button, and select the new ID in the **User** field, as shown in Figure 4.19.

Change View "Fallback Recipient of Work Items": Overview	
💖 New Entries 🗅 🖶 🕫 🐺 🖪	
Falback Recipient of Work Items	
User	<u></u>
KARIHIKA 🖸	
SANDEEPL	×
SUBHRANSHU	

Figure 4.19 Review Fallback Users Maintained for the System

Important

Note that the user assigned as a fallback ID for the system should have the required authorizations to receive and perform the activity. It's always recommended to provide fallback users with wider access or with access to the power user (role: SAP_GRC_FN_ALL).

Additionally, multiple user IDs can be maintained as fallback users, and the workflow will be triggered to all those users.

4.3 Shared Master Data Settings

Shared master data settings in SAP Process Control typically refers to the configuration and management of master data that can be shared across multiple organizational units or entities within an organization. Master data in SAP Process Control includes information about controls, risks, regulations, and other data elements that are essential for managing internal controls and compliance.

This section details the following activities:

- Configuring a new root organization hierarchy, which is a crucial step for establishing a new corporate structure
- Configuring workflow settings to manage master data changes efficiently
- Enabling the essential functionality of defining a local control directly within the system

4.3.1 Create a Root Organization Hierarchy

During the initial configuration, or when there is a need to introduce a new entity structure, it's essential to perform the configuration of the root organization. This configuration involves setting up both the corporate organization and its immediate child organization. Follow the steps detailed here:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.

- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 Shared Master Data Settings
 Create Root
 Organization Hierarchy.
- 5. In the **Select the Organization View** field, use **002** (if the organization is using only the standard hierarchy). If there are any custom organization views created, select the specific view under which the root has to be created, as shown in Figure 4.20.
- 6. Enter the **Root Organizational Unit**, which is the name of the corporation (top most organization in the hierarchy).
- 7. Enter the **Child Organization Unit**, which is the first child organization under the corporation.
- 8. Enter **Valid From**, which is the date from which the organization is valid.
- 9. Click Execute.



Figure 4.20 Configuration of the Root Organization

Once the root organization is configured, the same can be accessed from the frontend in the organizations work item. To review the newly created organization hierarchy, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP GRC system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the Master Data work center.
- 4. Under the **Organizations** work group, click the **Organizations** work item.
- 5. Review the newly created corporation and child organization from the hierarchy as detailed in <u>Figure 4.21</u>.

Organizations								
View: S	tandard Hierarchy							
Show	Year	v 2023	V Apply Advanced	Open Add Remove	Actions ,			
Na	me							
	Organization Hierarchy							
	 ABC International Ltd 							
	ABC India Pvt Ltd							
	 Electric Power 							

Figure 4.21 Organization View from the Organization Work Item

Note

More child organizations can be created from SAP Business Client. Use the other options to set up the organization further.

4.3.2 Activate the Workflow for Master Data Changes

To meet various compliance requirements, it's crucial to ensure that the organization's master data entities consistently align with its policies. SAP offers standard reports such as Audit Log and Change Analysis to track any changes made to these entities.

However, relying solely on these reports for validation is a reactive approach. To enhance the effectiveness of master data maintenance and have better control over changes, enabling an approval workflow for the master data changes is recommended. Refer to <u>Section 4.2.3</u> to understand the rules that must be defined to trigger the approval workflow or the notification workflow for master data changes.

With respect to having control of the master data changes made, SAP Process Control provides flexibility by enabling approvals/notifications to the designated users, which can be done at a specific master data entity instead of having the same at the system level. Following are the master data entities for which the workflow can be enabled:

- Organization
- Process
- Subprocess (central or local)
- Control (central or local)
- Account group
- Control objectives
- Risk template
- Indirect entity level controls (central or local)

There are two ways in which workflows can be enabled for master data changes:

Approval

Any required change to the master data has to be

requested and approved by an authorized user before the change can be made.

• Notify

This will notify the authorized user about the change made to the respective master data entity. No specific approval is required to make the change if only this configuration is enabled.

Figure 4.22 shows the various master data entities for which approval/notify workflow can be enabled from the Transaction SPRO configuration. Follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Follow the menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance • Shared Master Data Settings • Activate Master Data Changes Workflow.
- 5. Use the Approval and Notify checkboxes to enable.
- 6. Click **Save**.

Change View "Activate Master Data Changes Workflow": Overview										
🤣 New Entries 🗅 🗟 🛱 🐺 🕵 🚯 BC Set: Change Field Values										
Artivate Master Data Channes Workflow										
Entity ID		Entity Type	Annroval	Notify	-					
	ACC GROUP	Account Group			-					
	COBJECTIVE	Control Objective	Ö	0	*					
	CONTROL	Dintrol	1	4						
	CRISK	Risk Template								
	ECONTROL	Indirect Entity-Level Control								
	ORGUNIT	Organization			-					
	PROCESS	Process								
	SUBPROCESS	Subprocess								
	XCONTROL	Central Control								
	XECGROUP	Central Indirect Entity-Level Control Group								
	XECONTROL	Central Indirect Entity-Level Control								
	XPROCESS	Central Process								
	XSUBPROCESS	Central Subprocess								

Figure 4.22Activate Master Data Changes Workflow Configuration Screen

Details about the functionality and how the approver receives the notifications, approves the request, and so on are detailed in <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.6</u>. In addition, refer to <u>Section 4.2.3</u> on master data changes to understand the workflow configurations to be performed to trigger notifications to the approvers whenever a change is requested in a master data entity.

4.3.3 Maintain the Ability to Add Locally Defined Controls

As part of master data definition, controls are defined as part of the business process hierarchy under a subprocess and then mapped to an organization or multiple organizations where the control is being operated.

<u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.3.2</u>, details more about control localization. However, if there is a specific requirement for an organization in the hierarchy to create a new control under one of the local subprocesses, it can be created directly under the organization without having been created under the business process hierarchy. To enable users to create localization controls, the customization option must be activated by following these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 - Shared Master Data Settings Maintain Ability
to Add Locally Defined Controls.

5. Select the **Activated** checkbox for the customizing item **ADD_LOCAL_DEFINED_CN**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.23</u>.



Figure 4.23 Activate the Ability to Add Locally Defined Controls

4.4 Integration Framework

Continuous monitoring of automated controls is another key functionality in SAP Process Control. The automated monitoring feature fetches details from the source system where the data resides and on top of which business rules are defined to test the effectiveness of controls. <u>Chapter 8</u> details more about the continuous control monitoring.

Remote Function Call (RFC) connections must be defined to fetch the data from the source systems. This section outlines the detailed procedures involved in defining the connectors and mapping them to the relevant subscenarios. On a broader level, here are the activities:

- Create Connectors
- Maintain Connectors and Connection Types
- Maintain Connection Settings

The following subsections outline more about each of these topics along with the configuration steps.

4.4.1 Create Connectors

To create a new connection or review the existing connection

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.

- Click the SAP Reference IMG button, and follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance • Common Component Settings • Integration Framework • Create Connectors. Alternatively, administrators can use Transaction SM59.
- 4. The **RFC Connections** screen displays all the existing RFC connections, as shown in <u>Figure 4.24</u>.

Configuration of RFC Connection	5		
Senerate RFC Callback Positive Lists	e Non-E	Empty \	Whitelists 📫 Positive List for Dynamic Connection
MCO RFC callback check not secure			
261 / ~ 1			
RFC Connections	Ту	PL	Comment
ABAP Connections	3		
 DYNAMIC_DEST_CALLBACK_WHITELIST 	3	-	Calback Positive List for Dynamic Destinations
• 🗈 G12	3	-	
 G12CLNT100 	3		G12CLNT100
 G12_WORKFLOW_000 	3		SAP Business Workflow
 G12_WORKFLOW_100 	3		G12_WORKFLOW_100
G12_WORKFLOW_100_1	3		SAP Business Workflow
 TGDCL100 	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD 100
 TGDCL210 	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD210
 TGDCL300 	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD 300
 TGDCL400 	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD 400
 TGDCLNT210 	3		GRC 12 TO TGD210
 TGDCLNT300 	3		GRC 12 TO TGD 300
 TGDCLNT400 	3		TGDCLNT400

Figure 4.24 RFC Connections

5. If the RFC connection is already established, select it from the list, and click the **View** button to ensure it's set up correctly.

Alternatively, a new connection can be created by clicking the **Create** button. Enter details such as **RFC Destination**, **Connection Type**, and **Description**, as well as **Target Host** details under the **Technical Settings** tab and log in information under the **Logon & Security** tab (see <u>Figure 4.25</u>). Click **Save**.

emote Logon C	onnection Test Unicode Test Fast Serialization Test 😚
FC Destination	G12CLNT100
onnection Type	3 ABAP Connection Description
escription	
Description 1	G12CLNT100
Description 2	G12CLNT100
Description 3 Administration	G12CLNT100 Technical Settings Logon & Security Unicode Special Options
Description 3 Administration Target System Se	G12CLNT100 Technical Settings Logon & Security Unicode Special Options ttings
Administration Administration Target System Se Load Balancing S	G12CLNT100 Technical Settings Logon & Security Unicode Special Options ttings tatus
Administration Administration Target System Se Load Balancing Load Balancing	G12CLNT100 Technical Settings Logon & Security Unicode Special Options ttings tatus OYes ONo
Administration Administration Target System Se Load Balancing S Load Balancing Target Host	G12CLNT100 Technical Settings Logon & Security Unicode Special Options ttings tatus OYes ONo Instance No. 00
Description 3 Administration Target System Se Load Balancing S Load Balancing Target Host Save to Databas	G12CLNT100 Technical Settings Logon & Security Unicode Special Options ttings tatus OYes ONo Instance No. 00 e as

Figure 4.25 RFC Connection Definition

Note

Click **Connection Test** to check if the connection is established. Additionally, it's recommended to perform the authorization test by choosing **Utilities** • **Test** • **Authorization Test**. Make sure both the tests are successful before moving to the next set of configurations.

4.4.2 Maintain Connectors and Connection Types

The next step in the configuration is to maintain connectors and connection types. This configuration is shared between SAP Access Control and SAP Process Control solutions. To perform the configuration, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.

- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 - Common Component Settings Integration
 Framework Maintain Connectors and Connection
 Types.

Note

Selecting the connection types and defining the connectors are the only steps required to enable usage of connectors for the automated monitoring functionality in SAP Process Control.

- 5. Select the **Connection Type**, for example, **S4HANA**, **SAP**, and so on.
- 6. From the dialog structure, double-click **Define Connectors** to map the connectors defined in the previous section, as shown in <u>Figure 4.26</u>.

🖉 💽 👻 🗧 🗑	6 € I 6 // //	111111		
Change View "Connection typ	e definition":	Overview		
🍄 New Entries 🗅 🗟 🕫 🗷 🖉 🖪				
Dalog Structure	Connection type de	efinition		
Connection type definition	Connection Type	Connection Type Text		
Define Connectors	EP .	Enterprise Portal		
Define Subsequent Connectors Define Connector Groups Assign Connector Groups to Group	TILE	File sysytem for legacy extraction		
	108	HANA Database		
Assign Connectors to Connector Gr	IAG	IAG Bridge		
	IAG_GRP	IAG Bridge Systems for Arba and Successfactors		
	ICH_NV	Idm NW and GRC Integration		
	LOAP	Ldap Connectors		
	LOCAL	Local Data Source		
	SARANA	\$/4		
	BAP	SAP System		
	SPEC	Success Factor Employee Central		
	\$795.1	SPML1		
	3195.2	SPML2		
1	¥3	Webservice		
	WS COATA	5/4.002/2		

Figure 4.26 Configuration to Define Connectors for a Connection Type

7. In the **Define Connectors** screen, shown in <u>Figure 4.27</u>, select the RFC connector. The field mapping is as

follows:

- **Target Connector**: RFC ID of the target system defined in Transaction SM59 in the SAP Process Control system.
- Max No. of Background WP: Not relevant for SAP Process Control.
- Wait Time: Not relevant for SAP Process Control.
- **Con. Type**: Indicates the type of connection as either **S4HANA** or **SAP** (per the system).
- Source Connector: Specify the name of the RFC connection created in the target system connecting to the SAP Process Control system. This is a reverse RFC connection required to use the asynchronous functionality of a business rule. To understand more about the business rule definition, see <u>Chapter 8</u>, <u>Section 8.3</u>.
- Logical Port: Not relevant for SAP Process Control.

Change View "Define Connect	tors": Overview	·	
🗇 New Entries 🗅 🗟 🕫 🛞 🚳 🕞			
Dialog Structure	Define Connectors		
Connection type definition	Target Connector	Logical Port	Max No. of Wait Time
Define Connectors	ER9CLNT001)
Define Connector Groups	GXT_ODATA		_
Assign Connector Groups to Group	HDBCLNT100	HDBCLNT100	3
Assign Connectors to Connector Gi	TGDCL100	TGDCL100	3
	TGDCL210	TGDCL210	3
	TGDCL300	T60CL300	3
	TGDCL400	TGDCL400	3
	TGDCLNT210	TGDCLNT210	3
	TGDCLNT300	TGDCLNT300	3
	TGDCLNT400	TGDCLNT400	3
	TNDCLNT100	TNDCLNT100	3
	TSDCL100	TSDCL100	3
	TSDCLNT100	TSDCLNT100	3

Figure 4.27 Define Connectors Configuration

8. Click the **Save** button to save the changes.

Once the connectors and connection types are configured, move to maintaining connection settings as outlined in the next section.

4.4.3 Maintain Connection Settings

There are different mechanisms by which the data can be fetched from the target system while defining a data source, referred to as integration scenarios. Each such method is called a subscenario in automated monitoring. To understand more about such subscenarios, see <u>Chapter 8</u>, <u>Section 8.2.1</u>.

It's important to tag the RFC connection defined in <u>Section 4.4.1</u> to each of these subscenarios using the Transaction SPRO configuration. Follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 Common Component Settings Integration
 Framework Maintain Connection Settings.
- 5. Select the **AM Work Area** in the **Integration Scenario** field of the popup screen.
- 6. Click **Execute** to start mapping the RFCs to the subscenarios, as shown in <u>Figure 4.28</u>.
- 7. The Integration Scenario screen lists the Subscenario definition, as outlined in Figure 4.29.

8. Select the line items using the checkboxes, and doubleclick the **Scenario-Connector Link** option from the **Dialog Structure**.

٠		Governance, Risk and Compliance		_
	•	General Settings		
	•	Shared Master Data Settings		
		Reporting		
	•	Common Component Settings	CP Determine Work Area: Entry 🛛 🗙	
	•	Integration Framework		
		Ga Greate Connectors	Field Name Work Area	
		On Maintain Consectors and Consection Types	Integration Scenario AN C	
		Maintain Connection Settings		
		Maintain Service Providers and Consumer Proxies in SOA Manager		
		A Waintain Service Provided by S/4 ODuta		
		 Event-Based Monitoring 		
	•	Continuous Monitoring	Further select cond. Append	Г
		Policy Management		
		Internal Audit Management		

Figure 4.28 Access the Integration Scenario

Change View "Subscenario	definition": Ove	ervien	/		
🎾 New Entries 🗅 🗟 🕫 🕃 통 [B				
Dialog Structure	Integration Scenario	AM	Automatic Monitoring		
 Bubscenario definition 	Subscenario definition	1			
Scenario Connection type Unk	Sub Scenario		Sub Scenario Text		
Scenario-Connector Link Maintain file paths for Logical	ABAP_REPORT		ABAP Report		
	ADVANCED		HANA		
	AM_SOD	So	D Integration		
	BWQUERY		BW Query		
	CONFIG		Configurable		
	EVENT		Event		
	GL_MQT		ternal Partner		
	PI	Pro	ocess Integration		
	PROG	Pro	ogrammed		
	SAPQUERY	SA	P Query		



9. Click **New Entries**, add the RFC connectors created in the previous step, and click Save, as shown in <u>Figure 4.30</u>.



Figure 4.30 Assigning RFC Connections to Subscenarios

Once the mapping is performed, the connection-specific configuration is completed. You may repeat the same steps

if additional connectors need to be added at a later stage.

4.5 Multiple Compliance Framework

Regulations play a crucial role in SAP Process Control when it comes to defining master data or in performing any type of assessment. This section explains the process of defining the configurations required to be performed in the Transaction SPRO configuration before a user can define a regulation in the **Master Data** section in SAP Business Client. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.2</u>, to understand more about the process of defining regulation hierarchy. Following are the configurations to be performed to configure regulations:

- Define subtypes for regulation-specific attributes
- Configure compliance initiatives
- Relate regulation to plan usage

4.5.1 Define Subtypes for Regulation-Specific Attributes

In SAP Process Control, defining subtypes for regulationspecific attributes allows for a more tailored and precise approach to managing compliance requirements. While creating a new regulation, a subtype has to be assigned that should be defined by copying from the following standard infotypes:

- 5302: Relevance
- 5304: Control Details

- 5306: ELC Details
- 5307: Regulation Specific Flag
- 5311: Settings: Subprocess
- 5313: Settings: Organization
- 5315: Settings: Local ELC
- 5326: Test Plan
- 5337: MCF Organization Attributes
- 5338: Scope

To review the existing infotypes and standard subtypes, or to create a new subtype, follow these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 Process Control Multiple-Compliance
 Framework Define Subtypes for Regulation
 Specific Attributes.

SAP delivers standard subtypes 5000 and 5100, with the required infotype mapping mentioned earlier, which are used for the regulation configurations of Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) and Food & Drug Administration (FDA), respectively. Figure 4.31 shows the various infotypes.

Dialog Structure	Inftyp.	Infotype Name	Subtyp	Subtype text	
Subtypes	5302	Relevance	5000	SOX	-
 Time constraint 	5302	Relevance	5100	FDA	
	5302	Relevance	9001	Companies Act	
	5302	Relevance	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	5304	Control Details	5000	SOX	
	5304	Control Details	5100	FDA	
	5304	Control Details	9001	Companies Act	
	\$304	Control Details	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	\$306	Remote Risks	\$000	SOX	
	5306	Remote Risks	5100	FDA	
	5306	Remote Risks	9001	Companies Act	
	5306	Remote Risks	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	5307	Regulation specific flag	5000	SOX	
	5307	Regulation specific flag	5100	FDA	
	5307	Regulation specific flag	9001	Companies Act	
	\$307	Regulation specific flag	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	5311	Settings: Subprocess	\$000	SOX	
	5311	Settings: Subprocess	5100	FDA	
	5311	Settings: Subprocess	9001	Companies Act	
	5311	Settings: Subprocess	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	5313	Settings: Organization	5000	SOX	
	5313	Colliner: Ormainting	\$100	604	_

Figure 4.31Subtypes Configuration for Regulations

To create a new subtype, select the 10 infotypes listed at the start of the section, and click **Copy.** In the copied entries, enter a new subtype number for all the infotypes, which should be in the range of 9000 to 9999, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.32</u>. The name of the regulation for reference in subtype text can be updated per the requirement. Click **copy all** to also get the dependent entries for all the infotypes.

	,,,			
Dialog Structure	Inftyp.	Infotype Name	Subtyp	Subtype text
* 😁 Subtypes	5302	Relevance	9002	Companies Act
Time constraint	5304	Control Details	9002	Companies Act
	5306	Remote Risks	9002	Companies Act
	5307	Regulation specific flag	9002	Companies Act
	5311	Settings: Subprocess	9002	Companies Act
	5313	Settings: Organization	9002	Companies Act
	5315	Settings: Local ELC	9002	Companies Act
	5326	Test Plan	9002	Companies Act
	5337	MCF Organization Attr.	9002	Companies Act
	5338	Scope	9002	Companies Act
		🖙 Specify object to b	e copied	×
:		Entry 1 of the entries copied has dependent You can copy the entri with all dependent ent	s to be entries.	copy all only copy entry Cancel

Once the copy of dependent entries is performed for all the infotypes, click **Save** to complete the subtype configuration.

4.5.2 Configure Compliance Initiatives

The subtypes created in the previous section can be used to setup/configure new regulations to define the master data and the business transactions to be enabled for each of the regulation type. Steps to use them are detailed in this section. To review the existing regulation configurations or create a new one, follow these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 Process Control Multiple-Compliance
 Framework Configure Compliance Initiatives. The current regulation configurations are listed with the subtypes, as highlighted in Figure 4.33.



Figure 4.33 Review Current Regulation Configurations

 To create a new regulation configuration, click New Entries, and provide the following details, as outlined in <u>Figure 4.34</u>:

- **Regulation Configuration**: Brief name of the regulation.
- **Regulation Configuration Description**: Detailed name of the regulation.
- **STy.**: Subtype number that is created in <u>Section 4.5.1</u>.
- 5. Once these details are provided, click **Save** to complete the configuration.



Figure 4.34 Setting Up New Regulation Configuration

Once the regulation configuration is saved, assign it to a regulation type by following these steps:

- 1. Expand Define Regulation Type from the Dialog Structure.
- 2. Select one of the regulation types, **FINANCIAL** or **OPERATIONAL**.
- 3. Double-click **Regulation Configuration Assignments** from the **Dialog Structure**, as shown in <u>Figure 4.35</u>.

Change View "Define Regulation	n Type": Overvie	***	
🎐 New Entries 🕒 🔂 🕫 😹 🗷 🗷	Set: Change Field Value	i	
Dalog Structure	Define Regulation Typ	•	
Define Regulation Configuration	Regulation Type	Regulation Type Text	DO NOT USE
Define Regulation Type	FISARCIAL	financial Compliance	
 Regulation Corriguistion Assignments Marker USAs 	OPERATIONAL	Operational Compliance	
Business Transactions			
Settings			

Figure 4.35 Access Regulation Type from the Configuration

 The subsequent screen shows the details of the current set of regulations assigned to the regulation type. Click **New Entries** to add a new regulation type, as highlighted in <u>Figure 4.36</u>.





- 5. Select the regulation configuration from the search option.
- 6. Click **Save** to complete the regulation assignment to the regulation type.

Regulations drive the applicability of few key features such as account groups, aggregation of deficiencies, corrective action and preventive action (CAPA), and sign-off at the organization level in SAP Process Control. Applicability of these features are maintained at the regulation type level. Once the regulation assignment is completed, as shown in Figure 4.36, all the configurations that are performed for the regulation type are extended to the new regulation configuration.

Following are the two key configurations performed for the regulation type:

Master Data

The account group is a key functionality in SAP Process Control, and the work center to maintain account groups is enabled only if this configuration is enabled for at least one of the regulation types and regulations, which is explained more in detail in <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.2</u>. <u>Figure 4.37</u> shows the master data configuration for a regulation type.



Figure 4.37Activation of the Account Group Work Center for a RegulationType

Business Transactions

Following are the three configurations that can be enabled at a regulation level. These functionalities can be used only if they are enabled for the regulation against which the assessments are being performed.

- AOD: Aggregation of deficiencies is a functionality used to provide a consolidated view to management about the deficiencies identified in the controls in the scope of the organization complying with a specific regulation. Enable this checkbox to activate the Aggregation of Deficiencies field on the General tab of the organization. Refer to Table 5.4 in <u>Chapter 5</u> to understand more about the fields available on the General tab.
- CAPA: The corrective action and preventive action (CAPA) plan is an alternative and more robust methodology of the issue remediation process. If a CAPA is enabled for a regulation and if an issue is

identified as part of any control assessment, the issue owner has to define the root cause for the issue, corrective action plan, an owner to implement the corrective action, and then a preventive action plan and an owner to implement the preventive action. If this checkbox is enabled, the issue owner will have an option to assign a CAPA plan instead of assigning a remediation plan as part of the issue remediation process.

 SIGN-OFF: This is a process of obtaining attestation from top management of an organization level about the master data in scope, assessments performed, issues reported, and the respective remediation plans initiated to fix the issues. Enable this checkbox to activate the Sign-Off field on the General tab of the organization. See <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.3</u>, to learn more about the sign-off functionality.

See <u>Figure 4.38</u> to review the current business transactions configuration or to maintain the same.



Figure 4.38 Business Transactions Configuration for a Regulation Type

4.5.3 Relate Regulation to Plan Usage

The planner is a key function in SAP Process Control for initiating various assessments at different levels such as control, subprocess, or organization. <u>Chapter 6</u> and <u>Chapter 9</u> provide more detailed understanding about the assessments conducted through SAP Process Control. When using the planner to trigger these assessments, the initial step involves selecting a regulation, which acts as a filter to display only objects mapped to that regulation for selection.

Plan usage configuration in Transaction SPRO details which SAP Process Control plan activities require regulation selection while using scheduling Planner. This configuration must be performed by following these steps:

- 1. Navigate to Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 Common Component Settings
 Planning and Scheduling
 Define Plan Usage.
- 4. Double-click **Plan Activity for Process Control** from the **Dialog Structure**, which shows the plan activities for SAP Process Control, and the **Need Regu** (need regulation) column indicates whether regulation is the required selection or not, as shown in <u>Figure 4.39</u>.

Change View "Plan Activity fo	r Process	Control"	: Overvie	w.					
🎐 🕄 New Entries 🗅 🛼 🕫 🛒 🕷	в.								
Dialog Structure	Plan Activity f	or Process Ca	introl						_
 Plan Artivity for Access Hanagement 	Activity/D	Orp. Spec.	Share Exa	Need Surve	Is Testing	Need Obj.	Need Ropt	Need Regul	Recurring
Plan Activity for Process Control	GRIC_ARSRV	8							
Plan Activity for Kisk Management Plan Activity for common components	PERF-A00								
	PERF-CEASE		1			8		1	
	PERF-CR05							1	
	PERF-CR158								
	PERF-CTLPF		1						
	PERF-ETEST								
	PERF-HCA00								
	PERF-0005	1							0
	PERF-RISK				0	1			
1	PERF-SOFOU				0				
	PERF-5705	8				8			
	PERF-TEST	GRC-PC				8			

Figure 4.39 Review Plan Usage Configuration

If the **Need Regu** field is activated for a plan activity, it becomes mandatory to select a regulation in the planner functionality. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, to understand the detailed steps involved in scheduling a Planner.

In the **Select Regulation** screen of the Planner, the only regulations available in the dropdown are for the plan activity for which the mapping is performed using the **Relate Regulation to Plan Usage** configuration. To access this configuration:

- 1. Navigate to Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 3. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance

• Process Control • Multiple-Compliance Framework • Relate Regulation to Plan Usage, which displays the current regulation to plan usage mapping, as shown in Figure 4.40.



Figure 4.40 Review the Current Regulation to Plan Activity Mapping

- 4. If a new regulation is configured and has to be mapped to the plan activity, click **New Entries**, and provide the following details:
 - ActivityID: Select the process control plan activity for which the need regulation is enabled, as shown in <u>Figure 4.40</u>.
 - **Regulation Configuration**: This is the regulation configuration created in <u>Section 4.5.2</u>.
- 5. Click **Save** to complete the assignment, as shown in <u>Figure 4.41</u>.





The regulation will be available for selection from the dropdown in the **Select Regulation** tab while scheduling a planner for control design assessment.

4.6 Other Configurations

This section provides an overview of other essential configurations required before initiating SAP Process Control activities. It outlines the following:

- How to set up master data attributes
- How to validate the completeness of case management
- How to compare data with client 000 and populate missing values in the active client if there are gaps

4.6.1 Maintain Master Data Attribute Values

When defining master data elements in SAP Process Control, specific attributes defining the master data entity must be specified. Many of these fields can be prefilled with standard values, giving users options to select from dropdowns, perform searches, or use radio buttons during master data definition.

To configure these prepopulated values, follow these steps:

- 1. Go to Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 3. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 - Process Control Edit Attribute Values.

Attributes are categorized into three sections based on the type of user maintenance allowed:

Attributes and Values

All the available master data elements for which attribute values should be defined are configured in this dialog structure.

- Attributes with Dependent Attributes
 Master data attributes related to or dependent on each
 other are defined in this structure. For example, values of
 the control subgroup are dependent on the value of the
 control group selected.
- Attributes with Fixed Values
 These master data attributes are provided with fixed values by SAP, and the user can't add or remove the values from these. The only available maintenance for the users is to update the text per the requirements of the organization.

Figure 4.42 details the various categories.

Display View "Attributes": Overview		
91 B B B		
Dialog Structure	Attributes	
* CALTOULES	Attribute	Text
Values	AC-ASS	Financial Statement Assertion
Actropotes with Dependent Attropotes Values	CH_SUBGROUP	Control Subgroup
Values Permitted for Dependent Attribute	IELC-FREQ	Indirect Entity-Level Control Operation Frequency
Attributes with Fixed Values	INDUSTRY	Industry
Names	PR-CATEGORY	Control Category
	PR-FREQ	Frequency
	PR-NATURE	Nature of Control
	FR-FURP	Control Purpose
	PR-SIG	Control Significance
	PR-TTECHNQ	Testing Technique
	RELEVANCE	Relevance
	RISK_IMP	Qualitative Risk Impact
	SC-FREQ	Scheduling Frequency
	TR_TYPE	Transaction Type
	TS-SAMPLING_METHOD	Samping method

Figure 4.42 Maintenance Screen of Master Data Attributes

<u>Table 4.13</u> provides an overview of various master data attributes that can be maintained in this configuration.

Field Name	Details
Financial Statement Assertions	These are financial assertions that the organization has to select based on the criteria the account group has to comply with. <u>Chapter 5</u> , <u>Section 5.2.2</u> , outlines more about the process of maintaining assertions in the configuration.
Control Subgroup	Further classifies the controls based on the nature of the control. The subgroups are decided based on the control groups. <u>Chapter 5</u> , <u>Section 5.2.3</u> , outlines more about maintenance of control subgroups.
Indirect Entity-Level Control Operational Frequency	Indicates the frequency at which the indirect entity level controls should be tested. Following are the values that are added to this configuration by default on activating standard BC set GRPC-ATTR-IELC-FREQ:
	• Annual
	As Needed
	Continual
	• Monthly
	• Quarterly
Industry	As part of defining subprocesses in the business process hierarchy, the user has an option to classify the subprocesses as industry specific or not. If the option is

Field Name Details

selected as **Yes**, following are the values that are added to this configuration by default on activating standard BC set GRPC-ATTR-INDUSTRY:

- Aerospace and Defense
- Automotive
- Banking
- Chemicals
- Construction and Operations
- Consumer Products
- Higher Education and Research
- Engineering
- Healthcare
- High Tech
- Industrial Machinery and Components
- Insurance
- Media
- Mill Products
- Mining
- Oil and Gas
- Pharmaceuticals
- Professional Services

	Public Sector
	• Retail
	Service Providers
	 Telecommunications
	Transportation
	• Utilities
Control Category	Classifies a control to identify the process area that the control belongs to. To understand more about maintaining the control category, see Table 5.2 in <u>Chapter 5</u> , <u>Section 5.2.3</u> .
Frequency	Indicates the frequency at which the control should be tested.
Nature of Control	Indicates the nature of the control activity.
Control Purpose	Indicates whether the control is defined as a detective or preventive control in the source system where the control is defined.
Control Significance	Indicates how the control can be classified based on the criticality.
Testing Technique	Indicates the methodology to be followed in testing a control. This option to select appears if the control is marked as Yes for To be tested in the General tab.

Field Name	Details
Relevance	Defines the nature of a control based on the principles of the Committee of Sponsoring Organization (COSO) framework.
Qualitative Risk Impact	Indicates the risk level of the control.
Transaction Type	As part of defining subprocesses in the business process hierarchy, the user has an option to define the type of transactions being covered as part of the definition. Following are the values that are added to this configuration by default on activating standard BC set GRPC-ATTR-TRANSTYPE: • Estimation • Non-Routine • Routine

Field Name	Details
Sampling Method	While defining the manual test plan, it's important to indicate the method to be followed by the control tester to gather the sample data. Following are the values that are added to this configuration by default on activating standard BC set GRPC-ATTR-SAMPLE_METHOD:
	Interval Sampling
	Judgmental Sampling
	Random Sampling
	Stratified Sampling
Control Group	Groups similar controls based on the activities that the control performs. Control Group is part of Attributes with Dependent Values , so for each control group created, it's important to define the control subgroups that can be selected while defining the control.

Field Name	Details
Control Design Rating	Indicates the results that can be selected by the control owner after performing the assessment design effectiveness. The values in this configuration come by default (fixed values), and new values can't be added or current values can't be removed. However, users can update the description of the ratings. Following are delivered values: • Adequate
	• Deficient
	Significantly Deficient
Automation	 Indicates the control automation in the source system. The values in this configuration come by default (fixed values); new values can't be added nor can current values be removed. However, users can update the description of the control automation. Following are the delivered values: Automated Manual
	Semi-Automated

Field Name	Details
Test Automation	Indicates how the control can be tested. The value in this configuration comes by default (fixed values); new values can't be added nor can current values be removed. However, users can update the description of the test automation. Following are the delivered values:
	Automated
	• Manual
	Semi-Automated

 Table 4.13
 Overview of Master Data Attributes

4.6.2 Check Customizing for Case Management

Case management in SAP Process Control refers to the systematic approach of tracking, monitoring, and managing compliance-related issues, incidents, or tasks within an organization. It enables users to record, investigate, and resolve compliance cases efficiently.

As part of the SAP Process Control solution installation, the Basis team creates a separate client that is a copy of standard client 000. All the configurations will be carried out in the new client only. During this client creation, it's vital to ensure that all values are accurately copied to the new client. If any values are missing, the case management system will flag them with a red icon to indicate the gaps. To review the case configuration, follow these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 3. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 - Process Control Cases Check Customizing for Case Management, which will display the status of each of the customization related to case management, as highlighted in Figure 4.43.



Figure 4.43Case Customization Configuration in SAP Process Control

Any line items displayed with yellow or red must be addressed before using any of the functionality in SAP Process Control. To fix the missing values, a comparison must be carried out with client 000. Detailed steps are outlined in SAP Note 753547. Following is an overview:

- 1. Execute Transaction SCU0 in the client where the case comparison should be performed.
- 2. In the comparison screen, select **SAP Reference IMG**.
- 3. Click **Create**, and a popup screen appears from which you can select either **All activities** for comparison or **Select activities** to select specific nodes from

Transaction SPRO for comparison, as shown in Figure 4.44.

- 4. In the next screen, select the configuration nodes that needs to be copied, as outlined in <u>Figure 4.45</u>.
- 5. Click the checkmark button to proceed.
- 6. Input the RFC connection ID connecting to the 000 client of the SAP GRC system in the **R/3 connection** field, and then click **Full Comparison**, as shown in <u>Figure 4.46</u>.

w Comparison Based On	
G activities	
OProject IMG	G Selection by: Enterprise IMG
): AP Reference IMG	
Chaose components	Selection
All components	All activities
rther selections	Selecc activities
Customizing piece list/trar	Isport
Business Configuration Se	
ALE distribution group	
Manual selection	
Create	
iting comparison are	
sung companson run	
mparison run ID	
mparison run ID	

Figure 4.44 Define the Comparison Method

Select IMG Nodes
冬 罰 丞
Structure
Carlos Activate Business Functions
 SAP NetWeaver
 SAP Gateway Service Enablement
 SAP Gateway
Notification Channel
UI Technologies
 General settings
Moose infrastructure
Budines Valenduse Budines Planting and Consolidation
▼
Instalation Services

SNOTE
Enterprise Content Management Integration
Generic Business Tools
 Isa Knowledge Provider
 Business Document Service
Auda Trail
Case Management
· A Set Registry
Create/Change Case Record Model
Create Attribute Profile
• 🗹 🔝 😳 Create Attribute Profile
 Log UP Define Different H Hep for Attributes

Figure 4.45Selection of Case Configuration for Comparison

Selection by	: Enterprise IMG	
₩ 🔺		
Comparison run ID	000000009	
Description		
Restrict selection		
Clent-specific		
Cross-client		
Comparison	-	_
R/3 connection	G12CLNT100	þ
**	Full Comparison	1
Ful C	omparison in Background	1
1	Object Overview	

Figure 4.46 Execution of Comparison

7. The next screen gives the details of the comparison result. Missing values will be displayed with a not equal to symbol. Administrators can select these and click OK to copy those values into the current client.

If all the values are the same as of the comparing client, it shows no differences as the equal to symbol in green is

displayed (see Figure 4.47).

2	* ##0	omparison 🛛 👗 Applic	ation Component 🛛 🖧 IMG Environment 🔢 Statistics	41	🖗 🕖 Disp	ay			
(e) (c)	ection	type: SAP Referentem: G12/100/752	<pre>cce DHG (manual) Filter: active Compari <-> Comparison system: G12/000/752 - Last act</pre>	son r Sonr	un: 00000 20.09.202	00010 3			
	Stet.	Object Subobject Subobject	Description	Comp	Entries LogosJys Total	Entries Only in LogonSys	Entries Changed	Entries Only in CompSys.	Component
3	00	SCHEATTR_FR3D	5 Priority		- 4	0	0	0	BC-SR/-CH
1	00	SCHEATTR_SESCAL	5 Reasons for Escalation		2	0	0	0	BC-SRV-CH
	00	SONIATT_SECLEVL	3 Authorization Levels		3	0	0	0	8C-587-CN
	00	SCHOUC_ATTRANT	C Case: Define Attribute Profiles	_					BC-SRV-CH
		SORV_ATTRADE	V Case: Attribute Profile (Reader/Short Text)		- 11			0	8C-537-CH
		SCHOV_ATTREPORA	V Case: Attribute Profile, Assignment of Attri		305	0	0	0	BC-SRV-CM
_		SCHIV_ATTRIPOPG	V Case: Attribute Group Maintenance		16	0	0	0	BC-SR7-CH
2	00	SCHIV_ATTRESCAL	V View: Reason for Escalation		3	0	0	0	8C-587-CN
	00	SCH7V ATTREELP	V Case: Different F4 Selp for Attributes		All clie	nts, iden	tical sys	tens	BC-587-CH

Figure 4.47Comparison Result with Client 000

4.7 Introduction to Work Centers for SAP Process Control

In the previous sections of this chapter, we covered the backend configurations within Transaction SPRO configurations. Now, before we get into subsequent chapters that focus on defining master data and conducting control evaluations, it's worth seeing an overview of the available work centers accessible to users (see <u>Figure 4.48</u>):

- My Home
- Master Data
- Rule Setup
- Assessments
- Access Management
- Reports and Analytics



Figure 4.48 SAP Business Client Work Centers

Each of these work centers will display various options related to SAP Access Control, SAP Process Control, and SAP Risk Management. Options (work items) related to SAP Process Control for each work center are detailed in the following sections.

4.7.1 My Home

The **My Home** work center is where only those objects specific to the user are available. Following is an overview of a few key objects from **My Home**, specific to SAP Process Control:

Work Inbox

This is similar to the Outlook mailbox, where all the actions pending for user's response are visible. Once the action is performed, the item disappears from the user's Work Inbox.

• Ad Hoc Tasks - Issues

If the user identifies any issue apart from the regular assessments, the same can be reported as an ad hoc issue for the object. See <u>Chapter 7</u> to understand more about ad hoc issue management.

• My Objects

From this section, the user can see the processes, subprocesses, controls, indirect entity level controls, policies, issues, and remediation plans for which the user is assigned as an owner.

• Delegation

Using the **My Delegation** option, users can delegate their access to other users who can execute the tasks on their behalf during their absence.

4.7.2 Master Data

Master data in SAP GRC solutions is shared across SAP Access Control, SAP Process Control, and SAP Risk Management. To understand more about master data management, see <u>Chapter 5</u>. Following is the overview of a few key master data entities specific to SAP Process Control:

Organizations

The hierarchy representing the organization's reporting or compliance structure is defined in this section. The process of creating an organization hierarchy is explained in detail in <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.3</u>.

• Regulations

All the regulations with which the organization is complying are defined in this hierarchy. The process of creating a regulation hierarchy is explained in detail in <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2</u>.

• Policies

SAP Process Control also supports managing the entire lifecycle of the policy, starting from definition, review, approval, and distribution of the policy with the employees of the organization. The process of defining policy is explained in detail in <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.1</u>.

Control Objectives

This is a statement identified at the subprocess level indicating what the control should achieve. Creating process control objectives is explained in detail in <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.2</u>.

Business Processes

This hierarchy represents the processes the organization is executing, Subprocesses are the logical subdivisions of the process and the controls that are in place to mitigate the risks identified in the process. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2</u>, to understand more about the creation of a business process hierarchy.
- Indirect Entity Level Controls
 Indirect entity level controls are SCUD identified at an organization level. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.5</u>, to understand more about the process of defining indirect entity level controls.
- Accounts

Account groups that are part of the organization's trial balance, including the assertions it's complying with, are defined in this configuration. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.2</u>, to understand more about the creation of accounts.

• Reports

There are multiple reports that SAP Process Control delivers along with the standard solution. Following are a few key master data reports that are available for access:

• Risk and Control Matrix

This report provides the overview of mapping between master data objects organization, control, and risks that the control is mitigating.

- Organization and Process Structure
 This is a report of localized controls that provides
 details of the organization and subprocess controls
 mapped to the organization.
- Audit Log

This change log report gives the detailed view of the changes made to the central or local master data.

4.7.3 Rule Setup

The **Rule Setup** work center is the section where the automated rules are defined and scheduled for monitoring. To understand more about continuous monitoring of automated controls, see <u>Chapter 8</u>. Following is an overview of a few key work links in the **Rule Setup** work center specific to SAP Process Control:

Data Sources

This is the definition of method in which data is fetched from the target system, tables, and fields that store the data required for analysis. <u>Chapter 8</u>, <u>Section 8.2</u>, provides more details about the process of creating data sources.

Business Rules

This is the definition of logic to monitor the operating effectiveness of the controls. This is created on top of the data source, where we define the filter fields, deficiency fields, and criteria to monitor the control. <u>Chapter 8</u>, <u>Section 8.3</u>, provides more details about the process of creating business rules.

Business Rule Parameters

The filter criteria defined while defining the business rule are specific to that particular business rule, which is common for all the organizations to which the control is mapped. If there is a requirement to have different filter criteria for each organization, the same can be configured using business rule parameters.

• **Business Rule Assignment** To monitor the operating effectiveness of the automated control, it's important to run the business rule. To meet

this requirement, the business rule is assigned to the control, and then the control is scheduled for assessment.

- Automated Monitoring
 Depending on the criticality of the control, the same is
 scheduled for monitoring using the automated monitoring
 functionality of SAP Process Control.
- Job Monitor

This is a report providing the details of jobs scheduled using automated monitoring, its result, and the detailed deficiency view.

• Reports

Following are the two key reports to provide an overview of the automated monitoring results:

• Monitoring Issue Status

This report provides visibility into the status of effectiveness testing by regulation, by organization, by process, and by control. This report is used to determine the controls that failed and current status of reported deficiencies.

Monitoring Remediation Status
 This report provides visibility into the status of issue remediation by regulation, by organization, by process, and by control. This report is used to determine the current status of various initiated remediation plans.

4.7.4 Assessments

This work center is used to define the question and survey library for the purpose of performing control design assessment, control self-assessment, policy management, and sign-off. In addition, define manual test plans to test the operating effectiveness of manual controls and planner functionality to schedule assessments. Following is an overview of a few key work links in **Assessments**, specific to SAP Process Control:

• Question Library

In this section the questions along with the type of answers that should be part of various assessment surveys are defined. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.1</u> to understand more about the process of defining question library.

• Survey Library

In this section the surveys are created which is a grouping of list of questions that should be responded to by the assessor. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.1</u> to understand more about the process of defining of survey library.

Manual Test Plans

List of steps and tests that the control tester should execute to evaluate the operating effectiveness of the manual control. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.5.1</u>, to understand more about the process of defining manual test plans.

• Planner

Using this functionality in SAP Process Control, the GRC administrator schedules controls for various types of assessments to evaluate their effectiveness. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, to understand the process of scheduling a planner.

Control Ratings Report

A summary report which provides a detailed report of various assessments that the control underwent, including the final result of assessment.

4.7.5 Access Management

This work center is predominantly used for SAP Access Control. However, the **GRC Role Assignments** section is used in SAP Process Control to manage user assignments. Following is the overview of a few key work links in SAP Access Management under **GRC Role Assignments** that are specific to SAP Process Control:

• Organizations

Assign users to the roles maintained at the organization level. This configuration helps in mass maintenance of user assignments to multiple organizations.

Business Processes

Assign users to the roles maintained at the subprocess and control levels. This configuration helps in mass maintenance of user assignments to multiple subprocesses/controls. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.4</u>, to understand more about the process of assigning users to the roles.

Replacement

Using this option, the existing owners of the master data entities, issues, and remediation plans can be replaced with a new user. In addition, the current user assignments can also be removed using this functionality.

Central Delegation

This is a feature used by the GRC administrator to extend the access rights from one user who is unavailable to take action on the pending task to another user who is eligible to execute the tasks in the delegator's absence. See <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.4.5</u>, to understand more.

4.7.6 Reports and Analytics

This work center provides access to standard reports and dashboards that SAP delivers in the standard solution. Following are a few key dashboards and reports specific to SAP Process Control:

- Evaluation Status Dashboard
 This dashboard provides a graphical representation of survey assessments results such as the outcome of control design assessment, control self-assessment, indirect entity level controls assessment, and results of the test of manual control effectiveness. It also provides the overview of the Issue and Remediation Plan summary for all the survey-based assessments. This dashboard also provides a status of the Sign-Off functionality. All of these results can be executed based on a specific time frame and can be filtered for regulation-specific results.
- Overall Compliance Status Dashboard
 This dashboard provides a bar chart representation of
 metrics such as control coverage for the risks defined,
 overview of percentage of controls not evaluated, and—if
 they are evaluated—the detailed split between controls

that are marked as effective and ineffective as part of the control assessments. It also gives a percentage representation of open issues and remediation plans. All of these results can be executed based on a specific time frame and can be filtered to get regulation-, organization-, or country-specific results.

Datasheet

This report provides a single point of view for all the information related to subprocesses or controls, including the attributes, relation with other master data entities, and assessments and test results (e.g., the details of issue and remediation plans generated for such assessments). All of these results can be executed based on a specific time frame and can be filtered based on regulation, organization, process, or subprocess.

4.8 Summary

This chapter has laid the foundation for using SAP Process Control by covering essential configurations. It included enabling the application in the client, and configuring Transaction SICF services, BC sets, and workflow settings. Additionally, it explained how to define connectors and connector groups for fetching data to support automated controls and how to set up the compliance framework for regulation configuration. The chapter also offered information about the various work centers accessible through SAP Business Client, highlighting key work items to make you comfortable with each of the options. In the next chapter, we'll explore the core master data entities in SAP Process Control and the steps involved in configuring each of them.

5 Master Data Management

In the previous chapter, we discussed the fundamental Transaction SPRO configurations needed to access the various functions in SAP Process Control. Now, we'll focus on the different elements of master data and explore their importance and configuration steps.

Master data is a key element in SAP Process Control, and this chapter provides an overview of the key master data elements such as business process hierarchy and organization hierarchy. In addition to these, it also provides a brief discussion of how regulations, control objectives, account groups, and risks can be configured and their interrelationships. In addition, the chapter details the importance of managing the users and roles at various master data entity levels, which plays a crucial role in the assessment workflows.

Note

Before we begin with this chapter, it's important to note that all master data element definition screens include an **Attachments and Links** tab. This tab allows you to add any relevant documentation or links directly to these references for future reference. To keep our explanations concise, we won't be discussing this tab in detail for each master data definition.

5.1 Introduction to Master Data

Efficiently handling master data in SAP Process Control is critical for enabling precise risk evaluation, overseeing compliance, and, ultimately, driving success of the effectiveness of governance, risk, and compliance (GRC) endeavors in an organization. This ensures that all relevant information is properly documented and is readily available for continuous monitoring, reporting, and well-informed decision-making procedures. The following sections provide an overview of the key master data elements that are required to be configured in SAP Process Control and details how each master data element is related to the others.

5.1.1 Overview of Key Master Data Elements

As mentioned, setting up the master data serves as a fundamental step in building the foundation for SAP Process Control. This encompasses various master data components, as outlined in <u>Table 5.1</u>.

Master	Purpose
Data	
Element	

Master Data Element	Purpose
Organization hierarchy	This is a hierarchical representation of an entity's structure based on the reporting requirements. This hierarchy can be a representation of the geographical spread of the organization (e.g., Asia Pacific, Americas, Africa, etc.), or it can also be created as a hierarchy that represents the major activities that the organization is delivering (e.g., in case of a power industry, Consumer Products, Healthcare, Logistics, etc.). SAP Process Control provides flexibility to define the organization hierarchy to the most granular level possible. See <u>Section 5.3</u> to understand the process of creating the root organization and the child organizations.

Master Data Element	Purpose
Business process hierarchy	SAP Process Control mainly focuses on providing a platform to support evaluation of controls in various aspects based on the regulatory and compliance requirements that the organization has to comply with. To use the functionalities to test the controls, it's important to document all the internal controls of the organization as part of the master data. A business process hierarchy in SAP Process Control comprises the process, subprocess, and control. See <u>Section 5.2</u> to understand the process of creating a business process hierarchy and the relationship between each of these items.
Regulation hierarchy	As part of this hierarchy, the organization documents the regulatory and compliance requirements to which it must adhere. SAP Process Control includes configurations for Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX) and Food & Drug Administration (FDA) regulations within its Business Configuration (BC) sets. To know how to create a new regulation configuration and understand the hierarchy, see <u>Section 5.2</u> .

Master Data Element	Purpose
Account groups	This section of master data is used to maintain the accounts that are part of the trial balance of the organization and the respective financial assertions (completeness, existence, or occurrence; presentation and disclosure, rights and obligations, valuation or allocation) that each account is complying with. Section 5.2.2 details the process of creating account groups with the discussion of the Account Groups tab.
Control objectives	This is a statement representing the objectives that the subprocess should achieve in managing the risks that the process is prone to. We define controls in the organization to meet the control objectives and ensure that risks are under the appetite of the organization. To understand more about control objectives, see <u>Section 5.2.2</u> on the Control Objectives tab

Master Data Element	Purpose
Risk catalog	This is shared master data between SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management. However, as part of SAP Process Control, we use only the risk templates to define the overall risk and control matrix (RCM) of the organization. <u>Section 5.2.2</u> on the Risks tab details the purpose and process of definition of a risk category and risk template.

 Table 5.1
 Overview of Master Data Elements in SAP Process Control

5.1.2 Relationship between Master Data Attributes

The master data elements listed in <u>Table 5.1</u> are interconnected. For each subprocess defined, organizations should identify the objectives, that is, outcomes, that are represented by the control objectives. Additionally, it's essential to highlight any risks associated with the subprocess that could impact achieving those objectives. Subsequently, controls are established to not only meet the subprocess objectives but also to mitigate the identified risks, ensuring they doesn't materialize.



Figure 5.1Relationships between Master Data Elements in SAP ProcessControl

Account groups are used as one of the main factors to identify whether the significance of the subprocesses is key or not. Once the subprocesses and controls are defined as detailed previously, the same are assigned to the respective organizations in the hierarchy where they are being operated. <u>Figure 5.1</u> illustrates the relationships between the master data elements.

The next sections detail the process of configuring these master data elements and the process of mapping each other.

5.2 Business Process Hierarchies

In SAP Process Control, business process hierarchies refer to a structured representation of an organization's business processes as detailed in <u>Figure 5.2</u>. These hierarchies help in organizing and managing various business processes within the system for the purpose of risk assessment, compliance monitoring, and GRC initiatives.



Figure 5.2 Business Process Hierarchy Flow

Within SAP Process Control's business process hierarchy master data, various business processes that organizations deal with, such as procure to pay and order to cash, are defined. These business processes are then subdivided into logical subprocesses, where specific details such as relevant risks, control objectives, and account groups, as well as the regulations that these processes must comply with, are defined. To address the identified risks at the subprocess level and to achieve the defined objectives, controls are outlined within each subprocess.

To review the existing process hierarchy or to create a new one, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, and navigate to the **Master Data** work center. Under the **Activities and Processes** work group, execute the **Business Processes** work item. In the following sections, we'll walk through the business process, subprocesses, and controls.

5.2.1 Business Process

Business processes are the activities that the organization carries out to run the business. To create a new process in the hierarchy, select the **Process Structure**, and choose **Create** • **Process** from the dropdown, as highlighted in Figure 5.3.

Process Structure	
Date 11.09.2023 T Apply Advanced	Create Open Delete Actions , Process
Name	Subprocess
 Process Structure 	Control
Other Processes	Process
Process Hierarchy	Process
Record to Report	Process

Figure 5.3 Creating a New Process in the Process Hierarchy

The new process screen has two tabs: **General** and **Attachments and Links**. The **General** tab serves as the platform for defining the process, where you can update the **Name**, **Description**, **Valid From**, and **Valid To** fields, similar to other master data definitions.

In the new process screen, enter the **Name**, a valid **Description**, and **Valid From** and **Valid To** dates; select the process from the **Business Process** dropdown menu; and click **Save** (see Figure 5.4).

ocess						
Central Proce	ss: Procure to Pay					
Parent Process: Proce Timelrame: 11.0 General Attachme	ss Herarchy Effect 9 2023 ID: vts and Links	tive Date 5000	: 11.09.2023 0894			
* Name: Description:	Procure to Pay Business Process to cover the procurement pro- risk involved and the applicable account groups	cess ,	* Valid From: * Valid To: Business Process:	01.01.2023 31.12.9999 Procure to Pay		T
<				_	Save	> Cano

Figure 5.4 Process Configuration

Note

That business process acts as the crucial link between SAP Access Control and SAP Process Control. Any mitigation control created in SAP Access Control under the selected business process will be automatically generated as a local control. This mitigation control, extended from SAP Access Control, can be assessed for its effectiveness using the testing features available in SAP Process Control.

The dropdown values in the business process can be maintained in the Transaction SPRO configuration. Log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click the **SAP Reference IMG** button, and expand **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Access Control** • **Maintain Business Processes and Subprocesses** to review the existing business processes and subprocesses or to create new ones.

5.2.2 Subprocess

Subprocesses are the logical subdivision of activities within the process defined in the previous step. For example, the **Procure to Pay** process can have **Purchase Requisition**, **Purchase Order**, and **Goods Receipt** as subprocesses under it. To view, maintain, or create a new subprocess in the hierarchy, expand the existing processes in the structure, and click **Open**.

To create a new subprocess, select the root business process, and choose **Create** • **Subprocess**, as shown in <u>Figure 5.5</u>. The subprocess created under the business process hierarchy configuration is referred to as a *central subprocess*, and once it's assigned to any organization, it's referred as a *local subprocess*.

Process Structure	
Date 11.09.2023 T Apply Advanced	Create , Open Delete Actions , Process
Name	Subprocess
 Process Structure 	Control
Other Processes	Process
 Process Hierarchy 	Process
Procure to Pay	Process
 IT General Controls 	Process
Order To Cash	Process
Record To Report	Process
▶ HR	Process
 Record to Report 	Process

Figure 5.5 Option to Create a New Subprocess in the Hierarchy

The new subprocess screen has **General**, **Controls**, **Regulations**, **Control Objectives**, **Account Groups**, **Risks**, and **Attachments and Links** tabs, which we'll discuss in the following sections.

General Tab

The **General** tab (see <u>Figure 5.6</u>) can be used to define subprocess basic information such as **Name**, **Description**,

Valid From, and Valid To, similar to other master data definitions.



Figure 5.6 Subprocess Definition Screen

Additionally, the following fields must be defined:

Industry-specific

Select **Yes** if the subprocess is applicable only to the industry in which the organization is operating. This is purely used from the documentation and reporting standpoint, which helps filter out all those subprocesses and controls that are crucial and applicable only to the specific industry. If the option is selected as **Yes**, a new field appears on the screen with a list of dropdown values indicating various possible industries.

To maintain/create the dropdown values for this field, execute Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values. From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes. Select INDUSTRY, and click Values to view the current values. The following values are added by default by activating BC set GRPC-ATTR-INDUSTRY:

- Aerospace and Defense
- Automotive

- Banking
- Chemicals
- Construction and Operations
- Consumer Products
- Higher Education and Research
- Engineering
- Healthcare
- High Tech
- Industrial Machinery and Components
- Insurance
- Media
- Mill Products
- Mining
- Oil and Gas
- Pharmaceuticals
- **Professional Services**
- Public Sector
- Retail
- Service Providers
- Telecommunications
- Transportation
- Utilities

• Transaction type

This field helps in classifying the subprocess as **Routine** or **Non-routine**, which indicates the frequency of the activities that are carried out as part of the subprocess. This field also helps in strategizing the periodicity at which the controls under this subprocess should be evaluated.

Business Subprocess

This is an integration point between SAP Access Control and SAP Process Control. Any mitigation control created in SAP Access Control under the business process selected in the dropdown in the previous step and business subprocess selected in this step, including the organization, will be created as a local control in SAP Process Control automatically. The values in the **Business Subprocess** dropdown are based on the business process selected in the previous step.

Note

The dropdown values in **Business Subprocess** can be maintained in the Transaction SPRO configuration. To review this configuration, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click the SAP Reference IMG button, and expand **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Access Control** • **Maintain Business Processes and Subprocesses**. Select the business process, and then click on **Business Subprocess** from the **Dialog Structure** to view/maintain the **Business Subprocess** dropdown values.

Controls Tab

This tab shows the list of controls created under this subprocess. See <u>Section 5.2.3</u> to understand the process of configuring a control in business process hierarchy and the importance of various attributes while defining a control.

Regulations Tab

Organizations in the process of operating the business have to comply with multiple regulatory requirements. Depending on the subprocess being defined, the applicable regulation should be mapped against which the processes are tested for effectiveness. For example, if the process is financial reporting, the applicable regulation could be the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (SOX), whereas if the process is manufacturing medicines, the applicable regulation could be the Food & Drug Administration (FDA).

Once the compliance requirements are documented in the master data, they are mapped to the subprocesses based on the applicability. Regulations mapped to the subprocess will only be available for assignment to the control. In addition, note that only those regulations assigned to the central subprocess can be managed at the local subprocess level under the organization. To assign a regulation to the subprocess, navigate to the **Regulations** tab, and click the **Add** button. In the **Add** dialog window, select the relevant regulation from the list to assign it to the subprocess, and click **OK** to complete the assignment, as highlighted in Figure 5.7.

Central Subpro	ocess	s: Maintain	Vendor Ma	ster Data		
Parent Process: Procure	to Pay		ID: 500	01065		
Timeframe: 11.09 2023/			Ellection	Date: 15.09.2023		_
	Add					×
General Controls	Sela	ect Regulation				_
Regulations		eet negalaanoi	10		8	
	9	Name	Description	Valid From	Valid To	Add Remove 😵
P Name		Companies Act		22.02.2023	31.12.9999	Valid To
Extense Orley		SOX	SOX	22.02.2023	31 12 9999	31.12.9999

Figure 5.7 Assignment of Regulation to the Subprocess

After making the necessary assignments, click the **Save** button to complete the assignment. Repeat this process for all other regulation assignments as required for the subprocess.

Note

The regulations in the popup shown in Figure 5.7 are created in the Master Data work center, which we'll discuss next.

SAP Process Control supports defining the multiregulatory compliance framework. There are three levels within the regulation hierarchy:

1. Regulation Group

When the organization is complying with various regulations, it's important to group relevant organizations under one group for the ease of maintenance and reporting. The regulation group organizes regulations within relevant categories and helps in grouping similar regulations and regulatory requirements. For example, if the organization is complying with SOX and the Indian Companies Act, a regulations group can be created called Financial Reporting.

The regulation group isn't directly linked to any other master data element. To review the existing regulation groups in the hierarchy or to create a new one, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, and execute the **Regulations** work item under the **Master Data** work center, which is part of the **Regulations and Policies** work group.

To create a new regulation group, click on **Regulation Hierarchy**, and choose **Create** • **Regulation Group**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 5.8</u>.



Figure 5.8 Option to Create a New Regulation Group in the Hierarchy

On the **Regulation Group** screen, enter a brief name of the regulation group in the **Name** field, a detailed explanation to specify the regulations to be grouped under this regulation group in the **Description** field, the date from which the regulation group is valid in the **Valid From** field, and the date till which the regulation group is valid in the **Valid To** field, as outlined in <u>Figure 5.9</u>. Click **Save**. After creating the regulation group, the subsequent step involves creating a regulation.

gulation	Group				×
Regulat	tion Group : Org Re	gulatory Requ	irement		
Parent Regul	lation Group:	ID: 50000720			
Timeframe:	01.01.2023	Effective Date	01.01.2023		
General	Attachments and Links				~
* Name:	Org Regulatory Requirement		* Valid From:	01.01.2022	
Description:	Org Regulatory Requirement		* Valid To:	31.12.9999	
					~

Figure 5.9 Configuration of the Regulation Group

2. Regulation

Under the regulation group created in the previous step, the applicable regulations the organization has to comply with are configured, for example, Sarbanes Oxley Act, 2002. Note that regulations are directly linked to the subprocess and relevant underlying controls. To create a new regulation, click on the **Regulation Group**, and choose **Create** • **Regulation** from the dropdown.

Enter a brief name of the regulation in the **Name** field, a detailed explanation to specify compliance needs of the organization in the **Description** field, the date from which the regulation is valid from in the **Valid From** field, and the date till which the regulation is valid in the **Valid To** field; select the regulation configuration from the **Assign Regulation Configuration** dropdown, as outlined in Figure 5.10; and then click the **Save** button.

Note

The **Assign Regulation Configuration** options are based on the configuration carried out in Transaction SPRO settings. Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.5.2</u>, to understand how to define the regulation configuration.

gulation				
Regulat	tion : Sarbanes Oxley			
Parent Regu Timeframe: (lation Group: Org Regulatory Requirement 01.01.2023	ID: 50001123 Effective Date: 01.0	01.2023	
General	Issues Attachments and Links			
* Name:	Sarbanes Oxley	* Valid From:	01.01.2023	
Description:	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	* Valid To:	31.12.9999	
		* Assign Regulation Configuration:	Sarbanes Oxl	~
			Save	Can

Figure 5.10 Setting Up Regulation

Important

Additionally, the **Issues** tab is used to report any ad hoc issues that are identified in complying with the regulation or to show any previously reported ad hoc issue against this regulation. <u>Chapter 7</u> details the process of creating an ad hoc issue for the **Regulation** object type.

3. Regulation Requirement

After successfully creating the regulation, the next step involves setting up the **Regulation Requirement** option. It's required to specify the particular clauses or sections that the organization is adhering to. These regulation requirements are directly connected to subprocesses and the corresponding underlying controls. To create a new regulation requirement, select the **Regulation** from the hierarchy (**Sarbanes Oxley** in our example), and click **Create** • **Regulation Requirement**.

Enter the brief name of the section or clause with which the organization is complying in the **Name** field, a detailed explanation of the requirements that the section or clause defines in the **Description** field, the date from which the regulation requirement is valid in the **Valid From** field, and the date till which the regulation requirement is valid in the **Valid To** field, as highlighted in <u>Figure 5.11</u>. Click the **Save** button.

egulation	Requirement		
Regulat	tion Requirement : Sec. 302	2	
Parent Regu	lation: Sarbanes Oxley	ID: 50001124	
Timeframe:	01.01.2023	Effective Date: 01.01.2023	
General	Attachments and Links		~
* Name:	Sec. 302	* Valid From: 01.01.2023	
Description:	Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports	* Valid To: 31.12.9999)
			~
		Save	Cancel

Figure 5.11 Configuration of the Regulation Requirement

Control Objectives Tab

The subsequent configuration step of the subprocess is mapping the corresponding control objective. When the control objective is assigned to the subprocess, any risks identified at the control objective level are automatically linked to the subprocess and are labeled with the source as **Inherent to Control Objective**. To assign the control objective, access the **Control Objective** tab, and click on the **Add** option. From the list of control objectives originating from the master data, choose the ones that you intend to assign to the subprocess. Confirm the assignment by clicking **OK**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 5.12</u>.

Note

The control objectives in the popup shown in Figure 5.12 are created in the Master Data work center, which we'll discuss next.

Subprocess							□ × □
Central Subpro	ces	s: Maintain Vendor	Master	Data			
Parent Process: Procure 1	o Pay	0.	50001065				
Timelrame: 11.09 2023	Add	d Control Objectives			_		
General Controls I	0	Control Objectives	10	Category	Valid From	Valid To 🔥	
Control Objectives		Accurate Accounting Records	50000715	Financial Reporting and Disclosure	22.02.2023	31.12.9999	
Central Objectives							Open Add Remove
The table does r						~	
	<				- [OK Cancel	
	-				_	_	,
							Save Cancel

Figure 5.12 Assignment of Control Objective to the Subprocess

Organizations face various inherent risks when managing their business processes. To address and minimize these risks, organizations establish internal controls throughout their processes. Within the realm of SAP Process Control master data, it's essential to define control objectives. These control objectives serve as statements outlining the desired outcomes of the controls, aiming to mitigate the associated risks.

To review the existing control objectives or to create a new one, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute

Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Master Data** work center, and click on the **Control Objectives** work item under the **Objectives** work group.

To create a new control objective, click on the **Create** button in the **Control Objective Catalog** window, as shown in Figure 5.13.

Control Objective Catalog					
Date 12.08.2023 T Apply Advanced	Create Open				
Name					
To prevent un authorized changes					

Figure 5.13 Create Option in the Control Objective Catalog Screen

The new **Control Objective** screen contains the **General**, **Subprocesses**, **Risks**, and **Attachments and Links** tabs. The **General** tab options can be used to define the control objective. Enter a brief name of the control objective in the **Control Objective** field, a category to group the similar control objectives under in the **Objective Category** field, a detailed explanation of what the control should achieve in the **Description** field, the date from which the control objective is valid in the **Valid From** field, and the date till which the control objective is valid in the **Valid To** field, as shown in <u>Figure 5.14</u>.

Control Obje	ctive: A	curate Accoun	ting Records		
Objective ID: 500007 Timeframe: 11.09 202	15		Effective Date:	11.09.2023	
General Subproce	esses Risks	Attachments and Links			
* Control Objective:	Accurate Acc	ounting Records	Valid From:	22.02.2023	
Objective Category:	Financial Rep	orting and Disclosure	Valid To:	31.12.9999	1
Description:	Accurate Acc	ounting Records			

Figure 5.14 Configuration of the Control Objective

Map the applicable subprocesses and risks to this control objective in the **Subprocesses** and **Risks** tabs, and click **Save** to complete the configuration process.

The control **Objective Category** selection will show the default objective categories. These are added automatically by activating BC set GRPC-ATTR-CTRL_OBJ_CATEGORY using Transaction SCPR20. The default categories are listed here:

- Compliance and Regulations
- Financial Reporting and Disclosure
- Operations

Additional (custom) categories can be added using Transaction SPRO_ADMIN: click the **SAP Reference IMG** button, and expand **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Process Control • Edit Attribute Values**. From the **Dialog Structure** section, expand **Attributes with Dependent Values**. Select **Control Objective Category**, and click **Values** to view the current values, as shown in <u>Figure 5.15</u>.

Change View "Value	es": Overvie	ew			
🐕 New Entries 🗅 🗟 🖙	BBB 6	IC Set: Change Field Values			
Dialog Structure	Attribute	CO-OBJCAT			
Attributes	Text	Control Objective Category			
Values Attributes with Depend.	Attribute	CO-CTYPE			
 Accoduces with Dependo Values 					
Values Permitted	Values				
Attributes with Fixed Va	Value	Value Text			
 Names 	OCOMPLIANO	Compliance and Regulations			
	OFIN	Financial Reporting and Disclosure	*		
	OOPE	Operations			

Figure 5.15 Configuration to Review the Objective Categories

To define a new category, click the **New Entries** button, and enter a unique ID for the control objective category in the **Value** field and a brief name of the control objective category in the **Text** field. Click **Save** to save the new category.

Account Groups Tab

The subsequent step in the subprocess configuration is mapping the corresponding account groups. Once the account group is assigned to the subprocess, any risks that are identified at the account level are auto-assigned to the subprocess and are indicated with the source as **Inherent to Account Group**.

Navigate to the **Account Group** tab, and click on the **Add** button. Select the relevant account from the list displayed, and click **OK** to perform the assignment (see <u>Figure 5.16</u>).

ubprocess		
Central Subprocess: Maintain Ven	dor Master Data	
Parent Process: Procure to Pay	Add Account Groups	X
Timehame: 11.09.2023	Accounts	<u>^</u>
General Controls Regulations Control Objectives	12 Account Group Parent Valid from Valid to Significant	
Account Groups	Accounts Pay 01.01.2023 31.12 Significant	<u>^</u>
Account of Caps	Accounts Re 15.08.2923 31.12 Significant	Open Add Ramove
Name		
The table does not contain any data		×
	OK Car	leon
		Save Cancel

Figure 5.16 Assignment of Account Group to the Subprocess

Note

The account groups in the popup shown in Figure 5.16 are created in the Master Data work center, which we'll discuss in this section.

Organizations in the process of defining the business process hierarchy can identify the significant subprocesses based on the general ledger accounts that the subprocess impacts.

The process of establishing account groups within SAP Process Control's master data entails creating accounts that align with the organization's trial balance and the financial statements reflected by these accounts. Once the account groups have been established, you can also associate the corresponding general ledger accounts with them. This stage allows you to link any risks that may affect these account groups.

To begin the process, activate the **Accounts** work center. Note that the **Account Groups** work center is an integral component of the multicompliance framework master data. Without completing the following steps for at least one of the regulation types, the **Accounts** work center will remain hidden from the view. Follow these steps:

- To enable the Accounts work center, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click the SAP Reference IMG button, and expand Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Multiple-Compliance Framework • Configure Compliance Initiatives.
- 2. Double-click the **Define Regulation Type** option in the **Dialog Structure**, and enable a **Regulation Type** for which the account group master data is to be enabled by checking the respective checkbox, as shown in <u>Figure 5.17</u>.



Figure 5.17Selection of Regulation Type for Enabling Account GroupsMaster Data

- 3. In the next step, select the **Regulation Type** line item, and double-click on the **Master Data** option from the **Dialog Structure** to navigate to the available options
- 4. Activate the **Entity ID ACC_GROUP** by selecting its checkbox, as outlined in <u>Figure 5.18</u>.

Change View "Master Data": Overview						
🦻 New Entries 🗅 🗟 🕫 🕃 🕏	BC Set: Change Field V	alues				
Dialog Structure	Regulation Type	FINANCIAL				
Define Regulation Configuration	Regulation Type Text	Financial Compliance				
Denne Regulation Type Regulation Configuration Assignmen	Master Data					
• 🛅 Master Data	Entity ID	Active []				
Business Transactions	ACC_GROUP	 Image: A set of the set of the				
Settings		· ·				
	10					

Figure 5.18 ACC_GROUP Activation in the Regulation Type

5. Once the option is enabled, the **Accounts** work center is visible in the **Master Data** section in Transaction NWBC, as shown in Figure 5.19.



Figure 5.19 Accounts Work Center in SAP Process Control Master Data

Once the **Accounts** work center is activated, the next step is definition of account groups and mapping of financial assertions, as follows:

 To review the existing account groups or to create new groups, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the Master Data work center, and click the Accounts work item under the Accounts work group. To create a new account group, select the Account Group Hierarchy, and click the Create button, as shown in Figure 5.20.

Account Groups	
Date 01.01.2023 T Apply Advanced	Create Open Actions
Name	
Account Group Hierarchy	

Figure 5.20 Option to Create a New Account Group

 On the General tab, define the basic information about the account group along with the other settings. Similar to the other configuration requirements, you must update the Name, Description, Valid From, and Valid To fields, as shown in <u>Figure 5.21</u>.

Accourt	t Group:						
Accoun	t Group.						
Parent Group			ID: 50001377				
Timeframe:	01.01 2023	E	Effective Date: 01.01.2023				
General	GL Accounts Ri	sks Attachments and Links	3				
* Name:	Accounts Payab	le	* Valid From:	01.01.2023	1		
Description:	Includes the list	of vendor accounts shown	* Valid To:	31.12.9999	1		
	as liability in the organization's balance sheet. It indicates the amount that the organization has to pay.		Significant:	🔾 Yes 💿 No			
			Reasoning:				
Assertions							
Completen	855						
Existence	Or Occurrence						
🗸 Presentatio	on and Disclosure						
Rights and	Obligations						
Valuation of Valuation of Valuation	r Allocation						

Figure 5.21 General Tab in Configuration of Account Groups

In addition, maintain the following supplementary fields:

• Significant (Yes/No)

Used to determine whether the account group is considered significant or not. An account group can be marked as significant either based on the value of the account group if it's a material amount or based on its
criticality, which is determined by management. Justification for choosing this option can be manually entered in the **Reasoning** field.

Only significant account groups are eligible to be assigned to a subprocess by default. Later in this section, we'll discuss the process of defining the significant account groups and then the assignment process of account groups to subprocess and controls.

• Reasoning

Justification supporting the reason to mark the account group as significant. This is a free-text field.

• Assertions

These are financial assertions that the organization has to select based on the criteria the account group has to comply with. The default financial assertions listed here are added automatically by activating the BC set GRPC-ATTR-ASSERTION during the initial configuration:

- Completeness
- Existence Or Occurrence
- Presentation and Disclosure
- Rights and Obligations
- Valuation or Allocation
- If additional financial assertions are needed, they can be created via Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values. From the Dialog Structure section, double-click Attributes. Select AC-ASS: Financial Statement Assertion, and

click **Values** to view the current values. as shown in <u>Figure 5.22</u>.



Figure 5.22 Configuration to Review the Financial Assertions

4. To define a new financial assertion, click New Entries in the top menu, and enter the Value (a unique ID for the financial assertion), and Text (a brief name for the financial assertion), as highlighted in <u>Figure 5.23</u>.



Figure 5.23 New Financial Assertion Value

 Click Save to save the newly added value. Once saved, the new assertion is visible for maintenance while creating an account group, as highlighted in <u>Figure 5.24</u>.

Account G	roup: Ac	counts Payable)			
arent Group: Timeframe: 11.	09 2023	E	ID: fective Date:	50001213 11.09.2023		
General GL A	ccounts Risk	Attachments and Links				
* Name: Description:	Accounts Pay Includes the II as liability in th sheet. It indice organization h	able st of vendor accounts show re organization's balance ries the amount that the as to pay.	1	 Valid From: Valid To: Significant: Reasoning: 	01.01.2023 31.12.9999 • Yes No	T
Cut-Off Completeness						
Existence Or Or Presentation an	d Disclosure					
2 Mar 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1	tations					

Figure 5.24 New Financial Assertion Value in the Assertion List

 The next step in the account group maintenance is to map the general ledger accounts. Click the **GL Accounts** tab to map the general ledger accounts that are part of the account group under maintenance. This is a manual input and used to document the general ledger accounts, as shown in <u>Figure 5.25</u>.

Payable	
ID: 50001213	
Effective Date: 11.09.2023	
ts and Links	^
	Remove
To	
	~
	ID: 50001213 Effective Date: 11.09.2023 ts and Links To

Figure 5.25 Mapping General Ledger Accounts to the Account Group

7. Once the general ledger accounts are mapped, navigate to the **Risks** tab to map any risks identified at the account group level, and then go to the **Attachments** **and Links** tab to add any relevant attachments/links (optional). Click **Save** to complete the account group creation process.

In the configuration of the **General** tab, the account groups are determined to be significant or not, and the following describes how the account groups undergo such classification. Account groups have an influential factor in determining whether a subprocess and the relevant controls have to be considered as key and in scope of the control testing strategy. Following are the two methods in which an account group will be determined as significant or not:

Based on the account group balance

Management of the organization can consider a value threshold to determine any account group's significance, and any account group having a value in trial balance beyond this value is automatically considered significant. For example, all the account groups with value beyond 5 millon USD should be treated as significant.

To maintain the account group balances and significant threshold value, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Master Data** work center, and click the **Consolidated Balances** work item under the **Accounts** work group.

In the **Consolidated Account Balances** screen, you may notice the list of account groups that are defined in the previous step. Maintain the balance of these account groups per the latest trial balance of the organization in the **Consolidated Balance** column. Select the **Year** and **Currency** in which the account balances should be maintained, as shown in Figure 5.26.

rear:	2023	Chan	ge Year				
Currency	USD	ð					
Significance Threshold	5.000.000	1.00 Apply	Significance The	reshold			
Version:	0001	*					
Changed On:	17.08.2023						
Accounts							
Accounts				Download Template	Upload Template	Copy values from previous perior	đ
Accounts	Consolidated Balance	Significant		Download Template	Upload Template Reason	Copy values from previous period	d
Accounts Accounts Accounts Payable	Consolidated Balance 4 950 000.00	Significant	Significant impo	Download Template	Upload Template Reason of the organization if	Copy values from previous perior not paid as per the payment terms	d
Accounts Accounts Accounts Peyable Accounts Receivab	Consolidated Belance 4.950.000.00 de 5.345.000.00	Significant	Significant impo	Download Template	Upload Template Reason of the organization if t	Copy values from previous perior not paid as per the payment terms	đ

Figure 5.26 Determination of Significant Accounts

Once the account balances are maintained, update the significance threshold value by clicking the **Apply Significance Threshold** button to determine the significant account groups. Any account group with a balance beyond this threshold will be marked as significant. Click **Save** to complete the account balance maintenance process.

Manual definition as significant

In the previous method, account groups are categorized as significant and nonsignificant based on the account balances. There could be situations where the account balance may not cross the threshold but considering the criticality of the account group or its impact on the organization's business processes, it's required to mark the account group as significant. For example, even if the Accounts Payable account group doesn't cross the threshold, it's considered critical as it has an impact on the organization's financials if it's not monitored as a key process.

In such scenarios, the account group can be marked as significant by clicking on the **Significant** checkbox shown in <u>Figure 5.26</u>. However, justification should be provided

in the **Reason** column backing up the decision to mark the account as significant even if it doesn't breach the threshold.

Click **Save** to save the changes in the current version. If there is a requirement to keep the old values unimpacted and keep the new values appearing in the system, use the **Save as New Version** option, which creates a dropdown in the **Version** field with which the values in both the versions will be made available for the GRC administrators.

Per the standard configuration of SAP Process Control, only account groups determined as significant are eligible to be assigned to subprocesses. If the organization has a requirement to map nonsignificant account groups to the subprocesses, the same can be activated via **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance • Shared Master Settings • Maintain the Ability to Add Non-Significant Account Group to Subprocess**.

Ensure that the **Activated** checkbox for the **Allow non**significant accounts to be added to a subprocess customizing item is checked, as shown in <u>Figure 5.27</u>.

Change View "All	ow non-significant accounts to be added to	a subproces
🦻 New Entries 🗅 🗟	🖙 🕃 🖺 🕞 BC Set: Change Field Values	
Allow non-significant accou	nts to be added to a subprocess	
Customizing item	Description Acti	
ADD_NON_SIG_ACC	Allow non-significant accounts to be added to a subprocess	v

Figure 5.27 Configuration to Activate Assignment of Nonsignificant Accounts to a Subprocess

Click **Save** to capture the changes in a transport request. Now even the nonsignificant accounts can be assigned to subprocesses.

Risks Tab

After completing the account group assignment to the subprocess, proceed to the **Risks** tab to add relevant risks that the subprocess is prone to experience. The **Source** column indicates how the risk is linked to the subprocess, showing the source of assignment. To include additional risks, click the **Add** button, select the risk to be mapped to the subprocess from the popup, and click **OK** to perform the assignment, as shown in Figure 5.28.

Subprocess						
Central Subproces	Add Risks				x	
Parent Process: Procure to Pay			of business, and decline of profit		^	
Timeframe: 11.09.2023	Improperty trained staff	Information Technology	Improperly trained staff.	Inherent to Subprocess		
Ceneral Controls Regular Risks Name Incorrect interpretation of Accig rules			can harm the company and its reputation in case of wrong behaviour in the usage of IT ryutema and information (J.ike the use of notebooks, mobile devices, documents and information or the internet).		•	Open Add Remove Controls Assigned
Global consolidation process	Indequate change management	Information Technology	Program changes may not meet users' requirements or may negatively impact existing processing. The transfer of programs into the live	Inherent to Subprocess	~	ng 0
	<			OK C	ancel	Save Cancel

Figure 5.28Selection of Risk to Assign to the Subprocess

Once the risk assignment is done, the **Source** column shows how the risk is assigned to the subprocess. In this case, it's manually assigned to the subprocess, and the **Source** shows **Inherent to Subprocess**. Click **Save** to complete the assignment, as shown in <u>Figure 5.29</u>.

Subprocess				$\square \times$
Central Subprocess: Mai	intain Vendor Master Data			
Parent Process: Procare to Pay	IC: \$0001065			
Timehame: 11.09.2023	Effective Date: 11.09.2823			
General Cormula Regulations Co	entral Objectives Account Groups Folks Attachments and Links			~
Risks				
			Open Add Remove	
Name	Description	Seurce	Controls Assigned	
Incarnect intergrenation of Acctg. rules	Incorect Interpretation of Accounting table location and or incorrelates appropriate of the control attements the table party or the workline and or incomplete or incorporate attements the table party or the workline concerning charges in accounting obtions. One to entrop the particulate and other table assesses of a scienceting charges in accounting obtions. The science table and the science of the accounting the particulate and the science of the science of the accounting the particulate of the science of the science of the accounting table particulates of the science of the science of the science of the science of traditions', requires on of the science o	Account Group Accounts Payable(Account Group Assertion Completeness Presentation and Disclosure)		
Global consolidation process	Incorrect, incomplete data or unauthorized, invalid changes can lead to incorrect consolidation musils and therefore the (consolidated) financial unbannets called be ministed) for internal doction making or are non completer with PESs or local GAVP and can lead to loss of credibility. reputation and financial clasme.	Hit changes can lead to Control Objective Accurate Accounting Tecrete International Electronic International and an International International International International International Internati		
Improperly trained staff	Improperly bained staff, Internal and external staff can have the company and its reportation in case of arrong behaviour in the usage of IT systems and information (Like the use of Incideoxis, mobile devices, documents and information or the internet).	Inherent to Subprocess		
			Save	Cancel

Figure 5.29 Assignment of Risk to the Subprocess

Risks can be assigned to subprocesses through three different sources, and the identification of how the risk is assigned to the subprocess is shown in the **Source** column, as follows:

- Inherent to Subprocess Risk templates are mapped to the subprocess directly.
- Inherent to Control Objective
 Risk templates are mapped to control objectives first, and
 then subprocess/controls inherit the risks based on the
 assignment of control objectives.
- Inherent to Account Group
 Risk templates are mapped to account groups first, and
 then subprocess/controls inherit the risks based on the
 assignment of account groups.

Note

The risks in the popup shown earlier in Figure 5.28 are created in the Master Data work center, which we'll discuss next.

Risk plays a pivotal role in SAP Risk Management, where it undergoes a comprehensive definition, responsibility definition, and analysis through the risk assessment functionality. It's important to note that risk definitions are classified as a common master data element between SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management.

SAP Process Control uses the risk master data to define the risk and control matrix (RCM). RCM is a robust solution that helps organizations identify, prioritize, and establish a control testing strategy. This synergy between SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management streamlines the process of managing and mitigating risks, ensuring a more effective and integrated approach to GRC initiatives.

There are two levels within the risk catalog: risk category and risk template. Risk category organizes risk with relatable characteristics and helps in grouping similar risks under one group. For example, financial risks, operational risks, and so on. To review the existing risk categories in the hierarchy or to create a new one, follow these steps:

- Log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, and navigate to the Master Data work center. Choose the Risk Catalog work item under the Risks and Responses work group.
- Select the proper head under the hierarchy, and click
 Create Risk category, as highlighted in Figure 5.30.
- 3. Enter a brief name of the risk category in the **Name** field, a detailed explanation to specify the risks to be grouped under this risk category in the **Description** field, the date from which the risk category is valid in

the **Valid From** field, and the date until which the risk category is valid in the **Valid To** field.



Figure 5.30 Option to Create a New Risk Category in the Hierarchy

The **Allow Assignment** radio group, **Analysis Profile** fields, and **KRI template** tab are relevant only for SAP Risk Management. A risk can be created under this risk category only when this field is marked as **Yes**, and the analysis profile specifies the method in which the probability and impact of the risk are defined to arrive at the inherent and residual risk levels. Clicking the **Analysis Profile Detail** link shows the details of the configurations on how inherent risk and residual risk calculations can be calculated while performing risk assessment in SAP Risk Management. Once the details are provided, click the **Save** button to create the risk category detailed in <u>Figure 5.31</u>. This action will create the risk category within the chosen risk classification.

sk Category					1 X
Risk catego	ory: Compliance				
Parent Category: F	lisk Hierarchy	Created On: 01.01.2023		D: 50001019	
meral KRI Templ	ate Attachments and Links				
* Name:	Compliance	* Valid From:	01.01.2023		
Description:	Compliance	* Valid To:	31.12.9999		3
Now Assignment:	• Yes 🔿 No				
Analysis Profile:	System default (Qualitative anal	ysis profile) v Analysis Profile Detail			
<				;	>
				Save Car	nce

Figure 5.31 Configuration of the Risk Category

Moving on to the risk template, under the risk category, the specific risks identified by the organization are configured as risk templates, such as breach of international trading laws or risk from litigation/administration.

To review the existing risk templates under the risk category or to create a new one, execute Transaction NWBC in the SAP Process Control system, navigate to the **Master Data** work center, and click the **Risk Catalog** work item under the **Risks and Responses** work group.

To create a new risk template, follow these steps:

- Select the Risk Category from the list, and click Create • Risk template (refer to Figure 5.30).
- 2. Enter a brief name of the risk template in the Name field, a detailed explanation to specify the risks to be grouped under this risk category in the Description field, the date from which the risk template is valid in the Valid From field, and the date until which the risk template is valid in the Valid To field.

- 3. Once the details are provided as shown in Figure 5.32, the next step is to map the **Risk Drivers and Impacts** (discussed in more detail later).
- 4. Upon selecting the relevant drivers and impacts, click **Save** to save the risk template.



Figure 5.32 Risk Template Configuration Screen

Let's look deeper into the significance of drivers and impacts and how they play a crucial role in defining risk templates, as follows:

• Drivers

Drivers are the driving factors or variables that contribute to the assessment and evaluation of risks associated with a particular process or aspect of an organization's operations. These drivers are instrumental in identifying the source from which the risk could potentially emerge. For example, people and processes are a few examples of risk drivers. To add a driver, click the **Add** button, and select the applicable driver from the categories available in the dropdown, as shown in <u>Figure 5.33</u>. Click **Save** to save the risk template. Additional drivers or impacts can be added per the business requirement.





Driver categories in the dropdown can be maintained using the Transaction SPRO configuration. To perform this configuration, follow menu path **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Shared Master Settings** • **Risk and Opportunity Attributes** • **Maintain Driver Categories**. Activating BC set GRPC-RISK-DRIVER-CATEGORY from Transaction SCPR20 will add the following default categories, as shown in <u>Figure 5.34</u>:

- Market Conditions
- Commodity Prices
- Loss of Personnel
- Lack of skilled Workforce

If any of these standard values aren't in scope of the organization, the same can be deactivated by checking the **Deactivate** checkbox. Deactivated driver categories aren't available for selection for a risk template. New driver categories can be defined by clicking the **New Entries** button. Add the **DrvCat ID** (a unique driver ID), **Driver Category**, and **Driver Category Description**. Click **Save** to save the new driver category and the newly created driver categories will be available for selection in the risk templates.

Ø		💌 « 🖯 I 🔕 😣 😡 I 🚍 🕷 I	199999125166	
Change I	/iew "Dri	ver Categories": Overview		
🦻 🕄 New	Entries	🗟 📫 🗟 🕵 🖟 BC Set: Change Fi	eld Values	
Driver Catego	ries			
DrvCat ID	Deactivate	Driver Category	Driver Category Desc	
0000000001		Market Conditions	Change in Market Co	
0000000002		Commodity Prices	Rise / Decline of corr	
0000000003		Loss of Personnel Loss of Employees		
0000000007		Lack of skilled Workforce	Decine of skiled Wo	

Figure 5.34 Configuration to Review the Driver Categories

Impacts

Impacts indicate the consequences that the organization should face if the risk materializes. Risk assessment in SAP Risk Management is done against the specific impacts that are mapped to the risks. Impacts can be added to the risk templates the same way as drivers. Click **Add**, and select the applicable impact from the categories available in the dropdown shown in <u>Figure 5.35</u>.

tisk template: Anti-competitie	on, corruption, AML la	ws		
arent Category: Compliance	Created On: 01.01.2023	ID: 50001020		
General Risk Instances Response Template	Central Controls Attachments a	nd Links		
Name: Anti-connettion	comption AML Valid Exam	01.01.2023		i i
Des	Conspond, Pare 1		171	
Add Impact				
Impact Cab	gory: Customer Satisfaction	~		
Impact Category Descri	ption: Customer Satisfaction			
	Customer Satisfaction			
 Drivers and 	Financial (Direct Costs)	ny		
<u> </u>	Financial (Earnings)	24		1
Show: Impacts v	Financial(Earnings)		Add Edit Remove	
Impact Category	Financial(Revenue)			
	Logal Programmy	_		
Financial (Revenue)	Legal / Regulatory			



Similar to drivers, impact categories in the dropdown can be maintained via menu path **Governance, Risk and Compliance • Shared Master Settings • Risk and Opportunity Attributes • Maintain Impact Categories**. Activating BC set GRPC-RISK-IMPACT-CATEGORY using Transaction SCPR20 will activate the following impacts:

- Financial (Revenue)
- Financial (Earnings)
- Reputation
- Legal / Regulatory
- Customer Satisfaction
- Financial (Direct Costs)
- Financial (Capital Expenditure)

The default/standard values that aren't in scope of the organization can be deactivated by selecting the **Deactivate** checkbox, as shown in <u>Figure 5.36</u>. Once the

impact category is deactivated, it won't be available for selection for a risk template.

Change V	ïew "Im	pact Category View": Overv	iew
🕨 🔍 New I	Entries 🗋	🗟 🕫 🎚 👫 🔝 🛛 BC Set: Change Fie	d Values
mpact Catego	ory View		
ImpCat ID	Deactivate	Impact Category	Impact Category De:
0000000001	v	Financial (Revenue)	Financial Loss of Reve
0000000002		Financial (Earnings)	Financial Loss impacti 🎽
000000003		Reputation	Damage to the Repu
0000000004		Legal / Regulatory	Non-Compliance with
0000000005		Customer Satisfaction	Impact on customer
000000006		Financial (Direct Costs)	Financial Loss due to
0000000007		Financial (Capital Expenditures)	Financial Loss due to

Figure 5.36 Deactivating Impact Category Screen

Additionally, new impact categories can be defined using the **New Entries** button. Click the button, enter the **Impact Category** and **Impact Category Definition**, and click the **Save** button. Once the categories are added, you may notice them in the **Risk Template** selection.

Once all the details of the subprocess are defined in the **General**, **Regulation**, **Control Objectives**, **Account Group**, and **Risks** tabs as applicable, click **Save** to complete the definition of the central subprocess in the business process hierarchy.

5.2.3 Control

Once the subprocess and relevant attributes, such as regulations, control objectives, accounts, and risks, are defined, the next step is definition of controls. To mitigate the risks identified in the subprocess and also to meet the objectives, organizations must define controls. To create a new control in the hierarchy, click on the subprocess created in the previous step, and click **Create** • **Control** from the dropdown, as shown in Figure 5.37. The control created in this configuration step is referred to as the central control.



Figure 5.37 Option to Create a New Control in the Hierarchy

The new control definition screen consists of several tabs, including **General**, **Performance Plan**, **Regulations**, **Requirement**, **Risks**, **Account Groups**, and **Attachments and Links**. It's essential to configure each of these tabs with the relevant settings to ensure the control's effectiveness. All of these tabs, along with the field elements, are detailed in the following sections.

General Tab

The **General** tab data definition is particularly crucial, and it's advisable to set up all the fields carefully. For a comprehensive understanding of each field, see <u>Figure 5.38</u>.

entral Control: V	endor m	aster cha	nges				
went Subprocess: Maintain Vendor Master Data Imelizane: 11.09.2023			ID. 50001067		Effective Date: 11.89.2023		
Performance Plan	Regulations	Requirement	Risks	Account Groups	Attachments and Links		
* Name:	Vendor mast	ter changes			* Valid From:	29.05.2023	
Description	This rule trac	As changes to o	vitical fiel	ids of vendor master.	Valid To:	31.12.9999	
					 Tripper: 	C Event	
					Operation Frequency:	Monthly	
					* To Be Tested	Yes No	
					* Test Automation:	Automated Manual Semi-Automate	
Control or Process Step:	Control	C Process Str	φ		Testing Technique:		
 Control Category: 	Transactiona	d Level Control			 Test Plan: 		
Significance:	Key Control				 Input; 		
Level of Evidence:	Tier 3: Contr	ol Design Asses	sment +	C v			
Centrol Risk:	High			*	Output:		
Control Automation:	Automater	d O Manual	ं	mi-Automated			
* Purpose:	Detective	OPreventiv					

Figure 5.38 New Control Definition Screen

Note that the control attributes described in <u>Table 5.2</u> can be configured within the Transaction SPRO settings. The specific Transaction SPRO node and detailed steps for configuring each field are provided for your reference.

Field Name	Details
Name	This is a brief name of the control.
Description	This is a detailed explanation of the steps that the control is performing to meet the objective.

Field Name	Details
Control Category	This classifies a control to identify the process area that the control belongs to. To create new fields, execute SAP Reference IMG configuration, Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values. From the Dialog Structure section, double-click Attributes. Select PR-Category Control Category, and click Values to view the current values. Following are the control categories that are added to this configuration by default on activating the BC set GRPC-ATTR-CATEGORY: • Direct ELC • IT General Control • Transactional-Level Control Click the Create New button to create new categories.

Field Name	Details
Significance	This classifies the control based on the criticality. To maintain/create the dropdown values for this field, execute Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values. From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes. Select PR-SIG Control Significance, and click Values to view the current values. The following values are added by default by activating BC set GRPC-ATTR-SIGNIFICANCE: • Key Control • Standard Control

Field Name	Details
Level of Evidence	This defines the level of testing that the control should undergo. To maintain the dropdown values in the Level of Evidence field, expand Governance , Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Scoping • Set Level of Evidence Value . The following values are added by default on activating standard BC set GRPC-SCOPING-LOE:
	Tier 1: No Testing
	Tier 2: Self-Assessment
	• Tier 3: Control Design Assessment + Control Effectiveness
	• N/A: N/A
	You can create new line items by using the Create New button.

Field Name	Details
Control Risk	This specifies the extent of risk impact on the organization in the event of control failure. To maintain additional values in the dropdown for this field, execute Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values . From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes . Select Risk-IMP Qualitative Risk Impact , and click Values to view the current values. Following are the default values that are added on activating of BC set GRPC-ATTR- RISK_IMPACT:
	• High
	• Medium
	• Low

Field Name	Details
Control Automation	This specifies the automation type that describes how the control is configured within the source system. To maintain the dropdown values for this field, execute Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values . From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes with Fixed Values . Select PR-AUTOM Automation , and click Names t o view the current values. Following are the standard values available in this configuration:
	• Automated
	• Manual
	Semi-Automated

Field Name	Details
Purpose	This indicates how the control is defined in the source system, and whether to prevent the error/fraud from occurring or identify the issue as part of review. To maintain the dropdown values for this field, execute Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values . From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes . Select PR-PURP Purpose , and click Values to view the current values. The following values are added to this configuration by default on activating BC set GRPC-ATTR-PURPOSE:
	Detective
	Preventive

Field Name	Details
Nature	This indicates the nature of the control activity. To maintain the values for this field, execute Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values. From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes. Select PR-Nature Nature of Control, and click Values to view the current values. The following values are added to this configuration by default on activating BC set GRPC-ATTR-NATURE: • Adjustment • Authorization • Initiation • Match • Processing • Reconciliation
Nature (Cont.)	 Recording Restricted Access Review Safeguarding of Assets Segregation of Duties

Field Name	Details
Allow Referencing	Select the checkbox if this control should be available for mitigating risks that are part of another subprocess.
Control Relevance	The sources for the options available in control relevance are based on the principals of the Committee of Sponsoring Organization (COSO) regulatory framework. To maintain the values available for this field, execute Governance , Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values. From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes . Select Relevance , and click Values to view the current values. The following values are added to this configuration by default on activating BC set GRPC-ATTR-RELEVANCE:
	Control Activities
	Control Environment
	Information and Communication
	Monitoring
	Fraud Prevention and Detection
	Risk Assessment

Field Name	Details
Control Group	This is used to group similar controls based on the activities that the control performs. To maintain the values available for this field, execute Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values. From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes with dependent values. Select CN_GROUP Control Group, and click Values to view the current values. The following values are added to this configuration by default on activating BC set GRPC-ATTR-CTRL_GROUP: • Compliance and Regulations • Financial Reporting and Disclosure • Operations

Field Name	Details
Control Subgroup	This is used to further classify the controls based on the group selected in the previous step. To maintain the values available for this field, execute Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values . From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes . Select CN_SUBGROUP Control Group , and click Values to view the current values. The following values are added to this configuration by default on activating BC set GRPC-ATTR-CTRL_GROUP:
	 Accuracy Completeness
	Effectiveness

Field Name	Details
Control Subgroup (Cont.)	 Efficiency Environment Health Restricted Access Safety Tax Validity Once the subgroups are defined, the same will be tagged to the groups as applicable under Attributes with dependent values. Select CN_GROUP Control Group, choose Value, and click Values Permitted Dependent Attribute to view the control group and subgroup mapping.
Valid From	This is the date from which the control is valid.
Valid To	This is the date till which the control is valid.

Field Name	Details
Trigger	This is used to classify if the control is to be tested on an event-based or date-based trigger:
	• Event: Notifies the owner responsible to fix the issues on a real-time basis as and when the event occurs that is defined in the business rule.
	• Date : This is schedule-based monitoring, where the business rule runs per the frequency defined in the automated monitoring rules.
	For more in-depth information regarding the scheduling process, see <u>Chapter 8</u> , <u>Section 8.5</u> .

Field Name	Details
Operational Frequency	This indicates the frequency at which the control should be tested. To maintain the values available for this field, execute Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values . From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes . Select PR-FREQ Frequency , and click Values to view the current values. Following are the values that are added to this configuration by default on activating standard BC set GRPC- ATTR-CTRL_FREQUENCY: • Annual • Bi-Weekly • Continual • Daily • Monthly • Quarterly • Semi-Monthly • Weekly
To Be Tested	Select Yes if the control is in the scope of testing for the period. If it's not in scope, select No .

Field Name	Details
Test Automation	This indicates the automation type and how the control should be tested for operating effectiveness. To maintain the dropdown values for this field, execute Governance , Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values . From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes with Fixed Values . Select PR-Test_AUTOM Test Automation , and click Names to view the current values. The following standard values are available in this configuration:
	• Automated
	• Manual
	Semi-Automated

Field Name	Details
Testing Technique	This defines the type of testing that will be performed to evaluate the control. To maintain the values available for this field, execute Governance , Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Edit Attribute Values . From the Dialog Structure section, click Attributes . Select PR-TTECHNQ Testing Technique , and click Values to view the current values. The following values are added to this configuration by default on activating standard BC set GRPC-ATTR-TEST_TECH:
	Attribute sampling
	 Inspection of documentation corroborated by inquiry
	 Observation of control corroborated by inquiry
	 Reperformance of control corroborated by inquiry
Manual Test Plan	Test plans are series of steps that the control tester should execute to test the operating effectiveness of the control. To understand more about manual test plans, see <u>Chapter 6</u> , <u>Section 6.5.1</u> .



Performance Plans Tab

Performance plans contain a sequence of activities that the performers should complete to check the efficiency of the control activities. These plans are used as part of the manual control performance functionality of SAP Process Control. To understand more about performance plans and assignment of the same to control, see <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.4.1</u>.

Regulations Tab

Once the performance plans are maintained, navigate to the **Regulations** tab to map the relevant regulations against which the control should be evaluated. To map a new regulation, click on the **Add** button that will list the available regulations that are previously assigned to the parent subprocess. Choose the regulation that you want to assign to the control. After selecting the regulation, click **OK** to complete the assignment, as shown in Figure 5.39.



Figure 5.39 Assignment of Regulation to the Control

Requirement Tab

As a next step, navigate to the **Requirement** tab to assign the requirements of the regulation to the control. Click the **Add** button to view the list of requirements that were created for the regulation assigned in the previous step in the master data. Select the regulation requirements to be assigned to the control, and click **OK** to perform the assignment, as shown in Figure 5.40.

ntrol						
Central (Control					
Parent Subprocess: Maintain Vendor Master Data ID: 50001384			Effective Date: 11.09.2023			
ineframe: 11	.09 2023					
General P	ufamanca D	an Development Disks Arr	count General Attache	vents and Links		
and the second s	errormance P	an regulatoris recountered rocks rec	cours or early a second			
Add Regul	ation Req	uirement			Ξ×	
Add Regul	ation Req n Require	wirement			Ξ×	Add Remove
Add Regul Regulatio	ation Req n Require	ment Description	Regulation	Valid from	Valid to	Add Remove Valid to
Add Regulatio	ation Req n Require ment Name 2	uirement ment Description Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports	Regulation SARBANES COLLEY	Valid from 01.01.2023	Valid to 31.12.9999	Add Valid to
Add Regulatio	ation Req n Require ment Name 2	uirement ment Description Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports Disclosures in Periodic Reports	Regulation SARBANES OXLEY SARBANES OXLEY	Valid from 01.01.2023 01.01.2023	Valid to 31.12.9999 31.12.9999	Add Remove Valid to

Figure 5.40 Assignment of Regulation Requirements to the Control

Risks Tab

The risks assigned to the subprocess indicate all the risks that it's prone to. To mitigate these risks, one or multiple controls can be created under the subprocess. This section details how the controls are mapped to the risks they're mitigating.

To map the risks, navigate to the **Risks** tab of the control, click **Add**, and a popup screen shows the list of risks that are mapped at the parent subprocess level. Select the specific risk that should be mapped to the control, and click **OK**, as shown in <u>Figure 5.41</u>.

Control					□ ×
Central Control					
Parent Subprocess: Maintain Vendor M Timeframe: 11.09.2023	faster Data	ID: 50001384		Effectiv	e Date: 11.09.2823
General Performance Plan Reg	ulations Requirement Roky	Account Groups Att	achments and Links	n x I	
Improperly trained staff	Information Technology	Improperly trained staff, Internal and external staff can harm the company and its	Inherent to Subprocess	^	en Add Remove d From Valid To
		reputation in case of wrong behaviour in the usage of IT systems and information (Like the use of notebooks, mobile devices,			
		documents and	OK	Cancel	Save Cancel

Figure 5.41 Assignment of Risks to the Control

Account Groups Tab

As a next step, navigate to the **Account Groups** tab where the financial assertions that the control has to comply with are maintained. This tab lists all the account groups that are mapped to the parent subprocess, and the only activity that can be performed is to enable the checkboxes for various financial assertions that are applicable, as shown in Figure 5.42.



Figure 5.42 Maintenance of Financial Assertions Applicable for the Control

Once all the details of the control are defined in the General, Performance Plans, Regulation, Requirement, Risks, and Account Group tabs, click Save to complete the definition of the central control in the business process hierarchy.
5.3 Organization Hierarchies

Organization hierarchies in SAP Process Control serve as a hierarchical representation of an entity's structure, primarily based on reporting requirements. This master data element is of utmost importance, as it plays a key role in determining responsibility and accountability for managing the effectiveness of subprocesses and controls once they are assigned to a specific organization.

In addition, note that the organization is shared master data across SAP Access Control, SAP Process Control, and SAP Risk Management solutions, and there are multiple tabs that need to be maintained when defining an organization. <u>Table 5.3</u> shows the significance of each of these tabs along with the solution they pertain to.

SAP Process	SAP Risk	SAP Access
Control	Management	Control

SAP Process	SAP Risk	SAP Access
Control	Management	Control
 General Subprocess Indirect Entity-Level Controls Regulations Policies Roles Issues (Ad-hoc) Attachments and Links 	 General Objectives Key Risk Indicators Units of Measure Risk Appetite Risk Thresholds Roles Attachments and Links 	 Users Owners AC Roles Assignments Attachments and Links

Table 5.3SAP GRC Solutions: Classification of Tabs in OrganizationMaintenance

There is no default organization, and you must create the root organization and child organization as a part of the initial configuration. Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.3.1</u>, to understand the process of creating the root organization hierarchy. The topmost entity in the hierarchy is referred to as "Corporate," and the rest of the entities are called "Organizations." It's essential to create the root organization and child organizations as a part of the initial configuration because there is no default organization available. The

following sections detail the steps to set up new organizations and also the steps to be followed to map the control to the organization.

5.3.1 Creation of an Organization

Once the root organization is created, further child organizations can be created from Transaction NWBC. To review the existing organization hierarchy or to create a new one, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Master Data** work center, and click the **Organizations** work item under the **Organizations** work group.

To create a new organization within the hierarchy, choose the existing organization under which the new one should be created, and then click the **Add** button, as highlighted in Figure 5.43.



Figure 5.43 Option to Create a New Organization in the Hierarchy

The new Organization definition screen has several tabs, including General, Subprocess, Indirect Entity-Level Controls, Regulations, Policies, Roles, Issues, and Attachments and Links, as shown in <u>Figure 5.44</u>.

Create Organiza	ation								
Parent Organization: ABC In	ternational Ltd		ID: 500013	85					
Timeframe: Year 2023 Effective Date: 01.01.2023				23					
General Subprocess	Indirect Entity-Level Controls	Regulations	Policies	Objectives	Key Risk Indicators	Units o	Measure	Risk Appethe	
• N	lame:				• Vali	d From:	01.01.202	3	1
Descrip	ption:				• •	wild To:	31.12.999	9	1
					• 0	тносу:			ő
					Average Cost Per	Control			0,00
						country:			d?
Shared Services Prov	vider: Yes •No					State:			67
Org. Level System Paran	seter:			ć	2				
Review Settings									
Indirect ELC Assesse	nent: 📝 Use System Suggeste	nd Delt	Not Review /	Assessment					
Indirect ELC	Test: 📝 Use System Suggeste	nd Dol	Not Review 1	Fest Results					
Remediation	Plan: 📝 Use System Suggeste	d Dol	Not Review I	Plan					
Discharges Re-	nerv: Elles Sustem Supports	ed be							

Figure 5.44 General Tab of the Organization

For a comprehensive understanding of each of these tabs, see <u>Table 5.4</u>.

Tab	Details
General	The General tab can be used to define the organization, and it allows you to configure fields such as Name , Description , Valid From , and Valid To , which are consistent with other master data definitions. Furthermore, the following fields must also be set up:
	 Subject to Sign-Off Mark it as Yes if the organization is to be considered for the sign-off process. See <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.3</u>, to understand more about the sign-off process.
	 Shared Services Provider If the organization is a shared service center that manages the controls of various other organizations, the controls

Details

can be localized in the shared service provider and tested. These controls can be localized in the other organizations with reference to the shared service provider where the control results, which were tested in the shared service provider, will be extended to the receiving organization.

- Deficiency Analysis Flag If the organization is to be considered for the functionality of aggregating deficiencies, mark this field as Yes.
- In Scope

Mark it as **Yes**, if the organization is critical and should be considered in planning any type of control evaluations. This eases the task of GRC administrator while scheduling the Planner, and all the organizations in scope can be selected in a single click.

• Currency

This field is relevant for SAP Risk Management, where risk thresholds should be maintained in a currency in which the organization is operating.

Tab	Details
Subprocess	Map all those subprocess and controls that are being managed by this organization and for which it's responsible to ensure they are being operated effectively. For a more comprehensive understanding of how subprocesses and controls are assigned to the organization, see Section 5.3.2.
Indirect Entity- Level Controls	Indirect entity-level controls are defined based on the COSO regulation framework at an organization level, which is across all the business processes. See <u>Section 5.5</u> to understand more about indirect entity-level controls.
Regulations	All the regulations that the organization is required to comply with are automatically inherited in this tab when you perform the assignment of subprocesses, indirect entity-level controls, or policies to the organization.
Policies	This section displays all the policies that have been created with the organization identified as the responsible entity. See <u>Chapter 9</u> , <u>Section 9.1.1</u> , to see how responsible organizations are assigned while creating a policy.

Tab	Details
Roles	This tab displays all the roles that are available for user assignment and have been configured in entity role assignment for the corporation or organization. These role-user assignments serve as the foundation for any workflow defined per custom agent determination. For detailed information on how roles are mapped to a corporation or organization, refer to <u>Chapter 4</u> , <u>Section 4.2.2</u> .
Issues	Displays any ad hoc issue that is reported with this organization as object. <u>Chapter 7</u> details more about ad hoc issue management.

 Table 5.4
 Overview of Tabs while Configuring Organizations

5.3.2 Control Localization

In the previous sections of this chapter, we've explored creating individual business process hierarchies; the relationship with regulations, control objectives, account groups, and risks; and creating organizations within master data. In this section, we'll delve into the process of mapping each of the controls that are being used within an organization by exploring the various options available during the assignment process.

Sub	processes Assignment					
Sub	process		^	023		
0	Subprocess	Process	Description	Key Risk Indicators	Units of Measure	110
	GL account structure	Record To Report				
	Inventory	Procure to Pay				
	Invoice Processing	Procure to Pay		Assign Subprocess	Remove Op	Mov
	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Procure to Pay	This activity monitors the of key fields in vendor r	ges	Shared S	ervice
	Password Parameters	п				
	Payment Terms	F100	Payment Terms			
	Perform Invoice Verification	Procure to Pay				
	Process Billing Documents	Order To Cash				
	Process Sales Returns	Order To Cash				
	Purchase A/c Assignment Cate	Procure to Pay	Purchase A/c Assignme			
	Revenue Recognition	Record To Report				
	System Configuration	ff.	~			

Figure 5.45Selection of the Subprocess to Assign It to the Organization

Select the organization from the hierarchy, and navigate to the **Subprocess** tab where the assignment can be performed. Click **Add Subprocess**, and select from the list of subprocesses created in the business process hierarchy of the master data. Select the subprocess and controls to be assigned to the organization, and click **Next** (see <u>Figure 5.45</u>).

The next tab provides two options while localizing the subprocess and control to an organization in the **Allow Local Changes** dropdown, as shown in <u>Figure 5.46</u>:

• Yes

In this case, a copy of the subprocess and control is created, and any changes required to be made to the subprocess or control can be made directly at the local level in the organization. This option is used if there are multiple zones in the organization hierarchy, and each entity is managing their zonal specific control description and attributes.

• No

In this case, a reference of the subprocess and control is created, and any changes required to be made to the subprocess or control should be made in the central business process hierarchy and the same will be reflected in the local subprocess and control. This option is used if there are multiple zones in the organization hierarchy and the control data is managed centrally, that way a single change made in the central process hierarchy is extended to all the local copies, thereby eliminating huge manual efforts.

Subproces	ses Assignmer	ıt					
Assign	Subproces	ses to ABC In	dia Pvt Ltd				
₩ Select	Subprocesses #	2 Ilow Local Changes	Select Controls	Select Risks	Review	Confirmation	-
Timeframe	Year 2023 Effectiv	e Date 01.01.2023					
Determine wh	ether or not organiz	ation-level (local) subpr	ocesses and contro	Is can be edited			
Subproces	ss						
Subproc	iess.	Process	Description		Allow L	ocal Changes	
Maintain	Vendor Master Data	Procure to Pay	This activity maintenance o vendor master	pritors the f key fields in data	No		ð
					Yes		
				Previous	Next	bmit Finish	Cancel

Figure 5.46Selection of Local Changes Method while Localizing the
Controls

Review the subprocess, controls, and risks that will be mapped to the organization. Click **Submit** after confirming the details, and then save to complete the subprocess and control assignment to the organization, as shown in <u>Figure 5.47</u>.

rganization					
ubprocesses Assignment					
Select Subprocesses Allow Loc	al Changes Select Contr	ols Selec	t Risks Review	Confirmation	
Timeframe Year 2023 Effective Date (11.01.2023				
Subprocess					
Subprocess/Control	Description		Date Assigned	Allow Local Changes	
 Maintain Vendor Master Data 	This activity monitors the maintenance of key fields a master data	n vendor	11.09.2023	No	
Vendor master changes	This rule tracks changes to fields of vendor master.	critical	11.09.2023	No	
Duplicate invoice parameter	"This rule tracks changes to system settings that prevent the same invoi being posted more than on	offie ice from ce."	11.09.2023	No	
lisk					
C Subprocess/Risk	Object Type	Descriptio	Description		
 Maintain Vendor Master Data 	Subprocess	This activ master da	ity monitors the maintena Ra	ance of key fields in vendor	
 Incorrect interpretation of Acctg. 	rules Risk Template	Incorrect	Interpretation of Account Previous	Next Submit Finish	Cano
				Save	Can

Figure 5.47Saving the Subprocess and Controls Assigned to theOrganization

Once the localization of a subprocess and control is completed, all the relevant attributes of control are copied/referenced to the organization. The subsequent step is to identify the owners responsible for the control, which is explained in detail in <u>Section 5.4</u>.

5.3.3 Add a Control Directly under the Local Subprocess

In the previous section, you've seen how to map a control to an organization using the localizing concept of assignment using a subprocess. If there is a requirement to define a control specific to only one organization and the same need not be part of the central process hierarchy, SAP Process Control provides a feature to define a control directly under the local subprocess, which saves the manual efforts of defining the control as part of the business process hierarchy and then mapping it to the organization.

This isn't a default feature in SAP Process Control, but the same can be enabled from the Transaction SPRO configuration. Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.3.3</u>, to understand the process of enabling the ability to add locally defined controls. Once the configuration is activated, follow the steps given here to create a new control under the local subprocess.

Select the organization from the hierarchy in the **Master Data** work center under which the local control has to be defined, navigate to the **Subprocess** tab, select the subprocess, click **Open**, and navigate to the **Controls** tab, as shown in <u>Figure 5.48</u>.

	cess						
Subp	process: Acce	ess Management	:				
Parent	Organization: Power G	eneration	Effective Dat	e: 29.05.20	23	Allow Local Cl	hanges: Yes
Timetra	me: Year 2023		Parent Proce	iss: IT			
Gene	eral Controls Regu	ations Control Objectives	Account Groups	s Risks	Policies Roles	Issues Attac	chments and Lini
Contr	ale Accionad to	Publicas					
Contr	ois Assigned to	subprocess					
						Open	Add Remove
C	Control Name	Description	Source	Significance	Provider	Valid From	Valid To
C N	Control Name Aonitor users with S	Description Monitor users with SA	Source Copy	Significance Key Control	Provider	Valid From 29.05.2023	Valid To 31.12.999
N V	Control Name Nonitor users with S	Description Monitor users with SA Users with developer	Source Copy Copy	Significance Key Control Key Control	Provider	Valid From 29 05 2023 29 05 2023	Valid To 31.12.999 31.12.999
C N U	Control Name Aonitor users with S Jsers with develope Aonitor Super User	Description Monitor users with SA Users with developer Monitor Super User ac	Source Copy Copy Copy	Significance Key Control Key Control Key Control	Provider	Valid From 29 05 2023 29 05 2023 29 05 2023	Valid To 31.12.999 31.12.999 31.12.999
	Aontrol Name Aontrol users with S Jsers with develope Aontrol Super User Direct profile assign	Description Monitor users with SA Users with developer Monitor Super User ac Monitor users with dire	Source Copy Copy Copy Copy	Significance Key Control Key Control Key Control Key Control	Provider	Valid From 29 05 2023 29 05 2023 29 05 2023 29 05 2023 29 05 2023	Valid To 31.12.999 31.12.999 31.12.999 31.12.999 31.12.999
	Control Name Konitor users with S Jsers with develope Konitor Super User Direct profile assign	Description Monitor users with SA Users with developer Monitor Super User ac Monitor users with dire	Source Copy Copy Copy Copy	Significance Key Control Key Control Key Control Key Control	Provider	Valid From 29 05 2023 29 05 2023 29 05 2023 29 05 2023	Valid To 31.12.999 31.12.999 31.12.999 31.12.999 31.12.999

Figure 5.48 Access the Controls Tab from the Local Subprocess

This tab shows the details of current controls. Click **Add**, and a popup screen appears in which you can select the **Create a new control** option to define a new local control, as shown in Figure 5.49.

Subprocess: Acc	ess Man	agement		
Parent Organization: Power (Seneration	Effective Date: 29.05.2023 Allow Local Changes	Yes	
Timeframe: Year 2023		Parent Process: IT		
General Controls Rea	estons Cost	and Chierthese Account Course Disks Dolines Doles Issues Attachments and Links		
General Contract Rep	NUMB CON	Add Control		
Controls Assigned to	Subproce			
-		A control could wish in the central substrates that is not included in this substrates	Add	Remove
Control Name	Description	Do you want to create a new control or select a control from central subprocess? Valid Pr	om 1	Valid To
Monitor users with S	Monitor use	Create a new control 29 05 2	023 2	31.12.991
I have a dis developed	Lines of R	Select from central subprocess		
Users wer severope	Users with a	29.05.2	123 -	31.12.999
Advantational Researcher Inc. or of	Monitor Sug	OK Cancel 29.05.2	323 3	31.12.999
anomical super countries			and the second s	
Direct profile assign	Monitor use	29.05.2	923 1	31.12.999

Figure 5.49 Option to Create a Local Control from Subprocess under an Organization

On clicking the **Create a new control** option, you have to follow the standard process of creating a control. To learn more about defining a control, refer to <u>Section 5.2.3</u>. If the configuration defined in <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.3.3</u>, isn't activated, this option is grayed out and isn't available for you to define a local control directly from an organization.

5.4 Users and Roles

SAP Process Control is a platform to manage the compliance needs of the organization, it's important to identify the users responsible to ensure the processes are operated effectively. Different types of evaluations that the processes/controls undergo in SAP Process Control are workflow driven, so it's key to map the roles and the users responsible to act on different stages of these assessments. This section provides a detailed understanding of how the user assignments and the further maintenance of replacement or removal can be performed at a control level.

5.4.1 User Assignment

To perform user assignment, navigate to the **Roles** tab of the control assigned to the organization in the previous section, as shown in <u>Figure 5.50</u>.

Control			□ ×
Control: Duplicate i	nvoice parameter changes		
Parent Organization: Thow Basis Timeframe: Year 2023 N Policies Issues Roles Al	Parent Subprocess: Maintain Vendor Mask Effective Date: 28.05.2023 tachments and Links	er Data	Allow Local Chang
Milgating Control ID: * Name: Description:	Duplicate invoice parameter changes "This rule tracks changes to the system settings that prevent the same invoice from being posted more than once."	* Valid From Valid To: * Trigger: Operation Prequency: * To Be Tested:	29 85 2023 31 12 9999 Event Date Monthly Yes No
Control or Process Step:	Control Process Step	Testing Technique: Input	
Control Category: Significance	Transactional-Level Control		
<	and Advance.	144	Save Cancel

Figure 5.50 Navigation Option to Roles Tab of a Local Control

Note

Roles in this tab appear based on the Transaction SPRO configuration of **Entity Role Assignment**. Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.2</u>, to understand the process of mapping roles to entities in SAP Process Control.

Select the role to which the user has to be assigned, and click **Assign**. A new popup screen opens with the list of users having the selected role assigned to their user ID, in this case, the control owner role. Select the user to be assigned to the role, and click **OK**, as shown in Figure 5.51.

Control									
Control: Duplicate invoice	Sele	ct Users) o x	
Parent Organization: Tnew Basis	Ava	ilable			Sel	lected		<u>^</u>	
Emeliane: Year 2023	Find	E	Search		Ð	Name	User ID		
Policies Issues Roles Attachments a	Ð	Name	User ID	<u>^</u>		RAGHU	RAGHU		
		Line Manager	300001						
Roles		40010	40010						_
Show All		DGUSER	BOUSER						Assign
Role			DOIC	1.0					Valid To
Cross Regulation Control Owner		DRISHTI	DRISHTI	10					11.09.20
Cross Regulation Control Parlomer		Homepage Gues	EUHOME	4					
Cross Regulation Control Tester		GRC RPA Auto	GRC801001	4					
Cross Regulation Issue Admin		KRISHNA.	KRISHNA					~	
Cross Regulation Remediation Owner							0	Cancel	
C	_				_				>
								84	ve Cancel

Figure 5.51 Assignment of a User to the Control Owner Role

Note

This control to have only those users available for selection can be managed using the **Second-Level Authorizations** configuration in Transaction SPRO. Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.1.4</u>, to understand more about second-level authorizations maintenance and relevance. If the **Second-Level Authorization** configuration is deactivated, the popup screen shows the list of all the GRC users who have access to role SAP_GRC_FN_BUSINESS_USER.

5.4.2 Replacing Users

The previous section explained how a new user can be assigned to the role available in the **Roles** tab of a local control. This section details how to replace the current user with a new one. This option is used if the controller is either moving from a role with a different responsibility or the owner is leaving the organization, where a new owner has to be mapped to the subprocess/control. From the **Roles** tab of the local control, select the user that is assigned to the designated role, and click **Replace**. From the popup, select the new user who will be the new control owner, and select the **Effective Future Date** from which the responsibility will be transferred, as shown in <u>Figure 5.52</u>.



Figure 5.52 Replacement of Current Owner from the Roles Tab

Note

The replacement will be effective on the mentioned date, only on successful completion of background job GRFN_REPLACEMENT_MASS_ACTIVATE where all the current **Work** **Inbox** items of the old owner also get transferred to the new owner.

5.4.3 Removing Users

The current owner can be removed from ownership rights. This option is used if the current user is no longer the owner of the control or if more than one user is assigned to the role and one of the owners is either moving to a new role with a different responsibility or the owner is leaving the organization. From the **Roles** tab of the local control, select the user that should be removed from the designated role, and click **Remove** to delink the responsibility. From the popup, select the **Effective Date** from which the responsibility should be removed from the user, as shown in <u>Figure 5.53</u>.



Figure 5.53 Removal of Current Owner from the Roles Tab

5.4.4 Maintaining User Assignments from the Access Management Work Center

SAP Process Control provides a feature in which owners for multiple controls can be maintained simultaneously from a single screen using the **GRC Role Assignments** option under the **Access Management** tab in Transaction NWBC. To maintain the control owners for multiple controls, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the Access Management work center, and execute the Business Processes work item under the GRC Role Assignments work group.

In the selection screen, Select **Role and Filter**, select the **Role Level** as **Control**, and use the filters **Organization**, **Process**, and **Subprocess** to get only those lists of controls under which they are created or assigned, as shown in <u>Figure 5.54</u>.



Figure 5.54 Filter Options Available in the Select Role and Filters Tab

After adding the required filters, click **Next** to navigate to the **Assign Roles** tab where we can see the list of controls for which the control owners should be assigned based on the filters selected in the previous step. To assign the owner to a control, select a control, and search in the **Control Owner** column, which lists the users with rights to be assigned as a control owner. Select the user, and click **OK**, as shown in <u>Figure 5.55</u>.

Assign Pro	cess,	Subprocess and Control	Roles	\$				
le 1		2 3 4	•	4				
	and ritter	Assign Koles Fornew Collins						
Timeframe Year	2023	Effective Date	Sele	ct User			×	1
Assign Users to R	oles for the	e Selected Filter Criteria.	Find			Search	^	
Assignments			5	User ID	Name			
Show: All		×		300001	Line Manag	ger		Copy to Al
Organization	Level	Object		40010	40010			RATOR
Test	Control	Mitigation Control ID for BASIS		BGUSER	BGUSER			đ
		Monitor users with SAP_AII access		DDIC		_		
		Basis General Control		DRISHTI	DRISHTI			
		CLIENT OPEN AND CLOSE -business		EUHOME	Homepage	Guest End Use	۲v	
		sub proc		GRCBOT001	GRC RPA	Auto Firefighter	C.	
		MONITOR_INACTIVE_USER-control	ì			OK Car	cel	
		IN_MC_P2P_PYTM_01						
		Monitor_quantity_in_goods_receipt_or_inv						

Figure 5.55Selection of User for Assignment to the Subprocess Owner Role

Note

Using the **Copy to Empty** and **Copy to All** options, the user assigned as owner for one control can be replicated as owner for the rest of the controls for which owners aren't mapped yet, as shown in <u>Figure 5.56</u>.



Figure 5.56 Mass Maintenance of User Assignments to Roles

Click **Next to** navigate to the **Review** tab. Review the assignments made and the **Effective Date**, and then click

Confirm to complete the user assignments to the selected objects and roles.

5.4.5 Central Delegation

Central delegation is a feature used by the SAP Process Control administrators to extend the roles, rights, and responsibilities of one user (referred to as delegator) to another user (referred to as delegate). This is done for a specific period of time if the user responsible for performing certain tasks is unavailable to complete those on time, and the responsibilities can be executed by a designated user.

To perform the delegation, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the Access Management work center, and click the Central Delegation work item under GRC Role Assignments.

Click **Create** for a new delegation, and in the popup screen, provide the ID of the user whose rights are being assigned in the **Delegator** section and the ID of the user who is receiving the access rights in the **Delegate** section in their respective **User** fields. In addition, provide the delegation **Start Date** and **End Date** only between which the delegated user can execute the rights. Click **Save** to complete the delegation, as shown in <u>Figure 5.57</u>.

Delegator	Delegate Period				Delegate Period						
User ID	Central Delega	Central Delegation				- × 1	End Date				
(ARTHIKA	Central Delegation						31.12.9999				
(ARTHIKA	Delegator			Delegate			31.12.9999				
AKRISHNA	• User:	SANDEEPL	റ്	 User: 	KARTHIKA	Ċ1	31.12.9999				
ANDEEPL	Full Name:	Sandeep		Full Name:	Karthika G		31.12.9999				
	Delegation Period										
	 Start Date: 	12.09.2023	1			- 1					
	* End Date:	13.09.2023	4								
						- 1					
						- 1					

Figure 5.57 Creation of Central Delegation

On creating central delegation, the delegated user can access the system with the delegator rights by using the **Change Delegation** option, as shown in <u>Figure 5.58</u>.

Once the user assignments are completed for various roles applicable to SAP Process Control, the detailed view of the master entity role-to-user mapping can be reviewed from the **Object Authorization Analysis** report from the **Reports and Analytics** work center in Transaction NWBC.



Figure 5.58 Changing the Delegation ID to Perform Tasks Assigned

5.5 Working with Indirect Entity-Level Controls

While <u>Section 5.2</u> provided an overview of the business process hierarchy that dealt with how business processes, subprocesses, and controls are established, this section furnishes an overview of indirect entity-level controls. It provides more information on what indirect entity-level controls are, how they are configured and aligned with organizations, and the various types of assessments that will be performed.

Indirect entity-level controls are defined in master data through two distinct levels, and the following steps outline the process for creating both indirect entity-level control groups and individual indirect entity-level controls within the hierarchy.

5.5.1 Indirect Entity-Level Control Group

Indirect entity-level control groups organize indirect entitylevel controls with relatable characteristics and helps in grouping similar controls under one group, for example, control activities, control environment, and so on. To review the existing indirect entity-level control groups in the hierarchy or to create a new one, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Master Data** work center, and click the **Indirect Entity-Level Controls** work item under the **Activities and Processes** work group. To create a new indirect entity-level control group, click on the **Indirect Entity Level Control Hierarchy**, and click **Create** • **Indirect Entity-Level Control Group** from the list, as shown in Figure 5.59.



Figure 5.59 Option to Create a New Indirect Entity-Level Control Group in the Hierarchy

The new **Indirect Entity-Level Control Group** definition screen has the **Name**, **Description**, **Valid From**, and **Valid To** fields that can be defined similar to the other master data items, as shown in <u>Figure 5.60</u>.



Figure 5.60 Configuration of the Indirect Entity-Level Control Group

Once the details are updated, as shown in Figure 5.60, click **Save** to create the indirect entity-level control group. Once the group is created, the next step is to create and configure controls under this group, which is detailed in the next section.

5.5.2 Indirect Entity-Level Control

Indirect entity-level controls relate to the governance process in the organization, activities pertaining to internal communications, and employee behavior that has an impact on the overall environment in the organization. A couple of examples of indirect entity-level controls are code of conduct and code of ethics. To create a new indirect entitylevel control in the hierarchy, click on the group created in the previous step, and then choose **Create • Indirect Entity-Level Control.**

The new Indirect Entity-Level Control definition screen includes standard fields such as Name, Description, Valid From, and Valid To, similar to other master data definitions, as shown in Figure 5.61.

ndirect Enti	ty-Level Control			
Central	Indirect Entity-Leve	el Control :		
Parent Group:	Control Activities	ID: 50001389		
Timeframe: 0	01.01 2023	Effective Date:	01.01.2023	
General	Regulations Attachments and	Links		~
* Name:	Reconciliation	* Valid from:	01.01.2023	
Description:	Payroll reports are reviewed	* Valid to:	31.12.9999	1
	by a user outside the system	Operation Frequency:	Monthly	¥
		To Be Tested:	Yes No	
		Test Plan:	Payroll account reconciliation	s 🗗 👅

Figure 5.61 Configuration of an Indirect Entity-Level Control

Additionally, it has the following fields:

Operational Frequency

This indicates the frequency at which the control should be tested.

• To Be Tested

Select **Yes** if the control is to be tested for operating effectiveness, and then assign a manual test plan that is created in the **Assessments** work center. See <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.5.1</u>, to understand the process of defining a manual test plan.

• Test Plan

The process of evaluating operating effectiveness of indirect entity-level controls is similar to the manual control test of effectiveness. Select the test plan that contains the series of steps that the indirect entity-level control tester should follow to arrive at the operating effectiveness rating.

Once the details are provided, navigate to the **Regulations** tab, map the regulation with which the indirect entity-level control is complying, and click **Save** to complete the indirect entity-level control creation process.

5.5.3 Localization of Indirect Entity-Level Controls

Indirect entity-level controls created in the previous section act as a central master data repository. If there are multiple geographical zones that are part the organization hierarchy, the process of handling the indirect entity-level controls may vary in each such entity. To assign the responsibility of maintenance of indirect entity-level controls and also get a clear picture of how effectively the indirect entity-level controls are being operated at each organization level, it's essential to map them to the respective organizations where they're being managed. This process of assigning an indirect entity-level control to the organization is referred as localization.

Select the organization from the hierarchy, and navigate to the **Indirect Entity-Level Control** tab where the assignment can be performed. Click **Add**, and select the **Indirect ELC** from the list of indirect entity-level controls created in the master data. Click **OK** and **Save** to complete the assignment, as highlighted in <u>Figure 5.62</u>.



Figure 5.62 Assignment of Indirect Entity-Level Control to the Organization

Once the indirect entity-level controls are defined and mapped to an organization, the same should undergo evaluations such as design and operating effectiveness tests that are done on a periodic basis.

To test the design effectiveness of the indirect entity-level control, define a survey with a list of questions that should be responded to by the indirect entity-level control tester. Additionally, for a deeper understanding of the process, see <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.1</u>, to learn about defining a survey and scheduling a planner activity, as well as <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, which explains the process of scheduling a Planner control.

To evaluate the operational effectiveness of the indirect entity-level control, it's advisable to establish a manual test plan containing a series of steps that the tester should execute. For a detailed process on how to define a manual test plan, see <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.5.1</u>. Subsequently, schedule a planner activity for the **Test of Indirect Entity-Level Control Effectiveness**. You can find the process for scheduling a planner in <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>.

5.6 Approval Workflow for Master Data Changes

The previous sections of this chapter detailed the process to define various master data elements. Any GRC administrator with access to maintain master data can make changes to these elements, and the elements can be reviewed using the standard audit log reports. However, this will act as a detective control to review whether all the changes made are in line with the expectations. To make the master data maintenance more efficient, SAP Process Control provides an approval workflow feature where any changes required in master data have to be approved by an administrator. This approval workflow can be enabled from the Transaction SPRO configuration. Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.3.2</u>, to understand the configurations to enable the approval workflow for various master data elements.

For better understanding, the process of applying workflow is explained for a local control later. However, the steps remain similar for the other master data changes.

To request a change in local control, select the organization from the hierarchy in the **Master Data** work center. Navigate to the **Subprocess** tab, expand the **Subprocess**, and select **Control** for which a request for change is to be submitted, as shown in <u>Figure 5.63</u>.

ntrol									$\Box \times$
Control: Monitor us	sers with	SAP_All a	iccess						
Parent Organization: Power Gen	eration		Parent Subprocess	Access Mar	agement		Allow	Local Changes:	No
fineframe: Year 2023			Effective Date: 01	01.2023					
General Regulations Perio	mance Plan	Business Rules	Control Performance	Evaluation	Monitoring Jobs	Requirem	ent Risks	Account Groups	Owne
Mitigating Control ID:						And From:	01.01.2023		
* Name:	ne: Monitor users with SAP_AI access					Valid To:	31.12.9999		
Description: Monitor users with SAP_AII a			and SAP_New access			• Trigger: Frequency:	C Event ® Date		
					* To * Test A Testing	De Tested. utomation: Technique:	Yes (Automati	No No O Manual	O Se
Control or Process Step:	Control (Process Step				Input.			
Control Category:	IT General Co	Interior							
Significance:	Key Control					Outrut			
<							1		>

Figure 5.63Request Change Option in the Local Control

The following sections detail the steps involved in requesting a change to be performed in a master data entity, providing approvals, updating the master data entity once approval is received, and reviewing the change made to the master data.

5.6.1 Request Change

Because the approval workflow is enabled for local controls, a change can't be made to the entity. Approval must be obtained from the master data change approver. Click the **Request Change** button, and a popup screen appears where the request details should be updated and submitted to the approver for review, as shown in <u>Figure 5.64</u>:

- Change Request Enter the purpose of the change.
- Field to be Changed Specify the fields for which the change is required.
- **Proposed Changes** Detailed explanation of the changes to be made in the

field.

					_
Control Name:	Monitor users with SAP_AI access		Insert Li	ne	
Parent:	Access Management	1	Field to be Changed	Proposed Change	^
Effective Date:	01.01.2023		Description	Control description to be updated	
- Gnange Request.	optate the attributes of the control	Nature		Update the nature of the control	
					ł

Figure 5.64Details to Be Updated in the Change Request for the MasterData Update

Click **OK** to submit the request for approval.

Note

If a change request is submitted and is pending approval, you can't request another change to the entity until the existing work item is addressed.

5.6.2 Approve Change

Once the request for change is submitted, a workflow will be triggered to the agent as defined in the custom agent determination rules (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>, for more details about custom agent determination rules).

Approvers can access the work items that are pending for their action from the **Work Inbox**. All the pending work items for action with the subject line **Approve Change Request** are displayed under the SAP Process Control group. <u>Figure 5.65</u> shows the pending workflow along with the status and other information.

Active Queries							
Workitems All (84) Access Manag	ете	nt (0) Pri	ocess Control (84) Risk Mana	gement (0)			
Workitems - All							
				Change Quer	y Define New G	uery Perso	nalize
View: * [Standard View] 🛛 🗸					Print Version	Export _	2
C Subject	٣	Status	Created On T	Due Date	Create	d By	
Approve Change Request		Ready	25.09.2023 14:26:50	25.09.2023	Karthik	aG	

Figure 5.65 Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending for Action

Click the **Subject** to open the work item, and the approver can see details such as **Requester**, **Control Name**, **Change Request** information, and other details entered while submitting the request (see <u>Figure 5.66</u>).



Figure 5.66 Master Data Change Request: Approver View

Once the details are reviewed, the **End Date** can be updated along with the **Comments**, and the request can be approved by clicking the **Approve** button. The **Reject** button can be used to reject the changes requested.

5.6.3 Implement Change

Once the change request is approved, a temporary authorization is assigned to the requester to make

necessary changes to the requested master data entity. A notification will be triggered to the requester to carry out the approved changes, as highlighted in Figure 5.67.

Activ	ve Queries				
Wor	kitems All (84) Access Management (0) I	Process C	Control (84) Risk Manage	ment (0)	
Worl	kitems - All				
			Change Que	ary Define New	Query Personalize
View	c * [Standard View] 🗸 🗸			Print Version	n Export 🖌
°b	Subject P	Status	Created On	Due Date	Created By
	Control Change Request is Approved	Ready	25.09.2023 14:35:19	25.09.2023	Karthika G
	control ontange recipion is reprotes	recoup	20.05.2020 14.00.10	20.00.2020	Turinina O

Figure 5.67Change Request Approval Confirmation

The requester can access the work item by clicking the **Subject** link, making the required changes, and clicking **Save** to complete the changes.

Note

The option to make changes remains until the approval end date provided by the approver. If the requester clicks **Finish**, it indicates all the required changes are completed and the request will be closed. For any further changes, the requester should raise another change request and follow the approval workflow process.

The details of the change request can be reviewed from the **Change Request** tab of the master data element, as shown in <u>Figure 5.68</u>.

arent Organization: Power Generation metrame: Year 2023 Issues Roles Attachments and Links Charge Reguest			Effective Date: 01.01.2023					
Request Status: Effective Date: Requested On: Approved On: * Change Request	Approved 01.01.2023 25.09.2023 14.26.49 25.09.2023 14.35.18 Update the attributes of the control		Field to be Changed Description Nature	Proposed Change Control description to be updated Update the nature of the control				
* Approval End Date: * Comments:	30.09.2023 Approved							

Figure 5.68 Review Change Request Details

5.6.4 Review Change

Once the changes are implemented and the requester clicks on the **Finish** button, the approver of the master data change request receives a notification to review the changes made to the master data entity. The approver can access the review work item from the **Work Inbox**, which is listed with the subject line **Review Change Log**, as shown in <u>Figure 5.69</u>.



Figure 5.69 Work Inbox Screen with Review Items Pending for Action

On accessing the review log, the approver can review the updated control and click **Finish** to complete the review, as outlined in <u>Figure 5.70</u>.

nent Organization: Power Generation		Parent Subprocess	Parent Subprocess: Access Management			Allow Local Changes: No				ID: 50001143			
whate:	Year 2023			Effective Date: 01	01.2023								
leneral	Replations Perf	ormance Plan	Duniness Rules	Carthal Performance	Evaluation	Monitoring Jobs	Requireme	et Roka	Account Groups	Owners	Reports	Palicies	×C
	Mitigating Control ID					•	Add trans	01.01.2023					
	* Name	Monitor users with SAP_AI access				Valid Te:	31.12.9999						
	Description	Monitor use	Monitor users with SAP_AII and SAP_New access			Operation	* Trigger: Trequency:	Event	Cole				
					- Ta	Be Tested	Yes (No					
						* Test A	donation 1	a Roborated Manual Semi-Automated					
						Testing	Technique:						
Cor	trol or Process Step	Control .	O Process Step				input.						
	Control Category	If General G	Control										
	Significance	Key Control					Output						
	Level of Evidence												

Figure 5.70 Review Updated Control

The preceding stages of **Change Request**, **Approval**, **Implement**, and **Review** are followed only when both the checkboxes are marked for **Approval** and **Notify**. If only the **Notify** option is enabled, as shown in <u>Figure 5.71</u>, any authorized user can make changes to the master data without any approvals. In such a case, the designated user receives a master data change notification in his **Work Inbox** to review the change log.

Change View	"Activate Master Data Change	s Workflow": C	Vervie	w
🦻 New Entries 🛙	🗅 🖶 🕫 🎚 🧏 🖟 🛛 BC Set: Change Field	Values		
Activate Master Dat	a Changes Workflow			
Entity ID	Entity Type	Approval	Notify	
ACC_GROUP	Account Group			٠
COBJECTIVE	Control Objective			٠
CONTROL	Control	.0.	v	13
CRISK	Risk Template	0		
ECONTROL	Indirect Entity-Level Control			

Figure 5.71 Configuration to Notify Master Data Changes

5.7 Uploading Master Data Using the Master Data Upload Generator

The Master Data Upload Generator (MDUG) feature in SAP Process Control can be used to maintain key master data elements in mass via a Microsoft Excel template that can be downloaded from the system. A template can be uploaded with all the relevant data. To download the template, access program GRFN_MDUG through Transaction SA38 or Transaction SE38. The template download screen has the selection options illustrated in Figure 5.72 and described in Table 5.5.

Master Data Upload	l Generator	
¢		
Mode		
 Generate Template Upload Data 		
Options		
Maintain ID manually Include Regulation data Multiple languages		_
Select languages	to	đ
Export Data		
Export data		

Figure 5.72 Generate Template for MDUG

Option	Description
Mode	Select Generate Template to download a template. The Upload Data option can be used to upload the filled-in template.

Option	Description
Options	 Maintain ID manually: Enable the checkbox if you want to provide the IDs of the master data entities to be created in the system. Don't select the checkbox if you're okay to have the system-generated IDs.
	 Include Regulation data: Enable the checkbox if you want to do the regulation to subprocess/control assignments from the Excel template.
	 Multiple languages: If the language packages are made available in the system, select the specific language in which the master data should be uploaded and maintained.
Export Data	Select the checkbox if you want to download the template, including the existing data in the system. A blank template will be generated if this checkbox isn't selected.

 Table 5.5
 Program GRFN_MDUG Options

The following data can be maintained in the template:

- Regulation hierarchy
- Organization hierarchy
- Risk catalog
- Risk template
- Risk drivers

- Risk impacts
- Control objective including the risk mapping
- Account groups including the risk mapping
- Account balances
- Manual test plans
- Process
- Subprocess
- Control
- Subprocess for regulation, control objective, risks, and accounts mapping
- Control to regulation, requirement, risks, and accounts mapping
- Indirect entity-level controls
- Policy hierarchy

Once the details are filled in the template, upload the template using program GRFN_MDUG. When the **Upload Data** option is selected, it will prompt you to select the template to be uploaded and execute to initiate the master data upload, as shown in Figure 5.73.
Master Data Upload Generator
•
Mode
O Generate Template
 Upload Data
Options
✓ Maintain ID manually
✓ Include Regulation data
Find ID by name
Import in background
File Name [C:\Users\TNOW-033\Desktop\MDUG.xlsx

Figure 5.73Upload the MDUG File into the System to Update the MasterData

An XML file gets generated in the next step, which can be tested using a simulation run before uploading the data into the system. In addition, provide the validity periods in from and to dates with which the master data has to be created in the system, as shown in Figure 5.74.

Import Data	,
(þ	
File Selection	
✓ Use dataset	
File name	MDUG_20230912_114248.XML
Additional Function	
Simulation	
Extended log	
Validity	
Valid from	12.09.2023
Valid to	31.12.9999

Figure 5.74 Execution of the MDUG File in Simulation Mode

Click **Execute** in the simulation mode, and then review the logs to validate if the data has been created. If the log shows everything in green without any errors, it indicates the data maintained in Excel is good to be uploaded into the system, as shown in Figure 5.75.

On reviewing the logs and ensuring there are no errors in the file being uploaded, click **Back**, uncheck the **Simulation** checkbox, and click **Execute** to perform the actual run. This will create the master data in the system, which can be reviewed in the respective master data sections from Transaction NWBC.

Display logs					
역 🕜 🧐 Technical Information 🔳	I				
Date/Time/User	Nu External ID	Transac	Mode	Log number	
• 12.09.2023 11:42:48 KARTHIKA	4	SA38	Dialog proce	s 00000000000000208535	
• 12.09.2023 11:44:33 KARTHIKA	8	SA38	Dialog proce	s 00000000000000208536	
• 12.09.2023 11:45:10 KARTHIKA	8	5A38	Dialog proce	IS 00000000000000208537	
••					
★ ▲ ▼ () ⊗ ▼ , Σ ,	1. O . D	. 🗄 . 🛛 🖸	0 🖲 2 🛆	0 55	
Ty., Message Text					
Content importing/exporting starter	d at 2023-09-12 14:13	:26			
Simulation mode entered					
Importing is triggered from STAND/	Importing is triggered from STANDALONE				
Exit on error is off					
The direct risk model(SAS31) is use	The direct risk model(SAS31) is used				
Start date is 2023-09-12 and end date is 9999-12-31					
Object XPROCESS/50001390(Procu	re To Pay) has been o	reated or upda	ted		
Object XPROCESS/50001079(Order	To Cash) has been cro	eated or updat	ed		
Object XPROCESS/50001195(Record)	d to Report) has been	created or up	dated		
Object XPROCESS/50001391(Inforr	nation Technology) has	s been created	or updated		
Object XPROCESS/50001392(Huma	Object XPROCESS/50001392(Human Resource) has been created or updated				
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001065(M	Object XSUBPROCESS/50001065(Maintain Vendor Master Data) has been created or updated				
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001069(P	Object XSUBPROCESS/50001069(Perform Invoice Verification) has been created or updated				
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001072(P	Object XSUBPROCESS/50001072(Purchase A/c Assignment Category) has been created or updated				
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001074(T	ransactional Purchasing) has been cre	ated or upda	ted	
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001076(Ir 000000000000000000000000000000000000	iventory) has been cre	ated or update	d		

Figure 5.75Logs after Uploading the MDUG File in Simulation for Review

5.8 Summary

This chapter covered the significance of maintaining master data in SAP Process Control, encompassing various master data elements such as organization, business processes, regulations, risk hierarchy, control objectives, and account groups that can be effectively managed through the system. It has highlighted the relevance of each master data element and underscored their relationships.

Moreover, this chapter has provided insights into establishing roles at the local subprocess/control levels and delineated how users can be assigned to these roles. It also expounded on the process of replacing current owners with new users or removing them from their roles. Additionally, it clarified how central delegation can be facilitated in the absence of an owner to ensure the timely completion of tasks.

In the next chapter, we'll delve into control evaluation and the assessments that controls undergo, elucidating the workflows and stages involved in executing these assessments.

6 Control Evaluation

While the previous chapter details working with master data, regulation requirements, organization hierarchies, business process hierarchies, localization of controls, and so on, this chapter focuses on control evaluations, which is an essential component of accurate financial reporting. Organizations can identify vulnerabilities and strengthen their control environments by assessing the effectiveness of controls.

The internal controls defined in the organization undergo various types of evaluation, which are detailed in this chapter, such as design assessment, self-assessment, control performance, and effectiveness test. The chapter explores evaluation methodologies and illustrates real-world examples to help you uphold financial transparency and comply with regulatory requirements.

6.1 Introduction to Control Evaluation

In today's dynamic business world, organizations are faced with a web of regulatory requirements for reporting financial data that is both accurate and transparent. To meet these obligations, robust internal controls are essential. Organizations use these controls to safeguard themselves against potential risks and ensure that their financial statements are accurate. However, implementation of controls alone isn't sufficient; management must also evaluate their effectiveness in all aspects. It's possible for organizations to uncover vulnerabilities, address gaps, and strengthen their control environment by carefully assessing and scrutinizing various control measures. In this chapter, we examine the significance of control evaluations in promoting financial transparency and ensuring regulatory compliance.

Periodic evaluations of internal controls are essential for organizations to maintain the integrity of their control environment. These evaluations are performed by either internal controls or internal audit teams with the goal of verifying the effectiveness of control operations and evaluating the completeness of control design. To mitigate the risk of materializing threats that could adversely affect an organization's overall well-being, organizations have to identify and address any deficiencies. To ensure a control's effectiveness, it must undergo a number of important assessments, which are listed in <u>Table 6.1</u>.

Type of

Frequency

ncy Need?

Assessment

Type of Assessment	Frequency	Need?
Control design assessment	Biannually (or) annually	To evaluate the comprehensiveness and accuracy of the control, a design assessment should be conducted semiannually or annually. For example, when examining duplicate invoice configurations, the goal is to ensure that the control includes all active company codes within the organization as well as all vendor groups. As there will be many changes to the company codes and vendor groups, a design assessment will help to realign the control.
Control self- assessment	Monthly (or) quarterly	To obtain an operating effectiveness status for a control from the business owners, a self-assessment is conducted monthly or quarterly, depending on the criticality of the control. It enables the control owner to identify areas in a control that need to be improved that weren't identified earlier.

	A self-assessment process can also be used by large organizations with decentralized internal controls teams. Each zone/country can provide the central internal controls team with the operating effectiveness status of each control based on how it's performing in that zone/country. In SAP Process Control, self- assessment involves sending a questionnaire to the control testers as part of the survey functionality. Control testers are required to answer these questions before providing assessment results.

Type of Assessment	Frequency	Need?
Control operating effectiveness	Continual	A control's operating effectiveness is determined by whether the control is performing as intended and whether the person performing the control has the necessary authority and competence to do so. Effectiveness tests can be conducted in a variety of ways depending on where and how the data resides:
		 Manual (inspection of documents or verification of physical inventory)
		 Automated (validation of system data)
		 Semiautomated (a combination of manual and automated processes)

 Table 6.1
 Types of Control Assessments

These assessments will be discussed in more detail in the following sections, including their configuration and step-bystep instructions. These sections offer detailed guidance on how to perform and customize each assessment according to the organization's needs. You'll develop a comprehensive understanding of the assessment process by following detailed instructions and leveraging insights shared in this chapter.

6.2 Control Design Assessment

The control design assessment is performed through the survey functionality, which involves sending questionnaires to control owners. The purpose of these questionnaires is to gather specific information and insights about the design effectiveness of the controls. It's the responsibility of the control owners to answer these questions and provide their assessment results.

The survey functionality in SAP Process Control allows organizations to streamline the process of assessing control design. Through this approach, control evaluations can be structured and standardized, ensuring consistency across evaluations. As a result of the control owners' responses to the questionnaires, we can determine the design effectiveness of the controls and identify any potential gaps or areas for improvement.

Using the SAP Process Control survey functionality, organizations can efficiently collect and analyze control owners' assessments, enabling a comprehensive analysis of control design. It enhances the overall effectiveness of the control environment and supports informed decision-making regarding control design enhancements by facilitating collaboration and communication between control owners and the internal control team. The following sections detail the configurations and steps to carry out the design assessments:

• Defining the survey library, that is, defining survey questions and surveys

- Scheduling surveys using the planner for design assessment
- Setting up the workflow structure
- Performing assessment and using the issue remediation process

6.2.1 Define Survey Library

The survey library features predefined survey templates that can be used by organizations to gather information from stakeholders and conduct assessments. It's a centralized resource for creating surveys tailored to specific control evaluation needs. Using the survey library, you can collect data efficiently and consistently with preconfigured questions and responses.

Surveys can be customized according to organization requirements, ensuring relevancy and specificity. Following are the two items that can be configured, which we'll discuss in the following sections:

- Question library
- Survey library

Question Library

The question library contains the questions and answers. It allows us to define additional questions and the type of answers to be provided during the assessment. To view the existing questions and answers, as well as define new ones, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the **Assessments** work center.
- 4. Under the **Surveys** work group, select the **Question Library** work item, as shown in <u>Figure 6.1</u>.

My Home	Master Data	Rule Setup	Assessments	Access Management	Reports and Analytics
🗃 🖥	urveys efine questions, a	nswers and surv	eys used for assessmen	ıts	
	enne questions, a		033 0300 101 0350551101		

Figure 6.1 Category Options in the Create Question Screen

Note

You'll get access to the **Assessments** work center by having authorization to role SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_SRV_ADMIN. A custom z role can also be created and assigned. Refer to the standard role for the required authorizations.

- The Question Library screen shows the list of questions along with Category, Active, Answer Type, Created By, and Created On information, as shown in Figure 6.2.
- 6. To create a new question, click the Create button. In the Create Question screen, choose a Category, for which the question is being created, from the Category dropdown. For example, select Control Design from

the list if you're creating a question related to control design assessment. The list of categories with descriptions are listed in <u>Table 6.2</u>.

) UC	stion Library					_
					Crea	ne Delete Action
Ъ	Category	Question A	Active	Answer Type	Created By	Created On
	Control Design	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?	Yes	Choice	Kathka G	27.06.2023 15:22.05
	Risk Survey	How many events occurred in the past 3 years?	Yes	Choice	Kathka G	27.06.2023 15:25.4
	Control Design	If the Control designed is meeting the organization ICS requirement	Yes	YeshotiA	Kathka G	27.06.2023 15:29.1
	Subprocess Design	If the Organization structure designed meeting ICS requirement	Yes	Yes/No/NA	Kathka G	27.06 2023 15:30 0
	Control Design	is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	Yes	YeshotiA	Kathka G	27.06.2023 15:30.4
	Risk Survey	What is the major impact if the risk materializes?	Yes	Choice	Kathika G	27.06.2023 15:31:10
	Control Design	need access to critical toodes related to basis?	Yes	Yes/No/NA	Kathka G	27.06.2023 15:32.3

Figure 6.2Question Library Maintenance Screen

Category	Category Description
Self- assessment	These questions are part of the survey to obtain sign-off on the operating effectiveness of the control from the control owner.
Control Design	These questions are used to evaluate the completeness and accuracy of the design effectiveness of a control.
Indirect Entity-level Control	These questions are part of the survey to obtain sign-off on the effectiveness of the indirect entity-level controls from the organization owner.
Subprocess Design	These questions are used to evaluate the completeness and accuracy of the design effectiveness of a subprocess.

Category	Category Description
Sign-off	The organization or the corporate owner should respond to these questions before providing sign-off on the master data and assessment results.
Policy Approval	These questions are part of the survey that the policy approver should respond to before approving the policy and publishing it.
Policy Quiz	These questions are sent to the end users/employees of the organization to evaluate the policy awareness in the organization.
Policy Survey	These questions are used to obtain feedback from the end users in scope of the policy that helps in identifying the policy gaps and areas of improvement
Disclosure Survey	These questions expect responses from the owners, which increases their accountability toward the improvement of control performance.

Table 6.2Process Control Categories in the Create Question Screen

Note

The Risk Survey, Opportunity Survey, Activity Survey, Risk Indicator Survey, and Risk **Consolidation** survey categories are related to SAP Risk Management and hence not detailed in <u>Table 6.2</u>.

 After you've chosen the category, enter the Question (descriptive), set the Active field to Yes, and select the Answer Type and Question Comment options, as shown in <u>Figure 6.3</u>.

Question			×
Create Ques	stion		
* Category:	Control Design]	_
* Question:	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?		
Active:	Yes 👻]	
* Answer Type:	~]	
Question Comment:	Yes 🗸		
	Save	Can	cel

Figure 6.3 Create Question Screen for Control Design Assessment

8. Click **Save** to save the question.

Note

Questions with **Active** status as **Yes** are only visible for selection in the survey library.

Before moving on, let's take a little more time to walk through the **Answer Type** dropdown, which provides the following four options:

• Rating

Used when the control owner must provide a rating for a question on a scale of 1 to 5. Selecting **Rating** as the

Answer Type provides the following additional options to be maintained, as shown in <u>Figure 6.4</u>:

Question Comment

Makes the comments mandatory when set to **Yes**. The control owner must enter comments for the given rating.

• Rating Type

Provides the rating types such as **Rating (1 - 5)**.

• Requires Comment

Allows the administrator to enforce comments for specific ratings. For example, if the rating is **1** or **2**, the control owner is mandated to provide comments justifying the rating.

Question]	\square ×
Create Ques	stion	^
* Category:	Control Design ~	
* Question:	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?	
Active:	Yes 🗸	
 Answer Type: 	Rating ~	- 1
Question Comment:	Yes 🗸	- 1
Rating Type:	Rating (15) v	
Requires Comment:	🗹 Rating 1 🛛 Rating 2 🗌 Rating 3 🗌 Rating 4 🗌 Rating 5	~
	Save	Cancel

Figure 6.4 Options for the Rating Answer Type

• Yes/No/NA

Used when the control owner must respond to the question with the options as yes, no, or not applicable. Administrators can also make comments mandatory for specific responses. On selecting **Yes/No/NA** as the answer type, the following additional options can be set up:

- Question Comment: Makes the comments mandatory when set to Yes. Control owner must enter comments for a specific response, as shown in <u>Figure 6.5</u>.
- Requires Comments: Allows the administrator to select for which responses comments are required. For example, if the answer is No or N/A, you can mandate the control owner to provide comments justifying the response.

Create Ques	stion		
* Category:	Control Design	~	
* Question:	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?		
Active:	Yes	~	
Answer Type:	Yes/No/NA	~	

Figure 6.5 Options for Answer Type Yes, No, N/A

• Text

Used if the response expectation of the question is a detailed explanation from the control owner. The **Answer Type** of **Text** doesn't give an additional option.

Choice

Used if custom options are to be provided to the control owner to choose from the answer list. On selecting **Choice** as the answer type, the following additional details must be provided:

• Question Comment

Prompts the control owner to enter comments.

• Answer Options

The administrator creates the custom answer options, as shown in <u>Figure 6.6</u>.

• Requires Comment

If the checkbox is enabled, it makes the comment mandatory, and the control owner must enter comments if the option is selected as the answer for the question.

Administrators can maintain the **Answer Options** by using the various buttons in the **Create Question** screen, as follows:

• Add

Used to add a new value (response) to the list.

• Remove

Used to delete an existing value from the list. Select the row and click **Remove** to delete the option.

• Actions

Used to change the sequence of answer options **Up** and **Down**.

Question						□ ×
Create Q	ues	tion				^
* Categ	gory:	Control Design		¥		- 1
 Ques 	ition:	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are act valid?	curate and	5		
Ac	tive:	Yes		~		
Answer T	ype:	Choice		~		- 1
Question Comm	nent:	Yes		~		- 1
Answer Opti	ons					- 1
Add Remove	e A	ctions ,				
Selection	Valu	e	Score	Requ	ires Commen	t
a	Yes, a	all the company codes are covered and upto date	0			
b	No, n	ew company codes creating during the assessment pe	0		v	
с	There	are few company codes which are no longer valid sh	0		√	~
					Save	Cancel

Figure 6.6 Options for the Choice Answer Type

Survey Library

The survey library contains questionnaires that can be used to perform assessments and allows you to define new surveys grouping the relevant questions together created in the **Question Library** section. To view the existing surveys and to create new surveys, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the **Assessments** work center.
- Under the Surveys work group, click Survey Library work item (refer to <u>Figure 6.1</u>). This will load the Survey Library that displays all the existing surveys.

Note

The surveys in SAP Process Control are used for various functionalities. Administrators must choose the right category based on the type of assessment for which the survey is being created. Questions created under the selected category are only visible while creating the survey.

<u>Table 6.3</u> describes the surveys that can be created.

Survey Type	Description
Self- Assessment	Contains questions to obtain attestation on the operating effectiveness of controls from their respective owners
Control Design	Contains questions to evaluate the design effectiveness of the control from the control owners
Indirect Entity Level Control	Contains questions to evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of the indirect entity level control from the organization owners
Subprocess Design	Contains questions to evaluate the design effectiveness of the subprocess from subprocess owners
Sign-Off	Contains questions that the organization owner should respond to before providing sign-off confirmation to ensure the master data and open issues/remediation plans are reviewed

Survey Type	Description
Policy Approval	Contains questions that the policy approver should respond to before approving the policy to ensure all the clauses and scope of policy are reviewed
Policy Quiz	Contains questions that the employees of the organization should respond to, which helps management in evaluating the effectiveness of policy
Policy Survey	Contains questions to take input from the employees of the organization to understand policy gaps and to identify areas of improvement
Disclosure Survey	Contains questions to evaluate the accountability of the owners about performance at the control level, subprocess level, or organization level

Table 6.3SAP Process Control Survey Types

Note

This section exclusively covers control design and evaluation. Other categories will be covered in their respective Sections, ensuring a comprehensive exploration of each category. 5. To create a new survey, click the **Create** button, as shown in <u>Figure 6.7</u>.

Survey Library					
				Crea	te Delete Actions
Category	Title A	Description	Active	Created By	Created On
Control Design	Control Design Survey(TEST)	Control Design Survey (TEST)	Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 18:50:37
Control Design	Critical basis access	Critical basis access	Yes	Karthika G	27.06 2023 18 54 34
Control Design	Quarterely design assessment		Yes	Karthika G	27.06 2023 18.51 28
Subprocess Design	Subprocess Design(TEST)	Subprocess Design (TEST)	Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 18:52:40
Control Design	Survey for Control Design _01	Survey for Control Design _01	Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 16:31:27
Risk Survey	Survey to perform risk assessment	Survey to perform risk assessment	Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 18:53:30

Figure 6.7 Create Button in the Survey Library Maintenance Screen

6. On the **Create Survey** screen, select options such as **Category, Title, Description, Valuation**, and **Active** status. <u>Table 6.4</u> details each of these fields, which you can see in <u>Figure 6.8</u>.

Survey				
Create Surve	1			
Calegory: Control Der	âu .			
General Attachme	nts and Links			
Category:	Control Design	*		
* Title:	Control Design Survey			
Description:	Control Design Survey			
Valuation:	No Valuation	v.		
Active:	No Valuation	9		
Questions	Score based valuation			
		Add	Add As Child	Remov



Field	Description
Category	Select the category based on the purpose of the survey, for example, control design assessment. These categories are the same as the ones listed in Table 6.2.

Field	Description
Title	A short description of the survey. It's recommended to use a unique name to identify it while triggering the control for assessment using the planner functionality.
Description	A detailed description mentioning the purpose and the expectations of the survey.
Valuation	Provides two options in the selection:
	 No Valuation: This option is used if the expectation of the survey is only to get responses from the control owner and an overall assessment rating. No further valuation is carried out.
	 Score based valuation: This option is used to set scores against the answer options available for the control owner. Scores can be provided for all the answer types except Text. Refer to the previous section to understand the answer types available in a question. The overall rating and result of the assessment is arrived at based on the responses the control owner chooses.

Field	Description
Active	Indicates the status of the survey as Active or Inactive. Only the surveys with Active status as Yes will be available for selection in the planner while triggering assessments.

Table 6.4Fields in the Create Survey Screen

 Once the survey is created, click the Add button to add questions from the list. Select the question, and click
 OK. Figure 6.9 shows the existing questions available for selection in the survey.

Ava	ilable							
Find		Category:	Control Design	v	Created by:	Karthika G	~	Go
Ð	Question						Created by	
	Are all the compa	ny codes in scope of	the control are accurate a	nd valid?			Karthika G	
	If the Control designed is meeting the organization ICS requirement						Karthika G	
	Is the design of th	e control meeting the	standards of ICS of the o	rganization?			Karthika G	
	need access to cr	tical toodes related t	o basis?				Karthika G	

Figure 6.9 The Option to Add Questions to the Survey

8. Once the questions are added, they can be seen on the **Create Survey** screen, as shown in <u>Figure 6.10</u>.

gory: Control Des	ian .					
eneral Attachme	ents and Links					
* Category:	Control Design			•		
* Title:	Control Design					
Description:						
Valuation	No Valuation			•		
Active:	Yes 👻					
estions						
		Add	Add As Child	Remove	Open	Actions ,
Question					Answer 1	lype
Are all the comp	any codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?				Choice	
Is the design of t	he control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?				Yes/No/N	A

Figure 6.10 The Questions Selected to Be Part of the Survey

 The Add As Child button is used to add a nested question, referred to as a child question. You can select the child question from the dropdown shown in <u>Figure 6.11</u>.

Create Surve	у			1
Category: Control Des	ign			
General Attachme	nts and Links			
· Category:	Control Design		¥	
* Title:	Control Design			
Description:				
Valuation:	No Valuation		¥	
Active:	Yes 🛩			
Questions				
		Always Display		
P		Yes, all the company codes are covered and up	pto date	
0		No, new company codes creating during the as	ssessment period are not updated	n the scope
 Are all the co 	mpany codes in scope of t	There are few company codes which are no lor	nger valid should be removed from	the scope of the contro
is the desi	gn of the control meeting t	he standards of ICS of the organization?	YesNoNA	Always Displa
				Save Cancel

Figure 6.11 Assigning a Child Question to a Root Question

Note

Use the **Attachments and Links** tab to add any relevant document links for the respective survey.

- 10. Once the child question is added, the **Display Condition** option can be used with two options:
 - Always Display The child question will always be part of the survey, and the control owner should respond to this question mandatorily.
 - Specific Choice

This shows the choices from the parent question. If the user wants to have a child question based on the response of the control owner to the parent question, choose the respective answer from the dropdown. The child question pops up during assessment only if the response of the parent question meets the display condition.

11. <u>Table 6.5</u> describes the **Create Survey** screen's additional buttons/options.

Button/Option	Function
Remove	Deletes an existing question from the survey. Select the row, and click Remove to delete.
Open	Opens the question to review the details at any point.
Up/Down	Changes the sequence of the questions, that is, up or down.

Button/Option	Function
Create Question	If the required question isn't created in the question library, you can use this option to create a question directly while creating a survey via one of the following options:
	• Question is Local - Yes: If this option is selected, the question created as part of the survey won't be added to the question library in master data and will remain specific to this survey.
	• Question is Local - No: If this option is selected, the question created as part of the survey will be added to the question library in master data and will be available for selection in any other survey that will be created under this category.
Create Question as Child	Creates a child question directly if it's not available in the question library. Select the parent question from the list, and choose this option. The Question is Local with Yes and No options are available for the child question as well.

12. Click **Save** to save the survey.

Once the survey is created, the next step is to schedule it using the planner functionality.

6.2.2 Scheduling Controls Using the Planner

The administrator can schedule the controls that require design assessment for review using the planner functionality. To access the planner functionality, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the Assessments work center.
- 4. Under the **Assessment Planning** work group, click the **Planner** work item, as shown in <u>Figure 6.12</u>.





5. The **Planner** work item shows all the active plans related to process control and risk management. The existing plans can be viewed with the status and other information. <u>Figure 6.13</u> shows the current plans and the various options and buttons under the planner function.

	-							
Show Quick Criteria Maintenance								
Vesc: * [Standard Wew] w Open	Create Cancel Delete C	iqy Splt Noti	ation					
Schedule Name	Schedule Activity	Created On	Changed On	Organizations	Start Date	Due Date	Next Funtime	Subs
Design Assessment, 02 2023	Perform Control Design Assessment	27.06.2023 17:10:34	27.05.2023 17.10.34	1	27.05 2023	18-07-2023	00.003000.0030.00	Comple
Design Assessment_02	Perform Control Design Assessment	25 06 2123 16 44 12	25/05/2023 16:44:92		25.06.2023	3016-2023	00.003000.0030.00	Comple
Design Assessment_Q2	Perform Control Design Assessment	21 06 2120 22 15 29	21 06 2023 22 15 29		21.06.2023	30162023	00.00 3000 00 30 00	Comple
Design Assessment_Q2	Perform Control Design Assessment	15 06 2020 22 13 34	15.06.2023.22.13.34		15.06.2023	30162025	00 00 3000 00 30 00	Comple
Design Assessment_G2	Perform Control Design Assessment	15.06.2623.20.36.54	15 06 2023 20 36 54	1	15.05.2023	30 34 2923	00.00 3000 00 30 00	Comple
Risk Assessment	Perform Risk Assessment via Survey	01.06.2623 10.27.33	91.06.2023 10.27.33	4	01.05.2023	30 34 2923	00.00 3000 00 30 00	Comple
Risk Assessment	Perform Flisk Assessment via Survey	01.06.2523 10.24.36	91.05.2023 10.24.36	4	01.05.2023	30 94 2923	00.00 3000 00 30 00	Comple
Risk Assessment	Perform Risk Assessment	01 06 2123 10 30 44	01.05.2023 10:00:44	4	01052023	30 16 2025	00 00 3000 00 30 00	Comple
Test of Effectiveness	Test Control Effectiveness	30 05 2623 18 27 57	36 05 2023 18 27 57	1	38.05.2023	25 87 2025	00 00 3000 00 30 00	Cample
Test of Effectiveness	Test Control Effectiveness	29.05.2523 16.55.43	29 05 2023 16 56 83	1	25 05 2023	23 47 2923	00.00 3000 00 30 00	Comple
basis offical access planner	Perform Control Design Assessment	04.05.2023 12.11.39	94.05.2023 12 11 39	2	04.05.2023	10.05.2923	00.00 3000 00 30 00	Comple
Control Design Survey Planner (TEST) Perform Control Design Assessment	30 63 2623 21 44 51	30 03 2023 21 44 51	2	31.03.2023	30.04.2923	00.00 3000 00 30 00	Comple

Figure 6.13 Planner Functionality to Schedule New Jobs

6. To create a new plan, click on the **Create** button to trigger the navigational scheduler, which will guide and ensure that all the relevant settings are properly captured.

The plan scheduler comprises six key stages/steps, each of which is detailed in the following section.

Step 1: Enter Plan Details

Enter Plan Details is the first stage in the planner, as shown in <u>Figure 6.14</u>.

Planner	
Create Plan	
Enter Plan Det	2 3 4 5 6 -4 alls Select Regulation Select Organizations Select Object(s) Review Confirmation
* Plan Name:	Design Assessment_Q3 2023
 Plan Activity. 	Perform Control Design Assessment v
 Survey: 	Survey for Control Design_01 v
* Period	Quarter 3 v
* Year:	2023 *
Reference Timeframe:	○ Yes
 Start Date: 	28.07.2023
* Due Date:	10.08.2023
	Previous Next Cancel Finish Activate Pla

Figure 6.14Create Plan: Navigational Scheduler

The administrator can define the plan details in this screen such as **Plan Name**, **Plan Activity**, and so on. Each of the

fields in this step are detailed in <u>Table 6.6</u>.

Field	Description
Plan Name	This is a brief name of the scheduler for identification.
Plan Activity	The planned activity must be selected here. For example, to perform a control design assessment, choose the Perform Control Design Assessment option. The other options in this field can be used for various assessments and tests via SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management. Detailed information about these tests and assessments are provided in <u>Table 6.7</u> coming up next.
Survey	Choose a survey from the list. Refer to <u>Section 6.2.1</u> to understand the process of creating a survey.
Period	From the time frames available in the dropdown, select the period for which the assessment should be performed. For example, if design assessment is performed on a quarterly basis, select the respective quarter (Quarter 1 , Quarter 2 , Quarter 3 , or Quarter 4) for which the assessment is triggered.
Year	This represents the year for which the assessment is being triggered.

Field	Description
Reference Timeframe	Choose Yes if the results of the assessment relating to the reference timeframe should be sent to the user along with the new task. This option is used only while using the offline (Adobe Forms) workflow process.
Start Date	This indicates the date on which the assessment should trigger and the control owner should receive the notification to perform the assessment.
Due Date	This represents the date by which the assessment should be completed by the control owner. This date can be used as a base to send reminders to the control owner and to send escalations to the manager of the control owner.

Table 6.6Fields in the Enter Plan Details Stage of the Planner

A **Plan Activity** refers to the type of assessment that is being scheduled per the testing strategy defined in the organization. As part of the scheduling process, a comprehensive plan is developed that outlines the actions and controls that need to be taken to address risks and achieve objectives, as detailed in <u>Table 6.7</u>.

Plan Activity	Activity Purpose						
Perform Control	To evaluate the design effectiveness						
Design	of the controls using survey						
Assessment	questionnaire						

Plan Activity	Activity Purpose
Perform Self- Assessment	To obtain attestation from the control owners about the operating effectiveness of the controls
Perform Control Disclosure Survey	To gather the performance confirmation from the control owner using a survey questionnaire
Perform Control Risk Assessment	To evaluate the controls based on certain defined risk factors to identify the risk level of the control
Manual Control Performance	To send the performance plans defined for the controls that the process team performs on a scheduled basis
Test of Indirect Entity Level Control Effectiveness	To evaluate the operating effectiveness of the indirect entity level controls using the test procedures defined
Perform Indirect Entity Level Control Assessment	To evaluate the design effectiveness of the indirect entity level controls using a survey questionnaire
Perform Organization Disclosure Survey	To gather the performance confirmation from the organization owner using a survey questionnaire

Plan Activity	Activity Purpose
Perform Subprocess Design Assessment	To evaluate the design effectiveness of the subprocess using a survey questionnaire
Perform Policy Acknowledgement	To send alerts to the end users/employees of the organization to get their acknowledgement of policy awareness
Perform Policy Quiz	To evaluate the effectiveness of the policy using a survey questionnaire defined at the policy level
Perform Policy Survey	To seek feedback from the employees of the organization to identify the areas of improvement in the policy using a survey questionnaire defined at the policy level

Plan Activity	Activity Purpose
Perform Sign Off	To initiate the sign-off process for all organizations where the Sign-Off radio button is enabled in the General tab: A bottom-up approach is used in the sign-off process, where the final approval is received at the corporate level. The master data of an organization is locked against changes for the sign-off period, and any open issues are carried forward for the next sign-off period.
Perform Subprocess Disclosure Survey	To gather the performance confirmation from the subprocess owner using a survey questionnaire
Test Control Effectiveness	To evaluate the operating effectiveness of the controls: Schedules business rules for the automated controls and triggers manual test plans to the control testers for the manual controls

Table 6.7Process Control Plan Activities in the Planner Functionality

To proceed to the **Select Regulation** step, click on then **Next** button once you've completed the plan details stage definition.

Step 2: Select Regulation

As discussed in <u>Section 6.1</u>, there are multiple assessments/tests that the organization conducts on the internal controls to meet regulatory and compliance requirements. In the **Select Regulation** screen, select the **Regulation** type, for example, **Sarbanes Oxley**. Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.5.3</u>, to gain a better understanding of how the regulations in this dropdown are handled. Select the **Evaluation Results Sharing** option, which provides the following options:

• Do not share

Choose this option if the assessment is being performed only for the specific regulation that is selected, as shown in <u>Figure 6.15</u>.



Figure 6.15 Don't Share Regulations Option while Defining the Evaluation Results Sharing

Share with some regulations

Choose this option if the organization has multiple regulations to comply with and if the assessment being performed is the same for more than one regulation. For example, if the organization must comply with Sarbanes Oxley (SOX), International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and Food & Drug Administration (FDA) regulations, and the assessment being performed is applicable to both SOX and IFRS, select **SOX** from the dropdown and select **IFRS**, as shown in <u>Figure 6.16</u>.

lan	ner									
1+	1 Enter Plan Details	2 Select Regulation	Select Org	anizations	4 Select Obj	ocl(x)	5 Review	6 Confirm	ation	1
• Ev	* Regulation: aluation Results Sharing:	Sarbanes Oxley	 ✓ Share with s 	ome regulat	ions O Sha	are with all	regulations			Ì
Ava	ilable			Sel	ected					
Ð	Regulation		•	1	Regulation					
	Companies Act		**		IFRS					
	FDA									
	SOX		•							
			41							
			,	lotes						
hari	ng of evaluation results de	efines the potential §	or sharing Actua	I sharing de;	ends upon as:	signments i	in each cor	drol.		5
<										
					Previou	s Next	Cancel	Finish	Activate P	lan

Figure 6.16Share with Some Regulations Option while Defining theEvaluation Results Sharing

If your organization is subject to multiple regulations such as SOX, IFRS, and so on, and the assessment being conducted applies to more than one of them, choose this option to select multiple values. For example, if your organization needs to comply with regulations such as SOX, IFRS, and FDA, and the assessment being performed is relevant for both SOX and IFRS, select them from the available list, as shown in <u>Figure 6.16</u>.

• Share with all regulations Choose this option if the organization has multiple regulations to comply with and if the assessment being performed is the same for all the regulations applicable to the organization.

Click **Next** to navigate to the next step.

Step 3: Select Organizations
This is an important step where the organizations must be selected and where the controls are localized. Select the root or child organization from the organizations list, and click the **Add** or **Add with children** button. The selected organizations will be moved to the **Selected** panel on the right, as shown in Figure 6.17.

lanner									
Create Plan									
Plan Activity Perform Control Design /	Assessment Period	Quarter 3 2	123						
p 1 2		3		6 5		6	4		
Enter Plan Details Select Reg	ulation Select	Organization	 Select 0 	(bject(s) Review	Con	fernation			
rganizations					Sele	cted			
how ALL v	Vev: v D	gand All 0	Collapse All		0	Organizati	on	Valid from	Valid to
Find Find Next Description						Trow Basi	8	01.01.2022	31.12.9999
Crganization	Vali	thom V	ulid to						
 Flactic Douar 	28.0	7.2923 3	1.12.9999						
· Fairing Long									
 Test 	01.0	1.2923 3	1.12.9999						
Test Trow Basis	01.0	1.2923 3 1.2922 3	1.12.9999						
Test Trow Basis	01.0	12023 3	1.12.9999	Add >					
Test Trow Basis	01.0	12923 3	1.12.9999	Add > Add with children >					

Figure 6.17 Organizations Selected for Filtering the Controls for Assessment

Note

To create root or child organizations, refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.3.1</u>.

Click **Next** to continue.

Step 4: Select Object(s)

During this step, the administrator chooses which controls to be scheduled for design effectiveness. These controls can be selected in several ways by the user, including selecting individual controls manually by referring to their knowledge, industry standards, best practices, regulatory requirements, or expert or stakeholder consultation. Following are the options: Select All Controls

No further control selection is required when this option is selected (see Figure 6.18). All the controls that have been localized in the selected organizations from the previous step will automatically be triggered for assessment.

lanner	
Create Plan	
Plan Activity Perform Control Design Assessment Period Quarter 3 2023 Selected Organization 1	
1 2 3 4 5 6 4 Enter Plan Details Select Regulation Select Object(s) Review Confirmation	
Selection Procedure: Select All Controls Select by Control Attributes Select Specific Controls	
Previous Next Cancel Finish Activate Pla	n



• Select by Control Attributes

This procedure allows for filtering controls based on the attributes specified in the **General** tab of the control. Controls can be selected by considering one or more attributes, including **Control Category**, **Significance**, **Control Automation**, **Test Automation**, **Operational Frequency**, **Control Risk**, and **Level of Evidence**. For a visual reference and to explore the different options, see <u>Figure 6.19</u>.

There are also two additional options:

- Without Evaluation Result: Choose Yes if you want to select only those controls that aren't tested for the period selected in step 1 Enter Plan Details.
- **Changed After**: This option is used to select only those controls that are changed after a specific date.
- Select Specific Controls Use this option if specific controls are to be selected from

the available list. Choosing this option will show all the available controls, and administrators can select the ones that need to be selected for the design evaluation, as shown in Figure 6.20. Multiple line items can be selected by holding down the Ctrl key.

Click Next to proceed to review the plan.



Figure 6.19 Select by Control Attributes Option while Scheduling the Planner

lan	ner]
С	reate Plan						
Pla	n Activity Perform Control	Design Assessment Pe	riod Quarter 3	2023 Selected Org	panization 1		
•	1 Enter Plan Details Se Selection Procedure: Se	ect All Controls	3 lect Organizatio	ons Select Obje	sct(s) Review Core	6	
Sele	ct Controls						
						F	1
Ð	Control	Subprocess	Organization	Control Category	Control ID	Evaluations	٦.
	Global Accounting Manual	Financial Reporting	Tnow Basis	Direct ELC	CONTROL/R/50001190	0	
				Pre	rious Next Cancel	Finish Activat	te Plar

Figure 6.20 Select Specific Controls Option while Scheduling the Planner

Step 5: Review

In this step, the administrator can review the plan details, view objects, and so on, and then activate the plan, as shown in <u>Figure 6.21</u>.



Figure 6.21 Plan Details Selected for Scheduling the Planner

Note

If you see a message that says **Some objects don't have recipients. Click on Objects without Recipients for more information**, click the **Objects without Recipients** button, which shows the list of objects (see <u>Figure 6.22</u>). Make the necessary adjustments in the objects. To know the steps to add recipients to objects, refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.4.1</u>.

bjects without Recipients			\Box	
bjects without Recipie	ents			
Objects	Organization	Valid from Date	Valid to Date	
Global Accounting Manual	Tnow Basis	28.07.2023	31.12.9999	

Figure 6.22Review Screen to Check the Objects with No RecipientsAssigned

The **View Objects** button shows the details of controls selected and the recipients of the workflow based on the custom agent determination rules defined (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>, to understand the custom agent determination rule maintenance). <u>Figure 6.23</u> shows the objects and recipients information.

cipients			= ×
ecipients			^
Organization	Recipients	Valid From	Valid To
Tnow Basis	Karthika G,Sandeep (Falback Recipient)	28.07.2023	31.12.96
			_
cts based upon each object's	validity date and status. However, if	a user changes an obje	ct, the objects
	ccipients Crpanization Tnow Basis cts based upon each objects	ecipients Corpanization Corpanization Thow Basis Thow Basis Thow Basis Corpanization Corporation Corp	ecipients Crpanization Crpaniz

Figure 6.23Review Screen to Check the Recipients of the Workflow for EachObject Control

Note

In the **Recipients** column, it either shows the control owner who is assigned to the control, or it shows the fallback user (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.4</u>, to understand the fallback user maintenance process) names, if no control owner is assigned to the control.

Click the **Activate Plan** button to activate the plan and move on to the final step.

Step 6: Confirmation

A confirmation message appears indicating the job is saved and the controls are scheduled successfully for design assessment. Click **Finish** to close the window shown in <u>Figure 6.24</u>.

Planner						
Create Plan						
Enter Plan Details	2 Select Regulation	3 Select Organizations	4 Select Object(s)	5 Review	Confirmation	4
O Design Assessment_	23 2023 saved					
You have created a Perform	Control Design Assess	nent				
What do you want to do ne	st?					
Create New Plan						
			Prev	ious Next	Cancel Finish	Activate Plan

Figure 6.24 Confirmation Message for the Scheduled Job Using the Planner

The control design evaluation process is initiated at this stage. The subsequent section outlines the various stages involved in the assessment process, highlighting the steps and activities that occur during each stage.

6.2.3 Workflow Structure

After scheduling the design evaluation process using the planner, it proceeds through multiple stages of assessment as outlined in the workflow structure flow diagram, as shown in <u>Figure 6.25</u>. It aids in determining and assigning roles and responsibilities for each stage of the design assessment. Additionally, these workflow stages guide the progression of the design evaluation process, facilitating a systematic and organized approach.



Figure 6.25 Stages in the Design Assessment Workflow with Owners' Information





The workflow of the assessment is detailed in Figure 6.26. It explains how the assessment flows from the initiation till closing, stage owners involved, and the activities performed by the respective owners.

Each of the stages is detailed in <u>Table 6.8</u>.

Workflow	Description
Stage	

Workflow Stage	Description
Schedule planner	The GRC admin schedules the controls due for design assessment using the planner functionality (this section details the steps of using the planner). Based on the workflow rules defined in custom agent determination for control design assessment (<u>Chapter 4</u> , <u>Section 4.2.3</u> , details the steps to define the agent determination rules for design assessment), the following stages will be triggered to the users assigned to the respective roles for the local control (refer to <u>Chapter 5</u> , <u>Section 5.4.1</u> , to understand the steps to review the users assigned at a local control).
Perform assessment	Control owner receives the workflow item in the SAP Process Control Work Inbox to respond to the survey and rate the design effectiveness of the control as either Adequate or Deficient/Significantly Deficient. For a failed assessment, the control owner must report an issue that will be triggered to the issue owner for the remediation process.
Review assessment	The test reviewer (who is usually the process owner or a person from internal controls or an internal audit team)

Workflow Stage

Description

receives the workflow to review the assessment submitted by the control owner. The reviewer can either approve or reject the assessment result after looking at the responses provided to the questionnaire, attachments uploaded, and the issue details for a failed control. Note that this step is optional and can be enabled from the Transaction SPRO configuration. To enable, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction SPRO ADMIN, click the SAP Reference IMG button, and expand Governance, Risk and Compliance • **Process Control** • Evaluation Setup • **Specify Whether Review is** Necessary.

Select the **Activate** checkbox for the **Validation1** (validation of control design assessment) indicator. This will enable the review stage for control design assessment.

Transaction SPRO changes involve workbench modifications, and it's necessary to implement them in the development system first. Once the changes are thoroughly tested, they can be transported to subsequent systems,

	such as testing or production environments.
lssue remediation	Note that this stage is applicable only in a control failed scenario in assessment. In this stage, the issue owner looks at the assessment result and has two options to perform:
	 Assign Remediation Plan This option is selected if the issue needs a detailed investigation and an action plan to remediate it. The issue owner identifies the remediation owner, who is usually the control owner that is responsible for its maintenance, to implement the remediation plan.
	• Close Issue without Plan This option is used if the issue owner can resolve it without the need of a remediation plan by providing the evidence and comments justifying the reason to close the issue without plan.

Workflow Stage	Description
Implementation of remediation plan	Note that this is only applicable if the Assign Remediation Plan option is applicable. The remediation owner looks at the instructions provided by the issue owner, implements the same, and provides evidence to support a successful implementation of the remediation plan.
Close issue	Note that this is only applicable if the issue owner and remediation owner are different users. The issue owner looks at the remediation performed by the remediation owner and either closes the issue or reopens the remediation plan for further actions to be performed.

Table 6.8Stages in Control Design Assessment

6.2.4 Assessment and Issue Remediation Process

While evaluating the design effectiveness of a control, the control owner checks for the completeness and accuracy of the control coverage. On completion of the assessment, the control owner provides the overall rating of the control as one of the following:

- Adequate
- Deficient/significantly deficient

We'll discuss these two possible ratings in the following sections.

Assessment Result: Adequate

If the design coverage of the control is complete and accurate, the control owner rates the control as adequate after responding to the assessment survey. The stages involved in this case are shown in <u>Figure 6.27</u>.





If the assessment result is **Adequate**, the GRC admin, control owner, and internal audit team or the internal controls team are involved. The responsibility of each of these owners is detailed in <u>Table 6.9</u>.

Stage Owner	Role
GRC administrator	The GRC administrator is responsible for scheduling the planner and trigger controls for design assessment per the testing schedule defined in the control testing strategy of the organization.

Stage Owner	Role
Control owner	The control owner responds to the assessment survey and rates the control. For failed controls, the control owner must report an issue.
Internal controls/internal audit team	The internal controls team is responsible for reviewing the assessment done by the control owner and can either approve or reject the results.

Table 6.9Owners for Each Stage in Scenario #1

Note

<u>Section 6.2.2</u> details the steps to schedule the control assessment using the planner, which is our first step.

Perform Assessment

Once the GRC administrator triggers assessment for a control, the control owner receives the workflow notification, which can be accessed from the Work Inbox. To view the pending actions, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the My Home work center.
- 4. Under the **Work Inbox** work group, click the **Work Inbox** work item, as highlighted in <u>Figure 6.28</u>.





5. Click on the **Process Control** work items link in the header section to find the work items pending for action, as shown in <u>Figure 6.29</u>.



Figure 6.29 Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending for Action

- 6. Click the **Subject** to open the work item.
- 7. Once the assessment is opened, the control owner can review the assessment period, and other information such as organization, process, and subprocess in the header column, and the other relevant information, such as questions and so on, in their respective tabs.

Note

The other tabs in the control design assessment provide various pieces of information related to the control and

can be reviewed by the control owner before evaluating and responding to the assessment questions.

The control owner should perform the following tasks:

1. To provide responses, in the design assessment, under the **Evaluation** tab, all the requests that are added by the administrator for the respective controls are displayed. The control owner should respond to the questions survey, as shown in <u>Figure 6.30</u>.





 Additionally, the control owner should also provide the assessment result in the Rating field using the dropdown option: Not Defined, Adequate, Deficient, or Significantly Deficient. If the design of the control is effective, the control owner will mark the assessment rating as Adequate.

Ratings can be configured per the business requirements from Transaction SPRO settings. To set this up, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click the **SAP Reference IMG** button, expand **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Process Control • Evaluation Setup • Specify Names for Ratings**. You may either review the standard ratings available or make changes as required, as shown in <u>Figure 6.31</u>.

Attribute	DESIGN_RATING	
Text	Control Design Rating	
Control Des	ign Rating	٢
Value	Text	
🗆 G	Adequate	0
R	Significantly Deficient	
Y	Deficient	

Figure 6.31Navigation to the Specify Names for Ratings ConfigurationStep

Note

Any changes made to the control design rating configuration must be captured in a transport request and transported to the subsequent systems.

- Any supporting evidence justifying the rating provided for the control design assessment can be added in Attachments and Links. Following are the options available, as shown in <u>Figure 6.32</u>:
 - Add File: This is used to add files of any format, such as Microsoft Excel, Word, PowerPoint, and so on.
 - Add Link: If the evidence is stored in a shared folder, links to the folder can be embedded here in this tab.



Figure 6.32 Options Available for the Control Owner to Upload Evidences

Review Assessment

Once the control owner performs the assessment on the control, the internal controls team or the internal audit team can do the review if defined in custom agent determination rules (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>). A workflow to review the assessment will be assigned to the respective team.

The review item can be accessed from the **Work Inbox** as discussed in the previous section, which will display the **Subject, Organization, Regulation, Status, Object Name**, and **Created By** fields, as shown in <u>Figure 6.33</u>.

Access the work item by clicking the **Subject** column, and the reviewer can see all the fields similar to the control owner along with the responses and rating information provided by him. Further, any evidence uploaded in the **Attachments and Links** section can also be reviewed by the team. Once all the details are reviewed, there are two options available for the user, as shown in Figure 6.34:

Activ	ve Queries									
Wor	Nitema All (54) Access Management	(9) Process Co	ntrol (83) Pink Ma	nagement	100					
Wor	kitems - Process Control									
							Change Que	ry Define New (Duery Pers	onato
Viev	< "(Standard View) v							Print Version	Export,	2
Ð	Subject 7	Organization	Regulation	Status	Due Date	Created On 👎	Object Name		Created D	¥.
	Review Control Design Assessment	Test	Salbanes Oxley	Ready	14.07.2023	12.09.2023 19.47.58	Monitor users with 3	AP_AI access	Kathika G	2

Figure 6.33 Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending for Action

• Approve

If all the details provided are correct, the reviewer can click on **Approve**, and the workflow ends here for the **Adequate** scenario.

• Reject

If the details provided are incomplete, the reviewer can click on **Reject**, and the workflow is triggered to the control owner, and the steps mentioned in the previous section must be reperformed or corrected.

ussessment Period: Yo	ear 2023	Status: Rev	iew Organiz	ation: Test	Process: IT	General Cor	ntrols Su	Subprocess: Access Manageme		
									You C	an A
Evaluation Issues	Regulation	Control Details	Monitoring Jobs	Requirement	Account Group	a Risks	Attachments an	d Links		
uestions										
									Repo	rt Isa
Question					1	knewer		Comments		
Is the design of the co	ontrol meeting th	e standards of IC:	S of the organizatio	n?	N	io i				
ieneral Data										
* Rating:	Significantly D	eficient								
Comments										
Documents:	0 Attachments									
Performed by:	SAIKRISHNAT	SAIKRISHNA1			P	erformed Date	12:09:2023			
leviewer Comment										
Reviewed by:	SANDEEPL SI	indeep				Review Date	05.09.2023			
Devinuer Comment	-									
Manufacture Constructs	PARA PT									

Figure 6.34Evaluations Tab from the Control Design Assessment ReviewWork Item

Once the assessment results are approved, the workflow ends, and the results can be reviewed using the standard reports. See <u>Section 6.6</u> to know more about the reports available for the control evaluation.

Assessment Result: Deficient/Significantly Deficient

This scenario explains how the control owner rates the control as **Deficient/Significantly Deficient** when the design coverage of the control is incomplete or inaccurate, after responding to the assessment survey. The stages involved in this case are detailed in <u>Figure 6.35</u>.



Figure 6.35 Assessment Result = Deficient/Significantly Deficient

In this scenario, the owners listed in <u>Table 6.10</u> (along with their responsibilities) are involved.

Stage Owner	Role
GRC administrator	The administrator is responsible for scheduling the planner and triggering controls for design assessment per the testing schedule defined in the control testing strategy of the organization.
Control owner	The control owner responds to the assessment survey and rates the control. For failed controls, the control owner must report an issue.

Stage Owner	Role
Internal controls/internal audit team	The internal controls team is responsible for reviewing the assessment done by the control owner and the issue reported and then can either approve or reject the results.
lssue owner	The issue owner is responsible for defining a remediation plan to correct the issue identified in the current assessment and ensuring the same issues doesn't occur in future.
Remediation owner	The remediation owner is responsible for implementing the instructions received from the issue owner to correct the observations noted as part of the assessment.
lssue owner	The issue owner is also responsible for reviewing the remediation plan implemented by the remediation owner and can either close or reopen the issue.

Table 6.10Owners for Each Stage in This Scenario

Note

<u>Section 6.2.2</u> details the steps to schedule the control assessment using the planner, which is our first step.

In the following sections, we'll look at each of the stages in this scenario.

Perform Assessment

Once the assessment is triggered, the control owner receives the workflow notification, which can be accessed from the Work Inbox. To view and take an action on the assessment, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, and navigate to the **My Home** work center. Under the **Work Inbox**, click the **Work Inbox** link. To view the SAP Process Control-related work items, click the **Process Control** link in the header section (refer to <u>Figure 6.29</u>).

Click the **Subject** to access the work item. Once the assessment is accessed, the control owner can observe the assessment questions, assessment period, and other relevant details within the corresponding tabs. These tabs offer various pieces of information associated with the control and can be examined by the control owner prior to assessing and providing responses to the assessment questions. The control owner should perform the following actions:

 Within the design assessment, on the Evaluation tab, all the requests that the administrator has included for the respective controls are displayed (see Figure 6.36). The control owner is required to address the survey questions. Furthermore, it's possible to append comments by using the Add Comment link.

Con	trol Desi	gn Assessm	ent: Monitor	r Dupli	cate	Invoice C	heck	Config				
Assess	ment Period.	Second Half of Year 21	123	Status: 0	at	Organization:	Test	Process:	Procure to Pay	Subproce	II. Invoice Pro	cessing
												You Can Als
Eval	union Regu	lation Control Detail	Monitoring Jobs	Requirer	nent	Account Groups	Risks	Attachment	and Links			
	tions											
	outra .											Report Issue
No	Question								Answer		Comments	
1	Are all the co	impany codes in scope	of the control are as	courate and	ver?			F	io, new company (codes cre	Add Comment	
11	Is the design	of the control meeting	the standards of ICS	s of the orga	rizato	e?			40	*	Add Comment	
Senera	Data							_				
	* Rating	Not Defined	- _>									
	Comments	Not Defined										
		Adequate										
		Deficient										
		Significantly Defice	int									
	Documents	0 Attachments										
	Performed by									Performed 0	włec	
dmini	station											
	Modified By:									Modified	On:	

Figure 6.36 Response Screen for the Design Assessment Survey

- 2. It's also important for the control owner to furnish the assessment result in the **Rating** field by selecting the appropriate option from the dropdown menu. Figure 6.36 shows the various options that the control owner can select under the **Rating** option. In instances where the control design proves to be inadequate, the control owner will indicate the assessment as **Deficient** or **Significantly Deficient**.
- 3. It's further recommended to upload supporting evidence justifying the rating provided for the control design assessment. These attachments can be added in the **Attachments and Links** tab. The control owner can use the following options:
 - Add File: This is used to upload files of any format, such as Microsoft Excel, Word, PowerPoint, and so on.
 - Add Link: Document links can be added. For example, SharePoint or cloud drive links can be added directly instead of downloading and uploading them.
- 4. Further, for a control with ineffective design, the control owner must report it as an issue before submitting the

results by clicking the **Report Issue** button in the **Evaluation**, as shown in <u>Figure 6.36</u>.

5. The Report Issue screen will be displayed, as shown in Figure 6.37, requiring the control owner to furnish specific information, including the Issue Name, which constitutes a concise description of the problem; Priority, signifying the level of urgency based on associated risks; and the Owner, designating the individual accountable for investigating and resolving the issue, along with the list of compensating controls and the potential impact.

Report Issue		
* Issue Name:	New company codes are not in scope of the	
* Priority:	High 🗸	
* Owner:	KARTHIKA	
Description:	New Company codes added in scope of the organization are not considered in the control	
^E Compensating Controls:	NA	
Potential Impact:	Risk of duplicate invoices being processed or the new company codes	
	[OK Cancel

Figure 6.37 Report Issue Screen

Note

The name of the issue owner is automatically populated by the system based on the custom agent determination rules defined for the default control design assessment. (Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>, to understand the process of defining custom agent determination rules for control design assessment.)

6. Upon clicking the OK button, the navigation will return to the previous screen. The control owner can then review all additional information pertaining to the created issue within the Issues tab. To complete the process, the control owner can click the Submit button. For a comprehensive overview of the options available under the Issues tab, see <u>Figure 6.38</u>.

Control Design Asses	sment: Monito	or Dupli	cate Invo	ice Check	Config				
Assessment Period: Second Half of	Year 2023	Status: Deat	t Organizati	on: Test	Process: Procu	e to Pay 5	ubprocess: Invoice i	Processing	
								You Can	A340
Evaluation have Regulation	Control Details Mon	turing Jobs	Requirement	Account Group	a Roka Ata	chments and Links			
Incurs									
				Assign R	emediation Plan	Close Without Pla	n Reassign the is	TUR Void	¥
Name		Priority	Type	Status	Reported	Reported Date	Owner	Audt Trail	
New company codes are not in t	scope of the control	High	Control Der	s., Draft	Karthika G	05.09.2023	Karthika G	Audit Trail	
New company codes are not in sco	pe of the control								
* Owner:	KARTHKA		6	a)	Carryfor	vard. No Camfor	ward		
Description.	New Company codes ad organization are not con	ided in scope sidered in the	of the control		Putertial in	pact. Rosk of dupt new compa	icate invoices being (ny codes	processed or 1	•
							Sube	save Dr	at (

Figure 6.38 Issues Tab and Options

Review Assessment

After the control owner submits the control design assessment, the internal controls team or the internal audit team will take on the responsibility of reviewing it further. The workflow for reviewing the assessment will be assigned to the relevant team based on the customized agent determination rules as described in <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>. The internal control or audit team can access the work item through the **Work Inbox** under Transaction NWBC. The assigned reviewer will have access to all the information, similar to that available to the control owner. This includes the responses, rating information provided, attachments, and the details of any reported issues.

The reviewer has the option to either **Approve** or **Reject** the work item, as shown in Figure 6.39. In cases where all the provided details are accurate, the reviewer can select the **Approve** button, which will trigger the issue remediation workflow and pass it to the designated issue owner for resolution.

If the information provided is either incomplete or inaccurate, the reviewer can opt to reject the work item by clicking **Reject** button. In such instances, the workflow is routed back to the control owner, and the steps outlined in the previous section need to be reperformed and rectified before resubmission.

	ment Period. 1	Second Half of Year 202	status: 1	Neview Org	anization: Test	Proc	HIE: Procure to Pay S	ubproce	ISE: Invoice Proc	pessing
										You Can Ab
- 11	ution Issues	Regulation Contro	Oetalls Monitoring Jobs	Requirement	Account Groups	Roks	Attachments and Links			
	tions									
										Report Issue
	Question						Arower		Comments	
	Ave all the co	impany codes in scope st	the control are accurate an	Evale?			No, new company codes creating	ng 1	NO	
1	Is the design	of the control meeting th	e standards of ICS of the or	panization?			No			
	d Deta									
	* Rating:	Significantly Deficient								
	Comments:	NO								
	Documents:	0 Attachments								
	Performed by:	KARTHIKA Karthika G					Performed Date: 05.09.2023			

Figure 6.39 Approve and Reject Buttons in Review Assessment

Issue Remediation

Following the submission and review of an assessment for a failed control, the issue owner will receive a workflow containing the information regarding the observation or issue reported by the control owner. These workflow items can be accessed through the **Work Inbox**. The issue owner will have various options, as highlighted in Figure 6.40 and as follows:

- Assign Remediation Plan This option is selected if the issue needs a detailed investigation and a fix to remediate it.
- Close Without Plan

This option is used if the issue owner can resolve it without the need of a remediation plan by providing the evidence and comments justifying the reason to close the issue without plan.

• Reassign the issue

This option is used if the issue owner can transfer the responsibility to fix the issue to another user.

essment Period. Secand Half of	Year 2023	Status: Validati	ed Organiza	don: Test	Process: Proc	sure to Pay S	ubprocess: invo	ice Processing
Evaluation Issues Regulation	Control Details N	fonitoring Jobs	Requirement	Account Gro	ups Risks A	tachments and Links		
sues				_				
				As	sign Remediation	Plan Close Witho	ut Plan Reas	ign the issue 🛛 🖗
Name		Priority	Type	Status	Reporte	Reported Date	Owner	Audit Trail
New company codes are not in	scope of the control	High	Control De.	Validated	Kathika G	05.09.2023	Kathika G	Audit Trail
rw company codes are not in sco	pe of the control							
* Owner:	KARTHKA				Carryfore	ed. No Carryforws	ed	
Description	New Company codes organization are not	added in occipe considered in The	of the control		Potential Imp	ett. Risk of duplics new company	de invoices bein codes	p processed or the
Compensating Controls:	NA							

Figure 6.40 Issue Remediation Options

In the case of a failed assessment, a remediation plan can be triggered by the issue owner by clicking the **Assign Remediation Plan** button. This will prompt the owner to input specific details, as shown in <u>Figure 6.41</u>, including the following:

• Plan Name

This field allows the issue owner to provide a concise description of the remediation plan to be implemented.

• Start Date

The start date indicates when the notification should be sent to the remediation owner.

• Due Date

The due date specifies the deadline by which the remediation plan needs to be executed.

• Description

This can be used to provide a comprehensive set of instructions to the remediation owner regarding the required evidence collection and actions to be taken to resolve the issue.

After the remediation plan details have been updated, the issue owner can review all the provided information. Once satisfied with the accuracy and completeness of the plan, the issue owner can proceed to click the **Submit** button, thereby finalizing the remediation process.

* Plan Name:	Duplicate Inv Checks		
* Start Date:	05.09.2023	1	
Due Date:	26.09.2023	1	
* Owner:	KARTHIKA	Ó	
Description:	Check for invoices created against the company code and confirm about any duplicate invoices		

Figure 6.41 Assign Remediation Plan Screen Options

Implementation of the Remediation Plan

Once the issue owner submits the remediation plan for a failed control, the remediation owner receives a workflow with the details of instructions to fix the issue identified in the design of the control. To view the actions pending, access the **Work Inbox** from the **My Home** work center.

The remediation owner can access the work item by selecting the **Work Item** link. Upon accessing the work item, the remediation owner can validate the details of the assessment that was conducted, the reported issue, and the prescribed remediation plan. The remediation owner is presented with the following options for action on the work item (see Figure 6.42):

ontrol Design Ass	essment: Monito	r Duplicate Invo	ice Check Conf	fig		
sessment Period. Second Half	of Year 2023	Status: Valdand	Organization: Test	Process: Precare to Pay	Subprocess: Involut Pr	ocessing
Evaluation boxes Reputati	on Remediation Plan C	onbroi Defails Monitoring J	de Regirement Acc	ount Groups Risks Atlach	ments and Links	
emediation Plan						
					Reassign the Pla	in Start the Plan
Name	Izoue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Oue Date	Plan Owner	Audit Trail
Duplicate Inv Checks	New Company Codes are	Karthika G	05.09.2023	28.09.2023	Sandrep Latkam	Audit Trail
anticula ins Charles						
share and charles						
Oune	Sandrep Latkam			* Start Date: 9	1.09.2023	
Owner Processor	Sandrep Latkam			* Start Date: 0 * Due Date: 2	1.09.2023	
Outer Processo Descriptor	Candeep Latkam	d against the company		* Start Date: 9 * Due Date: 2 Camplorward Status: N	1.09.2023 1.09.2023 9 Cam/forward	
Outer Processo Descriptor	Sandrep Latkam Sandrep Latkam Sandrep Latkam Check for involces create code and confirm about in	d against the company my displicate invesces		* Start Date: 0 * Due Date: 2 Camptoward Status: N Reviewed By:	1.09.2023 1.09.2023 9 Campforward	
Owner Processo Description	Sandeep Latitam Sandeep Latitam Check for involver origin Code and confirm about a	d against the company ny duplicate invisces		* Start Date: 9 * Over Date: 2 Camptonward Status: N Reviewed By: Reviewed Ox.	1.09.2023 1.09.2023 Is Campforward	
Owner Precesso Description	Candeep Lakkam Bandeep Lakkam Check for Invoices create Code and confirm about a Code and confirm about a	d against the company my dupticate invoices eff losse		* Shart Dutie: 9 * Due Dutie: 2 Camptonward Status: N Raviewed By: Reviewed Ox. Created By: K	09.2023 0.09.2023 9 Cam/forward arthite G	

Figure 6.42 Remediation Plan Options

• Reassign the Plan

The remediation owner can choose to delegate the responsibility of plan the implementation to another user.

• Start the Plan

If the remediation owner has opted to initiate the plan implementation and intends to upload evidence of the corrective actions taken, this option can be selected.

Upon selecting **Start the Plan**, the remediation owner is presented with several options, as shown in <u>Figure 6.43</u> and as follows:

Assign Next Processor

The remediation owner has the capability to reassign the responsibility for implementing the remediation plan to another user.

• Complete

This option is chosen when the remediation plan has been fully implemented and its completion is marked as **100%**. This action precedes the submission of the workflow for review by the issue owner.

Change Due Date

In instances where the remediation owner requires an extension of the due date to finalize the implementation of the remediation plan, a request can be initiated to the issue owner. This request includes a new due date. In such a scenario, a separate workflow will be triggered to the issue owner. The issue owner will then have the option to either accept or reject the change in due date request.

sessment Period. Second Half of	f Year 2523	Status: Validated	Organization: Test	Process: Procare to Par	ty Subproce	tt: Invoice f	hocessing
Evaluation Issues Regulation	n Remediation Plan Co	ritrol Details Monitoring Jo	ds Requirement Acc	ount Groups Risks At	tachments and Links		
emediation Plan				_			
				A	ssign Next Processor	Complete	Change Due Da
Nate	tooue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Plan Owne	r -	Audt Trail
Duplicate Inv Checks	New Company Codes are	Kathika G	05.09.3023	26-09-2023	Sandeep-L	akkam	Audit Trail
Applicate Inv Checks	Randres Lakkam			* Start Date:	05 09 2023		
Processor	Sandeep Lakkam			* Due Date	26.09.2023		
Description	Check for invoices create code and confirm about a	against the company y displicate invoces		Carrylorward Status: Reviewed By:	No Cam/forward		
				Reviewed Co.			

Figure 6.43 Remediation Plan Implementation Options

After successfully carrying out the implementation of the remediation plan within the organization, the remediation owner must mark the completion percentage. Additionally, any relevant evidence can be uploaded in the **Attachments and Links** tab. Once the remediation reaches a full completion status of 100%, click **Complete** and then click the **Submit** button, as shown in Figure 6.44.

mediation Plan						-	
				A	usign Next Processor Complete	Change Due Date	
Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Oue Date	Plan Owner	Audit Trail	
Duplicate Inv Checks	New Company Codes are	Karthika G	05.09.2023	26.09.2023	Sandeep Lakkam	Audit Trail	
plicate lav Checks							
glicate law Checks	Sandeep Lakkam			* Start Date:	05.00.2023		
plicate Inv Checks Owner: Processor	Sandeep Lalikam Sandeep Lalikam			* Start Date: * Due Date:	05.09.2023 24.09.2023		
glicate lav Checks Owner Processor Description	Sandeep Lakkam Sandeep Lakkam Dadd, fur kessees oreale onde and combine stores?	d againd the sumpary		• Start Date: • Dwe Date: Camploward Status:	05.00.2023 26.00.2023 No Canyforward		
gécate lev Checks Owner Processor Description	Sandersp Lakkam Sandersp Lakkam Check for invacies create inde and continn about a	d agamd Pre Longuery ny diaplicate any act		* Start Date: * Dive Date: Camploward Status: Raviewed By:	05.00.2023 24.00.2023 No Canyforward		
g licate lav Checks Owner Processor Description	Sandeep Lakkam Sandeep Lakkam Deck for invoices create side and continin about a	d agamd The songary ny displicate avances		* Start Date: * Due Date: Camploward Status: Raviewed By: Raviewed Ox	05.00.2023 24.00.2023 No Camploment		
gilicate lav Checks Owner Processor Description Type	Senderp Lakkam Senderp Lakkam Check for monoces create cade and contem about a Control Cesign Assessme	of against the sumpany my deplicate involves and liseue		* Start Date: * Due Date: Campleward Status: Reviewed Dy: Paniewed Ox. Created By:	85.00.2023 24.00.2023 No Camplomand Kathika G		
gificate law Checks Owner Processor Description Typer Status	Senderp Laktam Senderp Laktam Choit for munices crede cade and contem about a Control Design Assessme Procedulon Tabled	d against the sampany ny depicate invoices ed tosue		* Start Date: * Due Date: Camptoward Status: Raviewed Dr. Created By: Created Dr.	05.00.2023 24.00.2023 No Cemploment Kethika G 05.00.2023		
glicate lav Checks Osmar Processor Description Taple Campatition Compatition	Sendwp Lakkam Sendwp Lakkam Check for investes create code and contem about a Control Design Assessme Permetdelsing Stated (200%)	el agostori Rei sompony ny deplicate avyaces enf lipitue	1	* Start Date: * Due Date: Camptoneed Status: Reviewed Ox. Created Dy: Created Dy:	95 99 2023 24 99 2023 No Camptonund Karthila G (61 99 2023		
gificate tev Checks Onner: Processor Description: Type: Status Completion Reported By:	Sendersp Lakkam Sendersp Lakkam Check for minores create code and contine about a Control Design Assessme Penediation Stated [500%	d against the sampary in displicate investors and tosue]	* Start Date: * Dee Date: Camplowerd State: Reviewerd Dr. Created Dr. Created Dr.	65 09 2023 26 09 2023 56 Camphonend Kambila G 65 09 2023		

Figure 6.44 Options to Complete the Remediation Plan

Close Issue

Upon the remediation owner successfully finalizing the implementation of the remediation plan, the issue owner will be notified through a workflow. This workflow item can be accessed via the **Work Inbox**. The issue owner can review the comprehensive explanations from the remediation owner about the specific actions that have been executed as part of the plan along with any evidence that has been uploaded in the **Attachments and Links** section.

After thoroughly reviewing all the provided details, the issue owner has two options available within the **Remediation Plan** tab, as shown in <u>Figure 6.45</u>:

Close

If the issue has been successfully resolved and fixed, the issue owner can choose to **Close** the issue.

• Reopen

If the information provided is deemed incomplete or inaccurate, the issue owner can opt to **Reopen** the remediation plan.

Upon selecting **Reopen**, a workflow is initiated, involving the remediation owner in further actions. In the case of reopening, the steps outlined in the previous section need to be revisited and rectified.

	IT OF YHAR 2023	statute Valdated	Organization: Test	Process: Procure	to Pay Subproce	tt: Invoice Processin
station Issues Reput	don Remodulon Plan Con	troi Details Monitoring Jul	e Regulement Acc	ount Groups Rinks	Attachments and Links	
ediation Plan						
Name	insta bisma	Inc. Const.	Educat Cardon	Data Data	Res Course	Close Raopen
Duplicate Inv Checks	New Company Codes are	Karthika O	05.09.2023	26.09.2023	Sandeep Lakkam	Autor Trail

Figure 6.45 Remediation Plan Options

Once the remediation plan implementation is successfully aligned and the issue has been closed, the workflow concludes. Subsequently, the results of the control assessment can be evaluated using SAP standard reports. These reports offer insights into the overall status and effectiveness of the controls within the organization's processes.

Additionally, the issue owner can close an issue without a remediation plan by providing comments justifying the decision to close the issue without a plan using the **Close Without Plan** option. Additionally, supporting files can be uploaded within the **Attachments and Links** tab. Once these steps are fulfilled, the issue can be closed by clicking the **Submit** button, which will conclude the workflow, as shown in Figure 6.46.

Close Without P	lan	□ ×
* Comments:	Company codes are updated in RCM and will be considered for future evaluations. Invoice data has also been evaluated and no duplicate invoices are created against the company code since it's inception	
		OK Cancel

Figure 6.46Comments Screen in the Close without Plan Option

6.3 Control Self-Assessment

The control self-assessment process is also triggered using the survey functionality, which involves sending questionnaires to control testers. The main objective of these questionnaires is to collect specific information and gauge the operating effectiveness of controls. It becomes the responsibility of the control testers to address these questions and provide their assessment outcomes.

The survey functionality enables organizations to streamline the process of gauging the operating effectiveness of controls based on self-assessment from control testers. This approach allows for structured and standardized control evaluations, promoting consistency across assessments. By gathering responses from control testers through the questionnaires, the operating effectiveness of controls can be determined, and any potential gaps or areas for enhancement can be identified.

The upcoming sections detail the following configurations and steps to carry out the self-assessments:

- Defining the survey library, that is, defining questions and surveys
- Scheduling surveys using the planner for self-assessment
- Setting up the workflow structure
- Performing the assessment and issue remediation process

6.3.1 Define Survey Library

To understand the process of creating a question library and survey library, refer to <u>Section 6.2.1</u>. However, ensure that you select **Self-Assessment** as the category, which is specifically intended for the purpose of the self-assessment control.

6.3.2 Scheduling Controls Using the Planner

To familiarize yourself with the process of scheduling a control for self-assessment, refer to <u>Section 6.2.2</u>. However, when executing this task, be sure to choose **Perform Self-Assessment** as the plan activity, which is the designated category for creating a planner job. <u>Section 6.2.2</u> further outlines the detailed steps to efficiently schedule a control for self-assessment within the organization's framework.

6.3.3 Workflow Structure

Once a control self-assessment is scheduled using the planner, it follows a series of stages within the assessment process as detailed in the workflow structure shown in Figure 6.47. Each of the workflow stages plays a crucial role in the advancement of the self-assessment process. By adhering to this structured framework, the self-assessment procedure is efficiently guided, ensuring an organized and systematic approach throughout its various phases.

The detailed flow of the self-assessment is illustrated in Figure 6.48 from initiation to closure. It further outlines the designated stage owners engaged in each of the phases along with the specific activities undertaken by these respective owners.

<u>Table 6.11</u> provides comprehensive information on each of these stages.

			Control Self-	Assessment		
Stages →	Scheduling the Planner	Perform Assessment	Review Assessment (optional)	Issue Remediation	Implementation of Remediation Plan	Close Issue
Stage Owners →	GRC Admin	Control Tester	Internal Audit or Internal	Issue Owner	Remediation Owner	Issue Owner

Figure 6.47Stages in the Self-Assessment Workflow with the RespectiveOwners



Figure 6.48 Flowchart That Details the Flow of Control Self-Assessment

Workflow	Description
Stage	
Workflow Stage	Description
-----------------------	--
Schedule planner	The GRC administrator schedules the controls due for self-assessment using the planner functionality (Section 6.2.2 details the steps of using the planner). Based on the workflow rules defined in custom agent determination for control self-assessment (Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3, details the steps to define the agent determination rules for self-assessment), the following stages will be triggered to the users assigned to the respective roles for the local control (refer to Chapter 5, Section 5.4.1, to understand the steps to review the users assigned at a local control).
Perform assessment	The control tester receives the workflow item in the SAP Process Control Work Inbox to respond to the survey and rate the operating effectiveness of the control as either Adequate or Deficient/Significantly Deficient. For a failed assessment, the control tester must report an issue that will be triggered to the issue owner for the remediation process.
Review assessment	The test reviewer (usually the process owner or a person from internal controls or the internal audit team) receives the

Workflow Stage

Description

workflow to review the assessment submitted by the control tester. The reviewer can either approve or reject the assessment result after looking at the responses provided to the questionnaire, attachments uploaded, and the issue details for a failed control. Note that this step isn't mandatory and can be activated/deactivated through the Transaction SPRO configuration. To enable/disable this feature, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click on the SAP Reference IMG button, and navigate to Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Evaluation Setup • Specify Whether Review is Necessary.
- In this section, select the Activate checkbox for the Validation2 (validation of control selfassessment) indicator. Unchecking this would deactivate the functionality.

Workflow Stage	Description
lssue remediation	During this stage, the issue owner evaluates the assessment outcome and has two options to consider:
	 Assign Remediation Plan If the issue requires a thorough investigation and a comprehensive action plan for rectification, this option is chosen. The issue owner identifies the remediation owner, typically the control owner responsible for the control's maintenance, to oversee the implementation of the remediation plan.
	 Close Issue Without Plan This alternative can be selected when the issue owner is able to resolve the issue without necessitating a formal remediation plan. In such cases, the issue owner provides supporting evidence using the Attachments and Links option that substantiates the decision to close the issue without a plan.
	Note: This stage is applicable only in a control failed scenario.

Workflow Stage	Description
Implementation of remediation plan	Note that this step is relevant when the Assign Remediation Plan option has been chosen in the preceding stage. During this step, the designated remediation owner reviews the instructions provided by the issue owner, executes the specified actions, and subsequently provides evidence to support the successful implementation of the remediation plan.
Close issue	Note that this is applicable only when the issue owner and the remediation owner are distinct users. The issue owner validates the remediation efforts undertaken by the assigned remediation owner. Based on this assessment, the issue owner then decides to either close the issue if the remediation has been effective or reopen the remediation plan if further actions are deemed necessary.

 Table 6.11
 Stages in Control Self-Assessment

6.3.4 Assessment and Issue Remediation Process

During the self-assessment of a control, the control tester evaluates the operating effectiveness of the control. On completion of the assessment, the control tester assigns an overall rating to the control, choosing from the following options:

- Adequate
- Deficient or Significantly Deficient

The procedures for these two scenarios are described in <u>Section 6.2.4</u> where you'll find a detailed walkthrough of the steps to complete the assessment, review the assessment, report the issue, implement the remediation plan, and close the issue.

6.4 Manual Control Performance

In large-scale organizations where huge transactions take place within various business processes, implementing control over these activities is vital to ensure the ongoing efficiency of the processes. The utilization of the manual control performance functionality in SAP Process Control enables the establishment of performance plans for each control. These plans are executed by control performers at regular intervals to assess the effectiveness of activities within each business process.

This functionality provides control owners the flexibility to systematically execute control assessments, proactively identifying potential issues before they occur for the attention of control testers or internal audit teams. Moreover, it seamlessly integrates with the manual test of effectiveness functionality. This integration allows performers to submit responses and evidence as part of manual control performance plans across specified time frames. Subsequently, control testers can review this information prior to assigning an operating effectiveness rating. This integration significantly reduces control testers' dependency on process owners for evidence gathering, as evidence can now be directly retrieved from the manual control testing work item. Further information on this integration is detailed in Section 6.5.

The following sections provide a comprehensive breakdown of the configurations and steps required to execute manual control performance:

- Defining performance plans for a control
- Scheduling control for performance using the planner
- Setting up the workflow structure
- Executing control performance and creating the ad hoc issue
- Performing issue remediation

6.4.1 **Define Performance Plans**

Performance plans comprise a sequence of activities that performers need to complete to assess the efficiency of control activities. During these steps, performers have the flexibility to include attachments as evidentiary support for the checks carried out as part of the process. Furthermore, performers can also use the ad hoc issue functionality within SAP Process Control to report any identified issues.

Performance plans are established for each control within the business process hierarchy. They are then linked to a local control, or if local changes are permissible, performance plans can be directly created within a local control.

For reviewing an existing performance plan or creating a new one for a local control, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC, and navigate to the **Master Data** work center.
- 3. Under the **Organizations** work group, select the **Organizations** work item.

- 4. Access the relevant organization where the control is localized.
- 5. Proceed to the Sub Process tab within the organization.
- 6. Open the specific control, which opens the screen shown in <u>Figure 6.49</u>.

Control											
Control: FA Accourt	nt Determi	ination C	onfiguration								
Parent Organization: TNOW-US		Par	ent Subprocess: Fixed	Assets		Allow L	acal Changes: Yes			ID: 5000	
Timehame: 04.09 2023		ER	ctive Date: 04.09.202	3							
K General Regulations Parls	mance Plan 8	Ination Configuration Parent Subprocess: Field Assets Effective Date: 54 89 2823 Stochess Rules: Control Performance: Evaluation Mentioning Jobs: Regiment: Access Rules: Rules: Rules: Access Rules:									
Miligating Control ID:	Milgating Control ID:				1.0	dd From:	27.07.2025				
* Name:	FA Account Det	termination Conf	fgunation			Valid Te:	31.12.9999				
Description:	Only ralid changes are made to the account determination configuration				4	Tripper	CEvent @Date				
	to ensure accur general ledger a	ate recording af account	depreciation expense b	the correct	Operation F	equency:	Monthly				
					• To B	e Tested	• Yes ONo				
					* Test Au	tomation:	Advanded O	Manual	 Seni Automa 	led	
					Testing T	echnique:					
Central or Process Shep:	Control (Process Step				input:					
Control Category:	Transactional-L	nactional-Level Control v		¥							
Significance:	Key Control				×	Output					
Level of Evidence:	Use System 5	Suggested Tier	3: Cantrol Design Asse	sament + C	¥						

Figure 6.49 Access Local Control from an Organization through Transaction NWBC

7. Click on the **Performance Plan** tab to define the steps for control performance, as shown in <u>Figure 6.50</u>.





8. Click the **Add** button to create the performance plan. <u>Table 6.12</u> details each of the fields.



Field	Description
Step	This is a short detail of the activity to be performed as part of the performance plan.
Description	This is a detailed explanation of the activity to be performed by the performer.
Evidence Required	Select Yes if it's mandatory for the step performer to upload any evidence backing up the checks performed.
Comments Required	Select Yes if it's mandatory for the step performer to provide comments for the activity performed.
Sequence	The sequence establishes the order in which steps must be executed. It's important to note that until the preceding step is successfully completed, the subsequent steps won't become accessible for the step performer to carry out.
Step Performer	Instead of having a single performer at the control level, an alternative option is to activate indicator MCP_STEP_LVL_CHECK that allows individual performers to be designated for each step. This can be achieved through the Transaction SPRO configuration via the following steps:

 Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
Click on the SAP Reference IMG button.
4. Navigate Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Evaluation Setup • Manual Control Performance • Enable Performer Assignment on Step Level.
 Select the Activate checkbox for the MCP_STEP_LVL_CHECK indicator, and click Save.
 Once this is enabled, the responsibility to perform individual steps can be assigned using the Edit Performer option.
Note: If this configuration isn't activated, the workflow will be triggered based on the workflow rules defined in custom agent determination for manual control performance. (<u>Chapter 4</u> , <u>Section 4.2.3</u> , outlines the necessary steps to define the agent determination rules for control performance.)

Field	Description
Duration (Days)	Specify the duration in terms of the number of days within which the step should be accomplished by the performer. This configuration aids in monitoring and reviewing steps that are approaching their respective deadlines.

 Table 6.12
 Fields in Performance Plan

9. Click Save.

The next step is to schedule the control for manual control performance using the planner functionality.

6.4.2 Scheduling Controls Using the Planner

The administrator can schedule controls for manual control performance using the planner functionality. To access this feature, execute Transaction NWBC within the SAP Process Control system. Navigate to the **Assessments** work center under the **Assessment Planning** work group. Click the **Planner** work item. The **Planner** work item will display all the active plans associated with **Process Control & Risk Management**, as shown in <u>Figure 6.51</u>.

Active Queries							
Plans Process Control & Risk Management (17)						
Plans - Process Control & Risk M	anagement						
Show Quick Criteria Maintenance							
View: * [Standard View] + Open 0	Deate Cancel Delete C	lopy Split Notifi	ation				
Schedule Name	Schedule Activity	Created On	Changed On	Organizations	Start Date	Due Date	Status
Design Assessment_Q3 2023	Perform Control Design Assessment	04 09 2023 10 57:15	84.09.2023 10:57.15	1	04 19 2923	11.09.2023	Completer
Manual Test of Effectiveness_Q2 2023	Test Control Effectiveness	38 87 2023 09 53 08	30 07 2023 09 53 00	1	30 87 2923	05.08.2023	Complete
Design Assessment_Q3 2023	Perform Control Design Assessment	28 87 2823 15 38 21	28.07.2023 15:38:21	1	28 87 2923	10.08.2023	Complete
MCP_032923	Manual Control Performance	28 07 2923 15 29 58	28.07.2023 15:20:58		28 87 2923	01.08.2023	Completed
MCP_Q3 2823	Manual Control Performance	28.07.2023 08.50.16	28 07 2023 08 50 16	1	04 89 2923	05.09.2023	In Process
Design Assessment_G2 2023	Perform Control Design Assessment	27.05.2923 17:10.34	27.06.2023 17.10.34	1	27.06.2923	14.07.2023	Completed
Design Assessment_Q2	Perform Control Design Assessment	25 06 2923 16 44 12	25.06.2023 16:44:12	1	25 16 2923	30.06.2023	Completed

Figure 6.51 Plans: Process Control & Risk Management

To initiate the creation of a new plan, select the **Create** button, prompting the activation of the navigational scheduler. This tool is designed to guide and verify the accuracy of all the settings.

The plan scheduler encompasses six pivotal stages, which we'll cover in the following sections:

- 1. Enter Plan Details
- 2. Select Regulation
- 3. Select Organizations
- 4. Select Object(s)
- 5. Review
- 6. Confirmation

Step 1: Enter Plan Details

The **Enter Plan Details** stage is the starting point within the planner. Administrators can define essential plan details, including the **Plan Name**, **Plan Activity**, **Recurring Plan** parameters, **Recurring Range** specifications, **Frequency** settings, **Recurrence** timelines, **Due Date Lag**, **Period**, and **Year**, as shown in Figure 6.52.

Create Plan	2 3 Details Select Regulation Select Organization	ons Select	4 Object(s)	5 Revi	iew C	
Plan Name: Plan Activity:	MCP_03_2023 Manual Control Performance		~			_
Recurring Plan: Recurring Range:	• Yes No					
• Frequency:	To 04.11.2023 1	currence Text	Week	v		
* Recurrence:	Every 01 Week(s) Monday ~			-		
Period:	Quarter 3		v			
• Year:	2023		~			
<		Previous	Next	Cancel	Finish	Activate Plan

Figure 6.52 Create Plan: Definition Screen

Table 6.13 provides detailed information on each of the fields in this step.

Field	Description
Plan Name	This is a brief name of the scheduler for identification.
Plan Activity	The planned activity must be selected here. For example, to schedule a manual control performance, choose the Manual Control Performance option. The other options in this field can be used for various assessments and tests using SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management. Detailed information about these tests and assessments is provided in Table 6.7 of Section 6.2.2.

Field	Description
Recurring Plan	If the performance of the control is to be triggered only once, select No , and if the performance of the control is done on a regular basis, select Yes .
Recurring Range	This field pops up only if the recurring plan is selected as Yes . Define the duration and the period for which the control should be performed.
Frequency	Set the frequency at which the work item should be triggered to the control performers. Select the frequency as Daily , Weekly , Monthly , or Yearly from the dropdown available.
Recurrence	Set the time frame at which the recurrence of the plan should happen based on the frequency set in the previous step.
Due Date Lag	This option is used to set the due date from the start date for each recurrence.
Period	From the time frames available in the dropdown, select the period for which the control should be performed.
Year	This represents the year for which the control performance is being triggered.



To proceed to the **Select Regulation** step, click on the **Next** button once you've completed the plan details.

Step 2: Select Regulation

As discussed in <u>Section 6.1</u>, there are multiple assessments/tests that the organization conducts to the internal controls to meet the regulatory and compliance requirements. In the **Select Regulation** screen, select the respective **Regulation**, as shown in <u>Figure 6.53</u>.



Figure 6.53Select Regulation Option while Scheduling the Planner

Note

For a more comprehensive understanding of the various regulations accessible in the **Regulations** dropdown, refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.5.3</u>. This section will provide you with detailed insights into the various regulations available for selection.

Furthermore, to gain a clearer understanding of the available options under the **Evaluation Results Sharing** category, refer to <u>Section 6.2.2</u>. This section will provide you with a comprehensive overview of the choices and functionalities. Click **Next** to navigate to the next step.

Step 3: Select Organizations

This is an important step where the organizations must be selected and where the controls are localized. Select the root or child organization from the **Organizations** list, and click the **Add** or **Add with Children** button. The selected organizations will be moved to the right **Selected** panel, as shown in Figure 6.54.

C	Create Plan							
Pl	an Activity Manual Control Performa	nce						
1+	1 2		3	4			6	-
	Enter Plan Details Select Regi	station Se	elect Organiz	ations Select Object	s)	Review (Confirmation	
۶rg	anizations				Sele	octed		
Sho	w. All 👻	View: v			Ð	Organization	Valid from	Valid to
Ex	pand All Collapse All Find Fir	d Next De	scription			TNOW-US	25.06.2021	31.12.9999
β	Organization	Valid f	Valid to					
	▼ Test	01.01	31.12					
	TNOW-US	25.06	31.12					
	Tnow Basis	01.01	31.12					
				Add >				
				Add with children 3				
				< Remove				
				< Hemove All				
					Pre	vious Next	Cancel F	inish Activa



Click **Next** to continue.

Step 4: Select Object(s)

In this stage, the administrator determines the controls that should be selected for control performance. This selection can be accomplished through various means, including manual selection of individual controls based on knowledge, industry standards, best practices, and regulatory mandates, or through consultation with experts or stakeholders. For a more comprehensive understanding of the selection procedure, refer to the corresponding section within <u>Section 6.2.2</u>. This step will provide you with detailed information on how to effectively carry out the selection process. <u>Figure 6.55</u> shows the controls selected.



Figure 6.55 Selection of Controls in the Create Plan Screen

Step 5: Review

In this step, the administrator can review the plan details, view objects, and so on, and activate the plan by clicking the **Activate Plan** button, as highlighted in Figure 6.56.



Figure 6.56 Review Screen

Step 6: Confirmation

A confirmation message is received indicating the job is saved and the controls are scheduled successfully for control performance. Click **Finish** to close the window shown in <u>Figure 6.57</u>.

Planner					C
Create Plan					
Enter Plan Details Select Regul	ation Select Organizations	4 Select Object(s)	5 Review	6 Confirmation	-
MCP_Q3_2023 saved					
You have created a Manual Control Performa	ince				
What do you want to do next ?					
Create New Plan					
		Previous	Next Canc	el Finish Ac	tivate Plan



The manual control performance process is initiated at this stage. The subsequent section outlines the various stages involved in the performance process, highlighting the steps and activities that occur during each stage.

6.4.3 Workflow Structure

After scheduling the controls for performance using the planner, it proceeds through multiple stages of workflow, as outlined in the flow diagram shown in <u>Figure 6.58</u>. It aids in determining and assigning roles and responsibilities for each stage of the control performance. Additionally, these workflow stages guide the progression of control performance, facilitating a systematic and organized approach.



Figure 6.58 Stages in Control Performance with Owners' Information

The flow of the control performance is detailed in Figure 6.59, which explains how the performance stages flow from the initiation till closure, the stage owners involved, and the activities performed by each owner.



Figure 6.59 Flowchart Depicting the Stages of Control Performance

Each of the stages is detailed in <u>Table 6.14</u>.

Workflow	Description
Stage	

Workflow Stage	Description
Schedule planner	The GRC administrator schedules the controls for performance using the planner functionality (Section 6.2.2 detail the steps of using the planner). Performers of each step receive the workflow to complete the steps, or if the configuration mentioned in Table 6.12 isn't enabled, the workflow is triggered based on the rules defined in custom agent determination for manual control performance. (Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3, details the steps to define the agent determination rules for manual control performance.)
Control performance	The control performer receives the workflow item in the SAP Process Control Work Inbox to complete the task assigned in the step and provide evidence and comments as applicable. During the step performance process, if the owner has identified an issue, the same can be reported as an ad hoc issue for further remediation processes.

Workflow Stage	Description
Review control performance	The performance reviewer (who is usually the process owner) receives the workflow to review the performance plan executed by the respective control performers. The reviewer can either approve or reject the results after looking at the responses provided to the steps and attachments uploaded. However, this step is optional and is disabled by default. It can be enabled from the Transaction SPRO configuration. Log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN , Click the SAP Reference IMG button, and expand Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Evaluation Setup • Specify Whether Review Is Necessary . Select the Activate checkbox for the Validation8 (validation of manual control performance) indicator. This will enable the review stage for manual control performance. Note: Transaction SPRO changes involve workbench modifications, and it's necessary to implement them in the development system and transport the changes as a transport request.

Workflow Stage	Description
Ad hoc issue remediation	In this stage, the issue owner looks at the ad hoc issue reported and has two options to perform:
	 Assign Remediation Plan This option is selected if the issue needs a detailed investigation and an action plan to remediate it. The issue owner identifies the remediation owner, who is usually the control owner that is responsible for its maintenance, to implement the remediation plan.
	 Close Issue Without Plan This option is used if the issue owner can resolve it without the need of a remediation plan by providing the evidence and comments justifying the reason to close the issue without a plan.
	Note: This stage is applicable only if the performer of any step reports an ad hoc issue.

Workflow Stage	Description
Implementation of remediation plan	The remediation owner looks at the instructions provided by the issue owner, implements them, and provides evidence to support successful implementation of the remediation plan. This is applicable only if the Assign Remediation Plan option is applicable.
Close issue	The issue owner reviews the remediation performed by the remediation owner and either closes the issue or reopens the remediation plan for further actions to be performed. This is applicable only if the issue owner and remediation owner are different users.

 Table 6.14
 Stages in Manual Control Performance

6.4.4 Control Performance Process

During the execution of the control performance process, the control performer carries out the designated steps to assess the effectiveness of the process. The sequence determines the flow of tasks across different performers involved. If any problems are detected by the performer during this process, they will raise an ad hoc issue, which will then be addressed through appropriate corrective actions. The following section details the procedural flow of the workflow.

Completing the Control Performance

Once the GRC administrator triggers control for performance, the control performer assigned to step 1 receives the workflow notification, which can be accessed from the **Work Inbox**. To view the pending actions, follow these steps:

- Log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, and navigate to the My Home work center. Under the Work Inbox work group, click the Work Inbox work item, and click on the Process Control work items link in the header section to find the work items pending for action. Click Subject to open the work item.
- 2. After opening the assessment work item, the control performer can review the specific steps that have been assigned, along with their respective deadlines, as detailed in the Figure 6.60.



Figure 6.60 Control Performance Work Item

3. As the control performer, click on the step corresponding to your responsibility and examine the task outlined in the step description. Provide the comments, append supporting evidence if any, and raise any issues through the process, as highlighted in <u>Figure 6.61</u>.

<	Manual Control Performance Step		
General Info			
Step:	Asset Register		
Description:	Obtain the list of assets acquired during the test period		
Evidence Required:	Yes		
Comments Required:	Yes		
Comment:	List of assets acquired during the month f July is gathered and attached herewith		
Evidence (1)			+ 0
Type Name		Uploaded By	
Asset	Register.xlsx	WF-BATCH Sep 4, 2023, 7:01	:19 PM
	Sa	ve Set to Done	Report Issue

Figure 6.61Options for the Control Performer to Complete the StepAssigned

4. After successfully finishing all tasks within the designated step, click the Set to Done button for the completion of the step. This will trigger the workflow to the subsequent step and assign it to the relevant step performer. The status of the steps is detailed in Figure 6.62.

			Manual C	Control, Perfor	mance: MCP_Q3 2	023			
Manual C	ontrol Perfo	rmance naster data						In Pro	ces
Parent Subproc	iess: Fixed Assets							Period: Quarter	3 202
Organization: T	NOW-US								
(B) Seeps	Control latto Farm	and links							
Steps (2)									¢
Step	Description	Evidence Reg	Comments R	Sequence	Step Performer	Due Dute	Status	Last Updated	
Asset Register	Obtain the list of assets acquired during	Yes	Yes	001	SAKRISHNAL	Sep 5, 2023	Done	WF-BATCH Sep 4, 2023, 205-33 PM	

Figure 6.62 Control Performance Work Item with Steps Set to Done

Note

The activities mentioned here will continue till the last step is completed.

5. Next, the task can be reassigned to a different user who will then take on the responsibility of completing the control step. To perform the reassignment, open the work item, and click on the **Forward** button at the bottom-right corner, as shown in the <u>Figure 6.63</u>.



Figure 6.63 Option to Forward the Performance Step

- 6. This will show the list of users. Select the desired user, and click **OK**. The step will be assigned to the new performer.
- 7. Finally, during the control performance process, if the performer detects any irregularities within the process, they can be reported by using the **Report Issue** button, as highlighted in Figure 6.64.
- A new window will be displayed where the performer should provide details such as Name, Description, Priority, and so on, as shown in Figure 6.65.
 Furthermore, detailed information about each of these fields is provided in <u>Table 6.15</u>.

<	Manual Control Performance Step				
General Info					
Step:	Asset Register				
Description:	Obtain the list of assets acquired during the test period				
Evidence Required:	Yes				
Comments Required:	Yes				
Comment:	List of assets acquired during the month f July is gathered and attached herewith				
Evidence (1)				+	Ø
Type Name			Uploaded By		
Asset	Register.xisx		WF-BATCH Sep 4, 2023, 7:01:	19 PM	
	s	iave	Set to Done	Report I	ssue

Figure 6.64Report Issue Option

SAP	Ad	Hoc Is	sue:
Status: Draft Created By: SAI	KRISHNA1 Created On: 04.09.2023 Updated By:	Update	ed On:
Issue Details Regula	tion Attachments and Links		
* Name:	Capitalization of few assets is not done		 Notes
* Description:	Capitalization of few assets is not done		
			C Add Note
* Priority:	High	~	
Object Type:	Control		
Object Name:	Changes to asset master data	Open	
Owner:	KARTHIKA	ß	
Source:	Manual Control Performance	\sim	
* Issue Date:	04.09.2023		
Due Date:	11.09.2023		
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail		

Figure 6.65Submission of an Ad Hoc Issue as Part of Manual ControlPerformance



Field	Description
Name	This is a brief name to identify the issue to be reported.
Description	This is a detailed explanation of the issue identified.
Priority	This is used to classify the criticality of the issue as High/Medium/Low .
Object Type	This is automatically set to Control .
Object Name	This is automatically set to the name of the control for which the issue is being reported.
Owner	The name of the owner responsible for responding to this issue is automatically selected by the system based on the custom agent determination rules defined for a default ad hoc issue processor for a control (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u> , <u>Section 4.2.3</u> , to understand the process of defining custom agent determination rules for ad hoc issues).
Source	The source of the issue is automatically set to Manual Control Performance .
Issue Date	This is the date when the issue was identified.

Field	Description
Due Date	This is the date by which the issue should be remediated by the owner of the issue or the respective stakeholder responsible.
Notes	Using this option, the control performer can provide additional details and background of how this issue was identified and what the issue is.
Regulation	Details of the regulation are auto- populated or inherited from the control for which the issue is being reported.
Attachments and Links	Supplementary evidence related to the reported issue can be included in the Attachments and Links section. The following alternatives are accessible: • Add File : Files such as Microsoft
	can be attached.
	• Add Link: Links can be added. For a shared folder link, a link to the corresponding location can be included within this section.

Table 6.15Ad Hoc Issue Fields

9. Once the details are updated, click on **Submit**.

When an issue is reported, the subsequent steps for rectification will adhere to the established process of ad hoc issue management. Detailed information and steps are provided in <u>Chapter 7</u>, <u>Section 7.2.3</u>.

Review the Control Performance

Once all the steps are successfully carried out by the respective control performers, a workflow will be initiated to the reviewer as specified in the custom agent determination rules (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>).

The review item can be accessed from the **Work Inbox** as discussed in the previous sections. By selecting the subject line of the work item, the reviewer can review all the details available in the work item similar to the control performers, including the responses and attachments submitted throughout the review process. The reviewer has the option to either **Approve** or **Reject** the control performance work item by selecting the appropriate button, as highlighted in Figure 6.66.

Manual Control Performance: MCP_Q3 2023										
Control Name: Changes to asset matter data For Review Parent Subprocess: Rived Assets Period: Quarter 3 2023 Organization: TNOW-US							N 19			
(2) See	Control Info	Forward Info								
Steps (3)									6).
Step	Description	Evidence	Comment	Sequence	Step Perla	Due Date	Status	Last Upda	Comment	
Asset Register	Obtain the list of assets acquired during the test period	Yes	Yes	001	SAIKRISHN A1	Sep 5, 2023	Done	WF-BATCH Sep 4, 2023, 7:05:33 PM	List of assets acquired during the month 1 July is gathered and attached herewith	>
	usādata iba								Арритие	Reject

Figure 6.66 Options Available for the Reviewer as Part of Control Performance

Upon the approval of the assessment results, the workflow ends. Refer to <u>Chapter 10</u>, <u>Section 10.1.3</u>, for more information on standard reports that are available to view the assessment results.

6.4.5 Mass Maintenance of Performance Plans

In cases where performance plans need to be established for individual controls, the task of creating these plans manually can be extensive, particularly for large organizations dealing with numerous controls. SAP offers a solution to address this challenge by enabling the mass management of performance plans through a program. The steps in the following sections outline the procedure for effectively carrying out this mass performance plan maintenance:

- 1. Exporting performance plan templates
- 2. Updating the templates
- 3. Importing duly filled-in templates

Export Performance Plan Template

To download the template, access program GRFN_CTRL_PERF (Mass Editing Performance Plans) using Transaction SE38. <u>Table 6.16</u> details each of the program's options.

Selection	Description
Option	

Selection Option	Description			
Export Performance Plans	This option is used for retrieving a template that can be populated with performance plan data and subsequently uploaded, as shown in Figure 6.67.			
Import Performance Plan	Once the exported template is filled in with all the required details, use this option to upload it back.			
Selection - Local Control	SAP has provided options to update the performance plans either at the local control level or at the central control level. If the requirement is to maintain the performance plans for the localized controls, use this option. The details of step performers can also be updated.			
Selection - Central Control	Use this option if the requirement is to maintain the performance plans for the central controls.			
Organization	This option is applicable only if Local Control is selected. The organization can be selected for which you wish to maintain the performance plans. When an organization is selected in this option, only those controls localized for that organization will be exported as part the template.			

Selection Option	Description			
Local control	This option is applicable only if Local Control is selected in the previous step, where you can select the list of local controls for which you wish to maintain the performance plans.			
Central Control	This option is applicable only if Central Control is selected in previous step, where you can select the list of central controls for which you wish to maintain the performance plans.			
Select languages	This is enabled only when the Multiple languages checkbox is selected. If language packages are enabled, you can maintain the performance plans in the downloaded template in the required language.			
Date From	This is the applicable date from which the performance plans should be updated to the controls.			

Table 6.16Options in the Mass Editing Performance Plans Screen

Mass Editing Performan	e Plans
•	
Mode • Export Performance Plan	
Selection	
Local Control Central Control Organization	
Local control Select languages	to 🚰
Date From	04.09.2023

Figure 6.67 Selection Screen in Mass Editing Performance Plans

Updating the Templates

After making the necessary selections and exporting the template for local controls, the template will encompass a list of controls for which performance plans can be maintained. Furthermore, it will display the existing performance plans as well within the system, including details such as step performer information, as shown in Figure 6.68.



Figure 6.68 Performance Plans Template

The exported template also contains a sheet called **Performers** that contains a list of users with access to control performer role SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_PERFORMER. These users can be used as step performers when outlining the performance plan steps, as shown in Figure 6.69.

The **Performance Plan** sheet must be updated with the following information:

- Plan Step Name
- Plan Step Description
- Comments Required
- Evidence Required
- Plan Step Sequence
- Performers
- Duration

After updating the required information, save the Excel file on your local device. Next, you'll need to upload the same and complete the activity.

	Α				
1	40010 40010				
2	BASIS TG_BASIS				
3	BGUSER BGUSER				
4	DRISHTI DRISHTI				
5	GRC RPA Auto Firefighter Controller GRCBOT001				
6	Homepage Guest End User EUHOME				
7	KRISHNA KRISHNA				
8	Karthika G KARTHIKA				
9	LEPAKSHI LEPAKSHI				
10	Line Manager 300001				
11	RAGHU RAGHU				
12	RFC SCT SCT_USER				
13	Shyam SB				
14	VARUN VARUN				
15	VISHNU VISHNU				
16	VISNHU VISNHU				
17	WF-BATCH WF-BATCH				
18	bandi NARESH				
	<	Performance Plan	Performers		

Figure 6.69Performers Sheet in the Performance Plan Template
Import Performance Plan Template

The template that has been filled in with the updated performance plans can be uploaded using program GRFN_CTRL_PERF through Transaction SE38 or Transaction SA38. Selecting the **Import Performance Plans** radio button will show the **Upload** options described in <u>Table 6.17</u>.

Selection Option	Description
Simulation	This is a test run to ensure all the details updated in the template being uploaded are as expected without any issues.
Select File	This is where to select the updated template to be uploaded into the system.
Date From	This is the applicable date from which the performance plans should be updated to the controls.

Table 6.17 Selection Options of the Import Performance Plan Template

Note

It's recommended to use the simulation feature prior to uploading the actual data. Select the **Simulation** option, select the file, and click the **Execute** button. You'll see a message indicating **Simulation completed successfully. Check the log file details**. Click **Yes** to verify the correctness of the uploaded details, as shown in <u>Figure 6.70</u>. Upon validating, uncheck the **Simulation** option, and proceed with uploading the template again. This will ensure that the data is successfully uploaded into the system.



Figure 6.70Successful Log after Uploading the Performance PlanTemplate

6.5 Manual Test of Effectiveness

While the preceding sections outlined the procedures for assessing control design and obtaining self-assessment for ascertaining the operational efficacy of controls and their certification, the current section delves into the significance of well-established internal controls and the necessity of their optimal functionality within the process. To test the effectiveness of these controls, they undergo periodic operating effectiveness tests.

Depending on the source of data and the process in which it can be analyzed, the nature of control and its operating effectiveness tests are divided into three types, as shown in the <u>Table 6.18</u>.

Nature of	Source of Data and Nature of
Control	Testing
Manual controls	Validating the operational effectiveness of these controls necessitates human involvement. For example, if the data is stored physically or within a system that can't be readily connected for detailed analysis, manual controls are appropriate to test these controls, and we establish test plans comprising a sequence of steps or tests that the tester must execute to reach a result.

Nature of Control	Source of Data and Nature of Testing
Automated controls	When data is stored in an accessible system, we classify such controls as automated controls. To assess the operational effectiveness of these controls, we create a structured approach. This involves defining a data source that retrieves data from the source system and formulating a business rule that contains the logic required to test the operating effectiveness of the control.
Semiautomated controls	This is a combination of manual and automated control, where certain steps involved in testing the control can be automated and can be an input to test the remaining steps that involve human intervention. To test the operating effectiveness of semiautomated controls, we define a business rule and also a manual test plan.

Table 6.18Type of Controls

This section deals further with the manual controls and their evaluation using SAP Process Control. The subsequent sections detail the configurations and procedures essential for conducting a manual test of effectiveness. The steps consist of the following:

• Define manual test plans.

- Map test plans to controls.
- Schedule manual controls using the planner.
- Set up the workflow structure.
- Perform the control testing and issue remediation process.
- Use the control performance results.

6.5.1 Define Manual Test Plans

A manual test plan contains a sequence of steps/tests that the control tester should perform to test the operating effectiveness of the control. As part of the manual test plan central library, you can define all the test procedures and then tag them to the applicable controls. Once the controls are scheduled for a test of effectiveness, the control testers receive the test plans that they can follow to perform the tests.

To review the existing manual test plan or to define a new one, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, and navigate to the **Assessments** work center. Under the **Manual Test Plans** work group, click the **Manual Test Plans** work item. The **Manual Test Plans** screen will show the list of existing test plans along with the central control to which it's assigned, as shown in <u>Figure 6.71</u>.

To create a new test plan, click the **Create** button on the top-right corner of the **Manual Test Plans** maintenance screen. The **Manual Test Plans** screen has the **General** and **Attachments and Links** tabs. The **General** tab helps to define the test plan with the **Test Name**, **Description**,

Valid From/Valid To dates, and **Test Steps**, as shown in <u>Figure 6.72</u>.

Mani	ual Test Plans								
Show	Year	2023	- Apply				Create	Open /	lasign to 🔒
	Test Plan Name	C	Vescription					Valid From	Valid To
	Balance Sheet account record	lations B	alance Sheet account re	conciliations				01.01.2023	31.12.999
	Global Accounting Manual	0	Jobal Accounting Manua	al Test Procedures				01.01.2023	31.12.999
Cont	rols for Test Plan Giol	al Acco	untion Manual						
Com			Annal y manual						
	Control Name	Description	on .	Control Type	Indirect ELC	Regulation	Organizatio	n Valid Fr	on Valid T
	Changes to asset master data	Changes	to asset master data	Copled		SOX	TNOW-US		
	Global Accounting Manual	Global Ar	counting Manual	Central		SARBANES OKLEY			

Figure 6.71Manual Test Plans Maintenance Screen

ineframe: Year 2	223		Effective Date: 01.01.2023										
General Attac	hments and Links	•											
Test Name:		* Valid	From: 01	01 2023									
Description:		* Va	ld To: 31	12.9999									
est Steps													
est Steps						Add	Remov	e Up	Down				
Test Steps Step Number	*Step Name	*Step Description	Step or Te	ist Required	Fail Ends Test	Add Initial Sam	Remov ple 1	e Up Sampling	Down M				

Figure 6.72 General Tab in the Manual Test Plan Definition

The **Test Steps** section provides the details of the steps and tests to be executed by the tester to test the control's operating effectiveness. <u>Table 6.19</u> provides the details for each field.

Field Name	Description
Test Name	Brief and unique name of the test plan to identify it while assigning it to the control
Description	A detailed description mentioning the purpose and the expectations of the test plan

Field Name	Description
Valid From	Date from which the test plan is valid from and after which the test plan can be assigned to a control
Valid To	Date until the test plan is valid and after which the test plan is inactive and can't be assigned to a control
Step Number	Three-digit alphanumeric number to indicate the step defined
Step Name	Brief name of the step that indicates the type of step/test to be performed
Step Description	Detailed explanation of what activity will be performed as part of this step
Step or Test	Indicates whether the activity is a step or a test: A step is an activity that involves gathering of evidence, performing walkthrough sessions, or conducting interviews with process owners. A test is an activity that involves validating the details gathered.
Required	Indicates if the step is mandatory or optional
Fail Ends Test	Specifies whether, in the event of a step's failure, the overall test outcome should be marked as Failed or not

Field Name	Description
Initial Sample	Specifies the quantity of samples that need to be selected for the execution of each step in the scenario where testing is conducted on a sampling basis rather than the entire population
Sampling Method	Indicates the method to be followed by the control tester to gather the sample data; following are the sampling methods available from the dropdown that can be used for selection:
	 Interval Sampling This involves collection of samples at a specific time or count difference.
	• Judgmental Sampling Collection of samples is purely dependent on the judgement or the knowledge of the tester.
	 Random Sampling Samples are collected without any calculations, hence eliminating any kind of bias involvement of the tester.
	 Stratified Sampling The overall population is divided into subgroups, and then samples are collected from each of the subgroups.

 Table 6.19
 Fields in Creation of a Manual Test Plan

After making the necessary updates in the **General** tab, click the **Save** option. You also have the option to upload relevant documents within the **Attachments and Links** tab. These documents can be added either directly as files or as links.

6.5.2 Map Test Plans to Controls

Once the test plan is defined, it needs to be allocated to a control. When the control is scheduled for a *test of effectiveness*, the associated test plan will be activated and assigned to the tester. This assignment can be carried out by either of the following:

- Central control
- Local control

This depends on the scope for local modifications, as we'll discuss in the following sections.

Assignment of the Test Plan to a Central Control

Test plans can be assigned either to a central control or a local control. In situations where local changes are restricted within the scope of master data management, the controls will be assigned to a central control. This action will effectively assign the test plan to all the associated local controls. To execute this assignment, follow these steps:

- 1. Choose the desired test plan that needs to be assigned to a control.
- 2. Click on the **Assign To** dropdown menu.

3. From the dropdown, select the **Central Controls** option, as shown in Figure 6.73.



Figure 6.73 Central Controls Option in Manual Test Plans for the Control Assignment Screen

 Choosing the Central Controls option, all the Control IDs are displayed in the Assign Test Plan to Controls window, as highlighted in <u>Figure 6.74</u>.

Assi	gn Test Plan to Co	ntrols		×
Sele	ect Controls			^
			¥	
ъ	Control ID	Control	Subprocess	
	CONTROL/X/50000709	IN_MC_P2P_PYTM_01	Payment Terms	
	CONTROL/X/50000749	MONITOR_INACTIVE_USER-control	Tnow Basis	
	CONTROL/X/50001067	Vendor master changes	Maintain Vendor Master Data	
	CONTROL/X/50001071	Payments without goods recpt - ComCd	Perform Invoice Verification	~
<			>	
			OK Can	cel

Figure 6.74List of Manual Controls Available for Assignment to a TestPlan

5. Choose the control to which the test plan needs to be assigned, and click the OK button. Upon successful completion of this process, the control to which the test plan has been assigned will be displayed in the Controls for Test Plan: <<Control Name>> section, as shown in Figure 6.75.

lan	ual Test Plans												
Show	c Year	¥	2023	3 ¥	Apply				Create	Open	Assig	n to "	-
	Test Plan Name			Descri	ption					Valid From	v	alid To	
	Balance Sheet account reconciliations			Balance Sheet account reconciliations							01.01.2023 31.12.9		
	Balance Sheet account reconciliations			Baland	ce Shee	t account recon	cillations			01.01.202	3 3	1.12.99	99
	Global Accounting Manual			Global	Accourt	ting Manual Te	st Procedures			01.01.202	3 3	1.12.99	99
on	trois for Test Plan:Ba	lan	ce S	heet	accou	int reconcil	iations						
													5
Г	Control Name			Dese	cription	Control Type	Indirect ELC	Regulation	Organizati	ion Valid I	rom	Valid	To
	Payments without goods recp	t - C	omCd	Payn with good recp Corr	nents sut ls L- Cd	Central							

Figure 6.75 Controls for Test Plans: Assignment Screen

Assignment of the Test Plan to a Local Control

Test plans can also be assigned to local controls. To perform this task, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Access Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the Master Data work center.
- 4. Under the **Organizations** work group, select the **Organizations** work item.
- 5. Open the relevant organization where the control is localized.
- 6. Navigate to the **Sub Process** tab within the organization.
- Open the specific control for which the test plan needs to be assigned, leading to the screen shown in <u>Figure 6.76</u>.

ontrol														
Control: Account R	teconcili	ations												
Parent Organization: Thew Basis		Pare	nt Subprocess:	GL Account Ma	intenanc				Alter	Local Cha	nges: Yes			
Timehame: 05.09.2023		Effec	tive Dute: 05.0	9.2523										
General Regulations Parts	rmance Plan	Control Performance	e Exaluation	Requirement	Acon	o Flinka	Fisks	Acce	unt Groups	Owners	Paports	Policies	looveo	Roles
Mitipating Control ID:							• Valid	From:	01.01.202	3				
* Nane:	Account Rec	onciliations					Va	id Te:	31.12.999	9				
Description:							= T)	юрис	C Event	 Date 				
						Operat	Ion Freq	sency:						
							To Do T	aster	· Yes	0 No				
						• 14	est Autor	ation	O Adona	led ®A	Aanual (Semi-Aut	lomated	
						Test	ling Tech	nique:						
Control or Process Step:	Control	O Process Step					Test	Plan:	Balance 5	heef accou	nt reconcilia	dons		
Control Calegory:	Transactiona	Level Control			v			input.						
Significance					v									
Level of Evidence:	🗹 Use System	m Supported					0	happet						
Caribol Risk	🖌 Use System	m Supported												
* Control Automation	Advanted	Manual C	Semi-Automat	ed										
* Purpose	• Detective	O Preventive												
Nature					~									
<														
c														>
													Save	Care

Figure 6.76 Accessing the Local Control from an Organization

It should be noted that the test plans can only be allocated to a control if the **Test Automation** option is set to **Manual** or **Semi-Automated**. To proceed with the assignment, follow these steps:

- In the **Test Plan** field, click on the search option (or press F4). This action will open a popup screen, providing access to available test plans.
- 2. Within the popup screen, input your search criteria, and click **Search**.
- 3. Choose the specific test plan that needs to be assigned to the control.
- 4. Complete the process by clicking the **Save** button, as shown in <u>Figure 6.77</u>.

Once the control localization process and test plan assignment have been successfully carried out, the subsequent step involves scheduling the controls for a test of effectiveness using the planner functionality.

and Description ThOR-up (- ID 500	1264
metrame: Year 2023	Search: Test Plan					Ξ×		
Central Regulators Parts	Search Criteria		I		Hide Se	ил сана 😡	sies	ж
Milgaling Control ID.	Test Plan ID	v			0			
* Name	Test Plan Name	v		0	0			
Description.	Description	¥		0	0			
	Valid From	÷		T (0		-	-
	Search Clear Entries F	lesel to Default						-
Control or Process Sterr	Results List. 3 results found	tor Test Plan						12
Control Category	Test Plan ID	Test Plan Name		Description	Valid From	Valid To		
Significance:	1E3TPLAN/50001127	Onder Accounter	ng Manual	Onstal Accounting Manual Tes	01.01.2023	31.123999		
Level of Evidence:	TESTPLAN50001193	Balance Sheet a	ccount record	Balance Sheet account record	01.01.2023	31.12.9999		
Control Roak	TESTPLAN/50001261	Balance Sheet a	ccourt record	Balance Sheet account record	01 01 2023	31.12.9999		
* Control Automation								
* Purpose								
							-	

Figure 6.77 Selection of the Manual Test Plan

6.5.3 Schedule Manual Controls Using the Planner

For detailed steps on using the planner functionality, refer to <u>Section 6.2.2</u>. However, when executing this task, be sure to choose **Test of Effectiveness** as the plan activity, which is the designated category for creating a planner job. The manual control test of effectiveness process is initiated at this stage.

6.5.4 Workflow Structure

Once the test control effectiveness is scheduled through the planner, it proceeds through a sequence of testing stages as detailed in the workflow structure flow diagram. Figure 6.78 shows the purpose of defining and allocating roles and responsibilities for each testing stage of the manual control evaluation.

	Manual Test of Effectiveness													
Stages →	Schedule the Planner	Complete Test Plan	Review Testing	Issue Remediation	Implementation of Remediation Plan	Goselssue								
Stage Owners →	GRC Admin	Control Tester	Test Reviewer	Issue Owner	Remediation Owner	Issue Owner								

Figure 6.78Stages in the Manual Control Testing Workflow with Owners'Information

Moreover, these workflow stages guide the course of the control testing process, ensuring a methodical and structured approach.

The testing workflow is detailed in Figure 6.79. It explains how the assessment flows from the initiation to closing, the stage owners involved, and the activities performed by the respective owners.





6.5.5 Control Testing and Issue Remediation Process

During the evaluation of a control's operational efficiency, the control tester follows the test plan's instructions and reaches a conclusion regarding the control's operating effectiveness. Upon concluding the testing process, the control tester furnishes an overall rating for the control, classifying it as either a **Pass** or a **Fail**. These two distinct outcomes are detailed further in the following sections.

Testing Result: Pass

If the operating effectiveness of the control is adequate, the control tester rates the control as **Pass** after completing the test plan. The stages involved in this case are shown in <u>Figure 6.80</u>.





In the event of this scenario, where the testing result is **Pass**, the GRC administrator, control tester, and test reviewer are involved. The responsibilities attributed to each of these stakeholders are detailed in <u>Table 6.20</u>.



Stage Owner	Role
GRC administrator	The GRC administrator is responsible for the schedule planner and trigger controls for operating the effectiveness test per the testing schedule defined in the control testing strategy of the organization.
Control tester	The control tester completes the test plan and rates the control as Pass if all the results are as expected.
Test reviewer	The lead of the internal controls team is responsible for reviewing the testing done by the control tester and then either approving or rejecting the results.

 Table 6.20
 Owners for Each Stage

Note

<u>Section 6.2.2</u> details the steps to schedule the test control effectiveness using the planner, which is our first step.

In the following sections, we'll look at each of the stages in this scenario.

Complete the Test Plan

Upon the initiation of an effectiveness test for control by the GRC administrator, the control tester will receive a workflow notification, which is accessible through the **Work Inbox**. To

access pending tasks, log in into the SAP Process Control system and execute Transaction NWBC. Then, navigate to the **My Home** work center, and select the **Work Inbox** work item in the **Work Inbox** work **group**. Click on the **Process Control** work items link situated in the header section, and proceed to open the designated work item by selecting its **Subject** line.

Once the test is opened, the control tester can see the test period and other information such as **Organization**, **Process**, and **Subprocess** in the header column, as well as the other relevant information (e.g., **Test Plan**) in the respective tabs (see Figure 6.81).

	a or Line	corcircaa ma			ountro	conten	acronia						
nt P	eriod Quarter	r 4 2023 St	utur: Draft	Organi	tation: Teo	n Basis	Process	Record to Re	port	Subproces	C GLA	count M	aintenance
00	retal Repub	don Control Perform	ance Cort	of Defails	Account Geo	ngs Rega	enert Rol	s Allachmer	ts and Links				
st	Steps												
										Report	Issue	Downloa	d Farm Upload Form
	Step Name	Shep Description	Ship/Test	Required	FallEn	India's	Sanpl	Cumulati	Currul	Revise	#Fal.	R.,	Comments
	Interview	Intensiew responsible personnel and understand the process and the trequency of the control	Ship	Yes	Yes	0		0	0	¢		• •	Add Comment
	Sample Collection	Select a sample of morthurquarters and obtain the account reconciliations; verify that reconciliations were partormed on a timely basis	Ship	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0		0 ¥	Add Comment
	Reconcilia	Verify that reconciliation tems have been followed up and adjusted when necessary	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Fundom	0	•	0		0 ¥	Add Comment
	Approval verification	Verity that the reconcitation has been adequately reviewed and approved.	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Fandom	0	0	0		0 ¥	Add Comment

Figure 6.81General Tab from the Control Effectiveness Manual Test WorkItem

Note

The other tabs in the control effectiveness test provide various information related to the control and can be reviewed by the control tester before evaluating and completing the test plan. The control tester proceeds to fulfill each step, submitting the test result and any additional information within the **Comments** section for each respective step, as highlighted in <u>Figure 6.82</u>.

The control tester concludes all the required tests and presents the overall test result. In cases where the control's effectiveness test is successful, the control tester will mark the testing rating as **Pass**, as shown in Figure 6.83.

eriod. Quarter	r 4 2023 5	utus: Draft	Organi	cation: Two	r Banis	Process:	Record to Rep	pert	Subp	eocmi	CL Access	nt Maintenance
eral Regula	dun Contrui Perform	ance Cont	of Details	Account Gro	ups Requi	ement Risk	Atachment	ts and Links				
Steps												
									ľ	aport	tooue Dow	nited Ferm Uplead Form
Step Name	Step Description	Ship/Tent	Repired	Fail En	Initial 5	Sampl	Cumulati	Cumul	я.,	1	Result	Comments
Interview	Intensiew responsible personnel and undentand the process and the trequency of the control	Ship	Yes	Yes			•	0	0	6	Oone v	Walkbrough sessions conducted
tiangle Collection	Select a sample of monthsiguarters and obtain the account reconciliations, werby that reconciliations were performed on a timely basis	Ship	Yes	Yes	2	Randum		0	0		v	Add Comment
Reconcilia	Verify that reconcilation terms have been followed up and adjusted when necessary	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Randum	•	0	0	0	*	Add Comment
Approval verification	Verily that the reconcilation has been adequality reviewed and approved.	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Randum	۰	0	0	0		Add Comment

Figure 6.82 Responses to the Steps in Control Testing

-															
	Step Name	Shep Description	ShipTest	Required	Fail En	Initial S	Sampl	Cumulat	Cumul	R	۶.,	Result		Comments	^
	interview	Intensiew responsible personnel and understand the process and the frequency of the control	Ship	Yes	Yes	0					0	Done	×	Walkdwough sessions candudied	L
	Sample Collection	Select a sample of monthulquarters and obtain the account reconclutions, vesty that reconclutions were performed on a timely beam	Step	Yes	Yes	2	Random				ð	Dune	Ť	Add Commont	l
	Reconcilia	Verify that reconciliation items have been followed up and adjusted when necessary	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Random				0	Fact	۲	Add Comment	I
	Approval ventication	Verity that the reconcilation has been adequately reviewed and approved.	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Random	1	• •		0	Pass	۲	Add Comment	I
Test	Ovtails														
	Test Name:	Log for Manual Test of	Effectivenes	Account			* Test (Date: 05.0	2023				- 0	T	
	Test Owner:	Karthika G					* Test R	out Pee					×	•	~
												Subr		Save Draft Assign to Next Te	echer



Any supporting evidence justifying the rating provided to the control effectiveness test can be added in the Attachments and Links tab.

Review Testing

Once the control tester completes the testing of the control, the test reviewer (internal controls team or the internal audit team) does the review, as defined in the custom agent determination rules (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>). The review item can be accessed from the **Work Inbox**, as discussed in the previous sections.

The test reviewer can review all the information similar to the control tester. This includes responses, rating details, and the rating provided by the control tester. Additionally, any uploaded evidence is available within the **Attachments and Links** section. After a thorough review of all details, the reviewer has the option to either **Approve** or **Reject** the request, as highlighted in <u>Figure 6.84</u>.





Upon the approval of the assessment results, the workflow ends, and the results can be assessed using the standard reports. For a more thorough understanding of the various reports available for control evaluation, see <u>Section 6.6</u>.

Testing Result: Fail

If the operating effectiveness of the control is inadequate, the control tester rates the control as **Fail** after completing the test plan. The stages involved in this case are shown in <u>Figure 6.85</u>.

When the testing result is **Fail**, the GRC administrator, control tester, and test reviewer, along with issue owner and remediation owner, are involved. The responsibilities attributed to the GRC administrator, control tester, and test reviewer were already detailed earlier in <u>Table 6.20</u>, and the issue owner and remediation owner are detailed in <u>Table 6.21</u>.



Figure 6.85Stages Involved When the Control Effectiveness Test Result IsFail

Stage Owner	Role
lssue owner	The issue owner is responsible for defining a remediation plan to correct the issue identified in the current tests and ensure the same issues don't occur in the future.

Stage Owner	Role
Remediation owner	The remediation owner is responsible for implementing the instructions received from the issue owner to correct the observations noted as part of the testing.

Table 6.21Additional Owners in Scenario #2

The stages involved in a failed control were previously covered in the following sections:

- Schedule the Planner (Section 6.2.2)
- <u>Complete the Test Plan</u> (previous section)
- Report Issue (<u>Section 6.2.4</u>; the process of creating an issue for failed manual control testing is similar to that of control design assessment)
- <u>Review Testing</u> (previous section)
- Implement Remediation Plan (<u>Section 6.2.4</u>)
- Close Issue (<u>Section 6.2.4</u>)

6.5.6 Usage of Control Performance Results

SAP Process Control provides an integration between manual control performance and manual control test of effectiveness. The results of manual control performances executed for a control across the test period can be accessed by the control tester from the manual test of effectiveness **Work Inbox** item. The control tester can access the performance results by following these steps:

- 1. Navigate to the Work Inbox.
- 2. Access the Manual Test of Effectiveness tasks from the Work Inbox.
- 3. Once the test is opened, the control tester can see the test period and other information related to the control in the scope of testing.
- 4. Navigate to the manual **Control Performance** tab, as shown in <u>Figure 6.86</u>.



Figure 6.86General Tab from the Control Effectiveness Manual TestWork Item

5. The control tester can access the responses provided by the performers and evidence they've attached as part of the control performance. These details become input for the tester in reviewing the data, making decisions, and arriving at the overall test effectiveness result. <u>Figure 6.87</u> details the screen elements of the control effectiveness manual test.

Period. Second	Half of Year 20	23	Status: Draft	Organica	fion: TNOW	48	Process: Record T	a Raport	Subpro	cess: Fixed Asset	8
nest Repist	Contral	witemance Control (Account Grow	ps Repare	neri Pista	Alachments and	Lens				
									Selfre rédektion	m j htvicum	nh rithoh
Pariod		Year	Name		Pagulato		Status		Start Date	End Date	
July		2023	MCP_G3 252	3	SOX		New		28.07.2023	01.08.212	3
Ouarter 3		2023	MOP_03 212	3	504		New		31072023	01 08 212	3
Quarter 3		2023	MOP_G5252	3	504		Dure		87.08.2023	08 08 252	3
Ouafter 3		2023	MOP_G5252	3	504		New		14 08 2023	15 08 202	3
Quarter 3		2023	MOP_G3 212	3	504		New		21 08 2023	22 08 262	3
lormance St	104										
Step	Description	Evidence Required	Comments Required	Seguence	Status	Let Charged On	Lef Charged By	Comments	Central Evidence	Step Performer	Due De
Asset Register	Cotain the Init of accests acquired during the fact period	Yes	746	001	In Process					SAKROHNAT	29.07.

Figure 6.87Usage of Manual Control Performance Results as Part of ManualControl Testing

6.6 Reporting

SAP Process Control offers a range of standard reports designed to assess organizational control health across different assessment types discussed in this chapter. The Control Ratings report holds particular significance among the various reports available. This report provides complete visibility into the control landscape, indicating the number of controls subjected to design assessment, self-assessment, or manual test of effectiveness. It also highlights controls that haven't undergone testing.

Further, the report furnishes detailed information about the assessment outcomes for controls that have been tested by their respective owners or testers. To access the report, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the **Assessments** work center.
- 4. Under the **Reports** work group, click the **Control Ratings** work item.
- Provide inputs in the selection screen as required in the Organization, Process, Subprocess, or Control Fields, and click Go to view the results, as shown in Figure 6.88.

Control Rat	tings				Persona	efice .
A fabular report sho	wing overall control satings by a	rganization, process and subprocess				
Selector						
Results						
					Patarbaat	a
Organization	Subprocess	Cureul	Control Description	Significance	Control Design Rating (flom)	1
Power Generation	invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Montor Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations	Key Control		
Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Madler Deta	Vendor matter changes	This rule tracks changes to critical fields of windor master.	Key Control		
Power Generation	Maintain Vender Master Deta	Duplicate invoice parameter changes	"This rule backs changes is the system settings that prevent the same invoice from being posted more than once."	Key Control		1
Forer Generation	System Parameters	Montor Paceword Parameter	Password Parameter Maintenance	Key Control		1
Forer Generation	Access Management	Montor users with SAP_ALaccess	Montor users with SAP_AI and SAP_New access	Key Carthal		
Forer Cenerators	Access Management	Montor users with SAP_At and SAP_New	Montor users with SAP_AI and SAP_New profiles access	Key Cartral		
Power Ceneration	Access Management	Uters with developer access in Products	Users with developer access in Production System	Key Cortfol		
Forer Ceneration	Access Management	Montor Super User account maintenance	Montor Super User account maintenance	Key Control		
Forer Generation	Access Management	Evert profile assignments	Montor users with direct profile assignments	Key Control		
feat	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations	Key Control	Cignificantly Deficient	
Test	Access Management	Monitor upers with SAP_AI access	Monitor users with SAP_AI and SAP_New access	Key Control		
feet	Payment Terms	IN_MC_P2P_PYTM_01	India Manual Control F2F Payment Terms Control 01	Key Carthal		
					Ce .	Cle

Figure 6.88Control Ratings Report Providing the Test Results for the Controls

6.7 Summary

This chapter offers an extensive explanation of the rationale behind the various aspects of testing based on the regulatory requirements that organizations must adhere to. It further covered the distinct categories of testing, detailing the various scenarios inherent to each type of testing. This encompasses a breakdown of the workflow stages within each scenario, along with the stakeholders responsible for executing each of these stages. Importantly, the chapter underscores how SAP Process Control serves to optimize and streamline the execution of these assessments, facilitating a more efficient and organized approach.

7 Ad Hoc Issue Management

While the previous chapter details the control evaluation considering the organization's testing strategy and the compliance requirements on a periodical basis, this chapter focuses on how the ad hoc issues are identified within the organization, reporting them using SAP Process Control, and the remediation steps.

The growing compliance requirements of today's business landscape necessitate continuous monitoring and regular testing of organizational processes. Consequently, it becomes crucial to not only address issues discovered through periodic assessments but also to track those identified during ongoing monitoring efforts. Ad hoc issue management in SAP Process Control offers an effective solution for monitoring and managing issues beyond the scope of regular control assessments. Using this feature, issues can be identified at a variety of levels, such as organizational, subprocess, control, or regulatory, as well as be tracked and monitored.

In this chapter, we'll explore key aspects of ad hoc issue management, from issue identification to resolution. The steps involved in reporting ad hoc issues using SAP Process Control will be discussed along with effective strategies and best practices for successful remediation. Organizations can drive continual improvement in their processes by understanding and implementing these approaches.

7.1 Configuration

To use the process of ad hoc issue management, there are several essential configurations that need to be performed in Transaction SPRO settings. These configurations are required to enable the reporting of ad hoc issues for specific objects and to configure the relevant sources required during the reporting process.

With these settings configured, organizations can establish a structured framework for effectively resolving ad hoc issues. To enhance the overall effectiveness of issue management, these configurations play a crucial role in streamlining the reporting and tracking of ad hoc issues. The steps include enabling ad hoc issues by object type and maintaining the sources that are detailed in the following sections.

7.1.1 Enable Ad Hoc Issues by Object Type

This configuration allows for enabling objects/entities for reporting ad hoc issues. The specific objects to be included in the scope of the ad hoc issue management process depend on the areas being tested or audited, as well as the organization's requirements. This configuration can be performed by logging in to the SAP Process Control system and executing Transaction SPRO_ADMIN. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button, and follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance • Common Component Settings • Ad Hoc Issues • Enable Ad Hoc Issues by Object Type.

By executing this configuration, organizations can define the relevant objects/entities against which ad hoc issues can be reported. This ensures that the ad hoc issue management process aligns with the areas of focus in testing or auditing, providing a tailored approach to issue identification and resolution.

It's important to note that the business configuration set (BC set) for process control GRFN-AHISS-OBJECT (Enable Ad Hoc Issues by Object Type) activates the following objects: **Control, Indirect-Entity Level Control, Organization**, **Policy, Regulation**, and **Subprocess**, as shown in Figure 7.1. If these objects aren't listed, activate the BC Set using Transaction SCPR20. When enabled, the objects are listed under the **Enable Ad Hoc Issues by Object Type** setting.

< 💁						с	han	ge View "Enable Ad Ho	oc Issues
✓	×	6	4	\$	5	88	85	BC Set: Change Field Values	Cancel [
Enable Ad Hoc Issues by	Obj	ect Typ	e	0					
Entity		Ad Ho	5						
Activity	\sim	Ī	ı'	0					
Control	×]	15.					
Indirect Entity-Lev.	. ~	V]						
Incident	×	Z]						
KRI Implementation	×	2)						
KRI Instance	\sim	2	1						
Loss Event	\sim		1						
Opportunity	\sim]						
Organization	\sim	V]						
Policy	×	2]						
Process	×		1						
Regulation	\sim]						
Response	~)						
Risk	\sim]						
Scenario Case	~]						
Monte Carlo Simulat.	. ~	Z]						
Subprocess	~		1						

Figure 7.1 Configuration to Review the SAP Process Control Entities Enabled for Ad Hoc Issues

In addition, it's recommended that nonscoped objects be deactivated. Uncheck the **Ad Hoc** checkbox in the **Enable Ad Hoc Issues by Object Type** option in edit mode to deactivate. Make sure to click **Save** after updating the settings to capture the changes in a transport request, as shown in Figure 7.2.



Figure 7.2 Configuration to Maintain the Standard Entities in Scope of Ad Hoc Issues

7.1.2 Maintain Ad Hoc Issue Sources

Reporting an ad hoc issue should include the source from which the internal control team identified the issue. Users reporting ad hoc issues can choose from a list of sources configured. To set up the sources, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Follow menu path Governance, Risk and Compliance
 Common Component Settings
 Ad Hoc Issues
 Maintain Adhoc Issue Sources.
- 5. Click **New Entries**, as shown in Figure 7.3.
- 6. Add **Source** and **Text**, as shown in <u>Figure 7.4</u>.
- 7. Click **Save**, and capture the changes in a transport request when prompted.

< 💁		С	han	ge V	'iew	"Mai	intenance view of Issue	е Туре
 	🗸 🕼 🤌 New Entries 🚳	Θ	5	3	82	85	BC Set: Change Field Values	Cancel
Maintenance view	of Issue Type and text for GRC2010						0	
Source	Text							
CCM	Continuous Monitoring						0	
00	Manual Control Performance						1	
D8_NA	Data not available							
ICR_DB	Incorrect data entry							
INSP	Inspection							
SYS_D	System down							

Figure 7.3 Option to Create New Entries in the Source List

< SAP	SAP New Entrie											
✓	~ 8	63	Θ	15	88	86	Cancel	Ċ	Ċ	a	G	
Maintenance view of Issue Type and text for GRC2010											0	
Source	Text											
🗆 Insp	Inspection	Inspection									0	
											1	

Figure 7.4 New Entries Added to the Source List

Note

Activating BC set GRFN-AHISS-SOURCE (Maintain Ad Hoc Issue Sources) will add the following standard source items: CCM (Continuous Monitoring), CP (Manual Control Performance), DB_NA (Data not available), ICR_DB (Incorrect data entry), INSP (Inspection), and SYS_D (System Down). Figure 7.5 shows the list of standard source items.

< 🐅			Cha	nge \	/iew	"Ma	intenance view
 Image: A second s	🗸 🕼 🔗 New Entries 🕯	1 G) 🛨	. 15	88	88	BC Set: Change Fig
Maintenance view	v of Issue Type and text for GRC2010						۲
Source	Text						
ССМ	Continuous Monitoring						0
CP CP	Manual Control Performance						
DB_NA	Data not available						
ICR_DB	Incorrect data entry						
INSP	Inspection						
SYS_D	System down						

Figure 7.5 Standard Source List for Ad Hoc Issues

Object types for ad hoc issues and sources must be mapped to be available in the frontend to report the ad hoc issues.

Note

In the previous section, we discussed that ad hoc issues are reported for the object type for which the issue was identified. It's also important to select the source of the ad hoc issue while reporting it. SAP Process Control provides the flexibility to have the issue sources specific to each object type and that relationship can be maintained in the Transaction SPRO configuration.

To establish the relationship between the object type and source, execute **SAP Reference IMG** • **Governance, Risk and Compliance** • **Common Component Settings** • **Ad Hoc Issues** • **Assign Ad Hoc Issue Sources to Object Types**. The current configuration of sources mapped for each object type will be shown (see <u>Figure 7.6</u>).

To maintain a new relationship, click the **New Entries** button, and enter the **Entity ID** and **Source** as shown in Figure 7.7. Click **Save**.

< SAP			С	hang	e Vie	w
✓	✓ 🛱 🌮 New Entries	i ii (⊝ 5		88	8
Relationship between Is	ue Type and Entity)				
Entity ID	Source					
ACTIVITY	ССМ					
ACTIVITY	DB_NA					
ACTIVITY	ICR_DB					
ACTIVITY	SYS_D					
CONTROL	ссм					
CONTROL	CP					
CONTROL	DB_NA					
CONTROL	ICR_DB					
CONTROL	INSP					
CONTROL	SYS_D					
ECONTROL	ССМ					
ECONTROL	DB_NA					

Figure 7.6Relationship between Issue Type and Entity

< SAP									
✓	~ 6	63	Θ	:5	88	88	Cancel	Û	Ċ
Relationship betw	veen Issue Type a	nd Er	ntity		0				
Entity ID	Source								
Control	INSP			ć	2 <u>2</u>				
				Í					



Once the relationship is maintained, the sources are available for the user to select from the list, as shown in Figure 7.8.

Ad Hoc Issue: Submit Save Draft			
Status Draft Created By	y Karthika G Created On 25.07.2023 Updated By	Updated On	
Issue Details Reg	ulation Attachments and Links		
* Name: * Description:			• Notes
* Priority:	High V	-	Add Note
Object Hype: Object Name: Owner: Source: * Issue Date: Due Date: Audit Trail:	Continuous Monitoring Manual Control Performance Data not available Incorrect data entry		
C	Inspection System down	7	

Figure 7.8 Option to Select a New Source while Reporting an Issue

7.2 Issue Remediation Process

As mentioned, ad hoc issues can be reported in SAP Process Control during routine internal control testing by the organization's internal audit team. In the following sections, we'll first discuss the stages of ad hoc issue remediation and then walk through each of those stages: reporting, remediation, plan implementation, and closing the issue.

7.2.1 Stages

Following the reporting of an ad hoc issue, it undergoes various stages of response, as shown in Figure 7.9. Each stage of the process is represented in this diagram and identifies roles and responsibilities of the respective stage owner. This remediation process provides a systematic and well-organized framework for ad hoc issue remediation, facilitating a systematic and organized approach.





Figure 7.10 illustrates the entire process of reporting an ad hoc issue, implementing a remediation plan, and closing it.





<u>Table 7.1</u> provides a clear overview of the different stages involved in the ad hoc issue remediation process, allowing for effective tracking and management of each stage's progress.

Workflow	Description
Stage	
Workflow Stage	Description
------------------------	--
Report ad hoc issue	Users with the role SAP_GRC_FN_BUSINESS_USER can report ad hoc issues from the My Home work center. In SAP Process Control, ad hoc issues can be raised for any object or entity such as organization, control, subprocess, policy, or regulation (see <u>Section 7.1.2</u> for more information). A user creating an ad hoc issue selects the object type and the object, and the system automatically selects the issue owner based on the workflow rules defined in custom agent determination (<u>Chapter 4</u> , <u>Section 4.2.3</u> , outlines the steps to define the agent determination rules for identifying default issue processors for ad hoc issues). The following stages will be triggered to the users assigned to the respective roles at the respective entity (see <u>Chapter 5</u> , <u>Section 5.4.1</u> , for a detailed explanation of how to review the SAP Process Control user assignments at various entity levels).

Workflow Stage	Description
Issue remediation	In this stage, the issue owner looks at the details of the reported issue, object and its source and then has two options to respond:
	• Assign Remediation Plan This option is selected if the issue needs a detailed investigation and an action plan to remediate it. The issue owner identifies the remediation owner who is responsible for the object's maintenance to implement the remediation plan.
	• Close Issue without Plan This option is used if the issue owner can resolve it without the need of a remediation plan by providing the evidence and comments justifying the reason to close the issue without plan.
Implementation of remediation plan	During the issue remediation, if the owner selects the Assign Remediation Plan option, the remediation owner looks at the instructions provided by the issue owner, implements them, and provides evidence to support the successful implementation of the remediation plan.

Workflow Stage	Description
Close issue	The issue owner looks at the remediation performed by the remediation owner and either closes the issue or reopens the remediation plan for further actions to be performed. Note that this is only applicable if the issue owner and remediation owner are different users.

Table 7.1Detailed Explanation of Stages in the Ad Hoc Issue RemediationProcess

Let's now move on to performing each of these activities.

7.2.2 Reporting Ad Hoc Issues

If the compliance or an internal audit team member identified an issue that requires the attention of the business team, the issue can be reported as an ad hoc issue as follows:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Click the **My Home** work center.
- 4. Under the **Ad Hoc Tasks** work group, click the **Issues** work item, as highlighted in <u>Figure 7.11</u>.

🖅 My Home	×	2			
SAP NetW	eaver Business Clie	ent			
My Home	Master Data	Rule Setup	Assessments	Access Management	Reports and Analytics
My Home					
	Work Inbox View a comprehens Quick Links	ive list of your G	RC workflow tasks		
÷	Ad Hoc Tasks Perform tasks as ne	eded (unschedu	iled)		
	Quick Links				
	Response Prop	osals			
	Incidents				
	Issues				
	Edit Closed Issu	es			

Figure 7.11 Ad Hoc Issues Option in the My Home Work Center

- The issues screen shows all the current Ad Hoc Issues that are reported by the user and also the list of ad hoc issues for which the user is responsible (Ad Hoc Issues
 Assigned to Me). To report a new ad hoc issue, click the Create button, as shown in the Figure 7.12.
- 6. The new Ad Hoc Issue screen will have three tabs, Issue Details, Regulation, and Attachments and Links, as shown in Figure 7.13.



Figure 7.12 Option to Create an Ad Hoc Issue

Draft Created E	y Karbika G Created On 26.07.2023 Upd	lated By	Updat	ied On
usue Details Re	gulation Attachments and Links	,		
• Name:	Duplicate Invoice payments			Notes
* Description:	As part of the regular internal audit process, we have tested the invoice records and identified there are duplicate payments made to 2 vendors against the same invoice record			B / U # # E E M >> E
* Priority:	High	¥		Payment records shows that duplicate payments were made to
Object Type:	Control	×		vendor 00012558 against the invoice number 1250000041 and 00013785 against the invoice number 1250000091
Object Name:	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Ó	Open	
Owner:	KARTHIKA	<u>6</u> 1		
Source:	Continuous Monitoring	v		X Cancel
* Issue Date:	26.07.2023	1		
		1000		

Figure 7.13Details to Be Filled in by the User Reporting the Ad HocIssue

- 7. On the **Issue Details** tab, fill in the following fields:
 - Name

Enter a short name to identify the ad hoc issue. This is free text where you can enter any name. However, it's recommended that you use a name that can help you identify the issue quickly.

Description

Add a detailed description of the ad hoc issue. Providing as much detail as possible about the issue will help the issue owner and the remediation owner understand the issue without delving too deeply into the details.

• Priority

Classify the criticality of the issue as **High**, **Medium**, or **Low**.

• Object Type

Select the type of the object against which the issue is to be reported. <u>Section 7.1.1</u> details the steps to configure/set up the object types for ad hoc issues.

Object Name

Select the object from the search against which the issue is to be reported. The objects in the search are available based on the object type selected in the previous step.

• Owner

The name of the owner responsible to respond to this issue is automatically populated by the system based on the custom agent determination rules defined for the default ad hoc issue processor. (Refer to Chapter 4, Section 4.2.3, to understand the process of defining custom agent determination rules for ad hoc issues.)

Note

The **Issue Owner** field is an optional selection by default. This field can be made mandatory from the Transaction SPRO settings. To enable, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click the SAP Reference IMG button, and follow menu path **Governance, Risk and Compliance** • Common Component Settings • Ad Hoc Issues • Define Issue Owner as Required Field.

Select the Activate checkbox for the AH_ISSUE_OWNER_REQ (Ad-hoc Issue Owner is required) indicator (see Figure 7.14). This will make the Issue Owner field mandatory while reporting an ad hoc issue.

< SAP							С	hange	View	/ "Ac	l-hoc
 	~	H	69	\$		00	00	Cancel	Ċ	Ċ	a
Ad-hoc Issue Owner is	require	d									
Indicator	Acti	ivate		1	fext						
AH_ISSUE_OWNER_RE	Q		ָרָר	A	d-hoc	Issue (Owner	is required	đ		

Figure 7.14Configuration to Make the Issue Owner Mandatory in AdHoc Issues

Note that Transaction SPRO changes require workbench modifications, and they must first be implemented in the development system. After the changes have been thoroughly tested, they can be transported to subsequent environments, such as testing and production.

• Source

Define the origin of the issue from where it was identified. Following are the options available by default. These options are automatically added with the activation of BC Set GRFN_AHISS_SOURCE:

- Continuous Monitoring
- Manual Control Performance
- Data Not Available
- Incorrect Data Entry

• System Down

Refer to <u>Section 7.1.2</u> to understand the process to review the default values or to add new values to the source list.

- **Issue Date** Enter the date on which the issue is identified.
- Due Date

Enter the date by which the issue should be remediated by the owner of the issue or the respective stakeholder responsible.

Notes

Users reporting issues can use this option to provide additional details and background regarding how the issue was identified. The issue owner and the remediation owner will be able to better understand the issue this way.

8. The **Regulation** tab fields are automatically populated from the **Issue Details** tab and are inherited from the selected object, as shown in <u>Figure 7.15</u>.



Figure 7.15 Regulation Tab

- 9. Use the **Attachments and Links** tab to attach any evidence to support the issue being reported. As shown in <u>Figure 7.16</u>, this tab provides two options:
 - Add File

This is used to add a file of any format, such as Microsoft Excel, Word, PowerPoint, and so on.

• Add Link

If the evidence is stored in a shared folder, the folder link can be embedded using this option.



Figure 7.16 Options Available to Attach Evidence while Reporting an Issue

 Once all the details of the issue are filled out, click Submit to trigger the notification and workflow to the issue owner to act.

Note

If there are additional details that need to be updated before submitting the issue, use the **Save Draft** option to save it.

11. On submitting the ad hoc issue, you'll receive a message that reads, **Issue successfully submitted for processing**.

In the next step, an issue remediation plan is assigned or implemented, or it can be closed without a plan. To better understand the topic, we'll describe both scenarios in the following section.

7.2.3 Issue Remediation

Once the ad hoc issue is reported, the issue owner receives a workflow with the details of the observation/issue reported. To view the actions pending, access the **Work Inbox** by following these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the My Home work center.
- 4. Under the **Work Inbox** work group, click the **Work Inbox** work item (refer to <u>Figure 7.11</u>).
- Click on the Process Control work items link in the header section, as highlighted in <u>Figure 7.17</u>. The Work Inbox will have the following details available:
 - **Subject** indicates the type of work item pending for action.
 - **Organization** details where the control is localized and being operated.
 - **Regulation** indicates the compliance needs we're meeting with this assessment.
 - **Status Ready** indicates that a new work item is added for review, Reserved indicates the ones accessed earlier and still pending for users' action.
 - **Object Name** indicates the name of the control/subprocess/organization for which the issue is reported.
 - **Created By** is the control owner who reported the ad hoc issue.

Active Queries				
Workitems All (76) Access Management (0) Process Control (76) Risk	Management (0)			
Workitems - Process Control				
View: *[Standard View] v				
C Subject 7	Organization	Regulation	Status	Object Name
Start Remediation for the Ad Hoc Issue Duplicate Invoice payments'	Power Generation	Sarbanes Oxley	Ready	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config

Figure 7.17 Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending for Action

- 6. Access the work item by clicking on the subject link to review the ad hoc issue reported. The owner can take one of the following actions on the work item, as shown in <u>Figure 7.18</u>:
 - Assign Remediation Plan This option is selected if the issue needs a detailed investigation and a fix to remediate it.
 - Close Without Plan

This option is used if the issue owner can resolve it without the need of a remediation plan by providing the evidence and comments justifying the reason to close the issue without plan.

• Reassign The Issue

The issue owner can transfer the responsibility to fix the issue to another user.

Ad Hoc Issue: D	uplica	te Invoice pay	/ments		_
Submit Assign Remedi	ation Plan	Close Without Plan	Reassign Th	e Issue	
Status Submitted Created	By Karthä	a G Created On 26.07	2023 Update	d By Ki	arthika G Updated On 26.07.2023
Issue Details Regula	ition Att	achments and Links			
* Name:	Duplicate	Invoice payments			 Notes
* Description:	As part o have test there are against th	f the regular internal auc ed the invoice records a duplicate payments ma te same invoice record	fit process, we nd identified de to 2 vendors		Karthika G - 26.07.2023 19:47:34 Payment records shows that duplicate payments were made to vendor 00012658
Priority:	High				against the invoice number 1250100041 and 00013785 against the invoice number
Object Type:	Control				125000091
Object Name:	Monitor D	uplicate Invoice Check	Config	Open	
Owner:	KARTHIK	(A			
Source:	Continuo	us Monitoring			
* Issue Date:	26.07.20	23			
Due Date:	27.07.20	23			
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail				C Add Note

Figure 7.18Options Available for the Issue Owner while Respondingto the Issue

The ad hoc issue will either be assigned to the remediation owner in the next stage or be closed by the issue owner. It can also be assigned to another issue owner if the current owner doesn't own the issue. Both scenarios are detailed in this section, starting with assigning the remediation plan:

- 1. The issue owner clicks on the **Assign Remediation Plan** option and creates a remediation plan with the following details, as shown in <u>Figure 7.19</u>:
 - **Plan Name** Brief definition about the remediation plan to be implemented.
 - Start Date

Indicates the date when the notification should be sent to the remediation owner.

• Due Date

Indicates the date by which the plan should be implemented.

• Owner

The owner who would be working on the remediation plan

Description

A detailed description of the evidence needed to be gathered and the expectations to be met by the remediation owner.

nit Assign Remediation Pl	an Close Without Plan	Reassign The	Issue			
us Submitted Created By Ka	thika G Created On 26	.07.2023 Updated	i By Karthika G. U	pdated On 26.07.2023		
Issue Details Regulation	Attachments and Links					
* Nar	ne: Duplicate Invoice p	ayments		 Notes 		
* Descript	on: As part of the regul have tested the inv there are duplicate against the same in	lar internal audit pr oice records and is payments made to nvoice record	ocess, we dentified a 2 vendors	Karthika G - 26.07.20 Payment records show	23 19:47:3 is that dup	4 6cate 10012658
* Prio	ity: High	Assign Ren	nediation Plar	1	□ ×	00041 at aber
Object Ty	pe: Control	* Plan Name:	Review and reco	ver the duplicate payment		
Object Nar	ne: Monitor Duplicate	* Start Date:	26.07.2023		171	
Own	INTER KARTHIKA	Due Date:	02.08.2023		1	
Sou	ce: Continuous Monite	* Owner:	KARTHIKA		õ	
* Issue D	nte: 26.07.2023	* Description:	Work with the par	ments team to recover	1	
Due D	nte: 27.07.2023		the duplicate pay	ments made to the		
Audit Tr	all: Audit Trail		Tendors mensor			
				OK (Cancel	

Figure 7.19 Issue Owner Assigning a Remediation Plan to Fix the Issue

 Once the remediation plan details are updated, information in the **Remediation Plan** tab must be reviewed. Clicking **Submit** will submit the ad hoc issue for further remediation, as shown in <u>Figure 7.20</u>.

Ad Hoc Issue: D)uplic	ate Invoice paym	ents					
Submit Assign Remed	lation Pla	un						
Status Submitted Created	By Kart	thika G Created On 26.07.20	23 Updated By I	Karthika G. Update	d On 26.07	2023		
Issue Details Regu	lation	Remediation Plan Attachme	nts and Links					
Remediation Plan								
						Reassign the	Plan	Remove
Name		Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Plan Owner	Aud	Trail
Review and recover	r the	Duplicate Invoice payments	Karthika G	26.07.2023	02.08.202	3 Karthika G	Aud	t Trail
Review and recover th	e duplica	ate payments						
0	vnec 8	Karthika G			Start Date:	26.07.2023		T
Proce	issor. 1	Karthika G		1.1	Due Date:	02.08.2023		T
Descri	ption:	Work with the payments team to duplicate payments made to the mentioned	o recover the evendors	Carryforwi Rev	erd Status: liewed By:	No Carryforward		

Figure 7.20 Issue Owner Submitting the Remediation Plan

Note

If the ad hoc issue requires multiple remediations plans to be implemented by different owners, the issue owner can report additional remediation plans using the **Assign Remediation Plan** button, located next to the **Submit** button.

3. Once the details of the remediation plans created are reviewed and submitted, a confirmation message will be shown, as highlighted in <u>Figure 7.21</u>.

a noc issue:	Duplic	ate Invoice paym	ents				
Data has been saved							
tatus Remediation Sta	rted Create	d By Karthika G Created On	26.07.2023 Up	dated By Karthi	a G Updated O	n 26.07.2023	
Issue Details Re	gulation 🥫	Inmediation Plan Attachmen	ts and Links				
Remediation PI	an						
						R	eassign the Plar
		Innua Mama	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Audit Trail	Plan Owner
Name		ISSUE INALITE					Fian Owner
Name Review and rec	over the	Duplicate Invoice payments	Karthika G	26.07.2023	02.08.2023	Audit Trail	Karthika G

Figure 7.21 Remediation Plan Created for the Ad hoc Issue

A workflow will be triggered for the remediation owner to work on the recommended remediation plan.

7.2.4 Implementation of Remediation Plan

The remediation owner can access the **Work Inbox** by following these steps once he receives a workflow for fixing the issue identified for the respective object:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the **My Home** work center.
- 4. Under the **Work Inbox** work group, click the **Work Inbox** work item.

- 5. Click the Process Control work item link in the header section, which will show the work items (refer to <u>Figure 7.17</u> to see this screen). Following are the details available in the screen:
 - **Subject** indicates the type of work item pending for action.
 - **Organization** details the name of the entity to which the object is related.
 - **Regulation** indicates the compliance requirement the object is complying with.
 - **Status** indicates the current status. **Ready** indicates that it's a new work item, and **Reserved** indicates the ones accessed earlier and still pending for user action.
 - **Object Name** indicates the name of the object (organization/subprocess/control) for which the ad hoc issue is reported and the remediation plan has to be implemented.
 - **Created By** is the issue owner who created the remediation plan.
- 6. The remediation owner reviews the issue report and the remediation plan by clicking the link in the **Subject** column. The following options are available to act on the work item:
 - **Reassign the Plan** The remediation owner can transfer the responsibility to implement the plan to another user.
 - Start the Plan The remediation owner has decided to start

implementing the plan and would like to upload evidence for the actions taken or the fixes performed. <u>Figure 7.22</u> shows both options.



Figure 7.22 Remediation Plan Actions

- 7. By clicking Start the Plan, the remediation owner can promptly identify and address the deviations within the process. This approach enables the owner to take timely remedial actions, preventing further damage and minimizing the impact of the issue at hand. Additionally, this process facilitates data collection, aids in understanding the root cause of the problem, and allows for the implementation of existing control measures to mitigate risks effectively. It gives the following options (see <u>Figure 7.23</u>):
 - Assign Next Processor
 The remediation owner can transfer the responsibility
 of implementing the remediation plan to a different
 user.
 - Complete

The remediation plan is implemented, and the completion is marked as 100%. However, it's required to perform the necessary remediation for the issue before marking it as completed.

Change Due Date

If the remediation owner requires additional time to implement the remediation plan, a request can be sent to the issue owner with a new due date. In this case, a separate workflow will be triggered to the issue owner to either accept or reject the change due date request.



Figure 7.23Options Available in the Remediation Plan ImplementationWindow

- 8. After successfully implementing the remediation plan, the remediation owner marks the progress percentage to indicate the stage of implementation and uploads any supporting evidence in the Attachments and Links section. Once the remediation activities are completed, set the Completion field at 100%, and click the Complete button to finish the remediation process. Finally, click Submit to officially close the remediation plan, as shown in Figure 7.24.
- The remediation plan status will be changed from Remediation Started to Resolved once submitted, and the remediation owner will receive the message Data has been saved.

tus Remediation Started Created By	Karthika G. Created On 26.07.2	223 Updated By Ki	erthika G. Updat	ed On 26.87.28	23		
Issue Details Regulation Rem	ediation Plan Attachments and L	inks					
Remediation Plan							
			Assig	n Next Processo	Complete	Change Due 0	
Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Plan Owner	Audit Trail	
Review and recover the duplica.	. Duplicate Invoice payments	Karthika G	26.07.2023	02.08.2023	DRISHTI	Audit Trail	
Review and recover the duplicate p	aymenta						
Owner:	CRISHTI			Start Date: 24	07.2023		
Processor:	CRISHTI			Due Date: 02	02.08.2923		
Description:	Work with the payments team to re	cover	Canyforw	ard Status: No	No Carryforward		
	cupecase payments		Re	viewed By:			
			Re	viewed On:			
Type:	Ad Hoc Issue		0	Created By: Ka	ittika G		
Status	Remediation Started		0	reated On: 24	07.2023		

Figure 7.24 Remediation Owner Submitting the Work Item for the Issue Owner's Review

7.2.5 Close Issue

Following the implementation of the remediation plan, the issue owner receives a review workflow to review the remediations implemented and evidence provided in the **Attachments and Links** tab. An issue owner can view the actions pending in his Transaction NWBC Work Inbox. A **Close Issue: Ad Hoc Issue** work item will be displayed to the issue owner, as shown in <u>Figure 7.25</u>.

Active Queries									
Workitems All (77) Acces	s Mar	agement (0) Process	s Cantrol (77)	Risk Man	agement (0)				
Workitems - Process	Cor	ntrol							
							Change Que	ry Define New Q	uery Person
View: * (Standard View)	×							Print Version	Export _
D Subject	7	Organization	Regulation	Status 7	Due Date	Created On	Object Name		Created D
Close Issue: Ad Hoc	tsue	Power Generation		Ready	02.08.2023	26.07.2023 21:16:40	Monitor Duplicate Invo	ice Check Config	Kathika G

Figure 7.25Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending for Action

The issue owner can access the work item by clicking the **Subject** line, which will have the following:

- Detailed comments by the remediation owner about the actions taken
- Evidence uploaded in the **Attachments and Links** section

Once the details are reviewed, the remediation owner will have two options:

Close

If all the details provided are correct, the reviewer can close the case by clicking the **Close** button. The workflow ends here, indicating the issue is fixed.

Reopen

If the details provided are incomplete, the reviewer, that is, the issue owner, can reopen the issue by clicking the **Reopen** button. The workflow is retriggered to the remediation owner. Prior to submitting it back, the remediation owner must perform any necessary remediation or corrections. The options are shown in <u>Figure 7.26</u>.

d Hoc Issue: D	uplicate Invo	ice payments				
tus Remediation Started	Created By Karthika	G Created On 26.07.202	3 Updated By D	RISHTI Updated	Dn 26.07.2023	
Issue Details Regul	ation Remediation P	Attachments and Lin	is .			
Remediation Plan						
					[Close Rec
Name	Issue Name	Issue Owr	er Start Date	Due Date	Audit Trail	Plan Owner
Review and recove	r the Duplicate Inv	oice payme Karthika G	26.07.2023	02.08.2023	Audit Trail	DRISHTI

Figure 7.26 Remediation Plan Tab: Review Work Item for the Control Design Assessment

Once the remediation owner clicks on **Close**, the status of the plan is changed from **Resolved** to **Closed**, and a

confirmation message is received that the workflow is submitted (see <u>Figure 7.27</u>).

Ad Hoc Issu	e: Duplic	ate Invoice payn	nents		
Data has been saved					
Status Remediation	Started Create	d By Karthika G Created O	n 27.07.2023 Uş	odated By Karthika	G Updated On 27.07.2023
Name		Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date
Review and	recover the	Duplicate Invoice payme	Karthika G	27.07.2023	02.08.2023
Review and reco	over the duplica	DDISHTI			E Charle Date
	Bracase	DRISHTI			- Start Date
	Descriptio	Wedwith the environment			Camforward Status
	Descripte	duplicate payments may	de	ie -	Devlawed B
					Reviewed Or
					Constant Di
	Тур	e: Ad Hoc Issue			Created On
	Stat.	s: Closed			created on
	Completio	n: 100%			

Figure 7.27 Issue Owner Approving the Implemented Remediation Plan

Once the remediation plan has been implemented and the issue has been resolved, the workflow concludes, and the results can be reviewed using the standard reports.

It's possible to close an ad hoc issue without a remediation plan. By clicking on **Close Without Plan**, the issue owner provides comments supporting the decision to close an issue without a remediation plan. Additionally, supporting files can be uploaded in the **Attachments and Links** tab. Clicking the **Submit** button will end the workflow, and no further action is required, as shown in <u>Figure 7.28</u>.

Assign Remediation Plan	Close Without Plan	Reassign The Issue		
mitted Created By Karthi	ka G Created On 03.0	07.2023 Updated By Karthika G Updated (Dn 03.07.2023	
_				
Regulation At	tachments and Links			
1 Married				
- Adding	Close Without	Plan		 Notes
 Description 		The second se		
	- Comminia.	the payments are arready recovered from the vendors and evidences for the receipt		
		of the same are attached		
* Priorite				Add Note
Object Type				
Control 1 has				
Object Name			Lord Loronz	
Owne			OK Cancel	
Source	Continuous Monitor	ng	_	
* Issue Date	03.07.2023			

Figure 7.28 Issue Owner Closing the Issue without a Plan

Figure 7.29 shows the **Issue Details** tab with the **Status** and **Comments**, along with other information.



Figure 7.29 Ad Hoc Issue Closed without a Plan

7.3 Reporting

SAP Process Control provides a standard Ad Hoc Issue report that provides management with a summary of all the ad hoc issues reported in the organization. This interactive report provides hyperlinks with which you can access the issues or remediation plans to see the complete details.

To access the report, following these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the **Assessments** work center.
- 4. Under the **Reports** work group, click the **Ad Hoc Issue Report** work item.
- 5. Use the options in <u>Table 7.2</u> to filter the data before extracting the results, as shown in <u>Figure 7.30</u>.

Ad Hoc issue, Remediation Plan and CAPA Plan Status						
Selection						
Selection variant:			¥	Delete Variant	Save Variant	
* Period:	Year		×			
* Year:	2023 🗸					
Organization:			ć	7		
Object Type:	All			v		
Object Name:						
Status:	✓ Draft ✓ Sut	omitted 🗹 In	itial 🗸 Rem	ediation Started	Cancelled Close	
Priority:	🗸 High 🖌	Medium	Low			
Issue Regulation:	🗸 SOX 🗹	Sarbanes C	odey			
Long text:	v					
Execution Method:	Generate Re	oort Online	Gene	rate Report in Ba	ckaround	

Figure 7.30 Selection Screen to Generate a Report of Ad Hoc Issues

Selection Criteria	Description
Period	Indicates the time frame for which the report has to be generated; for example, you can filter for any specific month, quarter, half year, or whole year.
Year	Indicates the year for which the data has to be considered for report generation.
Organization	Name of the organization against which the issue is reported directly or where the object is localized for which the issue is reported.
Object Type	Select a specific object type (refer to Section 7.1.1 to understand more about object types for ad hoc issues) if the report is to be extracted for that, or select All if no such filter is required for a specific object type.
Object Name	Provide the name of the object based on the type selected in the previous step.
Status	This works as a filter if the report is to be generated for only those issues based on the current status. Figure 7.30 shows the options available for status filters.

Selection Criteria	Description
Priority	This works as a filter if the report is to be generated for only those issues based on the priority. <u>Figure 7.30</u> shows the options available for status filters.
Issue Regulation	This works as a filter if the report is to be generated for only those issues reported against a specific regulation.



6. Based on the selection criteria from the previous step, the generated reports show the details of all ad hoc issues and their corresponding remediation plans. It contains hyperlinks with which you can navigate to the issue or remediation plan where all the details can be reviewed. The **Hierarchy** column displays details of the object and its parent entities up to the organization level, as shown in Figure 7.31.

Ad Hoc issue, Remediation Plan and C	APA Plan S	tatus				Personali
Ad Hoc issue, Remediation Plan and CAPA Plan Status						
Selector						
Result						
				Expand All	Collepse All	Print or Export
Herarchy	Object Type	Organization	Original Object		Report by (Issue)	Issue Priority
Ethiopian Electric Power	Organization	Ethiopian Electric Power				
Power Generation	Organization	Power Generation				
 A EEP Process Herarchy 	Process	Power Generation				
 A Procure to Pay 	Process	Power Generation				
 Duplicate Invoice payments 	Ad Hoc Issue	Power Generation	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check	Config	Kamika G	High
Review and recover the duplicate peyments	Remodution plan	Power Generation	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check	Config	Kathka G	High
 Duplicate Invoice payments 	Ad Hoc Issue	Power Generation	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check	Config	Kamka G	High
Review and recover the duplicate payments	Remediation plan	Power Generation	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check	Config	Kathka G	High

Figure 7.31 Ad Hoc Issue Report to See the Details of Issues and Remediation Plans

7.4 Summary

An organization's controls team can use ad hoc issue management to identify and report internal control issues efficiently. By using this process, the organization is able to monitor its processes continuously. Ad hoc issues can be assigned to responsible owners who must take action. Owners can either close the issue without a remediation plan or assign one. The remediation owner then implements the plan and submits it to the issue owner for review before closing the issue. It's also possible to track the number of ad hoc issues reported within a specified period and monitor their status using SAP Process Control standard reports.

Moreover, issues arising from manual control performance and disclosure surveys can be tracked with the ad hoc issues functionality. <u>Chapter 6</u> and <u>Chapter 9</u> detail the reporting and tracking process for these issues.

8 Continuous Control Monitoring

While the previous chapters provided an overview of how control assessments can be performed, the key functionality in SAP Process Control is to automate the testing process of the controls, which is referred to as continuous control monitoring or automated monitoring. This chapter provides the details of the configurations required to enable usage of this functionality.

The previous chapters have provided a comprehensive overview on how the controls undergo various types of evaluations such as design assessment, self-assessment, and so on, as well as how manual control controls are tested for operating effectiveness, including the process of reporting any issues that are observed as part of the testing procedure. We've also delved into the procedure for reporting any ad hoc issues that may arise within the organization, whether they pertain to controls or other master data elements.

This chapter focuses on the definition and assessment of automated controls' operational effectiveness. It elucidates how business rules are employed, various methods for retrieving data from the target system through data sources, the process of addressing issues, and the transportation of rules across the SAP Process Control landscape.

8.1 Introduction to Continuous Control Monitoring

Continuous control monitoring (CCM) stands as a key feature within SAP Process Control. It's designed to automate the evaluation of control effectiveness where the system retrieves data from the target system and analyzes the data based on defined logic to identify potential deviations from the control's intended objectives. These identified deviations are then reported as deficiencies to the control owner, referred to as the issue owner, who is responsible for taking the necessary corrective actions.

To use the capabilities of this feature, it's required to have the GRC plug-in (GRCPINW) component installed on the backend system where the relevant data resides. For a more in-depth understanding of the prerequisites related to this component, refer to <u>Chapter 3</u>.

The standard or conventional process of testing controls in a manual environment relies on the internal audit or controls team. The typical challenges associated with this manual process are as follows:

• The internal audit or controls team is required to collect business information through interviews and walkthrough sessions with process owners. This is a time-consuming activity, and involving key process owners in these interviews or discussions can be quite challenging.

- Data analysis is performed manually using various tools such as Microsoft Excel VLOOKUP and validations. This not only demands significant manual effort to test the complete set of controls but also opens up the possibility of human errors.
- To manage the workload, control testing is scheduled on a quarterly, semiannual, or annual basis depending on the volume of controls that need to be examined.
- Control testing results are based on the samples selected by the testers, rather than testing the entire population. This is due to the difficulties in analyzing the entire dataset, considering the high volumes of transactions that organizations deal with.

The CCM functionality within SAP Process Control is the answer! CCM serves as a vigilant watchdog, continuously monitoring system data and promptly alerting issue owners when deviations are detected in near real time. This approach facilitates the timely resolution of issues, eliminating the need to wait till the quarterly or yearly assessments by internal control or audit teams. CCM can be configured to run at different intervals, whether on an hourly, daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly, or yearly basis, depending on the control's criticality. Moreover, CCM evaluates 100% of the population, ensuring completeness and accuracy in the testing process and providing comprehensive assurance. CCM has the capability to monitor system data (including the changes using Remote Function Calls [RFCs]), as highlighted in <u>Table 8.1</u>.

System Item	What Can Be Monitored?
Configurations	Table data can be monitored to validate them against desired values of the configuration, or any changes made to the configuration can be monitored to make sure the changes made are genuine and the control owners are aware of the changes. If the changes aren't part of any approved requests, the control owner can initiate a remediation plan to investigate the changes made to the configuration. You can monitor table data to verify its alignment with the specified configuration values or monitor the configuration changes to ensure their authenticity, with control owners being informed of these changes. If the changes don't correspond to approved requests, the control owner can trigger a remediation plan to scrutinize the changes made to the configuration, for example, three-way match configuration checks, such as tolerance settings or payment configuration checks.
	-

System Item	What Can Be Monitored?
Master data	Master data configuration changes can be monitored, such as vendor master, customer master, and so on. These changes can be monitored to ensure all the required key fields are maintained while defining the master data. For example, you can monitor key fields in vendor master data to ensure completeness of the vendor record.
Transactional data	Transactional data such as purchase orders, sale orders, or invoices can be monitored against various internal policies to ensure there are no fraudulent activities taking place in the process. For example, you can monitor invoice data to identify any duplicate invoices that have been processed.

Table 8.1Datasets to Establish CCM

Figure 8.1 provides an overview of how the CCM functionality fetches the data and reports issues to the issue owners.



Figure 8.1Process Depiction of the CCM Functionality

With CCM, issue owners no longer need to wait for internal control/audit teams to report or highlight an issue. It continuously monitors the controls and triggers email to the owners for issue resolution. Here are several key benefits that organizations can achieve by using the CCM functionality:

Exception-based monitoring

CCM jobs can be set to run at regular intervals. The GRC team has the capability to schedule controls for an extended duration such as one to two years, and the system automates all the remaining tasks. Issue owners will receive notifications automatically when an exception is detected. If no exceptions are found during a job run, the system won't generate any notifications.

100% population

Testing is conducted across the entire population rather than relying on sample testing, providing a comprehensive view of the control's operational effectiveness within the organization.

Find problems faster and easier

Critical or key controls can be scheduled to run more frequently, such as daily or hourly. This allows for near real-time notifications of any process deviations, enabling faster issue resolution without significantly increasing the risk of control failure.

Workflow driven

Based on the workflow configurations, the issues are routed to the control owner who can either fix the issue on his own or create a remediation plan to the responsible person to fix the issue. All these stages of issue remediation are workflow driven, and evidences of issue fixes will be available as an audit trial that can be reviewed by the audit teams at the end of the year to check the effectiveness of the control.

8.2 Data Sources

When implementing the CCM feature for the first time or when adding a new control to the scope of automated monitoring, it's important for the GRC admin team or the individual responsible for configuring the controls to conduct a design walkthrough workshop with the process owners. This workshop is essential for understanding how data flows within the SAP S/4HANA or SAP ERP systems. It's also vital to understand the source of the data within the SAP S/4HANA or SAP ERP system. The data to be analyzed may be present in tables, ABAP reports, or queries.

Once the data source has been identified, the initial step involves configuring the data source to retrieve the data in the SAP Process Control system. Subsequently, a business rule is defined to establish the logic for testing the effectiveness of the control.

This section provides an explanation of defining a data source, outlines key subscenarios available in the standard SAP solution for data retrieval, and details how configurable subscenarios can be effectively used.

8.2.1 Usage of Configurable Subscenarios

A subscenario is a specific type of data source used to retrieve data from the target system into the SAP Process Control application. SAP offers various subscenarios tailored to different types of systems and data storage methods. These subscenarios are discussed in <u>Section 8.2.2</u>. A configurable subscenario is particularly useful for monitoring system configurations or master data stored in tables. It helps ensure that these configurations align with the organization's policies. This form of data analysis is referred to as a *value check*. If the data is stored in multiple tables, you can monitor it by joining these tables. The process of joining is discussed in detail in the following subsections.

Additionally, you can use the standard functionality of a configurable subscenario to monitor changes made to table data. This type of data analysis is known as a *change log check*. Change logs for tables can be retrieved from Transaction SCU3, and SAP Process Control provides a built-in feature to fetch changes from the Transaction SCU3 handler for respective tables using a configurable subscenario.

The following sections provide a detailed explanation of the process for defining the data source and the steps to configure it.

Scenario

Before creating a data source using a configurable subscenario, it's important to identify the specific tables in the target system where the data is stored. <u>Table 8.2</u> outlines the process of configuring a data source when duplicate invoice checks are in place in SAP S/4HANA or SAP ERP.

Detail Description

Detail	Description
What is the risk?	The risk is excessive payments leading to financial loss if duplicate invoices are processed.
Configuration	The duplicate invoice check configuration ensures that the system examines invoices for duplicates by considering specific parameters set during invoice generation, such as the company code, reference number, and invoice date. These configurations are individually managed at the company code level, allowing the organization to activate all three checks or any combination of them based on their specific needs.
Transaction	These configurations are maintained using Transaction OMRDC.
Table	Data is stored in table T169P.

Table 8.2Configuring an Automated Control in SAP Process Control

Important

To identify the table where the data is stored and to find the technical name of the field, press the F1 key after placing the cursor on the field configuration, and then click **Technical Information** in the menu bar, which will provide the required details. Once the details of the control are identified along with the name of tables where the data is stored, proceed to the steps to configure the data source as outlined in the next section.

Configuration of the Data Source

To review the existing data sources or to create a new one, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the **Rule Setup** work center, and under the **Continuous Monitoring** work group, execute the **Data Sources** work item.
- 4. From the **Data Sources** page, click **Create**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.2</u>, and navigate to the various tabs to start configuring a data source.

Activ	e Queries							
Duta	Sources Talls	(18) Fixed Date (0)						
Data	Sources - 1	loday						
160	Oukli Criteria M	faintenance			Change Due:	y Define New G	ivery Pers	onalize
	and the second							
	 9191262 4191262 	1						
-	W CHA							
Ves	C [Standard Vie	el v Create Open Delete Crezy				Print Version	Export,	*
Ð	Object ID	Name	Start Date	End Date	Description			-
	ED/50008723	TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	01013022	31.12.9999	Cata source is related to critical profiles monitoring			
	EC/50008738	Monitor program changes for sunform loode	91.01.2022	31.12.9999	Monitor if a program for a conton hansaction is changed without infor captures changes to transaction codes. Export exception if program is transaction.	ming Security 1 s changed for a	wile TSTC cution	÷
	£0/50008748	to monitor plant open and close	01012022	31.12.9999	to monitor plant open and close			
	E0/50001142	To monitor inactive users	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	To monitor inactive users			
	EC/50008753	to monifor quantity in goods receiption	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	To ensure all the invoice in quantity equal to respective goods receipt			
	£0/50008784	MONITOR ASSIGNMENT OF SAP STANDARD ROLE	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	MONITOR ASSIGNMENT OF SAP STANDARD ROLE			
	ED/50008772	Access to maintain profile parameters	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	Access to maintain profile parameters in production via transaction 3, access to maintain profile parameters in production is restricted to ap	210 should be in propriate roles	nikoć Enev	"
	EC/50006777	Check Email Address is Blank. for user	01013022	31.12.9999	Check Email Address is Blank for user All user should have valid Em	al address		
	EC/50000779	Monitor access to ortical actions SM30	01012022	31.12.9999	Munitor access to critical actions \$1050			
	EC/50000134	Self Assignment of Role	01012022	31.12.9999	Self Assignment of Rate			
	60/50008796	USER GROUP NOT ASSIGNED LIST	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	USER GROUP NOT ASSIGNED LIST			
	P.O.COMPACT	California performa 2021/2 dista provense	84.84 3623	34 12 0000	College action (271), data program			

Figure 8.2 Create a Data Source

The data source configuration has the **General** tab, **Object Field** tab, **Adhoc Query** tab, and **Connectors** tab. Each of
these tabs are detailed in the following sections.

General Tab

The **General** tab is used to define data source basic information such as **Data Source**, **Description**, **Valid From**, and **Valid To** fields, as shown in <u>Figure 8.3</u>. This definition is similar to the other master data definitions.

Additionally, the following fields must be defined:

• Status

Indicates the current status of the data source. It has four options:

- New: When a new data source is being created, the data source is shown with this status.
- In Review: The data source should be updated to this status when it's saved for the first time.
- Active: This status appears when the data source is reopened after saving it as In Review. Only active data sources and business rules can be used for scheduling automated controls for monitoring.
- Inactive: If the data source is no longer valid, the same can be marked as inactive. Once marked as inactive, it will no longer be available for creation of a business rule.

Data Sour	ce h					G
General	Object Field	at Modified On Attachments and Links				
General						
* Data Source:	Duplicate Invocie Chec	k Configurations		* Valid From:	01.01.2023	T
Description:	Fetch details of the con	figuration duplicate invoice check from th	e table	* Valid To:	31.12.9999	1
	11004			Status:	Neve	~
Search Term	•					
	Term 1:	Term 2	Term 3:	Term 4:	Te	em 5:
	¥	~	¥	~		~

Figure 8.3 Data Source Configuration: General Tab

Search Term

This is an optional configuration that can be activated using the Transaction SPRO settings. These search terms can be used while creating a business rule, allowing users to select relevant search terms from the provided dropdown menu, as shown in <u>Figure 8.4</u>. Further, <u>Section 8.3</u> details the steps to create a business rule and the process of using search terms.

Data Sour	ce					
Refe	sh					
limetrame 01.0	1.2023 ID 50001302 La	at Modified On				
General	Object Field	Attachments and Links				
General						
* Data Source:	Duplicate Invocie Check	k Configurations		* Valid From:	01.01.2023	T
Description	Fetch details of the con	fguration duplicate invoice check	from the table	* Valid Te:	31.12.9999	17
	116982			Status	New	*
Search Terr	n					
	Term 1	Term 2	Tem 3.	Term 4	Term 5.	
		•	•	•	•	
Invoicing						
Purchase Ord	ler					
Purchase Rec	puisition					

Figure 8.4 Selection of Search Terms from Dropdowns

To maintain values for the search term, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.

- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Maintain Search Terms for Business Rule and Data Source.
- 5. To review the current search terms or to create new ones, click Search Term in the Dialog Structure. You can view all the search terms in the view. To add new terms to the list, click New Entries, and provide a unique Search Term ID and Search Term description, as outlined in Figure 8.5.

< SAP			Change \	/iew	"Se	arch	Ter	m": (Over	view	
 ✓ 	8	69	New Entries	6	Θ	5	:5	88	85	Cancel	Ċ
Dialog Structure	Searc S IN PO PR	ch Tei earch V	m Term ID	Se Pur Pur	arch T alcing chase chase	ierm Order Requi	sition	7	0		

Figure 8.5 Configuration of Search Terms

6. Optionally, select Enable Search Term, which can be disabled at the data source or business rule level. You can review the current status, as shown in Figure 8.6. In the Entity ID field, EO represents data source and BR represents business rule. The Index column indicates the activation status. If the organization decides to disable the usage of search terms, uncheck the Index box for the entity.

< SAP	Display Vie	w "Enable Sea	rch Term": Overview
 	15 88 88 Car	ncel (* (* (*	G
Dialog Structure	Enable Search Term		0
∼ 🕤 Enable Search Term	Entity ID	Index	0
Search Term Assignme	E0	V	I

Figure 8.6 Activation Status of Search Terms

7. Once the organization decides to make use of search terms while defining business rules and assigning business rules to controls, assign the relevant search terms to the data source and business rules. To review the current assignments for Data Source, select EO from the Entity ID column, and then click Search Term Assignment from the Dialog Structure, which shows the current search terms assigned (see Figure 8.7). To assign new search terms, click New Entries, and select the search terms created as shown in the previous step.

< 💁	Change Vi	ew "Search Term A	Assignment": Overview
 <th>🔗 New Entries 🔒</th><th>⊝ 5 8 8 8</th><th>8 Cancel (* (* (* (* (*</th>	🔗 New Entries 🔒	⊝ 5 8 8 8	8 Cancel (* (* (* (* (*
Dialog Structure Search Term Enable Search Term	Entity ID E0 Data Sc	<u>g</u> wrce	
Search Term Assignment	Search Term Assignment		0
	Search Term ID	Search Term	
	INV INV	Invoicing	0
	P0	Purchase Order	
	PR	Purchase Requisition	

Figure 8.7 Configuration to Map Search Terms to Data Source

Once the general details are updated for a data source, navigate to the **Object Field** tab where the details of the target system RFC, type of subscenario, table, and fields are configured.

Object Field Tab

Fields in this tab are used to configure the subscenario, table, and fields from which the data has to be fetched from the target system. Each of the options in the **Sub Scenario** dropdown are detailed in <u>Table 8.3</u>. For the selected control, select the **Configurable** option from the dropdown, as shown in <u>Figure 8.8</u>.

Data Sourc	e	
Save Refresh		
Timeframe 01.01.2	2023 ID 50001386 Last Modified On	
General C	bject Field Attachments and Links	
Sub Scenario	,	
* Sub Scenario:	Configurable	Connection Type:
	ABAP Report	
Parameters	HANA	
	SoD Integration	
	BW Query	
Fields	Configurable	
	Event	
	External Partner	
	Process Integration	
	Programmed	
	SAP Query	

Figure 8.8Sub Scenario Selection in the Data Source Screen



Subscenario Name	Explanation
Configurable	This subscenario option offers a method to monitor configuration and master data changes during the testing period or to validate specific values at a particular moment. It also alerts the control owner when violations are detected. Examples include three-way match configuration checks and monitoring changes to critical fields in vendor master data.
ABAP Report	This option uses the SAP-delivered standard ABAP reports that stores required data. These can be used directly as an input to the control. There is no additional effort needed to identify and fetch tables or join multiple tables to create a data source. For example, report RSUSR102 can be used to identify any profile changes to sensitive users such as SAP*, and report RSUSR200 can be used to identify users who have never changed their passwords.

Subscenario Name	Explanation
HANA	While monitoring transactional data, there might be a requirement to validate large volumes of data. In those cases, this subscenario option can be used. It provides a platform to the user to leverage the SAP HANA database's processing power to crunch data and present results. Calculation views offer much greater flexibility and expressive power. Examples include analyzing purchase order data and analyzing duplicate invoices.
SoD Integration	This is an integration between SAP Access Control and SAP Process Control. This subscenario doesn't need any RFC to fetch data from the target system and this gets data from SAP Access Control. This subscenario provides a means to monitor critical access, permissions, and segregation of duties (SoD) assigned to the users or at the role level. However, SAP Access Control must be configured. A few of the scenarios are users assigned with critical SoD, users assigned with critical access, and so on.

Subscenario Name	Explanation
BW Query	This subscenario can be used to consume SAP Business Warehouse (SAP BW) queries. They can be fetched to monitor controls easily. SAP BW query creation also has an additional capability to fetch data from data lake platforms that store data coming from different systems using certain application programming interface (API) calls. Examples include supplier invoices for processing and split purchase orders monitoring.
Event	Event-based monitoring is a method to monitor controls on a real-time basis, which is key for business-critical controls that have a huge impact on the organization. This subscenario requires usage of web services and configuration of business add-ins (BAdIs) to define event rules to notify the control owners immediately as and when a violation occurs in the system. An example is sensitive data maintenance such as a change in the vendor bank account.

Subscenario Name	Explanation
External Partner	This subscenario is used to monitor data stored in other non-SAP external systems using web services, for example, sales order data processed in a non-SAP system. This requires additional third-party connectors to fetch data.
Process Integration	This subscenario is used to monitor data stored in other non-SAP external systems using third-party connectors and proxies created in the target system.
Programmed	Data within SAP S/4HANA or SAP ERP systems that can't be accessed through configurable or query scenarios can be observed by using a programmed subscenario via ABAP support. This requires the development of a custom class for fetching specific information. Examples include moving average price change impact and purchase orders created with incorrect procedures.

Subscenario Name	Explanation
SAP Query	This subscenario offers the capability to join multiple tables. Additionally, ABAP code can be added within the query to get more precise data and eliminate duplicate records. Furthermore, it provides the ability to create custom fields in the final output, which can be subsequently monitored in CCM. Examples include vendor/customer credit notes percentages and internal orders: plan/budget vs. actual value.

 Table 8.3
 Overview of Available Subscenarios in Defining a Data Source

The other fields in the **Object Field** tab are as follows:

Connection Type

Indicates the type of system, SAP S/4HANA or SAP ERP, where the process is managed. SAP Process Control has **S4HANA** and **SAP System** as two connection types by default, where the relevant connectors are mapped. <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.4.2</u>, details more on the process of mapping connectors against these connection types. For easy understanding, we suggest selecting **SAP System** from the dropdown.

Main Connector

As explained in the data source overview, the main objective of the data source is to connect to the target system to fetch data from the tables. **Main Connector** acts the bridge to support the SAP Process Control system to connect to the target systems and read data. Select the connector ID from the search screen, which has the list of connectors configured in Transaction SPRO (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.4.3</u>, to understand the process of mapping connectors to the various data source subscenarios). Select the **Target Connector** from the popup window, as shown in <u>Figure 8.9</u>. The connector selected in this field is referred to as the *main connector.* If you want to monitor the same control for other SAP systems within your organization's landscape, you can select the additional connector IDs in the **Connector** tab.

Timetrame 14.11.2023 ID 50001459 Last Medified On General Object Field Adhoc Query Connector Attachments and Links Sub Scenario * Sub Scenario Configurable * Connection Type SA	
Sub Scenario Contiguable v * Connection Type SA	
General Object Field Adhoc Query Connector Attachments and Links Sub Scenario * Sub Scenario Configurable * Connection Type SM	
Sub Scenario * Sub Scenario Configurable * Connection Type: 54	
* Sub Scenario: Configurable v Connection Type: 54	
	P System V
Parameters Search: Main Connector	
Main Connector: 137 Target Connector	Connector Desc.
Main Table: TGDCL100	GRC 12 TO TGD 100
TNDCLNT100	For TND client 100
TSDCLNT100	G12 to TSD 100

Figure 8.9 Selection of the Main Connector in the Data Source

Once the target connector is selected, it provides the option to select the tables and fields where the data is stored in the target system.

• Main Table

Once the connector is selected, the next step is to select the table where the data is stored in the target system. Identification of the table can be done either during the design workshops based on the inputs from the business process functional teams or by following these steps:

- Navigate to the configuration where the data is maintained.
- Place the cursor on the field to analyze.
- Press the F1 key, and then click on Technical Information.
- The popup provides Table Name and Field Name details where the data is stored as highlighted in Figure 8.10.
- Main Table Lookup
 After identifying the table details, you can choose the table in the data source by selecting the Main Table
 Lookup option. Input the Table Name, and click Apply.
 From the results, select the desired table, and click OK, as highlighted in Figure 8.11.

Note that understanding the table type is critical as it serves as a filter when searching for tables. The default is **Transparent table**. However, if the table is of a different type, such as **Cluster table**, **Pooled table**, or **Generated View Structure**, make sure to choose the appropriate type from the dropdown menu, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.12</u>, before searching for the specific table.

		=	Technical Information	,
Co., Name	Check co. code	Screen Data		
0001 SAP A.G.		Program Name	SAPLOMPP	
RECO Sondereigentum (WEG)	2	Screen Number	0024	_
REOB Referenz Objektmandate				
RERF WEG Referenzbuchungskreis		GUI Data		
		Program Name	SAPLSVIM	
		Status	ESLG	_
		Field Data		_
		Table Name	V_169P_DC	
		Table Category	Generated view structure	
		Field Name	XBUKRS	
		Data Element	X_BUKRS	
		Field Description for	or Batch Input	
0		Screen Field	V_169P_DC-X8UKRS	

Figure 8.10 Identification of Table and Field Technical Information

General C	Object Field	Adhoc Query	Connector	Attachments and L	.inks			
Sub Scenario	o							
* Sub Scenario:	Configurable		~	* Conn	ection Type:	SAP System		
Parameters								
Main Connector. Main Table:	TNDCLNT100	ć	Main Table Loo	tup				
Lookup				_				×
Table Name T	169P	Table Description	1	Table Type:	Transparen	t table	¥	^
Table Na	ne				Description	n		Ē
T169P					Parameter	s, Invoice Verificatio	n >	×

Figure 8.11 Selection of Main Table in the Data Source

Data Source		
Save Refresh		
Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 50001459 Last Modified On		
General Object Field Adhoc Query Connector	Attachn	nents and Links
Sub Scenario		
* Sub Scenario Configurable V	Connection T	ype: SAP System
Lookup		
Table Name Table Description	Table Type:	Transparent table
Apply Clear		Transparent table
	_	Cluster table
Table Name		Pooled table
		Generated View Structure
		•
<		>
		OK Cancel

Figure 8.12 Selection of Table Types

If you want to know the type of table, follow these steps:

- Go to Transaction SE11.
- Enter the name of the table, and click **Display**.
- The type of the table is displayed before the table name in the **Dictionary** screen, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.13</u>.

< SAP Dictionary: Display Table						
 Image: Second sec	~ Ø B 4	8 % % &	2.00 8	8 🕅 Technical Settings	Indexes More 🗸	
Transparent Table	T169P	Active				
Short Description	Parameters, Invoice Ver	fication				
Attributes Delive	ery and Maintenance	Fields Input	Help/Check	Currency/Quantity Fields		
	×98*	Sich Help	Bult-In 1	lype	1 / 31	
Field	Key Init Data eleme	nt Data Type	Length Deci.	Short Description		
MANDT	MANOT	CLNT	3	0 Client		
D BUKRS	C C BUKRS	CHAR	4	0 Company Code		
XEKAN	C C XEKAN	CHAR	1	0 Indicator: notification of purch	use order header texts	

Figure 8.13 Identification of Table Type from Transaction SE11

Returning to the **Object Field** tab, in situations where data is needed from multiple tables, it becomes necessary to join tables to gather the required information. The **Related Tables** option can be used to create a more meaningful report that offers control owners the most relevant data for deciding on action plans to address identified deficiencies.

For example, in the given scenario where we're monitoring data to assess the effectiveness of duplicate invoice configuration maintenance, the primary data is stored in table T169P. However, if the control owner also requires the company code description, an additional table must be joined because this information isn't available in table T169P. To achieve this, you need to join table T169P with table T001, which contains company code IDs and descriptions.

To add, click on **Related Table Lookup**, input the **Table Name**, and click **Apply**. Once the table name is displayed in the results, select it by clicking the downward arrow to add the table to the selection, and then click **OK** to complete the table join, as detailed in Figure 8.14.

Barrer Reference Table Contrast Reference Table Contrast C	Data Sourc	e			
Timetrame 14.11 2023 ID 50001459 Last Modified On Related Table Lookup × General Object Field Adhoc Query Con Table Name: Con Reference Tables Sub Scenario Table Name Description	Save Retrest				
Conneral Object Field Adhoc Query Con Sub Scenario * Sub Scenario Configurable Description Configurable Conf	Timeframe 14.11.2	2023 ID 50001459 Last Modified On	Related Table Lookup		\square ×
Sub Scenario Sub Scenario Configurable	General O	bject Field Adhoc Query Cor	Table Name: [601	Reference Tables	0 0 ^
* Sub Scenario Configurable	Out Conned		Table Name	Description	
* Sub Scenario: Configurable	sub scenario	,			_
	* Sub Scenario:	Configurable			
Parameters	Parameters				- 1
Main Connector: TNDCLNT100	Main Connector:	TNDCLNT100			- 1
Main Table: T169P M	Main Table:	T169P		- ¥ 🔺 🛨	
Select Base Table: T169P v Related Table Lookup , Table Name Description	Select Base Tabl	ie: T169P 👻 Related Table Lookup	Table Name	Description	
Tables Too1 Company Codes	Tables		T001	Company Codes	~
< > Concel			<	OK	> Cancel

Figure 8.14 Selection of Related Table

Note

Transparent tables are the only table type that can be joined. Other table types, such as pooled and cluster tables, can't be joined. After adding the related table to the selection, the default field joins that are available between these two tables will be displayed in the **Join Conditions** section, as shown in Figure 8.15. These join conditions specify how the fields are linked to retrieve data from the related tables. In this scenario, the company code (**BUKRS**) is used as the join condition.

	e					
Save Refresh						
Timeframe 14.11.	2023 ID 50001459	Last Modified On				
General C	bject Field	Adhoc Query	Connector	Attachments	and Links	
Sub Scenario)					
* Sub Scenario:	Configurable	×	* Connecti	on Type: SAP 5	System	~
Parameters						
Main Connector:	TNDCLNT100	Ó	1			
Parameters Main Connector: Main Table:	TNDCLNT100 T169P	Ó	Main Table Lool	cup		
Parameters Main Connector: Main Table: Select Base Tab	TNDCLNT100 T169P Ie: T169P ¥	Related Table Looku	Main Table Loo	tions		
Parameters Main Connector: Main Table: Select Base Tab Tables	TNDCLNT100 T169P e: T169P ¥	Related Table Looku	Main Table Lool	tup itions Additional Join C	Condition	Remove Join Condition
Parameters Main Connector: Main Table: Select Base Table Tables Tool	TNDCLNT100 T169P e: T169P ¥	Related Table Looku	Main Table Loo D Join Cond Add Table	tions Additional Join C Field Name	Condition	Remove Join Condition
Parameters Main Connector: Main Table: Select Base Tab Tables Tool	TNDCLNT100 T169P e: T169P ¥	Related Table Looku	Main Table Loo D Join Cond Add Table T001	titions Additional Join C Field Name BUKRS	Condition = Tab = T162	Remove Join Condition le Field Name IP BUKRS

Figure 8.15 Join Conditions between the Two Tables

In situations where the tables you want to join aren't found in the **Related Table Lookup** option, you can manually connect them (both tables must have common primary fields that can serve as a join condition). To manually join tables, follow these steps:

- 1. Click on the Add Additional Join Condition button.
- 2. Provide the names of both the **Table** and the **Field**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.16</u>.
- 3. Click **OK** to complete the manual table join.

This allows you to establish the connection between the tables using the specified field as the join condition.



Figure 8.16 Manual Join of Tables

Once the tables are selected, the next step is to select the fields required for analysis. In the **Data Source** screen, all the fields required for analysis in business rules must be selected. Using the dropdown in the **Fields** section, select the table, and click **Select Additional Table Fields** button, as highlighted in Figure 8.17.



Figure 8.17 Selecting Tables in the Data Source Configuration

From the **Select Additional Table Fields** popup, select the fields that are required, move them to the section on the right, and click **OK**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.18</u>. The left pane indicates the fields available in the table for selection, and

the right pane indicates the fields that are selected in the data source.

Table-Field	Field Description	î.		Ð	Table-Field	Field Description	
T169P-AB_DYNNR	Version for item list (Logist				T169P-BUKRS	Company Code	
T169P-BNK	Indicates unplanned delive				T169P-MANDT	Client	
T169P-BTSTO	Threshold value for stocha	1					
T169P-CTHW	Currency type and valuati	l					
T169P-CTML1	Currency type and valuati						
T169P-CTML2	Currency type and valuati	ſ	►				
T169P-INV_CHANGE	Allow Changes to Posted I	I	₩				
T169P-IRTAX	Tax Treatment in Invoice	Г	-				
T169P-KDHW	Treatment of Exchange R		-				
T169P-KDML1	Treatment of Exchange R						
T169P-KDML2	Treatment of Exchange R						
T169P-KURST	Exchange rate type						
T169P-PRAVT	Price change: carried over						
T169P-PRSTO	Percentage for stochastic						
T169P-RETDUEDATE	Due Date for Retention is						

Figure 8.18 Selection of Fields from the Table

Follow the same steps to select the fields from the other joined tables, if any, by changing the table name from the dropdown. Once the required fields are selected from all the tables, you can see all the selected fields in the **Fields** section, as shown in Figure 8.19.

Data Save Timet	Refresh	e 1923 10 500014	19 Last Modified (Dn					
(Seneral O	bject Field	Adhoc Query	(Connector	Atache	ionts and Links		
Field	15								
T1	69P ¥								Select Additional Table Fields
0	Field ID	Source Table	Source Field	кеу	Field Type	Ref Field ID	Amount or Quantity	Field Description	
	00000002	T169P	T169P-BUKRS	¥.	с	00000000		Company Code	
	00000004	T169P	T199P-MANDT	1	с	00000000		Client	
	00000006	T169P	T199P-XBLDAT		с	00000000		indicator, check invo	ce date
	00000007	T169P	T169P-XBUKRS		с	00000000		indicator, check com	pany code
	00000008	T169P	T199P-XEKAN		с	00000000		indicator notification	of purchase order header texts
	00000009	T001	T001-BUTXT		c	00000000		Name of Company C	ode or Company

Note

Figure 8.19Selected Fields for Analysis in the Data Source Configuration

The **Field Description** displays the standard descriptions by default, but these can be customized to align with specific business requirements. The user-defined field descriptions will be reflected in the CCM output report.

Once the tables and fields are selected, navigate to the **Adhoc Query** tab to validate if the data source defined is accurate in fetching data from the tables.

Adhoc Query Tab

An ad hoc query is used to test if the data source is defined correctly. This fetches data from tables selected in the **Object Field** tab (technically, it fetches data from the target connector), which is the same data as in Transaction SE16. The **Target Connector** dropdown has the **Main Connector** list selected in the **Object Field** tab and also the additional connectors selected in the **Connector** tab. **Max. Rows** indicates the maximum number of rows of data that should be fetched from the target system.

To test the data source, click on **Execute Query** after selecting the target connector from the dropdown and setting the **Max. Rows** as shown in <u>Figure 8.20</u>. The **Results** section provides the output of the tables selected in the **Object Field** tab.

Data Sourc	e				
lave Retresh					
fimeframe 14.113	2023 ID	50001459 Last Modified On			
General	Object	Field Adhoc Query	Connector Attachm	ents and Links	
Filter Results	Fields	i			
Print Viersion	Event				ſ
Company Code	Clent	Indicator: check invoice date	Indicator: check company code	indicator: notification of purchase orde	Name of Company Code or Company
0001	100	х	×	х	SAP A.G.
RECO	100	х	х	х	Sondereigentum (WEG)
RE08	100	х	х	х	Referenz Objektmandalle
RERF	100	х	x	x	WEG Referenzbuchungskreis

Figure 8.20 Ad Hoc Query in the Data Source Screen

Apart from running the query to view the output, the ad hoc query also offers the capability to apply filters to specific fields before obtaining the results. For instance, if you need to execute the ad hoc query on a particular company code, you can use the filter option. To add filters, follow these steps:

- 1. Expand the Filter Fields section.
- 2. Click on the Select/Unselect Filters option.
- 3. Choose the **Company Code** field.
- 4. Click **OK** to apply the filter, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.21</u>.

Data Source	e							
Save Refrest	1							G
Timeframe 14.11	2023 ID 50001-	159 Last Modified	On					
General	Object Field	Adhoc Qu	Select/U	inselect Filte	ers		×	
			Field ID	Source Field	Field Description	Select		
Target Connector	TNDCLNT100	Max. Roy	00000	T169P-BUK	Company Code			
C Ellier	Fielde		00000	T169P-MAN	Client			
• Filter	Fields		00000	T169P-XBL	indicator: check			
Filter Field	_		00000	T169P-XBU	Indicator: check			
Filter Field:	5	_	00000	T169P-XEK	indicator: notific			Colored Directory Directory
			00000	T001-BUTXT	Name of Compa			Select/Unselect Filters
Field ID	Source Fiel	d Field De					Required	Variable Field Name
							-	
					0	K Cark	el la	

Figure 8.21 Selection of Filter Fields in the Data Source Ad Hoc Query

Once the filter field is selected, the next step is to add the filter value in the **Filter Value** section, which pops up in the screen. Click **Add**, and provide required inputs in the following fields before executing the query:

• Sign

Select the type in which the filter should be considered. It indicates whether the result should contain data that includes the filter values (**Range limit included**) or whether the result should not contain the data related to the filter values (**Range limit excluded**).

• Option

Following are the options available for considering the filter values:

- Between...and...
- Contains the template
- Equals
- Greater than or equal to
- Greater than
- Less than or equal to
- Less than
- Not between...and...
- Not equal to
- Does not contain the template
- Low/High

Input the specific values of the field that should be considered for filter criteria. The **High** value should be provided only when selecting **Between...and** and **Between...and** where a data range should be provided. In all other cases, only the **Low** value should be provided as input for consideration of filters.

General	Object Field	Adhoc Query	Connector /	Attachments a	and Links	
Target Connector	TNDCLNT100	✓ Max. Rows:	100 E	xecute Query		
Filter Fields	1					
						Select/Unselect Filters
Field ID	Source Field	Field Description	Amount or Quantity	Field Type	Is Required	Variable Field Name
0000002	T169P-BUKRS	Company Code		c		
Filter Value						
						Add Delet
Sign		Option	Low		High	
Range lim	it included	✓ Equals	✓ 0001			

Figure 8.22 Ad Hoc Query in the Data Source with Filtered Values

After selecting the options for all the fields, click **Execute Query** to see the results considering the filter criteria, as shown in <u>Figure 8.22</u>.

Once the ad hoc query is executed and the data source is tested, navigate to the **Connector** tab to add additional connectors if the same control is applicable to different systems in the landscape.

Connector Tab

In situations where the control needs to be tested in multiple systems with identical data structures and tables, you can define a single data source and extend it to all other systems by adding additional connectors in this tab. To add additional connectors, follow these steps:

1. Click the **Add** button.

- 2. Select the additional connectors you want to add.
- 3. Click **OK** to add additional connectors to the data source, as shown in <u>Figure 8.23</u>.



Figure 8.23 Selection of Additional Connectors

After making all the configurations in all the tabs, you can finalize the definition of the data source by clicking the **Save** button. To ensure that the data source is active, reopen the control, and update its status to **Active**. This ensures that the data source is ready for use.

8.2.2 Usage of Other Key Subscenarios

You've seen in <u>Table 8.2</u> the various subscenarios that are provided for configuring data sources, and <u>Section 8.2.1</u> details how the **Configurable** subscenario can be effectively used. This section aims to cover the process of defining data sources for several other subscenarios, such as **ABAP Report**, **SAP Query**, and **SoD Integration**. Additionally, <u>Section 8.8</u>, delves into the details of using the **HANA** subscenario, leveraging SAP HANA's processing capabilities to analyze data and deliver results.

ABAP Report

The **ABAP Report** subscenario can be used with SAPdelivered or custom ABAP reports/programs that contain the necessary data for analyzing control effectiveness. By using this subscenario, you can select the ABAP program in the data source, which will extract the relevant fields included in the ABAP report. This streamlines the process by eliminating the need to identify and join tables to retrieve data from the target system. For instance, if there is a need to monitor user or role changes, you can directly use report RSUSR100N to obtain the results, without having to go through the steps of identifying tables and change logs.

However, it's important to note that there are certain prerequisites that need to be fulfilled in the target system, specifically, adding the report to the qualified report list. Only after doing so will the report be available for selection in the data source. The steps for adding the report as a qualified report and selecting it in a data source are detailed in the following sections.

Adding the ABAP Report as a Qualified Report

To add the ABAP report as a qualified report, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the target system.
- 2. Execute Transaction /N/GRCPI/OVERVIEW.
- 3. Click the **New** icon to add **New Entries**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.24</u>.



Figure 8.24 Option to Add the ABAP Report to the Qualified List

 Enter the name of the ABAP report, for example, "RSUSR100N", in the **Program Name** field, as shown in <u>Figure 8.25</u>, and then click **Execute**.

< SAP	AMF: ABAP Report Validation
✓	✓ 📓 🕞 Cancel
Program Name	

Figure 8.25 Selection of the ABAP Report to Add as a Qualified Report

However, note that an ABAP report can be used in the data source only when some of the checks are passed, which are listed in <u>Table 8.4</u>.

Check	Purpose of Check
Name	

Check Name	Purpose of Check
Report can be executed in background mode	It's important to check whether the report can be executed in the background before the same can be used in the data source, as the job scheduled for automated monitoring runs the program in the background to fetch data into SAP Process Control. To test if the report can be executed in the background, schedule the same in Transaction SE38 in background mode to test if it's getting completed without any errors.
Review the ABAP report output that is displayed as expected in spool graphical mode	This validates whether the ABAP report output executed is accessible in spool graphic mode. An ABAP report can be used only if this check passes. To test the same, execute Transaction SP01, provide the spool request number or the name of the user who scheduled the program, and click Execute to see if the results show a valid output without any deviations.

Check Name	Purpose of Check
Report contains the screen elements not referring to a data element	This is an optional check that will help in understanding whether the ABAP report contains any fields that don't have any data element references. In addition, if this checkbox is enabled, the report can be executed with Variant Only , and no changes can be made to the filter criteria in the data source. Don't enable this checkbox if you need the flexibility to manage filters in the data source instead of getting the filters from the variant.
Report has no nested selection screen	Only those ABAP reports can be selected for monitoring in the data source that have only one selection screen. If the report has additional selection screens where more inputs should be provided before getting the results, the same can't be used in the data source.
Report has no popup window	Only those ABAP reports can be selected for monitoring in the data source that don't give additional popup screens (except for F4 search) before getting the results on executing.

Check Name	Purpose of Check
Report can only display data, no update to database	Only those reports used to review data can be used in the data source and not the ones that update some data in the target system on its execution.

Table 8.4Checks to Be Performed before an ABAP Report Can Be Added to
the Qualified List

If the ABAP report in scope qualifies all the checks per <u>Table 8.4</u>, select the main checkboxes, as shown in <u>Figure 8.26</u>, and click **Add Table To Transport Request** button to capture the changes in a transport request to move it to the other systems in the SAP Process Control landscape.

<	SAP	ABAP Report Requirements
~	Cancel	
Mair	Check	
▼ [T-ci	Report can be executed in background mode ode: SE38 -> Program -> Background Execution Review the ABAP report output that is displayed as ex ode: SP01 -> Display Content (ICON) -> Graphic Form	ר ש pected in spool graphical mode nat
Addi	tional Check	
Lead	Report contains the screen elements not referring to a d to input fields without description in AMF Data Source	data element (e.g. radio button group) which will e
Exce	ption Check	
× ×	Report can not have nested selection screen Report can not have popup window Report can only display data, no update to database	
Add	Add Table To Transport Request	

Figure 8.26 Confirmation of Checks to Add the Report to the Qualified List

Once the report is accepted, a confirmation message will appear. To access the qualified/accepted ABAP report list, go to Transaction /N/GRCPI/OVERVIEW. Once the ABAP report is added to the qualified list, as shown in <u>Figure 8.27</u>, you can find the **Program Name** (name of the ABAP report added to the qualified list), **Variant Only, SAP System, Created By, Date, Time**, and **Value Check** (if this field is blank, the report can be used only for analysis type **Review Required** where no deficiency criteria can be defined in the business rule).

< 🗛		Qualified ABAP Report List							
 	~	0 🗑 🗄	Cancel						
9 a 7 9	τγ . Σ.	1. 7 .							
Program Name	Variant Only	SAP Syste	Created By	Date	Time	Value Check			
RSUSR100N		G12	SAIKRISHNA1	21.09.2023	14:50:48				

Figure 8.27Configuration to Enable the Value Check Option for an ABAPReport

If there is a requirement to define deficiency criteria, perform the follow steps:

- 1. Select the **Gear** icon in the **Qualified ABAP Report List** screen, which will open the value check configuration screen.
- Enter the name of the program that should be considered for value check, and click Execute (see <u>Figure 8.28</u>).

<	SAP	Configure ABAP Report for Value Check Scenario
✓ [~	🖾 🚫 Cancel
Input P	arameters	
Prog	ram Name	RSUSR100N
Varia	int	

Figure 8.28 Selection of ABAP Report for the Value Check Scenario

- 3. Click **Execute** again to run the report (ensure there is some data for the selections made in execution).
- 4. Click the **Back** button to update the value check scenario option, as shown in <u>Figure 8.29</u>.



Figure 8.29 Value Check Configuration for the ABAP Report

Selection of the ABAP Report in the Data Source

To create a data source with the **ABAP Report** subscenario, follow the steps shown earlier in <u>Section 8.2.1</u>. Once completed, navigate to the **Object Field** tab, select the **ABAP Report** subscenario, and select the **Main Connector** where the ABAP report was added to the qualified list. Click the **Program Lookup** option to find the ABAP report to be selected in the data source, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.30</u>.

Data Sourc	e				
Timeframe 14.11.	2023 ID 50001459	Last Modified Or	n		
General C	bject Field	Connector	Attachments and Links		
Sub Scenario	ABAP Report	v	* Connection Type:	SAP System	×
Main Connector:	G12CENT100		Program Lookup		
ABAP Report: Report Variant:					

Figure 8.30 Program Lookup Option in the ABAP Report Data Source

From the **Lookup** screen, search for the ABAP report, and click **Apply**. From the results, select the ABAP report, and click **OK** (see Figure 8.31).

Lookup					\square ×
ABAP Report RSU: Apply Clear	SR100N	Report Varia	ant		
ABAP Report	Description		Report Variant		
RSUSR100N	Change Document	ts for Users			
				ОК	Cancel

Figure 8.31 Selection of the ABAP Report in the Data Source

On selection of the ABAP report, all the relevant fields from the ABAP report are auto-populated in the data source, which can be used for analysis in the business rule, as shown in <u>Figure 8.32</u>.

Data	Sourc	e						
Save	Refresh							
Timetr	ame 14.11.2	023 ID 50001459 Last	Modified On					
(Seneral O	bject Field Con	nector	Attachments and Links				
				ABAF	Report:	SUSR100N		
Main	Connector:	G12CLNT100	ć	Program Lookup Report	Variant:			
Field	is							
Ð	Field ID	Technical information	Source Table	Source Field	Field Type	Amount or Quantity	Ref Field ID	Field Description
	00000053	ROLE	RSUSR100N	ROLE	с		00000000	
	00000054	F_ROLE	RSUSR100N	AGR_DEFINE-AGR_NAME	с		00000000	Role
	00000055	PROF	RSUSR100N	PROF	с		00000000	
	00000055	F_PROF	RSUSR100N	UST105-PROFN	с		00000000	Profile
	00000057	SYS	RSUSR100N	SYS	с		00000000	
	00000058	F_SYS	RSUSR100N	USZBVSYS-SUBSYSTEM	с		00000000	Receiving system
	00000059	CROLE	RSUSR100N	CROLE	с		00000000	
	00000000	E COOLE	DELIED LOOK	URLAGE ACD NAME	0		00000000	(Dole

Figure 8.32 Fields Selected from the ABAP Report in the Data Source

Note

Field descriptions can be updated per the business requirement.

Click on the **Connector** tab, and add additional connectors. Note that the report should be added to the qualified report list in each of the target systems. Click **Save** to complete the data source configuration.

SAP Query

The **SAP Query** subscenario option uses predefined SAP queries created via Transaction SQ01 in the target system or to create new queries by combining multiple tables. It offers flexibility by allowing the definition of ABAP custom code along with table joins for performing calculations that can't be accomplished using Business Rule Framework plus (BRFplus) workbench formulas. The retrieval of queries from the target system is facilitated through the RFC connector. SAP Query is configured in the respective target system from which the data has to be fetched into SAP Process Control for analysis. Following are the steps to configure an SAP Query:

- 1. Configure the InfoSet.
- 2. Map the InfoSet to the user group.
- 3. Configure the InfoSet query.
- 4. Select an SAP Query in the data source.

For example, you can create an SAP Query to identify the list of active dialog users whose email ID is external. This requires joining tables USR02, USR21, and ADR6, as well as creating a report of users along with their email IDs maintained in the user master. The following sections outline the steps for each activity.

Configure the InfoSet

An InfoSet is similar to a data source where all the relevant tables and fields required for analysis are defined. To configure an InfoSet, follow these steps:

- 1. Go to Transaction SQ02.
- 2. Provide a name in the **InfoSet** field, and click **Create**, as highlighted in Figure 8.33.

< SAP	·							InfoSet: Initial Screen
✓		1	Ē	Ð	9		Trash	Additional functions Cancel
Query area	Global Area (Cross-c	lient)					
InfoSet	USERMASTER		þ]		/ Cł	lange	Create
						69 Di	splay	Description
						R	ole/User	Group Assignment

Figure 8.33 Creation of an InfoSet

- 3. In the **InfoSet: Title and Database** popup screen, provide the name for the InfoSet. You also have the following options:
 - **Table join using basis table**: To join multiple tables.
 - **Direct read of table**: To read data from a single table.
 - Logical database: To use any logical database element.
 - Data retrieval by program: To use structures.
- In this scenario, because the requirement is to join three tables (tables USR02, USR21, and ADR6), choose the **Table join using basis table** option, provide the main table, and click **OK**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.34</u>.

InfoSet : Title and Database						
Name User Master Authorization group]				
Data Source						
Table join using basis table	USR02					
 Direct read of table 						
 Logical database 	Q					
Selection screen version						
 Data retrieval by program 						
Data structure						
 Integrated program 						
 External program: 						
Options						
no automatic text recognition						
 Fixed point arithmetic 						
	V 🗄 Further options	×				

Figure 8.34 Definition of the InfoSet

- 5. In the InfoSet : Initial Screen, use the Insert Table option to input the other tables (tables USR21 and ADR6) to be joined with the main table (in this case, with table USR02). After providing the additional tables to be joined, the join conditions are added by default based on the default relationships between the tables, as shown in Figure 8.35.
- 6. Once all the required tables are joined and the join conditions are reviewed, click the **InfoSet** button, as highlighted in Figure 8.36.
- 7. Select the method in which the fields should be selected.

	Contract of the lower	USK21 : User Name/Ad	dress Key Assignment
Technical Name	Long Text	Technical Name	Long Text
BNAME	User Name in User Master R .	P BNAME	User Name in User Master +
BCODE	Password Hash Key	PERSNUMBER	Person number
GLTGV	User valid from	ADORNUMBER	Address Number
GLTGB	User valid to	KOSTL	Cost center
USTYP	User Type	START_MENU	Start Menu
CLASS	User group in user master mu	IDADTYPE	Address Type of the Ident
LOCNT	Number of failed logon attem	BPPERSON	Business Partner GUID
UFLAG	User Lock Status	ORGANIZATION	Business Partner GUID
ACONT	Annual ID	DESDUNCIELE	Liear Rassonable for Tank
	•	1	•
	-	Add table	~
-	=	Add table.	~

Figure 8.35 Option to Join Additional Tables

- Select the Include Key Fields option, and click OK, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.36</u>. The options in Field Groups Defaults are as follows:
 - Include all table fields

All the fields from tables added in the **InfoSet** are selected by default to define an **InfoSet** query.



Figure 8.36 Selection of Field Groups
• Include key fields

Only the primary fields from tables added in the **InfoSet** are selected by default, and any additional fields required for analysis should be added to the selection manually.

- Create empty field groups Only the field groups are created, and fields required for analysis should be selected manually.
- 9. In the Change InfoSet USERMASTER screen, review the fields selected in the right pane Field Group/data fields column. You may add any additional fields required for analysis by selecting the corresponding checkbox and clicking on the Insert field(s) in field group option, as highlighted in Figure 8.37.





 Click Save, and then click Generate to complete the configuration of the InfoSet. On successful generation of the InfoSet, you'll receive the InfoSet <USERMASTER> generated message.

The next step is to assign the InfoSet to a user group.

Map the InfoSet to the User Group

The user group acts as an additional authorization check, where the InfoSet can be used for creation of a query by only those users tagged to the user group. To review the users assigned to the user group or to add new users to the user group, follow these steps:

- 1. Go to Transaction SQ03.
- Enter the name of the user group, and click the Assign users and InfoSets option, as highlighted in Figure 8.38.

< SAP		User Groups: Initial Screen
 Image: A start of the start of	× 🗇 🐴	🗑 😡 Additional functions Cancel
Query area	Global Area (Cross-clier	t)
User group		Change Create
	[63 Display
		Assign users and InfoSets

Figure 8.38 Assigning Users and InfoSets with the User Group

3. The **Overview** section shows the list of users already having access to the user group, and additional users can be added by entering the user IDs in the blank fields, as shown in <u>Figure 8.39</u>.

< SAP			ι	Jser Grou	p SAF	PCU	SERG	RP: A	ssign Users
✓	~ 6	User	Assign InfoSets	Cancel	Ċ	Ċ	G	G	
User group Overview	SAPPCUSERGRP	SAPPO	CUSERGRP						
User and Change /	Authorization	for Qu	Jeries						

Figure 8.39 Review of Users Mapped to the User Groups

- 4. Click **Save** to complete the assignment of new users to the user group.
- 5. Click the **Assign InfoSets** button to assign the InfoSet to the user group.
- 6. Select the InfoSet that was created in the previous step, and click **Save**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.40</u>.



Figure 8.40 Mapping the InfoSet to the User Group

Now that the InfoSet has been created and mapped to user group, the subsequent step involves the configuration of the InfoSet query.

Configure the InfoSet Query

An InfoSet query is defined to perform the field criteria segregation. This is required to identify all the fields necessary for analysis in the business rule and those fields required to be part of the output report of CCM. To configure an InfoSet query, follow these steps:

1. Execute Transaction SQ01. It's important to ensure that you're in the correct user group, as only InfoSets associated with the current user group can be selected

to create a query. If the right user group isn't selected, click the **Other User Group** button, select the required user group from the list, and click **OK**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.41</u>.

< SAP		Query from User Group SAPPCUSERGR	P: Initial Sci	reen
< b	Query from I	User Group SAPPCUSERGRP: Initial Scre	ien X	wed Lists
Query area Global Area (Cro	Name	User group name		
	/SAPQUERY/BC	[
Query	/SAPQUERY/BP	SAP Business Partner		
	/SAPQUERY/QD	Demo-User Group		
R. QuickViewer R. InfoSet Qu	/SAPQUERY/SQ	SAP Query - technical content		
	BC_KUNDE	Flight Data Model for Customer		
Quarter of user around PADDOURED.COD	BT	Query Course: Trainer		
Coenes of user group SAPPCOSERGRAP.	GPA_USER	Global Performance Analysis		
	GRRM_SUR	GRRM SURVEY		
Na Title InfoSet Logical Database Tab	INGO			
	INGOWBO			
	QDEMO	Demo-User Group		
	SAPPCUSERGRP	SAPPCUSERGRP		
	TESTQUERY	Test, Query delivery		
	Choose Q A	kuthor and last user 🔺 🐨 Q. 👽 🖨	# X	
	the second second		~ ~	

Figure 8.41Selection of the User Group for Query Creation

- 2. Enter a new query name in the **Query** field, and click the **InfoSet Query** button.
- 3. From the **Create New Query InfoSet Selection** popup screen, select the required InfoSet where the tables and fields were selected, and click **OK**, as outlined in <u>Figure 8.42</u>.
- 4. The InfoSet Query screen (see Figure 8.43) shows the list of tables and fields selected in the InfoSet in the Field Groups/Fields section. Select the appropriate checkboxes against each field. You may select Selection, Output, or both. By selecting the Selection checkbox, the field is available for filter criteria or deficiency criteria while defining a business rule. To

understand the relevance of filter and deficiency criteria, <u>Section 8.3.2</u>.

By selecting the **Output** checkbox, the field will be available as part of the output report of the business rule. If a field is selected only for output, the same can't be used for filter or deficiency criteria in a business rule. To understand the relevance of the output report in a business rule, see <u>Section 8.3.1</u>.



Figure 8.42Selection of the InfoSet for Query Definition

 Once the required selections are made, click Save, and enter the name of the InfoSet query in the popup screen. Click OK to complete the configuration of the InfoSet query, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.43</u>.

< SAP		IntoS	iet Query (C	uery: User Master D	ata)		
✓@	0 5	🖬 Output	Cancel	=	Save Qu	ery .	
Field group/fields	Selection	Output		Name and title	User Master Data		
User valid to	4 12 12	8					
User Type User Lock Status User Name in User Mar	N N N	× ×		Query name USERMASTER	Query text/note User Master Data		
Cuser Name/Address Key A Ser Nail Addresses (Busines) E-Mail Addresses (Busines)	K						
0 0							
🔺 🔍 E 🖉 🖓 🖢 😨 Back La							
Valid from Valid to User 01.05.2023 29.05.2023 Servi 11.06.2023 16.05.2023 Befer	Type te rence (Logon	not possible)		Environment User Group	sappcusergrp	(SAPPCUSERGRP)	~
30.05.2023 29.07.2023 Servi	ce (Logon	non prosoner (

Figure 8.43 Option to Save the InfoSet Query Defined

Once the query is saved, you can execute it to test if the results being fetched by the tables joined in the InfoSet are in line with the expectation from relevant tables. To test, select the InfoSet query, and click **Execute**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.44</u>.



Figure 8.44 Execution of the InfoSet Query

In the following screen, enter report-specific selections such as **User Type**, **Validity**, and so on, and click **Execute** to run the query and display the results screen. Note that this output is based on the tables joined and the filters. Validate the results before proceeding with the next step.

Select the SAP Query in the Data Source

To create an **SAP Query** subscenario data source, follow the steps in <u>Section 8.2.1</u>, and to start configuring a data source, follow these steps:

- 1. Navigate to the **General** tab, and fill in all the relevant information.
- 2. Navigate to the **Object Field** tab, and select the **SAP Query** subscenario.
- 3. Select the **Main Connector** where the **InfoSet Query** was configured.
- Click the Query Lookup option to find the query to be selected in the data source, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.45</u>.
- 5. From the **Lookup** screen, search for the query based on the user group, and click **Apply**. From the results, select the **Query**, and click **OK**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.46</u>.

On selection of the query, all the relevant fields selected in the InfoSet query are auto-populated in the data source, which can be used for analysis in the business rule, as shown in <u>Figure 8.47</u>.

Note

Any fields for which descriptions needs a change can be updated manually.

Data Source Save Refresh Timeframe 14.11.2	e 023 ID 50001460	Last Modified On		
General O	bject Field	Connector	Attachments and Links	
Sub Scenario				
* Sub Scenario:	SAP Query	~	Connection Type: SAP Sys	tem v
Parameters				
Main Connector:	TNDCLNT100	Query Loo	kup	
Query Name: User Group:			Query Area: Standard	
Fields				

Figure 8.45Query Lookup Option in the SAP Query Data Source

Query Name	USERMAST	TER	User Group	SAPPCUSERGRP	Query Area	Global	۷	
Apply Cle	ar							
Query N	lame	Query Text		Query Area	User Gr	oup		
USERM	ASTER	TER User Master		Data Global		USERGRP		

Figure 8.46 Selection of the Query in the Data Source

Data	Sourc	e						
iave	Retrest	ĩ						
Timetrame 14.11.2023 ID 50001467 Last Modified On								
0	ieneral C	bject Field Connector	Attachmer	nts and Links				
Sub	Scenario)						
• 5ut	Scenario	SAP Query	~	• Co	nnection Type	SAP System		*
Para	meters							
Main	Connector:	TNOCUNT100	D) Query I	Lookup				
Quer	y Name:	JSERMASTER		Quer	Anta: Glob	al		
Use	r Group:	SAPPCUSERGRP						
Field	is							
Ð	Field ID	Technical information	Source Table	Source Field	Field Type	Amount or Quantity	Ref Field ID	Field Description
	00000001	D001_USR02_GLTGV	USERMASTER	USR22-GLTGV	D		00000000	User valid from
	00000002	D002_USR02_GLTG8	USERMASTER	USR02-GLTGB	D		00000000	User valid to
	00000003	D003_TEXT_USR02_USTYP	USERMASTER	TEXT_USR02_USTYP	с		00000000	Text:User Type
	00000004	D004_TEXT_USR02_UFLAG	USERMASTER	TEXT_USR02_UFLAG	C		00000000	Text User Lock Stat

Figure 8.47 Fields Selected from the InfoSet Query in the Data Source

Further note that additional connectors can be defined to connect to the other target systems. However, ensure that the query is defined with the same name in each of those target systems and maintained in the **Connector** tab. You'll finish by clicking **Save** to complete the data source configuration.

SoD Integration

The **SoD Integration** subscenario is used to continuously monitor access-related controls such as critical actions, critical permissions, SoD, and so on at the user level or role level. To use this subscenario, the prerequisite is that SAP Access Control should be activated and configured on the same system where SAP Process Control is being used. Using the **SoD Integration** subscenario, there is no requirement of an RFC connector to connect to a target system as it integrates with SAP Access Control on the same system.

SAP Process Control delivers a predefined set of fields that is available in the data source. Follow the steps in
<u>Section 8.2.1</u> to start configuring a data source by filling in the details on the **General** tab. Navigate to the **Object Field** tab, and then follow these steps:

- 1. Select the Sub Scenario as SoD Integration.
- 2. Ensure that the **Connection Type** is **Local Data Source** (will be selected automatically).
- 3. Validate all the fields for analysis in the business rule that are auto-populated.

4. Make necessary changes to the **Field Description**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.48</u>.

Sub	Scenario)						
• 80	6 Scenario	SoD Integration		· •	nnection Type	Local Data Source		w.
Field	ds							
0	Field ID	Technical information	Source Table	Source Field	Field Type	Amount or Quantity	Ref Field ID	Field Description
	00000013	IV_EXPIRED_USER		N_EXPIRED_USER	с		00000000	Expired User
	00000014	IV_LANGU		N_LANGU	с		00000000	Language
	00000015	IV_LOCKED_USER		IV_LOCKED_USER	с		00000000	Locked User
	00000015	IV_OBJECT_TYPE		IV_OBJECT_TYPE	1		00000000	Object Type
	00000017	IV_OFFLINE_ANALYSIS		IV_OFFLINE_ANALYSIS	с		00000000	Offine analysis
	00000018	IV_REPORT_FORMAT		N_REPORT_FORMAT	N		00000000	Report Format
	00000019	N_REPORT_VIEW		N_REPORT_VIEW	N		00000000	Risk Analysis Report View
	00000029	IV_ROLE_TYPE		IV_ROLE_TYPE	с		00000000	Role Type for risk analysis
	00000021	IV_SMU_RISK_ONLY		IV_SIMU_RISK_ONLY	с		00000000	Simulation risk only
	00000022	IV_USE_SIMU_AUTH_ONLY		IV_USE_SIMU_AUTH_ONL	r c		00000000	Use simulation authorization

Figure 8.48 SoD Integration Subscenario Configuration

5. Click **Save** to complete the configuration of the **SoD Integration**-based data source.

Understanding the significance of each predefined field in the data source with **SoD Integration** is important. SAP provides a predefined set of filter values that must be chosen when configuring a business rule for **SoD Integration**-based data sources. <u>Table 8.5</u> details each of these fields and the potential values that can be selected for the fields in the filter criteria while setting up a business rule.

Field

Possible Filter Values

Field	Possible Filter Values
Field Report Type Table	 Possible Filter Values 01 = Action Level 02 = Permission Level 03 = Critical Action 04 = Critical Permission 05 = Critical Role/Profile 06 = Analytical Report 07 = Mitigating Controls
	 08 = Invalid Mitigating Controls 09 = Alerts 10 = Access Risk Assessment 21 = SoD Reports 22 = ERM Role 30 = Role 31 = User 32 = Profile 33 = User Org 34 = Role Org
	• 35 = HR Object
Object Range Table	Values to be passed in this field should be a manual entry and depends on the value selected for the Object Type field.

Field	Possible Filter Values
System Range Table	Connector ID of the target system from which the user and role details are to be analyzed.
Object Type	 1 = User 2 = Role 3 = Profile 4 = HR Object - Job 5 = HR Object - Org Unit 6 = HR Object - Position 7 = Action 8 = User Org 9 = Role Org 10 = User Group 11 = Org Unit
Risk Level Range	Level of risk to be considered while analyzing the data, for example, High , Critical .

Field	Possible Filter Values
User Type	 0 = All A = Dialog B = System C = Communication L = Reference S = Service
Analysis Mode	 1 = Ad Hoc Foreground 2 = Ad Hoc Background 3 = Batch
Offline Analysis	 X - True (selected) " - False
Report Format	 1 = Summary 2 = Detail 3 = Management Summary 4 = Executive Summary
Role Type	 1 = Technical Role 2 = Business Role 3 = CUA Role

Field	Possible Filter Values
Simulation Risk Only	 X - True (selected) " - False
Use Simulation Authorization Only	 X - True (selected) " - False

 Table 8.5
 Available Values for Predelivered Filter Fields

All the other fields available for selection can have dynamic filters based on the data maintained in the specific system. Using these filters, you can analyze actions, permissionlevel critical access, and SoD at the user level or role level using **SoD Integration**.

8.3 **Business Rules**

After creating the data source to retrieve information from the target system, the subsequent step involves defining the business rule. The data source fetches raw data from the target system, and it's essential to analyze this data to identify any exceptions. This analysis can be achieved by applying filters to specific fields. Filters aid in ensuring that there are no false positives. Additionally, the definition of deficiency criteria is key for identifying any data that doesn't align with the control requirements.

If the analysis requires comparison of different fields or managing any string values, the same can be achieved with BRFplus conditions and calculations. This section provides a detailed explanation of how a business rule is defined and the relevance of the filters, deficiencies, and output format.

To initiate the creation of a business rule, it's important to first define the data source, following the steps outlined in <u>Section 8.2.1</u>. The configuration of business rules varies depending on the subscenario used for creating a data source. This scenario will provide a step-by-step process for defining a business rule for a data source created using the configurable subscenario.

8.3.1 Configuration of Business Rules

For a business rule using a configurable data source, there are two modes of analysis to evaluate the data. The first involves analyzing change logs, while the second mode monitors the current values maintained in the tables. Comprehensive details for both analysis methods are elaborated on in the following sections.

Change Log Check

The business rule is created to monitor the maintenance of the **Duplicate Invoice Check** configuration. For example, considering only the company code **0001** is within the scope, any modifications in the fields such as **Check Co. Code, Check Reference**, and **Check Inv. Date** are to be reported to the control owner. The control owner is responsible for validating these changes.

To review the existing business rules or to create a new one, follow these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction NWBC, and navigate to the **Rule Setup** work center.
- 2. Under the **Continuous Monitoring** work group, execute the **Business Rules** work item.
- 3. Click the **Create** button.
- 4. Click the **Search** button next to the **Data Source** field.

In the search screen, there are multiple options available as input criteria to search for the data source, as follows:

Data Source

Name of the data source that is defined while configuring the data source.

Sub Scenario

Type of subscenario and the search gives the complete list

of data sources created using the subscenario as results.

• Connection Type

Select the connection type (S/4 or SAP System), and the search gives the complete list of data sources created using the connection type as results.

Search Terms

Using the search option, select the search term to identify the list of data sources for which the search terms are mapped in the **General** tab of the data source.

• Validity Date

Acts as a filter that only those data sources created on or before the date will be shown in the results for selection.

Data Source Status

Acts as a filter so that only those data sources with the specific status selected as **Active**, **New**, **In Review**, or **Inactive** will be shown in the results for selection.

Input the name of the **Data Source**, click **Search**, select the **Data Source** from the results, and click **OK** to start configuring the business rule, as outlined in <u>Figure 8.49</u>.

Business R	le
✓ Continue	
Usage: Data Source:	Automated Process Control Search
Sub Scenario:	Search 🗆 >
connection type.	Data Source: Duplicate Invoice check configuration
	Sub Scenario. v
	Connection Type:
	Search Term: 0 0 \$
	Validiy Date: 14.11.2023
	Duta Source Status: Active ~
	Data Source
	Data Source Sub Scenario Connection Type Valid from Valid to Status Object ID
	Duplicate Invoice Check Configuration Configurable SAP System 01 01 21223 31 12 9999 Active ED/50001422
	<

Figure 8.49 Selection of the Data Source to Create a Business Rule

The business rule will have the following steps, which we'll discuss in the following sections:

- Basic Information
- Data for Analysis
- Filter Criteria
- Deficiency Criteria
- Conditions and Calculations
- Output Format
- Technical Settings
- Adhoc Query
- Attachments and Links

Basic Information

This step is used to define business rule basic information such as **Name**, **Description**, **Valid From**, and **Valid To**, similar to other master data definitions. Additionally, the fields in <u>Table 8.6</u> must be defined.

Field Name Purpose and Usage

Field Name	Purpose and Usage						
Category	For a business rule using a configurable data source, two categories are available for selection:						
	• Change Log Check: Select this option if the requirement is to monitor the changes made to the configuration.						
	 Value Check: Select this option if the requirement is to compare the current values of the configuration against the expected baseline values 						
Analysis Type	Depending on the category selected in the previous step, the values available in the dropdown of this field varies. If the category selected is Change Log Check , the following options are available for selection:						
	 Changes Returns the detailed change records, including the old value, new value, changed by, changed date, and changed time. 						
	 Number of Changes Returns the count of changes made to each field considered in the deficiency criteria. 						
	• Review Required for Changes The changes will be sent to the control owner for review, which should be						

	validated before considering the same as an issue in the control.
	• Monitor This is a check to monitor values from the change records. The new value from each change record is compared against the baseline values to revert only those change records that deviate from the objective of the control.
	• Pattern This option requires the definition of a calculated field that contains the conditions to identify changes indicating a certain pattern, which should be evaluated further for any potential fraud.
	If the category selected is Value Check, the analysis type is populated as Monitor Value by default.
Status	Indicates the current status of the business rule with the following four possible statuses:
	• New When a new business rule is being created, it's shown with this status.

Field Name	Purpose and Usage
Status (Cont.)	 In Review The business rule should be updated to this status when it's saved for the first time.
	 Active This status appears when the business rule is reopened after saving it In Review. Only active data sources and business rules can be used for scheduling automated controls for monitoring.
	 Inactive If the business rule is no longer valid, the same can be marked as Inactive, and then it will no longer be available for assignment to a control or scheduling for monitoring.
Search Terms	This is an optional configuration that can be enabled from Transaction SPRO and used to search for business rules based on certain terms. These search terms are used to fetch the business rule while performing business rule assignment to a control. Refer to the information on the General tab from <u>Section 8.2.1</u> to understand the process of definition of a search term and mapping it with a data source and business rules in Transaction SPRO.

Field Name	Purpose and Usage
Connectors	The list of connectors that are selected in the data source are auto-populated in this section by default. The Main Connector checkbox is grayed out from modification because it represents the main connector selected in the data source. Select/unselect the checkboxes in the Applied column based on the target systems in scope. Only those connectors selected in this column can be scheduled for monitoring.

Table 8.6Definition of the Basic Information Tab in the Business Rule

Business R	Rule: Step 1 of 9 (Bas	ic Information)					
le 1 Basic Infor	2 mation Data for Analysis Fib	a d er Ortieria Deficiency O	interia Condition	6 In and Calculations	0 Output Format	7 Technical Settings	•
Timeframe 14.11	2023						
General					Connectors		
* Name:	Duplicate Invoice Check	* Valid from	14.11.2023	171	Target Connector	Main Connector	Applie
Description:	Monitor changes made to duplicate	• Valid to:	31.12.9999	1	TNDCLNT100	X	
	invoice check configuration	Usage:	Automated Proces	is Control			
		Data Source:	Duplicate Invoice	Check Configuration			
 Category: 	Change Log Check	v Sub Scenario:	Configurable				
* Analysis Type:	Changes	Connection Type:	SAP System				
* Status:	* Status: In Review v Data Source Status: Adive						
Search Term							
Te	erm 1: Term 2:	Tem 3:	Term 4:	Term 5:			
		*	¥	~			

Figure 8.50 Basic Information Tab in the Business Rule

For this scenario, select the **Category** as **Change Log Check**, and populate the details in other fields, as shown in <u>Figure 8.50</u>. Then, navigate to the next step.

Data for Analysis

In this step, the **Available Fields** section has the list of fields that are selected in the data source. Select the fields required for analysis in **Filter Criteria** and **Deficiency Criteria** for output format, and move them to the **Selected Fields** section, as outlined in <u>Figure 8.51</u>.

Rus C Pre	iness Rule:	Duplicate Inv	oice Check	, Ste	p 2 of 9	(Data for Analysis)
+	1 Basic Information	2 Data for Analysis	3 Filter Criteria	Defici	4 ency Criteria	5 ¢
Time	frame 14.11.2023					
Ava	ilable Fields			Sel	ected Field	ls
₽h	Field Description			1	Field Descrip	tion
					Company Co	de
					Indicator: che	eck invoice date
					Indicator: che	eck company code
					Indicator: not	ification of purchase order header texts
					Name of Cor	npany Code or Company
				•		
				•		
				н		

Figure 8.51 Selection of Fields for Analysis

Once the fields are selected, navigate to the third tab, **Filter Criteria**.

Filter Criteria

The **Filter Criteria** step provides the option to add filters to the required fields. As outlined at the start of this section, the control is limited to the company code **0001**. To streamline the monitoring process and exclude details of other company codes that may be redundant or delivered by SAP but not in use within the organization, these can be excluded from monitoring using the filter criteria.

To add fields into the scope of filters, click **Select/Unselect Filters**, select the **Company Code** field from the popup screen, and click **OK**, as outlined in Figure 8.52.

After selecting the filter fields, proceed to add the values to be considered for filtering in the **Filter Value** section. In this case, choose the **Company Code** field, and click the **Add** button to include the filter value as **Range limit included Equals 0001**. This ensures that only the 0001 company code is considered for analysis, as outlined in <u>Figure 8.53</u>.

Business Rule: D	uplicate Invoice Check, Step 3 of 9 (Filter Criteria)
Previous Next > Sav	re 🖸
I Basic Information	2 2 4 5 4 Data for Analysis Filter Criteria Deficiency Criteria Conditions and Calculations
Timeframe 14.11.2023	
Filter Fields	Select/Unselect Filters
	Filter Fields
Field Description	Field Description Select ne Variable Field Name
	Company Code
	Indicator: check invoice date
	Indicator: check company code
	Indicator: notification of purchase order header texts
	Name of Company Code or Company
	Concel

Figure 8.52 Selection of Fields for Filter Criteria

Previous Next >	Save				,	
Basic Information	2 Data for Analysis	3 Filter Criteria	Deficiency Criter	ia Conditio	5 ns and Calculations	6 Output Format
imetrame 14.11.2023						
liter Fields						
						Select/Unselect Fill
Field Description		Value Required	Field Analysis Type	Currency	Unit of Measure	Variable Field Name
Company Code			Filter			
ilter Value						
						Add Dele
Sign	Option	Low			High	

Figure 8.53 Addition of Filter Values in the Business Rule

To understand more about the purpose of the **Sign**, **Option**, **Low**, and **High** fields, refer to the information on the **Adhoc Query** tab in <u>Section 8.2.1</u>.

Deficiency Criteria

In this step, include the fields that need to be monitored for changes from the table. To add these fields, select the **Select/Unselect Deficiency** option.

To obtain the fields for selection, click the **Select Handler** option, and choose **SCU3** from the **Handlers** list (as changes to SAP tables are recorded in the Transaction SCU3 handler) for the table where the deficiency field exists. Click **OK** to confirm, as detailed in <u>Figure 8.54</u>.



Figure 8.54 Selection of Handler for the Table

On selecting the handler, the **Deficiency Fields** section is populated with a list of fields that can be selected for deficiency criteria. From the list, select the fields for which changes should be monitored, and click **OK** to complete the selection of deficiency fields, as shown in <u>Figure 8.55</u>.

anulers							
Select Handler	Remove Ha	andler					
Table Name	Handler	Handler Type	Description				
T169P	T169P	SCU3	Get all cha				
T001							
eficiency Fie	elds						
field Description			Select				
ndicator: check c	ompany code	;	✓				
Indicator: check invoice date							
Indicator: notification of purchase order header texts							

Figure 8.55 Selection of Deficiency Fields

After selecting the deficiency fields, the next step is to choose the type of analysis to be performed on these fields. In the change log check scenario, the only available option in the **Field Analysis Type** is **Changes**. Select this option for each deficiency field, and then update the deficiency indicator as **High**, **Medium**, or **Low** based on the criticality of the field, as shown in <u>Figure 8.56</u>.

10-	1	1	3	4		6			7	+
	Basic Information	Data for Analysis	Filter Criteria	Deficiency Crite	ria Conditions	and Calculations	Output	Format	Technical	Settings
Time	etrame 14.11.2020									
	Field Description				Calculated Field	Field Analysis Type		Currency		Unit of Measur
	Indicator: check cor	npany code				Changes	¥			
	Indicator: check inv	oice date				Changes	÷			
	indicator notificatio	n of purchase order hea	der texts			Changes	÷			
Det	iciency Indicate	or								
۲	High O Medium	OLOW								

 Figure 8.56
 Selection of Field Analysis Type and Deficiency Indicator

To enable the proper functioning of a change log check business rule, a couple of prerequisites must be configured in the target system. These prerequisites ensure that any changes made to the tables are accurately recorded:

 System-level change logging should be enabled using the Transaction RZ10 system parameter REC/CLIENT. To review the configurations, access Transaction RZ11, enter the **Parameter Name** as "rec/client", and click **Display**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.57</u>.

< SAP	Maintain Profile Parameters
✓ 🗸 Cancel	
Profile Parameter Maintenance Parameter Name Trec/client & Display Display Docu.]

Figure 8.57 Transaction RZ11: Parameter Screen

Review the values maintained under Value of Profile Parameter. This parameter should be active, and the values for Default Profile, Instance Profile, and Current Value should be maintained as ALL. If the values are shown as OFF, reach out to your Basis team to change the value. <u>Figure 8.58</u> shows the parameter in each of the profiles with values.

< SAP Disp	lay Profile Parameter Details
✓ [1] ⓓ 🖬 Cancel	
Metadata for Parameter rec/client	
Description	Value
Name	rec/client
Type	String
Further Selection Criteria	^(OFF ALL ([0-9]{3},){0,9}[0-9]{3})\$
Unit	
Parameter Group	Database
Parameter Description	Activate/Deactivate table auditing
CSN Component	BC-DB-DBI
System-Wide Parameter	No
Dynamic Parameter	No
Vector Parameter	No
Has Subparameters	No
Check Function Exists	No
Value of Profile Parameter rec/client	
Expansion Level	Value
Kernel Default	OFF
Default Profile	ALL
Instance Profile	ALL
Current Value	ALL
Origin of Current Value: Default Profile	

Figure 8.58 Review of rec/client Parameter Values

2. It's also important to ensure the change log is enabled at the specific table level. If the system-level change log is enabled as shown in the previous step, the changes for a table won't be recorded unless the change log is activated for each table in the monitoring scope.

To review the change log settings of the table, go to Transaction SE11, enter the name of the table for which change logs configuration should be reviewed, and click **Display.** Click the **Technical Settings** button, and navigate to **General Properties**. Verity the **Log Data Changes** checkbox. This should be enabled (checked) to record the changes, as shown in <u>Figure 8.59</u>.

Changes for a table will be logged only if both the prerequisites are configured to log changes. To review the changes for the table, access Transaction SCU3, and specify the name of the table and the period for which the changes can be reviewed.

< SAP	Dictionary: Define Technical Settings				
✓	~ 🖫	9 ×	한 Revised<	>Active i	Cancel
General Properties	DB-Specific	Properties			
Logical Storage Parar	meters				
Data Class	APPL2 Q Ma	ster Data, T	ransparent Tables	;	
Size Category	0 Exp	ected Data	Records 2.900.0	00 to 110.000.	000
Buffering					
O Buffering Not Allow	ved				
 Buffering allowed b 	out switched off				
 Buffering Activated 					
Buffering Type					
Single Records Bu	uffered				
Generic Area Buff	ered		Number of Key	Fields	1
Fully Buffered					
Log Data Changes					
 Writes only with JAV/ 	Ą				

Figure 8.59 Review the Log Data Changes Configuration for the Table

Conditions and Calculations

This tab is used in defining BRFplus conditions that are essential for data analysis, particularly when direct reading of table data doesn't meet the control monitoring criteria. To establish this, a calculated field should be defined in the **Deficiency Criteria** step. Additionally, this tab is used to include additional filter conditions when a filter requires specific BRFplus conditions or when a filter needs to be added to a field already considered as a deficiency criterion. To understand more about conditions and calculations, <u>Section 8.3.3</u>.

Output Format

This step showcases the fields included in the output report of the automated monitoring jobs received by the control owner. It also indicates the sequence in which these fields should appear in the report. Details such as **Deficiency Sequence Number, Deficiency Type Description, Deficiency Description, Deficiency Field Description, Changed Text, Changed On, Changed At**, and **Changed By** are automatically populated for all change log check rules. In addition to these default values, the filter fields will also be part of the report.

To choose additional fields from those selected in the **Data for Analysis** step, click the **Select/Unselect Output Fields** button. From the selection screen, select the required fields by clicking the checkbox, and then click **OK**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.60</u>.



Figure 8.60 Selection of Additional Output Fields

Once the fields are selected, update the sequence of each output field in the **Seq. Number** column in the way it should be represented in the output report.

Technical Settings

This step is a key configuration as part of defining the business rule. These settings drive how the automated monitoring job should execute and how the data should be fetched from the target system. The fields that need to be maintained are detailed in <u>Table 8.7</u>.

Field Name	Purpose of configuration	
Where to Calculate Deficiency	This configuration defines where the analysis of data is to be performed, whether it should be done remotely or the target system or locally in the SAP Process Control system:	
	• Remotely This option analyzes the data in the target system and returns only the deficient results to the SAP Process Control system. This option is useful when the volume of data being analyzed is huge.	
	 Locally If this option is selected, the automated monitoring job runs and analyzes the data in the SAP Process Control system before returning the results. 	
Communication Mode	This configuration indicates how the jobs should execute to return the results. Following are the two available communication modes:	

• Asynchronization When the business rule is executed in this mode, it creates a background job in the target system. Once the job is completed, the same returns the data to SAP Process Control using the reverse RFC connection created from the target system to SAP GRC. See <u>Chapter 4</u> , <u>Section 4.4.2</u> , to understand how the target and source connectors are configured in connection settings. This mode of communication works only if the source connector column is filled with the RFC ID created in the target system connecting to SAP GRC system. This method is used in scenarios where the volume of data baing analyzed is buga
• Synchronization This communication mode doesn't create any background job in the target system, and the RFC call from SAP GRC to the target system waits till the same returns the results to SAP Process Control.

Field Name	Purpose of configuration
Change Log Type	This configuration is applicable only for the business rules when the category is selected as Change Log Check . The business rule can fetch three types of changes to the data based on the selections made in this field as follows:
	 Insert Returns the newly created entries in the table considering the deficiency field in scope.
	• Update Returns the old and new values if the current values in the table are changed.
	• Delete Returns the details of the entries deleted from the configuration.
Max. No. of Records to Analyze	Indicates the maximum rows of data that should be analyzed to provide the results. It's always recommended to maintain a blank value in the field, so it monitors the entire set of population before returning the results.

Table 8.7Configurations in the Technical Settings Tab

Select the configurations shown in <u>Figure 8.61</u>, and navigate to the **Ad-hoc Query** step to test the design of the business

rule and expected results when the control is scheduled for automated monitoring.

Business Rule: Dup	olicate Invoi	ce Check, Step	o7 of9 (Te
Previous Next > Save			
Conditions and Calculations	6 Output Format	7 Technical Settings	8 + Ad-hoc Query
Timeframe 14.11.2023			
Where to Calculate Deficiency: Communication Mode: Change Log Type: Max. No. of Records to Analyze:	Remotely Asynchronization Insert Upd	Locally Synchronization late Delete	
Jo Not Use OLSP			

Figure 8.61 Technical Settings Configuration in a Business Rule

Ad-Hoc Query

The **Ad-hoc Query** step is used to test whether the design of the business rule is correctly defined. The source from which the business rule fetches data depends on the category of the business rule. For example, if a business rule is created for a change log check, it fetches data from Transaction SCU3. On the other hand, if the business rule is created with the category **Value Check**, it fetches data from Transaction SE16.

Following are selections to be made before clicking on **Start**:

• Target Connector Indicates the system from which the data should be fetched. • Max. Rows

Maximum rows of data that should be analyzed to return the results based on the filter, deficiency, or both.

Timeframe and Year
 Indicates the period for which the records should be
 filtered and values should be returned. These fields are
 applicable only if the business rule is a change log check
 or if there are any date-related filter fields where the filter
 values are selected to be dynamic, such as Run Time
 Determination (see Section 8.3.2 to understand more
 about runtime determination filters). For value check rules
 where there are no date filters, these selections don't
 have any impact as they return the results considering
 the data at the time of job execution.

Data Collection

When the query is executed with this option, it fetches all the change records for the table in scope of the business rule just by applying the filters and additional filters in conditions. The deficiency criteria, output format, isn't considered while returning the results in this option. Figure 8.62 shows the data collection results.



Figure 8.62Data Collection in the Business Rule Ad Hoc Query

• Apply Rule When the query is executed with this option, it also applies the deficiency criteria and returns the actual results, which the control owner will receive if the job is scheduled for the connector and time frame selected while executing the ad hoc query. The results are more structured in this option as it returns the values considering the output format defined in the previous step, as shown in Figure 8.63.



Figure 8.63 Apply Rule Option in the Business Rule Ad Hoc Query

Attachments and Links

This step allows you to add any relevant documentation or links for future reference. The links or files attached in this step will be sent to the control owner as reference when the issue is received from CCM.

After updating all the necessary details, click **Save** to complete the configuration of the business rule. To activate the business rule, reopen it, and update the status of the rule from **In Review** to **Active** in the **Basic Information** step.

Value Check

Now that the previous scenario has detailed how the changes in a particular configuration can be monitored, this
scenario provides an overview of how the values maintained in a particular configuration or transactional data can be monitored. For better clarity, a business rule will be established to monitor the maintenance of the **Duplicate Invoice Check** configuration. It's assumed that only the company code **0001** is within the scope. Per the process objective, the checkboxes for the **Check Co. Code**, **Check Reference**, and **Check Inv. Date** fields should always be enabled. The automated monitoring job will review these configurations according to the schedule, and if any of the checkboxes aren't enabled, it will be reported to the control owner. The control owner is responsible for validating the configurations and responding accordingly.

The process of configuring business rule remains the same as described in the previous section. However, this section details the areas where the configurations are different, considering the category and type of analysis is monitoring values instead of change.

Basic Information

This step is used to define business rule basic information such as **Name**, **Description**, **Valid From**, and **Valid To**, similar to other master data definitions. For this scenario, select the **Category** as **Value Check**, and **Analysis Type** is populated by default as **Monitor Value**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.64</u>.

e 1 Basic Infor	2 mation Data for Analysis P	3 4 Rer Criteria Deficiency	Criteria Conditions	8 and Calculations	6 Output Format	7 Technical Setting	•
imetrame 14.11	2023						
Peneral					Connectors		
• Name:	Duplicate Invoice Check	* Valid from	14.11.2023	17	Target Connector	Main Connector	Apple
Description:	Monitor Values maintained for the	* Valid to	31.12.9999		TNDCLNT100	1	×
	configuration duplicate invoice chec	k Usage	Automated Process	Control			
		Data Source	Duplicate Invoice Ch	eck Configura			
· Category:	Value Check	Sub Scenario	Configurable				
Analysis Type:	Monitor Value	Connection Type	SAP System				
* Status:	In Review	w Data Source Status	Active				
earch Term							
	and Kanada	Tool 1	Tool 1	Term 6			
16	1011 Z.	1018.3.	rend 4.	remit.			



Once the details of the business rule are defined, navigate to the next step to select the required fields for analysis.

Data for Analysis

Select the fields required for analysis. Refer to the previous section to understand the process of selection of fields.

Filter Criteria

Because the company codes in the scope of monitoring are only for **0001**, it's essential to add a filter for this field in this step. To understand the process of selecting the **Filter** field and adding filter values, refer to the previous section.

Deficiency Criteria

In this step, add the fields that should be monitored from the table, as well as their values that should be monitored. To add these fields, click the **Select/Unselect Deficiency** button, select the fields from the list that should be monitored, and click **OK**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.65</u>.



Figure 8.65 Selection of Deficiency Fields: Value Check

Once the deficiency fields are selected, the next step is select the type of analysis that should be performed on these fields. In the value check scenario, there are two options in which the data can be analyzed:

• Value Check

Use this option if the requirement is to compare the current field configuration against the baseline values defined, for example, monitoring password parameters in the system to identify if the minimum password length isn't less than six characters.

• Blank Check

Use this option if the requirement is to identify whether the key fields in the master data or configurations are left blank, for example, monitoring vendor master data to identify vendor accounts for which the payment terms field is left blank.

Because the requirement in this scenario is to monitor the duplicate invoice configuration checkboxes, both options can be used as follows:

- Value Check can be used to identify company codes for which the configurations for any of the three fields isn't equal to X.
- **Blank Check** can be used to identify company codes for which the configurations for any of the three fields is left blank.

Configure the settings as shown in <u>Figure 8.66</u>, representing option 1. Choose **Value Check** as the **Field Analysis Type**, input the deficiency values, and assign the **Deficiency Type** as **High**, **Medium**, or **Low** based on the field's criticality within the monitoring scope.

(Previous Ne	d > Save			(5		,		, 			
le 1 Basic Info	2 emation Data for Analysis	a Filter Criteria	Ceficiency C	enteria C	onditi	8 ons and Calculatio	ns	6 Output	Format Te	7 (hnical Settin	+ gs
Timeframe 14.1	1.2023										
Deficiency I	Fields										
								Selectit.	Inselect Deficie	ncy Calcu	lated Field
Field Des	cription			Calculated	Field	Field Analysis Ty	pe	Curre	ncy	Unit of I	Measure
Indicator:	check invoice date					Value Check					
indicator:	check company code					Value Check	÷				
indicator:	notification of purchase order he	ader texts				Value Check	÷				
Deficiency \	/alue										
										Cie	san Values
Deficiency Type	Deficiency Description		Sign		Opt	ion	Lo	e .	High		
High v	Check for invoice date is not	activated	Range limit	includ v	Note	v of laups	×			0	0
Medium .	*			*						0	0
Los 1				~						0	0

Figure 8.66Selection of Field Analysis Type and Deficiency Value

Conditions and Calculations

See <u>Section 8.3.3</u> to understand the relevance of this step.

Output Format

Refer to the previous section to understand the relevance of this tab and the process of selecting additional fields required in the output report. However, the default fields for Value Check rules are Deficiency Sequence Number, Deficiency Type Description, Deficiency Description, and Deficiency Field Value, as shown in Figure 8.67.

After selecting the additional fields, be sure to update the sequence of each output field in the **Seq. Number** column to reflect the order in which they should appear in the output report. Arrange the sequence numbers according to the business requirement.



Figure 8.67 Output Format Step in the Value Check Scenario

Technical Settings

The purpose of fields explained in the previous section remain the same in the value check scenario, except that the **Change Log Type** field is unavailable in this scenario, as shown in Figure 8.68.

Business Rule: Duplicate Invoice Check, Step 7 of 9 (Technical Settings) < Previous Next > Save
6 7 8 9 -
Timeframe 14.11.2023
9
Where to Calculate Deficiency: Remotely Eccally Communication Mode: Asynchronization Image: Synchronization Max. No. of Records to Analyze: 100 Image: On Not Use OLSP Image: Synchronization

Figure 8.68 Technical Settings Configuration in a Value Check Business Rule

Ad Hoc Query

Refer to the previous section to understand the purpose of the **Ad-hoc Query** step and the source from which the data is fetched for a value check scenario. It also explains the purpose of using **Data Collection** and **Apply Rule**, as follows:

Data Collection

When the query is executed with this option, it fetches all the current configuration values maintained in the table for the filters (**Company Code 0001**) in scope, as shown in <u>Figure 8.69</u>.



Figure 8.69 Data Collection in the Value Check Business Rule

• Apply Rule When the query is executed with this option, it also applies the deficiency criteria and returns the actual results, which the control owner receives if the job is scheduled for the connector and time frame selected while executing the ad hoc query. The results are more structured as it returns the values considering the output format defined in the previous step, as shown in Figure 8.70.

Business R	ule: Duplic	ate Invoice Check, Step	8 of 9 (Ad	-hoc Query)	
Previous Next 2	Save				
Technical Setting	IS Ad-hoc Qu	Attachment and Links			
Timeframe 14.11.2	023				
Target Connector:	TNDCLNT100	Apply Rule , Deficiency: All Defic	sencies		~
Max. Rows:	0	imeframe: Year 🗸 🗸	Year: 2023 v	Start	
View: [Standard V	iwj v	Print Version Export			
Sequence Number	Deficiency Type	Deficiency Description	Company Code	Name of Company Code or Company	Indicator chec
1	High	Check for Company Code is not activated	0001	SAP A.G.	

Figure 8.70 Apply Rule Option in the Value Check Business Rule

Attachments and Links

This step allows you to add any relevant documentation or links directly to these references for future reference. The links or files attached in this tab will be sent to the control owner as reference when the issue is received from CCM.

Once all the details are update, click **Save** to complete the configuration of the business rule. To activate the business rule, reopen it and update the status of the rule from **In Review** to **Active** in the **Basic Information** step.

8.3.2 Customized Date Filters and Runtime Determination Rules

The automated monitoring jobs run on a scheduled basis (daily, weekly, monthly, quarterly, half-yearly, or yearly), and it's critical that the data analyzed for controls corresponds to that specific time period. The change log check category inherently considers data only for the period during which the job runs. However, for business rules with value check categories, it's necessary to include a date field in the filter criteria. This ensures that the data is filtered only for the specific period. SAP Process Control offers a feature for dynamic filter values for such date fields in business rules. Following are the two methods of determining the dynamic date filters:

- Adding runtime determination rules in filter criteria
- Creating a custom date filter where the values are maintained in Transaction SPRO

The following sections explain the process of adding filter values in the **Date** field for the scenario of monitoring records from tables CDHDR and CDPOS. the filter for the **Date** field is available in table CDHDR to consider the data specific to the test period.

Adding Runtime Determination Rules in Filter Criteria

When a **Date** field is added to the filter criteria, there are two options by which the filter values can be added to it:

- Value Range This is a static filter by providing the required date filters.
- **Runtime Value Determination** This helps in providing dynamic filters that will be derived

based on the time frame for which the automated monitoring job runs.



Figure 8.71 Options to Add Filter Values for a Date Field

To understand how the time frame is selected in automated monitoring jobs, see <u>Section 8.5</u>. Figure 8.71 shows the date filter options in **Filter Criteria**.

Select the **Runtime Value Determination** radio button. The **Runtime Method** dropdown shows the values available to select for the dynamic date filter (see <u>Figure 8.72</u>).



Figure 8.72Runtime Methods Available in Selection of Values for a DateFilter

These runtime methods are as follows:

• Between Job Period from Date and Period to Date If this option is selected and the job is scheduled for the month of September, the data for the period 09/01/YYYY to 09/30/YYYY is filtered, and all other filters and deficiency criteria defined in the business rule will be applied on top of the date filtered data.

- **Customized Date Period** Refer to <u>Section 8.3.3</u> to understand more about the process of using this option.
- Equal to Job Step Period from Date If this option is selected and the job is scheduled for the month of September, the data for the period 09/01/YYYY is filtered, and all other filters and deficiency criteria defined in the business rule will be applied on top of the filtered data. Ideally, it's recommended to use this option when the job is scheduled for a daily basis with which the specific date-related data will be filtered for analysis.
- Equal to Job Step Period to Date
 If this option is selected and the job is scheduled for the
 month of September, the data for the period 09/30/YYYY
 is filtered, and all other filters and deficiency criteria
 defined in the business rule will be applied on top of the
 filtered data. Ideally, it's recommended to use this option
 when the job is scheduled for a daily basis with which the
 specific date-related data will be filtered for analysis.

Select the relevant runtime method to apply the filter value for dates, and follow the rest of the steps as outlined in <u>Section 8.3.1</u> to complete the configuration of the business rule.

Customized Date Filters in Runtime Determination

This section details the process of configuring the runtime determination of date filters using the **Customized Date Period** option. This option is used if there is a specific requirement to have a custom test period for the standard time frames in use.

For example, if the internal controls team requires the testing results for the data belonging to the period from the 16th of last month to the 15th of the current month, the standard monthly time frames don't meet this requirement on using the runtime filters explained in <u>Section 8.3.2</u>. Therefore, the business rule with such a requirement should have a custom date filter that can be achieved using this option.

To start configuring the customized date period, select the option in **Filter Criteria**, and take a note of the business rule **ID**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.73</u>.



Figure 8.73Selection of the Customized Date Period in the Runtime Method

On capturing the **ID** of the business rule (e.g., 50001415, as highlighted in Figure 8.73), follow these steps:

1. Execute Transaction SM34 in the SAP Process Control system.

- 2. Enter the **View Cluster** as "GRFNVC_MDR", and click the **Maintain** button, as shown in <u>Figure 8.74</u>.
- 3. Select the **BRVALUEDETERMINE** option, as outlined in <u>Figure 8.75</u>, and double-click on the **MDR** folder in the **MDR Usage Library** in the **Dialog Structure**.
- Select the ABAP Method Name GET_CUSTOMIZED_START_END_DAYS, and click the Date Range option, as shown in <u>Figure 8.76</u>.
- 5. In the next screen, enter the custom parameters for each business rule to which the customized date period is selected. As explained earlier, the requirement is to schedule the business rule on a monthly basis, and the period should be the 16th of the previous month to the 15th of the current month.
- Click New Entries, enter the Parameter Name ("BETWEEN_JOB_STEP_PERIOD_START_AND_END_DAYS_C USTOMIZATION"), business rule ID that was captured in the Object Field column, and the date ranges, as shown in Figure 8.77.
- 7. Click **Save**.

< SAP	View Cluster Editing: Initial Screen
✓	✓ Q Find Maintenance Dialog Cancel
View Cluster	GRFNVC_MDR
6ð Display	🖉 Maintain 😝 Transport 🛛 🔒 Customizing

Figure 8.74 Access the View Cluster from Transaction SM34

< SAP				C	Chan	ge Vie	w "MDR	Usage	e Libra	ary": (Overvi	ew
 	8	69	5	•5	82	88	Cancel	Ċ	Ċ	G	G	
Dialog Structure	MD	DR Us	age L sage	ibrary.	,	Text						
Context for each Me	⊡ BR	VALUE	DETE	RMINE		Runtim	e Business	Rule	Fiter V	alue D	Determi	nation
Date Range	CU	RR_CO	DNV_D	ATE	_	Curren	cy Conver	sion D	ate De	termin	nation	
CCI Additional Setting	NO	TE_RE	CEIV	ER		Notific	ation Rece	iver D	etermi	nation		

Figure 8.75 Selection of MDR Usage BRVALUEDETERMINE

< SAP				c	hange	View	"MD	R": 0	vervi	w							
×	63	9	Q, Nev	Entries	8	Θ	5	85	58	38	More	1	Ð		5	ъ	D
Dialog Structure	MD	R															
C MDR Usage Library	M	OR Use	24	Paran	veter N	ame	Class	s Nam			1	BAP Me	thod !	lame			
VIS MOR	BRV	ALUED	TERMINE	BETHE	EN_JO	0_ST.	CL_G	RFN_C	c1_51	ATIC	DR G	T_PERD	00_51	ART	ND_E	DA DA	YS.
Context for each Me	⊘ BRV	ALUED	ETERMINE	PINE	EN_JO	B_ST_	CL_G	RFN_O	CI_S1	ATIC	OR G	ET_CUST	OMIZE	D_ST/	RT_E	ND_DA	YS
CCI Additional Setting	BRV	ALUED	ETERMINE	FROM	J08_5	TEP	CL_G	RFN_O	CI_S1	ATIC	DR C	T_PERD	00_\$1	ART_C	AY.		
	C BRV	ALVED	ETERMINE	UNTIL		STEP.	CL_G	RFN_O	CI_ST	ATIC	DR G	T_PERD	00_E)	D_DAY	1		

Figure 8.76 Selection of the ABAP Method

۲,	SAP	New Entries: Overview of Added Entries												
~	~	Q	0 %	Θ	85	85 8	5 0	ancel	Ċ	a a	n n			
Diato	g Structure	Da	te Rang	e										0
~	MDR Usage Library		Param	MDR	Usage	Object	ID	Start 0	Date	Range	. End D	ate	Range Value	
~	MDR .		BETWEE.	BRVA	LUEDE.	50001	415	After	~	16	After	~	15	0
	Context for each Me								~			~	,	
	CCI Additional Setting								~			~	,	
									~			~	r	

Figure 8.77Definition of Customized Date Range for a Business Rule ID

Based on this configuration, whenever the business rule is scheduled, it takes into account the number of days specified in the range values for **Start Date** and **End Date** from **Test Period From** and **Test Period To** while retrieving data for the scheduled test period.

For example, if the job is scheduled for the month of September, it retrieves data for the period from the 16th of September to the 15th of October based on the adjustment of the range values as shown previously. This flexibility allows GRC administrators to plan job schedules according to the dynamic date filters, deviating from standard time frames as needed.

8.3.3 BRFplus Condition and Calculations in a Business Rule

BRFplus conditions can be used when the standard filtering or deficiency criteria options are inadequate for monitoring a control. For example, if the control in scope involves monitoring the field status configuration for purchase orders, and the requirement is that the **Terms of payment** field must be maintained as **Display** only signifying that the values for terms of payment should be derived from the master data during the processing of purchase orders, no modifications can be made to it during purchase order processing. <u>Figure 8.78</u> shows the configuration.

< 🐅							Mai	ntain	1 Table	T162	: Field
 	~	<	>	Cancel	Ċ	Ċ	a	6			
Field Selection Key	ME22	Char	nge pu	irchase orc	ler						
Selection group	Terms	of d	eliver	y and payn	nent						
Fields											
Field Label			Req	d.entry	Opt. er	ntry	D	isplay			
Terms of payt. (days, per	rcent)				V						
Terms of payment		- [V						
Incoterms part 1					V						
Currency											

Figure 8.78 Field Status Configuration

This configuration is stored in table T162, but the status selected in the checkboxes are stored as strings as "+" (plus) indicating required entries, "." (dot) indicating optional entries, and "*" (star) indicating the display-only

entries. Each character in the string (referred to as substring) indicates configuration of a field label.

You may notice the **Field selection string** for the respective transaction code using Transaction SE16 (Data Browser) as shown in <u>Figure 8.79</u>.

The GRC consultant is responsible for identifying the substring containing the configuration of a specific field based on discussions with the functional team or insights from testing. In this context, the configuration of the **Terms of Payment** field is situated in the 11th character of the string within the **FAUS1** field. However, using the standard options, reviewing the 11th character and returning results isn't possible.



Figure 8.79 Review the Table Data and Content

SAP Process Control offers a solution to address this challenge. This involves defining a calculated field, within which a BRFplus condition can be specified to extract the substring value, enabling the formulation of deficiency criteria. The subsequent steps outline the process of creating the calculated field and establishing the condition using the BRFplus workbench.

Defining the data source for table T162 remains the same process as explained in <u>Section 8.2.1</u>. Once the data source is defined, start configuring the business rule and update the details in the **Basic Information**, **Data for Analysis**, and **Filter Criteria** tabs, as explained in <u>Section 8.3.2</u>.

Navigate to the **Deficiency Criteria** tab, click on the **Calculated Field** option, and click **Add**.

In the **Calculated Field** popup, enter the **Field Description** (indicating the name of the field to be part of the report as deficiency field) and **BRFplus Data Type** (select from the dropdown depending on the type of data being analyzed and also the type of data that will be provided as output from the calculations of BRFplus) from the options, as shown in <u>Figure 8.80</u>.

Eusiness Rule	: Test, Step 4 of	f 9 (Deficiency Cri	iteria)			
Jo 1 Basic Information	2 Data for Analysis Filter (3 4 Criteria Deficiency Criteria	5 Conditions and Calculations	6 Output Format	7 Technical Settings	8 Ad-hoc Que
Deficiency Fields Field Description	Calculated Field * Field Description * BR/plus Data Type	Field Status configuration of Amount Ecole an Namber Timepoint Quantity Text	Terris of Payment	Select/Uner	lect Deficiency Cal	culuied Field ,

Figure 8.80 Calculated Field Data Type Options

Because, strings/substrings are being monitored as part of the example defined earlier, select the **Text** option from the list, select the **Field Analysis Type** (refer to <u>Section 8.3.2</u> to understand the relevance of this field), and define the deficiency value, as shown in <u>Figure 8.81</u>.

Busines	s Rule: Pa	yment Terms Fi	eld Status									
iave												
fimetrame 14	11,2023 10 500	01423 Last Modified On 3	6.09.2023 15:02:30									
Basic	Information	Data for Analysis	Filter Criteria	Deficienc	y Cri	teria	Cond	Mion	s and Cak	culations		
Deficiency	Fields											
								E	Selections	elect Deficiency	Carcul	ated Field
Field Dr	escription			Calculated	Field	Field Analysi	s Type		Currency		Unit of M	easure
Field St	atus configuration	of 'Terms of Payment'		×		Value Check		٠				
Deficiency	/ Value											
											Cie	an Values
Deficiency T	ype Deficiency	Description	Sign		Optic	2A		Low		High		
High	* Terms of Pa	iyment is not maintained as	Osplay Range I	init included i v	Note	qual to	٣				0	0
Medium	*			*			٠				0	0
Low	*			~			v				0	0

Figure 8.81 Definition of Deficiency Criteria Calculated Field

After defining the **Deficiency Criteria**, proceed to the **Conditions and Calculations** tab to define the formula for extracting the substring from the field. Choose **Field Status configuration of 'Terms of Payment'** in the **Deficiency** field from the dropdown menu for which the calculation will be defined. Then, click on the **Calculation • Field Value Calculation** option, as shown in <u>Figure 8.82</u>.



Figure 8.82Selection of the Option Field Value Calculation

Note

The **Grouping/Aggregation** option is used in scenarios where there is a requirement to aggregate values of a specific field, for example, to calculate the total purchase orders created for one vendor.

The formula can be manually entered in the **Formula** field in the **Field Value Calculation** window, as shown in Figure 8.83. It's recommended to check the syntax before saving the calculation. Click **OK** to finalize the definition. References for the fields to be selected in the formulas are provided in the **Business Rule Fields** section. Proceed to the subsequent tabs, **Output Format**, **Technical Settings**, **Ad-hoc Query**, and **Attachments**, to perform the required configurations, as detailed in <u>Section 8.2.2</u>. This will conclude the definition of the business rule with calculations.

Field Value Calculation		□ ×
Formula is syntactically correct		^
Business Rule Fields		
		F
Field Description	BRFplus Object Name	BRFplus Data Type
Field Selection Key	BR50001423_00000001	Text
Field selection string	BR50001423_00000002	Text
Purchasing document category	BR50001423_00000003	Text
Client	BR50001423_00000004	Text
Field Status configuration of 'Terms of Payment'	BR50001423_00009001	Text
Calculated Field: Field Status configuration of	f 'Terms of Payment'	
BRFplus Data Type: Text		
Check Syntax Switch to Normal Mode		
Formula		
Amount Quantity Number String Da	ate Date Duration Is in	itial
> = < > >= < & + -	* [/] (]) [AND	OR NOT IF
SUBSTRING (BR50001423_00000002 , 10 , 1)		~
		OK Cancel

Figure 8.83 Definition of the Calculation Formula

Alternatively, if the formula to be defined requires complex conditions, instead of defining the formula in the **Conditions and Calculations** tab, users can define the calculated field in the business rule, as illustrated in Figure 8.84, and then define the formula in the BRFplus workbench, where multiple formula references are available for configuring the formula. Before proceeding to the BRFplus workbench, make a note of the **Function Name** from the **Conditions and Calculations** tab, as shown in Figure 8.84.

To access the BRFplus workbench, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute either Transaction BRFPLUS or Transaction BRF+.
- 3. Click the **Search** button, and enter the **Function** name to search, as shown in <u>Figure 8.85</u>.



Figure 8.84 Identification of the Function Name from Calculated Fields

SAP		S	Search	1		2	×
Workbench V Tools V Repository Catalog	Search Criteria						
Show: My Applications V Search	Application 🗸	is equal to	~	•		•	
· Create Application 문 원	Object Type 🔍 🗸	is equal to	~	Function	\sim	⊙ ⊙	
My Applications	Name 🗸	is equal to	~	50001423*		⊙ ●	
	Also include objects	from default Bi Maximum I eset	RFplus	application:	200	Ok Ca	ncel

Figure 8.85 Option to Search for the Function

- 4. From the My Applications dialog structure, select the **Function ID**.
- 5. Click **Edit**, and navigate to the next screen by clicking the **Top Expression** link, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.86</u>.

SAP	Business Rule Framework plus
Workbench V Tools V	
Repository Catalog	Function: BR50001423_9001_001_0001
Show: Search Result v Search	
19 19	> General
Search Result S	✓ Detail
> A BR50001423_9001_001_0001	Simulation
	Mode: Functional Mode
	Top Expression: \bigcirc BR50001423_9001_001_0001_LOOP \lor
	Signature
	Context

Figure 8.86 Option to Select and Edit the Function

6. On the next screen, click on the **Process Rule** option, as shown in <u>Figure 8.87</u>, which will take you to the screen where the BRFplus formula can be defined.



Figure 8.87 Option to Select Rule to Define BRFplus Formula

On the formula page, complex formulas can be defined in the BRFplus workbench. To make the topic easy to understand, we're going to look at an example. To monitor inactive users in the SAP system (those who haven't logged in for 90 days or more), it's necessary to compare the last logon date with the current date during the job run. This involves calculating the difference in days between these two dates. To achieve this, the **Date and Time Function** formula must be used (for a list of possible categories, see <u>Table 8.8</u>). You'll need to maintain the formula **DT_DURATION_DIFF_DAYS** (field representing last logon date, **DT_GET_CURRENT_DATE** ())—as shown in Figure 8.88. You'll click **Save** and **Activate** to complete the definition of the calculated field.



Figure 8.88BRFplus Workbench to Define Calculation Formula

The formula will now be visible in the **Conditions and Calculations** tab of the business rule under the defined function. To test the calculated field and results, run the ad hoc query as explained in <u>Section 8.3.2</u> before proceeding to the next section of performing control to business rule assignment.

<u>Table 8.8</u> shows the categories available for selection to define the formula.



Category	Description
Date and Time Functions	These formula functions are used whenever the business rule involves comparison of date and time fields, such as comparison of transaction dates with the current date of rule execution (in this case, current date can be fetched using the formula DT_GET_CURRENT_DATE).
String Functions	When there is a requirement to analyze the string data such as extracting specific characters from a string or when there is a requirement to concatenate two field values, these functions are used. For example, SUBSTRING is used to fetch specific characters from a string field.
System Functions	When certain system parameters are to be fetched automatically for the purpose of data analysis, these functions are used. For example, if the system ID is required for an IT general control (ITGC) analysis, the formula SYS_INF0_SYSTEM_ID can be used
Table Functions	If the table column values are to be analyzed, such as returning the minimum value in a specific column from a table or to calculate the summation, these functions can be used.

Category	Description
Mathematical Functions	These formula functions are used with mathematical calculations such as trigonometric functions like cosine or when absolute values of numbers are to be fetched from the transactional data.
Miscellaneous Functions	In addition to the preceding categories, there are a few other functions categorized under the miscellaneous group, which can be used for calculations such as converting an amount from a specific currency to another or converting into a quantity or amount.

 Table 8.8
 Formula Categories Table

Note

The details provided in <u>Table 8.8</u> are only for illustrative purposes, but the BRFplus workbench has more formulas in each of the categories specified that can be used to define complex calculation logic for automated control monitoring.

8.4 Perform Control Business Rule Assignment

Once the business rule is configured as explained in <u>Section 8.3</u>, the subsequent step is to associate it with the local control (refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.3.2</u>, to understand the concept of local control). The effectiveness of the control is determined by the results of the business rule execution. Finally, the outcomes of the automated monitoring job should be triggered to the control owner mapped at the local control level (refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.4.1</u>, to understand the process of assigning owners to the control).

To carry out this assignment, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the **Rule Setup** work center.
- 4. Under the **Continuous Monitoring** work group, execute the **Business Rule Assignment** work item.
- 5. On the subsequent screen, select an **Organization** and the **Control**, as highlighted in Figure 8.89, and click **Search**.

inganization: ABC ⁴		Process:	<u>[]</u> 84	process:		Control:	Monitor Duplicate	Invoice 🖞
								9
Control	Valid From	Valid To	Description	Organization	Process	Subprocess	Test Automation	Trigger
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Conf	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations	ABC India Pvt. L10	Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing	Automated	Date
tails of Assigned	Business R	ules						

Figure 8.89Option to Search for Control to Perform the Business RuleAssignment

Note

Note that while searching for the control during the business rule assignment process, it's crucial to consider the following points:

- Confirm that the control is mapped to a specific organization.
- Ensure that the test automation for the local control is set to **Automated**.
- Verify that the local control is active on the date selected at the top of the screen.

These criteria are essential for accurately identifying and mapping the desired control in the SAP Process Control system.

- Once the control is displayed in the search results, select the relevant control, click Modify, and then click the Add button.
- 7. In the **Select Business Rules** popup, enter the name of the business rule, and click **Search**.

8. From the search results, select the business rule to be mapped, and click **OK**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.90</u>.



Figure 8.90Selection of the Business to Perform Assignment toControl

Тір

When searching for the business rule, ensure the following points are considered:

- The status of the business rule should be **Active**.
- Valid From of the business rule should be on or before the date selected on top of the screen in the previous step.
- 9. Before saving the assignment, it's critical to set the frequency at which the business rule can be scheduled for automated monitoring. If the control needs to be scheduled on a monthly basis, choose the frequency. Alternatively, if flexibility is required to select the frequency during job scheduling, opt for the Any Frequency option under the Monitoring column, as shown in Figure 8.91. This ensures that the business

rule is executed at the desired interval per the monitoring requirements.

Note

Controls can be scheduled from the Planner functionality using the **Test control effectiveness** activity. In such cases, the frequency maintained under **Compliance** will be considered.





10. Click **Save** to complete the control to business rule mapping.

Note that a control can be scheduled for automated monitoring only after the business rule is assigned to it and the frequencies are maintained.

8.5 Create an Automated Monitoring Job

Automated monitoring is a functionality within SAP Process Control designed for scheduling automated controls for testing purposes. When a job is scheduled, the associated business rule runs according to the time frame selected and gives the results. If the job identifies exceptions based on the deficiency criteria defined in the business rule, it concludes with a status of **Deficient** or **Significantly Deficient**, triggering a notification to the control owner for necessary actions. If no exceptions are identified, the job completes with an **Adequate** status, and no separate notification is triggered to the control owner.

To schedule a job using automated monitoring, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the **Rule Setup** work center.
- 4. Under the **Scheduling** work group, initiate the **Automated Monitoring** work item.
- 5. The **Continuous Monitoring Scheduler** screen displays a list of the scheduled jobs. To schedule a new job, click on the **Create Job** button, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.92</u>.
- 6. Next, the **Continuous Monitoring Scheduler** screen displays the **Timeframe** and **Year** for which the control

can be scheduled, as shown in Figure 8.93.

c	hange Query Defi	e New Query	Personals
offication			2
By Changed Or	Changed Time	Changed By	Status
8	C Incation Ity Changed Or	Change Query Definition	Change Query Define New Query Incation ly Changed On Changed Time Changed By

Figure 8.92 Create Job Option for Automated Monitoring

Continue	ous Monitoring Scheduler
V Continue	
* Timeframe:	Quarter 3
* Year:	2023
* Job Type:	Automated Monitoring Job
	Automated Monitoring Job
	Incoming Event Handling Job
	Standalone Job



 Select the Job Type (which is the key field). The possible options are Automated Monitoring Job, Incoming Event Handling Job, and Standalone Job. Detailed explanation of these types can be found in <u>Table 8.9</u>.

Job Type	Explanation
Automated Monitoring Job	This option is used to schedule the controls for which business rules are assigned, and owners are assigned to receive any exceptions.

Job Type	Explanation
Incoming Event Handling Job	This option is used to schedule the controls that are configured with event-based subscenarios.
Standalone Job	This new option was introduced in SAP Process Control 12.0 to schedule the business rules on an ad hoc basis without performing the control assignment or identifying the ownership in master data. The GRC administrator can use this option to schedule the business rules. If any issues are identified, an ad hoc issue can be reported to the ad hoc issue processor who can decide on the action plan.

Table 8.9Job Types

Detailed information and step-by-step instructions for setting up **Automated Monitoring Job** and **Standalone Job** job types are outlined in the following section. **Incoming Event Handling Job** isn't covered as it's not widely used.

8.5.1 Automated Monitoring Job

This section details the steps involved in scheduling the job for automated monitoring and also the process of remediating any issues identified by the system as part of the automated monitoring process.

Scheduling the Job

After clicking on **Create Job**, as shown in Figure 8.92, select **Automated Monitoring Job** as the **Job Type**, and click **Continue.** There are multiple steps, that is, **Header**, **Share Regulation**, **Select Controls**, and **Control Details**, in which the configuration must be maintained, as shown in Figure 8.94. Each of these steps are detailed in the following sections.



Figure 8.94 Continuous Monitoring Scheduler Job Steps

Header Step

The Header section is key to define the job. Specify the Job name, Execution Type, Frequency, Test Period From/To, and Target Connector, as highlighted in Figure 8.95.

Continuous	Monitori	ng Scheduler: S	Step 1 (Header)
< Previous Next >	Save		
l∳ <mark>1</mark> Header S	2 hare Regulation	3 Select Controls	4 – I Control Details
Timeframe Quarter 3	3 2023		
* Job Type:	Automated Mo	onitoring Job	
* Job name:	AM_JOB_Q4_	2023	
* Execution Type:	Immediate	*	
* Frequency:	Monthly	*	
* Test Period From:	01.10.2023	1	
* Test Period To:	31.12.2023	1	
Target Connector:		Ć	
Comment:			

Figure 8.95Header Options in the Continuous Monitoring Scheduler

The **Execution Type** field gives the options listed in <u>Table 8.10</u>.

Execution Type	Description
Immediate	If a job is scheduled on a monthly basis with the execution type set to Immediate , the job will initiate immediately and at the end of each month. To illustrate, if the job is scheduled for the duration of quarter four to run at a monthly frequency, it generates three different jobs, each set to execute at the end of the respective months, namely on the 31st of October, 30th of November, and 31st of December.

Execution Type	Description
Date/Time	This option allows user to choose a specific date and time along with job frequencies. For instance, if the job is scheduled for quarter four to run on a monthly basis, specifying the execution time and day, it generates three jobs that will execute at the selected day/time on those specified frequencies.
Event Trigger	This type is used for business rules, which are created with the Event subscenario. There is no requirement to select the time frame or frequency as this type triggers notifications on a real-time basis whenever the event is triggered as defined in the business rule.

Table 8.10Job Execution Types

The other fields are self-explanatory and aren't detailed. Once the fields are maintained, navigate to the next step, that is, **Share Regulation**.

Share Regulation Step

The **Share Regulation** step is used to designate the local control that needs to be scheduled for automated monitoring, as shown in Figure 8.96. For a comprehensive understanding of how the regulation is linked to a control, refer to the discussion of the **Regulation** step in <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.3</u>.

Continuous Monit	oring Scheduler: Step 2 (Share Regulation)
Previous Next > Save	
leader Share Reg	alation Select Controls Control Details
Timeframe Year 2023	
* Regulation: * Monitoring Results Sharing:	SOX

Figure 8.96 Selection of Regulation in Scheduler

The **Monitoring Results Sharing** options offer the capability to share results based on the chosen selections. For a deeper understanding of the significance of each of these options, that is, **Do not share, Share with some regulations,** and **Share with all regulations**, refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>.

The next step is **Select Controls**.

Select Controls Step

Controls that are needed for automated monitoring can be selected in this step. These controls can be searched by the name of the organization to which they are localized. Alternatively, search can be conducted based on the name of the process or subprocess under which the control is created, the name of the control itself, or the name of the business rule to which it's mapped, as shown in <u>Figure 8.97</u>.

Previous Ned	> Save									
+ 1 Header	2 Share Regulation	3 Select Controls	4 Control De	rtails						
imetrame Year:	9823									
Control Sear	ch									
Organization:	A80*	Process:		ő	Subprocess:		Contro	£	0	
Business Rule:		Search								
P Control Val		Valid From	Valid Te Description		Organization	Organization Process 3		Test Automation	Trigge	
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config		01.01.2023	31.12.9999 Monitor Duplicati Configurations		alle Invoice Check ABC India Pvt Ltd		Procure to la Pay P	Invoice Processing	Automated	Cule
					• •	- I				

Figure 8.97Option to Search for Controls to be Scheduled for AutomatedMonitoring

Once the control appears in the search results, move it to the bottom selection section of the screen, and click **Next** to review the details and save the scheduler.

If the control doesn't appear in the search, validate the following points to check if any one of them is a possible reason:

- The regulation selected in the previous tab should be the one assigned to the local control.
- Test automation maintained in the General tab of the local control should be Automated or Semi-Automated.
 Manual Controls can't be selected for scheduler.
- If the job type selected is Automated Monitoring Job, only controls with date-based trigger types can be searched, as maintained in the General tab of the local control.
- Review the valid from and valid to dates of the control, business rule, and business rule assignment, and these

dates should cover the test period selected in the **Header** tab.

- If **Target Connector** is selected in the **Header** tab, the business rule should have this connector mapped to it.
- The user scheduling the business rules should have proper authorizations.

Control Details Step

Review the controls and business rules selected for continuous monitoring, and click **Save** to complete scheduling the job, as shown in <u>Figure 8.98</u>.

Note

Use the **Configure Submission** button if there are multiple business rules assigned to a control and if one or a few of them should be unselected before scheduling the control.

Continuous Monitoring Scheduler: Step 4 (Control Details) (Previous Field 2 2 3 4 4 Fielder Share Regulation Select Control Details Tameliane Year 223																				
											Sele	cted Controls								
											Ð	Control	Valid From	Valid To	Description	Organization	Process	Subprocess	Test Automation	Tripper
	Munitur Duplicate Invoice Check Config	01.01.2823	31.12.9999	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Centigurations	ABC India Pvt LM	Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing	Automated	Date											
on	rol Business Rules																			
Business Fule			Desc	lytion	Ta	Target Connector														
Duplicate invoice check changes			Monit	or changes to the configuration dupl	TN	TNDCLNT100														

Figure 8.98 Review the Control Details to Schedule the Job

Once the job is scheduled, you'll receive the **Your schedule** has been saved successfully message. If the job
identifies any exceptions, the same is notified to the control owner. Let's now jump into the process of issue remediation.

Remediation of Automated Monitoring Issue

Once the automated control is scheduled and has exceptions, a notification is triggered to the control owner per the workflow defined in the custom agent determination rules. Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>, to understand the configuration of workflows for automated monitoring.

These workflow items can be accessed through the **Work Inbox** under Transaction NWBC within the **My Home** work center. The issue owner will have the options highlighted in <u>Figure 8.99</u>.

Remediate Exception: Automated 1	Monitoring							
Sarbanes Oxley Mon	itoring: Monitor Dupl	licate Invo	oice Check C	onfig				
Test Period: September 2023	Status: Submitted	Organization	ABC India Pvt LM	Procer	is: Procu	e to Pay	Subproce	s: Invoice Processing
Evaluation braces Regulation	Control Details Requirement	Risks Allac	weets and Links					
issues								
		[Assign Remediation	Plan Close V	Athout Plan	Reaso	ph the issue	xception Void 9
Name			Priority	Status	Report	ted Date	Owner	Audit Trail
TNDCUNT100 : Monitor change	is to the configuration duplicate invol	ce sheck	High	Submitted	24.09	2023	SAKRESHNA.1	Audit Trail
* Issue Name:	TNDCUNT100 : Monitor changes to	o the configur			Type:	Automat	rd Monitoring Issu	
* Priority	High		*		Status:	Submitte	6	

Figure 8.99 Options Available for the Issue Owner

These options are described here:

- Assign Remediation Plan
 This option can be selected if the issue needs a detailed investigation and a fix to remediate it.
- Close Without Plan

This option is used if the issue owner can resolve it without the need of a remediation plan by providing the evidence and comments justifying the reason to close the issue without a plan.

• Reassign the Issue

The issue owner can transfer the responsibility to fix the issue to another user.

• Exception

This option provides the detailed report of exceptions identified by the business rule in this job run, as shown in <u>Figure 8.100</u>.

• Void

The issue owner uses this option if the exceptions received contain false-positive results and require a fix in the business rule design.

aception													
lesuit													
Please sele	d which resul	t data to be sh	oun Tinde	alor, check o	ompany cod	k(1) v							
ties pla	dard Vev)	-	Net Version	Deed,									1
Sequence Number	Deficiency Type	Detciency Description	Conpany Code	Name of Company Code or Company	indicator check company code	Deficiency Field Description	Change Type	Changed Text	Champed On	Changed At	Changed By	32abus	Cumment
1	mp	mp	8001	SAP.A.G.		Check company code	Updated	Value Updated : Oil value X ; New value	24 09 2023	1231.48	SANDEEPL	÷	

Figure 8.100 Review of Exception Details from the Issue Work Item

The process of using other options to remediate the issues remains the same as for other control assessments. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.4</u>, to understand the stages involved in using the **Assign Remediation Plan** option and the **Close without Plan** option.

8.5.2 Standalone Job

As explained in <u>Table 8.9</u>, this option is used to schedule business rules directly without the necessity of mapping them to a control. Upon selecting the **Standalone Job** option as the **Job Type**, various steps are made available, each requiring detailed definitions before the job can be scheduled. The particulars of each step are detailed in the following:

• Header

This section is key for defining the job such as name, frequency, and period for which the job should be scheduled. A comprehensive explanation of each key field is provided in the previous section.

Select Business Rules

During this step, the administrator chooses which business rules to be scheduled for automated monitoring as a standalone job. These business rules can be searched by the **Object ID** or by the name of the business rule, as shown in <u>Figure 8.101</u>.

e 1 Header	Selec	2 t Business Rules	3 -4 Confirm					
Fimeframe Yes	w 2023							
Object ID:	۰	<u>(</u>] To	0	Name: 10	UPLICATE*			
Analysis Type:	۰	🗗 То	6 S	Valid From: 01	01.2023	1		
Category:	۰	C ³ To	é	•		-		
Search List of Bu	Rule 1D	s Rules Business Rule Si	atus Name		Start Date	End Date	Data Source Name	Sub Scenar

Figure 8.101Option to Search for Business Rule to Be Scheduled forStandalone Jobs

Once the business rule appears in the search results, select it, and click **Next** to review the details and save the scheduler.

• Confirm

Review the business rules selected for the standalone job, and if everything is correct, click **Save** to complete scheduling the job, as shown in <u>Figure 8.102</u>.

Con Con	tinuous Mon	itoring :	Scheduler: Step 3 (Co	onfirm)			
I+	1 Header Select Be	2 usiness Rules	3 ⊣ Confirm				
Time	rame Year 2023						
Con	trol Business Ru	iles					
	Business Rule ID	Status	Business Rule Description	Start Date	End Date	Data Source	Sub Scenario
	BR/50001421	30	Duplicate invoice check changes	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	E0/50000886	CONFIG

Figure 8.102 Confirm Step

Upon scheduling, a confirmation message is displayed. The status of the job, indicating whether it's in progress or completed, can be reviewed from the automated monitoring landing screen.

If the job identifies any exceptions, a notification isn't automatically sent to any user by default. An administrator can schedule the **Report Ad-hoc Issue** job to notify the control owner. Refer to <u>Chapter 7</u> for a detailed understanding of the process of responding to ad hoc issues.

8.6 Transport Procedure

Data sources and business rules created in the development system should be transported across the landscape. A transport request is used to capture these changes while saving them during the configuration. It's essential to note that the process of capturing data sources and business rules in a transport request differs from the typical process followed in other configurations. Follow these steps in the source and target systems as part of transporting the data source, business rule, and BRFplus conditions:

- 1. Perform preparation activities in the original system for transport.
- 2. Perform activities in the target system after transport.
- 3. Transport the BRFplus business rule data.

The subsequent sections provide a comprehensive step involved in capturing data sources and business rules within a transport request.

8.6.1 Preparation Activities in the Original System for Transport

Once the data source and business rule are configured, activated, and tested, the process of capturing them in a transport request is performed via Transaction SPRO. The configuration is typically divided into four stages as follows:

• Prepare Data Source in Original System for Transport This setting is used to capture the data source in a transport request.

- Prepare Business Rules with Data Sources in Original System for Transport
 This setting is used to capture the business rule in a transport request.
- Reset Connector and Status for Data Sources in Orig. Sys. after Transport
 Once the data source is captured in a transport request, the connectors and status in the data source are removed from it. This setting is used to restore the connectors and status back to the original configurations.
- Reset Connector and Status for Bus. Rules with Data Sources after Transport
 Once the business rule is captured in a transport request, the connectors and status for the business rule are removed from it. This setting is used to restore the connectors and status back to the original configurations.

Each stage is outlined in the following sections.

Prepare Data Sources in Original System for Transport Configuration

This step is used to capture the data source in a transport request. To access this configuration step, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.

- 4. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Data Source and Business Rule Transport • Prepare Data Sources in Original System for Transport.
- In the configuration screen, enter the Object ID of the data source, and click Execute, as shown in <u>Figure 8.103</u>.

≡	<u>P</u> rogram	<u>E</u> dit	Goto	System	<u>H</u> elp					
<	SAP						Prepare Da	ata Sourc	e for tran	sport
~			~	8	Cance	ι				
Enter	data									
Ob	ject ID				5000088	6	to			ď
Co	nnection Ty	ре			1		to			đ
Su	b Scenario						to			ď
Trans	sport									
Re	quest/Task									
Sh	ort Descript	ion								

Figure 8.103Prepare Data Source for Transport

- 6. Select the **Data Source** to be captured in the transport.
- 7. Click **Initialize Connector and Status** button on the top header.
- 8. Click Yes when prompted by the message **Do you** really want to initialize **Data Source Connectors** and Status, as shown in Figure 8.104.



Figure 8.104 Option to Initialize Connectors and Data Source

The purpose of initialization is to remove the connectors from the data source before they are captured in a transport request. This step is necessary because the connectors to be used in quality or production systems aren't the same as in the development system. Initializing the data source ensures that the connectors are appropriately adjusted for the target systems during the transportation process.

Once the data source is initialized, the next step is to capture the data source in a transport request. Select the data source, and click the **Transport/Delete** button. Enter the transport request number when prompted, and click **Okay** to the process of capturing the data source in a transport request, as shown in <u>Figure 8.105</u>.

< SAP					Mar	ual Transpo	rt Interface
✓		~	i 🕀) Transport	⊖ Transport	Transport/D	Nore ~
Plan Ver. 01							
Q = TQ)q* [Σ	4	•	₽⊿⊞			
Transport	Delete	Ob	Object ID	Object ab	Start Date	End Date	Status
V		от	50000886	Duplicate In	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Active
=			Pror	mpt for Cust	omizing requ	est	×
Rec	quest		[61	2K900221	Po	ustomizing rec	quest
Sho	rt Descri	ption	GF	C PC Config	uration		
						 ✓ ① ○ 	wn Requests 💥

Figure 8.105 Capturing the Data Source in a Transport Request

You'll receive a success message once the changes are captured in the transport request.

Prepare Business Rules in Original System for Transport Configuration

This step is used to capture the business rule in the transport request. To access this configuration step, follow these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 3. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Data Source and Business Rule Transport • Prepare Business Rule and Data Sources in Original System for Transport.
- 4. In the configuration screen, enter the **Business Rule ID**, and click **Execute**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.106</u>.

<	SAP F	Prepare Business Rule	and Data Source for t	transport
~		🕞 Cancel		
Enter	r Data			
Bu	siness Rule			
	Business Rule ID	50001421	to	۵
	Business Rule Usage		to	ď
	Business Rule Type		to	đ
	Business Rule Category		to	đ
	Business Rule Analysis Type		to	đ

Figure 8.106 Selection of the Business Rule ID

- 5. Select the business rule to be captured in the transport, and click on the **Initialize Connector and Status** button.
- 6. Select **Yes** when prompted.
- 7. Once the business rule is initialized, the next step is to capture the business rule in the transport request. Select the business rule along with the data source, and click **Transport/Delete** to capture the changes in a transport request.

After capturing the data source and business rules in the transport requests, it's necessary to release them to move across the landscape. Once the data source and business rules have been transported to subsequent systems, such as quality or production, it's crucial to execute the steps outlined in <u>Section 8.6.2</u> within the target system. This ensures the proper configuration and functionality of the transported data source and business rule in the new environment.

Reset Connector and Status for Data Sources in Orig. Sys. after Transport Configuration

Upon releasing the transport requests, it's crucial to reset the connectors and status back to their original stage. Failing to perform this step can result in the blank value for the **Main Connector**, as highlighted in Figure 8.107. Resetting the connectors and status ensures that the data source retains its configuration and functionality after being transported.

ave Refr	rce: Duplicat	e Invoice C	heck Confi	gui	ations				
imeframe 14. General	Object Field	Adhoc Query	26.09.2023 14:09 Connector	08 Bi	usiness Rule	Alta	chme	ents a	nd Links
Bub Scena * Sub Scenari Parameters	rio ° Configurable S				* Connection Type	s/	₽ Sy	stem	
Main Connect Main Tab	or: le: T169P		Main Table Lool	up					
Select Base	Table: T169P	Related Table Lo	Join Co	ndit	ions				
Tables					Add Additional Join	Cond	tion	Ren	nove Join Conditi
T001			Tab	e	Field Name	-	Tab	íe	Field Name
			T16	p	BLKRS		T00	1	BUKRS

Figure 8.107Blank Connector Field after the Data Source Is Captured in aTransport

To restore the connectors, follow these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 3. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Data Source and Business Rule Transport • Reset Connector and Status for Data Sources in Orig Sys after Transport.
- 4. Enter the **Object ID** of the data source, and click **Execute**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.108</u>.

< 5	₽	Reset Connector	and Status	of Data So	ources in Ori	ig Sys After Trans	sport
✓ _		- E C	Cancel				
Enter data							
Object I	D	50000886	to		[đ	
Connec	ion Type		to			ď	
Sub Sco	enario		to			ď	



 Select the data source for which the connectors and status should be restored, and click on the **Restore Connector and Status** option, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.109</u>.





6. Select **Yes** to complete the configuration.

Once the configuration is completed, the data source will no longer appear in the search criteria of this configuration, indicating that the connectors and status are restored.

Reset Connector and Status for Bus. Rules with Data Sources after Transport Configuration

The next step is to restore the connectors and status back to the original stage, without which the business rule can't be used for the purpose of modifications or testing in the development system. When the business rule is accessed without performing this step, it can be observed from Transaction NWBC that the Connectors section isn't visible in the **Basic Information** tab.

To access this configuration step to restore the connectors, follow these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 3. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Data Source and Business Rule Transport • Reset Connector and Status for Bus. Rules with Data Sources after Transport.
- 4. Enter the **Business Rule ID**, and click **Execute**, as shown in Figure 8.110.
- Select the Business Rule for which the connectors and status should be restored, and click the Restore Connector and Status button.
- 6. Select **Yes** to complete the configuration changes when prompted.

Once the configuration is completed, the business rule will no longer appear in the search criteria of this configuration, indicating that the connectors and status are restored.

Keset Con	nector and Status of I	Bus. Rules & Data Srcs. A	fter Transport
 III IIII IIII IIII IIII<th>🕒 Cancel</th><th></th><th></th>	🕒 Cancel		
Business Rule			
Business Rule ID	50001421	to	đ
Business Rule Usage		to	ď
Business Rule Type		to	đ
Business Rule Category		to	ď
Business Rule Analysis Type		to	□*

Figure 8.110Selection of Business Rule ID to Reset the Connectors

8.6.2 Activities in the Target System after Transport

Once the transport requests are imported in the next systems, it's required to set the connectors of the target SAP S/4HANA or SAP ERP system against which the business rule should run. Use these configurations to set the connectors to the data source and business rule:

- Set Connector and Status for Data Source in Target System
- Set Connector and Status for Bus. Rules with Data Sources in Target System

Both are outlined in the following sections.

Set Connector and Status for Data Source in Target System Configuration

Because the imported data source doesn't have the connector mapped to it, you must perform this configuration. Follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the target system (where the transport requests are imported).
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Data Source and Business Rule Transport • Set Connector and Status for Data Source in Target System.
- 5. Enter the **Data Source ID** and **Sub Scenario** with which it was created, and click **Execute**, as shown in

Figure 8.111.

< SAP		Set Connector and Status for Data Source
 ✓ 	🗟 🕓 Cancel	
Data Source		
Data Source ID	50000886	to 📑
Connection Type		to d'
Sub Scenario	Config	

Figure 8.111 Selection of Data Source ID to Set Connectors

 Select the data source for which the connectors should be added, and click Add Connector/Set Status button, as shown in <u>Figure 8.112</u>.





 On the next screen, select the connector, enable the Set Status to Active checkbox, and click Execute to add the connector, as shown in Figure 8.113.

<	SAP			GRFN_AMF_TRANPORT_SETCONN
~		~ 8	🕑 Cancel	
Ente	r Data			
Та	arget Connector		TNDCLNT100	2
V	Set Status to Acitve			
	Test Run			

Figure 8.113Selection of Connector to Be Added to the Data Source



The **Test Run** option can be used to run this on simulation before actually setting the connectors and status.

If the connector is added and the status is successfully updated, the data source ID will be displayed in the **Successfully Updated Objects** section. Similarly, if the process encounters any issues, the data source ID will appear in the **Failed List** along with the specific reason for the failure.

Upon completing this configuration, the selected connector is displayed in the **Main Connector** field of the data source. If additional connectors need to be added into the data source, they can be manually added in the **Connectors** tab of the data source. This ensures that the data source is configured with all the necessary connectors to facilitate its functionality and integration within the system.

Set Connector and Status for Bus. Rules with Data Sources in Target System Configuration

Similarly, the connectors must also be mapped to the business rules by following these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 3. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Data Source and Business Rule Transport • Set Connector and Status for Bus. Rules with Data Sources in Target System.

4. Enter the **Business Rule ID** and **Sub Scenario** with which the underlying data source was created, and click **Execute**, as shown in Figure 8.114.

< SAP	Select Business Ru	ule and Data Source to add	Connetor and Active Status
 <th>Cancel</th><th></th><th></th>	Cancel		
Business Rule			
Business Rule ID	50001421	to	a *
Business Rule Usage		to	ď
Business Rule Type		to	ď
Business Rule Category		to	a *
Business Rule Analysis Type		to	đ
Data Source			
Data Source ID		to	d*
Connection Type		to	a *
Sub Scenario	Config	9	



5. Select the business rule for which the connectors should be added, and click the **Add Connector/Set Status** button, as shown in <u>Figure 8.115</u>.



Figure 8.115 Selection of Option to Add Connectors to a Business Rule

 On the next screen, select the connector, enable the Set Status to Active checkbox, and click Execute to add the connector, as shown in Figure 8.116.

< SAP	GRFN_AMF_TRANPORT_SETCONN
✓	V 🖫 🕓 Cancel
Enter Data	
Target Connector	TNDCLNT100
Set Status to Acitve	г
L	

Figure 8.116 Selection of Connector to Be Added to the Business Rule

The status will be updated accordingly.

8.6.3 Transport of BRFplus Business Rule Data

Section 8.6.1 detailed the process of capturing the data source and business rule in a transport request. However, any conditions or calculations defined in the business rule (refer to Section 8.3.3 for more about conditions and calculations) aren't captured in the transport request automatically. These BRFplus conditions should be moved manually across the landscape following the download and upload options. The following configurations should be made to transport the BRFplus function:

- Generate BRFplus XML for Business Rule in Orig. Sys.
- Import BRFplus XML for Business Rule in Target System

Generate BRFplus XML for Business Rule in Orig. Sys. Configuration

BRFplus conditions defined in the business rule should be exported into an XML file by following these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 3. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Data Source and Business Rule Transport • Transport BRFplus Business Rule Data • Generate BRFplus XML for Business Rule in Orig. Sys.
- In the Export BRFplus XML screen, select the Export BRFplus function radio button, and click Execute, as shown <u>Figure 8.117</u>.



Figure 8.117 Selection of the Export BRFplus Option

Note

Selecting an **Export BRFplus XML** option only has to be performed before moving any BRFplus function for the first time.

5. On the next screen, enter the business rule IDs, which have conditions and calculations defined for them, and

click **Execute**.

 From the Business Rule List screen, select the business rule, and click the Export BRFplus Function XML button, as outlined in <u>Figure 8.118</u>.



Figure 8.118Selection of Business Rule to Export to BRFplus

7. Select the **Download XML** option in the **Output Type**, and click **Execute**. This generates an XML file to be saved in the local system, as shown in <u>Figure 8.119</u>.

< 🐅	Export BRFplus XML	
V V Cancel		
Input Information BRFplus Object ID to be exported 7404	35E402F61EDE9.	
Output Type Download XML	F Select File ← → * ↑ □ * Desitep > 885plus * 0 ∅ Search 885plus Organize = New folder 0 EE =	×
Display XML	OreDrive - Parser Name Oute modified Dia Rems match your search. 30 Objects Deaktop	1, pe
	Cocurrents v c fét game v fat game v fat game v	+ v lance

Figure 8.119 Export BRFplus Function

Once the file is successfully exported, the export log can be seen, as shown in Figure 8.120.



Figure 8.120 Message Indicating Successful Export of XML File

Import BRFplus XML for Business Rule in Target System Configuration

Now the XML file can be imported in the target system. To import the BRFplus file into the target system, follow these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the SAP Reference IMG button, expand Governance, Risk and Compliance • Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Data Source and Business Rule Transport • Transport BRFplus Business Rule Data • Import BRFplus XML for Business Rule in Target System.
- 3. In the **Import BRFplus XML** screen, select the file exported in the previous step, select the **Save and activate after importing** option, and click **Execute**, as outlined in <u>Figure 8.121</u>.

Note

To import the file in simulation mode, use the **Check before importing** option to do a test run.

< 💁	Import BRFplus XML
✓ @ © a	ncel
XML File	
Enter XML file path	ers\TNOW/Desktop\BRFplus\XML
Action	
Check before importing	
Save and activate after importing	
Version	
System XML version number 1.13	

Figure 8.121 Selection of BRFplus File for Import

Once the file is successfully imported, you'll see the log in the next screen.

This section has outlined the process of transporting data sources, business rules, and BRFplus functions across systems within the same landscape. In scenarios where there is a need to transfer business rules into a system in a different landscape, SAP offers an option to export and import business rules. The details of this export and import process are provided in the next section.

8.7 Export and Import Functionality

The functionality of exporting and importing data sources and business rules is useful when there's a need to transfer them from one system in a landscape to another landscape. It's important to note that this feature doesn't serve as a replacement for the transport method because the business rule ID differs in the system importing it. If this option is used to move business rules within the same landscape, subsequent changes made in the development system can't be updated in the quality/production system due to the discrepancy in the business rule IDs. Following are the two configurations to execute to move the business rule, which we'll discuss in the following sections:

- Export Data Sources and Business Rules
- Import Data Sources and Business Rules

8.7.1 Export Data Sources and Business Rules Configuration

This activity is performed in the system where the data source and business rule are defined. To access it, follow these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 3. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Export Data Sources and Business

Rules. This will open the Web Dynpro screen, as shown in <u>Figure 8.122</u>.



Figure 8.122 Options to Export Data

- 4. Select one of the following options per the business requirement:
 - Export Business Rules with relevant Data Sources: Select this radio button if the requirement is to capture both data sources and business rules.
 - Export Data Sources only: Select this radio button if the requirement is to capture only data sources.
- 5. Enter the business rule **Object ID** to be exported, as shown in <u>Figure 8.123</u>. If multiple business rules are to be exported, the range option can be used. Click **Next**.

Search Criteria							
Search Chiena							
Filter by Business Rule	O Filter by Data	Source					
Object ID: 8 5000142	9 1	1	io r	2	5		
naturis Type:		1	01 0			Na	me:
Category:	2	1	91 0			 Valid Fr 	om: 14
Search Term: •		CP 1	io		(9 d*		
iearch							
Search							
Business Rule ID Bus	iness Rule Na	Business Rule	Business Rule	Dusiness Rule	Data Source M	Name Sk	ıb Scena

Figure 8.123 Selection of Business Rules to Export

 In the Set Exporting Options step, select the Yes or No radio buttons for Including Search Terms and Including Connectors, depending on the requirement, as shown in <u>Figure 8.124</u>.



Figure 8.124 Selection of Export Options

Note

If **Yes** is selected for both options, the search terms and connectors maintained in the data source and business rule are also exported.

- 7. Click **Next** to navigate to the **Review and Confirm** screen.
- From the Review and Confirm screen, review the list of business rules selected. If the list is fine, click on the Export Business Rules option, which exports a zip file that can be saved on the local system, as shown in Figure 8.125.

Export Data Sources and Business Rules: Step 3 (Review and Confirm)								
Export Business Ru	tes Show Logs							0,
Select Business Rules Set Exporting Options Review and Confirm								
Include Search Terr Include Connecto	ns: ○ Yes ● # xs: ○ Yes ● #	io io						
								10
Business Rule ID	Business Rul	Business R	Business R	Business R	Data Source	Sub Scenario	Main Conn	Data Source ID
O Businer	lo you want to open	or save CCM_CO	NTUNT,20230924	52.12.9999 Salip (1.99 KB) from	ogl2grc.tnow.com	Open Sa	ve v Can	× al Jus Next.)

Figure 8.125 Option to Export the Business Rule in a Zip File and Save It

Once the file is saved, it can be imported into the other system after which the business rule will be created automatically. To review the logs of the export, click **Show Logs**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.126</u>.

SAP		Export Data Sources and Business Rules: Step 3 (Review and Confirm)					
Export Business Rules	Show Logs				tep 2	×	
	(Print Version Export ~	۰	
Select Dusiness Rules	Set Expor	Message Type	Message Class	Message Number	Message Text		
			GREN_CLM	1	Content importing/exporting started at 2023-09-26 08:54:56		
Include Search Terms: (1 145 (8 140		GRFN_CUM	69	Importing is triggered from CCM		
Include Connectors: C) Yes (R No		GRFN_CUM	22	Key date is 2023-01-00		
			GRPN_CUM	6	System starts to export entity ED		
			GRPN_CUM	50	Metadata loaded successfully for entity ED		
Business Rule ID	Dusiness I		GRIN_CUM	8	Object ED/50000886/Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations) is exported successfully		
BR/50001421	Duplicate		GRIN_CUM	7	Entity ED is exported successfully		
			GRFN_CUM	6	System starts to export entity BR		
			GRRN_CLM	50	Metadata loaded successfully for writiy BR		
			GRRN_CUM		Object BR/50001425(Duplicate invoice check changes) is exported successfully		
			GRRN_CUM	7	Entity BR is exported successfully		
			GRPN_CUM	80	Export: Object ID ED/50000886 mapping GUID 74D435E402960EDE9782D50D5658E0D6		
			GRPN_CUM	80	Export: Object ID 89/50001421 mapping GUID 74D435E402961EDE9782D5905565900D6		
			GRPN_CUM	2	Content importinglesporting ended at 2023-09-28 08 14:56		
						_	
					8	010	

Figure 8.126 Option to Review the Export Logs

8.7.2 Import Data Sources and Business Rules Configuration

Once the configuration is exported successfully, it can be imported by following these steps:

- 1. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Common Component Settings • Continuous Monitoring • Import Data Sources and Business Rules. It redirects you to a Web Dynpro screen, which provides an option to upload the exported zip file, as explained in <u>Section 8.7.1</u>.
- 4. Search and select the path of the zip file in the **File Path** field, and click **Continue**.
- 5. You'll navigates through multiple tabs to perform activities before importing the file into the system. In the **Select Entries** step, select the specific business rules that should be imported into the system. For example, if the exported file has five business rules and the requirement is to select only one of the business rules for import, the single business rule can be selected using this option. After selecting the business rule, click **Next**, as shown in Figure 8.127.

SAP		Import Data Source	es and Business R	ules: Step 1 (Select	Entries)	
						0~
Image: Set Default Values Image: Set Importing Options Image: Set Importing Options List of Business Rules Image: Set Importing Options Image: Set Importing Options						
Dusiness Rule Name	Dusiness Rule	Dusiness Rule	Dusiness Rule	Data Source Name	Sub Scenario	Alin Connector
Duplicate invoice ch	Active	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Duplicate Invoice	Configurable	
0.				< Previc	us.Next >	mport Business Rule

Figure 8.127 Selection of Business Rules for Import

- 6. In the Set Default Values screen, select the Main Connector from the dropdown, and set the status as Active. Before proceeding to the next step, select the business rule line item, and click on the Validate Selected Connector Status option, which runs a test on the connector. If the connections are fine, it adds a checkmark in the Connector Status column, as shown in Figure 8.128.
- 7. Click Next, and in the Set Importing Options step, select the option to import search terms as Yes or No, depending on the requirements. Click Next to navigate to the Review and Confirm screen.
- 8. Select the business rules that should be imported, and click **Import Business Rule**, as shown in <u>Figure 8.129</u>.

1 Select Entries Set Default Value	2 Default Value	set in	- (1)	(4				0.
Select Entries Set	2 Default Values	Set in	- (a)					
Select Entries Set	Default Values	Set In						
Default Value			nporting Optio	ons Review and	Confirm			
"Valid From", "Valid To	will not be upd	ated if the	rule already e	sist in target system				
Valid From: 01.0	1.2023							
Valid To: 31.1	2.9999 📋							
Status:	~		Apply to All	Apply to Selected E	intries			
Main Connector:		~	Apply to All	Apply to Selected E	intries			
List of Business Rul	es							
Validate Selected Corv	ector Status	lemove						10
Business Rule Na	Business Ru	le S Bu	siness Rule V.	Business Rule	Data Source Name	Sub Scenario	Main Connector	Connector Stat
Duplicate invoice ch	Active	~ 01.	01.2023	31.12.9999	Duplicate Invoice C	Configurable	For TND clie 🗸	1

Figure 8.128 Option to Set the Connector and Status to the Business Rules



Figure 8.129 Option to Import Business Rules

Once the file is imported, you can see the status of the import with a confirmation message and a detailed log. On completing the import, the business rules and data sources are seen in their respective configuration in the **Rule Setup** work center.

8.8 Usage of the SAP HANA Subscenario

The CCM feature within SAP Process Control is used to oversee the effectiveness of controls established within SAP S/4HANA and SAP ERP systems by validating the configurations and master data implemented in these systems. There are instances where it becomes necessary to analyze huge amounts of transactional data (e.g., generated purchase orders or processed invoices) to assess the effectiveness of organizational controls. While certain subscenarios within the CCM functionality may fulfill specific needs, there are situations where extensive data analysis is required for decision-making. Using some of the subscenarios isn't possible due to longer processing times. The **HANA** subscenario presents a solution for handling such scenarios, enabling SAP Process Control to monitor transactional data in target systems by directly accessing the SAP HANA database. To use the HANA subscenario, you must create calculation views within the SAP HANA database of the target system. SAP Process Control then uses these calculation views as the data source and business rules for analysis purposes.

Following are the steps involved to configure a calculation view and select the view in the data source, as outlined in the following sections:

1. Configure calculation views in the SAP HANA database.

- 2. Establish RFC connectors (Transaction DBCO and logical connections).
- 3. Create a data source in SAP Process Control.

8.8.1 Configuration of Calculation Views in SAP HANA

Before creating a data source using the **HANA** subscenario, the prerequisite is to create a calculation view in the respective SAP HANA database. To create a new calculation view, log in to the SAP HANA database, right-click on **Calculation Views**, and then select **New**, as shown in Figure 8.130.

Calculation Views.(7)	8			New Informati	on View	000	
COPYOFPO	COPYOIPO New. PG_PO_VEF KENNY_TES A Find CbinF Language Tu 2 Refresh F5		Create an Information View Select the required view type and enter the details				
PC_SUPPOR Paste		Ctrl+V	Name*	PURCHASING_HEADER_WITH_AMOUNTS			
				Labet	PURCHASING_HEADER_WITH_AMOUNTS	1	
				Package*	tmp.808813.PCMonitoring	Browse	
				View Type:	Calculation View		
				Copy From:		Browse-	
				Subtype	Standard		
				Calculation Vi	ew		
				Type: SQL Sc	ript	-	
				Parameter Ca	se Sensitive: True 💌	D.	

Figure 8.130 Option to Create New Calculation Views

Define the output columns, per the requirement (it's always recommended to define the output columns first, regardless of the requirement). Click on **Create Columns**, and from the next screen, select the required columns and data types, as shown in Figure 8.131.

	Name	Data type	Length	Scale
1	Client	NVARCHAR	3	
2	PO_ID	NVARCHAR	10	
3	CoCode	NVARCHAR	10	
4	Currency	NVARCHAR	3	
5	LastChangedOn	NVARCHAR	10	
6	isDeleted	NVARCHAR	1	
7	PO_Amt	DECIMAL	15	2
8	ItemCount	INTEGER	-	
9	<click add="" to=""></click>			

Figure 8.131 Definition of Output Columns

As a next step, define the input parameters. These parameters enable the calling application to pass in parameter values that control the execution of the script. Typically, this is done by filtering the data. This is particularly important for SAP Process Control, which can help in defining the filter criteria in business rules. To create a new input parameter, click on the **New Input Parameter** option, as shown in <u>Figure 8.132</u>.

Output	Create an Input Parameter Input parameters are used to parameterize the view execution such as, to parameterize currency conversion, calculated columns or inner filters.				
Edit Columns	Name:*	ClientParameter			
(å) New Input Parameter	Label:	ClientParameter			
	Parameter Type: Default Value Constant (Direct Is Mandatory Expression			
	Value: 600 Direct Semantic Type:*	NVARCHAR Length: 3 I Scale:			

Figure 8.132 Definition of Input Parameters

Once the input and output parameters are defined, the next step is to enter the SQL procedure, which is required to analyze the data, as shown in Figure 8.133.

Once the procedure is defined, click on the **Save and Activate** option to complete the creation of the calculation view.

Note

The view can be tested and validated using the data preview feature, which functions similar to executing an ad hoc query. This allows users to test whether the view generates the expected results before formal implementation.

B SQL
⊕/**** BEGIN PROCEDURE SCRIPT ***** /
BEGIN
var_out =
<pre>select L.MANDT AS "Client", L.EBELN AS "PO_ID", L.BUKRS as "CoCode" , L.WAERS as "Currency", to_date(L.AEDAT) as "LastChangedOn" , L.LOEKZ as "IsDeleted",sum (R.NETWR) as "PO_Amt" , count (*) as "ItemCount" from "SAPN60"."EKKO" as L right outer join "SAPN60"."EKPO" as R AS L.MANDT = R.MANDT and L.EBELN = R.EBELN Where L.MANDT like :ClientParameter and to_date(:DateForm) < To_date(L.AEDAT) and to_date(:DateForm) < To_date(L.AEDAT) group by L.MANDT, LEBELN, L.BUKRS, L.WAERS, L.AEDAT, L.LOEKZ order by L.EBELN, L.AEBDT;</pre>
END /******End Procedure Script *******/

Figure 8.133 Sample SQL Code in a Calculation View

8.8.2 Establishing RFC Connectors

To establish the connection between SAP Process Control and the SAP HANA database of the target system, you must configure a database connection in the SAP Process Control system. To configure the connection, access Transaction DBCO, and click on the **New Entries** option. In the **New** Entries screen, provide the required information such as DB Connection, DBMS (HDB), User Name, DB Password, and Conn. info (connection information), as shown in Figure 8.134.

New Entries: Details of Added Entries					
🎾 😼 🗟 🗟					
DB Connection	HOtoo				
DBMS	HDB				
User Name	sudhakar				
DB password	••••••				
Conn. info	kd9227:30215				
Permanent	V				
Connection Limit	10				
Optimum Conns	5				

Figure 8.134Establishment of a New Transaction DBCO Connection

Once the database connector is created, the next step is to create a logical connector with the same name as the database connection. To create a logical connection, access Transaction SM59, and click **Create**. Provide the **RFC Destination** name (same as the database connection), and **Connection Type (L** - logical connection) in the new entries screen, as shown in Figure 8.135.

RFC Destinatio	on HOTOO	
Connection Test 🖤		
RFC Destination	НОТОО	
Connection Type	L Logical Destination	Description
Description		

Figure 8.135Configuration of the Logical Connection

Once the required connectors are defined, perform the following two configurations, which are part of the SAP Process Control connector configuration:

- Maintain Connectors and Connection Types
 Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.4.2</u>, to understand the
 process of configuring the RFC connections to be used in
 the SAP Process Control CCM functionality.
- Maintain Connection Settings
 Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.4.3</u>, to understand the process of mapping the RFC connections to the data source subscenario. Follow the same steps as in <u>Section 4.4.3</u>, except select **Scenario-Connection Link:** HANA and the map the connector created in the previous step.

After completing the prerequisites of configuring the calculation view and setting up the RFCs, the subsequent step involves defining the data source using the **HANA** subscenario, outlined in the following section.

8.8.3 Creation of a Data Source in SAP Process Control

To create an **HANA** subscenario data source, follow the steps in <u>Section 8.2.1</u> shown earlier. To start configuring a data source, follow these steps:

- 1. Navigate to the **General** tab, and fill in all the relevant information.
- 2. Navigate to the **Object Field** tab, and select the **Sub Scenario** as **HANA**.
- 3. Select the **Main Connector** where the SAP HANA view was created.

- Click the Query Lookup button to find the view to be selected in the data source, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.136</u>.
- 5. From the **Lookup** screen, in the **View Name** field, search for the view that was created in the SAP HANA database, and click **Apply**. From the results, select the **View**, and click **OK**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 8.137</u>.

Data Sou	nce mb					
Timeframe 01.0 General	Object Field	Last Modified On Adhoc Query	Connector	Attachments and Link	3	
Sub Scena	rio					
* Sub Scenario	HANA		٣	* Connection Type:	HANA Database	v
Parameters						
Main Connecto	r: TSDCON	Guery	Lookup			
Fields						

Figure 8.136 Query Lookup Option in the SAP HANA Data Source

Data Source		
Save		0
Tendana 60180115 n 6009310 rantikuster De Lookup		2 X
ViewName: "Purchasing"		
Apply Clear		
View Name	Description	
"_SYS_BIC": dd34705/PurchasingDocumentScheduleLines"	"_SHS_BIC": d024705PurchasingDocumentScheduleLines"	
"_SYS_RC":sap.hba.ecoPurchasingDocumentHeader"	"_SYS_BIC","sap has ecoPurchasingDocumentHeader"	
"_SYS_BIC":'sap.hba.ecoPurchasingDocumenttem'	"_STS_BC" "sap has ecoPurchasingDocument@em"	
"_SYS_BIC" 'sap hos ecoPurchasingDocumenttemHistoryValues"	"_STS_BIC" sap hts ecoPurchasingDocumentMentHistoryValues"	
"_SY8_BC"*sap.hts.ecoPurchasingGroup"	"_STS_BIC" sap hos ecoPurchasingGroup"	
"_SYS_BC"*sap.hta.ecoPurchasingGroupAnalysisGuery"	"_STS_BC":'sap.hba.ecoPurchasingGroupAnalysisGuery"	
"_SYS_BC" 'sap hts ecoPurchasingOrganisation"	"_STS_BIC" sap Nox ecoPurchasingOrganisation"	
"_SYS_BC" Tree 855813 PCIevelavingPURCHASINGCOCAMOUNTS"	"_STS_BIC" Trip 808813 FCMontoringPURCHASINGDOCAMOUNTS"	
C315_BC Tre #88813 FORWARD PURCHASING HEADER, WITH ANOUNTE	", \$13_BC". The R08813 POIlontoningPURCH/STIG_HEADER_WITH_MICUN	NTS"
<		>
	OK C	ancel

Figure 8.137Selection of the Query in the Data Source

On selection of the view, all the relevant fields selected in the calculation view are auto-populated in the data source, which can be used for analysis in the business rule, as shown in Figure 8.138.
Note that additional connectors can be defined to connect to the other target systems. However, ensure that the view is defined with the same name in each of those target systems and maintained in the **Connector** tab. Click **Save** to complete the data source configuration.

ave							
Imetrame 05/18/2015 ID 50005702 Last Modified On							
General O	bject Field Adhoc Query	Connector Attache	ments and Links				
Parameters							
New name: [1_5Y5_0]	C". tmp. IB08813. PCMonitoring PO_H	DR_AWT_S					
C Field ID 00000001	Source Field Client	Field Type C	Amount or Quantity	Field Description Client			
Field ID 00000001 00000002	Source Field Client P0_ID	Field Type C C	Amount or Quantity	Field Description Client PO_JD			
Field ID 00000001 00000002 00000003	Source Field Client PO_ID CoCode	Field Type C C C	Amount or Quantity	Field Description Client PO_ID CoCode			
Field ID 00000001 00000002 00000003 00000004	Source Field Client PO_ID CoCode Currency	Field Type C C C C C	Amount or Duantity	Field Description Client PO_JD CoCode Currency			
Field ID 00000001 00000002 00000003 00000004 00000005	Source Field Client PO_ID CoCode Currency LastChange00	Field Type C C C C C C C C	Amount or Quantity	Field Description Client PO_ID CoCode Currency LastChangedOn			
Paid ID 00000001 00000002 00000003 00000004 00000005 00000005	Source Field Client PO_ID CoCode Currency LastChange00 IsDeleted	Field Type C C C C C C C C C	Amount or Quantity	Field Description Crient PO_ID CoCode Currency LastChangedOn IsDeleted			
PHI2 D O0000001 O0000002 O0000003 O0000004 O0000005 O0000005 O0000005 O0000005	Source Field Clent PO_ID CoCode Currency LastChangedOn IsOuteied PO_Ant	Field Type C C C C C C C C C C P	Amount or Quantity	Field Description Cent PO_ID CoCode Currency LastChangedOn IsDeleted PO_Ant			

Figure 8.138Fields Selected from the InfoSet Query in the Data Source

Note

The process of using an ad hoc query in the data source remains the same as defined in <u>Section 8.2.1</u>. To understand the process of defining a business rule using a data source, refer to <u>Section 8.3</u>.

8.9 Reporting

SAP Process Control offers a range of standard reports to provide an overview of the list of controls scheduled for automated monitoring, results for each job, statuses of issues reported as part of CCM, and statuses of remediation plans created to respond to these issues. The **Rule Setup** work center in Transaction NWBC has the following key reports for CCM:

- Job Monitor
- Monitoring Issue Status
- Monitoring Remediation Status

Each of these reports are explained in the following sections.

8.9.1 Job Monitor

The Job Monitor report provides a detailed view of jobs scheduled for automated monitoring, along with details of controls, business rules that are part of the scheduled job, target connectors against which the jobs are scheduled, and results for each job, such as **Adequate/Deficient**. To access this report, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Rule Setup** work center, and execute the **Job Monitor** work item under **Scheduling Group**.

This report can be executed to review the details of the job scheduled for a specific time frame, which are represented in the fields next to **Show**. In addition, enter the maximum number of line items that the report should execute, and click **Apply**. The Job Monitor report also provides a feature to extract the results based on the following search criteria:

• Job Name

Name provided in the **Header** tab of an automated monitoring job.

• Frequency

Used to get results of only those jobs scheduled at that frequency.

• Job Status

Used to extract the results of automated monitoring jobs based on status, such as **Cancelled**, **Error**, **Released**, **New**, **In Progress**, **Obsolete**, **Replaced**, or **Completed**.

- Execution Date From and To Used to identify only those jobs that are executed during that period.
- Target Connector Used to fetch the details of jobs executed against a specific target connector.

The search criteria are optional, the report provides the details of the jobs and respective results when you click **Search**. The **Deficiency Type** column indicates whether the job has identified any issue (indicated with **High/Medium/Low**) or the job ended without identifying any issue (indicated with **Adequate**).

										_						
Job Mor	itor															
Shore Year			4 269	× (4	100	Max, Rower			94							
• Investo Call																
248	hisme					Frequency					34544	- f			w.	
Execution Date	Premi	23 (9 212	3		T Des	allow Date To	31.0	2823			Targel Connect				0	
Seath					-											
ing - theory	and scienced		Print Visco		-	View Daniel	. they	1.00	Parity of the		den Lauri fue	-	r en el en	Second of	Barriel Addition Secure	15
and prove															report of the same	
Pagatation		Add Name				349.59	y 514	- 7	Deficiency		Deficiency Type	Exe Date	ulan .	Stat	Control	Dusinese Rule
908		MONTOR	POPLE PA	ANET	DR HODE	10 105	-					21.0	1202	45 30 30	Books Citical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters
908		MONTOR	SADE ACCE	195		105	Terre					34.0	6265.6	15 30 10	Monto Critical Authorization SMDI	Monitor access to Critical action SM36
90X		MONTOR	HOFILE PA	AMETE	IR ACCE	55 184	New					28.0	92929	15 30 30	Monko Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters
908		MONTOR	SADE ACCE	195		104	Terre					20.0	e (1912)	15 30 10	Monto Critical Authorization SMDI	Monitor access to Critical action SM36
90K		MONTOR:	POPUE PA	AMET	IR ACCE	55 100	New					24.0	6262.6	15 30 10	Montor Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters
90X		NOWTOR	SADE ACCE	195		160	New					26.0	12929	95 30-90	Monto Critical Authorization SMOR	Monitor access to Critical action SMSN
90X		MONTOR:	POPLE PA	AMET	OR HOOE	55 102	Terr.					22.8	6282.8	15 30 10	Montor Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters
90K		MONTOR:	SADE ACCE	195		162	New					21	6262.6	95,30-90	Montor Critical Authorization SMOR	Monitor access to Critical action SMIN
90X		MONTOR!	POPLE PA	AMETE	IN ACCE	55. 181	New					26.0	02020	95 30-90	Monitor Collocal Authorization	Access is maintain profile parameters
90K		MONTOR:	SADE ACCE	195		181	New					26.0	6262.6	95 30-90	Montor Critical Authorization SMOR	Monitor access to Critical action SMIN
90X		MONTOR	KOFLE PA	AMET	IN ACCE	55. 100	No.					25.0	8 2925	95 30 90	Monker Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters
BOX		NOWTON	SADE NCCE	155		100	No.					25.8	8 2825	45.30.00	Monitor Colloud Authorization SM38	Monitor access to Orlical action (MSI)
Laborer	Dalley	M. 100.0	4 2023				Cart	, and		з	inge	25.0	8 2825	014010	Munitor Duplicate Investor Chevil Cardy	Duplicate invite check changes
Laborer	Oxies	M. 108.5	4 2625				Car	-			Adequate	25.8	8 2825	91.00.54	Monitor Duplicate Involve Chevil Cardy	Daplicale involve sheck sharipes
Laborer	Dalley	M. 100.0	4 2023			7	Care	-			Adequate	25.8	8 2820	01.40.10	Months Copicale Investor Chevil Cardy	Duplicale invite check changes
Salares	Orders	M .08 C	4 2023				Care	united in			Advante	218	8,2020	01.49.47	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Cardy	Duplicate involve check changes

Figure 8.139 Job Monitor Report

For the jobs with deficiencies, the details of the exceptions can be reviewed using the **View Results** option. In addition, this is an interactive report, where the details of the controls and business rules can also be accessed with a single click, as shown in Figure 8.139.

8.9.2 Monitoring Issue Status

This report provides visibility into the status of issues identified as part of the automated monitoring jobs. The results can be extracted by regulation, by organization, by process, or by control. You can review this report to determine the controls that failed and the current status of reported deficiencies. To access this report, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Rule Setup** work center, and execute the **Monitoring Issue Status** work item under the **Reports** group.

This report provides a detailed view of the controls for which the issue is identified, including the organization where the control is localized, the subprocess under which the control is created, the current processor of the issue, issue status, and number of remediation plans created to fix the issue. In addition, this is an interactive report, where the details of the controls and issue can be accessed by clicking on their respective hyperlinks, as shown in Figure 8.140.

Monitoring	Issue Status				Persona
Tabular report by the	denocess showing at its	an generated and their current status			
Selection					
tesults					
					Post or Expert
Organization	Subprocess	Control	Innue	Description (texus)	Innue Processor
ABC INRe PALM	Invoice Processing	Mentor Duplicate Invoice Deck Config	TNDCLNT100 Monitor changes to the configuration displicate involve check	2 High 2 Medium 8 Low 9	
ASC India PM LM	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Direct Config	TNDCUNTINE: Member charges to the configuration depicate invoice check.	3 High 3 Medium 8 Low 9	SARDISHUA
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Meeter Duplicate Invoice Deck Carily	TNDCUNT100: Member changes made to duplicate strongs check	4 High 4 Medium 8 Low 9	Sandrep
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Direck Certify	TNDCUNTINE: Monitor charges made to digitizate invoice check.	4 High 4 Medium 8 Low 9	
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Direct Centlip	TNDCLNT108: Monitor changes where to displicate invoice check	4 High 4 Medium 8 Low 9	Sandwap
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Mentor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCUNTIDE: Monitor shanges made to displicate involve sheck	4 High 4 Medium 5 Low 3	Sandenp
Power Generation	System Parameters	Monitor Password Parameter	TNDCUNT108 : Monitor Password Parameter Settings	1 High 1 Medium 8 Low 9	SARCESHEAT
Power Generation	System Parameters	Montor Password Parameter	TNDCUNTISE: Munitor Password Parameter Sellings	1 High 1 Medium 8 Low 9	
Power Generation	Access Management	Monitor usion with SAP_A8 access	TNDCUNTINE: Munitor users with access to profiles : SAP_AB	10 High 10 Medium 0 Low 8	Sandorp
Test	Trow Basis	Control to monitor user vs. standard role	TNDCLNT100 : dualness rule to monitor user vs standard rule assignment	7 migh 7 Medium 8 Low-9	
Test	Trou Basis	Control to monitor uner us standard role	TNDCUNTIDE . Business rule to monitor user vs standard rule assignment	7 High 7 Medium 8 Low 9	
Test	Trow Basis	Control to monitor user ve standard role	TNDCUNT108 : Business rule to monitor user vs standard rule assignment	7 High 7 Medium 8 Low 9	

Figure 8.140 Monitoring Issue Status Report

8.9.3 Monitoring Remediation Status

This report provides visibility into the status of remediation plans for the issues identified by regulation, by organization, by process, or by control. You can review this report to determine the current status of various initiated remediation plans. You can drill down into the automated monitoring issue to review the details of the exceptions identified.

To access this report, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Rule Setup** work center, and execute the **Monitoring Remediation Status** work item under the **Reports** group.

This report provides a detailed view of the controls for which the remediation plan is created, including the organization where the control is localized, the subprocess under which the control is created, details of the issue for which the plan is created, the owner of the issue, details of the remediation plan, remediation owner, and the current status of the plan. In addition, this is an interactive report, where the details of the controls and remediation plan can be accessed by clicking on their respective hyperlinks, as shown in Figure 8.141.

Monitoring	Monitoring Remediation Status Personaice								
Tabular report show	Tabular report showing the status of nemediation plans by monitoring control								
+ Selection	a Selection								
Results									
				Pt	int or Export				
Organization	Subprocess	Control	Insue 62	Innue Priority	Issue Processor				
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT108 : Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check	High	Sandeep				
Power Generation	Access Management	Monitor users with SAP_Ad access	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor users with access to profiles : SAP_AI	High	Sandeep				

Figure 8.141Monitoring Remediation Status Report

8.10 Summary

This chapter provided a detailed walkthrough of how the control testing can be automated using the CCM functionality of SAP Process Control. It explained in detail how the data source and business rule can be configured using various subscenarios and usage of BRFplus conditions, as well as the importance of the automated monitoring jobs to schedule the controls on a recurring basis to trigger notifications to the control owners whenever an exception is identified in the target system.

The chapter detailed the process of moving the data source and business rules across the same landscape using transport requests and the process of moving them across systems in different landscapes using the export and import options.

Now that you understand the different evaluation procedures available and used to evaluate the controls, the next chapter provides a detailed walkthrough of other processes used in the organization to strengthen the internal control processes, such as managing the policies in a workflow-enabled environment, usage of disclosure surveys, and obtaining sign-off from top management about the internal controls in place in the organization.

9 Additional Features in SAP Process Control

The previous chapters detailed the significance of establishing master data within SAP Process Control and explored various evaluation methods, including design assessments, self-assessments, and tests for the effectiveness of both manual and automated controls, as well as addressing ad hoc issues related to controls and other master data elements.

This chapter focuses on the key additional functionalities in SAP Process Control such as managing the policies, usage of disclosure surveys, and taking sign-off from the top management. These additional functionalities contribute to fortifying the internal control framework within the organization and details about various activities such as overseeing policy lifecycles, obtaining top management's approval regarding the current state of control health in the organization, and using disclosure surveys to obtain feedback from users regarding the performance of controls, subprocesses, or the organization as a whole.

9.1 Policy Lifecycle Management

A policy is a defined set of rules, guidelines, or procedures that are defined in the organization and should be followed to ensure smooth functioning of the processes. It represents a framework that outlines how the organization intends to work, make decisions, and achieve its objectives while ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulations. A policy can be defined at an organization level, function level, or process level, for example, information security policy, human resource policy, procurement policy, and so on.

SAP Process Control provides a platform that can act as a central repository of all the policies that exist in the organization, which are currently managed in silos by individual policy owners. It also supports in managing the entire lifecycle of the policy, consisting of the following stages in a workflow-enabled environment:

- Definition of a policy
- Policy review
- Policy approval
- Publishing the policy

Once the policy is approved and published, SAP Process Control also supports distributing the policies to the relevant employees of the organization to ensure they are aware of it. In addition, using functionalities such as surveys and quizzes, policy supports evaluating the effectiveness of its operation in the organization. The following sections detail how the policy is configured in SAP Process Control and the stages of workflow involved in the approval process.

9.1.1 Configuration of Policy

The policy administrator configures the policy in the SAP Process Control system. Users with access to Transaction PFCG role SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PLC_ADMIN will get authorization to define the policy. The definition of policy in SAP Process Control involves two levels within the hierarchy:

- Policy group
- Policy

In the following, we'll detail the importance of policy groups, the process of creating them, and the steps to set up policies under the group.

Policy Group

When an organization is managing multiple policies, it becomes important to group the relevant policies within a group to simplify maintenance and reporting processes. A policy group serves this purpose by structuring policies into relevant groups, facilitating grouping of similar policies associated with the same processes or compliance areas. For instance, if the organization is responsible for managing policies such as anti-corruption policy and anti-bribery policy, these can be organized and grouped together under a policy category named "Compliance."

To review the existing policy groups in the hierarchy or to create a new one, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, select the **Master Data** work center, click the **Regulations and Policies** work group, and execute the **Policies** work item. To create a new policy group, click on the **Policy Hierarchy**, and then choose **Create** • **Policy Group**, as highlighted in Figure 9.1.

On the **Policy Group** screen, enter a unique **Name** for the policy group, **Description**, and **Approval Survey**, that is, the survey the policy approver should respond to before approving the policy. This approval survey is applicable to all the policies created under this group. <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.1</u>, details the process of creating questions and survey libraries, as well as using the **Policy Approval** category for this requirement, **Valid From** (date from which the policy group is valid), and **Valid To** (date till which the policy group is valid). Click **Save** to save the new policy group, as outlined in Figure 9.2.

Policies	
Show Year v 2023 v Apply Advanced	Create Doen Copy Actions , Policy Group
Name	Type
Policy Herarchy	Policy Hierarchy

Figure 9.1Policy Group Creation Option under Policies

p			
3			
Policy Group Document			
Compliance	* Valid From	01.01.2023	π
Compliance Policy Group	* Valid To:	31.12.9999	T
Policy Approval Survey			
real-Mercesser			
	Policy Group Document Compliance Compliance Policy Group Policy Approval Survey	Policy Group Document Compliance Compliance Policy Group * Valid Tree * Valid Tree Policy Approval Survey	Policy Group Document Compliance Compliance Policy Group Policy Approval Survey

Figure 9.2 Configuration of Policy Group

Once the policy group is created, the subsequent step involves creation of a policy, which we'll cover next.

Policy

Policies can be configured by the policy administrator within a policy group created. It's essential to specify the scope of the policy. Once the policy is outlined, it undergoes a twotier review process: the first level of review is conducted by the policy reviewer, and the second level is conducted by the policy approver. The policy will be published only once the policy is ready for approval.

To review the existing policies under the groups or to create a new one, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Master Data** work center, and click the **Policies** work item under the **Regulations and Policies** work group.

To create a new policy, select the **Policy Group** under the **Policy Hierarchy**, and choose **Create** • **Policy**, as highlighted in Figure 9.3.



Figure 9.3 Policy Creation Option under Policy Group

The configuration of policy involves definition of details in the following multiple tabs starting from definition of general details of the policy, methods of distribution, responsible organization, risks that might materialize if the policy norms aren't complied with, and controls that are implemented to mitigate the risks and keep the policy effective:

- General
- Policy Document
- Policy Scope
- Risks
- Controls
- Policy Sources
- Roles
- Review and Approval

Each of these tabs are detailed in the following sections.

General Tab

The initial tab in the policy creation screen is the **General** tab, which is used to define the fundamental policy details, including the **Name**, **Policy Type**, and so on. You can find detailed explanations of all the fields within this tab in <u>Table 9.1</u>.

Field Name	Purpose
Name	This is a brief name of the policy.
Description	This is a detailed description of the policy and its applicability in the organization.

Field Name	Purpose
Policy Type	This functionality in SAP Process Control supports managing not only policies in the organization but also maintaining standard operating procedures (SOPs), guidelines, or standards. Select the type of policy that is being configured from the dropdown. The dropdown values can be managed from the Transaction SPRO configuration. To manage, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click the SAP Reference IMG button, and navigate to Governance, Risk and Compliance • Common Component Settings • Policy Management • Maintain Policy Types and Distribution Methods . Following are the values available by default:
	• Policy
	Procedure
	• Standard
	Work Instruction
	• SOP
	Additional values can be created using the New button.

Field Name	Purpose
Distribution Methods	 Following are the three types of policy distribution methods available. See Section 9.1.3 to understand more about the relevance of these methods: Acknowledgement Quiz Survey
Distribution Language	Select the language in which the distribution of acknowledgement, quiz, and survey should reach the employees.
Purpose	This is a brief description of the objective, which the policy aims to achieve.

Field Name	Purpose
Policy Category	This option is used to group similar policies under a category for reporting purposes. Select the policy category from the dropdown values that are configured in Transaction SPRO_ADMIN. Following are the policy categories that are added to this configuration by default on activating the Business Configuration set (BC set) GRFN-POLICY-CATEGORY:
	• IT Policy
	Sustainability Policy
	Global trade related policy
	• HR policy
	Physical access policies
	To modify default values or add new values into the category list, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click SAP Reference IMG, and navigate to configuration node Governance, Risk and Compliance • Common Component Settings • Policy Management • Maintain Policy Categories.

Field Name	Purpose
Responsible Organization	Select the organization from the organization hierarchy created in the master data (refer to <u>Chapter 5</u> , <u>Section 5.3</u> , to understand the process of definition the organization hierarchy), which is responsible for defining and maintaining the policy.
Created By	This is a display-only field, which populates the name of the user creating the policy by default.
Created On	This is a display-only field, which populates the date and time when the policy was created.
Valid From	This indicates the date from which the policy is valid.
Valid To	This indicates the date till which the policy is valid.
Date for Next Revision	This is an optional field, where the policy administrator can define a future date when the policy should be revisited for any updates.
Note	Update the input that should be received by the policy administrator when a notification is received on the date of the next revision

Enter the details as explained in <u>Table 9.1</u> in the **General** tab, and then navigate to the next tab to define the scope of the policy. <u>Figure 9.4</u> shows the fields on this tab.

Policy: Anti Cor	ruption Policy		
Save Send for Ravies	Submit for Approval		
Policy Group Compliance	Distribution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey State	us Draft Version 002	
General Polo	y Document Policy Scope Risks Controls	Policy Sources Issues Roles	Review and Approval
	And Descention Define	Policy Category	Gishai trada salated colley
Description	Petro Comption Policy Delice in councils with and computing laws	Become ible Constitution	ABC International Ltd
beaution.	Policy or comply whit and complete laws	Casted By	SAKRISHNA1
		Created On	08.10.2023.22.27.31
		• Valid From	08.10.2023
 Policy Type: 	Policy v	valid From	
 Distribution Methods: 	Acknowledgement V Quiz V Survey	* Valid To:	31.12.9999
Distribution Language:	D'	Date for Next Revision:	01 01 2024
 Quiz Template: 	Policy Quiz v	Note:	Review the policy document
 Survey Template: 	Policy Survey v		
* Purpose:	No comptive practices take place in the organization		

Figure 9.4 General Tab Options in Policy Creation

Policy Document Tab

As part of policy definition, the guidelines are typically documented as clauses within the policy. When configuring a policy in SAP Process Control, the policy document can be attached in this tab, allowing it to be reviewed by the policy reviewer and approver before the policy is published. There are two methods available for uploading the policy document:

Add File

This method involves manually uploading the policy document file from your local PC.

Add Link

Instead of directly uploading the document, you can provide a link to an external document or resource, allowing access to the policy document without physically uploading it to the system. To add the policy document/link, click the **Add** button, use one of these two options, and upload the policy document. Once the document is added, you may notice it under the **Attachments** section, as highlighted in <u>Figure 9.5</u>, along with other information about the file/link.

Policy: A	nti Co	orruptio	n Polic	sy .							
Save Serv	d for Revi	ew Submi	t for Approv	wi							0
Policy Group (Complianc	e Distribut	ion Method	is Acknowle	dgement, Quiz, Su	rvey Stat	us Draft	Versio	n 002		
General	Polic	y Docur	nent F	Policy Scope	e Risks C	ontrols	Policy	Souro	es Issa	jes Roles	Review and Approval
Attachmen	ts										
							Add ,	Open	Change	Remove	Existing Versions
Type	TIS		Version	File Size	File Type	Added	fed On Added By		By	Attachmen.	. Parent Object
a	Art	6-Comp	001	12 kb	application/v	02.10.2	023	SAIKR	ISHNA1	Document	Anti Comption Policy(Version:001)
Anti-Corruptio	on Policy										
	Title: A	nti-Corruptio	n Policy					Modifi	ed On: 02	10.2023 11:2	6.55
Document Cat	egory: G	eneral							Origin:		
W	ersion: Ø	01						A65	ed On: 02	10.2023 11.2	6.55
File1	Name: A	nti Comuption	n Policy doc	×				Add	led By: SA	IKRISHNA1	
File	Type: ap	pplication/vn	d operamilia	mats-officed	locument.wordproo	essingni (locument	t			
File	Size: 1	2 kb									
Attachment	Type: D	ocument									

Figure 9.5 Policy Document Upload Options

Policy Scope Tab

The third tab in the policy definition is dedicated to defining the comprehensive scope of the policy. Within this tab, you can specify **Organizations**, **Processes**, **Activities**, **People**, and the **Exclusions**. Each of the subtabs are detailed in the following:

• Organizations

Select the organizations from the master data hierarchy (refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.3</u>, for the steps to define process definition in the organization hierarchy). Click the **Assign** button and select the organization from the popup screen. If an organization has child organizations defined in the hierarchy, all the relevant child organizations are inherited into the scope of the policy. <u>Figure 9.6</u> shows the **Organizations** and **Assignment Method** fields.



Figure 9.6 Assignment of Organizations in the Scope of Policy

Processes

Select the processes that are impacted and should run in accordance with the guidelines defined in the policy. Processes that are localized at the organization level can only be selected in this tab. <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.3.2</u>, detailed the concept of localization. Click the **Assign** button to select the processes from the popup screen. Selected processes and subprocesses will be listed in the **Assign Processes** table, as highlighted in <u>Figure 9.7</u>.

	icy: Anti Corrupt	ion Policy				
Save	Send for Review Sub	omit for Approval				0
Pulic	y Group Compliance Distrib	ution Methods Ad	novledgement, Q	uiz, Survey Status Draft V	fersion 002	
	General Policy Doour	ment Policy	Scope Risks	Controls Policy	Sources Issues Roles	Review and Approval
Ass	ign Processes					
Ass	ign Processes					Assign Remove
Ass ©	Ign Processes	Tyr	90 20	Description	Organization	Assign Owner
Ass	Ign Processes Processes Processes Processes	Tri	pe cess	Description	Organization ABC India Pvt Ltd	Assign Remove Owner
Ass ©	Ign Processes Processes Procure to Pay Invoice Processing	Ty Pri Set	pe cess bprocess	Description	Organization ABC India Pvt LM ABC India Pvt LM	Assign Owner

Figure 9.7Processes and Subprocess Assignment Screen in PolicyDefinition

Activities

Policy being a shared master data item between SAP

Process Control and SAP Risk Management, the **Activities** that are defined in SAP Risk Management and are in scope of the policy are mapped in this tab. Click the **Assign** button to select the relevant activities, as highlighted in Figure 9.8.

- 31	icy: Anti Corru	ption Policy							
Save	Send for Review	Submit for Approval							0
Policy	y Group Compliance Dir	stribution Methods Ad	nowledgement, Qu	iz, Survey Stati	in Draft Version 002				
	General Policy Do	current Policy	Scope Risks	Controls	Policy Sources	Issues	Roles	Review and Approval	
Ass	ign Activities								
Ass	ign Activities							Assign Ros	nove
Ass	lign Activities		Organization					Assign Ren Owner	nove
Ass ©	Activities		Organization ABC Internatio	nai Ltd				Queer Ree	nove
Ass C	Activities Activity PO Creation PO Creation		Organization ABC Internation ABC India Put I	nai L3d L3d				Assign Ree Owner	nove



• People

People who are responsible to comply with the policy are mapped in this section. Whenever a policy acknowledgement, quiz, or survey job is triggered using the planner functionality, the users mapped in this tab receive the workflow/notifications to respond. Following are the assignment methods available to map the users to the policy:

• Roles

Use this option to consider all the users who have the selected roles assigned.

• User Groups

Use this option to consider all the users who have the selected user groups assigned.

• Specific Users

This option is used to assign the users based on their individual user IDs.

• Distribution List

Use this option to consider the users who are members of the selected Outlook distribution list.

You must add users using one or more of these methods. Click the **Select** button against each of the options, and maintain the values. <u>Figure 9.9</u> lists the available options in this screen.

• Exclusions

Any specific exclusions the end users must consider while understanding the policy must be added in this text box, as shown Figure 9.10.

olicy: Ant	i Corruptie	on Policy							
Send for	Review Subr	nit for Approval							
licy Group Con	plance Distribu	tion Methods A	cknowledgement, G	ulz, Survey Stat	us Draft Version 002				
General	Policy Docum	ent Policy	Scope Risk	s Controls	Policy Sources	Issues	Roles	Review and Approval	
Organizations	Processes	Activities	People	inclusions					
elect Roles									
								Select Ra	mov
Roles							Туре		
Cross Regul	lation Policy View	or					GRC Role		
elect User G	roups								
User Group	ID				User Groups			Select	mp
elect Specif	ic Users								
Dente					Paul Marrie			Select	mo
Precipie			1 jipe		Email Address				
elect Distrit	oution List								
								Select Re	m

Figure 9.9 Assignment of People in the Scope of Policy

olicy: A	d for Review	Submit for	Policy Approval						
olicy Group	Compliance	Distribution	Methods Ack	nowledgen	vent, Quía	t, Survey Stati	is Draft Version 002		
General	Policy	Document	Policy	Scope	Risks	Controls	Policy Sources	Issues	Roles
Organizati Exclusions: 0	ions Pri Clause 1.2 me imployees fro	ntioned in the	Activities attached polic can ignore it	People cy documen	Exc t is applic	able only to Co	mpliance team and		

Figure 9.10 Exclusions in the Scope of Policy

Once the policy scope is maintained, you may proceed with defining the risks.

Risks Tab

In this tab, you can map the risks specified within SAP Risk Management under the **Assessments** work center. Only risks originating from the organizations against which they were created can be linked if they are added in the **Policy Scope**. Risks mapped in this tab indicate the potential risks that can materialize and impact the organization if the policy isn't followed effectively.

To add a risk, click the **Assign** button, and select the risk from the popup to map it to the policy. Once the risk is added, it can be viewed in the **Risks** table, as highlighted in <u>Figure 9.11</u>.



Figure 9.11 Option to Add Risk to the Policy

Controls Tab

The controls selected in this tab indicate the ones implemented in the organization to ensure the policy is operated effectively and the risks doesn't materialize. To associate these controls with the policy, click on the **Assign** button, and then select the controls that are relevant to the policy. Be sure to link controls that are specific to the organizations selected within the policy scope.

Additionally, this tab provides information regarding the outcomes of various assessments, including operating effectiveness, design assessment, and self-assessment. The results section includes hyperlinks that allow for a detailed review of the assessment details, as shown in Figure 9.12.



Figure 9.12 Option to Add Controls to the Policy

Note

Similar to the business process control, there is an option to add indirect entity-level controls following the same process detailed in this tab. <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.5</u>, discusses the concept of the indirect entity-level control and steps to configure it.

Policy Sources Tab

The **Policy Sources** tab displays the list of policy categories under which the sources can be defined. For example, if the **Source** of the policy is "Prevention of Corruption Act", the same can be defined under the **Laws/Legal Requirements** category. To create the source, select the relevant category from the **Policy Sources** list, and click **Add Sources** button. Provide the details of **Policy Source** and **Description**, and click **OK**, as shown in Figure 9.13.



Figure 9.13 Assignment of Policy Sources

Note

The **Policy Source** categories displayed in this tab are maintained in the Transaction SPRO configuration. To access the configuration step, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click **SAP Reference IMG**, and navigate to the path **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Common Component Settings • Policy Management** • **Maintain Policy Source Categories**.

The default values are as follows:

- Business goals and objectives
- Corporate strategy
- Regulations and/or requirements
- Other policies

- Best practices
- Laws/legal requirements
- Industry standards
- Voluntary commitments
- Organizational initiatives and programs
- Observed events/incidents
- Other

A new category can be added in the configuration using the **New Entries** button.

Issues Tab

This tab provides an option to report any issues identified in the policy definition or any issue during the operation of the policy for detailed investigation and remediation. Once an issue is reported, it will be triggered to the ad hoc issue processor as defined in the custom agent determination rules for the policy (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>, to understand the definition of custom agent determination rule for ad hoc issues). Additionally, this tab provides the list of historical issues reported against this policy, which acts as a base for the policy administrator while revising the policy in future.

To create an issue, click the **Create** button, and provide the details such as **Name**, **Description**, **Priority**, **Owner**, **Source**, **Issue Data**, and **Due Date** of the issue, as detailed in Figure 9.14. Additional notes can be added by clicking the **Add Note** link.

Policy: Anti Corruption	Policy					
Save Send for Review Submit f	or Approval					
Policy Group Compliance Distribution	Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey	Status I	Draft Version 002	2		
General Policy Document	Policy Scope Risks Contro	ts	Policy Sources	Issues	Roles	
🧉 Ad Hoc Issue: - Internet Explorer		-	οx			
http://gl2grc.tnow.com/8000/w2/nwbc/	Sap-nvbc-nodexnavigate,absolute&sap-nvbc-	Nev_wink	low=X			
Ad Hoc Issue:				Create Opt	n Cepy	Refresh List
Submit Save Draft			0,	Dute	Attact	uments
Status Draft Created By Kathika G (materi On 09 10 2023					
Same chan create of name of	Updated By Updat	ed On				
Issue Details Regulation Atta	chments and Links		~			
	have a Description					
* Name	Incorrect Payments		• N			
* Description:	Payments made to a vendor multiple times against the same reference document.					
			C Add			
* Priority:	High	Ŷ				
Object Type:	Policy					
Object Name:	Anti Corruption Policy	Ope				
Owner:	KARTHIKA	- Cl				
Source:	Continuous Monitoring	٣				
 Issue Date: 	09.10.2023	1				
Due Date:	16.10.2023	1				
Audit Trait	Audit Trail					

Figure 9.14 Reporting an Issue for a Policy

Click on the **Submit** button to report the issue. Upon submitting, the issue will proceed through various stages within the remediation process. For a comprehensive understanding of these steps, refer to <u>Chapter 7</u>, <u>Section 7.3</u>.

Roles Tab

This tab lists roles associated with the **Policy** entity as configured in the entity role assignment. For a deeper understanding of this configuration and how roles are linked to an entity, refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.2</u>. It's important to note that these roles determine the authorizations for users who can access and also initiate workflows for reviewing and approving the policy. To assign users to these roles, click the **Assign** button, as highlighted in <u>Figure 9.15</u>. A comprehensive explanation of the process for assigning, replacing, and removing user assignments is provided in <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.4</u>.

Policy: Anti Corruption Polic	≎y			
Save Send for Review Submit for Approv	al			0
Policy Group Compliance Distribution Method	is Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey State	is Draft Version 002		
General Policy Document F	Policy Scope Risks Controls	Policy Sources	Issues Roles	2
Roles				
Show: All v			Assign	Replace Remove
Role	Name	User	Valid From	Valid To
Cross Regulation Policy Approver	DRISHTI	DRISHTI	08.10.2023	31.12.9999
Cross Regulation Policy Owner	Kartska G	KARTHIKA	08.10.2023	31.12.9999
Cross Regulation Policy Reviewer	SAIKRISHNA	SAKRISHNA	08.10.2023	31.12.9999
Cross Regulation Policy Viewer	Praveen Kumar Sajjala	PRAVEEN	08.10.2023	31.12.9999
	RAGHU	RAGHU	08.10.2023	31.12.9999

Figure 9.15 Assignment of Users to the Roles in the Policy

Review and Approval Tab

This tab shows the summary of the users who are responsible to review and approve the policy once the policy is submitted after configuring all the details mentioned in the other tabs. Figure 9.16 lists the **Reviewers and Approvers**.



Figure 9.16 Reviewers and Approvers: Policy Definition

Once all the details are set up, click the **Send for Review** button to initiate the workflow for the reviewers to validate the details maintained in the policy.

9.1.2 Policy Review/Approve Workflow

Once the policy administrator has configured the policy, the next step is to have it reviewed and approved by the designated approvers. When you click the **Send for Review** button, a workflow is initiated and is directed to the policy reviewers mapped in the **Roles** tab. This process follows custom agent determination rules configured in Transaction SPRO. Comprehensive information on how to review the workflow rules for policy review and approval in <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>.

Subsequent sections will provide a detailed breakdown of the steps involved in reviewing and approving the policy.

Review Policy

The reviewer can access the review work item from the **Work Inbox**. To view and take an action on the review work item, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **My Home** work center, and click the **Work Inbox** work item/link under the **Work Inbox** group. The **Review Policy** work item will be displayed, as highlighted in Figure 9.17. The line item can be accessed using the hyperlink, and the policy details are displayed for the reviewer.

	Policy: Anti Corrupt	ion Policy
Active Queries	Save Draft Submit Comments	Send for Review Submit for Approval
Workitzens All (1) Access Management (0) Process Ct	Policy Group Compliance Distrit	ution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey Status Sent for Raview Version 00
Norkitems - Process Control	General Policy Door	ment Policy Scope Risks Controls Policy Sources Issue
Ven: [Standard Ven/] v		
Ph. C. Mark	* Name	Anti Comption Policy
Review Policy Anti Comption Policy Version 001	Description.	Policy to comply with anti-corruption laws
	 Policy Type: 	Policy
	* Distribution Methods:	Acknowledgement @ Quiz @ Survey
	Distribution Language:	
	* Quiz Template:	Policy Quiz
	* Survey Template:	Policy Survey
	* Purpose	No complive practices take place in the organization

Figure 9.17 Review Policy Work Item

The reviewer must review all the tabs in the policy and can submit it for final approval after providing the comments in the **Review and Approval** tab. To add the comments, enter the details in the comments text box, click the **Add Comments** button, and then click the **Submit Comments** button, as highlighted in <u>Figure 9.18</u>.

Policy: Anti Corruption Policy Save Dealt Submit Comments Send for Review Submit for Approval Policy Group Compliance Distribution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey Status Sent for Review Version 001
Roles Review and Approval
Approval Survey: Policy Approval Survey Comment:
Details are reviewed and they are in line with the policyl
Add Comment Comment History

Figure 9.18 Option to Submit Comments while Reviewing the Policy

Once the comments are submitted, click the **Submit for Approval** button to send the policy for approval to the user maintained as **Policy Approver** in the **Roles** tab of the policy.

Once the policy is submitted for approval, the next step is to approve/reject the policy.

Approve Policy

The approver can access the work item through the **Work Inbox**, just like the reviewer. Within the policy, the approver can review various details from the tabs within the policy scope/definition and also go through the comments submitted by the policy reviewer in the **Review and Approval** tab.

After thoroughly reviewing all the policy details, the approver can respond to the policy approval survey questions, provide any comments, and then **Approve** the policy, as highlighted in Figure 9.19.



Figure 9.19 Policy Approval Screen

Once the policy is approved, the status of the policy is updated to **Published**, which can now be distributed across the organization. The approver can use the other options, as follows:

Send Back for Rework

If any of the details provided in the policy definition are missing, the same be submitted back for rework. In such cases, a workflow is triggered to the user maintained as policy owner in the **Roles** tab of the policy along with the observations of the policy approver to make necessary corrections. Once the corrections are made by the policy owner, the same has to be submitted for the cycle of policy review and approval.

• Reject

If the policy approver believes that the details specified in the policy scope are significantly incorrect, he can reject the policy by choosing the **Reject** button. The policy owner is informed of the reason for rejection, which can be accessed from the user's **Work Inbox**. It's important to note that the same version of the policy can't be revised or resubmitted for review after it has been rejected. Instead, it must be deleted from the policy library using the **Void** option, which is the only available choice for the policy owner in this situation.

• Save Draft

If the approver requires additional information or further clarifications, the policy can be saved as a draft and revisited at a later stage for further work or review.

9.1.3 Policy Distribution Methods

Once the policy is approved and published, the next step is to circulate it to the employees. The three different distribution methods for which the employees are reached as part of the policy lifecycle are as follows:

- Acknowledgement
- Quiz

• Survey

Each of these methods are detailed in the following sections.

Acknowledgement

This option is used when the policy is initially created or whenever any modifications are made to the policy clauses, resulting in a new version of the policy. This distribution process is carried out to ensure that employees are informed about the introduction of the policy or any updates to it, and their acknowledgment is sought.

When this distribution method is chosen, and the policy is triggered using the planner functionality, end users receive an email notification in their mailbox with the following two response options:

- Yes: I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy.
- No: I do NOT accept this policy.

Note

The text values for the Yes/No options can be updated in the Transaction SPRO configuration. Log in to the SAP Process Control system, click the SAP Reference IMG, and navigate to Governance, Risk and Compliance • Common Component Settings • Policy Management • Define Acknowledgement Text, as highlighted in Figure 9.20.

New Entries C E P R BC Set: Change Field Values Acknowledgement option Ack. Yes Yes	New Entries C E S R E E BC Set: Change Field Values Acknowledgement option Ack. Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy. No	dgement option": Overview
Acknowledgement option Ack. Text Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy. Text Text Yes Text Text Text Text Text Text Text Text	Acknowledgement option Ack. Text Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy. No I do NOT accept this policy.	🕏 🖟 BC Set: Change Field Values
Ack. Text Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy. No. The Acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy.	Ack. Text Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy. No I do NOT accept this policy.	
Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy.	Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy. No I do NOT accept this policy.	Text
No. The NOT accept this policy	No I do NOT accept this policy.	I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy.
a do not accept this policy.		do NOT accept this policy.

Figure 9.20 Acknowledgement Text Definition

Quiz

Once the policy has been implemented within the organization, employees are bound to adhere to it. It also becomes crucial to assess the policy's effectiveness by validating the employees' understanding of it. This evaluation method uses the survey functionality, which consists of a set of questions that employees must respond to. This survey aids in determining the level of awareness and understanding of the policy by the employees.

When this option is selected, a new field called **Quiz Template** is added in the **General** tab of the policy. This field allows for the selection of a policy quiz survey. A detailed explanation of the process of creating questions and survey libraries is given in <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.1</u>.

Survey

Once the policy is implemented and operating in the organization for a long period of time, it's important to update the clauses of the policy to keep it up to date. During this process of updating the policy, the management can seek inputs from the employees to get their feedback,

understand any gaps in the policy operation, and address them during the creation of a new version of the policy. Once this option is selected, a new **Survey Template** field is added to the screen asking for the selection of a policy survey to be selected. The policy quiz and policy survey are created in the survey library. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.1</u>, to understand the process of creating questions and survey libraries.

Note

The options of distribution methods to be selected are dependent on the **Policy Type** selected in the previous step. The availability of distribution methods for a policy type can be managed in the Transaction SPRO configuration.

Log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, and navigate to **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance • Common Component Settings** • **Policy Management • Maintain Policy Types and Distribution Methods**. Select the checkbox in front of the policy type, and double-click the **Distribution Method** option from the **Dialog Structure**, as highlighted in Figure 9.21.

< 542										CI	hange	View	Poi	icy Typ	e": Overview
×	0	9	New Entries	6	Θ	5	15	82	88	Cancel	Ċ	Ċ	G	G	
Dialog Structure	Pol	icy Ty	pe												•
VT9 Policy Type	Ту	pe	Description	on .											
Distribution Method	C T0	1	Policy												0
	C 10	2	Procedure												
	0 10	3	Work Instr	uction											
	0 10	4	Standard												
	2 10	5	SOP												

Figure 9.21Selection of the Distribution Method Option

The change view of **Distribution Method** displays all three distribution methods by default; however, if any of them aren't applicable for the specific policy type, select the method, and click **Delete** to delink the mapping, as highlighted in Figure 9.22.



Figure 9.22 Delinking Distribution Methods

Note that the jobs are scheduled using the planner functionality, to send the policy either for acknowledgement, quiz, or survey using the respective plan activities. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, to understand the process of scheduling the planner.
9.2 Disclosure Surveys

The disclosure survey is an additional functionality in SAP Process Control that is used to gather information from the respective owners to ascertain their accountability in performance of the operations. This is an attestation obtained from the owners of the master data entities acknowledging their accountability of its operations. The objective of this functionality works in the same lines of the sign-off functionality, but <u>Table 9.2</u> highlights the differences between the disclosure survey functionality and sign-off functionality (refer to <u>Section 9.3</u> to understand more about the sign-off functionality).

Objective	Disclosure Survey	Sign-Off
Level of evaluation	Disclosure survey can be performed at the control level or at the group level, such as at subprocess or even at an organization level.	Sign-off is performed at organization and corporate levels. Specific control/subprocess level sign-off can't obtained individually.

Objective	Disclosure Survey	Sign-Off		
Result of evaluationOnly responses are obtained from the owners to seek acknowledgement on accountability. It doesn't impact the master data or the open issues/remediation plans.Owners ofDisclosure survey is		Open issues and remediation plans are cloned and carried forward to the next period. Master data also freezes and can't be modified for the period for which sign-off is obtained.		
Owners of evaluationDisclosure survey is performed by respective corporate, organization, subprocess, or control owners depending on the level at which the survey is performed.		Sign-off is performed by corporate and organization owners.		

Objective	Disclosure Survey	Sign-Off
Process of evaluation	This is a specific master data entity- level evaluation and not a hierarchical process. In addition, there is no dependency on other entity's disclosure survey processes.	Sign-off process is a bottom-up approach in the organization hierarchy. A corporate sign-off can be performed only after completion of sign-off at all the child organizations under that hierarchy.
Reporting issues	Any issues identified during the disclosure survey process can be reported as ad hoc issues in the same work item.	Any issues that are identified during the process of review can't be reported.

Table 9.2 Comparison between Sign-Off and Disclosure Survey Functionalities

The following sections will detail more about these topics:

- Types of disclosure surveys
- Schedule disclosure survey using the planner functionality
- Workflow structure
- Respond to disclosure survey and ad hoc issue remediation

9.2.1 Types of Disclosure Surveys

As mentioned in <u>Table 9.2</u>, disclosure survey isn't a hierarchical evaluation, and it can be performed at respective master data entity level. Disclosure survey uses the survey functionality of SAP Process Control and can be performed at three different levels of master data:

- Control disclosure survey
- Subprocess disclosure survey
- Organization disclosure survey

<u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.1</u>, provides more detailed information to understand the purpose of a survey library and the steps involved in defining the questions and surveys in the library. Use the category **Disclosure Survey** to define the surveys required for all three types of disclosure surveys mentioned in the preceding list.

For each survey type, there must be one disclosure survey that the owner must respond to at an overall evaluation level. Additionally, there is an option to select an object survey, which isn't mandatory but can be responded to at the respective object level. To gain a deeper understanding of these two surveys, see <u>Section 9.2.2</u>.

9.2.2 Schedule Disclosure Survey Using the Planner

Once the required surveys are created in the library for the **Disclosure Survey** category and the required objects that should be scheduled for disclosure are identified, the next step is to schedule the job using the planner functionality.

To access the planner functionality, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Assessments** work center, and click the **Planner** work item under the **Assessment Planning** work group. The planner work item will show all the plans scheduled for SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management. To create a new plan, click the **Create** button, and enter the required details in respective tabs to schedule the planner for disclosure survey for control, subprocess, or organization. <u>Figure 9.23</u> shows the various tabs in the planner functionality.

The **Enter Plan Details** step is the first stage in the planner. The administrator can define the plan details in this screen such as plan name, activity, and so on; all of the fields in this step are detailed in <u>Table 9.3</u>.



Figure 9.23 Planner Functionality: New Plan

Field	Description
Plan Name	This is a brief name of the scheduler for identification.

Field	Description
Plan Activity	The planned activity must be selected here. For example, if the disclosure survey is to be performed at a control level, choose the Control Disclosure Survey option. The other options in this field can be used for various assessments and tests using SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u> , <u>Section 6.2.2</u> , to understand more about the options available in Plan Activity and the relevance of each option.
Survey	Choose a survey from the list, which is created for the Disclosure Survey category in the survey library. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u> , <u>Section 6.2.1</u> , to understand the process of creating a survey. The standard behavior of the disclosure survey functionality consolidates all the controls that have the same owner and sends a single work item with the list of objects scheduled using the planner. Therefore, SAP Process Control provides an option to select two surveys: where the survey selected in this field is responded to only once at a holistic level of the assessment, or Object Survey , which is selected in the next field.

Field	Description
Object Survey	This is an optional selection, if the organization requires individual responses for each of the controls selected for evaluation, Object Survey can be selected, and the control owner has to respond to this survey for each control selected for the disclosure survey for which he is the owner. To understand more about the response process for survey and object survey, <u>Section 9.2.4</u> .
Period	From the time frames available in the dropdown, select the period for which the disclosure survey is to be conducted. For example, if acknowledgement is obtained on a quarterly basis, select the respective quarter (Quarter 1 , Quarter 2 , Quarter 3 , or Quarter 4) for which the job is to be triggered.
Year	This represents the year for which the survey is being triggered.
Start Date	This indicates the date on which the notification should be triggered to the respective owners.
Due Date	This represents the date by which the survey should be completed by the owners. This date can be used as a base to send reminders to the control owner and escalations to the manager of the control owner.

Table 9.3Fields in the Enter Plan Details Stage of the Planner for DisclosureSurvey

Enter the details in the tab to schedule the control disclosure survey, as shown in <u>Figure 9.24</u>, and then navigate to the other tabs using the **Next** button.

Planner)	
Create	Plan		
	2 3	4 5 6 4	
Enter P	an Details Select Regulation Select Organizations	Select Object(s) Review Confirmation	
Plan Name:	Control Disclosure Survery_Q3 2023		
Plan Activity:	Perform Control Disclosure Survey	*	
* Survey:	Disclosure Survey	~	
Object Survey:	Control Disclosure Survey	~	
* Period:	Quarter 3	*	
* Year:	2023	~	
* Start Date:	09.10.2023	17 00	
* Due Date:	16.10.2023	T	
		Previous Next Cancel Finish Activate	Plan

Figure 9.24The Enter Plan Details Tab to Schedule a Planner for DisclosureSurvey

The remaining steps are as follows:

• Select Regulation

Only those organizations for which this regulation is assigned can be selected in the subsequent tabs. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, to understand the relevance of this step.

Select Organizations

Select the organizations where the controls to be scheduled for disclosure survey are localized. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, to understand the relevance of this step.

Select Object(s)

Various options are available to select the objects. In this case, select the controls that should be scheduled for disclosure survey. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, to understand the relevance of this step.

• Review

During this step, the administrator reviews the plan details before activating the plan. Once all the details are as expected, click on the **Activate Plan** option to initiate the disclosure survey workflow tasks.

Confirmation

A confirmation message will be displayed indicating that the job is saved and the workflow is initiated successfully. Click **Finish** to close the window.

9.2.3 Workflow Structure

After scheduling the planner for the control disclosure survey, it goes through several stages of assessment, which are illustrated in the workflow structure flow diagram in Figure 9.25. These stages play a vital role in identifying and assigning specific roles and responsibilities for each step of the disclosure survey. Moreover, these workflow stages serve as a road map for the progression of the evaluation process, facilitating a methodical and well-organized approach to the survey assessment.



Figure 9.25Stages in the Control Disclosure Workflow with Owners'Information

Refer to Table 6.8 in <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.3</u>, which provides an overview of similar stages involved in control design assessment. However, the review stage is an optional step and is activated by default. To disable the review stage, use the Transaction SPRO configuration via **Governance, Risk and Compliance • Common Component Settings • Surveys • Disclosure Survey • Skip Review Process for Disclosure Surveys**. Select the **Activate** checkbox for the **SKIP_VAL_DISCSVY** (skip validation of disclosure survey) indicator. This will disable the review stage for disclosure survey.

9.2.4 Respond to Disclosure Survey and Ad Hoc Issue Remediation

When responding to the disclosure survey, the control owner evaluates the performance of control operations and provides responses to the questions that are part of the survey. If any issues are identified during this evaluation, the control owner has the option to report them as ad hoc issues. The following subsections discuss these options and their respective processes.

Respond to Survey

Once the SAP GRC administrator schedules the controls for disclosure survey, a workflow is triggered to the control owner's inbox, which has the consolidated list of controls for which the user is responsible to provide responses. The work items can be accessed from the **Work Inbox**. The work items are listed with the **Perform Disclosure Survey <Job Name>** prefix, as highlighted in Figure 9.26.



Figure 9.26 Perform Disclosure Survey Work Item in the Work Inbox

Open the work item and navigate to the **Evaluation** tab that provides the details of the controls for which the responses should be provided, as shown in <u>Figure 9.27</u>.



Figure 9.27 Evaluation Tab in Disclosure Survey

The **Survey Status** column indicates whether responses have been provided for the object survey, which is indicating with a green icon (typically indicates that responses have been submitted), or a red icon, which suggests that no responses have been provided.

The **Surveys** tab in the bottom section is applicable only when an object survey is selected during the Planner scheduling process. The **Ad hoc Issues** tab provides information about any ad hoc issues that have been reported for the control in the past. You can view the details of these issues by selecting a specific issue line item and using the **Open** button. These historical ad hoc issues can be an input for the control owner when providing responses and also offer the option to report a new ad hoc issue if necessary.

Respond to the object survey for all the controls for disclosure survey work items in the **Evaluation** tab, and then navigate to the **Disclosure** tab where the owner should respond to the common survey that was selected in the **Survey** field while scheduling the Planner and provide overall comments, as highlighted in Figure 9.28.



Figure 9.28 Option to Respond to the Survey in the Disclosure Tab

Once the questions are responded to and comments are provided, click the **Send for Review** button to initiate the next phase in the workflow. The next section details the process of reporting an ad hoc issue.

Reporting Ad Hoc Issue

If the owner identifies any anomalies in the process, they can be reported by creating an ad hoc issue before submitting the work item for review. Use the **Create** button to report an ad hoc issue under the **Ad Hoc Issues** tab, as highlighted in Figure 9.29. In the **Ad Hoc Issue** window, input details about the issue, regulation, relevant attachments, links, and any relevant notes, as shown in <u>Figure 9.30</u>.

The various fields are explained in detail in Table 9.4.



Figure 9.29 Option to Report Ad Hoc Issue in Disclosure Survey

Ad Hoc Issue:						
Submit Save Draft						
Status Draft Created By	DRISHTI Created On 09.10.2023 Up	dated By Updat	ed On			
Issue Details Regulation Attachments and Links						
* Name:	* Name: Capitalization process is not streamlined					
* Description:	Capitalization process is not streamline	d				
			C Add Note			
* Priority:	High	~				
Object Type:	Control					
Object Name:	Changes to asset master data	Open				
Owner:	DRISHTI	ď				
Source:	Inspection	~				
* Issue Date:	09.10.2023	1				
Due Date:	16.10.2023	1				
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail					

Figure 9.30 Ad Hoc Issue Reporting Screen

Field	Description
Name	Enter a brief name to identify the issue to be reported.
Description	Provide the details of the issue identified.

Field	Description
Priority	Classify the criticality of the issue as High/Medium/Low .
Object Type	This field is automatically set to Control .
Object Name	This field is automatically set to the name of the control for which the issue is being reported.
Owner	The name of the owner responsible to respond to this issue is automatically selected by the system based on the custom agent determination rules defined for the default ad hoc issue processor for a control (refer to <u>Chapter 4</u> , <u>Section 4.2.3</u> , to understand the process of defining custom agent determination rules for an ad hoc issue).
Source	Select the source from which the issue is identified from the available options in the dropdown.
Issue Date	Choose the date when the issue was identified.
Due Date	Choose the date by which the issue should be remediated by the owner of the issue or the respective stakeholder responsible.
Notes	Provide additional details and background of how this issue was identified and what the issue is.

Field	Description
Regulation	Details of the regulation are auto- populated or inherited from the control for which the issue is being reported.
Attachments and Links	Add any supporting evidence to back up the issue being reported. The following are available:
	• Add File: This is used to add files of any format, such as Microsoft Excel, Word, PowerPoint, and so on.
	 Add Link: If the evidence is stored in a shared folder, its link can be embedded here.

Table 9.4 Fields in the Ad Hoc Issue Reporting Screen

After you've filled in the details, click the **Submit** button. Once the issue is reported, the remediation process will follow the standard procedures outlined in <u>Chapter 7</u>, <u>Section 7.2.3</u>.

Review the Responses

Once the control owner submits the survey for review, a workflow is triggered to the reviewer's (internal control manager's) inbox to validate the responses submitted by the control owner. The work item can be accessed from the **Work Inbox**. Access the work item **Review Disclosure Survey <Job Name>**, as highlighted in Figure 9.31. The reviewer can validate the information provided by the control owner for both the overall survey and object surveys, as well as the details included in the overall comments. Once the validation process is complete and the reviewer is satisfied with the responses, the reviewer can approve the submission by clicking the **Finish** button. This marks the validation process as completed, as shown in Figure 9.32.

Ac	Active Queries									
w	Workiteens All (90) Access Management (8) Process Control (90) Risk Management (8)									
w	Workitems - Process Control									
	Change Query Define New Query Personalize									
V	Vex: "[Standard Vev] v Print Version Export 🔒						4			
1	Ы	Subject 7	Organization	Regulation	Status	Due Date	Created On	Object Name	Created By	r
		Review Disclosure Survey. Control Disclosure Survery_Q3 2123	TNOW-US	SOK	Ready	16.10.2023	09.18.2023 18:25:46		Kathika G	

Figure 9.31Option for the Reviewer to Access Disclosure Survey Work InboxItem

Re ¹ Save	Close Check History Fisich	Contro	ol Disclosure Survery_Q3 2	2023			0.
	Evaluation Disclosure At	achments	and Links				
Co	Object	Exthe	Description	Subservers	Occupitation	Francisco	Survey Dates
	colect	Coury	Description	outprocess	Corganization .	riequency	ourrey ounos
	Changes to asset master data	Control	Changes to asset master data	Fixed Assets	TNOW/US	Monthly	
	FA Account Determination Configuration	Control	Only valid changes are made to the account determination configuration to ensure accurate recording of depreciation expense to the correct general ledger account	Fixed Assets	TNOW-US	Monthly	

Figure 9.32Finish Button in Review Disclosure Survey

Note

The process of performing disclosure survey at the subprocess or organization level follows the same steps.

9.3 Sign-Off Functionality

SAP Process Control offers a comprehensive platform for managing the entire lifecycle of internal controls. It's designed to provide management with reasonable assurance that internal controls are being effectively evaluated. These features of SAP Process Control have been elaborated on in previous chapters.

In addition to these features, SAP Process Control also offers a sign-off functionality. This functionality enables organizations to formally request attestation from top management, confirming their accountability for the current status of internal controls within the organization. Some companies use this functionality to meet regulatory requirements, such as Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This section holds the CEO and CFO of a company directly responsible for the accuracy, documentation, and submission of all financial reports, as well as the internal controls within the organization. To use the sign-off functionality, follow these steps, as detailed in the following sections:

- 1. Perform the sign-off process prerequisites.
- 2. Assign roles and configure workflows.
- 3. Schedule organizations for sign-off using the planner.
- 4. Perform the sign-off.
- 5. After the sign-off, freeze the master data.
- 6. Monitor the sign-off report.

9.3.1 Sign-Off Process Overview and Prerequisites

<u>Chapter 5</u> through <u>Chapter 8</u> detailed the process involved in defining the master data and evaluating controls in SAP Process Control, and sign-off is a functionality to take attestation from the top management that the master data defined in the system is accurate and that they are aware of the assessments performed and issues reported, including the open issues in remediation. Once the sign-off is obtained for a specific time frame for an organization, it's important that no changes are made to it for the signed-off period. To support this requirement, SAP Process Control performs the following activities after a sign-off is taken for an organization:

- Master data is locked and can only be viewed, preventing any further modifications or updates during this period.
- Any ongoing/open assessments, such as control design or control self-assessments, are technically closed or deleted. Owners and participants can't continue or perform these assessments for the current period.
- 3. Any open issues or remediation plans that were generated as a result of assessments or tests are cloned. This means that the current work item is effectively closed, and an identical copy is created and carried forward to the next period. The responsibility for addressing and remediating these issues remains with the assigned issue owner and remediation owner in the upcoming period.

These actions are part of the control and governance processes within SAP Process Control, ensuring that assessments are closed, master data remains consistent, and outstanding issues are properly managed and addressed in subsequent periods. To use this functionality, the following section detail the prerequisite configuration steps that should be performed in the system.

Maintain Issue Types for Sign-Off

The sign-off functionality serves the purpose of obtaining confirmation from top management regarding their awareness of issues reported across various assessments conducted in SAP Process Control. This configuration drives the types of issues and the level of priority of the issue to be considered for sign-off. If the organization doesn't think indirect entity-level control assessment issues need to be in management's review, the same can be deactivated from the scope of sign-off from this Transaction SPRO configuration.

To access the configuration, navigate to Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click the **SAP Reference IMG** button, and expand **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Process Control** • **Sign-Off** • **Maintain Issue Types for Sign-Off**. The values in the configuration are available by default, and the user can only manage the status of activation and priority of issue to be considered. <u>Figure 9.33</u> shows the issue types.

< SAP	Change View "Mair	ntain Issue T	ypes for Sign-O	f": Overview
✓ [v 🛛 🗇 ち 👪 👯	88 Cancel	000	G
Maintain Issue	Types for Sign-Off			0
Ca Category	Text	Sign-Off	Priority	
G_AS CD	Control Design Assessment		Low	~ 0
G_AS CE	Self-Assessment		Low	~
G_AS MCOU	Assessment of Indirect Entity-Level Control		Low	~
G_AS PD	Assessment of Subprocess Design		Low	~
G_TE CO	Automated Test of Effectiveness	V	Low	~
G_TE MO	Automated Monitoring		Low	~
G_TE MTOU	Test of Indirect Entity-Level Control		Low	~
G_TE TE	Manual Test of Effectiveness		Low	~

Figure 9.33 Configuration of Maintain Issue Types Options for Sign-Off

The **Priority** column serves as a determinant of the issue priority. When **Low** is chosen, all priority levels, including low, medium, and high, are considered for the sign-off process. Choosing **Medium** entails that only issues with medium and high priority levels are considered, with low priority issues excluded. Alternatively, selecting **High** ensures that only issues designated with a high priority are considered in the sign-off process, with medium and low priority issues omitted from consideration. This flexibility enables organizations to tailor their sign-off process to focus on specific priority levels based on their significance and urgency.

Scheduling Background Jobs

As part of the sign-off process, any open issues for the assessments that are involved in the sign-off process will be carried forward to the next period. For the system to carry forward the issues, remediation plans, and any relevant attachments that are part of the issues, the following background jobs must be scheduled:

- GRPC_CLOSING_BACKGROUND
- GRPC_DOCUMENTS_CLONING_JOB

You have the option to schedule these as event-based jobs using Transaction SM37. This means that the jobs will be triggered and executed automatically once the sign-off workflow process has been successfully completed.

Master Data Definition

The next step involves activating the sign-off option at the organization level, as specified in the master data. To better understand organization hierarchy and terms such as "corporation" and "organization," refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.3</u>.

It's important to note that only organizations for which the **Sign-Off** radio button is set to **Yes** will be included in the sign-off process. This means that only assessments, issues, and remediation plans created for that organization with this setting will be considered for the sign-off process.

To enable or disable the **Sign-Off** radio button for a particular organization, go to Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Master Data** work center, and select the **Organizations** work item under the **Organizations** work group. Make the necessary changes to the sign-off settings for each organization as required.

Select and open the organization where the **Sign-Off** option has to be maintained, and access the **General** tab of the organization. Option **Yes** indicates the organization is in scope, and option **No** indicates the organization isn't in scope, as shown in Figure 9.34.



Figure 9.34 Sign-Off Settings at the Organization Level

The **Subject to Sign-Off** option isn't available by default. To enable this option, the same has to be activated for at least one of the regulation configurations maintained in Transaction SPRO. To activate the option, execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click the **SAP Reference IMG** button, and navigate to **Governance, Risk and Compliance • Process Control • Multiple-Compliance Framework • Configure Compliance Initiatives**. Select the **Regulation Type**, and double-click on **Business Transactions** in the **Dialog Structure**, as shown in <u>Figure 9.35</u>.

< SAP									Change View "Define Regu	lation Ty	pe": 0	vervi	ew	
 ✓ 	8 9	New Entries	裔	Θ	5	15	88	88	BC Set: Change Field Values	Cancel	Ċ	C	G	6
Daleg Sevene Daleg Sevene Septation Configu- Septation Configuration Master Data Master Data Sectors Sectors	Define R Regulat FINANCI OPERATI	tegulation Typ Ion Type IAL DAML	Fin Op	egulation ancial l eration	an Tyg Comp wi Co	e Text Gance mplian					DO	NOT	use	

Figure 9.35 Option to Access Business Transactions for a Regulation Type

The checkmark in the **Active** checkbox next to the **SIGN**-**OFF** option indicates whether the functionality is activated or not for a regulation type, as shown in <u>Figure 9.36</u>.

< SAP									Change View "Business Tr	ansaction	s": O	vervie	w	
×	0	New Entries	6	Θ	5	ц,	38	88	BC Set: Change Field Values	Cancel	e	a	a	G
Dialog Structure	Replat	ion Type	FINA	NCIAL										
Define Regulation Configu	Regulat	ion Type Text	Finan	cial Co	mplia	nce								
V Define Regulation Type	Busin	ness Transaction	-		0									
Regulation Configuration		-			÷.									
C Master Data	Dys	ness transaction	~	DV0	-									
VTS Business Transactions	- A00			₫.	9									
C Settings	CAP	4												
	\$10	N-OFF		1										
				_										

Figure 9.36 Option to Activate Sign-Off for a Regulation Type

Once this configuration is enabled, the **Subject to Sign-Off** option is made available in the **General** tab of the organization hierarchy.

9.3.2 Roles and Workflow

Once the Planner is scheduled, the workflow triggers to the users per the custom agent determination rules defined in the Transaction SPRO settings. Refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.2.3</u>, for more on the custom agent determination rules to be configured for a sign-off business event. As a best practice, the organization level sign-off is triggered to the organization owner, and the corporate level sign-off is triggered to the corporate owner or CEO/CFO.

The sign-off process is a bottom-up approach where the lowest level organizations in the hierarchy are sent to the designated users first for obtaining the sign-off, after which the next level in the hierarchy are triggered, and then finally the corporate level is sent to the owner for sign-off. Figure 9.37 shows a sample scenario for easy understanding.



Figure 9.37 Sample Organization Hierarchy

In this scenario, when all organizations are enabled for **Subject to Sign-Off**, and the sign-off process is initiated, it follows a hierarchical sequence. Initially, the sign-off process is triggered for the sublevel organizations, that is, India and Singapore. Once the sign-off for these two organizations is completed, the process then proceeds to the next level, which is the Asia Pacific region, and subsequently the final sign-off process for the corporate entity, that is, ABC International Ltd.

This sequential approach ensures that sign-off occurs in a hierarchical manner, starting with individual organizations and progressively moving up the organizational structure until it reaches the corporate level.

9.3.3 Scheduling Using the Planner

Once the sign-off prerequisites are configured, the related organizations are enabled for sign-off, and roles workflows are configured, the next step is to schedule the job using the planner functionality. To access the planner functionality, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Assessments** work center, and click the **Planner** work item under the **Assessment Planning** work group. The **Planner** work item will show all the plans scheduled for SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management. To create a new plan, click the **Create** button, and enter the required details in the respective steps to schedule the Planner for sign-off, as follows:

• Enter Plan Details

Select **Perform Sign-Off** in the **Plan Activity** dropdown for this scenario. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, to understand the relevance of the fields to be populated in this step.

• Select Regulation

Only those organizations for which the sign-off option is enabled and this regulation is assigned can be scheduled for sign-off. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u> to understand the relevance of this step.

Select Organizations

This is an important step where the organizations can be reviewed before scheduling the planner. Unlike other plan activities, there is no option to select objects in the sign-off plan activity; the GRC administrator scheduling the planner can only review the organizations for which the **Subject to Sign-off** option is enabled, as shown in Figure 9.38.





Note

The workflow for sign-off is triggered only for those organizations for which the **Subject to Sign-Off** column is marked (**X**). In addition, note that a warning message is shown at the top of the screen if the corporate entity isn't enabled for sign-off.

• Review

During this step, the administrator reviews the plan details before activating the plan. Once all the details are as expected, click the **Activate Plan** button to initiate the sign-off workflow tasks.

• Confirmation

A confirmation message is received indicating the job is saved and the sign-off process is initiated successfully. Click **Finish** to close the window.

9.3.4 Perform Sign-Off

Once the Planner is scheduled as detailed in <u>Section 9.3.3</u>, the workflow is sent to the organization owner of ABC India Pvt Ltd. To access the sign-off work item, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **My Home** work center, and click the **Work Inbox** work item under the **Work Inbox** work group. Access the work item **Sign-Off for Organization Unit**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 9.39</u>.

Active Queries								
Workberns All (91) Access Manager	writ (0) Process Control	(91) Risk Managem	ent (II)					
Workitems - Process Contro	1							
						hange Quer	y Define New	Query Personalize
View: *[Standard View] w							Print Version	Export 🔒
C Subject	7 Organization	Regulation	Status	Due Date	Created On 7	Object Na	me (Created By
Sign-Off for Organizational Unit	ABC India Pvt Ltd	Sarbanes Oxley	Reserved	05.11.2023	10.10.2023 12.32.25	A8C Indi	PALM 5	SAKRISHNA1

Figure 9.39Option for the Organization Owner to Access the Sign-Off WorkInbox Item

Click **Sign-Off for Organization Unit** under **Subject** to open the work item and perform the steps in the workflow, which we'll discuss in the following sections.

Review

The **Review** step (see Figure 9.40) provides an overview of all the issues reported across various types of assessments and the details of current open issues for the organization that are in the process of sign-off. To view the details of either open issues or all the issues, click on the hyperlink in the respective columns.

Sign-Off: ABC India	Pvt Ltd							
10 1 2 Review Respond to 5	3 iurvey Comment &	4 Sign-Off Comple						
Sign-Off Period Quarter 3 2023								
Review Issues for ABC India Put Total Issues: 1 (In Proce Review the Datalis of the Sign-Of Sarbanes Oxley Monitor :	.st ss: 1) for the Subordinated Or Sign-Off	ganizations in Your A	rea of Rasponsibility.					
Organization	Subject to Sign-Off	Signed-Of by	Signed-Off on	Comments	Open Issues	Al	Issues	Documents
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Yes				1	1		0 Attachment
Issues for ABC India Pv	t Ltd						$\square \times$	
Issues List							^	
Evaluation Type	Issue				Priority S	Tatlus	n."	
Automated Monitoring Iso	M TNDCLNT100 : M	onitor changes to the	configuration duplica	te invoice check	High S	ubmitted	~	
							Close	

Figure 9.40 Option to Review the Details of Issues Reported in the Organization

On accessing the hyperlink, a popup window provides the evaluation type during which the issues were reported, a brief name of the issue, the priority level, and the current status of the issue. In addition, using the hyperlink under the **Organization** column, the owner providing sign-off can review the details of the master data, including the controls that are localized and the details of assessments that were performed during the sign-off period.

Respond to Survey

Once the details are reviewed, navigate to the **Respond to Survey** step (see Figure 9.41) where the organization owner has to respond to the survey that was selected while scheduling the planner. The user providing sign-off responds to the questions and adds relevant comments.

Sign-	Off: ABC India Pvt Ltd 1 2 3 4 eview Respond to Survey Comment & Sign-Off Comple	-I te	
Sign-Of	Period Quarter 3 2023		
< Prev	ous Next > Cancer		
Questio	ns		
No	Question	Comments	Answer
1	Are you aligned with the assessments and related issues reported?		1 %
			Yes No N/A

Figure 9.41Option to Respond to the Sign-Off Survey

Comments and Sign-Off

Once the questions are answered, click **Next** to navigate to the **Comments & Sign-Off** tab. The organization owner can review the **Note**, which acts as guidance before providing the sign-off. After reviewing the note, the user provides the **Comments** that act as the summary of the review performed about the master data and issues for the period under consideration. Any required evidence can be added under the **Attachments** section, as highlighted in Figure 9.42.

Once the comments are entered, click the **Sign-Off** button, and confirm the sign-off, as shown in <u>Figure 9.43</u>.

The text under the **Note** section can be maintained to meet the business requirements. To customize it, go to Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click **SAP Reference IMG**, and expand **Governance**, **Risk and Compliance** • **Process Control** • **Sign-Off** • **Change Sign-Off Note Text**. On executing the configuration step, it navigates the user to **Edit Documents: Initial Screen**.

Sign-Off: A	ABC India Pvt	Ltd					
le 1 Raview	2 Respond to Survey	Comment & Sign	4 Off Complete	4			
Sign Off Period	Quarter 3 2023						
C Previous 19	nt > Sign-Of Ca	lear					
Note: Note that by perform organizations not rei You are required to r You confirm sign-off	ing sign-off, you cartify t evant for sign-off are do comment on any open is by choosing Sign-Off. T	hat operational intern sed automatically, aft sues designated as re o terminate sign-off, cl	I controls are impleme ir which they cannot b levant for sign-off. Yo hoose Cancel.	inted within the organi e changed. a enter your comment i	cations mentioned abo	ne. Furthermore, these	and any subordinate
Add Sign Off Come	nent and Attachments	for all Open Issues v	within Your Entire Arr	a of Responsibility			
Comments:	Organization details are	reviewed and also un	derstand that the open	issues are under proc	tess of remediation		
Attachments							
Туре	Title	Version	File Size	File Type	Added On	Added By	Attachment Ty

Figure 9.42 Option to Enter Comments and Add Attachments before Providing Sign-Off

Sign-Off: ABC India Pvt Lt	d	
1 2 Review Respond to Survey C	3 4 -I comment & Sign-Off Complete	
Sign-Off Period Quarter 3 2023		
Note: Note that by performing sign-off, you certify that organizations net relevant for sign-off are closed You are required to comment on any open issue You confirm sign-off by choosing Sign-Off. To ter	Confirmation × Confirm Sign-Off by choosing OK. Sign-Off CANNOT be reversed. If you are not ready to do this, select Cancel to return to prior screen.	he organizations mentioned above. Furthermore comment in the comment field.
Add Sign-Off Comment and Attachments for Comments: Organization details are revi	CK Cancel	nsibility Inder process of remediation

Figure 9.43 Sign-Off Confirmation Screen

Alternatively, it can be maintained using Transaction SE61. Access the document **GRPCSIGNOFF_NOTE** with **Document Class** set as **General text**, as highlighted in Figure 9.44.

< SAP		Edit Documents: Initial Screen
×	V 🖬 Worklist 🖇 Authorizations 🍵 💋 Cancel	
Settings Document Class Language	General text English	P
Name	CRPCSTGMOFF_NOTE	

Figure 9.44 Transaction SE61: Document Class Maintenance Screen

Click **Change** to open the maintenance screen and make any necessary modifications, as highlighted in Figure 9.45.



Figure 9.45 Option to Modify the Sign-Off Note

Complete

On completing the sign-off process, you may notice a confirmation message indicating that the sign-off is completed successfully for the organization. Once all the organization-level sign-offs have been successfully completed, the next task is to perform the corporate-level sign-off. This sign-off request is directed to the corporate owner, CEO, or CFO. The process and tabs for accessing and responding to the sign-off request remain the same as in the previous stages. However, because the corporate entity is the parent organization, the owner has a comprehensive view that includes all child organizations. Further, the corporate-level view displays details of the responses provided by the organization owners during their respective organization sign-off processes, as shown in <u>Figure 9.46</u>.



Figure 9.46 Review Screen: Corporate Owner

After reviewing the issues and master data details, the corporate owner proceeds with the next steps of the sign-off process. Follow the steps detailed in the **Review**, **Respond to Survey**, **Comments & Sign-Off**, and **Complete** steps to complete the sign-off process at the corporate entity level as the steps remain same.

9.3.5 Post Sign-Off: Master Data Freeze

Once the sign-off process is submitted for an organization, the master data for that organization will freeze. Attempting to modify the organization will result in a lock message indicating that it can't be modified until a certain date, as highlighted in Figure 9.47.

n gai	inzario (15			
View:	Standard Hierarchy			
Show	Year	× 2023	 Apply Advanced 	Open Add Remove Actions
N	ame			
•	Organization Hierarchy			
	 ABC International Ltd 	_		
	ABC India Pvt Ltd	1		
	Electric Power			
	Test			
	 Test Org 			
	TNOW-US			

Figure 9.47 Lock Message When the Signed-Off Organization Is Accessed

In addition, when the organization is opened, it can be viewed only in display mode and all the options to modify will no longer be available, indicating that no changes can be made to the organization for the period the sign-off is obtained, as highlighted in Figure 9.48.



Figure 9.48 Organization Screen Elements in Display Mode

9.3.6 Monitor Sign-Off Report

The Monitor Sign-Off report provides a comprehensive overview of the organization hierarchy, highlighting the organizations that are subject to the sign-off process for the reporting period. It also displays the user's information who provided the sign-off and the date on which the sign-off was received. <u>Figure 9.49</u> shows the report. To access the report, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, and execute the **Sign-Off Monitor** work item under the **Assessments** work center, which is part of the **Assessment Planning** work group, as shown in Figure 9.49.

w: Year	¥	2023 🗸	Sarbo	anes Oxley 🗸 Ap	ply	Acti
Organization	Su	ubject to Sign	Off	Signed-Off by	Signed-Off on	Documents
 ABC International Ltd 	Ye	15		Karthika G;(Missing)	07.10.2023	0 Attachment
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Ye	15		SAJKRISHNA1	07.10.2023	0 Attachment
 Electric Power 	No	>				
Power Generation	No	>				
 Test 	No	>				
Tnow Basis	No	>				

Figure 9.49Monitor Sign-Off Report

9.4 Summary

This chapter covered the significance of other key functionalities available in SAP Process Control, detailing how the lifecycle of the policy can be managed in a workflow-enabled environment to define the scope, review it, and then finally obtain the approvals. In addition, this chapter provided insights on obtaining acknowledgement from the entity owners about their responsibility in operating controls, subprocesses, and organizations. The acknowledgement can be obtained using disclosure survey, which is a common way of using a questionnaire to get responses, or it can be obtained using the sign-off functionality, which is a more sophisticated approach that freezes the master data for the period which was signed off.

10 Reporting

The previous chapters detailed the key functionalities in SAP Process Control, the process of configuring master data, scheduling the assessments using the planner, performing assessments, and managing issues. In addition to performing these activities on a regular basis, it's also important for the management and GRC administrators to get a holistic view of control compliance, issues identified, and remediation plans in progress. This chapter delves into the standard reports that are delivered by SAP Process Control.

SAP Process Control provides insightful analytics to support decisions and promote accountability. The predefined reports and dashboards help understand the status of internal control evaluations and overall compliance at a glance.

A range of reports available in SAP Process Control facilitate real-time monitoring of compliance status and associated assessment outcomes. These reports are valuable for generating periodic updates for senior management on the overall control status within the organization. These are interactive reports that allow users to go deeper into the analysis with various sublinks within the report. Additionally, it allows you to customize the report with various columns
that are relevant for the analysis, enabling a more in-depth examination and the presentation of only pertinent data to the key stakeholders. The following sections will elaborate on the essential reports provided by SAP across various work centers and illustrate the process of adjusting report columns and filters prior to extracting results.

10.1 Reports by Work Centers

Reports in SAP Process Control are available across the following work centers, which can be accessed through Transaction NWBC:

- Master Data
- Rule Setup
- Assessments
- Reports and Analytics

These reports are mapped to the work centers based on the relevance and the type of the data it presents as an output. More details and the steps to access these key reports is detailed in the following sections.

10.1.1 Key Reports under Master Data

Master data, being a key element in SAP Process Control where the control framework and organization hierarchy is configured, it's required to have a detailed overview of the master data, which is delivered by the standard reports. To access the master data reports, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction NWBC.
- 3. Navigate to the Master Data work center.

You can access all the standard master data reports under the **Reports** work groups, as highlighted in <u>Figure 10.1</u>.



Figure 10.1 Master Data Reports

A brief overview of each of the master data reports, their importance, and their output are detailed in the following sections. To learn more about the master data elements in SAP Process Control, refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>.

Risk and Control Matrix Report

This is the most important report in the master data work center. Organizations managing the risk and control matrix (RCM) in offline mode (e.g., Microsoft Excel or SharePoint) can now make use of the digitized report with SAP Process Control acting as a central repository of all the internal controls.

This report provides a detailed view of the relationship between master data elements, organization \rightarrow subprocess

→ risk → control, as shown in Figure 10.2. All the details of the control attributes defined in the **General** tab of the control are shown in this report. The relationship with other master data elements is also shown if the source of the risk is via account groups (including the assertions that the control is complying with) or via control objectives.

Risk and Co	ontrol Matrix				Personalia
A tabular report sho	wing the master data of ri	sk and control matrix			
+ Selection					
Results					
				[Print or Export
Organization	Process	Subprocess	Risk	Control	Owner (Control)
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing		Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	SAKRISHNA1
Power Ltd	Record to Report	GL Account Maintenance		Maintenance of GL Accounts	SAKRISHNAT
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing		Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Sandeep
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Improperty trained staff	Vendor master changes	
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Maintain Vendor Master Data		Duplicate invoice parameter changes	
Power Generation	IT General Controls	System Parameters		Monitor Password Parameter	SAIKRISHNA1
Power Generation	IT General Controls	Access Management		Monitor users with SAP, All access	Sandeep

Figure 10.2 Risk and Control Matrix

Risk Coverage Report

This report helps the organization review the control mapping to the risks and to identify the gaps existing in mitigating the risks. It details the number of risks identified for each of the local subprocesses. It shows the details of the source for each risk to the subprocess (which could be control objective, account group, or inherent to the subprocess) and also how many such risks are being mitigated with the controls. Figure 10.3 shows the output of the report.

Risk Cover	age				Persor	alize
Tabular report show	ing process/lisk calalog by orga	nization				
+ Selection						
Results						
					PeterExpot	2
Organization	Subprocess	Rink Source	Fisk	Fink Level	Control	
Prever Generation	Maintain Vendor Mactor Data	Inherent to Subprocess	improperly hained staff		Vendor master change	
Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Macher Data	Account Group: Accounts Payable (Account Group Assertion: Campleteness, Presentation and Disclassure, Campleteness, Presentation and Disclosure)	incorrect interpretation of Acctg. rules			
Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Macter Data	Control Objective: Accurate Accounting Records	Global consolidation process			
Trow Basis	Maintain Vendor Macher Data	interent to Subprocess	improperty trained staff		Vendur macher change	
Tron Basis	Mantan Ventor Macter Data	Account Group: Accounts Payable (Account Group Assertion: Completenees, Presentation and Disclosure, Completenees, Presentation and Disclosure)	Incomect interpretation of Acctg. rules			
Tron Basis	Mandan Vendor Macher Data	Carthia Objective: Accurate Accounting Records	Clubal consolidation process			

Financial Assertions Coverage Report

This report is only of use if the organization is making use of the account group functionality and managing the compliance of controls with the financial assertions. To understand more about account groups, refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.2</u> (**Account Groups** tab). This report gives an overview of the relationships between organization \rightarrow subprocess \rightarrow account group \rightarrow assertion \rightarrow control mapping to understand the account groups applicable to a local subprocess and the assertions that the relevant control is complying with. <u>Figure 10.4</u> shows the details of the report output.

Financial A	Assertions Co	overage			Personaliz
Tabular report sho	oving Account Grout As	section by organization			
Selection					
Results					
					Print or Export
Regulation	Organization	Subprocess	Account Group	Assertion	Control
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Completeness	
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Existence Or Occurrence	
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Presentation and Disclosure	
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Rights and Obligations	
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Valuation or Allocation	
Sarbanes Oxley	Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Completeness	Monitor maintenance of vendor master
Sarbanes Oxley	Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Existence Or Occurrence	
Sarbanes Oxley	Thow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Presentation and Disclosure	
Sarbanes Oxley	Thow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Rights and Obligations	
Sarbanes Oxley	Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Valuation or Allocation	

Figure 10.4Financial Assertion Coverage Report

Organization and Process Structure Report

This is another important master data report that gives a hierarchical view of the organization \rightarrow process \rightarrow subprocess \rightarrow control mapping, which is performed as part of the control localization process. <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.3.2</u>, details more on the control localization topic. Additionally,

see <u>Figure 10.5</u> that outlines the **Organization and Process Structure**.

Organization and Process Structure				
A hierachical report which shows the overall organization and proc	ess structure			
Selection				
Result				
				Expand All
Hierarchy	Object Type	Owner	Significance	Assigned Regulations (Control)
 ABC International Ltd 	Organization			
 ABC India Pvt LM 	Organization			
 A Process Hierarchy 	Process			
 A Procure to Pay 	Process			
- El Invoice Processing	Subprocess			
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Control	SAIKRISHNA1	Key Control	Sarbanes Oxley
 Power Ltd 	Organization			
 A Record to Report 	Process			
- El GL Account Maintenance	Subprocess			
Maintenance of GL Accounts	Control	SAIKRISHNA1		Satbanes Oxley

Figure 10.5 Organization and Process Structure

Test Plan by Control Report

This report is only of use if manual controls are documented and are being tested in SAP Process Control. This report gives an overview of the localized manual control to manual test plan mapping. This helps the GRC administrator review the test plans being used for various controls and also identify those manual controls for which the test plans aren't yet identified. <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.5</u>, details more about the manual controls and usage of manual test plans.

Test Step Details Report

This is an extension to the previous report (Test Plan by Control report) where this report provides a detailed view of the localized control to manual test plan mapping, including the specific steps defined in each of the test plan, which the control tester should execute to test the operating effectiveness of the control. <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.5.1</u>, details more about the process of defining steps in a test plan.

Change Analysis Report

This report provides the detailed analysis of the changes made in the master data elements between the two time periods selected while executing the report. While executing this report, the user has to select **Period 1 (Time Frame and Year)** and **Period 2 (Time Frame and Year)** to compare the master data. The output of the report provides any changes (creation, modification, deletion, and role assignments) made to the master data between the two periods under selection. <u>Figure 10.6</u> shows the output of the Change Analysis report.

Change /	Analysis				
A summary rep	ort that chronologic	ally shows all obje	ct changes and details, that occurred	s within specified	I time period
Selection					
Results					
Object Name	Object Type	Change Type	Field Changed	Old value	New value
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Valid from (Organization)	20210625	20230101
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Valid to (Organization)	20221231	99991231
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Currency (Organization)		ETB
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Validate iELC Effectiveness Test		Use Central Setting
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Validate iELC Assessment		Use Central Setting
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Retest iELC Effectiveness Test		Use Central Setting
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Retest iELC Assessment		Use Central Setting
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Organization	TNOW	Test

Figure 10.6 Change Analysis Report

Audit Log Report

This report provides a detailed log of the changes made to any of the central or local master data elements between the dates under selection while executing the report. The changes are shown in chronological order, and it's required to select if the changes to be reviewed should be extracted from the central master data (individual entities in the master data) or local master data (entities mapped to an organization). The report can be executed for any of the following master data elements:

- Process
- Subprocess
- Control
- Control objective
- Risk
- Account group
- Indirect entity-level control
- Business rule
- Data source
- Regulation, policy
- Regulation requirement

Risk-Based Compliance Management Report

As detailed in <u>Chapter 5</u>, master data is shared between SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management. This report offers a comprehensive perspective on the risks integrating both SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management viewpoints. It outlines the identified risks associated with one or more organizations and the corresponding controls established to mitigate them. In addition to the master data relationships, this report also provides the outcomes of various control assessments to determine the effectiveness of risk mitigation. This, in turn, equips management with a tool to identify any existing gaps and the potential need for implementing additional controls to prevent the materialization of these risks.

Policies by Regulation Report

This report provides the summary of all the policies/standards/standard operating procedures (SOPs) defined to comply with the requirements of the regulation. Chapter 9, Section 9.1.1, details more about the process of defining a policy.

Policy Versions Report

Once a policy is defined, approved, and published, any changes required in the policy are made by generating a new version. This report provides the various changes the policy underwent across different versions that were published in the organization over time.

Risks Associated with Policies Report

While defining the scope of the policy, it's important to map the risks that will materialize if the clauses in the policy aren't followed effectively. This report gives the details of the risks that are mapped to the policy while configuring its scope. <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.1.1</u>, on the **Policy Scope** tab, details more on the process of mapping risks to a policy.

Processes and Controls with Policies Report

While defining the scope of the policy, it's important to implement certain controls that ensure the policy is operated effectively and that the associated risks don't materialize. This report gives the details of the controls that are mapped to the policy while configuring its scope. Chapter 9, Section 9.1.1, on the **Controls** tab, details more on the process of mapping controls to a policy.

Regulation/Requirement-Control Coverage Report and Control-Regulation/Regulation Control Coverage Report

These two reports provide a summary of the controls implemented to comply with the regulations and the specific requirements of the regulation in the organization.

Central Business Process Structure Report

This business process hierarchy (process \rightarrow subprocess \rightarrow control) defined in the **Master Data** work center is shown as the output of the report. <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2</u>, details more about the central business process hierarchy.

10.1.2 Key Reports under Rule Setup

Automated monitoring is a key functionality in SAP Process Control, which is managed from the **Rule Setup** work center. The standard reports under **Rule Setup** provide a detailed overview of the data sources, business rules, and control relationship, including the details of the issues identified as part of the automated control monitoring and the status of remediation plans initiated to fix the issues.

To access the reports under the **Rule Setup** work center, log in to SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, click the **Rule Setup** work center, and access the reports relating to automated control monitoring under the **Reports** work group.

Each of the reports under the **Reports** work group are detailed in the following sections. Additionally, refer to <u>Chapter 8</u> to understand more about the terminology and the process such as data source, business rule, control to business rule mapping, scheduling controls for automated monitoring, and issue remediation. The reports in this work center give a holistic view of data configured for the purpose of automated control monitoring and test results.

Data Source Business Rule Assignment Report

Automated controls are monitored through business rules that are created using the data sources. This report provides an interactive output for such relationship between data sources and business rules. The details of the tables, using which the data source is created, can be reviewed by clicking on the hyperlink. Similarly, the details of the filter criteria and deficiency criteria can be reviewed by clicking on the business rule link.

Another key feature of the report is that it provides a complete version history of the business rules, which helps in tracking various changes made during report execution.

Figure 10.7 shows the report output for a better understanding.

Data Source Business Rule	assignme	nt				Personalize
Data Source Business Rule Assignment						
Selection						
Result						
				Expand At	Collapse All	Print or Export
Herarchy	Object Type	Data Source ID	Data Source	Data Source Description	Conne	ction Type Key
 TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE 	Data Source	50006723	TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Data source is related to critical profiles monitoring	g SAP	
 TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE 	Business Rule	50000723	TEST_MONTOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Dela source is related to critical profiles monitorin	s sap	
20230314112956	BR Version	50000723	TEST_MONTOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Data source is related to onlical profiles monitoring	8AP	
28230314113037	BR Version	50006723	TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Data source is related to critical profiles monitoring	g SAP	
28230314113051	BR Version	50000723	TEST_MONTOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Defa source is related to critical profiles monitorin	sAP	
 Monitor program changes for custom toxide 	Cata Source	50008738	Monitor program changes for custom toole	Monitor if a program for custom transaction is changed without informi Security. Table TSTC captures changes to transaction codes. Repo exception if program is	a SAP ng x1	

Figure 10.7 Data Source Business Rule Assignment Report

Control Monitoring History with Ratings Report and Monitoring Issue Status Report

The Control Monitoring History with Ratings report and the Monitoring Issue Status report provide visibility into the status of issues identified as part of the automated monitoring jobs. These reports provide a detailed view of the controls for which the issue is identified, including the organization where the control is localized, the subprocess under which the control is created, the current processor of the issue, the issue status, and the number of remediation plans created to fix the issue.

Monitoring	Issue Status				Personak
Tabular report by s	obprocess showing all issue	s generated and their current status			
• Selection					
Results					
					Print or Export
Organization	Subprocess	Control	houe	Description (tosue)	Issue Processor
ABC India PVI UI	Invoice Processing	Montor Duplicate Invoce Check Config	TNDCLNT100 ; Montor changes to the configuration displicate invoice check	2 High 2 Medium 0 Low 8)
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Invoice Processing	Manifor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNOCLAT108 : Monitor changes to the configuration duplicate invoice check	3 High 3 Medium 0 Low 3	SAKRISHNA1
Power Ltd	GL Account Maintenance	Maintenance of GL Accounts	TGDCL100 : Monitor maintenance of GL Account	1 High 1 Medium 0 Low 3	SAKRISHNA1
Pewer Uid	GL Account Maintenance	Maintenance of GL Accounts	TODCL100 : Monitor maintenance of GL Account.	1 High 1 Medium 0 Low 8	SAXRUSHNA1
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Munitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLAT100 : Monitor changes made to displicate invoice check.	4 High 4 Medium 0 Low 8	Sandeep
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Muntor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNOCLAT100 : Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check	4 High 4 Medium 0 Low 9	j .

Figure 10.8 Monitoring Issue Status Report

The **Monitoring Issue Status** report screen is interactive, where the details of the controls and issue can be accessed by clicking on the respective hyperlinks, as shown in Figure 10.8.

Monitoring Remediation Status Report

This report provides visibility into the status of remediation plans initiated to fix issues identified as part of automated monitoring. This is an interactive report using which the user can drill down into the automated monitoring issue to review the details of the exceptions identified and the remediation plan created. This report provides a detailed view of the controls for which the remediation plan is created, including the organization where the control is localized, the subprocess under which the control is created, details of the issue for which the plan is created, the owner of the issue, details of the remediation plan, the remediator, and the current status of the plan, as shown in <u>Figure 10.9</u>.

Monitoring	Remediation Stat	us			Personal
Tabular report show	ing the status of remediation pl	are by monitoring control			
• Selection					
Results					
					Print or Export
Organization	Subprocess	Control	Remediation Plan	Status (Remediation Plan)	Remediator
Forver Ltd	GL Account Maintenance	Maintenance of GL Accounts	Update the configuration of GL	Closed	Karthika G
Power Ltd	GL Account Maintenance	Maintenance of GL Accounts	Update the GL Account Configuration	Closed	Karthika G
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Gather the evidences of approval	Closed	SAKRISHNA SAL
Fower Generation	Access Management	Monitor users with SAP_AI access	Remove access to non-relevant users	Closed	SAKROHMA1

Figure 10.9 Monitoring Remediation Status Report

Automated Control Business Rule Assignment Report

The business rules created for the purpose of automated monitoring should be mapped to the control for which the operating effectiveness should be evaluated. Only on completion of the control-business rule assignment can a control be scheduled for automated monitoring. This report provides the view of the relationship between the local controls to which the business rules are assigned.

Standalone Job Monitoring Results Based on Rule Report

Standalone job is a new feature introduced in SAP Process Control 12.0 where the business rules can be scheduled without assigning them to a control to test the data. This report gives the overview of business rules that are scheduled for standalone monitoring, the status of the job, and the result of the business rules for the scheduled period. <u>Chapter 8</u>, <u>Section 8.5.2</u>, detailed more about standalone jobs.

10.1.3 Key Reports under Assessments

As detailed in <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Chapter 7</u>, and <u>Chapter 9</u>, controls undergo different types of assessments such as design assessment, self-assessment, control performance, and manual test of effectiveness. The details of various assessments the controls are scheduled for, test results, issues reported, and remediation plans initiated can be reviewed using the reports available in the **Assessments** work center.

Log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Assessments** work center, and use the various work items under the **Reports** work group to access reports related to the control assessments.

The reports under this section are shared across SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management. The following sections contain the list of reports along with a brief overview of the output and importance of each of the reports.

Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u> to understand more about the relevance of different assessments that the control undergoes, and refer to <u>Chapter 7</u> and <u>Chapter 9</u> to understand ad hoc issue management, disclosure survey, policy management, and sign-off functionalities.

Evaluation Results by Organization Report

This report gives a summary of results for the assessments conducted during the period of report execution. It can be executed for one or more of the evaluation types, that is, **Subprocess Design Assessment, Control Design Assessment, Self-Assessment, and Effectiveness** (Control Test of Effectiveness).

Evaluation Results by Organization	on				Personals
A hierarchical report which shows the list of organizations a	nd their overall as	ssessment ratings			
Belection					
Result					
				Expand All Collapse All	Print or Export
Herarchy	Object Type	Rating (Symbol)	Control Design Rating (Sym)	Self-Assessment Rating (Sym)	Owner
- I Iest	Organization				
 A Process Hierarchy 	Process				
 A Procure to Pay 	Process				
 Invoice Processing 	Subprocess	Significantly Deficient	Significantly Deficient		
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Control	Significantly Deficient	Significantly Deficient		DRISHTI
* 🛕 IT General Controls	Process				
 Access Management 	Subprocess	Significantly Deficient	Significantly Deficient		
Monitor users with SAP All access	Control	Significantly Deficient	Sconticantly Deficient		DRIGHTI

Figure 10.10 Evaluation Results by Organization

This report gives a hierarchical view of the organization, process, subprocess, control, and results of the assessments conducted for the relevant master data entities. Note that this is an interactive report and allows users to navigate granular details of assessments, issues reported, and remediation plans initiated by clicking the hyperlinks. Figure 10.10 shows the evaluation results by organization and the status.

Evaluation Management Report

This report can be used by management to understand the gaps in the evaluation process and plan the future schedule accordingly. The executed report identifies the organizations where one or more of the local subprocesses, controls, or indirect entity-level controls aren't tested for the following assessments:

- IELC Assessment
- IELC Testing
- Subprocess Design Assessment
- Control Design Assessment
- Control Self-Assessment
- Test of Effectiveness

Indirect Entity-Level Control Evaluations Report and Indirect Entity-Level Control Evaluations by Organizations Report These two reports provide a summary of the indirect entitylevel controls assessment and testing performed during the period of report execution (the first in list view and the second in hierarchical view). The executed reports provide the assessment results of whether it passed or failed for each indirect entity-level control that is mapped at the organization level. This is an interactive report that provides flexibility to the users to drill down for each assessment to review the details of the tests and any issues reported as part of the assessment. To understand more about indirect entity-level controls, refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.5</u>.

Subprocess Design Assessment Report

This report provides a detailed view of the subprocesses mapped to the organizations in the hierarchy and whether they are assessed for design or not. For the subprocesses assessed for design, the details of the test results, along with any issues reported, can be viewed using the drilldown options in the result ratings.

Control Ratings Report

The Control Ratings report provides a summary of the results of the following assessments performed for all the local controls mapped at the organization hierarchy:

- Control Design Assessment
- Control Self-Assessment
- Control Test of Effectiveness

This report can be used to identify the controls that are scheduled for these three control assessments and the controls that aren't. For the controls that are scheduled, the results of the assessment are shown as **Adequate**, **Deficient**, or **Significantly Deficient**. Via hyperlinks, users can drill down to review the assessment responses, issues reported, and remediation plans initiated.

Control Test History with Ratings Report

While the **Control Ratings** report provides the latest test results of control test of effectiveness performed for the controls, the Control Test History with Ratings report provides visibility on the multiple tests performed during the period of report execution. The drilldown options of the test results are available in this report as well, with which the details of the tests conducted can be reviewed.

Test Step Status Report

This report gives a detailed report that provides responses at the step level provided by the testers for the effectiveness tests conducted for the business process controls and indirect entity-level controls. The test steps that are triggered to the control testers, along with the responses provided for each test step, can be reviewed from this report.

Risk Coverage with Evaluations Report and Risk Coverage with Ratings by Organization Report

As part of the master data definition in SAP Process Control, risks impacting the objectives of the subprocess are mapped. To mitigate the risks, organizations implement controls and ensure that they are operated effectively. These two reports give the list of risks identified (the first in list view and the second report in hierarchical view) for the local subprocesses and the controls mapping for each risk (the **Control** column is blank if a control isn't mapped to mitigate the risk). For those controls mitigating the risk, this report provides the summary of results for the following control assessments to validate whether they are effective or not:

- Control Design Assessment
- Control Self-Assessment
- Control Test of Effectiveness

Assessment Survey Results Report and Assessment Survey Details Report

These two reports provide the results summary and the detailed view of the responses provided for each question part of the survey for the following assessments conducted during the report execution period:

- Subprocess Design Assessment
- Control Design Assessment
- Control Self-Assessment

Figure 10.11 shows the **Assessment Survey Details** report screen.

Assessn	nent Survey Details				Personalize
Tabular report	showing the assessment survey details of	the scheduled surveys			
lesuits					
Organization	Control	Control Design Failing (Sym)	Survey Name	Question	Answer
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Significantly Deficient			
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config		Quarterely design assessment	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?	No, new company
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config		Quarterely design assessment	is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization ${\rm T}$	No
Tent	Monitor upers with SAP_A9 access	Significantly Deficient			
Tent	Monitor upers with SAP_A9 access		Survey for Control Design _01	is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	No
Test	Self Assignment of Role	C Adequate			
Tent	Self Assignment of Role		critical bank access	need access to critical tooles related to basis?	740
Tres Basis	Self Assignment of Role	Significantly Deficient			
Two Basis	Self Assignment of Role		Survey for Control Design _01	is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	No
Then Basis	Ondiar Accounting Manual	Equitarity Detcent			
Treve Basis	Global Accounting Manual		Survey for Control Design _01	is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	No

Figure 10.11 Assessment Survey Details Report

Issue Status Report and Remediation Status Report

The Issue Status report and Remediation Status report are consolidated reports that show the details of all the issues reported and remediation plans initiated during the period of report execution across various evaluation types, as follows:

- IELC Assessment
- IELC Testing
- Subprocess Design Assessment
- Control Design Assessment
- Control Self-Assessment
- Control Test of Effectiveness

Using the drilldown option, users can view the details of the issues and remediation plans created as part of the assessments. Figure 10.12 shows the various issues and the issue statuses.

Issue Sta	itus				Persor	nailze
Tabular report	by subprocess showing all issues generalist	and their current status				
Selection						
Results						
				Print	or Export	4
Organization	Control	Issue	Issue Type	Duration in Days	Issue Status	
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	New Company codes are not in scope of the control	Control Design Assessment Issue	1	Ckned	
Test	Montor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Diplicate Inv Checks	Control Design Assessment Issue	122	IN Process	
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Remediate Issue	Control Design Assessment Issue	53	in Process	
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	New Company Codes are not in scope of the control	Control Design Assessment Issue	1	Closed	
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	New company codes are not in scope of the control	Control Design Assessment Issue		Ckried	
Test	Munitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	New Company Codes are not in scope of the control	Control Design Assessment Issue	45	In Process	
Test	Monitor users with SAP_A8 access	New company codes are not in scope of the coor	Control Design Assessment Issue	47	Review	
Trovi Basis	Self Assignment of Role	New company codes are not in scope of the combot	Control Design Assessment Issue	47	Review	
Troy Basis	Global Accounting Manual	New company codes are not in scape of the coor	Control Danion Assessment Insue	40	Services	

Figure 10.12 Issue Status Report

While the preceding report shows the details of the issues identified across various assessments, the Remediation Status report provides the detailed view of the remediation plans created to fix those issues. <u>Figure 10.13</u> shows the details of the remediation plans created across different assessments, the current owner of the **Remediation Plan**, **Status**, and the **Duration** for which the remediation plan is in **Open** status.

Remediation Status					Personal
Tabular report showing the status of remo	ediation plans by subprocess	and control			
• Selection					
Results					
					Print or Export
Control	Remediation Plan	Remediator	Reported by (Remediation Plan)	Status (Remediation Plan)	Duration (Remediation Plan)
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	Sanderep	Kamika G	Costed	1
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Canfig	Duplicate Inv Checks	Sanderep	Sandeep	Remediation Started	122
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	SAKRISHNAT	Kamika G	Draft	53
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Invoice Checks	Sanderep	Kathika G	Closed	1
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	Kathka G	Kathika G	Closed	1
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	Sandexp	Kathika G	Resolved	1

Figure 10.13 Remediation Status Report

Test Status by Organization and Test Status by Process Report

The Test Status by Organization and Test Status by Process reports are analytical reports in a hierarchical view (the first provides an organization-level overview, and the second provides more details of processes and controls), which provide the following assessments/tests conducted for local controls:

- Total number of controls localized
- Total number of controls assessed for design assessment, self-assessment, and control test of effectiveness
- Total number and % of controls that have the failed rating
- Total number and % of controls remediated

Scoping Coverage Report and Organization-Level Materiality Analysis Report

These reports are of use only if the organization is using the account group functionality and managing consolidated account balances and organization-level account balances. To understand more about account groups and account balance maintenance, refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.2.2</u> (Account Groups tab).

The Scoping Coverage report gives the summary of the current account balances and materiality threshold maintained in the configuration at the account group level, and the Organization-Level Materiality Analysis report provides summary of the balances based for the local account groups mapped to the organization through subprocesses. In addition, these reports also provides a summary of the number of controls and risks to which these account groups are mapped.

Organization Sign-Off Status

This report provides information on how the organization uses the sign-off feature as outlined in <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.3.4</u>. It includes a comprehensive breakdown of the organizational hierarchy, the organizations where the **Subject to Sign-Off** functionality is enabled, and their respective sign-off statuses (**Completed**, **In-Progress**, or **Not Done**). For organizations in which sign-off is in progress or completed, it also specifies the users responsible for the sign-off process.

Aggregation of Deficiency Status Report

This report focuses on the organization's utilization of the deficiency aggregation functionality. It provides a comprehensive overview of the organizational hierarchy, identifies the organizations where **Subject to AoD** (aggregation of deficiencies) is enabled, and reports the AoD status. This status indicates whether the business process owner has carried out deficiency aggregation or not.

Ad Hoc Issue Report

This report provides a hierarchical depiction of the organization hierarchy and policy hierarchy against which any ad hoc issues are reported, the user who is responsible to take action on it, and any remediation plan created to fix the ad hoc issue.

Policy Issue Report

As part of the policy definition, the controls are mapped to ensure the policy is complied with effectively in the organization. This report helps in understanding the effectiveness of the policy by providing the details of the issues reported against such controls that are mapped and any ad hoc issues reported against the policy.

Disclosure Survey Status Report and Disclosure Survey Details Report

The Disclosure Survey Status and Survey Details reports provide the results summary and the detailed view of the responses provided for each question part of the survey triggered as part of the disclosure survey. Refer to <u>Chapter 9</u>, <u>Section 9.2</u>, to understand the importance of disclosure surveys and the scenarios where they can be used.

Manual Control Performance Results Report and Manual Control Performance Details Report

These two reports provide the results summary and the detailed view of the responses provided by the control performer for each step that is part of the performance plan. Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.4</u>, to understand the importance of manual control performance and the scenarios when it can be used.

10.1.4 Key Reports under Reports and Analytics

The **Reports and Analytics** work center provides access to various standard dashboards and reports that are applicable

to SAP Process Control, SAP Risk Management, and SAP Access Control. With respect to SAP Process Control, it delivers dashboards and reports to monitor the compliance status within the organization.

To access, log in to the SAP Process Control system, execute Transaction NWBC, navigate to the **Reports and Analytics** work center, and access the various work items under the **Compliance** group relating to various compliances. In addition to these compliance reports, there is another key report called **Object Authorization Analysis**, which gives insights of current user assignments at various master data entity levels in SAP Process Control, as shown in Figure 10.14.



Figure 10.14 Location to Access Reports and Analytics Reports

The reports under compliance are applicable to both SAP Process Control and SAP Risk Management. The following sections contain the list of dashboards and reports along with a brief overview of the output and importance of each of the reports.

Evaluation Status Dashboard

The Evaluation Status dashboard offers a graphical representation of survey assessment results, encompassing the outputs of assessments such as control design, control self-assessment, indirect entity-level controls assessment, and the outcomes of manual control effectiveness tests. Additionally, it displays a summary of issue and remediation plan status for all assessments conducted via surveys. The dashboard also provides insights into the **Sign-Off** status. These results can be generated for a specific time frame and filtered to specifically display results related to particular regulations using the dropdown option. Figure 10.15 shows the **Control Design Assessment** information as an example.



Figure 10.15 Evaluations Status Dashboard

Overall Compliance Status Dashboard

The Overall Compliance Status dashboard presents a bar chart that provides various metrics such as control coverage for defined risks, an overview of the percentage of controls that haven't been evaluated, and, if evaluated, a breakdown of controls marked as effective or ineffective as part of the control assessments. It also provides a percentage representation of open issues and remediation plans. These results can be generated for a specific time frame and can be filtered to obtain results specific to regulations, organizations, or countries.

Datasheet Report

This report offers a consolidated perspective on all information pertaining to subprocesses or controls. It encompasses their attributes, relationships with other master data entities, and the assessment and test results. It also provides detailed information regarding any issues and the corresponding remediation plans generated during these assessments. These results can be generated for a specific time frame and can be filtered to obtain information specific to regulations, organizations, processes, or subprocesses.

Object Authorization Analysis Report

As explained in <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.4</u>, user assignments are made to the roles at various master data entity levels to assign the responsibility, and these assignments drive the workflows in SAP Process Control. This report provides a holistic view of such roles to user assignments (current and previous), made during the period of report execution. Figure 10.16 gives an overview of authorizations and user IDs for object types.

Object A	Authorization Analysis				Personaliza
Object Author	Ization Analysis				
Selection					
Results					
					Print or Export
Object Type	Object Name	Role ID	User ID	Role	Start Date
Organization	Power Generation	SAP_ORC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER	KARTHIKA	Organization Owner	20.08.2023
Organization	ADC International Ltd	SAP_GRC_RM_API_CED_CFO	KARTHIKA	CEO/CFO	06.10.2023
Organization	ABC India Put Ltd	SAP_GRC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER	SAKRISHNA1	Organization Owner	06.10.2023
Control	Monitor_quantity_in_pools_receipt_or_inv	SAP_ORC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	DRISHTI	Cross Regulation Control Owner	12.09.2023
Control	Self Assignment of Role	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	DRISHTI	Cross Regulation Control Owner	12:09:2023
Control	Monitor Password Parameter	SAP_ORC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	SAKRISHNA1	Cross Regulation Control Owner	28.05.2023
Control	Monitor Password Parameter	Z_SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_REM_OWNER	SANDEEPL	Cross Regulation Remediation Over	er 28.05.2023
Control	Gisbal Accounting Manual	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PRC_TESTER	SAKRISHNA1	Cross Regulation Control Tester	29.05.2023

Figure 10.16 Object Authorization Analysis Report

10.2 Personalization and Configuration

As previously outlined, the columns in all the reports discussed in various work centers can be conveniently controlled using the available configurations. This functionality facilitates the thorough analysis and presentation of pertinent data to key stakeholders by slicing and dicing the data. The following sections cover the process of selecting or deselecting columns through the personalization option and provide a comprehensive explanation of the configuration settings for managing the fields available for personalization.

10.2.1 Personalize Columns

SAP's predelivered reports come with the fields that are common to customers for extracting output, and these can be modified during the report execution in Transaction NWBC. However, if there is a need to add a new field for selection, or if any of the existing fields are found to be invalid, these adjustments can be made through the Transaction SPRO configuration. The process of personalizing fields and columns in Transaction NWBC and maintaining these changes via the Transaction SPRO configuration is outlined in the following sections.

Personalize Fields in SAP Business Client

As an example, when running the Risk and Control Matrix report, the standard report includes information about the organization, process, and control, but there is a need to include details about assigned business rules and test plans, which can be achieved by using the **Personalize Fields** option.

Note

The ability to add extra fields to the report using the **Personalize Fields** option is only functional when these fields are already integrated into the report's structure.

The next section will provide more detailed information on adding additional relevant fields to the **Personalize Fields** option while managing the column structure in Transaction NWBC.

To add new fields/columns to the report, access the report (via Transaction NWBC, select the **Master Data** work center, click on the **Reports** work group, and click on the report **Risk and Control Matrix**), select **Personalize**, and choose **Personalize Fields**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 10.17</u>.

election			Personalize General Reporting Settings
Selection variant:		Delete Variant Save Variant	- mi acungs
* Period	First Half of Year 🗸 🗸		
• Year:	2023 ¥		
* Report structure:	Separate Regulation by Row	v	
Regulation:	SOX Companies Act	Sarbanes Oxley	
Organization:		C ²	
Scope (Organiz :	AL V		
Process:		d'	
Subprocess:		ō	
Scope (Subproc:	AL V		
Control:		đ	
Control Category:	AL	v	
Significance:	Al v		
Level of Evidence:	Al		*

Figure 10.17 Option to Access Personalize Fields

A new popup window labeled **Field Selection** will appear with a list of fields that are currently included in the report output in the left pane labeled **Selected** and a list of fields that can be added to the report output in the right pane labeled **Available**. If the desired field isn't already part of the **Selected** pane, you can select the field and move it to the **Selected** pane, as highlighted in <u>Figure 10.18</u>. After you've made the necessary changes, click on the **Save** button. You'll notice the newly added fields in the output.



Figure 10.18 Maintenance of Report Output Fields Using the Personalize Fields Option

Maintain Fields through Transaction SPRO Configuration

To add new fields that are part of the report structure but not part of the output, the same can be added to the report from the Transaction SPRO configuration:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the SAP Reference IMG button.

< SAP		Display View	w "Report": Overvie
 	15 82 82 Cance	0000	
Dialog Structure	Report		
VtS Report	Report ID	Report Name	
√ Columns	F4M	Monitoring Remediation Status	0
Columns in Version	E FS	Control Test History with Ratings	
Ch Elters in Version	F5M	Control Monitoring History with Ratings	
Column header texts	C F6	Test Plan by Control	
	C F6T	Test Step Details	
		Risk and Control Matrix	
	- F8	Automated Control Rule Assignment	
	C F9	Automated Control Rule and Rule Criteria	
	F9A	Assessment Survey Results	
	F98	Assessment Survey Details	

Figure 10.19Selection of Columns to Maintain from the DialogStructure

- Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance •
 Reporting Maintain Report Column Settings to review and maintain the existing columns part of the standard reports.
- Select the report from the list, as highlighted in Figure 10.19, and click on Columns from the left Dialog Structure, as outlined in Figure 10.19.
- 6. The **Columns** screen will be blank at first, but to populate the default columns, click the **Copy standard columns** button, as highlighted in <u>Figure 10.20</u>.

< SAP	Change View "Cola	umns": Ove	rview		
 	영 상 New Entries 월 ⓒ 5 방 왕 Copy standard columns Co	ancel 付	Ċ	a	G
Dialog Structure	Report ID [77]9				
Columns Columns in Version Polars Filters Filters in Version Column header texts	Columns Field ID Text	0			

Figure 10.20Option to Populate Standard Columns in theConfiguration

- 7. You may delete any of the fields that are no longer required or relevant. Select the column, and click the **Delete** icon on the top menu.
- 8. To add a new field, click the **New Entries** button, as highlighted in Figure 10.21.

< 542			Change View *Columns	: Ove	rview	
 	🔯 🔅 New Entries 🗟	9 9 8 8 6 0	Copy standard columns Cancel	Ċ	a (a a
Dialog Structure	Report ID F7					
< C Report						
VTS Columns	Columns					
Columns in Version	Common Section			-		
Filters	Field ID	Field Category	MCF Visibility			
En Filters in Version	O BR_D	Connon Field	Not relevant t	ID MC C		
Column header texts	C CN	Common Field	Not relevant t	o MC		
	CN_ASSERTIONS	Common Field	Not relevant t	o MC		
	CN_ASSERTIONS_ID	Common Field	Not relevant t	o MC		
	CN_AUTOM	Common Field	Not relevant t	o MC		
	CN_AUTON_T	Common Field	Not relevant t	o MC		
	CN_BR	Common Field	Not relevant t	o MC		

Figure 10.21 Option to Add New Columns to the Report

 Use the F4 search selection to select a field from the list. Once the field is saved in the configuration, it's available for selection from the **Personalize Fields** option of that particular report, as outlined in <u>Figure 10.22</u>.

tisk a	nd Control Matrix						Perso
Field	Selection						Π×
Selec	ted		,	Avai	ilable		^
01	Text	^		Ei.	Text	^	
	Regulation (Relevant for Separate Regulation by Row)				Subprocess Description (Long text, Relevant for all)		- 11
	Organization (Relevant for all)				Subprocess ID (Relevant for all)		
	In Scope (Organization) (Relevant for all)				Test Automation ID (Control) (Relevant for all)		
1	Process (Relevant for all)				Test Plan (Relevant for all)		
1	Risk Source (Long text, Relevant for all)	Π.	-		Test Plan Description (Long text, Relevant for all)		
1	Subprocess (Relevant for all)	83	-		Test Plan ID (Control) (Relevant for all)		
	In Scope (Subprocess) (Relevant for all)	H			Testing Technique (Relevant for all)		
1	Risk (Relevant for all)		-		Testing Technique ID (Control) (Relevant for all)		
	Control (Link, Relevant for all)	Ľ	"		To Be Tested (Control) (Relevant for all)		~

Figure 10.22 Review the Newly Added Field to the Report Structure

10. Select the field, and click **Save** to update the field list.

Note

In addition to managing the fields as part of the report, the header text can be managed and updated as required. For example, if the name of the column **Organization** should be shown as **Entity** in the Risk and Control Matrix report, it can be updated in the Transaction SPRO configuration.

To change the nomenclature of the fields, follow these instructions:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Reporting • Maintain Report Column Settings.

< SAP		Displ	ay View "Report": Overview
 	15 82 82 Cancel	0 0 6 6	
Dialog Structure	Report		0
∨tS Report	Report ID	Report Name	
Columns	F6	Test Plan by Control	0
Columns in Version	F6T	Test Step Details	
✓ Elters	V F7	Risk and Control Matrix	
Filters in Version	E FR	Automated Control Rule Assimument	
Column header texts	- F0	Automated Control Rule and Rule Otheria	
	D FM	Assessment Sumary Results	
	C 600	Assessment Super-Datals	
	F10	Assessment Survey Details	



- 5. Select the report where the column name has to be updated, and click the **Column header texts** option under **Dialog Structure**, as shown in <u>Figure 10.23</u>.
- In the next screen, select the field for which the text should be updated, and enter the new name in the Text column, as outlined in <u>Figure 10.24</u>. Click Save to save the change.

< SAP		New Entries: Overview of Added Entries
 ✓ 	🔯 🌮 😳 👯 💐 🖏 Cancel	0 0 0 0
Dialog Structure	Report ID F7	
C Report		Report: Field ID (1) 89 Entries found
Columns	Column header texts	Restrictions
Columns in Version		
Pitters	Field ID	Report D: F7
Tibers in Version	OU_T Extty	
Column header texts	0	✓ B Q Q ★ P ⊕ ★ ±
	0	Field ID
	0	OU.RE
	0	OU BE T
	0	OU BEGION
	0	OU DEGION T
	0	Lou X
	0	00_1
	0	PR
		PR_D

Figure 10.24 Option to Update the Report Column Header Texts

Once the changes are made by following these steps, they are reflected in the report.

Maintain User Responsible for Entity

Another key configuration in the reporting framework of the process control is identification of the owners for different master data entities. For example, while executing the Risk and Control Matrix report, it shows the details of the owner of the control who is maintained as the control owner in the **Roles** tab of the local control. But the identification of the owner of an entity whose user ID should be shown in the report is maintained in the Transaction SPRO configuration. Following are the steps to access the configuration:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 3. Click the **SAP Reference IMG** button.
- 4. Expand Governance, Risk and Compliance Reporting • Maintain Users Responsible for Entity option.

5. Set up the role of the user responsible for each of the master data entities, as outlined in <u>Figure 10.25</u>. For example, if the master data entity is a control, identify the Transaction PFCG role created to grant access to the control owners, and use the role (SAP_GFC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER) for mapping in this configuration.

< SAP	Change View "Maintain Users Responsible for Entit	y": Overview
✓	✓ Ø Ø New Entries More ✓	ଡି ଅ ଅ ° କେ
Maintain Users Resp	onsible for Entity	۲
Entity ID Rep. Ar	ea Role	
ACTIVITY RM Repo	rts v SAP_GRC_RM_API_ACTIVITY_OWNER	0
CONTROL PC Repo	rts VSAP GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	
CORPORATE RM Repo	rts VSAP_GRC_RM_API_CENTRAL_RM	
CORPORATE PC Repo	rts VSAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ICMAN	
LOSS_EVENT RM Repo	rts VSAP_GRC_RM_08_API_0PRISK_MNGR	
OPP RM Repo	rts VSAP_GRC_RM_API_OPP_OWNER	
ORGUNIT RM Repo	rts VSAP_GRC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER	
ORGUNIT PC Repo	rts v SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_OWNER	
POLICY RM Repo	rts V SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_POLICY_OWNER	
POLICY PC Repo	rts VSAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_POLICY_OWNER	
PROCESS RM Repo	rts V SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_PRC_ADMIN	
PROCESS PC Repo	rts V SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_PRC_ADMIN	
RISK RM Repo	rts VSAP_GRC_RM_API_RISK_OWNER	



Note

The **Role** column values are available by default on activating Business Configuration sets (BC sets) BC_SET_MAINTAIN_USER_RESP, GRPC-RESP-USER-GLOBAL, and GRPC-RESP-USER-GLOBAL-UPG. If any values are missing, verify the activation logs for these BC sets from Transaction SCPR20.

Important
The custom Z or Y roles for granting access to control owners can be maintained in this screen. Refer to <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.4</u>, to understand more about the process of assigning users to the roles at different master data entities.

10.2.2 Personalize Organization Filters

While executing the standard reports, there are multiple filter options available in the **Selection** screen before extracting the results. This section explains the usage of the **Organization** key filter. <u>Section 10.3</u> details the usage of **Regulation** and **Time Frame** filters.

As detailed in <u>Chapter 5</u>, <u>Section 5.3</u>, the organizations configured in SAP Process Control comprise a hierarchical depiction of the company's reporting requirements. The standard reports have an option to enter only one organization at a time to get the results. SAP Process Control provides a feature to extract the results of all the child organizations when the parent organization is selected in this filter field. This option can be selected from the **Report Personalize** option, as outlined in <u>Figure 10.26</u>.

Risk and Con	itrol Matrix	Personalize Democratics Fields
A tabular report showin	g the master data of risk and control matrix	Report Personalization
- Selection		Personalize General Reporting Settings Print Settings
Selection variant:	✓ Delete Variant. Save Variant	
* Period. * Year: * Report structure: Regulation:	Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year	
Organization:	d'	
In Scope (Organiz :	At v	
Process:	C ²	
Subprocess:	c ³	
In Scope (Subproc:	AL v	

Figure 10.26 Selection of the Report Personalization Option

Upon selecting the **Report Personalization** option, a popup appears where the **Subnodes** option must be configured to manage the organization selection for report generation. Following are the two options available for selection:

- Include Subordinate Organizations in Selection
 If this option is selected, all the child organization data
 will also part of the output for the organization selected as
 the filter in selection screen.
- Only Select Specified Organization
 If this option is selected, only the data specific to the organization selected as the filter in selection screen is displayed in the output.

Figure 10.27 shows both the options available in the **Subnodes** selection screen.

Risk and Con	trol Matrix	Personalize
A tabular report showin	g the master data of risk and control matrix	
• Selection Selection variant:	Delete Variant Save Variant	
* Period * Year:	Report Personalization	
* Report structure: Regulation:	Aggregation Logic: Average of All Ratings	
Organization: In Scope (Organiz :	Subnotes: Include Subordinate Organizations in Selection	
Process: Subprocess:	Include Carrytonward Cases: Bypass Buffer: Do not use reporting buffers	
In Scope (Subproc: Control:	View: Standard Herarchy View: Standard Herarchy Cancel	
Control Category:		
Level of Evidence:	Al v	

Figure 10.27 Maintenance of the Subnodes Option in Report Personalization

For example, the organization hierarchy has two organizations created:

- Parent organization: Power Ltd
- Subordinate (child) organization: Power Generation

If the Include Subordinate Organization in Selection option is chosen in **Report Personalization**, and **Power Ltd** is selected as the filter in the **Organization** field while extracting the report, the report provides the information relating to both the organizations (Power Ltd and Power Generation), as shown in <u>Figure 10.28</u>.

Risk and Co	ontrol Matrix				Personaliz
A tabular report sho	ving the master data o	of risk and control matrix.			
Selection			Report Personalization	on	
Selection variant		De	Output Format Apprepation Logic	Tabular v Average of All Ratings v	
* Period	Year	*	Subnodes	Include Subordinate Organizations in Selection	n ~
* Year	2023 +		Include Assessments/Tests	Most Recent Assessments/Tests with Rating	¥
* Report structure:	Appregate Regulation	ons v	Include Carryforward Cases	Include Carryforward Cases v	
Organization:	Power Ltd	Ó	Bypass Buffer	Do not use reporting buffers v	
n Scope (Organiz :	Al v		Vev	Standard Hierarchy 🐱	
Process:		ď			
Subprocess:		ď		Save Reset Personaliz	ation Cancel
n Scope (Subproc)	Al Y		1		
Results					
					Print or Export
Organization	Process	Subprocess	Risk	Control	Owner (Control)
Power LM	Record to Report	GL Account Maintena	nce	Maintenance of GL Accounts	SAIKRISHNA1
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing		Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Sandeep
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Maintain Vendor Mas	ter Data Improperty trained s	staff Vendor master changes	
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Maintain Vendor Masl	for Data	Duplicate invoice parameter changes	

Figure 10.28Results of the Include Subordinate Organization in SelectionOption

Risk and Co	ntrol Matrix				Pa	HIDDA
A tabular report show	ing the macter data of rick an	d control matrix				
- Selection			Report Personalization	on	×	
Selection variant		V Delete Varia	Output Format	Tabular v		
			Aggregation Logic	Average of Ad Ratings 🛛 🗸		
* Period	Year	v	Subnodes	Only Select Specified Organization	v	
* Year	2023 ¥		Include Assessments/Tests	Most Recent Assessments/Tests with Rating	×	
Report structure	Appregate Regulations	×	Include Cartyloward Cases:	Include Carryforward Cases 💿 🐱		
Organization	Power Ltd	e e	Dypass Duffer	Do not use reporting buffers	•	
In Scope (Organiz :	Al Y		View	Standard Hierarchy v		
Process		8		Trans. Deced Decem	and a local	
Subprocess		0		Gave Perset Person	again Caron	
in Scope (Subproc:	AL V					
D						
results					Print or Export	1
Organization	Process	Subprocess	Rok	Control	Owner (Control)	
Pound LM	Record to Report	GL Account Maintena	nce	Maintenance of GL Accounts	SAIKRISHNA1	

Figure 10.29 Results of the Only Select Specified Organization Option

In the same example—with the parent organization as Power Ltd and the child organization as Power Generation if the **Only Select Specified** Organization option is chosen in **Report Personalization** and **Power Ltd** is selected as the filter in the **Organization** field while extracting the report, the report provides the information relating to only the organization selected, as shown in <u>Figure 10.29</u>. **10.3 Interpretation of Report Results**

Additionally, the **Time Frame** (**Period** and **Year**) and **Regulation** key filters also help in various reports. As these are common across SAP Process Control reports, it's recommended to use them. The steps to set up the filters are detailed in the following sections.

10.3.1 Report Interpretation with Time Frame Filters

As mentioned earlier, date selection plays a vital role in master data maintenance and while performing control assessments in SAP Process Control. For example, if the control self-assessments are performed on a quarterly basis, and there is a requirement to present the report of quarter 3 of the current year to management, quarter 3 can be applied as a filter while extracting the report to get only relevant data. Figure 10.30 shows the time frame filtering options.

Evaluation Re	esults by Organization
A hierarchical report whether the second sec	ich shows the list of organizations and their overall assessment ratings
- Selection	
Selection variant:	Delete Variant Save Variant
* Period: * Year:	Quarter 3 v 2023 v
* Report structure:	Aggregate Regulations V
Organization:	ď
Process:	d
Subprocess:	đ
Control:	Ð
Evaluation type:	Subprocess Design Assessment Control Design Assessment Self-Assessment Effectiveness
Long text:	✓
Execution Method:	Generate Report Online Generate Report in Background

Figure 10.30 Time Frame Filter while Executing the Reports

If the report is executed based on the selections shown in <u>Figure 10.30</u>, only those controls scheduled for selfassessment for that period will be displayed in the output of the report.

10.3.2 Report Interpretation with Regulation Filters

Regulation is another key element while configuring the master data and any assessment performed for controls, subprocesses, or organizations is done to comply with the regulatory requirements that are applicable to the organization.

Refer to <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, to understand the relevance of selecting different options of sharing results across regulations. Because the reports in SAP Process Control are generated to see the assessment results and to review the compliance against the regulations, the

regulations filter can be used in the selection screen to extract results for that specific regulation.

Following are the two options available for selection under **Report Structure** (see <u>Figure 10.31</u>), before extracting the reports:

Aggregate Regulations

If there is no requirement to extract reports for a specific regulation, this option is used, and all the assessments performed for the selected time frame are displayed in the output irrespective of the regulation selected while scheduling the planner.

• Separate Regulations by Hierarchy If the organization has to comply with various regulations and the assessments are performed against the specific regulatory requirements, the user can select specific regulations under the **Regulation** field, which appears on the screen after selecting this option.

Evaluation R	esults by Organization
A hierarchical report whether the second sec	ich shows the list of organizations and their overall assessment ratings
- Selection	
Selection variant:	Delete Variant Save Variant
* Period:	Quarter 3 v
* Year:	2023 🗸
* Report structure:	Separate Regulation by Hierarchy
Regulation:	Separate Regulation by Hierarchy as Oxley
Organization:	Aggregate Regulations
D	
Process:	,
Subprocess:	đ

Figure 10.31 Selection of Report Structure while Executing the Reports

Based on the selections made for time frames and the regulation (SOX), the extracted report displays the data specific to these filters. <u>Figure 10.32</u> shows the output.

Note

While scheduling the planner, as detailed in <u>Chapter 6</u>, <u>Section 6.2.2</u>, if the results are shared across different regulations, the results are displayed in each individual regulation while extracting the report.

Evaluation Results by Organization						
A hierarchical report which shows the list of organizations and their overall assessment ratings						
Selection						
Result						
Hierarchy	Regulation	Control Design Rating (Sym)	Self-Assessment Rating (Sym)			
- 🗖 Tnow Basis	SOX					
 A Process Hierarchy 	SOX					
A Procure to Pay	SOX					
 A Record To Report 	SOX					
 Fixed Assets 	SOX					
Changes to asset master data	SOX					
 A Other Processes 	SOX					
 A 8500 	SOX					
- El Trow Basis	SOX	Significantly Deficient				
Self Assignment of Role	SOX	Significantly Deficient				
A Record to Report	SOX					

Figure 10.32 Execution of Report for a Specific Time Frame and Regulation

10.4 Summary

This chapter covered the importance of standard reports available in SAP Process Control, highlighting the significance of each report and its potential applications. Furthermore, it provided insights into customizing the fields that can be included in the report output and the steps for adding fields to the customization section. The chapter also details the use of time frame and regulation filters to extract the report and analyze the findings in a better and easier way.

11 SAP Fiori for SAP Process Control

SAP Fiori is a great shift in the way users access applications. It not only provides a rich user interface (UI) but also enhances the user experience (UX) with minimal inputs and easy navigations. Let's understand how SAP Fiori can be used in SAP Process Control.

The previous chapters detail the key functionalities in SAP Process Control, their relevance, and the situations when these functionalities can be used in the organization to manage the internal control framework. This chapter focuses on how the UX can be improved with the use of the SAP Fiori UI for SAP Process Control, configuration steps, and working with custom catalogs and groups.

11.1 SAP Fiori Apps for SAP Process Control

SAP Fiori provides a highly personalized and responsive UX that simplifies users' daily activities, offering a simplified design that seamlessly integrates all the systems, making it a unified platform. When combined with other SAP applications and the SAP HANA database, SAP Fiori delivers exceptional application response times and query execution. Refer to the SAP Experience website (*https://experience.sap.com/fiori-design-web/sap-fiori/*) to learn more about SAP Fiori, its evaluation, and various other

important links.

With the introduction of SAP S/4HANA, the SAP Fiori launchpad has emerged as the primary entry point for usercentric business activities. This is due to the SAP Fiori interface's design, which simplifies application management through SAP Fiori apps and the SAP Fiori design framework. Powered by SAPUI5, SAP Fiori operates as an adaptive webbased UI, providing real-time access to all business roles on compatible handheld devices. Building on the success of SAP Fiori with SAP S/4HANA, SAP has extended SAP Fiori's design principles to SAP Process Control. Let's delve further into SAP Fiori architecture and terminology.

11.1.1 SAP Fiori Architecture

The SAP Fiori UI operates independently of the SAP application and differs from the conventional SAP List Viewer (ALV) UI. As a result, it reduces the load on SAP, while also fostering a unified and seamless UI that enhances the overall UX. It eliminates the necessity for users to log in to multiple SAP systems. SAP Fiori offers five deployment choices as follows:

- Frontend server, embedded model
- Frontend server, central hub model
- Embedded SAP Gateway

- SAP Gateway hub
- SAP Fiori Cloud

However, we'll only cover the most-used deployment models here, which is the frontend server, embedded model and the frontend server, central hub model. <u>Figure 11.1</u> details the SAP GUI and SAP Fiori architecture.





The SAP Fiori client uses an SAPUI5-based frontend called the SAP Fiori launchpad, which enables users to launch various apps such as transactional, analytical, or fact sheets. The SAP Fiori launchpad also allows legacy apps to be published and used.

The frontend server is the SAP Gateway for SAP Fiori system that connects with the backend server. In general, the backend server systems are the transactional systems such as SAP S/4HANA. Both the SAP Fiori frontend and backend components can be installed on the same system, which is referred to as an embedded model. Having a unified SAP Fiori interface isn't possible in this model.

When the frontend and backend components are deployed in separate systems, it's termed the central hub model. In this configuration, the frontend server, often referred to as the SAP Gateway for SAP Fiori, serves as a single point of connection for multiple backend server systems, resulting in making the SAP Fiori launchpad a unified interface.

11.1.2 Terminology

Before we move on to any other topics, let's discuss the various common terms used in SAP Fiori, as shown in <u>Table 11.1</u>.

Term	Description
SAP Fiori app	Tiles in the SAP Fiori launchpad represent applications and are called apps.
SAP Fiori group	Groups are subsets of catalogs that contain apps relevant to users. It's possible to categorize these separately on your SAP Fiori launchpad. Groups can be either predefined or user defined. Note that the group concept will be replaced with spaces, pages, and sections. Instead of adding groups into the Transaction PFCG roles, you may need to assign space IDs.

Term	Description
SAP Fiori catalogs	Roles are used to assign SAP Fiori apps to users. Depending on the role and catalog assigned to the role, a user can browse, select, and add apps to the SAP Fiori launchpad entry page. SAP offers predefined catalogs. The tile and target mapping are defined in the technical catalog, identified with the ID "TC". SAP also provides sample and ready-to-use business catalogs. Those are marked with "BC".
Spaces	Space is a collection of pages.
Pages	Pages consists of single or multiple sections.
Sections	A section will have one or more SAP Fiori tiles.
Target mapping	Target mappings are the actual references to the targets. Navigation targets are defined in SAP using the Transaction LPD_CUST, which targets SAPUI5 applications.
Technical catalog	A technical catalog contains all mappings for SAPUI5 applications, Web Dynpro applications, and HTML GUI applications.
Business catalog	In a nutshell, it's the same as the apps (SAP Fiori apps in SAP Fiori launchpad). The SAP Fiori launchpad will display the catalog (app) if the catalog is assigned to an end user Transaction PFCG role.

Term	Description
Semantic object	Semantic objects represent a business entity such as a customer, a sales order, or a product. Using semantic objects, we can bundle applications based on specific scenarios. As a result, it's possible to refer to objects in a standardized manner, abstracting from their concrete implementations. We can either use SAP's semantic objects or create our own as needed.
Action	The action that is intended to be performed on a semantic object (such as display or create purchase order).
SAP Fiori launchpad	SAP Fiori groups/tiles can be accessed via SAP Fiori launchpad. SAP Fiori launchpad can be invoked using Transaction /N/UI2/FLP. In addition, users can directly access the web URL.
SAP Fiori launchpad designer	SAP Fiori launchpad designer allows administrators to create new catalogs and groups, and customize them further. It's mostly used by SAP Fiori developers via Transaction /UI2/FLPD_CUST.

Table II.I SAP FIOR Terminology	Table 11.1	SAP Fiori Terminology
---------------------------------	------------	-----------------------

11.2 SAP Fiori Configuration

To use SAP Fiori applications, the installation of essential components and their configuration is a must. The following sections detail the prerequisites and the various configurations that must be undertaken.

11.2.1 Prerequisites

For installing SAP Fiori 1.0 for SAP Process Control, a prerequisite for integrating SAP GRC with SAP Fiori is to ensure that the add-on UIGRRMPC for SAP Process Control is installed.

=			Installed	Software	>
	vare Compo	enent Ver	sions Installed Produc	ct Versions	
Component	Release	SP-Level	Support Package	Short Description of Component	
SAP_BASIS	752	0007	SAPK-75207INSAPBASIS	SAP Basis Component	0
SAP_ABA	752	0007	SAPK-75207INSAPABA	Cross-Application Component	
SAP_GWFND	752	0007	SAPK-75207INSAPGWFND	SAP Gateway Foundation	
SAP_UI	754	0012	SAPK-75412NSAPU	User Interface Technology	
ST-PI	740	0014	SAPK-74014INSTPI	SAP Solution Tools Plug-In	
SAP_BW	752	0007	SAPK-75207INSAPBW	SAP Business Warehouse	
UIBAS001	300	0007	SAPK-30007INUIBAS001	UI for Basis Applications 1.0	
GRCFND_A	V1200	0011	SAPK-V1211INGRCFNDA	GRC Foundation ABAP	
GRCPINW	V1200_750	0011	SAPK-V1211INGRCPINW	SAP GRC NetWeaver Plug-In	
UIGRAC01	100	0002	SAPK-10002INUIGRAC01	SAP FIORI FOR SAP AC 1.0	а.
UIGRRMPC	100	0003	SAPK-10003INUIGRRMPC	Fiori UI for SAP Process Control and Risk Management 100	
CLEMATIS	100_741	0000		Clematis Add-on Tool for Smart Client and ARC	0

Figure 11.2 Installed Component Versions

To validate the component installation, log in to the SAP GRC system, click **System • Status**, and then click on the **Details** button under the SAP system data, and you can

view all the components installed. <u>Figure 11.2</u> shows various installed components.

Note that most of these activities are one-time configurations, so they should be executed with caution.

11.2.2 Activating SAP Gateway

The process of SAP Fiori configuration begins with the activation of the SAP Gateway. In embedded deployments, it's essential to activate the SAP Gateway within the SAP GRC system. Similarly, for the central hub model, the activation and configuration of the gateway should take place within the frontend server hub system. The steps for activating the SAP Gateway remain the same in both the scenarios. To activate SAP Gateway, follow these steps:

- 1. Go to Transaction SPRO_ADMIN.
- 2. Click SAP Reference IMG.
- 3. Expand SAP NetWeaver SAP Gateway OData Channel and Configuration • Activate or Deactivate SAP Gateway, and click Activate for the SAP Gateway, as shown in Figure 11.3.



Figure 11.3 SAP Gateway Activation Screen

Once SAP Gateway is activated, you'll see an **SAP Gateway** is Active message.

11.2.3 Activating Internet Communication Framework Services

It's of utmost important to activate the Internet Communication Framework (ICF) services using Transaction SIFC. Ensure that the following ICF services are activated:

- /default_host/sap/bc/ui2/start_up
- /default_host/sap/bc/ui5_ui5/ui2/ushell
- /default_host/sap/bc/ui5_ui5/sap/arsrvc_upb_admn
- /default_host/sap/bc/ui5_ui5/sap/ar_srvc_news
- /default_host/sap/bc/ui5_ui5/sap/ar_srvc_launch
- /default_host/sap/public/bc/ui5_ui5/
- /default_host/sap/public/bc/ui2/

<u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.1.3</u>, details the steps to activate the Transaction SICF services.

11.2.4 Maintain OData Services

Once the ICF services are activated, the next step is to enable OData services that are needed to use the SAP Fiori apps. These are common services and aren't specific to SAP Process Control. Use Transaction /N/IWFND/MAINT_SERVICE, and maintain the system alias details for the services detailed in <u>Table 11.2</u>.

Service Name	Description
/UI2/PAGE_BUILDER_CONF	Page Builder – Configuration Level
/UI2/PAGE_BUILDER_CUST	Page Builder – Customizing Level
/UI2/PAGE_BUILDER_PERS	Page Builder – Personalization Level
/UI2/TRANSPORT	UI2: Transport Service
/UI2/INTEROP	Gateway Service of Interoperability
GRFN_ASSESSMENT_SRV	GRC-PC Assessments
GRFN_ASSESSMENT_OVERVIEW_SRV	GRC-PC Assessment Overview Page
GRFN_MONITOR_CONTROL_STATUS_SRV	Monitor Control Status
GRFN_PC_SIGN_OFF_SRV	PC Sign-Off

Table 11.2List of Services

Alternatively, use Transaction SPRO_ADMIN, click **SAP Reference IMG**, and expand **SAP NetWeaver** • **SAP Gateway** • **OData Channel** • **Administration** • **General Settings** • **Activate and Maintain the Services.** Once in the **Activate and Maintain services** screen, click **Filter**, and enter the service name, as shown in <u>Figure 11.4</u>. Click **Continue** (checkmark) to proceed. In the bottom-right corner of the Assign SAP System Aliases to OData Service screen, click the Add System Alias button, and click the New Entries button. Select the Service Doc. Identifier (same as the service name), select the SAP System Alias (LOCAL for embedded and the Remote Function Call [RFC] name for the central hub). Select the Default System checkbox, and click Save, as shown in Figure 11.5.

=	Filter for Service Catalog			×
Technical Service Name	/UI2/PAGE_BUILDER_CONF			
Version				
Description				
External Service Name				
Namespace				
External Mapping ID				
		ø	Û	×

Figure 11.4Search Service Using Filter Conditions

< 549	Chang	ge Vie	w "Assign SA	P Sy	stem	Aliase	es to C	Data	Service":	Overview					
×	~ 0	4	New Entries	6	Θ	\$	ц.	82	More 🗸		9	G	₽	ъ	Б
Assign SAP System A	iases to OD	ata S	ervice												
Service Doc. Identifier		User	r Role	He	ost Nar	ne	SAP S	ystem	Alias	Default S	ystem		Metada	ata Del	ault
ZPAGE_BUILDER_CONF	0001						OCAL.			8	e				

Figure 11.5Adding System Alias

Once the system alias is added, you can see the status highlighted in Figure 11.6.

< 5	AP/		Activate and Ma	intain Services					
< [~	Cancel					₽	ъ	Đđ
Servic	e Catalog								
a [▲]	▼ Q (0,6,	⊽ Filter ⊕ Add Service	Delete Service	È Service Details 📿 I	Load Metadata 🗐 Erro	r Log al Reque	st Stati	stics	
CRefres	h Catalog R. OAuth	a, Soft State 🖉 Processing	g Mode						
Type 1	Technical Service Name	• •	V. Service Description	n	Ede	mail Service Name			
0. 2	PAGE BUILDER COM	<u>e</u>	1 Pagebuilder - Con	figuration level	EAG	E BULDER CO	ME.		
a È				_			_	_	- 0
CF No	odes			System Aliase	s		٦		
/ ICF N	ode 🖌 🔂 Call Browser	SAP Gateway Client		Add System Alas	Remove System All	as 66 Customizin	4		
Status	ICF Node	Session Time-out Soft St	ate Descriptic	Chillion Decision and	and and				
008	COATA	00.00.00	Standard	oo service implement	uroon				
				SAP System Alias	Description	Default System	Met	tadata	
				1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	and the second sec				

Figure 11.6Screen That Appears after System Alias Addition

For central (frontend server) hub deployment mode, the system alias will have the RFC connection of the backend system, as shown in Figure 11.7.



Figure 11.7 System Aliases Option in the Frontend Services Hub Model

Once the system alias is maintained, click the **ICF Node** button and then click **Activate ICF**. If the service is missing, you may add it by using the **Add Service** button, as shown in <u>Figure 11.8</u>.



Figure 11.8 Add Service Button

Enter the **System Alias** and **Technical Service Name**, and click the **Get Services** button, as highlighted in Figure 11.9,

to get the missing service.

< SAP	Ado	d Selected Services
 	68 Get Services Cancel	
ilter		
11001		
System Alias	LOCAL	Co-Deployed
System Alias Technical Service Name	LOCAL	Co-Deployed Version

Figure 11.9 Loading the Missing Service

Once the service is added, select the service, and click **Add Selected Services**, assign it to a package, and click **Save**. You'll receive the **Metadata was loaded successfully** message. Repeat the same process/steps for all the services that needs to be activated per the list provided in <u>Table 11.2</u>.

11.2.5 Set Up Remote Function Call Connections

The next step in the configuration of SAP Fiori is to make sure that the RFC connections are set up between the SAP Process Control system and the backend systems. Similarly, if the frontend server hub system is used, the RFCs must be established between the frontend server hub and SAP GRC system. For detailed steps to set up RFC connections, refer to <u>Chapter 4</u>, <u>Section 4.4.1</u>.

Note

The configuration steps may differ based on the version of SAP GRC and the specific SAP system you're trying to integrate with. Further, it's recommended to adhere to your organization's established best practices and security guidelines when configuring RFC connections.

11.2.6 Mapping Remote Function Call Connections to the System Alias

SAP-delivered standard component SOHGPC should be added to the system alias table /UI2/V_SYSALIAS. To add it, access table /UI2/V_SYSALIAS using Transaction SE16, click on **New Entries**, and add the component SOHGPC to the list (see Figure 11.10).

< 🗛		New	Entrie	s: O	verv	iew of A	Added Entries
✓	~ 8	9 (88	86	Cancel	More \checkmark
UI2: Maintenanc (6) Alias SOHGPC C							

Figure 11.10 Maintenance of the System Alias for SAP Process Control

The next step is to map the system alias with the ABAP RFC connector created in <u>Section 11.2.5</u>.

<	SAP	New Entries:	Ove	rview	of Added I	Entries	5			
~		~ 🛱 🔗	Θ	More	· v	7	R	5	°	Exit
UI2: N	laintenar	nce of System Alias Map	ping							0
CI	ient	Source System Alias			Target System	Alias				
100)	SOHGRPC			G12CLNT100					0

Figure 11.11Maintenance of System Alias Mapping for SAP Process Control

To perform the mapping, access table /UI2/V_ALIASMAP using the Transaction SE16, click on **New Entries**, enter the **Client** ID, select component **SOHGPC** from the search list, and enter the RFC connector in **Target System Alias**, as highlighted in <u>Figure 11.11</u>. Click **Save**.

11.2.7 Replicate the SAP Fiori Catalog

To generate the standard SAP-delivered SAP Fiori tiles for SAP Process Control, it's essential to replicate the technical catalog from the backend for the system alias associated with SAP Process Control. By performing this procedure, all standard SAP Fiori tiles become accessible within the SAP Fiori launchpad Customization. To configure, follow these steps:

- 1. Go to Transaction SE38.
- 3. In the **Replicate Back-End Technical Catalog from Remote System (Dev)** screen shown in <u>Figure 11.12</u>, fill in the details as follows:
 - Replication System Alias: SOHGRPC
 - Back-End Technical Catalog ID: SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_APPS
 - Replicate Mode: Full replication
- 4. Click **Execute**.

Enable the **Testmode** checkbox to run it in simulation first to check the results. Review the log results of test mode,

and re-execute the program by removing the checkbox next to **Testmode**, if the results are as expected.

< SAPY Replicate Back-End Technical Catalog from Remote S	ystem (Di	EV)
✓ 図 ⑤ G Cancel	8	8
Replication System Alias		
Back-End Technical Catalog ID SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE		
Replication Mode Full replication		
Testmode		

Figure 11.12Replication of Backend Technical Catalog for SAP ProcessControl

Once executed, you'll see the log results, as shown in <u>Figure 11.13</u>.

After successful execution, all the catalogs for SAP Process Control with lists of standard SAP Fiori tiles can be seen from Transaction /UI2/FLPD_CUST. Figure 11.14 shows the new catalog for SAP Process Control: X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_APPS:SOHGRPC.

<	SAP		Disp	lay logs						
~	[] « @	63	Technical Inform	ation 🚺 Cancel		G	Ð	°	Ex	k
Date	Time/User	Nu	External ID	Object text	Subobject Text	Transacti	Pro	ogram		
∽ ▲	25.10.2023 19:42:00 SAIKRISHNA	16		SAP Fiori Launchp	Service PAGE_BU	SE38	/UR	2/GET,	API	t
_	Problem class Additional Informati	16								
< >	0								4	1
Ty_	Message Text Page cache check triggered by class Page Cache creation started in EN Running in testmode	/UI2/C	L_AD_REPL_CO	NTROLLER DOIT().						0
	Extraction started									1
	Replication from system alias SOHGR	RPC us	ing RFC destinat	ion G12CLNT100						
	Catalog SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_APP	'S with	105 apps extract	ed						
	Extraction finished for 1 catalogs and 	105 a	ops							
•	*** End of log: 25.10.2023 19.42.00 *	••								ç

Figure 11.13 Log Report

🖽 Catalogs 🗮 Groups		X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T	C_GRC_PC 🐵 - Read-Only
Catalog Collection 🔊	ID : X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:	SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_AP	PS:SOHGRPC Search
Drag to add		5 105 Target Mapp	
v			
Search for catalogs Q	Data Source	Business Rule Parameters	Business Rules
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T 210	۲	Ê	(≡)
Z_ACCESS_REQUEST_CATA 5			
Z_ARM_APPROVER	Business Rule Assignment	My IELCs	Indirect Entity-Level Controls
Z FIORI ACCESS CONTROL A	Ð	2	2

 Figure 11.14
 Review of Replicated SAP Process Control Catalog

The business catalogs and business catalog roles in Table 11.3 and Table 11.4 are delivered as part of the frontend component UIGRPC01.

SAP-Delivered Catalogs	Description
SAP_GRC_BC_COMSPL_BE_T	Compliance Specialist
SAP_GRC_BC_EXECUTIVE_BE_T	GRC PC Executive
SAP_GRPC_BC_MANAGER_BE_T	GRC PC Manager
SAP_TC_GRPC_COMMON	GRC: Process Control All Apps

Table 11.3SAP-Delivered Catalogs

SAP-Delivered Business Catalog Roles	Description
SAP_GRC_BCR_COMSPL_T	Compliance Specialist
SAP_GRPC_BCR_EXECUTIVE_T	Executive
SAP_GRPC_BCR_MANAGER_T	Manager

Table 11.4 SAP-Delivered Business Catalog Roles

The following sections will discuss the process of creating custom catalogs and mapping them to Transaction PFCG roles before providing access to end users.

11.3 Working with SAP Fiori Apps

SAP-delivered business catalog roles and catalogs can be either used directly or custom roles and catalogs can be created to fit in the business requirements. The following sections detail the process of creating custom catalogs and groups.

11.3.1 Creating Custom Catalogs

An inherent challenge with using the standard catalogs is that they provide users with access to a wider range of SAP Fiori apps. By creating custom catalogs, you can provide access to a limited selection of apps, as well as organize and categorize them according to the specific needs of your business. The following steps outline the process to create a custom catalog:

- 1. Log in to your SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Execute Transaction /N/UI2/FLPD_CUST to access the SAP Fiori launchpad designer.
- 3. Click the **Catalogs** work center on the left side, which shows the catalogs available in the system.
- 4. Click the + icon to create a new custom catalog, as shown in Figure 11.15.

Groups Groups	X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T	C_GRC_PC 🐵 - Rea
Catalog Collection 🔗	ID : X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAR	P_TC_GRC
Drag to add	Tiles Tiles T	arget Mapp
Search for catalogs Q	Data Source	Business Rule Parameters
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T 260 SAP_TC_GRC_AC_BE_APPS:SOHG	0	Ê
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T 210 SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_APPS:SOHG		
Z_ACCESS_REQUEST_CATA 5	Business Rules	Business Rule Assignment
\oplus		

Figure 11.15 Option to Create a New Custom Catalog

- 5. Select the **Standard** option (the **Remote** option can be used in the frontend server hub model).
- 6. Enter the **Title** and **ID**, as shown in <u>Figure 11.16</u>.



Figure 11.16 Custom Catalog Creation Screen

Once the custom catalog is saved, the next step is to add relevant tiles (with the details of the target URL to access) and the respective target mappings (with the details of the Web Dynpro applications), as follows:

 Access the SAP-delivered catalog and search for/select the tile required to be copied to the custom catalog. Click on the Create Reference button, as highlighted in <u>Figure 11.17</u>.

III Catalogo 🗮 Grou	ps			X-SAP-UQ-A	CAT.SAP_TC_0	RC_PC • Read-0	edy.	Clie	ee 100 🤇
Catalog Collection Drag to add	^	ID : X-	SAP-UI2-ADCAT	SAP_TC_GRC_PC_0	E_APPS:SOH	GRPC	nohinbex	8	Q
Search for catalogs X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT-SAP_T MP_TC_CAC_PC_BU_MPESCH2	Q 110	kon do	Title Work Inbox	Semantic Object GRCMonkinbox	Action manage	Parameters sap-ui-tech-hard-ter DA	Target URL #GRCWorkinbox.m anageThap-ui-tech- Net=WDA	Re	04
Z_ACCESS_REQUEST_CATA Z_AR_INF_COTILOS Z_ARM_APPROVER	, , •								
۲				Cruste The 🍾	Configure [5]	Create Reference	vista 👷 Where U	bed	ð orger

Figure 11.17 Adding Tiles to a Custom Catalog

 Select the newly created catalog from the list, as shown in <u>Figure 11.18</u>. The reference will be added automatically to the new catalog. On successful mapping, you may notice a message (a notification box) with the completion status.



Figure 11.18 Option to Select the Custom Catalog for Reference Mapping

After adding the semantic object, you can proceed to reference the target mappings associated with these semantic objects from the SAP-delivered catalog to your custom catalog, as follows:

1. To include the target mapping in the custom catalog, access the SAP-delivered catalog, search for and select the specific semantic object into the custom catalog, and then click on the **Create Reference** button, as shown in Figure 11.19.





2. After clicking **Create Reference**, select the catalog from the list into which the target mapping must be copied.

You may notice a message (a notification box) that indicates successful mapping the target mapping. Perform the same steps for all the other apps and target mappings.

11.3.2 Create a Custom Group

An SAP Fiori group is a collection of relevant tiles that are grouped on the SAP Fiori home screen. To create a new

custom group, follow these steps:

- 1. Go to the **Groups** section.
- 2. Click the + icon, as highlighted in Figure 11.20.



Figure 11.20 Creating a Custom Group

3. In the **Create Group** screen, provide the **Title** and **ID**, as shown in <u>Figure 11.21</u>.

Create Group
*Title:
My Home
*ID:
Z_MYHome
Group personalization:
Enable users to personalize their group
Save Cancel

Figure 11.21 Custom Group Creation Screen

Note

Use the **Enable users to personalize their group** checkbox to enable end users with access to the group to manage the tiles visible on their screen.

4. Click **Save**.

The next step is to add relevant tiles (apps) to the group, as follows:

1. Click the + option to add tiles, as highlighted in Figure 11.22.

<	Add Tile to Group 'My Home'
ZPC_My Home	
ZPC_My Home	
Work Inbox	
∠	
+	

Figure 11.22 Selection of Tiles in the Group

 Select the apps, and you may notice a message Tile <name of the tile> added successfully, indicating the successful addition of the tile to the catalog. Execute the same steps to add any additional apps to the custom group.

Once the custom catalog and group is created, the next step is to add these to the **Role** menu in Transaction PFCG.

11.4 Mapping Custom Catalogs, Groups, and Space IDs to Transaction PFCG Roles

As outlined in <u>Section 11.3.1</u> and <u>Section 11.3.2</u>, custom catalogs and groups can be created to suit specific business needs. Note that direct assignment of catalogs and groups to users isn't possible; they must instead be added within Transaction PFCG roles and then assigned to users. SAP Fiori provides two options, dependent on the version of SAP NetWeaver and the SAP Fiori component in use:

- 1. Assigning SAP Fiori catalogs and SAP Fiori groups
- 2. Assigning SAP Fiori catalogs and space IDs

Mapping SAP Fiori apps to sections, pages, and spaces represents a modern approach to organizing apps for simplified navigation. Detailed instructions for creating sections, pages, and spaces are outlined in <u>Section 11.4.3</u>.

However, for those who continue to use the concept of groups, direct assignment of groups to Transaction PFCG roles is an option. The step-by-step process for adding groups is detailed in <u>Section 11.4.2</u>. The following sections will explain the process of adding catalogs and groups to Transaction PFCG roles.

11.4.1 Adding Catalogs to Transaction PFCG Roles

To map the catalogs to the roles, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- 2. Go to Transaction PFCG.
- 3. Create a new role or select an existing role to which the catalog should be mapped.
- From the Menu tab, select SAP Fiori Tile Catalog •
 SAP Fiori Launchpad SAP Fiori Tile Catalog from the list, as highlighted in Figure 11.23.

Role ZS_IT_FIORI_ENDUSER Obsolete Description Image: System No destination R Description Menu Workflow Authorizations Image: System Image: System Image: System Image: S	MiniApps 👩 Personalization
Description Target System No destination C Description Menu Vorkflow Authorizations User C Description Merarchy From Target System Target System Authorization Beport Authorization Beport Authorization Default	MiniApps 🖉 Personalization
Target System No destination Q Description Menu Workflow Authorizations Q Description Menu Workflow Authorizations Q Description Menu Workflow Authorizations Q Description Immaction Immaction Hierarchy Beport Authorization Default D Description Description Description	MiniApps 🖉 Personatization
	MiniApps 👔 Personalization
Jransaction Hierarchy Beport ✓ S Role Menu Authorization Default	Additional Activities 🖌 🛐 Other Node Defail
Hierarchy Beport \science \science \science \science \science \science	
V C Role Menu Authorization Default	Node Details
b My Hone	Туре
	Object
SP Application	Text
Web Dynpro Application	
SAP Fiori Launchpad > SAP	iori Site
SAP BW > SAP	
Qther > SAP	iori Tile Catalog

Figure 11.23 Selection of the SAP Fiori Tile Catalog Option in Transaction PFCG

5. Search for the desired catalog, and click **OK**.

The catalog will be added in the **Role** menu.

Note

Adding catalogs alone won't automatically display the apps to the user. Therefore, it's advisable to include groups or space IDs for a better UX.

11.4.2 Adding Groups to Transaction PFCG Roles

To map the custom SAP Fiori groups, follow these steps:

- 1. Log in to the SAP Process Control system.
- Go to Transaction PFCG, enter the Role name, and click Create (for an existing role, enter the name, and click Change).
- 3. Navigate to the Menu tab, and select SAP Fiori Tile Catalog • SAP Fiori Launchpad • SAP Fiori Tile Group.
- 4. Search for the SAP Fiori group, and click **OK** to add.
- 5. Once the required catalogs and groups are added, maintain the authorization objects and their values, and generate the profile.

Assigning the role to users will provide access to the respective SAP Fiori apps.

Note

In addition to assigning roles containing catalogs and groups, it's essential to assign all the necessary foundational roles to the end user, including roles with authorizations such as INTEROP and Page Builder, as well as end user roles such as SAP_UI2_USER_750.

Once these required roles have been assigned to the user ID, the user will be able to access the SAP Fiori launchpad using Transaction /N/UI2/FLP. This access will enable the
user to reach all the relevant SAP Fiori tiles, as shown in Figure 11.24.

SAP H	ome 🕶			
My Home	Compliance Manager (GRC)	Compliance Specialist (GR	C) Executive (GRC)	Risk Manager (GRC)
Work Inbox	My Delegat	tion Delegation		
*	Ô	8		

 Figure 11.24
 End-User SAP Fiori Launchpad Screen

Mapping Space IDs 11.4.3

As previously mentioned, the introduction of spaces, pages, and sections is a novel aspect that increases the UX. Figure 11.25 provides a visual representation of the new structure:



1 SAP Fiori space



2 SAP Fiori pages



SAP Fiori apps/tiles section



Figure 11.25 New SAP Fiori Structure

Before assigning space IDs in roles, it's required to activate the space and pages in SAP Fiori launchpad. This setting must be carried out in the users' SAP Fiori launchpad settings, as follows:

1. In SAP Fiori launchpad, click the user's icon, and click the **Settings** button, as shown in <u>Figure 11.26</u>.



Figure 11.26Settings Option in SAP Fiori Launchpad

 Click Space and Pages, check both Use Spaces and Show My Home checkboxes, and click Save, as shown in <u>Figure 11.27</u>. This will enable space and pages in SAP Fiori launchpad.



Figure 11.27 Enabling Spaces and Pages

To create spaces and pages, follow these steps:

- 1. Go to Transaction /N/UI2/FLP (SAP Fiori launchpad).
- 2. Select the Manage Launchpad Spaces app.
- 3. In the **Manage Launchpad Spaces** page, click the **Create** button, as shown in <u>Figure 11.28</u>.





4. Enter **Space ID**, **Space Description**, and **Space Title**, as shown in <u>Figure 11.29</u>.

Note

A page can also be created in parallel with the **Space ID** by filling in the information. Check the **Also create a page** checkbox to do so.

5. Click the **Create** button.

Create Space
Space ID:*
ZFAP_SP_Display
Space Description: *
Account Payable for Display
Space Title:*
Account Payable Display
✓ Also create a page Page ID:*
ZFAP_PG_Display
Page Description: *
Account Payable for Display
Page Title:*
Account Payable Display
Create Cancel

Figure 11.29 Create Space Options

If the spaces are already created, pages can be added. To add a page, follow these steps:

- 1. Select the **Space ID** from the list.
- 2. Click the **Pages** tab.
- 3. Use the search pane on the right-hand side to find the relevant pages, and click the **Add** button.
- 4. Click Save.

Note

The pages can be hidden as required. If the page visibility is set to **Hidden**, select the page, and click **Set Visible**, as shown in Figure 11.30. Click **Save**.

constant appendication of	sbrak						
Seneral Data Pag	rs (1) Role Assignment	(0) Transports (0	0				
		Remove Pr	ge Set Visible 👃	τ (Search for pages	1	
10	Description	Title Access at Double	Page Volbility		SAP_BASIS_PG_BPM Business Process Management	AM	,
• Y	Display	Display	Hidden	<u>,</u>	SAP_BASIS_PG_ESS Employee - Self Services	Add	>
				C	SAP_BASIS_PG_SEC Security	Add	>
				C	SAP_BASIS_PG_TMC Technical Monitoring	Add	>
				C	SAP_BASIS_PG_TOOLS Tools	Add	>

Figure 11.30 Maintaining Pages

Once the page is created, the next step is to create a section, as follows:

 Click + Add Section in the page, and enter the Section Name in Section Title, as shown in Figure 11.31.



Figure 11.31 Section Definition

2. Add apps from the catalogs by clicking the **Add** • **Catalogs** option, as highlighted in <u>Figure 11.32</u>.

< SAP	Manage Launchpad Pages 🗸			۹ 📧
ZFAP_PG_E Account Payable	DISPLAY for Display			Page Preview
General Data	Page Content Space Assignment (1)	Transports (1)		
		Hide Catalogs	Search for tiles	۹ 📑
Section Title:	Account Data Display	Delete Section	Derived from Roles	Manualb Add ~
			No tiles available for th	is page. Pla
	To start, drag/add content from catalogs	here.	the spaces are a	ssigned to a 🗸 Filter
				¶↓ Sort
	+ Add Section			

Figure 11.32 Adding Apps from the Catalog

3. Select the apps from the list, and click **Add**, as shown in <u>Figure 11.33</u>.



Figure 11.33 Assigning Apps to Sections from Catalogs

4. Click **Save**.

Once the spaces and pages are created successfully, the next step is to assign them to a role. From Transaction PFCG, enter the **Role** name, click **Create** (click **Change** if this is an existing role), navigate to the **Menu** tab, and choose **Launchpad Space • SAP Fiori Launchpad • Launchpad Space**, as highlighted in Figure 11.34. Enter the **Space ID**, and click **OK**.

< 220 C		Change Roles
~ 9	🔁 Other role 🔠 Inheritance 👔 More 🗸	
tole		
Role: 2	ZFIORI_ROLE Obsolete	
Description:	Custom Fiori Role	
Target System:	No destination	
Description	Authonizations	om Menus 🗸 Additional Activi
1 Description Menu	Authonizations Over gi Personalization schpad Space Over Gi Personalization Instruction	om Menus 😒 🔤 Additional Activit
Herarchy	Authonizations Over git Personalization chand Space Over Qit	om Menus 🗸 Additional Activit
4 Description ● Menu 1 □ ₩ ∨ ∧ ⊕Laur Hierarchy 1 Role Menu	Authonizations Over gi Personalization chipad Space Over Qi Color all Qi Color Jransaction Beport Authorization Default	om Menus 🗸 Additional Activit
Q Description Menu Q D (c) (c) Hierarchy D Role Menu	Authorizations Over git Personalization chipad Space Over Git Personalization Transaction Beport Authorization Default BSP Application	om Menus 🗸 Additional Activit
Q Description Menu Q D y(2) A Hierarchy D Role Menu	Authorizations Over git Personalization Authorization Pransaction Beport Authorization Default BSP Application Web Dympo Application	om Menus 🗸 Additional Activit
Q Description Menu Q D y(2) A Hierarchy D Role Menu	Authonizations Over git Personalization Inchand Space Over Q Q Q III Inchand Space Jransaction Beport Authorization Default BSP Application Web Dympro Application SAP Flori Launchpad Launchpad Catalog	om Menus 🗸 Additional Activit
Image: Construction Menu Image: Construction Menu Image: Construction Menu	Authonizations Over git Personalization Incload Space Over Git Personalization Transaction Beport Authorization Default BSP Application Web Dynpro Application SAP Flori Launchpad SAP BW Launchpad Catalog SAP BW Launchpad Group	om Menus 🗸 Additional Activit

Figure 11.34Adding Launchpad Space in the Transaction PFCG Role

Now when users log in to the SAP Fiori launchpad, they see the spaces, pages, and sections, as outlined earlier in Figure 11.25.

11.5 Summary

This chapter has provided an in-depth understanding of SAP Fiori as the UI for SAP Process Control. It has also walked through the essential steps for setting up SAP Fiori and establishing connections using RFCs, maintaining system aliases, and other configuration. Further, the chapter has also detailed the steps to activate standard catalogs, customization of catalogs, and groups, as well as assigning them to users.

12 SAP Financial Compliance Management

In the previous chapters, you've learned how important the SAP Process Control solution is and how it can help organizations manage the risks and controls across various processes. In this final chapter we provide a brief overview of the SAP Financial Compliance Management cloud-based solution introduced by SAP to manage the internal control compliance processes.

SAP Financial Compliance Management is designed to facilitate the management of internal controls within an organization in a cloud-based environment. This chapter offers an overview of key components within master data, providing a thorough examination of both manual and automated procedures. Furthermore, it delves into the preconfigured automated procedures that SAP offers, providing a head start for the implementation process. This chapter further details the key dashboards provided by SAP, enabling users to assess the status of master data and compliance within the organization.

12.1 Overview

SAP Financial Compliance Management is part of SAP's enterprise risk and compliance portfolio, which helps in managing the risks, controls, and compliance needs of the organization. This is a cloud-based application hosted on SAP Business Technology Platform (SAP BTP). The solution supports organizations in managing the controls and evaluating them on a periodic basis to ensure there are no adverse impacts on the financial reporting process of the organization. This solution can be connected to an SAP S/4HANA Cloud or on-premise SAP S/4HANA system to fetch the data to execute automated procedures and evaluate the effectiveness of the controls.

Here are the key advantages that organizations can gain through the use of the SAP Financial Compliance Management application:

Repository of controls

SAP Financial Compliance Management has a built-in feature that allows the documentation of all internal controls within the organization. This includes the mapping of related dimensions, such as the specific process it pertains to, the business objectives it aims to fulfill, the associated risk category mitigated by its implementation, the organizations overseeing the control, and the regulatory standards with which the control complies. Additionally, relevant procedures, whether automated or manual, can be linked to assess the overall effectiveness of these controls based on their nature.

Predefined automated procedures

SAP Financial Compliance Management includes a predefined collection of automated procedures that

organizations can leverage to accelerate the implementation process and quickly introduce the solution to business users. As part of the standard solution subscription, SAP provides approximately 22 predefined controls categorized within specific process areas. Additionally, organizations also get around 72 predefined automated procedures associated with these controls, offering the flexibility to use them as-is or modify them to align with specific requirements:

- Journal entries
- Purchasing
- Suppliers
- Invoices
- Payments
- General ledger accounts
- Sales orders
- Customers
- Change logs
- Products
- Contract-based revenue recognition
- Taxes

For more detailed information about the delivered controls and the automated procedures, access the SAP Help Portal information at *http://s-prs.co/v579904*.

Dashboards

SAP Financial Compliance Management brings a diverse

set of dashboards that enable organizations to gain a realtime perspective on the master data and compliance status of evaluated controls. These dashboards are interactive, allowing users to delve into details and obtain a granular view of the master data and compliance status. This level of detail is useful for management to make informed decisions.

Integration with SAP Signavio

SAP Financial Compliance Management can be integrated with SAP Signavio to import the business processes, subprocesses (referred to as tasks in SAP Signavio), and controls currently maintained in SAP Signavio, eliminating the duplicate efforts to create the control information again in SAP Financial Compliance Management (or vice versa). For more information on integration with SAP Signavio, go to *http://s-prs.co/v579905*.

12.2 Master Data Elements

Because SAP Financial Compliance Management is a solution to support the organization in managing internal controls, it's important to document the control details comprehensively. As part of master data definition in the solution, SAP Financial Compliance Management provides functionalities to define the control library and map it with organizations, processes, subprocesses, and regulations. The following sections describe the importance of each master data element, such as controls, organizations, processes, regulations, and master data dashboards. You can also find the steps to define/configure these master data elements.

12.2.1 Controls

Internal controls for the SAP S/4HANA system are the crux of SAP Financial Compliance Management and are documented using the standard feature of defining the master data elements. In addition to documenting only the details required to identify the control, the control can be mapped to processes, subprocesses, organizations, and regulations in the **Related Objects** section of the control master. To define a new control, access the **Manage Controls** tile, and follow the steps described next to configure the various relevant tabs.

The **Manage Controls** tile shows the list of controls already defined in the system along with an overview of the last five

results for the control assessments performed for the **Effectiveness Test, Control Performance**, and **Control Assessment**. To create a new control, click on the **Create** option, as shown in the <u>Figure 12.1</u>.

•	SAP Mana	ge Controls v	,					0	a 🤗
St	andard -		Editing Status		Spottance	Control Risk Law	~		64 *
Se	ech .	Q	AL			v	~	🔄 🙆 Adapt Filter	s (1) e
					<u>a</u> 2				
¢	ontrols (24)						Mana Edit	Create 8 6	91 M
0	Name	Significance	Control Risk Level	Latent Effectivenes	Latest Control Parl	Latest Control Asse	Changed On J?	Validity Pariod	
0	Check Assets	Kay Control	Ne	8-8-0-	8-8-0-	8-8-0-	Dec 6, 2023, 5:57.48 PM	Jan 1, 2021 - Dec 31, 9999	
0	Vendors Without WAT ID 26	Key Control.	не	8-0-0- 8-8	880	8-8-0-	Owi 2, 2023, 3 30 19 AM	Jan 3, 2023 - Dec 31, 9999	,
0	Period End Cut-Off 5	Key Control.	Net	8-8-0-	880	8-8-0-	Dec 1, 2020, 12:00:12 PM	Jan 1, 2021 - Dec 31, 9999	

Figure 12.1 Option to Create a Control

The New: Manage Controls definition screen consists of several tabs, including Header, General Information, Description, Additional Information, Procedures, Related Objects, and Attachments and Links. It's essential to configure each of these tabs with the relevant settings to ensure the control's completeness, as shown in Figure 12.2 and Table 12.1.

Tab	Field Name	Description
Header	Name	Brief name of the control.
	ID	A system-generated unique ID to identify the controls.
	Significance	Determines whether the control is a key or a non-key control.

	Field Name	Description
	Control Risk Level	Determines the risk criticality level of the control as High , Medium , or Low , which are delivered as default values. To modify them or to create new control risk levels, access the Control Settings app, and navigate to Standard Fields, Control Risk Level under Field Settings . Provide the details of ID and name of the new risk level that should be made available in the Control Risk Level field under the Control Header tab.
General Information	Valid From	The date from which the control is valid.
	Valid To	The date till which the control is valid.

Tab Field Name	Description
Recommended Monitoring Frequency	The proposed frequency at which the control should be tested. The available options for the frequency options in SAP Financial Compliance Management are as follows and are delivered by default: • Daily • Weekly • Bi Weekly • Bi Weekly • Monthly • Quarterly • Every Half Year • Yearly • Any Frequency The dropdown values can be updated from the Control Settings app following the same steps as mentioned previously for the Control Risk Level field.

	Field Name	Description
	Control Owner	The user responsible for the management of the control and ensuring it's being operated effectively in the system.
	Control Group	Groups similar controls based on the activities that the control performs. The dropdown values can be updated from the Control Settings app following the same steps as mentioned for the Control Risk Level field.
Description	Description	Detailed explanation of the activities that the control performs to meet the objectives of the process.

Table 12.1A Glimpse of Various Tabs in the New: Manage Controls Screen

< SAP Manage Controls ~			۵. 🧟
New: Manage Cont	rols		
General Information Description	Additional Information Procedures Relati	ed Objects Attachments and Link	s Attachments and Links (Deprecate
lame.* 1 0: 17	Significance:	Control	Rsk Level:
Seneral Information			
laid From.* MMM d_y	Recommended Monitoring Freque	ncy: Contro v	i Group: V
lalid Ta * MMM d, y	Cantrol Owner:	ð	
escription			
B i ⊻ ⊕ ⊯ ⊻ Verdana	v 12 pt v ▲ v □ v		9 0 X 5 0
			Create Distant D

Figure 12.2 New Manage Controls Screen

<u>Table 12.2</u> provides detail about the other tabs that should be configured while defining the control.

Tab	Field Name	Description
Additional Information	Business Objective	The objective that the control is intending to achieve.

	Field Name	Description
	Chart of Accounts	Because the major focus of SAP Financial Compliance Management is to monitor the controls based out of the SAP S/4HANA and SAP S/4HANA Cloud system, it provides an option to map the identified control to the chart of accounts that the process belongs to.
	Risk Category	Determines the category of the risk the control is mitigating.
Procedures	Automated Procedures	Monitors the effectiveness of the controls. Select the automated procedures that contains the connectivity to the SAP S/4HANA system, the related OData services, and the fields that should be monitored as part of effectiveness testing.

Tab	Field Name	Description
	Manual Procedures	Monitors the effectiveness of the controls. Select the manual procedures containing the steps that should be executed by the tester to evaluate the effectiveness. Depending on the nature of the control testing, automated, manual, or both procedures can be mapped to the control.
Related Objects	Organization	Maps the organizations where the control is being operated. See <u>Section 12.2.2</u> to understand more about defining organizations.
	Business Process	Maps the business processes and subprocesses to which the control is being operated. See <u>Section 12.2.3</u> to understand more about configuring business processes and subprocesses.

	Field Name	Description
	Regulations	Maps the regulations that the control is complying with. See <u>Section 12.2.4</u> to understand more about regulations configuration.
Attachments and Links	Attachments and Links	Used to attach any documents relating to the control.

Table 12.2Tabs to Be Configured while Defining the Control

12.2.2 Organizations

The definition of the organization structure is important for organizations to manage the internal control reporting process. The organization can be a hierarchical representation of geography-based operations or can be based on the types of business operations that are performed in the company. Figure 12.3 shows a sample geography-based organization hierarchy.

With the mapping of controls to the organization, it becomes easy for the internal controls team to extract reports for the specific business unit or a zone to report the status of control effectiveness to the management teams. Following are the details that are documented while defining the organization using the **Org Hierarchies** tile in SAP Financial Compliance Management (see <u>Figure 12.4</u>):

• ID

Unique system-generated ID to identify the organization.

- Name Brief name of the organization.
- **Description** Detailed definition of the organization representing its structure and objectives.
- Valid From Date from which the organization is valid.
- Valid To

Date until which the organization is valid.

CRG International Ltd	- Entities		Сору 🛩	Retire	ø	×
General Information Hierarc	hy Attachments (0)					
General Information					Edit	t
Validity Period: Dec 31, 2021 - Dec 31, 9999			De	scrij		
Hierarchy		Search	Q	Preview	v ®	1
ID	Name	Туре				
* L1	CRG International Ltd - Entitie	s Root				1
> L1.1	UKI	Org				
> L1.2	Americas	Org				L
L1.3	Japan	Org				Ŭ.
L1.4	Germany	Org				

Figure 12.3 Organization Hierarchy

Org Hierarchy			B 3	×
ral Information				
		Description		
e*				
From*				
20, 2023	8			
31, 9999	8			
	ral Information * From* 20, 2023 To* 31, 9999	ral Information	Org Hierarchy ral Information n** From* 20, 2023 To* 31, 9999	ral Information

Figure 12.4 Details to Be Configured while Defining an Organization

After configuring the details, click on **Save** to complete the creation of the organization. The organizations established in this hierarchy can be used for mappings in the control within the **Related Objects** section. In the event that an organization is no longer valid within the hierarchy, you can use the **Retire** option to delimit the organization, and it's no longer valid for any assignments or future usage.

12.2.3 Process

When a control is documented, it's important to identify the business process to which it belongs. The business processes to which the internal controls identified in monitoring belong to can be documented using the **Process Catalogs** tile. Following are the details that are documented while defining the process, as shown in <u>Figure 12.5</u>:

• ID

Unique system-generated **ID** to identify the process.

- Name Brief name of the process.
- Description

Detailed definition of the activities carried out in the process.

- Valid From Date from which the process is valid.
- Valid To Date till which the process is valid.

ĺ				
	General Information			
	ID:*	D	escription:	
	Name:*			
	Valid From*			_
	Dec 20, 2023	8		
	Valid To*			
	Dec 31, 9999	8		

Figure 12.5 Detials to Be Configured while Defining a Process

After configuring the details, click **Save** to finalize the creation of the process. The processes established here can be used for mappings in the control within the **Related Objects** section. If a process becomes obsolete, use the **Retire** option to delimit the process. which makes it no longer valid for any assignments or future usage.

12.2.4 Regulations

Organizations are bound to comply with various regulatory requirements to have a strong internal control procedure. It's also key to define the regulations in the system and map them to the controls, which enables management to identify how the controls are implemented in the organization to meet the regulatory requirements and the effectiveness of such compliance.

Following are the details that are documented while defining the regulation, as shown in <u>Figure 12.6</u>:

Name

Brief name of the regulation.

• Description

Detailed definition about the applicability of the regulation to the organization.

- **Category** Groups relevant regulations into the same categories.
- Valid From

Date from which the regulation is valid.

ternal Control System (ICS)-2211-0000	0004	•			
eneral Information Requirements	(0) Attachments (0)				
General Information				Save	Cancel
Name:*		Description:			
ABAC Regulation		Description			
Category:					
Internal Control System (ICS)					
Valid From:*					
Jan 1, 2021	8				
Valid Tec*					
Dec 31, 9999	8				
Requirements (0)		Search	Q	Create Activate	8
ai	Name		Status		
	No data	available			
ttachments (0)					

Figure 12.6 Details to Be Configured while Defining a Regulation

• Valid To

Date till which the regulation is valid.

Requirements

Individual clauses that are critical to be complied with the implementation of internal controls can be documented.

For example, if there are multiple regulatory requirements that the organization is complying with, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, Indian Companies Act, or the Committee of Sponsoring Organization (COSO) framework, all such compliance needs can be created in this regulation app and can be mapped to the controls that are implemented in the organization to comply with these requirements.

12.2.5 Master Data Dashboards

SAP Financial Compliance Management offers a wide range of predelivered dashboards that can be used by organizations to have a holistic view of the controls and the relevant mappings with the other master data elements. These dashboards are interactive and can be drilled into further to see the detailed view of the configurations performed in defining the controls. The dashboards provided by SAP are accessible from the reports landing page.

The list of dashboards available from the landing page are as follows:

• Distribution of Controls

This dashboard provides an overview of how the controls are structured against various regulations and assignment of control groups, represented by a pie chart with the percentage of controls in these sections. This page also has a heat map showing how the controls are distributed across various organizations and processes. Figure 12.7 shows the sample dashboard for distribution of controls.

Distribution of Controls				Landie roes		
This page shows the breakdown and distribution of regulations, organizations	, and processes across cort	reis				
The pie chart shows the distribution of regulations across controls. The unassigned excluded here.	ratures are This heat mand organics	ips shows the distribution alions to controls are not s	of organizations and processes acro learn,	en controls. Unani	igned processe	**
Control Distribution - By Regulations	gine harise	oribution - By Organizati	In and By Processes	an areas	-	
1.39	Jun Jun Lin Lin Lin Lin Lin Lin Lin Lin Lin Li					
Control Matchedian - By Control Genuan				-	-	
Pane Barn Der und	at and the set					
- Text of a local division of the local divi	Ny 2016					
						-

Figure 12.7 Sample Dashboard: Distribution of Controls

- Assignment of Control Owners
 As detailed in Section 12.2.1, users are assigned to the controls as owners, and this report provides the summary of such owner assignments. The report also provides an overview of the percentage of controls assigned to each control owner.
- Missing Assignment in Controls by Organizations, Process and Subprocess
 As detailed in Section 12.2.1, while configuring the control, all the related objects are mapped to the control, such as organizations, processes and regulations. This report provides an overview of such missing assignments to the control. The page is an interactive report that the user can use to navigate to the specific control to complete the missing assignments, as shown in Figure 12.8.

Missing Assignment	ts in Controls b	y Or	ganizations, Processes,	and Regulations	Landing Prope	840
This page highlights the missing essignm Click on any control to navigate back to	ent of organizations, proc the original app to perform	esses, a	nd regulations to existing controls. I adjustments of master data.			
Assignments of organizations to controls			Assignments of processes to controls		Assignments of regulations to controls	
(operator energies)			Process at an angle of the second sec	•	Register receiped	
Careford	Organization		termi	Page 1	Cantral	Regulation
Anview Tax Committees	Unanigred		Own Product Data	Unavigned	Review Tax Contectment	Unseigned
Owch Sales Orders	Unanigned		Period Red Call (05,3	Unanged	Check Roads	manped
Check suggives for low enforcement of differ L.	Unanged		Ranke To Constitute	Unanged	Owah Salas Drakes	manipad
Vendors Without UKT 4D	Global Dravel Services		Owd Asia	Unanigned	Investigate Changes to Decuments	Unanigned
Participation (ML)	hany		Own Sales Drives	Unexigned	Extract Journal Entries Protect for Park Proce-	Unavigned
Check Aparts	00		Own General Journal Entries Entered on W.,	Unavigned	Check Product Data	Rearried and Account
	Anance (Fill)		Draum Degraphics of Dates	Unanged	Inches Without und ID	Report and Account
Period Briel Curl Off	Training		Detect Digitizes Payments	Unanged	Property Land 1	Report and Account
Check General Journal Diffiles Dimend on THL.	Global Shared Services		Investigate (Trange to Excurrents	Unavigned	Provide Land	President and American

Figure 12.8 Sample Dashboard: Missing Assignments in Controls

• Missing Assignment in Controls by Owners, Control Groups, and Procedures

While the Assignment of Control Owners report provides the visibility on control owner assignments, this dashboard provides an overview of the controls for which the control owner assignments aren't performed. Similarly, the dashboard provides an overview of the other missing control attributes such as control groups and controls not having procedures assigned.

- Assignments of Procedures to Controls
 Depending on the nature of the control, automated,
 manual, or both procedures are assigned to evaluate the
 effectiveness of the controls. This dashboard provides an
 overview of the procedures that are assigned to at least
 two controls with a pie chart representation.
- Orphaned Objects

This report provides details of the controls that aren't scheduled for evaluation so far in the system. It also shows the details of the automated procedures or the manual procedures that are defined in the catalog, but not assigned to any controls.

• List of Controls

This is a summary report that provides the details of all the controls defined in the system, including the mappings with the related objects such as control group, regulation, process, organization, control owner, procedure type (automated/manual), and procedure name.

12.3 Control Evaluation Procedures

The controls defined in SAP Financial Compliance Management can be tested using the automated and manual procedures. The automated procedures contain the logic that should run on the SAP S/4HANA system to test the control and return results. The manual procedure contains the series of steps that should be executed by the control owner to evaluate the effectiveness of the control. These procedures are scheduled for testing using the work packages functionality. The following sections provide an overview of automated procedures, manual procedures, and how work packages can be used to trigger the test process.

12.3.1 Procedures

As mentioned earlier, test procedures are defined depending on the nature of the control. The following sections discuss the two available types of procedures and provide an overview of the details configured in each of the procedure types: automated and manual.

Automated Procedure

An automated procedure is used when the required data of monitoring exists in the SAP S/4HANA system and the user can define the logic to analyze the data and retrieve the results using OData services into SAP Financial Compliance Management. Once the automated procedures are defined, they are mapped to the control in the **Procedures** tab, which can be executed by scheduling the work packages to view the control effectiveness.

As mentioned in <u>Section 12.1</u>, SAP Financial Compliance Management delivers a lot of predefined automated procedures that can be used by the organization depending on the solution in scope. These automated procedures are by default imported into the Manage Automated Procedures app and are shown in the **Draft** status. To make use of these procedures, update the target system settings from which the data has to be analyzed and change the status of the automated procedure to **Active**. With this, the procedure can now be used for assigning to a control and also for scheduling using the work packages. If there is a requirement to create a new automated procedure, the steps described here will provide an overview of the fields to be configured in the process.

To review the existing automated procedures or to create a new one, access the Manage Automated Procedures app, and the landing page shows the list of existing automated procedures along with the current status. To create a new one, click on **Create**, as shown in <u>Figure 12.9</u>. Access an existing procedure by clicking on the hyperlink available in the **Name** column.

K SAP Manage Autor	nated Procedures ~			٩	JP
Standard V	System Type:	Status:	~	Advert Film	_
SHIPLY 64	<u> </u>			Prospi Trate	
Descedures (141)	3			0.01	
Procedures (141)			Create	\$ (P)	Ť.,
System Type	Name	Status	Last C	hanged On	
C SAP S/4HANA Cloud	AP Vendors Without VAT ID v2	Active	Nov 15, 2023,	3:18:30 PM	5
C SAP SAHANA Cloud	AP Vendors Without VAT ID	Active	Jul 10, 2023,	4:07:45 PM	э.
C SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Extract Journal Entries Posted for Past Fiscal Period HM	Active	Jun 15, 2023, 1	2:59.45 PM	9
C SAP SAHANA Cloud	Contract Accounting Tax Determination Code	Error	May 3, 2023, 1	2-28:15 PM	
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Operational Journal Entry	Active	May 3, 2023, 1	2:14:40 PM	
C SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Operational Journal Entry Hem	Active	May 2, 2023,	4:55:40 PM	8
C SAP S/UHANA Cloud	Track contract account	Error	May 3, 2023, 3	0:15:08 AM	э.
△ SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Test for EOT	Draft	Mar 20, 2023, 1	0:17:11 PM	5
SAP SAHANA On-Premise	Manual Postings Created By Dialog Users_1	Draft	Jan 30, 2023,	5:47:15 PM	э.
SAP S/4HANA On Premise	Manual Postings Created By Dialog Users_OP	Active	Feb 16, 2023, 1	2:48:28 PM	5
SAP SAHANA On-Premise	Extract Journal Entries Posted for Past Fiscal Period_OP	Draft	Jan 30, 2023,	5:49:44 PM	
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Extract Journal Entries Posted for Past Fiscal Period	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:48:20 AM	
△ SAP S4HANA Cloud	Manual Postings Created By Dialog User Accounts	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:48:06 AM	8
C SAP S/UHANA Cloud	Customers with No Payment Terms Defined	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:47:52 AM	
△ SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Extract Blocked Sales Documents Released Manually	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:47:39 AM	5
C SAP S/UHANA Cloud	Extract Journal Entries Posted for Past Fiscal Period_FP	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:47:25 AM	
C SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Manual Postings Created By Dialog User Accounts_FP	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:47:11 AM	9
SAP SAHANA Cloud	Suspended Performance Obligations	Draft	Oct 26, 2022,	1:26:37 PM	
SAP SUHENE On Premise	Suspended Performance Obligations	Draft	0/126 2022	12637.04	

Figure 12.9 Option to Create an Automated Procedure

In the screen shown in Figure 12.10, the fields mentioned in Table 12.3 must be defined while configuring the automated procedure.

Field Name	Description
Procedure Name	Brief name of the automated procedure.
ID	Unique system-generated ID for the automated procedure.

Field Name	Description
System Type	Indicates the type of system from which the automated procedure will analyze the data to return results. Following are the types of systems from which the option can be selected: • SAP S/4HANA Cloud • SAP S/4HANA • SAP ERP
Source Type	Indicates the type of data used to create the automated procedure.
OData Service Name	Provide the name of the OData service required to fetch the metadata/core data services (CDS) views from the target system, which is used to analyze and provide control effectiveness results.
OData Entity Set Name	Provide the name of the OData entity set that was created to fetch the metadata/CDS views from the target system, which is used to analyze and provide control effectiveness results.
Description	Detailed explanation of the automated procedure, indicating the objective of the control that the procedure is intending to achieve and also a brief overview of the data that the procedure is analyzing.

Field Name	Description
Destination	Indicates the name of the system where the automated procedure should be executed.
Reference Period	Select the type of the time frame that should be considered while the automated procedure is executed. Following are the options available for selection:
	• Fiscal Period: Indicates that the dates considered while running the automated procedure are based on the fiscal periods defined in the system (custom time frame based on the organization's needs).
	• Calendar Period : Indicates that the dates considered while running the automated procedure are based on the calendar period (January-December).
	• No Date: Indicates that the automated procedures are executed without need of any date considerations.
Parameters- Fields	The fields in the parameter section are auto-populated on selection of the OData services. The mandatory fields appearing in the list can't be removed, but any changes required in the other field set can be performed using the Add or Remove options.

Table 12.3 Reference for Use When Mapping These Fields

When the automated procedure is created, its first status is **Draft**, which indicates the procedure is still in the process of updating. In this stage of the procedure, it can't be used for control mapping or scheduled for testing using work packages.

Upon validating that all the procedure details are correctly updated, click on **Activate**. The procedure's status initially shows as **Activating**, during which the system validates the proper establishment of connections with the target system and the accurate definition of the OData service. The outcome of this status can either change to **Active** or **Error**. When all the details in the automated procedure are accurately configured, the status is updated to **Active**, indicating that the procedure is now ready for control mapping and scheduling.

Extract Journal Entries Posted for Past Fiscal Period_FP				
System Type: SAP SI4HANA Cloud	Created Or; Nov 4, 2022, 12:47:53 AM	Uses Personal Information	Status	
Source Type: OData Service OData Service Name: Auplopulodata/tap/c_interntropriorfuc OData Entity Set Name: C_intEntite/Priorfbc/Pred	Created By gend_ods Last Changed On: Nov 4, 2022, 11:47:25 AM Last Changed By: C5251505	No	Active	
	* £			
Description Bun Settings V				
This automated procedure finds all journal entries that were posted for a fiscal period that took place before the fiscal period in which the entries were created. The automated procedure compares the Creation Date with fiscal period information. Journal entries that have a Creation Date that is after the fiscal period and date but pooling data pertains to before the fiscal period end date are unlamified an portain for part fiscal period. These journal entries appear in the results. The automated procedure only finds journal entries when the Source Ledger and Ledger are the same. Revenals are excluded from the results. Run Settings forviews				
Destinations (1)				
Name		Type		
rowserc		Primary		
Time-Related Settings				
Reference Period Rocal Period	Field for Time Selection: Rocal Year Period			
Parameters				
Fields (7)				
Name		Mandatory		

Figure 12.10 Configuration of Automated Procedure

If there are any issues with the connections or the OData service, the status is updated to **Error**, and the OData

metadata can't be retrieved by the procedure or be assigned to a control.

Manual Procedures

A manual procedure is used when human intervention is required to evaluate the effectiveness of the controls. The manual procedures contain the steps that should be performed by the owner to determine how effectively the control is being operated in the organization. Once the manual procedures are defined, they are mapped to the control in the **Procedures** tab, which can be executed by scheduling the work packages to send the steps to the owner. Two types of manual procedures can be defined: steps or surveys. With steps, a list of steps is defined as part of the procedure with the details of step number, name, and description of the activity that the control owner should follow to test the control. The steps procedure type is used when the control has to be tested either for effectiveness or performance.

With surveys, a list of questions is defined as part of the procedure with the details of question number, name, and description of the question that the control owner should respond to in order to complete the testing process. The survey procedure type is used when the control assessment has to be performed. The responses can be provided to the questions based on the type of answer selected while defining the survey. Following are the answer types available that can be selected:

• Yes/No/NA

The responses in this option should be selected from the
available dropdown values as **Yes**, **No**, or **Not Applicable**. In addition, the nomenclature of the labels (**Yes**, **No**, **N/A**) can be updated based on the organization needs.

• Rating

This is used when the control owner has to provide a rating for a question, such as a response on a scale of 1 to 5.

Choice

This is used if custom options are provided to the control owner to choose from the answer list. There are two options with respect to choice: **Single choice** if only one option should be selected by the responder, and **Multiple Choice** if more than one option can be selected by the responder.

• Free Text

This option is used if the response expectation of the question is a detailed explanation from the control owner.

• Matrix

A free text or a rating matrix represented by a row and column table is provided to the control owner to respond to the survey, where the responses can be provided as a free text or ratings against each block in the matrix.

To review the existing manual procedures or to create a new one, access the Design Manual Procedures app. The landing page shows the list of existing manual procedures along with the current status. To create a new one, click on the **Create** option. <u>Figure 12.11</u> outlines access to an existing procedure by opening the manual test procedure.

м	anual Proced	lures (6)		Export Copy Create Delete 🏋 🖲 🎯 🗡			
C	ID D	Name	Status	Assurance Activity	Manual Procedure Type		
•	9 Changed By: Changed On:	MP Party does not violate child labour policy Sep 27, 2023, 1:14:38 PM	Active	Control Performance	Steps		
0	8 Changed By: Changed Dr.:	мумя Jul 18, 2023, 7:32-41 РМ	Draft	Control Effectiveness Test	Sieps	•	
0	1 Changed By: Changed On:	Cut Off Testing Aut 18, 2023, 6:41:33 PM	Active	Control Performance	Steps	•	

Figure 12.11Option to Create a New/Review Manual Procedure

Figure 12.12 shows how these fields are configured in the manual procedure.

Cut-Off Testing		EA	Delete	Copy	Display Instances	6.4
Created On: Oct 26, 2022, 1:36-45 PM Created By: system Changed On: JAI 18, 2023, 6:41:33 PM Changed By:	Assurance Activity Control Performance	Manual Procedure Type Steps	Status Activi	e		
Description Steps Reference D	ocuments Content Package	* \$				
This manual procedure involves testing the unmatched reports, and reviewing any fluc	adequacy of period end cut-off procedu tuations in purchases near the period en	ires, inquiring about any unrecorde d.	d Sabilities	, examini	ing disbursement rec	ords and
Steps						
Steps (5) Standard ~				Search	Q	
Step 1% Name						
1 Identify and test cut-off	procedures					
Description: Identify and test the adequ	acy of cut-off procedures for period end	accounts payable.				
2 Inquire about unrecorde	d liabilities					
Description: Inquire about potential sou	rces of unrecorded liabilities, for examp	ie, inventory that has been rece	done			
3 Examine disbursement in	ecords after the balance sheet date					
Description: Examine disbursements re	cords for the period after the balance sh	eet data. Determine if selected inv	More			
4 Examine files of unmato	hed receiving reports or involces					
Description: Examine files of unmatche	d receiving reports or unmatched or unp	aid vendor invoices, files of pendin	More			
5 Review fluctuations in p	urchases or returns near period end					
Description: Consider key performance	indicators and management information	that would indicate unusual fluctu	ati More			

Figure 12.12 Configuration of a Manual Procedure

<u>Table 12.4</u> shows the fields that are needed to be maintained while configuring the manual procedure.

Field Name	Description
Procedure Name	Brief name of the manual procedure.
ID	Unique system-generated ID for the manual procedure.

Assurance	
ACTIVITY	Following are the three types of assurance activities available, and the type of manual procedure (step based or survey based) that can be created is dependent on the selection made in this field:
	• Control Effectiveness : This control testing is performed to evaluate if the control is operating as designed and achieving the objectives of the process effectively. If this assurance type is selected, a step-based manual procedure is created.
	• Control Performance: This control testing is performed to evaluate the efficiency of the control in its execution. If this assurance type is selected, a step-based manual procedure is created.
	 Control Assessment: This control testing is performed to evaluate the effectiveness of the control based on the assessment of the control owner. The effectiveness test can be either to check the design effectiveness or a self-assessment. If this assurance type is selected, a survey-based manual procedure is created

Field Name	Description
Description	Detailed explanation of the automated procedure, indicating the objective of the control that the procedure is intending to achieve and providing a brief overview of the data that the procedure is analyzing.
Steps/Surveys	Represents the steps or surveys that the control owner should perform and respond to with the evaluation results.

Table 12.4 Fields to Be Defined and Maintained in a Manual Procedure

Upon creation of the manual procedure, its initial status is displayed as **Draft**, which indicates that the procedure is still in the update process. During this phase, it can't be used for control mapping or scheduled for testing via work packages. Once all the details in the manual procedure are appropriately configured, activate it using the **Activate** option. Subsequently, the procedure becomes available for mapping with controls and scheduling.

12.3.2 Work Packages

The **Work Packages** option is used to schedule jobs that run periodically, triggering both automated and manual procedures assigned to a control based on the selected frequency during work package creation. To access work packages, choose the **Manage Work Packages** tile. Once launched, you can see the current list of scheduled work packages, as shown in <u>Figure 12.13</u>. To schedule new ones, click **Create**, and choose **Control Effectiveness**, **Control Assessment**, or **Control Performance**. To open an existing work package to review the configured details, see Figure 1.14.

	Standard' -		Editing Status:		Run frequer	ncy:	Recurrence	Range:		68 ~
	Search	Q	Al	~		~	AMM d, y	r - MMM d, y	😑 🔂 Adapt Filters	(1)
0	pen (2) In Process (5)	Compl	lated (13) Error	(7)	Ċ	×.	Termina	Create 1		
0	Name		Status	Annuares let	uitu	Bacum	ove Repre	Pup Presse	Control Performance	-
-	- Alaria		208.01	All and All	,	Press and	or a standa	Fortringo	Control Effectiveness Test	
0	WP Period End Cut-OH 2023	3	In Process	Control Perform	ance	Jan 31, 2023 - End of Riscal Year	Current	Every Pocal	Control Assessment	
0	WP Customer payments les effectiveness test 26	ting ma	in Process	Control Effective	iness Test	Jan 1, 2023 - D	ec 31, 2023	Run Once on	Activation	

Figure 12.13 Manage Work Packages App

<u>Figure 12.14</u> shows the various elements of the **New: Work Packages** screen.

New: Work Pa	ckages				Preview Next Bur
Assurance Activity	Reference Period 5	itatus			
Control Performance	Calendar Date	Draft			
General Information Description	in Buns Controls and P	vacedures	• \$		
Basic Information		Schedule Details		Procedure	
Name:	Reference Period.*	Start Date.*	Run Frequency.*	Due Date Offset:	Checking Period.*
	Calendar Date 👻	MMM d. y	Run Drice on Activation 👻]	0
		End Date: *	Cally		
		No End Date	Weekty		
			Monthly		
Description			Quarterly		
			Yearly		
	1000000 W 17.00 W		1		

Figure 12.14Work Package Configuration Screen

<u>Table 12.5</u> shows the fields that must be set up while scheduling the work package for different types of assessments.



Field Name	Description
Work Package Name	Brief name of the work package.
ID	Unique system-generated ID for the work package.
Description	Detailed explanation of what is being scheduled as part of the work package.
Reference Period	Select the type of the time frame that should be considered while the procedure is executed. Following are the options available for selection: • Fiscal Period • Calendar Period • No Date
Checking Period	Select the test period for which the data should be considered while evaluating the procedures. The option to select the checking period is available only for the Fiscal Period and Calendar Period options; this field is hidden if the No Date option is selected.
Schedule Details	Select the Start Date and End Date within which the work package should execute per the run frequency selected.

Field Name	Description
Run Frequency	 Indicates the frequency at which the work package should be executed. Following are the options available by default for execution: Daily Weekly Monthly Quarterly Yearly Run Once on Activation
Controls and Procedures	Select the control and the procedure that should be considered as part of the work package schedule.

Table 12.5 Details to Be Updated in Scheduling the Work Package

Further, when scheduling the work package, the user gets to see the following details:

• Runs

This section is a tracker that provides details of the total runs or the jobs that should be executed based on the frequency and schedule selected. It also shows the details of the status, that is, if the job is executed, or it's due for execution in future, as shown in <u>Figure 12.15</u>.

١	NP Period End Cut-Off	2023				Copy Terminate	e -
1	1						
	eneral Information Description	on Runa Controls a	nd Procedures				
1	Runs						
							۲
	Scheduled Run Time \downarrow^p	Actual Run Time	Recurrence Range	Statun	Checking Period	Progress	
	Dec 1. 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	Dec 1, 2023, 12:00:04 PM Asia/Calcutta	Dec 1, 2023 - Dec 31, 2023	in Process	011 2023 - 011 2023	200%	•
	Nov 1, 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	Nov 1, 2023, 12:00:27 PM Asia/Calcutta	Nov 1, 2023 - Nov 30, 2023	In Process	610-2023 - 010-2023	200%	
	Oct 1, 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	Oct 10, 2023, 3:55:01 PM Asia/Calcutta	Oct 1, 2023 - Oct 31, 2023	In Process	009.2023 - 009.2023	200%	

Figure 12.15 Work Package Run Details

Controls and Procedures

This section shows the details of the controls and procedures that were selected during the configuration of a work package. Further, it also shows the details of the target system destination details for an automated procedure and the details of the owner who received the manual procedure for testing, as shown in <u>Figure 12.16</u>.

P Period End Cut-	Off 2023			Copy T	ermina
		~			
eneral Information Runs	(7) Controls and	Procedures			
May 1, 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	In Process	00	4.2023 - 004.2023	Jul 19, 2023, 9:23:02 PM Asia/Calcutta	>
Apr 1, 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	In Process	00	3.2023 - 003.2023	Jul 19, 2023, 9:23:02 PM Asia/Calcutta	5
		More			
		[5/7]			
ontrols and Procedu	ires				
In the column Enabled parameter values. Thes Name	Destinations, you can o e changes will come in ID	lefine which destinations are enal to effect for future work package Enabled Destinations	oled for an automated pruns.	rocedure. You can also edit the Item Type	
· Period End Cut-Off	5			Control	
Extract Journal Entries Posted for Past Fiscal Period_FP	2	P		Automated Procedure	,
Cut-Off Testing	1		1	Manual Procedure	

Figure 12.16 Details of Controls and Procedures in a Work Package

Once the work package is scheduled, the automated procedure analyzes the data and returns the found issues.

Similarly, for the manual procedures, the assignee executes the steps/responds to the survey to provide the results. The next section explains how manual procedures are performed.

12.3.3 Perform Manual Procedures

As detailed in earlier sections, manual procedures serve three distinct evaluation purposes: control performance, control assessment, and control testing. This section provides an overview of the control performance scenario, illustrating how the steps outlined in the procedure are allocated to individual assignees responsible for providing responses and reporting issues if necessary.

To assign the responsibility for executing steps in the manual performance procedure, navigate to the Perform Manual Procedures app, and access the work package used to schedule the manual procedure. On the **General Information** tab, proceed to the **Steps** section, where users have the option to assign steps to specific individuals by clicking on the **Assign** dropdown and selecting **Assign Steps in a Queue**.

On the next screen, assign the responsibility to the assignees to perform one or more steps. Once the assignment is completed, click **Save and Start**, which now triggers the responsibility of execution to the assignees in the sequence mentioned in the queue, as shown in Figure 12.17.

	Assign Glens in	A Carter	veneres cocument	s comments accordinatory		-
Control: Period End Cut Off	Angle Soften					
	Step Assignm	sent		Add	Remove	
Description	Overve	Assignce		Steps		
	0 1	TEROWINE	Ø	3 Beens	v	
This manual procedure near the period end.	0 2	MWONG	Ø	(Examine files of unmatched receiving reports or involces $ 4 \mathbf{x}\rangle$	÷	ations in purchase
Steps	0 3	JPEARSON	ð	(Review fluctuations in purchases or returns near period en	÷	
Steps (5)	Leave a Note					
Size III						On I

Figure 12.17 Assign Steps in a Queue Screen

The assignees access the procedure from the My Inbox app and provides responses to the steps for which they are responsible. The results can be provided from the dropdown, and the assignee also has to report any issue identified as part of the evaluation process that will go for the investigation process. Figure 12.18 outlines the details of responses that can be provided by the assignee.

t-Off Testin	E Dut v				8
der General	Information Description Steps Over	el Results Attachments Documents (Comments Activity History		
teps (5)			Search	Q Check Progress	69 I Y
tep 1	Name	Results	Lest Changed By	Last Changed On	
	Inquire about unrecorded Edibilities Inquire about potential sources of unrecorded Edibilities, for example, inventory that has been INCRMore	Competence reserves industry infinite			
	Examine disbursement records after the balance sheet date Examine disbursements records for the period wher the balance sheet date. Determine if selected invMore	Complement Without Found Items.		Þ	
	Examine files of unmatched receiving reports or invoices Examine films of unmatched receiving reports or unmatched or unpaid vendor invoices, files of pendin taker			Þ	
	Review fluctuations in purchases or returns near period and Consider key performance indicators and				

Figure 12.18 Responses to the Manual Procedure

Once all the results are provided for the steps assigned, click **Save** to complete the evaluation process.

12.3.4 Process Issues/Found Items

Any issues/found items reported as part of the evaluation process are sent for investigation and remediation process. The issues can be accessed from the Process Issues app, and the owner has to review the details of the issue and use the following options to conclude on the results reported (see Figure 12.19):

- Confirmed
- False Positive
- Omitted
- Withdrawn

Upon reaching a conclusion, provide the conclusion details and save. After completing this step, navigate to the **Investigation and Remediation** section to initiate the creation of an investigation task or remediation task. Assign the responsibility for these tasks to individuals who are responsible for completing them and providing the necessary responses, as shown in <u>Figure 12.20</u>.

10052 Draft Internal. Controls ov	er Financial Reporting		•		(d ~
Comments Int	ernal Controls over Fin	ancial Reporting De	etails Investigation and	Remediation Conclus	ion ¥
Investigation	and Remediatio	n			
Task Lists (2	0		Search	Q Send Create	Dalete 🔳 🕋 😫
Sent	Task List Type	Origin Issue ID	Task List Template	Task List Owner	
🗆 Yes	Investigation	10052	General Finance Investigation		•
Yes	Remediation	10052	General Finance Remediation		•
Conclusion					
Conclusion					
Conclusion:*			Conclusion Deta	d;	
Confirmed			 High likelihood 	this will result in financial e	posure in the short te Y
Su Cutu Ductor			_		
Contrad			-		
Withdrawn					
HISTORY					
					Save Discard Draft

Figure 12.19 Conclusion on the Reported Issues

ternal	Controls over	Financial Reporting					CHI-E
omme	ent Interr	nal Controls over Finar	scial Reporting Details	Investigation and I	Remediation	Conclusion	
nves	tigation	and Remediatio	n				
Та	sk Lists (2)			Search		Q Send	۰ ۳۳
	Sent	Task List Type	Task List Template	Task List Owner			
0	Yes	Investigation	General Finance Investigation	Jessica Pearson	>		
0	No	Remediation	General Finance Remediation	Jessica Pearson			
onc	Lusion						
Cont	clusion: frmed			Conclusion Detail: High likelihood this	will result in fina	incial exposure in	the short term

Figure 12.20 Options to Create Investigation and Remediation Tasks for the Issues

The task list owner receives the notification and accesses the work item in the inbox. The owner does the necessary investigation or remediations, provides the responses with detailed activities performed, and save the responses, as shown in <u>Figure 12.21</u>.

L0052 Dath *					68 1
ternal Controls over Financial Reporting onclusion: Confirmed invated By: system rested On: Jul 18, 2023, 5:49:20 PM hanged By: hanged On: Dec 20, 2023, 12:48:47 PM ransfer Scause: Not Taresferred restered rest	Medium	Comple	ted		
oue Creation: Standard			\$		
omments Internal Controls over Fir	ancial Reporting	Details	Investigation and Remediation	Conclusion ~	
					215 characters remaining
		(No Co	mments)		
nternal Controls over Financ	ial Reporting	5			
ICFR Severity:*			Issue Association:		
Material Weakness		~	Control		~
Relevant For:*					
Line of Business		*			

Figure 12.21 Responses to the Investigation or Remediation Task List

Upon the successful completion and saving of the assigned tasks, the status of the issue is updated to **Completed**, marking the conclusion of the evaluation process. Comprehensive details of all these issues and identified items can be reviewed through the standard dashboards that are readily available. The next section details the evaluation dashboards.

12.3.5 Evaluation Dashboards

The SAP Financial Compliance Management solution offers a wide range of dashboards that can be used by organizations to get a holistic view of the compliance of the controls based on various dimensions, such as organizations, processes, and regulations. In addition to these, there are also reports available to view the detailed results of the procedures based on the work packages executions. Following are the dashboards delivered by SAP that can be accessed from the landing page of the reports:

Compliance Analysis by Organizations
 This dashboard provides an overview of the number of
 failed controls (where issues/found items were identified)
 that are assigned to the organization in the period of
 report execution. Additionally, it also gives the summary
 of the found items per control based on the risk levels and
 also the significance levels (see Figure 12.22).



Figure 12.22 Compliance Analysis Dashboard

- Compliance Analysis by Processes
 This dashboard provides an overview of the number of
 failed controls (where issues/found items were identified)
 that are mapped to a particular process during the period
 of report execution.
- Compliance Analysis by Regulations
 This dashboard provides an overview of the number of failed controls (where issues/found items were identified) that are mapped to a specific regulation during the period of report execution.
- Manual Procedures This dashboard provides an analytical report on the

average number of days required to complete manual procedures scheduled for assessment, performance, or effectiveness tests. The calculation encompasses both manual procedures that have passed and those where found items were identified during execution. Additionally, the dashboard offers details on manual procedures where found items were observed, including information such as the associated work package, procedure name, and the testing period for which the procedures are assessed.

Control Runs - Overview

This dashboard (see Figure 12.23) offers a timeline summary view of the controls that failed each month during the report execution period. Additionally, it provides a summary of the total number of found items identified in each month of the report execution. The bar chart is interactive, allowing you to click for more detailed information and providing enhanced visibility into the found items.



Figure 12.23 Control Runs - Overview Dashboard

• Breakdown of Procedure Runs Overtime This dashboard provides the details of the number of found items identified for each procedure during the report execution period. There are more filters available using which the report can be reloaded for specific controls, procedure types, procedures, destinations and work packages.

Issue Overview

The **Issue Overview** page (see <u>Figure 12.24</u>) is like an entry page that gives the complete summary of issues with various aspects such as the users who are processing the found issues and the users who are working on the tasks. Further, it gives the details of the total number of open issues and the current status as to whether they are newly reported issues or already in the remediation process.



Figure 12.24 Issue Overview Dashboard

12.4 Summary

This chapter offered an introductory overview of SAP Financial Compliance Management and is an exploration of the solution's offerings, various master data elements within the standard solution, and their configuration for managing internal compliance requirements. It further detailed SAP Financial Compliance Management's role as a platform for evaluating controls through both automated and manual procedures, along with the process of addressing identified issues.

Moreover, the chapter provided insights into various master data and compliance dashboards available in SAP Financial Compliance Management. It briefly outlined the information each report offers, giving you a glimpse into the comprehensive reporting capabilities of the system.

A The Authors



Raghu Boddu is the managing director of ToggleNow Software Solutions. He has more than 25 years of experience with SAP security, GRC, audits, and automation. Raghu is a certified information systems auditor (CISA), a certified fraud examiner (CFE), a certified data privacy solutions engineer (CDPSE), and a certified SAP security profession and GRC associate. He has served on the Information Systems Audit and Control Association state board and contributed articles, blog posts, automation stories, and vlogs to the security community. Raghu was named a Microsoft Most Valuable Professional (MVP) for three consecutive years in the Windows Shell space. He has published more than 30 Microsoft Knowledge Base articles.



Ramakrishna Chaitanya is a chartered accountant with more than 10 years of experience in the areas of SAP GRC solutions, including SAP Process Control, SAP Risk Management, and SAP Audit Management. As an advisor, he has helped clients implement SAP GRC solutions for managing risks and controls in an automated environment. He has worked on analyzing business processes across various SAP solutions to identify potential risks and control checkpoints. He has led multiple SAP Process Control implementation projects, as well as projects converting existing risk and control matrices to suit the SAP GRC environment. He has implemented survey design in SAP Process Control to monitor GDPR compliance for a leading company in the consumer goods industry.

Index

$\begin{array}{c} \downarrow A \ \downarrow B \ \downarrow C \ \downarrow D \ \downarrow E \ \downarrow F \ \downarrow G \ \downarrow I \ \downarrow J \ \downarrow K \ \downarrow L \ \downarrow M \ \downarrow O \ \downarrow P \\ \downarrow Q \ \downarrow R \ \downarrow S \ \downarrow T \ \downarrow U \ \downarrow V \ \downarrow W \ \downarrow X \end{array}$

A 1

ABAP report [\rightarrow Section 8.2]

Access Management work center [\rightarrow Section 4.7] [\rightarrow Section 5.4]

Access Risk Analysis [\rightarrow Section 1.3]

Account groups [\rightarrow Appendix Note] [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

significant or not [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

Accountability [\rightarrow Section 2.1]

Accounts [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

Actions [\rightarrow Section 1.3]

Activate application [\rightarrow Section 4.1]

Activities [\rightarrow Section 2.2]

Ad hoc issues [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 7.1]

close without plan [\rightarrow Section 7.2]

details [\rightarrow Section 7.2]

enable by object type [\rightarrow Section 7.1] issue owner [\rightarrow Section 7.2] maintain sources [\rightarrow Section 7.1] management [\rightarrow Section 7.1] reporting [\rightarrow Section 7.2] [\rightarrow Section 7.3] [\rightarrow Section 9.2]

Agents [\rightarrow Section 4.2]

Aggregation of deficiencies [\rightarrow Section 4.5]

Analytics [\rightarrow Section 2.1]

Architecture [\rightarrow Section 1.2]

Assessment Survey Results report [→ Section 10.1]

Assessments work center [\rightarrow Section 4.7]

Audit Log report [\rightarrow Section 10.1]

Audits [\rightarrow Section 1.3]

Authorizations [\rightarrow Section 4.1]

second-level [→ Section 4.1]

Automated Control Business Rule Assignment report $[\rightarrow$ Section 10.1]

Automated monitoring [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 8.5] control details [\rightarrow Section 8.5] execution type [\rightarrow Section 8.5] header [\rightarrow Section 8.5] job [\rightarrow Section 8.5]

```
remediate issues [→ Section 8.5]

schedule job [→ Section 8.5] [→ Section 8.5]

select controls step [→ Section 8.5]

share regulation step [→ Section 8.5]

Automated procedures [→ Section 12.1]

Automation [→ Section 1.3]
```

B ↑

```
BC sets [\rightarrow Section 4.1]
   activate [\rightarrow Section 4.1]
   GRFN-AHISS-OBJECT [\rightarrow Section 7.1]
    GRFN-AHISS-SOURCE [\rightarrow Section 7.1]
   GRPC-ATTR-IELC-FREQ [\rightarrow Section 4.6]
   GRPC-ATTR-INDUSTRY [\rightarrow Section 4.6] [\rightarrow Section
    5.21
   GRPC-ATTR-SAMPLE METHOD [\rightarrow Section 4.6]
   GRPC-ATTR-TRANSTYPE [→ Section 4.6]
    GRPC-RISK-DRIVER-CATEGORY [→ Section 5.2]
Benchmarking [\rightarrow Section 3.2]
BRFplus [\rightarrow Section 8.3]
   calculation formula [\rightarrow Section 8.3]
   conditions [\rightarrow Section 8.3] [\rightarrow Section 8.3]
    formula categories [\rightarrow Section 8.3]
    formulas [\rightarrow Section 8.3]
```

generate XML [\rightarrow Section 8.6] *import XML* [\rightarrow Section 8.6] transport data [\rightarrow Section 8.6] workbench [\rightarrow Section 8.3] [\rightarrow Section 8.3] Business catalogs [\rightarrow Section 11.1] [\rightarrow Section 11.2] Business events [\rightarrow Section 4.2] Business process controls [\rightarrow Section 1.3] Business process hierarchies $[\rightarrow Appendix Note]$ $[\rightarrow$ Section 5.2] Business processes [\rightarrow Section 5.2] Business rules [\rightarrow Section 8.3] ad hoc query [\rightarrow Section 8.3] assign to control [\rightarrow Section 8.4] attachments and links $[\rightarrow$ Section 8.3] basic information $[\rightarrow$ Section 8.3] conditions and calculations $[\rightarrow$ Section 8.3] configuration [\rightarrow Section 8.3] *create* [\rightarrow Section 8.3] data for analysis [\rightarrow Section 8.3] deficiency criteria [\rightarrow Section 8.3] export logs [\rightarrow Section 8.7] *filter criteria* [\rightarrow Section 8.3] frequency [\rightarrow Section 8.4] output format [\rightarrow Section 8.3]

technical settings [\rightarrow Section 8.3] Business transactions [\rightarrow Section 4.5]

C ↑

Calculation views [\rightarrow Section 8.8] *input parameter* [\rightarrow Section 8.8] output columns [\rightarrow Section 8.8] SQL procedure [\rightarrow Section 8.8] Case management [\rightarrow Section 4.6] Central delegation [\rightarrow Section 5.4] Central subprocess [\rightarrow Section 5.2] Change Analysis report [\rightarrow Section 10.1] Change log check [\rightarrow Section 8.3] analysis type [\rightarrow Section 8.3] checks [\rightarrow Section 8.2] prerequisites [\rightarrow Section 8.3] Committee of Sponsoring Organization (COSO) $[\rightarrow$ Section 1.3] Compliance initiatives [\rightarrow Section 4.5] Compliance management [\rightarrow Section 1.5] [\rightarrow Section 2.11people [\rightarrow Section 2.1]

```
processes [\rightarrow Section 2.1]
program [\rightarrow Section 2.1]
```

```
risk-based approach [\rightarrow Section 2.1]
    technology [\rightarrow Section 2.1]
Compliance risk repository [\rightarrow Section 2.1]
Component requirements [\rightarrow Section 3.3]
Connection settings [\rightarrow Section 4.4]
Connection types [\rightarrow Section 4.4]
Connectors [\rightarrow Section 4.4]
    maintain [\rightarrow Section 4.4]
Continuous control monitoring (CCM) [\rightarrow Section 1.1]
[\rightarrow Section 1.3] [\rightarrow Section 8.1]
    data sources [→ Section 8.2]
    datasets [\rightarrow Section 8.1]
Control automation [\rightarrow Section 2.1]
Control design assessment [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section
6.1 [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    adequate asessment result [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    assign remediation plan [→ Section 6.2]
    close issue [→ Section 6.2]
    deficient assessment result [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    flowchart [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    implement remediation plan [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    issue remediation [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    issue remediation assessment [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
```

perform assessment $[\rightarrow$ Section 6.2] $[\rightarrow$ Section 6.2] *questions and answers* $[\rightarrow$ Section 6.2] ratings [\rightarrow Section 6.2] *report issue* [\rightarrow Section 6.2] *review assessment* [\rightarrow Section 6.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.2] scheduling [\rightarrow Section 6.2] Control evaluation procedures [\rightarrow Section 6.1] $[\rightarrow$ Section 6.1] $[\rightarrow$ Section 12.3] automated [→ Section 12.3] manual [\rightarrow Section 12.3] *perform* [\rightarrow Section 12.3] Control framework [\rightarrow Section 1.3] Control Monitoring History with Ratings report $[\rightarrow$ Section 10.1] Control objectives [\rightarrow Appendix Note] [\rightarrow Section 5.2] Control operating effectiveness [\rightarrow Section 6.1]

Control Ratings report [\rightarrow Section 10.1]

Control repository [\rightarrow Section 1.4]

Control self-assessment [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.1] [\rightarrow Section 6.3]

asessment and issue remediation [\rightarrow Section 6.3] define survey library [\rightarrow Section 6.3] flowchart [\rightarrow Section 6.3] schedule [\rightarrow Section 6.3] workflow [\rightarrow Section 6.3] Controls [\rightarrow Section 1.3] [\rightarrow Section 5.2] account groups [\rightarrow Section 5.2] category [\rightarrow Section 5.2] failed [\rightarrow Section 12.3] general [\rightarrow Section 5.2] level of evidence [\rightarrow Section 5.2] localization [\rightarrow Section 5.3] nature [\rightarrow Section 5.2] [\rightarrow Section 5.2] regulations [\rightarrow Section 5.2] requirements [\rightarrow Section 5.2] risks [\rightarrow Section 5.2] subgroup [\rightarrow Section 5.2] [\rightarrow Section 5.2] Controls of controls [\rightarrow Section 2.2]

Corrective action and preventive action (CAPA) $[\rightarrow$ Section 4.5] $[\rightarrow$ Section 4.5]

COSO framework [\rightarrow Section 2.2]

Custom agent determination [\rightarrow Section 4.2]

Customer-specific sizing [\rightarrow Section 3.2]

D ↑

Data Source Business Rule Assignment report $[\rightarrow$ Section 10.1]

Data sources [\rightarrow Section 8.2] ad hoc query [\rightarrow Section 8.2] connectors [\rightarrow Section 8.2] [\rightarrow Section 8.2] export [\rightarrow Section 8.7] *filter values* [\rightarrow Section 8.2] *general* [\rightarrow Section 8.2] *import* [\rightarrow Section 8.7] *join conditions* [\rightarrow Section 8.2] main table [\rightarrow Section 8.2] main table lookup [\rightarrow Section 8.2] *object field* [\rightarrow Section 8.2] related table lookup [\rightarrow Section 8.2] SAP HANA [\rightarrow Section 8.8] SAP Query [\rightarrow Section 8.2] search terms [\rightarrow Section 8.2] select ABAP report [\rightarrow Section 8.2] select fields $[\rightarrow$ Section 8.2] status [\rightarrow Section 8.2] subscenario list [\rightarrow Section 8.2] Date filters [\rightarrow Section 8.3] *customize* [\rightarrow Section 8.3] Deficiency criteria [\rightarrow Section 8.2] Design Manual Procedures app [\rightarrow Section 12.3] Disclosure surveys [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 9.2] evaluation [\rightarrow Section 9.2] respond [\rightarrow Section 9.2] review responses [\rightarrow Section 9.2] schedule [\rightarrow Section 9.2] types [\rightarrow Section 9.2] workflow structure [\rightarrow Section 9.2] Document phase [\rightarrow Section 2.3] Driver categories [\rightarrow Section 5.2] Drivers [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

E ↑

Email notifications [\rightarrow Section 1.4]

Enterprise risk [\rightarrow Section 1.5]

Entity role assignment [\rightarrow Section 4.2]

Evaluate phase [\rightarrow Section 2.3]

Evaluation Management report [\rightarrow Section 10.1]

Evaluation Results by Organization report [\rightarrow Section 10.1]

Evaluation Status dashboard [\rightarrow Section 10.1]

Event linking [\rightarrow Section 4.2]

Exception-based monitoring [\rightarrow Section 8.1]

Expert sizing [\rightarrow Section 3.2]

F ↑

```
Fallback users [\rightarrow Section 4.2]
```

```
Financial assertions [\rightarrow Section 5.2]
```

Financial Assertions Coverage report [\rightarrow Section 10.1]

<mark>G</mark> ↑

```
General ledger accounts [\rightarrow Section 5.2]
```

Governance [\rightarrow Section 2.1]

```
GRFND_A component [\rightarrow Section 4.1]
```

| ↑

```
Impact categories [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

Impacts [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

Indirect entity-level controls [\rightarrow Section 1.3] [\rightarrow Section 5.5]

definition [\rightarrow Section 5.5]

group [\rightarrow Section 5.5]

localization [\rightarrow Section 5.5]

InfoSet [\rightarrow Section 8.2]

configure [\rightarrow Section 8.2]

configure query [\rightarrow Section 8.2]

execute query [\rightarrow Section 8.2]

insert table [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
```

```
key fields [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
    map to user group [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
Infotypes [\rightarrow Section 4.5]
Initial sizing [\rightarrow Section 3.2]
Integration [\rightarrow Section 1.3]
Integration framework [\rightarrow Section 4.4]
Internal controls [\rightarrow Section 1.4] [\rightarrow Section 2.1]
[\rightarrow Section 12.2]
    define [\rightarrow Section 2.2]
    lifecycle [\rightarrow Section 2.3]
    manage [\rightarrow Section 2.2]
    repository [\rightarrow Section 12.1]
Internet Communication Framework (ICF) services
[\rightarrow Section 11.2]
Investigation tasks [\rightarrow Section 12.3]
Issue owner [\rightarrow Section 7.2]
Issue remediation [\rightarrow Section 7.2] [\rightarrow Section 7.2]
    stages [\rightarrow Section 7.2] [\rightarrow Section 7.2]
Issue Status report [\rightarrow Section 10.1]
Issues/found items [\rightarrow Section 12.3]
```

ſ

Job Monitor report [\rightarrow Section 8.9]

Kî

Key controls [\rightarrow Section 2.2]

Key result areas (KRAs) [\rightarrow Section 2.1]

L ↑

License agreements [\rightarrow Section 3.1] Local subprocess [\rightarrow Section 5.2] Locally defined controls [\rightarrow Section 4.3] Log results [\rightarrow Section 11.2] Logical connectors [\rightarrow Section 8.8]

M ↑

Manage Automated Procedures app [\rightarrow Section 12.3]

Manage Launchpad Spaces app [\rightarrow Section 11.4]

Manual control performance [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.4]

add performance plan [\rightarrow Section 6.4] complete control performance [\rightarrow Section 6.4] control performance process [\rightarrow Section 6.4] define performance plan [\rightarrow Section 6.4] export template [\rightarrow Section 6.4] flowchart [\rightarrow Section 6.4] forward performance step [\rightarrow Section 6.4]

import template [\rightarrow Section 6.4] mass maintenance [\rightarrow Section 6.4] *report issue* [\rightarrow Section 6.4] review control performance [\rightarrow Section 6.4] schedule controls [\rightarrow Section 6.4] submit ad hoc issue [\rightarrow Section 6.4] update template [\rightarrow Section 6.4] workflow structure [\rightarrow Section 6.4] Manual test of effectiveness [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.51 assign test plan [\rightarrow Section 6.5] [\rightarrow Section 6.5] *central controls* [\rightarrow Section 6.5] *control testing* [\rightarrow Section 6.5] *create test plan* [\rightarrow Section 6.5] *define test plan* [\rightarrow Section 6.5] fail result [\rightarrow Section 6.5] flowchart [\rightarrow Section 6.5] map test plans [\rightarrow Section 6.5] pass testing [\rightarrow Section 6.5] *results* [\rightarrow Section 6.5] *review testing* [\rightarrow Section 6.5] schedule [\rightarrow Section 6.5] *test plan* [\rightarrow Section 6.5] *test steps* [\rightarrow Section 6.5] workflow structure [\rightarrow Section 6.5]

```
Manual Test of Effectiveness app [\rightarrow Section 1.1]
Mass maintenance [\rightarrow Section 1.1]
Master data [\rightarrow Section 1.3] [\rightarrow Section 4.5] [\rightarrow Section
12.21
    approval workflow for changes [\rightarrow Section 5.6]
    attribute values [\rightarrow Section 4.6]
    attributes relationships [\rightarrow Appendix Note]
    changes [\rightarrow Section 4.2]
    dashboards [\rightarrow Section 12.2]
    introduction [\rightarrow Appendix Note]
    key elements [\rightarrow Appendix Note]
    management [\rightarrow Appendix Note]
    shared settings [\rightarrow Section 4.3]
    upload [\rightarrow Section 5.7]
    workflow [\rightarrow Section 4.3]
Master Data Upload Generator (MDUG) [\rightarrow Section 5.7]
Master Data work center [\rightarrow Section 4.7]
Mitigation [\rightarrow Section 2.2]
Monitor Control Status app [\rightarrow Section 1.1]
Monitor Issue Status app [\rightarrow Section 1.1]
Monitor Sign-Off report [\rightarrow Section 9.3]
Monitoring Issue Status report [\rightarrow Section 8.9]
```

 $[\rightarrow$ Section 10.1]

Monitoring Remediation Status report [\rightarrow Section 8.9] [\rightarrow Section 10.1] Multiple compliance framework [\rightarrow Section 4.5]

Multiregulatory compliance framework [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

My Compliance Tasks app [\rightarrow Section 1.1]

```
My Home work center [\rightarrow Section 2.3] [\rightarrow Section 4.7]
```

```
My Inbox app [\rightarrow Section 12.3]
```

0 **↑**

Object Authorization Analysis report [\rightarrow Section 10.1]

Object types [\rightarrow Section 7.1]

relationships [\rightarrow Section 7.1]

OData services [\rightarrow Section 12.3]

maintain [\rightarrow Section 11.2]

Organization and Process Structure report [\rightarrow Section 10.1]

Organization hierarchies [\rightarrow Section 3.2] [\rightarrow Appendix Note] [\rightarrow Section 5.3]

Organizations [\rightarrow Section 5.3] [\rightarrow Section 12.2] [\rightarrow Section 12.2]

Overall Compliance Status dashboard [\rightarrow Section 10.1]

P ↑

Pages [\rightarrow Section 11.4]

Pathlock [\rightarrow Section 2.3] Perform Manual Procedures app [\rightarrow Section 12.3] Perform phase $[\rightarrow$ Section 2.3] Performance plans [\rightarrow Section 5.2] Personalization [\rightarrow Section 10.2] *columns* [\rightarrow Section 10.2] field nomenclature [\rightarrow Section 10.2] *fields* [\rightarrow Section 10.2] organization filters [\rightarrow Section 10.2] user responsibility [\rightarrow Section 10.2] Plan phase [\rightarrow Section 2.3] Planner [\rightarrow Section 3.2] [\rightarrow Section 8.4] [\rightarrow Section 9.2] $[\rightarrow$ Section 9.3] confirmation [\rightarrow Section 6.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.4] enter plan details [\rightarrow Section 6.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.4] *plan activity* [\rightarrow Section 6.2] *review* [\rightarrow Section 6.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.4] scheduling controls [\rightarrow Section 6.2] select objects [→ Section 6.2] [→ Section 6.4] select organizations [\rightarrow Section 6.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.4] select regulation [\rightarrow Section 6.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.4] selecting controls [\rightarrow Section 6.2] sharing regulations [\rightarrow Section 6.2] *view objects* [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
work item [\rightarrow Section 6.2] Plug-in requirements [\rightarrow Section 3.3] Policy [\rightarrow Section 9.1] acknolwedgement [→ Section 9.1] activities [\rightarrow Section 9.1] approve [\rightarrow Section 9.1] category [\rightarrow Section 9.1] *controls* [\rightarrow Section 9.1] *create* [→ Section 9.1] distribution methods [\rightarrow Section 9.1] *documents* [\rightarrow Section 9.1] general tab [\rightarrow Section 9.1] group [\rightarrow Section 9.1] *hierarchy* [\rightarrow Section 9.1] issues [\rightarrow Section 9.1] organizations [\rightarrow Section 9.1] people [\rightarrow Section 9.1] processes [\rightarrow Section 9.1] quiz [\rightarrow Section 9.1] *review* [\rightarrow Section 9.1] *risks* [\rightarrow Section 9.1] *roles* [\rightarrow Section 9.1] scope [\rightarrow Section 9.1] sources [\rightarrow Section 9.1] survey [\rightarrow Section 9.1]

```
type [\rightarrow Section 9.1]
```

```
Policy lifecycle management [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 9.1]
```

```
Process catalogs [\rightarrow Section 12.2]
```

```
Process Issues app [\rightarrow Section 12.3]
```

```
Processes [\rightarrow Section 12.2]
```

```
Program GRFN_CTRL_PERF [\rightarrow Section 6.4]
```

```
Program GRFN_MDUG [\rightarrow Section 5.7]
```

```
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB) [\rightarrow Section 1.3]
```

Q ↑

```
Qualified report [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
Question library [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
answer type [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
categories [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
create question [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
multiple choice [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
rating [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
yes/no questions [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
```

R 1î

Regulation groups [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

Regulation hierarchies [\rightarrow Appendix Note]

Regulations [\rightarrow Section 5.2] [\rightarrow Section 7.2] [\rightarrow Section 12.21 configuration [\rightarrow Section 4.5] plan usage [\rightarrow Section 4.5] requirement [→ Section 1.3] [→ Section 5.2] Remediation plan [\rightarrow Section 7.2] *close issue* [→ Section 7.2] *implement* [\rightarrow Section 7.2] *start* [\rightarrow Section 7.2] Remediation Status report [\rightarrow Section 10.1] Remediation tasks [\rightarrow Section 12.3] Remote Function Calls (RFCs) [\rightarrow Section 1.2] $[\rightarrow$ Section 4.4] $[\rightarrow$ Section 11.2] mapping [\rightarrow Section 11.2] Report phase [\rightarrow Section 2.3] Reports [\rightarrow Section 1.3] [\rightarrow Section 6.6] [\rightarrow Section 8.9] $[\rightarrow$ Section 10.1] $[\rightarrow$ Section 12.3] analytics [\rightarrow Section 10.1] assessments [\rightarrow Section 10.1] by work center [\rightarrow Section 10.1] interpreting results [\rightarrow Section 10.3] master data [\rightarrow Section 10.1] regulation filters [\rightarrow Section 10.3] *rule setup* [\rightarrow Section 10.1] time frame filters [\rightarrow Section 10.3]

Reports and Analytics work center [\rightarrow Section 4.7]

```
RFC connectors [→ Section 8.8]
```

```
Risk and control matrix (RCM) [\rightarrow Section 1.1]
[\rightarrow Section 2.3] [\rightarrow Section 10.1]
```

```
Risk catalog [→ Appendix Note]
```

```
Risk Coverage report [\rightarrow Section 10.1]
```

```
Risk management [\rightarrow Section 2.2]
```

```
Risk-Based Compliance Management report [→ Section 10.1]
```

```
Risks [\rightarrow Section 2.2] [\rightarrow Section 9.1]

assess [\rightarrow Section 2.1] [\rightarrow Section 2.2]

assign [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

category [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

templates [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

Roles [\rightarrow Section 4.1] [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 5.4]

[\rightarrow Section 9.1] [\rightarrow Section 11.4]

add groups [\rightarrow Section 11.4]
```

```
map catalogs [\rightarrow Section 11.4]
```

Root organization hierarchy [\rightarrow Section 4.3]

```
Rule Setup work center [\rightarrow Section 4.7]
```

```
Runtime determination rules [\rightarrow Section 8.3]
```

```
add [→ Section 8.3]
```

```
Runtime methods [\rightarrow Section 8.3]
```

S ↑

```
SAP Access Control [\rightarrow Section 1.3]
SAP Analytics Cloud [\rightarrow Section 1.3]
SAP Application Performance Standard (SAPS)
[\rightarrow Section 3.2]
SAP Audit Management [\rightarrow Section 1.3] [\rightarrow Section 1.3]
SAP Business Client [\rightarrow Section 4.3]
SAP Business Technology Platform (SAP BTP)
[\rightarrow Section 12.1]
SAP Financial Compliance Management [\rightarrow Section
12.1]
    controls [\rightarrow Section 12.2]
    evaluation dashboards [\rightarrow Section 12.3]
    organization hierarchies [\rightarrow Section 12.2]
SAP Fiori [\rightarrow Section 11.1]
    add tiles [\rightarrow Section 11.3]
    architecture [→ Section 11.1]
    catalog mapping [\rightarrow Section 11.3]
    central hub [\rightarrow Section 11.2]
    configuration [\rightarrow Section 11.2]
    create custom catalogs [\rightarrow Section 11.3]
    create custom group [\rightarrow Section 11.3]
    replicate catalog [\rightarrow Section 11.2]
    terminology [\rightarrow Section 11.1]
```

tiles [\rightarrow Section 1.1] [\rightarrow Section 11.2]

working with apps [\rightarrow Section 11.3]

SAP Fiori launchpad [\rightarrow Section 11.1]

enable spaces/pages [\rightarrow Section 11.4]

SAP for Me portal [\rightarrow Section 3.1]

SAP Gateway [\rightarrow Section 11.1]

activate [\rightarrow Section 11.2]

SAP GRC solutions [\rightarrow Section 1.1] [\rightarrow Section 2.3]

SAP HANA [\rightarrow Section 11.1]

SAP NetWeaver [\rightarrow Section 3.1]

SAP Query [\rightarrow Section 8.2]

SAP Risk Management [\rightarrow Section 1.3] [\rightarrow Section 1.5] [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

SAP Signavio [\rightarrow Section 1.3] [\rightarrow Section 12.1]

Sarbanes-Oxley Act [\rightarrow Section 1.3]

Segregation of duties (SoD) [\rightarrow Section 1.3] [\rightarrow Section 2.1]

Segregation of duties (SoD) integration [\rightarrow Section 8.2]

Semantic object [\rightarrow Section 11.1]

Semi-automated controls [\rightarrow Section 1.1]

Sign-off [\rightarrow Section 4.2] [\rightarrow Section 9.3]

comments [→ Section 9.3]

complete [\rightarrow Section 9.3]

maintain issue types [\rightarrow Section 9.3] master data definition [\rightarrow Section 9.3] master data freeze [\rightarrow Section 9.3] overview [→ Section 9.3] *perform* [\rightarrow Section 9.3] respond to survey [\rightarrow Section 9.3] *review* [→ Section 9.3] *roles* [\rightarrow Section 9.3] schedule background jobs [\rightarrow Section 9.3] scheduling [\rightarrow Section 9.3] workflow [\rightarrow Section 9.3] Sort numbers [\rightarrow Section 4.2] Source list [\rightarrow Section 7.1] Space IDs [\rightarrow Section 11.4] Spaces [\rightarrow Section 11.4] Standalone jobs [\rightarrow Section 1.1] [\rightarrow Section 8.5] $[\rightarrow$ Section 10.1] Subentity [\rightarrow Section 4.2] Subprocesses [\rightarrow Section 5.2] account groups [\rightarrow Section 5.2] add control directly [\rightarrow Section 5.3] control objectives [\rightarrow Section 5.2] *general* [\rightarrow Section 5.2] industry-specific [\rightarrow Section 5.2]

```
regulations [\rightarrow Section 5.2]
    risks [\rightarrow Section 5.2]
Subscenarios [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
    ABAP report [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
    configure data sources [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
    SAP HANA [\rightarrow Section 8.8]
    SAP Query [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
    SoD integration [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
Subtypes for regulation-specific attributes [\rightarrow Section
4.5]
Survey library [\rightarrow Section 6.2] [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    child question [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    create survey [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    display conditions [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
    types [\rightarrow Section 6.2]
Surveys [\rightarrow Section 12.3]
System alias [\rightarrow Section 11.2]
System sizing [\rightarrow Section 3.2]
```

T ↑

Test Plan by Control report [\rightarrow Section 10.1] Test Status by Process report [\rightarrow Section 10.1] Test Step Details report [\rightarrow Section 10.1] Training [\rightarrow Section 2.1] Transaction

/N/GRCPI/OVERVIEW [→ Section 8.2] /N/IWFND/MAINT SERVICE [→ Section 11.2] /N/UI2/FLP [\rightarrow Section 11.1] [\rightarrow Section 11.4] $[\rightarrow$ Section 11.4] /N/UI2/FLPD CUST [\rightarrow Section 11.3] /UI2/FLPD_CUST [\rightarrow Section 11.1] [\rightarrow Section 11.2] BRFPLUS [\rightarrow Section 8.3] *PFCG* $[\rightarrow$ Section 4.21 $RZ11 [\rightarrow$ Section 8.3] SCPR20 [\rightarrow Section 4.1] SCU3 [\rightarrow Section 8.2] [\rightarrow Section 8.3] SE61 [\rightarrow Section 9.3] SICF [\rightarrow Section 4.1] SLICENSE [\rightarrow Section 3.1] SM34 [\rightarrow Section 8.3] SM37 [\rightarrow Section 9.3] SM59 [\rightarrow Section 4.4] SQ01 [\rightarrow Section 8.2] SO02 [\rightarrow Section 8.2] SQ03 [\rightarrow Section 8.2] Transport procedures [\rightarrow Section 8.6] *post-transport activities* [→ Section 8.6] set connector and status [→ Section 8.6] $[\rightarrow$ Section 8.6]

```
Transport requests [\rightarrow Section 8.6]

data source initialization [\rightarrow Section 8.6]

prepare data sources [\rightarrow Section 8.6] [\rightarrow Section

8.6]

reset connector and status [\rightarrow Section 8.6]

[\rightarrow Section 8.6]
```

U ↑

```
User groups [\rightarrow Section 8.2]
Users [\rightarrow Section 5.4]
assignment [\rightarrow Section 5.4]
maintain assignments [\rightarrow Section 5.4]
remove [\rightarrow Section 5.4]
replace [\rightarrow Section 5.4]
```

V îî

Value check [\rightarrow Section 8.2] [\rightarrow Section 8.3]

W ↑

```
Web Dynpro [\rightarrow Section 11.3]
Work centers [\rightarrow Section 4.7]
Work packages [\rightarrow Section 12.3]
details [\rightarrow Section 12.3]
scheduling [\rightarrow Section 12.3]
```

Workflows [\rightarrow Section 5.6] approve change [\rightarrow Section 5.6] configuration [\rightarrow Section 4.2] implement change [\rightarrow Section 5.6] request change [\rightarrow Section 5.6] review change [\rightarrow Section 5.6] structure [\rightarrow Section 6.2] task-specific [\rightarrow Section 4.2]

X ↑

XML file [\rightarrow Section 5.7]

Service Pages

The following sections contain notes on how you can contact us. In addition, you are provided with further recommendations on the customization of the screen layout for your e-book.

Praise and Criticism

We hope that you enjoyed reading this book. If it met your expectations, please do recommend it. If you think there is room for improvement, please get in touch with the editor of the book: *Meagan White*. We welcome every suggestion for improvement but, of course, also any praise! You can also share your reading experience via Twitter, Facebook, or email.

Technical Issues

If you experience technical issues with your e-book or ebook account at SAP PRESS, please feel free to contact our reader service: *support@rheinwerk-publishing.com*.

Please note, however, that issues regarding the screen presentation of the book content are usually not caused by errors in the e-book document. Because nearly every reading device (computer, tablet, smartphone, e-book reader) interprets the EPUB or Mobi file format differently, it is unfortunately impossible to set up the e-book document in such a way that meets the requirements of all use cases.

In addition, not all reading devices provide the same text presentation functions and not all functions work properly. Finally, you as the user also define with your settings how the book content is displayed on the screen.

The EPUB format, as currently provided and handled by the device manufacturers, is actually primarily suitable for the display of mere text documents, such as novels. Difficulties arise as soon as technical text contains figures, tables, footnotes, marginal notes, or programming code. For more information, please refer to the section <u>Notes on the Screen</u> <u>Presentation</u> and the following section.

Should none of the recommended settings satisfy your layout requirements, we recommend that you use the PDF version of the book, which is available for download in your online library.

Recommendations for Screen Presentation and Navigation

We recommend using a sans-serif **font**, such as Arial or Seravek, and a low font size of approx. 30–40% in portrait format and 20–30% in landscape format. The background shouldn't be too bright. Make use of the **hyphenation** option. If it doesn't work properly, align the text to the left margin. Otherwise, justify the text.

To perform **searches** in the e-book, the index of the book will reliably guide you to the really relevant pages of the book. If the index doesn't help, you can use the search function of your reading device.

Since it is available as a double-page spread in landscape format, the **table of contents** we've included probably gives a better overview of the content and the structure of the book than the corresponding function of your reading device. To enable you to easily open the table of contents anytime, it has been included as a separate entry in the device-generated table of contents.

If you want to **zoom in on a figure**, tap the respective figure **once**. By tapping once again, you return to the previous screen. If you tap twice (on the iPad), the figure is displayed in the original size and then has to be zoomed in to the desired size. If you tap once, the figure is directly zoomed in and displayed with a higher resolution.

For books that contain **programming code**, please note that the code lines may be wrapped incorrectly or displayed incompletely as of a certain font size. In case of doubt, please reduce the font size.

About Us and Our Program

The website *https://www.sap-press.com* provides detailed and first-hand information on our current publishing

program. Here, you can also easily order all of our books and e-books. Information on Rheinwerk Publishing Inc. and additional contact options can also be found at *https://www.sap-press.com*.

Legal Notes

This section contains the detailed and legally binding usage conditions for this e-book.

Copyright Note

This publication is protected by copyright in its entirety. All usage and exploitation rights are reserved by the author and Rheinwerk Publishing; in particular the right of reproduction and the right of distribution, be it in printed or electronic form.

© 2024 by Rheinwerk Publishing Inc., Boston (MA)

Your Rights as a User

You are entitled to use this e-book for personal purposes only. In particular, you may print the e-book for personal use or copy it as long as you store this copy on a device that is solely and personally used by yourself. You are not entitled to any other usage or exploitation.

In particular, it is not permitted to forward electronic or printed copies to third parties. Furthermore, it is not permitted to distribute the e-book on the internet, in intranets, or in any other way or make it available to third parties. Any public exhibition, other publication, or any reproduction of the e-book beyond personal use are expressly prohibited. The aforementioned does not only apply to the e-book in its entirety but also to parts thereof (e.g., charts, pictures, tables, sections of text).

Copyright notes, brands, and other legal reservations as well as the digital watermark may not be removed from the e-book.

Digital Watermark

This e-book copy contains a **digital watermark**, a signature that indicates which person may use this copy.

If you, dear reader, are not this person, you are violating the copyright. So please refrain from using this e-book and inform us about this violation. A brief email to *info@rheinwerk-publishing.com* is sufficient. Thank you!

Trademarks

The common names, trade names, descriptions of goods, and so on used in this publication may be trademarks without special identification and subject to legal regulations as such.

All of the screenshots and graphics reproduced in this book are subject to copyright © SAP SE, Dietmar-Hopp-Allee 16, 69190 Walldorf, Germany. SAP, ABAP, ASAP, Concur Hipmunk, Duet, Duet Enterprise, Expenselt, SAP ActiveAttention, SAP Adaptive Server Enterprise, SAP Advantage Database Server, SAP ArchiveLink, SAP Ariba, SAP Business ByDesign, SAP Business Explorer (SAP BEx), SAP BusinessObjects, SAP BusinessObjects Explorer, SAP BusinessObjects Web Intelligence, SAP Business One, SAP Business Workflow, SAP BW/4HANA, SAP C/4HANA, SAP Concur, SAP Crystal Reports, SAP EarlyWatch, SAP Fieldglass, SAP Fiori, SAP Global Trade Services (SAP GTS), SAP GoingLive, SAP HANA, SAP Jam, SAP Leonardo, SAP Lumira, SAP MaxDB, SAP NetWeaver, SAP PartnerEdge, SAPPHIRE NOW, SAP PowerBuilder, SAP PowerDesigner, SAP R/2, SAP R/3, SAP Replication Server, SAP Roambi, SAP S/4HANA, SAP S/4HANA Cloud, SAP SQL Anywhere, SAP Strategic Enterprise Management (SAP SEM), SAP SuccessFactors, SAP Vora, Triplt, and Qualtrics are registered or unregistered trademarks of SAP SE, Walldorf, Germany.

Limitation of Liability

Regardless of the care that has been taken in creating texts, figures, and programs, neither the publisher nor the author, editor, or translator assume any legal responsibility or any liability for possible errors and their consequences.

The Document Archive

The Document Archive contains all figures, tables, and footnotes, if any, for your convenience.



Figure 1.1 SAP Process Control Architecture

Ris	k: Global	consolidation	process						Print Fact She	et Risk Passed / I	Failed Contro	ls
Orga	nizational Unit: P	ower Ltd		Risk Cate	egory: Finance			ID:	RISK/5000116	51		
Ge	eneral Roles	Key Risk Indicators	Analysis Responses	Risk Incidents	Influenced Risks	Underlyi	ng Risks	Surveys	Attachments	& Links Issues	Policies	
Res	ponses											
Viev	: [Standard View	1 ~						Create	Assign A	Open Remove	Print \	1
	Response Type	Name		Owner	Organizational Unit	Status	Complete	ness (%)	Effectiveness	Effective From	Effective To	5
	Mitigate	Tone from the Top		Sandeep	Power Ltd	Active		99	Effective	31.05.2023	31.12.9999	_
	Control	PC Control - Maintena	ance of GL Accounts	SAIKRISHNA1	Power Ltd	Active		100	Effective	04.11.2023	31.12.9999	
	Control	PC Control - Global A	ccounting Manual	SAIKRISHNA1	Power Ltd	Active		0	Ineffective	04.11.2023	31.12.9999	
<											>	
						Save	Cancel	Save An	d New Validatio	on Switch to	Graphical Vie	w

Figure 1.2 Controls Assigned as Responses in SAP Risk Management

2023-033 /	Financial Rep	orting / Financial	Statement - Balance	e Sheet /				
Accoun	ts Payable							
General	Risks (0)	Controls (0)	Procedures (0)					
Descrip	otion			Basic				
				Person Responsible: Sai Krishna				
Risks (0))							
						Ren	nove	+
	ID	1	Name	Risk Level (Inherent)	Risk Level (Residual)	Validi	ty	
				No entries found				
Proced	dures (0)							
							Add	Edit
Туре		Status	Title		Person Responsible	Start Da Bus	iness R	ule
				No entries found		Dete	ection	
						Tes	t	
						Que	stion	

Figure 1.3 Usage of Business Rules from SAP Process Control to Define Procedures in SAP Audit Management

< 🎦	🚩 🛛 Finding 🔻						q	Û	8
IFRS ch	ecklist not fo	und 2023-0	33_F00000			Obsole	Rais	e Issue]
Status Open	Type Compliance	, and/or d	_{Cat} esign Co	egory oncerned Proce	ss owner	_{Rankin} High	g		
General	Documents $$	Risks $$	Controls (0)	Action Plans (1)	Procedures	(0) A	ctivities		
ID		Title		Туре	D	eadline	Status		
2023-03	33_F00000-A01	Implement I	RS training	Improvement Action	n Plan 21.	11.2023	Complete	d >	

Figure 1.4Option to Raise an Issue in SAP AuditManagement



Figure 2.1 Key Steps for Handling Internal Controls Effectively



Figure 2.2 Risk Management Strategies



Figure 2.3 Lifecycle of Internal Control Management Processes



Figure 2.4 Overview of SAP Process Control

Add New System			
Product: Version:	Please select or type 🛞	~	
		Continue	Cancel

Figure 3.1 Add New System Screen

Create License Key Re	equest	
License Type*:	Standard - Web Application Server ABAP or A	ABAP+JAVA 🗸
Hardware Key*: Valid until*:	31-12-9999	
		Add Reset Cancel

Figure 3.2 Create License Key Request Screen

Change View "A	ctive Applicati	ons In Client": O	verview					
🦻 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🗖 💽 🕵 🚯								
Active Applications In Cl	ient							
Арр	Active	111						
GRC-AC	▼	A						
GRC-PC	▼							
GRC-RM	▼							

Figure 4.1Activate the SAP Process ControlApplication

Business Configuration Sets: Activation	C Activation Options		X
هم التي التي التي التي التي التي التي التي	Caution You have data records will be Activation Information	started the BC Set activation I: created and/or existing ones o	f you continue, new werwritten.
Short Text Transaction Type	Activated By: Date/Time: System/Client: Workbench Reqst: Customizing Reqst: Activation Links: Activation Languages:	KARTHIKA 20.09.2023 / 12:40:20 G12 / 100 G12K900168 Not Required Create Locally German English French Greek	Overwrite Data Overwrite All Data Do Not Overwrite Default Values Select Activation Mode Default Mode (Reccomend) Expert Mode Deletion Functionality Enable for Classical BC Sets
	Messages		VIX With Log X

Figure 4.2 BC Set Activation

Business Configuration	Sets	: Activation Lo	gs			
🥰 🖻 🕿 🎦 🎚						
▶ △ 20.09.2023 um 12:40:20	A	ctivation Log Activ	vation Inf	formation		
▶ △ 18.09.2023 um 19:42:44						
GRPC-ATTR-TRANSTYPE	Defin	e BC Sets BC Set Ov	vervall Vie	ew 🚊 🗟 🕅 👘 🖨 🕼 🖉 🖌 🚺 🗖 4 - 🛆 0	l 🔘 o	
▲ 18.01.2023 um 18:33:47	Messa	ages:				
	Туре	BC Sets	Object	Message Text	Key Field	Info
		GRPC-ATTR-TRANS		BC Set GRPC-ATTR-TRANSTYPE passed to activate		
		GRPC-ATTR-TRANS	VC_GR	. Customizing object VC_GRPCATTR passed to activation		
		GRPC-ATTR-TRANS	VC_GR	Activation Simulation of customizing object VC_GRPCATTR successful		
		GRPC-ATTR-TRANS		Activation Simulation of BC Set GRPC-ATTR-TRANSTYPE ended succ		

Figure 4.3 BC Set Activation Log

efine Services		
i		
	4	
er for Calling ICF Hierard	ny	
lierarchy Type	SERVICE	2
/irtual Host		
ervice Path		
ervice Name		
eference Service		
escription		
anduade	English 🔹	

Figure 4.4Activating Services Using TransactionSICF

Virtual Hosts / Se	rvices	Documentation		Reference Ser	vice
•	st	VIRTUAL DEFAUL	T HOST		
▼ 💮 sap		SAP NAMESPACE;	SAP IS OBLIGED NOT TO		
🕨 💿 optio	n	RESERVED SERVIO	CES AVAILABLE GLOBALLY		
▼	<u>N</u> ew Sub-	Element	Inctions)	🔄 Activat	on of ICF Services
۰ (۲)	<u>D</u> isplay Ser	rvice	PAGES (BSP)		
· (@)	<u>D</u> elete Se	rvice		Do Do	you want to activate service /default_host/sap/public?
• 💿	<u>R</u> ename S	ervice	iment	U	
• •	<u>A</u> ctivate S	ervice	OR ICMAN		
• ŏ	<u>D</u> eactivate	e Service 😽)	6	Ves Ves I Info X Cancel
· (2)	<u>T</u> est Servi	ce)2 Cookie According to my		
ی (Reference	s to Service	User Ressources Service		

Figure 4.5Activation of the "Public" Service andSubnodes

Change View "Authorization	Customizing Ma	aintenance": Overview
🦻 🖙 🖪 🖪		
Authorization Customizing Maintenance		
Authorizations	Active	[]]
Second-Level Authorizations	\checkmark	*
Do not allow job scheduling by delegate		•

Figure 4.6 Activation of Second-Level Authorizations

Task Customizing Overview								
1								
🕶 🗁 GRC	Governance, Risk and Compliance	🗳 Assign Agents	Activate event linking					
• 🥅 GRC-ACP	GRC Access Control Plug-In							
• 🧰 GRC-PCP	GRC Process Control Plug-in							
• 🦲 GRC-RM	GRC Risk Management	🗳 Assign Agents	Mactivate event linking					
• 🦲 GRC-AC	Access Control							
• 🦲 GRC-SPC	Process Controls	Assign Agents	Mattivate event linking					
• 🗖 GRC-AC	Access Control	L						

Figure 4.7 Activities to Be Performed under Task-Specific Customizing
Tasks of an Application Component: Assign Agents									
🗳 💥 Attributes 🔃 🛅 🚺 Org. assign	nment 🕒 📆								
Name	ID	General or Background Task	Task Version	Assigned a	Assigned u				
Process Controls	FA GRC-SPC								
• 💲 Execute Task Plan	TS 75900001	Background task		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
• 🍣 Enter Details for Remediation Plan	TS 75900002	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
 Review Remediation Plan Details 	🔄 Task:		x	01.01.1900	Unlimited				
• 🟅 Report on Remediation Plan Progress		7		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
• 🟅 Review and Close Remediation Plan	 General Task 			01.01.1900	Unlimited				
 Start Issue Remediation 	○ General forw	arding allowed		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
• 🏅 Perform Assessment	General forw	arding not allowed		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
• 🟅 Review Assessment		ot allowed		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
• 🟅 Rework Assessment				01.01.1900	Unlimited				
 Resolve Issue without Remediation Pla 	1			01.01.1900	Unlimited				
 Read Open Remediation Plans 	Classification	Not classified 🔻		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
• 👗 Get Open Issues				01.01.1900	Unlimited				
 Issue Remediation Using Remediation I 	Locked for in	stantiation		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
 Repeat Assessment 		st execution		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
• 👗 Get Open Issues				01.01.1900	Unlimited				
 Treate Issue For Testlog 		- Transfer		01.01.1900	Unlimited				
• 🍝 Get Retest Testlog		V Transfer		01.01.1900	Unlimited				

Figure 4.8Configuration of Tasks to Enable theWorkflow

Tasks of an Application Component: Assign Agents										
🛃 💸 Attributes 🛅 🛅 🗓 Org. assignment - 🍤 詞										
Name	ID	General or Background Task	Task Version	Assigned a	Assigned u					
Process Controls	FA GRC-SPC									
 Execute Task Plan 	TS 75900001	Background task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🏅 Enter Details for Remediation Plan	TS 75900002	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🏅 Review Remediation Plan Details	TS 75900003	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🍣 Report on Remediation Plan Progress	TS 75900004	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🏅 Review and Close Remediation Plan	TS 75900005	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🍣 Start Issue Remediation	TS 75900006	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🏅 Perform Assessment	TS 75900007	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🏅 Review Assessment	TS 75900008	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
 Rework Assessment 	TS 75900009	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🏅 Resolve Issue without Remediation Pla	 Resolve Issue without Remediation Pla TS 75900010 			01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🏅 Read Open Remediation Plans	TS 75900011	Background task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
• 🏅 Get Open Issues	TS 75900012	Background task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					
🔹 💈 Issue Remediation Using Remediation I	TS 75900013	General Task		01.01.1900	Unlimited					

Figure 4.9Tasks Defined as Background byDefault

Event Linkage: Triggering events	
🔁 🚺 Object	
Tasks/Events	Task/Event Description Activate/dea Details
• 💲 TS 76307975	Review and Close Remediation Plan
• 🏅 TS 76307989	Enter Details for CAPA Plan
• 🏅 TS 76307990	Review CAPA Plan Details
• 🏅 TS 76307991	Rework CAPA Plan
• 🏅 TS 76307993	Perform Corrective action
• 🏅 TS 76307994	Perform Preventive action
• 🏅 TS 76307995	Approve CAPA Execution
• 🏅 TS 76307996	Rework CAPA Execution
• 🏅 TS 76307997	CAPA Plan Cancelled - Close Issue
• 🏅 TS 76308063	Display Data Sheet
• 🏅 TS 76308091	Review Due Date Change
• 🏅 TS 76507942	Get Issues Present Flag
• 🏅 TS 76507943	Create Manual Control Performance
• 🏅 TS 76507944	Perform Manual Control Performance
• 🏅 TS 76507945	Rework Manual Control Performance
• 🏅 TS 76507946	Review Manual Control Performance
* * WS 75900001	TaskPlan
• 💖 WS 75900002	Process: Remediation Plan
• 💖 WS 75900003	Process: Issue
• 💖 WS 75900004	Process: Assessment
* * WS 75900005	Process: Testlog
• 💖 WS 75900006	Process: Testing
• 💖 WS 75900007	Process: Signoff
* * WS 75900008	Display Report
• 💖 WS 75900014	PROCESS: AOD
• 💖 WS 76300012	Process: CAPA Plan
▼ 📽 WS 76300018	Disclosure survey
• ») CL_GRPC_WF_DISCSVY-CREATE CL	Business Object of Disclosure SuCreate W 🔷 Deactivated
▶ 📽 WS 76300030	Process: Propose Control
• 😵 WS 76300038	Remadiation Plan

Figure 4.10 Review the Status of the Workflow

Properties of Event Li	nkage 🎽					
Object type	e CL_GRPC_WF_DISCSVY					
Event	CREATE					
Receiver Type	WS76300018					
Properties						
Linkage status	No errors 💌					
Viewent linkage activate	ed					
Enable usage of even	t queue					
Behavior if linkage with e	errors					
System Defaults	Do not change linkage					
Error feedback	Do not change linkage					

Figure 4.11Activation of Event Linkage

Event Linkage: Triggering events			
🗃 🛅 🚺 Object			
Tasks/Events	Task/Event Description	Activate/dea	Details
• 💲 TS 76307975	Review and Close Remediation Plan		
• 🏅 TS 76307989	Enter Details for CAPA Plan		
• 🏅 TS 76307990	Review CAPA Plan Details		
• 🏅 TS 76307991	Rework CAPA Plan		
• 🏅 TS 76307993	Perform Corrective action		
• 🏅 TS 76307994	Perform Preventive action		
• 🏅 TS 76307995	Approve CAPA Execution		
• 🏅 TS 76307996	Rework CAPA Execution		
• 🏅 TS 76307997	CAPA Plan Cancelled - Close Issue		
• 🏅 TS 76308063	Display Data Sheet		
• 🏅 TS 76308091	Review Due Date Change		
• 👗 TS 76507942	Get Issues Present Flag		
• 🔓 TS 76507943	Create Manual Control Performance		
• 🔓 TS 76507944	Perform Manual Control Performance		
• 🏅 TS 76507945	Rework Manual Control Performance		
• 🏅 TS 76507946	Review Manual Control Performance		
Strain	TaskPlan		
• 😵 WS 75900002	Process: Remediation Plan		
• 📽 WS 75900003	Process: Issue		
*** WS 75900004	Process: Assessment		
*** WS 75900005	Process: Testlog		
*** WS 75900006	Process: Testing		
*** WS 75900007	Process: Signoff		
*** WS 75900008	Display Report		
*** WS 75900014	PROCESS: AOD		
• 💖 WS 76300012	Process: CAPA Plan		
▼ 📽 WS 76300018	Disclosure survey		
• ») CL_GRPC_WF_DISCSVY-CREATE CL	Business Object of Disclosure SuCreate W	Activated	
*** WS 76300030	Process: Propose Control		

Figure 4.12Activated Status of the WorkflowStage

Change View "Relevant Roles for GRC Authorization": Overview								
😚 New Ent	rries 🗈 🗟 🖾 📑							
Relevant Role	es for GRC Authorizati	on						
Entity	Role	Uniq	ue Applicatio	on				
CORPORATE	SAP_G	RC_SPC_GL	Process	Control	•	-		
CORPORATE	SAP_G	RC_SPC_GL	Process	Control	•			
CORPORATE	SAP_G	RC_SPC_GL	Process	Control	•			
CORPORATE	SAP_G	RC_SPC_SO	Process	Control	•			
G_AI	SAP_G	RC_FN_ADI	Process	Control and	Risk Ma… 🔻			
OPP	SAP_GI	RC_RM_API	Process	Control and	Risk Ma… 🔻			
ORGUNIT	SAP_GI	RC_RM_API	Process	Control and	Risk Ma… 🔻			
ORGUNIT	SAP_G	RC_RM_API	Process	Control and	Risk Ma… 🔻			
ORGUNIT	SAP_G	RC_RM_API	Process	Control and	Risk Ma… 🔻			
ORGUNIT	SAP_G	RC_SPC_CR	Process	Control	•			
ORGUNIT	SAP G	RC SPC CR	Process	Control and	Risk Ma… 🔻			

Figure 4.13 Entity Role Assignment Configuration

-	Change View "Relevant Roles for GRC Authorization": Overview										
6	💖 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🗊 🕵 🚯										
	Relevant Roles for GRC Authorization										
	Entity	Role	Unique	Application							
	CONTROL	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ISSUE_A		Process Control and Risk	1						
	CONTROL	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PRC_TES		Process Control	•						
	CONTROL	SAP_GRC_SPC_CTL_OPERATOR		Process Control							
	CONTROL	Z_SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_REM_0		Process Control and Risk	1						
	CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_RM_API_CENTRAL		Process Control and Risk	1						
	CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_RM_API_CEO_CFO		Process Control and Risk	1						
	CORPORATE	SAP_GRC_RM_API_INTERNAL		Process Control and Risk	1						

Figure 4.14Relevant Role for SAP GRCAuthorization

Org	jani	zation										
(Organization: Electric Power											
P	aren	t Organizati	on: -		ID	50000889						
Timeframe: Year 2023				Ef	fective Date:	01.01.2023						
K Risk Appetite Risk Thresholds Users Ow			Owners	AC Roles	Assignmer	nts Roles	Issues	Attachm	nents and Links	. D:		
F	Role	s										
4	Show	r: All		~					Ass	sign Re	eplace Rem	ove
		Role			Reg	ulation	Name	User	Valid	From	Valid To	^
		CEO/CFO					BGUSER	BGUSER	20.09	.2023	31.12.9999	
		Central Ris	k Manager									Ξ

Figure 4.15User Assignment When a Role IsMarked as Unique

Control									
Control: Global Accounting Manual									
Parent Organization: Electric Power Pa	arent Subprocess: Fina	ncial Reporting	Allow Local Changes: No						
Timeframe: Year 2023 Ef	Effective Date: 01.01.2023								
Roles									
Show: 📶 🗸				Assig	n Replace				
Role	Regulation	Name	User	Valid From	Valid To				
Cross Regulation Control Owner									
Cross Regulation Control Performer									

Figure 4.16Review the New Entity-RoleAssignment

(
	New Entries: Overview of Added Entries								
6	» 6 6 6 6 6								
	Customized Business	Events	4						
	Business Event	Sort	Role	Entity ID	Subentity	Business Event Name			
	OFN_AHISSUE_DE	2	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	CONTROL		Default processor for ad-hoc issue			

Figure 4.17Customized Business Events ScreenElements

Ch	Change View "Customized Business Events": Overview								
63	🤣 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🖡 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values								
Cus	tomized Business	Events	5						
Bu	siness Event	Sort	Role	Entity ID	Subentity	Business Event Name			
0 F1	AHISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	CONTROL		Default processor for ad-hoc issue			
0 F1	AHISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ICMAN	CORPORATE		Default processor for ad-hoc issue			
0F1	AHISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_POLICY_OWNER	POLICY		Default processor for ad-hoc issue			
0F1	AHISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PRC_OWNER	PROCESS		Default processor for ad-hoc issue			
0F1	AHISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_SPR_OWNER	SUBPROCESS		Default processor for ad-hoc issue			
0F1	AHISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_OWNER	ORGUNIT		Default processor for ad-hoc issue			
0 F1	AHISSUE_DE	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_REG_ADMIN	REGULATION		Default processor for ad-hoc issue			
0F1	AHISSUE_DE	2	SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_OWNER	ECONTROL		Default processor for ad-hoc issue			
0 F1	AM_BRFP_NO	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	CONTROL		BRF plus notification			
0 F1	AM_BRFP_NO	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_FDA_CTL_OWNER	CONTROL		BRF plus notification			
0F1	AM_BRFP_NO	1	SAP_GRC_SPC_SOX_CTL_OWNER	CONTROL		BRF plus notification			
0F1	N ISSUE NOTI	1	SAP GRC SPC CRS CTL OWNER	CONTROL		Send notification to object owner			

Figure 4.18Screen with All the Custom AgentDetermination Rules

Change View "Fallback Recipient of Work Items": Overview	
💖 New Entries 🗈 🖻 🛱 🖡 🖡	
Fallback Recipient of Work Items	
User	
KARTHIKA 🗇	
SANDEEPL	-
SUBHRANSHU	

Figure 4.19Review Fallback Users Maintained forthe System

Create Root Organizat	tions
₽	
Select the Organization View	002
Details	
Root Organizational Unit	ABC International Ltd
Child Organizational Unit	ABC India Pvt Ltd
Valid From	01.01.2023

Figure 4.20Configuration of the RootOrganization

Organ	izations			
View: S	Standard Hierarchy			
Show	Year	✓ 2023	Apply Advanced Open Add Remove Action	IS 🛓
Na	ame			
•	Organization Hierarchy			
	 ABC International Ltd 			
	ABC India Pvt Ltd			
	Electric Power			

Figure 4.21 Organization View from the Organization Work Item

	Change View "Act	tivate Master Data Changes Worki	flow": C	Overvie	ew
6	🌶 New Entries 🗋 🖶	🖙 🖡 🖡 🖟 BC Set: Change Field Values			
	Activate Master Data Chan	ges Workflow			
	Entity ID	Entity Type	Approval	Notify	
	ACC_GROUP	Account Group			*
	COBJECTIVE	Control Objective			-
	CONTROL	Dhtrol	✓	✓	#
	CRISK	Risk Template			
	ECONTROL	Indirect Entity-Level Control			
	ORGUNIT	Organization			
	PROCESS	Process			
	SUBPROCESS	Subprocess			
	XCONTROL	Central Control			
	XECGROUP	Central Indirect Entity-Level Control Group			
	XECONTROL	Central Indirect Entity-Level Control			
	XPROCESS	Central Process			
	XSUBPROCESS	Central Subprocess			

Figure 4.22Activate Master Data ChangesWorkflow Configuration Screen

Ø	💌 « 🔚 I 🗞 🚷 I 🖴 🕅 👘 I 🏝 🔁 💭 🏝 I 💭 🖻 I 🖉 🖳	
Change View "Alle	ow addition of locally-defined control": Overview	
🍄 🖙 🛃 🖪 BC S	et: Change Field Values	
Allow addition of locally-det	fined control	
Customizing item	Description	Activated
ADD_LOCAL_DEFINED_CN	Allow addition of locally-defined control	\checkmark

Figure 4.23 Activate the Ability to Add Locally Defined Controls

Configuration of REC Connections						
comparation of Krc connections						
🕞 Generate RFC Callback Positive Lists 🛛 🚟 Activat	e Non-E	Empty V	Vhitelists 🛛 🗢 Positive List for Dynamic Connection			
₩CO RFC callback check not secure						
Ð₩ D 🖉 🎸 💼						
RFC Connections	Ту	PL	Comment			
ABAP Connections	3					
 DYNAMIC_DEST_CALLBACK_WHITELIST 	3	-	Callback Positive List for Dynamic Destinations			
• 🖹 G12	3	-				
• 🖹 G12CLNT100	3	-	G12CLNT100			
• 🖹 G12_WORKFLOW_000	3	-	SAP Business Workflow			
• 🖹 G12_WORKFLOW_100	3	-	G12_WORKFLOW_100			
 G12_WORKFLOW_100_1 	3	-	SAP Business Workflow			
• 🖹 TGDCL100	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD 100			
• 🖹 TGDCL210	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD210			
• 🖹 TGDCL300	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD 300			
• 🖹 TGDCL400	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD 400			
 TGDCLNT210 	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD210			
 TGDCLNT300 	3	-	GRC 12 TO TGD 300			
• E TGDCLNT400	3	-	TGDCLNT400			

Figure 4.24 RFC Connections

RFC Destinati	on G12CLNT100	
emote Logon Co	nection Test Unicode Test Fast Serializat	tion Test 💖
RC Destination Connection Type Description	G12CLNT100 3 ABAP Connection	Description
Description 1 Description 2 Description 3	312CLNT100 312CLNT100 312CLNT100	
Administration	Technical Settings Logon & Security	Unicode Special Options
Load Balancing St		
Load Balancing	O Yes ●No	
Target Host		Instance No. 00
Save to Database	S	
Save as	○Host	

Figure 4.25 RFC Connection Definition

🔊 📃 🔻 🔽	🚯 😡 I 🖴 M 🕅	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 0 0 0
Change View "Connection typ	e definition":	Overview
🧚 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🗖 🖡 🖡 🕼		
Dialog Structure	Connection type de	finition
Connection type definition	Connection Type	Connection Type Text
Define Connectors	EP	Enterprise Portal
Define Connector Groups	FILE	File sysytem for legacy extraction
 Assign Connector Groups to Group 	HDB	HANA Database
• 🥅 Assign Connectors to Connector Gi	IAG	IAG Bridge
	IAG_GRP	IAG Bridge Systems for Ariba and Successfactors
_	IDM_NW	Idm NW and GRC Integration
	LDAP	Ldap Connectors
	LOCAL	Local Data Source
	S4HANA G	S/4
	SAP	SAP System
	SFEC	Success Factor Employee Central
	SPML1	SPML1
	SPML2	SPML2
	WS	Webservice
1	WS ODATA	S/4 OData

Figure 4.26 Configuration to Define Connectors for a Connection Type

Change View "Define Connectors": Overview							
😚 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🛱 🖡 🖡	😚 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🖡 🖡						
Dialog Structure	Define Connectors						
Connection type definition Define Connectors	Target Connector ER9CLNT001	Logical Port	Max No. of Wait Time				
Define Connector Groups	GXT_ODATA						
 Assign Connector Groups to Group Assign Connectors to Connector Group 	TGDCL100	TGDCL100	3				
	TGDCL210	TGDCL210	3				
	TGDCL300	TGDCL300	3				
	TGDCL400	TGDCL400	3				
	TGDCLNT210	TGDCLNT210	3				
	TGDCLNT300	TGDCLNT300	3				
	TGDCLNT400	TGDCLNT400	3				
	TNDCLNT100	TNDCLNT100	3				
	TSDCL100	TSDCL100	3				
	TSDCLNT100	TSDCLNT100	3				

Figure 4.27 Define Connectors Configuration

•	Governance, Risk and Compliance	
•	General Settings	
•	Shared Master Data Settings	
•	Reporting	
•	Common Component Settings	🔄 Determine Work Area: Entry
•	Integration Framework	
	• 🗟 🍛 Create Connectors	Field Name Work Area
	 Real Antiparties and Connection Types 	Integration Scenario AM 🗇
	• 🗟 🚱 Maintain Connection Settings	
	• 🗟 😺 Maintain Service Providers and Consumer Proxies in SOA Manager	
	 R Waintain Service Provided by S/4 OData 	
	 Event-Based Monitoring 	
•	Continuous Monitoring	
•	Policy Management	
•	Internal Audit Management	

Figure 4.28 Access the Integration Scenario

Change View "Subscenario definition": Overview						
🦘 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🕃 🖡	4					
Dialog Structure	Integration Scenario	AM Automatic Monitoring				
Subscenario definition	Subscenario definition					
Scenario-Connection type Link	Sub Scenario	Sub Scenario Text				
Maintain file paths for Logical	ABAP_REPORT	ABAP Report				
	ADVANCED	HANA				
	AM_SOD	SoD Integration				
	BWQUERY	BW Query				
	CONFIG	Configurable				
	EVENT	Event				
	GL_MQT	External Partner				
	PI	Process Integration				
	PROG	Programmed				
	SAPQUERY	SAP Query				

Figure 4.29 Access the Subscenario under Integration Scenario

Change View "Scenario-Connector Link": Overview						
💖 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🖪 🖪						
Dialog Structure	Integration Scenario Sub Scenario	AM Ditomati	c Monitoring Configurable			
 Scenario-Connector Link Maintain file paths for Logical 	Target Connector	Con.Type	Connection Type Text			
	ER9CLNT001 TNDCLNT100	S4HANA SAP	S/4 SAP System			

Figure 4.30 Subscenarios

Assigning RFC Connections to

Change View "Subt	ypes": O	verview			
😚 New Entries 🗈 🗟 🖙		2			
Dialog Structure	Inftyp.	Infotype Name	Subtyp	Subtype text	
 Subtypes 	5302	Relevance	5000	SOX	•
• 🛄 Time constraint	5302	Relevance	5100	FDA	*
	5302	Relevance	9001	Companies Act	
	5302	Relevance	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	5304	Control Details	5000	SOX	
	5304	Control Details	5100	FDA	
	5304	Control Details	9001	Companies Act	
	5304	Control Details	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	5306	Remote Risks	5000	SOX	
	5306	Remote Risks	5100	FDA	
	5306	Remote Risks	9001	Companies Act	
	5306	Remote Risks	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	5307	Regulation specific flag	5000	SOX	
	5307	Regulation specific flag	5100	FDA	
	5307	Regulation specific flag	9001	Companies Act	
	5307	Regulation specific flag	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	5311	Settings: Subprocess	5000	SOX	
	5311	Settings: Subprocess	5100	FDA	
	5311	Settings: Subprocess	9001	Companies Act	
	5311	Settings: Subprocess	9010	Sarbanes Oxley Reg	
	5313	Settings: Organization	5000	SOX	
	5313	Sottings: Organization	5100	ED A	

Figure 4.31 Subtypes Configuration for

Regulations

Change View "Su	bt	ypes":	0v	erview of Selecte	ed Set	
Dialog Structure		Inftyp.	Inf	fotype Name	Subtyp	p Subtype text 🛄
 Subtypes 		5302	Re	levance	9002	Companies Act 🚔
• Time constraint		5304	Co	ntrol Details	9002	Companies Act
		5306	Re	mote Risks	9002	Companies Act
		5307	Re	gulation specific flag	9002	Companies Act
		5311	Se	ttings: Subprocess	9002	Companies Act
		5313	Se	ttings: Organization	9002	Companies Act
5315			Se	ttings: Local ELC	9002	Companies Act
		5326	Те	st Plan	9002	Companies Act
		5337	МС	F Organization Attr.	9002	Companies Act
		5338	Sco	ope	9002	Companies Act
			Specify object to be Entry 1 of the entries copied has dependent of You can copy the entry with all dependent entry or just the entry itself.	copied to be entries. , ies,	copy all only copy entry X Cancel	

Figure 4.32Configuration of New Subtypes

Change View "Define Regulation Configuration": Overview							
😚 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 💽 🖡 🚯 BC Set: Change Field Values							
Dialog Structure		Define Regulation	n Configuration				
• 🖻 Define Regulation Config		Regulation C	Regulation Configuration Description	STy.	Default		
Define Regulation Type		FDA	SOX Regulation	5100			
Kegulation Configurat Master Data		SARBANES OX	Sarbanes Oxley Regulation	9010			
 Business Transactions 		SOX	SOX	5000			
• 🚞 Settings		TSOX	Test SOX				

Figure 4.33Review Current RegulationConfigurations

 • 	* 🖃 🔕 🚱 📄 🕯	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1							
New Entries: Overvi	New Entries: Overview of Added Entries								
% 5. 5. 5. 5. 5.									
Dialog Structure	Define Regulation Configura	tion							
• Define Regulation Config	Regulation Configuration	Regulation Configuration Description	STy. Default						
Define Regulation Type Define Regulation Type	COMPANIES ACT	Companies Act, 2013	001 🗗 🗆						
Master Data									
 Business Transactions 									
• 🗖 Settings									

Figure 4.34Setting Up New RegulationConfiguration

Change View "Define Regulation Type": Overview						
🤣 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 民 🕼 BC Set: Change Field Values						
Dialog Structure	Define Regulation Type					
 Define Regulation Configuration 	Regulation Type	Regulation Type Text	DO NOT USE			
Define Regulation Type	FINANCIAL	n Financial Compliance				
 Regulation Configuration Assignments 	OPERATIONAL	Operational Compliance				
• Master Data						
Business Transactions						
Settings						

Figure 4.35Access Regulation Type from theConfiguration

Change View "Regulation Configuration Assignments": Overview								
😚 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🗣 🖡 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values								
Dialog Structure	ialog Structure Regulation Type FINANCIAL							
 Define Regulation Configuration Define Regulation Type 	Re	egulation Type Text	Fir	Financial Compliance				
• 🛅 Regulation Configuration Assignments	nts							
• 🦰 Master Data		Regulation Configuration	I A	ssignments				
Business Transactions		Regulation Configuratio	n	Regulation Configuration Description				
• 🗖 Settings		SARBANES OXLEY		Sarbanes Oxley Regulation				
		SOX		SOX				
		TSOX		Test SOX				

Figure 4.36 Option to Add New Entries to the Regulation Type

Change View "Mast	Change View "Master Data": Overview							
🥎 New Entries 🗈 🗟 🗐	🤣 New Entries 🗈 🖻 🖶 🕼 🖡 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values							
Dialog Structure	Regulation Type Regulation Type Text Master Data Entity ID ACC_GROUP	FINANCIAL Financial Compliance Active						

Figure 4.37 Activation of the Account Group Work Center for a Regulation Type

Change View "Business Transactions": Overview							
💖 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🕃 🕵 BC Set: Change Field Values							
Dialog Structure	Regulation Type	FINANCIAL]				
Define Regulation Config Define Regulation Type	Regulation Type Text Business Transactions	Financial Compliance					
 Regulation Configurat Master Data 	Business Transaction	Active					
 Business Transactions Bettings 	AOD CAPA						
	SIGN-OFF						

Figure 4.38 Business Transactions Configuration for a Regulation Type

Change View "Plan Activity for Process Control": Overview									
🤣 🕄 New Entries 🗈 🖥 🖏 🖡	🦻 🕄 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 民 🖪								
Dialog Structure	Plan Activity fo	or Process Co	ntrol						_
Plan Activity for Access Management	ActivityID	Org. Spec.	Share Eva	Need Surve	Is Testing	Need Obj.	Need Rcpt	Need Regu	Recurring
Plan Activity for Process Control	GRPC_AHSRV	<		\checkmark					
Plan Activity for common components	PERF-AOD							\checkmark	
	PERF-CEASS	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		✓		\checkmark	
	PERF-CNDS	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	
	PERF-CRISK	\checkmark				✓		\checkmark	
	PERF-CTLPF	\checkmark	\checkmark			<		\checkmark	<
	PERF-ETEST	\checkmark	\checkmark		<	✓		\checkmark	
	PERF-MCAOU	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		✓		\checkmark	
	PERF-OUDS	\checkmark		\checkmark				\checkmark	
	PERF-RISK	\checkmark				✓			
	PERF-SOFOU			\checkmark				\checkmark	
	PERF-SPDS	✓		 Image: A start of the start of		<		\checkmark	
	PERF-TEST	GRC-PC		•	<	✓		<	

Figure 4.39 Review Plan Usage Configuration

4	Change View "Table to store relations for regulation and task": Overvi						
63	🦻 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🗗 🖡 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values						
Т	able to store	relations for regulation and	l t				
	ActivityID	Regulation Configuration					
	PERF-AOD	O k	*				
	PERF-CDASS	COMPANIES ACT	-				
	PERF-CDASS	SARBANES OXLEY					
	PERF-CDASS	SOX					
	PERF-CEASS	FDA					
	PERF-CEASS	SOX					
	PERF-CNDS	FDA					
	PERF-CNDS	SOX					
	PERF-CRISK	SOX					
	PERF-CTLPF	FDA					
	PERF-CTLPF	SOX					
	PERF-ETEST	SOX					
	PERF-MCAOU	SOX					
	PERF-OUDS	FDA					
	PERF-OUDS	SOX					

Figure 4.40 Review the Current Regulation to Plan Activity Mapping

Ø	• « 듺	😪 😪 🚔 🖞 🏠 🎝 🏠 💭 🖾 😒 😒	!
New Ent	ries: Overview of	Added Entries	
🦘 🗗 🖪	s e		
Table to stor	e relations for regulation an	d t	
ActivityID	Regulation Configuration	T	
PERF-CDASS	COMPANIES ACT	A *	
		· ·	

Figure 4.41New Regulation ConfigurationAssignment to a Plan Activity

Display View "Attributes": Overview					
9.8.8					
Dialog Structure	Attributes				
▼ 🗁 Attributes	Attribute	Text			
Values	AC-ASS	Financial Statement Assertion			
Values	CN_SUBGROUP	Control Subgroup			
Values Permitted for Dependent Attribute	IELC-FREQ	Indirect Entity-Level Control Operation Frequency			
Attributes with Fixed Values	INDUSTRY	Industry			
• 🦰 Names	PR-CATEGORY	Control Category			
	PR-FREQ	Frequency			
	PR-NATURE	Nature of Control			
	PR-PURP	Control Purpose			
	PR-SIG	Control Significance			
	PR-TTECHNQ	Testing Technique			
	RELEVANCE	Relevance			
	RISK_IMP	Qualitative Risk Impact			
	SC-FREQ	Scheduling Frequency			
:	TR_TYPE	Transaction Type			
	TS-SAMPLING_METHOD	Sampling method			

Figure 4.42Maintenance Screen of Master DataAttributes



Figure 4.43 Case Customization Configuration in SAP Process Control
📅 💿 👯 New Comparison	**New Comparison in the Packground	
	New comparison in the background	
New Comparison Based On		
IMG activities		
OProject IMG		
● SAP Reference IMG		
Application components	Selection	
O Choose components	All activities	
○ All components	 Select activities 	
Further selections		
O Customizing piece list/trans	sport	
OBusiness Configuration Set		
OALE distribution group		
O Manual selection		
Create		
Existing comparison run		
Comparison run ID		
Description		

Figure 4.44 Define the Comparison Method

🖉 🔹 🗐 🕄 😓 🖓 😓 🖞 🦓 🕄 🗘 🎝 💭 🗐 💭 🔍
Select IMG Nodes
V 🗱 🔍
Structure
• 🗌 🗟 🌚 Activate Business Functions
▼ ✓ SAP NetWeaver
SAP Gateway Service Enablement
SAP Gateway
Notification Channel
UI Technologies
General settings
Mobile Infrastructure
 Business Warehouse
Business Planning and Consolidation
V [6∂ Application Server
Enterprise Content Management Integration
Generic Business Tools
Knowledge Provider
Business Document Service
Audit Trail
🕨 🗖 🗟 ArchiveLink
🕨 🔲 🗟 🛛 Records Management
▼ ✓ Case Management
• 🔲 🔯 🍄 Set Registry
• 🗌 🗟 🍄 Create/Change Case Record Model
✓ Create Attribute Profile
• 🗹 163 🤝 Create Attribute Profile
•L6a 🐶 Define Different F4 Help for Attributes

Figure 4.45Selection of Case Configuration for

Comparison

Selection b	y: Enterprise IMG
7 🛓	
Comparison run ID Description	00000009
Restrict selection Client-specific Cross-client	
Comparison R/3 connection	[G12CLNT100
Eull (Full Comparison
 ✓ 	Object Overview

Figure 4.46 Execution of Comparison

Customizing Cross-System Viewer: Change mode										
😚 🏥 Comparison 📲 Application Component 📲 IMG Environment 🗄 Statistics 🚔 🍞 🔂 Display										
Selection type: SAP Reference IMG (manual) Filter: active Comparison run: 0000000010 Logon system: G12/100/752 <-> Comparison system: G12/000/752 - Last action: 20.09.2023										
	Stat.	Object		Description	Comp	Entries	Entries	Entries	Entries	Component
		Subobject		-	-	LogonSys	Only in	Changed	Only in	-
		Subobject				Total	LogonSys		CompSys.	
],	00	SCMGATTR PRIO	s	Priority		4	0	0	0	BC-SRV-CM
J	00	SCMGATTR_SESCAL	s	Reasons for Escalation		2	0	0	0	BC-SRV-CM
	00	SCMGAUT_SECLEVL	s	Authorization Levels	=	3	0	0	0	BC-SRV-CM
	00	SCMGVC_ATTRPROF	С	Case: Define Attribute Profiles		1				BC-SRV-CM
		SCMGV_ATTRPROF	V	Case: Attribute Profile (Header/Short Text)		18	0	0	0	BC-SRV-CM
		SCMGV_ATTRPROFA	V	Case: Attribute Profile, Assignment of Attri		305	0	0	0	BC-SRV-CM
_		SCMGV_ATTRPROFG	V	Case: Attribute Group Maintenance		16	0	0	0	BC-SRV-CM
	00	SCMGV_ATTRESCAL	v	View: Reason for Escalation		3	0	0	0	BC-SRV-CM
	00	SCMGV_ATTRHELP	V	Case: Different F4 Help for Attributes		All clie	nts, iden	tical sys	tems	BC-SRV-CM

Figure 4.47 Comparison Result with Client 000

SAP NetWeaver Business Client								
My	Master	Rule	Assessments	Access	Reports and	Entry Page for		
Home	Data	Setup		Management	Analytics	Corporate Risk Manager		

Figure 4.48 SAP Business Client Work Centers



Figure 5.1 Relationships between Master Data Elements in SAP Process Control



Figure 5.2 Business Process Hierarchy Flow

Process Structure	
Date 11.09.2023 T Apply Advanced	Create Open Delete Actions Process Subprocess Control
Other Processes Process Hierarchy	Process Process
Record to Report	Process

Figure 5.3Creating a New Process in the ProcessHierarchy

Process							Х
Central Proce	ess: Procure to Pay						
Parent Process: Process Hierarchy Effective Date: 11.09.2023							
Timeframe: 11.0	9 2023 II	D: 5000	00894				
General Attachme	nts and Links						
* Name:	Procure to Pay		* Valid From:	01.01.2023			
Description:	Business Process to cover the procurement	process ,	* Valid To:	31.12.9999		1	
	Tisk involved and the applicable account gro	groups	Business Process:	Procure to Pay		,	~
<						>	
					Save	Cano	:el

Figure 5.4 Process Configuration

Process Structure	
Date 11.09.2023 Apply Advanced	Create Open Delete Actions
Name	Subprocess
Process Structure	Control
Other Processes	Process
 Process Hierarchy 	Process
Procure to Pay	Process
IT General Controls	Process
 Order To Cash 	Process
Record To Report	Process
▶ HR	Process
Record to Report	Process

Figure 5.5Option to Create a New Subprocess inthe Hierarchy

Subprocess									
Central S	ubprocess	: Maintain V	endor Mas	ter Da	ata				
Parent Process:	Procure to Pay		ID: 50001	065					
Timeframe: 11.09 2023 Effective Date: 11.09.2023					9.2023				
General Controls	Regulations	Control Objectives	Account Groups	Risks	Attachm	nents and Links			^
* Name:	Maintain Vend	or Master Data					* Valid From:	29.05.2023	
Description:	This activity m	onitors the maintenan	ce of key fields in ve	endor ma	ster	* Valid To: 31.12.9999			
	data					Tra	ansaction type:	Routine	
						Busines	s Subprocess:	Vendor Master Main	tenance
Industry-specific:	🔿 Yes 💿 N	lo							~
<									>
								Save	Cancel

Figure 5.6 Subprocess Definition Screen

Subprocess						□ ×				
Central Subprocess: Maintain Vendor Master Data										
Parent Process: Procure										
Timeframe: 11.09 2023	_		Effective D	ato: 11 09 2023						
	Add					<				
General Controls	Sele	ect Regulation	s							
Regulations					F					
		Name	Description	Valid From	Valid To	Add Remove 🕼				
T Name		Companies Act		22.02.2023	31.12.9999	Valid To				
Sarbanes Oxley		SOX	SOX	22.02.2023	31.12.9999	31.12.9999				
					OK Cancel	Save Cancel				

Figure 5.7Assignment of Regulation to theSubprocess

Regulation Hierarchy		
Date 01.01.2023 T Apply Advanced		Create Open Actions Regulation Group
Name	Туре	Regulation
▼ Regulation Hierarchy		Regulation Requirement
Org Regulatory Requirement	Regulatio	n Group
SECURITY	Regulatio	n Group

Figure 5.8 Option to Create a New Regulation Group in the Hierarchy

Regulation	Group					
Regulat	tion Group : O	g Regulate	ory Requ	irement		
Parent Regul Timeframe: (ation Group: 01.01.2023		ID: 50000720 Effective Date:	01.01.2023		
General	Attachments and Links					^
* Name:	Org Regulatory Require	ment		* Valid From:	01.01.2022	
Description:	Org Regulatory Require	ment		* Valid To:	31.12.9999	
						Ň
					Save	Cancel

Figure 5.9 Configuration of the Regulation Group

Regulation				
Regulat	ion : Sarbanes Oxley			
Parent Regul Timeframe: (ation Group: Org Regulatory Requirement	ID: 50001123 Effective Date: 01.0)1.2023	
General	Issues Attachments and Links			^
* Name:	Sarbanes Oxley	* Valid From:	01.01.2023	
Description:	Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002	* Valid To:	31.12.9999	
		* Assign Regulation Configuration:	Sarbanes Oxl	~
				~
			Save	Cancel

Figure 5.10 Setting Up Regulation

Regulation I	Requirement		\square ×
Regulat	ion Requirement : Sec. 302	2	
Parent Regul	ation: Sarbanes Oxley	ID: 50001124	
Timeframe:	01.01.2023	Effective Date: 01.01.2023	
General	Attachments and Links		^
* Name:	Sec. 302	* Valid From: 01.01.2023	
Description:	Corporate Responsibility for Financial Reports	* Valid To: 31.12.9999	
			_
		Save	Cancel
		Save	Cancer

Figure 5.11Configuration of the RegulationRequirement

Subprocess								□ ×
Central Subpro	cess	: Maintain Vendor	Master	Data				
Parent Process: Procure to	o Pay	ID:	50001065					
Timeframe: 11.09 2023	Add	Control Objectives					×	
General Controls F	Ē	Control Objectives	ID	Category	Valid From	Valid To	^	
Control Objectives		Accurate Accounting Records	50000715	Financial Reporting and Disclosure	22.02.2023	31.12.9999	Ð	
								Open Add Remove
Control Objectives							~	
The table does r	<					>		
					[OK Can	cel	
								Save Cancel

Figure 5.12Assignment of Control Objective tothe Subprocess

Control Objective Catalog						
Date 12.08.2023 1 Apply Adv	vanced Create Open					
Name						
To prevent un authorized changes						

Figure 5.13 Create Option in the Control Objective Catalog Screen

Control Objective			
Control Obje	ctive: Accurate Accou	nting Records	
Objective ID: 5000071 Timeframe: 11.09 202	5 3	Effective Date:	11.09.2023
General Subproce	esses Risks Attachments and Links		^
* Control Objective: * Objective Category: Description:	Accurate Accounting Records Financial Reporting and Disclosure Accurate Accounting Records	* Valid From: Valid To:	22.02.2023 31.12.9999
			Save Cancel

Figure 5.14 Configuration of the Control Objective

Change View "Values": Overview								
😚 New Entries 🗈 🗟 🔊	😚 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🖡 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values							
Dialog Structure	Attr	ibute		CO-OBJCAT				
✓	Tex	t		Control Objective Category				
Values	Attribute			CO-CTYPE				
Attributes with Depende								
Values Values	Values							
Attributes with Fixed Va	Value Te		Te	xt				
• 🚞 Names	0	COMPLIANC	Cor	npliance and Regulations	•			
	0	FIN	Fina	ancial Reporting and Disclosure	-			
	0	OPE	Оре	erations				
					-			

Figure 5.15Configuration to Review the ObjectiveCategories

Subprocess							□ ×
Central Subprocess: Maintain Ven	dor Master Da	ta					
Parent Process: Procure to Pay	Add Account Gro	oups				X	
Timeframe: 11.09 2023	Accounts					^	
General Controls Regulations Control Objectives	C Account Group	Parent	Valid from	Valid to	Significant		
Account Groups	Accounts Pay		01.01.2023	31.12	Significant		^
	Accounts Re		15.08.2023	31.12	Significant		Open Add Remove
Name							
The table does not contain any data						\sim	
					OK C	ancel	×
					OR	ancer	Save Cancel

Figure 5.16Assignment of Account Group to theSubprocess

Change View "Define Regulation Type": Overview							
🦻 New Entries 🔋 🗟 🖙	🧚 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🖶 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values						
Dialog Structure	Define Regulation Typ	9					
Define Regulation Confic	Regulation Type	Regulation Type Text	DO NOT USE				
 Define Regulation Type Regulation Configurat Master Data 	FINANCIAL	Financial Compliance					
	OPERATIONAL	Operational Compliance					
Business Transactions							
• 📄 Settings							

Figure 5.17 Selection of Regulation Type for Enabling Account Groups Master Data

Change View "Master Data": Overview						
🤣 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🗗 🖡 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values						
Dialog Structure	Regulation Type	FINANCIAL				
Define Regulation Configuration	Regulation Type Text	Financial Compliance				
Define Regulation Type Begulation Configuration Assignment	Master Data					
 Master Data 	Entity ID	Active 1				
Business Transactions	ACC_GROUP					
• 🛅 Settings		▼				

Figure 5.18ACC_GROUP Activation in theRegulation Type



Figure 5.19 Accounts Work Center in SAP Process Control Master Data

Account Groups	
Date 01.01.2023 1 Apply Advanced	Create Open Actions
Name	
Account Group Hierarchy	

Figure 5.20Option to Create a New AccountGroup

Account Gro	up				
Accoun	t Group:	:			
Parent Group:	01 01 2023		ID: 50001377	7	
General	GL Accounts	Risks Attachments and Links	affective Date: 01.01.202	23	
* Name:	Accounts Pa	yable	* Valid From:	01.01.2023	1
Description:	Includes the as liability in	list of vendor accounts shown the organization's balance	* Valid To:	31.12.9999	1
	sheet. It indicates the amount that the organization solar		Significant: Reasoning:	Yes • No	
Assertions					
Completene	ess Dr. Occurron co				
Presentatio	on and Disclosi	Ire			
Rights and	Obligations	are and			
Valuation o	r Allocation				

Figure 5.21 General Tab in Configuration of Account Groups

Change View "Value	Change View "Values": Overview							
💖 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🖡 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values								
Dialog Structure	Dialog Structure Attribute AC-ASS							
 Attributes 	Те	Text Financial Statement Assertion		Financial Statement Assertion				
 Values Attributes with Dependence 								
▼ Values	1	Values						
• 📄 Values Permitted		Value Text		xt				
Attributes with Fixed Va		OCOMPLETE	MPLETE Completeness		-			
• 🗖 Names		OEXISTENCE	Exi	stence Or Occurrence	-			
		OPRESENTAT	Pre	sentation and Disclosure				
		ORIGHTS	Rig	hts and Obligations	33			
		OVALUATION	Val	uation or Allocation				

Figure 5.22 Configuration to Review the Financial Assertions

 •] « 日 🄇	i 🎝 ñ 🖨 i 🗩 🕅	1111	Ø 🗜		
New Entries: Overview of Added Entries						
🦘 🖶 🖪 🖪 🖪						
Dialog Structure	Attribute	AC-ASS				
 Attributes Values 	Text	Financial Statemer	nt Assertion			
 Attributes with Dependent Values 	Values					
• 🗖 Values Permitted	Value	Text				
Attributes with Fixed Va	0C0	Cut-Off			*	
• 🗖 Names	22				-	
	100					

Figure 5.23 New Financial Assertion Value

Account Group								∃ ×
Account G	roup: Acc	ounts Payable						
Parent Group: Timeframe: 11.0 General GL Ad	09 2023 ccounts Risks	Effe Attachments and Links	ID: ctive Date:	50001213 11.09.2023				
* Name: Description: Assertions Cut-Off Cut-Off Existence Or Oc Presentation and Rights and Oblig	Accounts Payabl Includes the list of as liability in the sheet. It indicate organization has	e of vendor accounts shown organization's balance s the amount that the to pay.			* Valid From: * Valid To: Significant: Reasoning:	01.01.2023 31.12.9999 • Yes No	1	×
							Save Ca	ancel

Figure 5.24New Financial Assertion Value in theAssertion List

Account Group		□ ×
Account Group: Acco	ounts Payable	
Parent Group:	ID: 50001213	
Timeframe: 11.09 2023	Effective Date: 11.09.2023	
General GL Accounts Risks	Attachments and Links	^
General Ledger Accounts		
		Remove
From	То	
1022031		
9823011		~
		Save Cancel

Figure 5.25 Mapping General Ledger Accounts to the Account Group

Consolidated	Account Balan	ces					
Year:	2023	Chan	ge Year				
* Currency:	USD	D .					
Significance Threshold:	5.000.000	,00 Apply	Significance T	hreshold			
* Version:	0001	~					
Changed On:	17.08.2023						
Accounts							^
				Download Template	Upload Template	Copy values from previous period	
Accounts	Consolidated Balance	Significant			Reason		
Accounts Payable	4.950.000,00	✓	Significant in	pact on the reputation	of the organization if	not paid as per the payment terms	
Accounts Receivabl	e 5.345.000,00	\checkmark					
							~
						Save Save as new version Ca	incel

Figure 5.26 Determination of Significant Accounts

Change View "Allow non-significant accounts to be added to a subproces					
🤣 New Entries 🗈 🗟	🖙 🚯 🚯 BC Set: Change Field Values				
Allow non-significant accou	ints to be added to a subprocess				
Customizing item	Description	Activated			
ADD_NON_SIG_ACC	Allow non-significant accounts to be added to a subprocess	✓			

Figure 5.27 Configuration to Activate Assignment of Nonsignificant Accounts to a Subprocess



Figure 5.28 Selection of Risk to Assign to the

Subprocess

Subprocess			l	□ ×
Central Subprocess: Ma	intain Vendor Master Data			
Parent Process: Procure to Pay	ID: 50001065			
Timeframe: 11.09 2023	Effective Date: 11.09.2023			
General Controls Regulations Co	ontrol Objectives Account Groups Risks Attachments and Links			^
Risks				
			Open Add Remove	
Name	Description	Source	Controls Assigned	
Incorrect interpretation of Acctg. rules	Incorrect interpretation of Accounting rules incorrect and or incomplete preparation of financial statements for the group or the entities and or incomplete or inaccurate or invalid informing of subsidiaries concerning changes in accounting policies. Due to wrong interpretation and/or non-awareness of accounting standards the accounting contains errors and therefore the (consolidated) financial statements could be misleading for internal decision making and are misleading fron compliant with IFRS or local GAAP and can lead to loss of credibility, reputation and financial claims	Account Group:Accounts Payable(Account Group Assertion: Completeness , Presentation and Disclosure)	0	l
Global consolidation process	Incorrect, incomplete data or unauthorized, invalid changes can lead to incorrect consolidation results and therefore the (consolidated) financial statements could be misleading for internal decision making or are non compliant with IFRS or local GAAP and can lead to loss of credibility, reputation and financial claims	Control Objective:Accurate Accounting Records	0	Ľ
Improperly trained staff	Improperly trained staff. Internal and external staff can harm the company and its reputation in case of wrong behaviour in the usage of IT systems and information (Like the use of notebooks, mobile devices, documents and information or the internet).	Inherent to Subprocess	1	~
			Save	Cancel

Figure 5.29 Assignment of Risk to the Subprocess

Risk Classification							
Risk Classification							
Date 01.01.2023 T Apply Advanced Create Open Delete Actions							
Risk category	Туре						
Risk template	Туре						
Classification Hierarchy							
▼ Risk Hierarchy Risk Category							
Compliance	Risk Category						
Finance	Risk Category						
Human Resources	Risk Category						
Information Technology	Risk Category						
Operations	Risk Category						
 Strategy & Business 	Risk Category						

Figure 5.30 Option to Create a New Risk Category in the Hierarchy

Risk Category					×
Risk catego	ory: Compliance				
Parent Category: F	Risk Hierarchy	Created On: 01.01.2023	ID	50001019	
General KRI Templ	ate Attachments and Links				
* Name:	Compliance	* Valid From:	01.01.2023		
Description:	Compliance	* Valid To:	31.12.9999		1
Allow Assignment:	 Yes No 				
Analysis Profile:	System default (Qualitative analysis	profile) 🗸 Analysis Profile Detail			
<				2	>
				Save Car	ncel

Figure 5.31Configuration of the Risk Category
Risk Template									
Risk template: Anti-	competition, co	ruptio	on, AML I	aws					
Parent Category: Compliance	Created (On: 01.01	.2023	ID: 5000102	0				
General Risk Instances Re	sponse Templates Centra	l Controls	Attachments	and Links		^			
* Name: Description:	Anti-competition, corruption Anti-Competition: Violation anti-trust and competition laws can lead to trials/lawsuits, remedy to customers, fines and reputational damage. A forbidden exchange about prizes or costs with	of	* Valid From: * Valid To:	01.01.2023 31.12.9999	1				
Show: Impacts 🗸					Add Edit Remove				
Impact Category	Impact Category			iption					
Financial (Revenue)	Financial (Revenue)			Financial Loss of Revenues					
					Save	Cancel			

Figure 5.32Risk Template Configuration Screen

sk Template					
Risk template: An	ti-competition,	corruption, AML la	aws		
Parent Category: Compliance	crea	ited On: 01.01.2023	ID: 50001020		
General Risk Instances	Response Templates C	entral Controls Attachments a	nd Links		
* N:	Add Driver		□ ×		
Descrip	Driver Catego	y: Commodity Prices	~	1	
	Driver Category Description	n: Commodity Prices			
		External			
		Lack of skilled Workforce			
		Loss of Personnel			
		People			
 Drivers and I 		Processes	:el		
		Tochnology			
Show Drivers 👻		rechnology	_	Add Edit Remove	
Driver Category	Driver Categ	ory Description			
Market Conditions	Change in N	arket Condition, Increase in Cor	npetition		
				Save	Cance

Figure 5.33Driver Categories under the AddDriver Option

0			🔹 🖓 🕅 🔤 😓 🖉 😓 🕅	1 🗘 1 🗐 🗮 🔁 I 🕜 🖳							
C	Change View "Driver Categories": Overview										
63	🍄 🍕 New Entries 🗈 🖻 🖶 📪 🖡 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values										
Dr	iver Categor	ies									
D	rvCat ID	Deactivate	Driver Category	Driver Category Desc							
0	000000001		Market Conditions	Change in Market Co 🌥							
0	000000002		Commodity Prices	Rise / Decline of com 🚬							
0	000000003		Loss of Personnel	Loss of Employees in							
0	000000007		Lack of skilled Workforce	Decline of skilled Wo							

Figure 5.34Configuration to Review the DriverCategories



Figure 5.35 Option to Add Impact Categories while Defining the Risk Template

Change V	liew "Imp	pact Category View": Overview							
V S New Entries C E E V E E BC Set: Change Field Values									
Impact Catego	ory View								
ImpCat ID	Deactivate	Impact Category	Impact Category De:						
0000000001	<	Financial (Revenue)	Financial Loss of Reve						
0000000002		Financial (Earnings)	Financial Loss impacti 🚬						
000000003		Reputation	Damage to the Repu 🔢						
000000004		Legal / Regulatory	Non-Compliance with						
0000000005		Customer Satisfaction	Impact on customer						
0000000006		Financial (Direct Costs)	Financial Loss due to						
0000000007		Financial (Capital Expenditures)	Financial Loss due to						

Figure 5.36 Deactivating Impact Category Screen

Process Structure						
Date 11.09.2023 Apply Advanced	Create Open Delete Actions Process					
Name	- Subprocess					
Process Structure	Control					
Other Processes	Process					
Process Hierarchy	Process					
 Procure to Pay 	Process					
Invoice Processing	Subprocess					
Maintain Vendor Master Data	Subprocess					
Perform Invoice Verification	Subprocess					
Purchase A/c Assignment Category	Subprocess					
Transactional Purchasing	Subprocess					
Inventory	Subprocess					

Figure 5.37Option to Create a New Control in theHierarchy

ontrol									
Central Control: V	endor ma	ister cha	nges						
Parent Subprocess: Maintain Ve	ndor Master Da	ta		ID: 50001	067		Effective Da	ate: 11.09.202	23
Timeframe: 11.09 2023	Timeframe: 11.09 2023								
General Performance Plan	Regulations	Requirement	Risks	Account Groups	Atta	chments and Links			
* Name:	Vendor maste	er changes				* Valid From:	29.05.2023		
Description:	This rule track	ks changes to d	ritical field	ls of vendor maste	er.	Valid To:	31.12.9999		
						* Trigger:	Event •	Date	
						Operation Frequency:	Monthly		
						* To Be Tested:	• Yes ON	0	
						* Test Automation:	 Automated 	 Manual 	Semi-Automated
Control or Process Step:	 Control 	O Process Ste	эp			Testing Technique:			
* Control Category:	Transactional	-Level Control			~	Test Plan:			
Significance:	Key Control				~	Input:			
Level of Evidence:	Tier 3: Contro	l Design Asses	sment + (D 👻					
Control Risk:	High			~		Output:			
* Control Automation:	 Automated 	🔵 Manual	🔿 Ser	ni-Automated					
* Purpose:	 Detective 	OPreventiv	e						~
<									>
									Save Cance

Figure 5.38New Control Definition Screen

Control						□ ×
Central Control	Add				x	
Parent Subprocess: Maintai Timeframe: 11.09 2023	Select Regulation	IS			1.0	9.2023
General Performance P				T	3	
Regulations	name	Description	Valid From	Valid To		
guinance	Sarbanes Oxley	SoX	29.05.2023	31.12.9999		Add Remove 🔽
Name The table does not	contain any data			OK Ca	ncel	To

Figure 5.39Assignment of Regulation to theControl

Control									□ ×
Cer	tral Control								
Parent	Parent Subprocess: Maintain Vendor Master Data					84		Effectiv	e Date: 11.09.2023
Timefra	ame: 11.09 2023								
Gen	eral Performance Pl	an Regulations	Requirement	Risks A	ccount Groups	Attachn	nents and Links	;	_
Add	Add Regulation Requirement								
Reg	ulation Require	ment							Add Remove
Ē	Requirement Name	Description			Regulation		Valid from	Valid to	Valid to
	Sec. 302	Corporate Respons	sibility for Finan	ncial Reports	SARBANES	OXLEY	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	
	Sec. 401	Disclosures in Peri	Disclosures in Periodic Reports		SARBANES	OXLEY	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	
	Sec. 404	Management Assessment of Internal Controls			SARBANES	SARBANES OXLEY 01.01.2023		31.12.9999	
								OK Cancel	Save Cancel

Figure 5.40Assignment of RegulationRequirements to the Control

Control					□ ×
Central Control					
Parent Subprocess: Maintain Vendor Maste Timeframe: 11.09 2023	r Data	ID: 50001384		Effect	ive Date: 11.09.2023
General Performance Plan Regulatio	ns Requirement Risks	Account Groups Atta	achments and Links		
Improperly trained staff	Information Technology	Improperly trained staff. Internal and external staff can harm the company and its reputation in case of wrong behaviour in the usage of IT systems and information (Like the use of notebooks, mobile devices, documents and	Inherent to Subprocess	~	pen Add Remove
			ОК	Cancel	Save Cancel

Figure 5.41 Assignment of Risks to the Control

Control												□ ×
Centra	al Contro	bl										
Parent Subprocess: Maintain Vendor Master Data ID: 50001384 Effective Date: 11.09.2023 Timeframe: 11.09 2023 ID: 50001384 ID: 50001384												
General Performance Plan Regulations Requirement				Risks Account Groups Attachments and Links							^	
Account	Group											
		Assertio	ns satisfied by	Control								
Text		Cut-Off	Completene	ess Existence	e Or Occu	irrence	Presenta	ion and Disclosure	Righ	ts and Obligations	Valuation or Allocation	
Acco	unts Payable		✓		✓							~
<]	>
											Save	Cancel

Figure 5.42 Maintenance of Financial Assertions Applicable for the Control

Orga	nizations				
View:	Standard Hierarchy				
Show	V Year	✓ 2023 ✓ Ap	ply Advanced	Open Add	Remove Actions
	Name				
	 Organization Hierarchy 				
	ABC International Ltd				
	Electric Power				
	Test				
	Test Org				
	TNOW-US				

Figure 5.43 Option to Create a New Organization in the Hierarchy

Organization										×
Create Organizatio	on									
Parent Organization: ABC International Ltd			ID: 500013	85						
Timeframe: Year 2023			Effective Da	ate: 01.01.202	23					
K General Subprocess Indi	rect Entity-Level Controls	Entity-Level Controls Regulations Policies Objectives				Units o	of Measure	Risk Appetite		^
* Name					* Vali	d From:	01.01.202	3	[1
Description				* V	alid To:	31.12.999	9	1		
				* Ci		ت				
			Average Cost Per Control:					0,00		
						Country:			ď	
Shared Services Provider	Yes No					State:			d'	
Org. Level System Parameter				Ć	7					
Review Settings										Р.
Indirect ELC Assessment	🗹 Use System Suggested	Do N	lot Review A	Assessment						
Indirect ELC Test	🗸 Use System Suggested	Do N	lot Review 7	est Results						
Remediation Plan	🗹 Use System Suggested	Do N	lot Review F	Plan						
Disclosure Survey	Use System Suggested	i		~						~
<									>	
								Sav	e Car	ncel

Figure 5.44 General Tab of the Organization

Sub	processes Assignment				
Sub	process		^	:023	
Ē	Subprocess	Process	Description	Key Risk Indicators	Units of Measure
	GL account structure	Record To Report			
	Inventory	Procure to Pay			
	Invoice Processing	Procure to Pay		Assign Subprocess	Remove Open Move
	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Procure to Pay	This activity monitors th of key fields in vendor r	ges	Shared Service
	Password Parameters	IT			
	Payment Terms	F100	Payment Terms		
	Perform Invoice Verification	Procure to Pay			
	Process Billing Documents	Order To Cash			
	Process Sales Returns	Order To Cash			
	Purchase A/c Assignment Cate	Procure to Pay	Purchase A/c Assignme		
	Revenue Recognition	Record To Report			
	Queters Quefferrenting	IT			

Figure 5.45Selection of the Subprocess to AssignIt to the Organization

Sub	processes Assignment					
A	ssign Subprocesses	to ABC India	Pvt Ltd			
I)	Select Subprocesses Allow	2 Local Changes Se	elect Controls	Select Risks	Review Cor	6
Ti	meframe Year 2023 Effective Date	e 01.01.2023				
Dete	rmine whether or not organization-	level (local) subproce	sses and contro	ls can be edited.		
Sub	oprocess					
	Subprocess	Process	Description		Allow Local Ch	nanges
	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Procure to Pay	This activity mo maintenance o vendor master	onitors the f key fields in data	No No	Ĭ
					Yes	
				Previous	Next Submit	Finish Cancel

Figure 5.46 Selection of Local Changes Method while Localizing the Controls

Organization							□ ×				
Subprocesses Assignment											
Select Subprocesses Allow Loca	al Changes	Select Controls	s Sele	ct Risks	5 Review Co	nfirmation	^				
Timeframe Year 2023 Effective Date 01.01.2023											
Subprocess											
Subprocess/Control	Description	n		Date Assig	ned	Allow Local C	hanges				
 Maintain Vendor Master Data 	This activit maintenan master dat	ty monitors the ice of key fields in v ta	rendor	11.09.2023		No					
Vendor master changes	This rule tr fields of ve	rule tracks changes to critical s of vendor master.		11.09.2023		No					
Duplicate invoice parameter	"This rule t system set that prever being post	This rule tracks changes to the system settings hat prevent the same invoice fi peing posted more than once."		e 11.09.2023 from		No					
Risk											
Subprocess/Risk	C	Object Type	Descripti	on							
 Maintain Vendor Master Data 	s	Subprocess	This acti master d	vity monitors ata	the maintenance	of key fields in	vendor				
 Incorrect interpretation of Acctg. 	rules F	Risk Template	Incorrect interpretation of Accounting rules incorrect a incorrect a Previous Next Submit			Iles incorrect ar	Finish Cancel				
							Save Cancel				

Figure 5.47Saving the Subprocess and ControlsAssigned to the Organization

Subpi	ocess											×
Su	bprocess: A	Access N	lanagement									
Pare	nt Organization: Po	ower Generatio	n	Effective Da	ate: 29.05.	2023		Allow L	ocal Ch	anges	: Yes	
Time	Timeframe: Year 2023				cess: IT							
G	eneral Controls	Account Grou	ps Risks	Polici	es Roles	Issues	Attacl	hment	ts and L	inł		
Cor	ntrols Assigne	d to Subpr	ocess									
	in one / teorgine							O	pen 📝	Add	Remo	ve
	Control Name	Descr	iption	Source	Significar	ice	Provider	Provider Valid		,	Valid To)
	Monitor users with	S Monit	or users with SA	Сору	Key Cont	rol		29.05	5.2023	:	31.12.9	999
	Users with develop	be Users	with developer	Сору	Key Cont	rol		29.05	5.2023	:	31.12.9	999
	Monitor Super Use	er Monit	or Super User ac	Сору	Key Cont	rol		29.05	5.2023	;	31.12.9	999
	Direct profile assign Monitor users with dire.		or users with dire	Сору	Copy Key Control			29.05	5.2023	;	31.12.9	999
<		1									2	>
									[Save	Car	ncel

Figure 5.48Access the Controls Tab from the LocalSubprocess

Subprocess: Acc	aee Man	anement
Supprocess. Acc	555 Maria	agement
Parent Organization: Power G	eneration	Effective Date: 29.05.2023 Allow Local Changes: Yes
Timeframe: Year 2023		Parent Process: IT
General Controls Regu	lations Cont	rol Objectives Account Groups Risks Policies Roles Issues Attachments and Links
Controls Assigned to	Subproce	Add Control
g		A control could exist in the central subprocess that is not included in this subprocess Open Add Rem
Control Name	Description	Do you want to create a new control or select a control from central subprocess? Valid From Valid T
Monitor users with S	Monitor use	Create a new control 29.05.2023 31.12.
Users with develope	Users with	Select from central subprocess 29.05.2023 31.12.
Monitor Super User	Monitor Sup	OK Cancel 29.05.2023 31.12.
Direct profile assign	Monitor use	29.05.2023 31.12.

Figure 5.49 Option to Create a Local Control from Subprocess under an Organization

Control			□ ×
Control: Duplicate i	nvoice parameter changes		
Parent Organization: Tnow Basis	Parent Subprocess: Maintain Vendor Maste	r Data	Allow Local Chang
Timeframe: Year 2023	Effective Date: 29.05.2023		
K Policies Issues Roles At	tachments and Links		
Mitigating Control ID:		* Valid From:	29.05.2023
* Name:	Duplicate invoice parameter changes	Valid To:	31.12.9999
Description:	"This rule tracks changes to the system settings	* Trigger:	O Event O Date
	that prevent the same invoice from being posted more than once."	Operation Frequency:	Monthly
		* To Be Tested:	 Yes No
		* Test Automation:	 Automated Manua
		Testing Technique:	
Control or Process Step:	Control Process Step	Input:	
Control Category:	Transactional-Level Control		
Significance:	Key Control 🗸	Output	
<			>
			Save Cancel

Figure 5.50 Local Control Navigation Option to Roles Tab of a

Control										□ ×
Control: Duplicate invoice	Sele	ct Users) 🗆 ×	
Parent Organization: Tnow Basis	Ava	ilable				Sel	ected		^	
Timeframe: Year 2023	Find	:	Search				Name	User ID		
Policies Issues Roles Attachments a		Name	User ID	^			RAGHU	RAGHU		
		Line Manager	300001							
Roles		40010	40010							
Show: All 🗸		BGUSER	BGUSER							Assign
Role			DDIC	1						Valid To
Cross Regulation Control Owner		DRISHTI	DRISHTI		•					11.09.20
Cross Regulation Control Performer		Homepage Gues	EUHOME		4					
Cross Regulation Control Tester		GRC RPA Auto	GRCBOT001		•					
Cross Regulation Issue Admin		KRISHNA	KRISHNA						~	
Cross Regulation Remediation Owner								ОК	Cancel	
	_					-			_	>
									[Save Cancel

Figure 5.51Assignment of a User to the ControlOwner Role

Control									□ ×
ontrol: Duplicate inv	oice pa	aramete	r changes	;					
rent Organization: Tnow Basis	Select	User			×	Master Data	Allow Local Changes:	Yes	ID: 50
neframe: Year 2023	Use	er Name	Full Name		^				
bles	300	0001	Line Manager						
now: All	400	010	40010					Assign	Replace Rer
Role	BG	USER	BGUSER			_	Hanna Maltid Farma	V-84 T	
Cross Regulation Control Owner	DDIC					Replace	Assigned Person		□ ×
, ,	DR	ISHTI	DRISHTI			Role	Cross Regulation Control Owner (SAP, GR	C SPC CRS	CTL OWNER)
Cross Regulation Control Perform	EU	HOME	Homepage Gue	st End User		Perso ·	RAGHU (RAGHU)	0_010_0100_0	one_owner()
Cross Regulation Control Tester	GR	CBOT001	GRC RPA Auto	Firefighter Cont	n.	* Renl			
Cross Regulation Issue Admin	KA	RTHIKA	Karthika G			ropi			
Cross Regulation Remediation O	KR	ISHNA	KRISHNA		×	* Effe :	12.09.2023		OK Caraal
SAP GRC SPC CTL OPERAT	<			>					OK Cancel
<				OK Cano	el:				Save Cancel

Figure 5.52Replacement of Current Owner fromthe Roles Tab

Remove Assigned Person			× ×		
Removing: DRISHTI (DRISHTI) from t	he role: Cross				
* Effective Date: 12.09.2023		Assign Replace Remove			
			、 ×	d From	Valid To
<			OK Cancel	9.2023	11.09.2023
				9.2023	11.09.2023
	DRISHTI	DRISHTI	12	2.09.2023	31.12.9999

Figure 5.53Removal of Current Owner from theRoles Tab

Assign Process, Subprocess and Control Roles	
Image: Constraint of the second se	
Timeframe: Year v 2023 v Apply	Effective Date 12.09.2023
Select Role Levels to be assigned. If desired, select Filters, then click Next.	
Role Level	
Process	
Subprocess ✓ Control Regulations	
Show Cross-Regulation Roles?: • Yes • No	
Regulations: Add	
Display Expired User Role Assignment for Selected Timeframe	
Display Expired User Role Assignment for Selected Timeframe: O Yes No 	
Filters	
Organization: 3 Selected	
Process: Add	
Subprocess: Add	
Control: Add	
Role: 1 Selected	

Figure 5.54 Filter Options Available in the Select Role and Filters Tab

As	sign Pro	cess,	Subprocess and Control I	Role	S					
Select Role and Filter Assign Roles Review Confirmation										
Tim	eframe Year 2	023	Effective Date	Sele	ect User			1		
Assi	gn Users to Ro	les for the	Selected Filter Criteria.	Find	:	Search	ı ^			
Ass	Assignments				User ID	Name				
Show	w: All		~		300001	Line Manager		Copy to All		
	Organization	Level	Object		40010	40010		RATOR		
	Test	Control	Mitigation Control ID for BASIS		BGUSER	BGUSER		đ		
			Monitor users with SAP_All access		DDIC					
			Pasia Canaral Cantral		DRISHTI	DRISHTI				
					EUHOME	Homepage Guest E	nd User			
			sub proc		GRCBOT001	GRC RPA Auto Fire	fighter Co			
			MONITOR_INACTIVE_USER-control	<		OK	Cancel			
			IN_MC_P2P_PYTM_01			OK	Gancer			
			Monitor_quantity_in_goods_receipt_or_inv	rerm	S					

Figure 5.55Selection of User for Assignment tothe Subprocess Owner Role

Ass	ignments									
Show	v: All		*			Copy to All				
	Organization	Level	Object	Pá	arent	Regulation	Cross R Owner	ontrol	î	
	Test	Control	Mitigation Control ID for BASIS	Tr	now Basis	Cross	DRISHT	1		
			Monitor users with SAP_All access	Ao M	ccess anagement	Regulation				
			Basis General Control	Tr	Copy A	ssianmen	t		×	
			CLIENT_OPEN_AND_CLOSE -business sub proc	For which roles do you wish to copy Users?						
			MONITOR_INACTIVE_USER-control		◯ All roles					
			IN_MC_P2P_PYTM_01	Pá	 Only s 	elected roles				
			Monitor_quantity_in_goods_receipt_or_inv		Cross Regulation C		Control C	Control Owner		
			Control to monitor user vs standard role	Tr		-	_			
	N N		Monitor Critical Profile Assignment					OK Can	cel	
			Monitor Critical Authorization						_	
			Monitor Critical Authorization SM30							

Figure 5.56Mass Maintenance of UserAssignments to Roles

						_		
						Create	Open Dele	te
		Delegate			Period			
Central Delega	ation					E	ind Date	
						3	1.12.9999	
Delegator			Delegate			3	1.12.9999	
* User:	SANDEEP	L D	* User:	KARTHIKA	<u> </u>	3	1.12.9999	
Full Name:	Sandeep		Full Name:	Karthika G		3	1.12.9999	
Delegation Period								
* Start Date:	12.09.2023	3 1						
* End Date:	13.09.2023	3 1						
				Save	e Cancel			
	Central Delega Delegator * User: Full Name: Delegation Period * Start Date: * End Date:	Central Delegation Delegator * User: SANDEEP Full Name: Sandeep Delegation Period * Start Date: 12.09.2022 * End Date: 13.09.2022	Delegate Central Delegation Delegator * User: SANDEEPL Full Name: Sandeep Delegation Period * Start Date: 12.09.2023 * End Date: 13.09.2023	Delegation Delegator Delegator * User: SANDEEPL * User: Full Name: Sandeep Full Name: Delegation Period * Start Date: 12.09.2023 1 * End Date: 13.09.2023 1 *	Delegation Delegator Delegate * User: SANDEEPL * User: KARTHIKA Full Name: Sandeep Full Name: Karthika G Delegation Period * Start Date: 12.09.2023 1 * End Date: 13.09.2023 1 Save	Delegate Period Central Delegation × Delegator * User: SANDEEPL * User: SANDEEPL * User: Sandeep * User: Karthika G Delegation Period * Start Date: 12.09.2023 1 * End Date: 13.09.2023 1 Save Cancel	Delegate Period Central Delegation × > Delegator > <	Delegate Period Central Delegation Central Delegation Central Delegation New Belegator Delegator New: SANDEEPL * User: SANDEEPL * User: Sandeep Full Name: Sandeep Full Name: Karthika G Delegation Period * End Date: 12.09.2023 Save Cancel Open Delegation Save Cancel Open Period Save Cancel Open Belegator Delegator Save Cancel Open Save Cancel Central Delegation Save Cancel Central Delegation Save Cancel Central Delegation Save Cancel Central Delegation Save Cancel Cancel </td

Figure 5.57 Creation of Central Delegation



Figure 5.58 Changing the Delegation ID to Perform Tasks Assigned

Indi	Indirect Entity Level Control Hierarchy									
Date 01.01.2023 T Apply Advanced Create Open Act										
	Name	Туре	Indirect Entity-Level Control Group							
	Indirect Entity Level Control Hierarchy		Indirect Entity-Level Control							

Figure 5.59 Option to Create a New Indirect Entity-Level Control Group in the Hierarchy

Indirect Entity-Level Control Group		\Box ×
Create Indirect Entity-Level Co	ontrol Group	
Parent Group: Timeframe: 01.01 2023	ID: 50001388 Effective Date: 01.01.2023	
General Attachments and Links * Name: Control Activities Description: Policies and Procedures used by the management to take control decisions	* Valid from: 01.01.2023 * Valid to: 31.12.9999	1 1 1
<	Sav	Ve Cancel

Figure 5.60 Configuration of the Indirect Entity-Level Control Group

Indirect Enti	ty-Level C	ontrol					×		
Central Indirect Entity-Level Control :									
Parent Group:	Control Acti	vities		ID: 50001389					
Timeframe: 0)1.01 2023			Effective Date:	01.01.2023				
General	Regulations	Attachments and	Links				^		
* Name:	Reconcilliati	on		* Valid from:	01.01.2023				
Description:	Payroll reports are reviewed by a user outside the system			* Valid to: Operation Frequency:	31.12.9999 Monthly	1			
				To Be Tested: Test Plan:	Yes No Payroll account reconcilliations	đ	~		
					Save	Can	cel		

Figure 5.61Configuration of an Indirect Entity-Level Control

0	rgan	ization					×
	Indii	rect ELC		×	1		
	Ē	Indirect Entity-Level Control Name	Description	•			
		TEST CONTROL	TEST CONTROL	C,			
	Reconciliation		Payroll reports are reviewed by a user outside the system		Indicators	Я	2
				~			
	<		OK C	ancel	Add F	Remove Open	
		The table does not contain any	data				

Figure 5.62Assignment of Indirect Entity-LevelControl to the Organization

Control										□ ×
Control: Monitor us	sers with	n SAP_All a	ccess							
Parent Organization: Power Gen	eration		Parent Subprocess:	Access Man	nageme	ent		Allow	Local Changes:	No
Timeframe: Year 2023			Effective Date: 01.0	01.2023						
K General Regulations Perfo	ormance Plan	Business Rules	Control Performance	Evaluation	Moni	itoring Jobs	Requireme	nt Risks	Account Group	os Owne
Mitigating Control ID:						* \	/alid From:	01.01.2023		
* Name:	Monitor user	s with SAP_All acc	cess			Valid To: 3		31.12.9999		
Description:	Monitor user	s with SAP_All and	SAP_New access				* Trigger:	O Event 💿 Date		
						Operation F	Frequency:			
						* То	Be Tested:	• Yes	No	
						* Test A	utomation:	Automate	ed 🔷 Manual	🔵 Sen
						Testing	Technique:			
Control or Process Step:	 Control 	O Process Step					Input:			
Control Category:										
Significance:	Key Control						Output:			
<										>
								Save	equest Change	Cancel

Figure 5.63Request Change Option in the LocalControl

Change Reque	st				
Control Name:	Monitor users with SAP_All access			Insert Lir	ne
Parent:	Access Management	Ē	Field to be Changed	Proposed Change	^
* Change Dequest	ate: 01.01.2023	De	Description	Control description to be updated	
Change Request.	opuale the attributes of the control		Nature	Update the nature of the control	
					~
				OK	Cancel

Figure 5.64Details to Be Updated in the ChangeRequest for the Master Data Update

Activ	ve Queries									
Workitems All (84) Access Management (0) Process Control (84) Risk Management (0)										
Worl	Workitems - All									
					Change Query Def	ine New Query Personalize				
View	* [Standard View] 🗸				Print	Version Export 🖌 🤐				
Ē	Subject	Ŧ	Status	Created On 🏾 🏲	Due Date	Created By				
	Approve Change Request		Ready	25.09.2023 14:26:50	25.09.2023	Karthika G				

Figure 5.65 Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending for Action

Approve/Reject Master Data Change:Monitor users with SAP_All access										
Requester:	Karthika G	Ē	Field to be Changed	Proposed Change						
Control Name:	Monitor users with SAP_All access		Description	Control description to be updated						
Parent:	Access Management		Natura	Lindate the nature of the control						
Effective Date:	01.01.2023		Nature	Opdate the nature of the control						
Requested On:	25.09.2023 14:26:49									
* Change Request:	Update the attributes of the control									
* Approval End Date:	30.09.2023									
* Comments:	Approved									
				Approve Reject Cancel						

Figure 5.66Master Data Change Request:Approver View

Act	Active Queries									
Workitems All (84) Access Management (0) Process Control (84) Risk Management (0)										
Workitems - All										
				Change Que	ery Define New	Query Personalize				
Vie	w: * [Standard View]				Print Version	Export 🖌 🤪				
	Subject	٣	Status	Created On	Due Date	Created By				
	Control Change Request is Approve	d	Ready	25.09.2023 14:35:19	25.09.2023	Karthika G				

Figure 5.67Change Request ApprovalConfirmation
Control: Monitor years with SAD All access							
Control. Mor	intor users with SAP_All ad	ce	55				
Parent Organization:	Power Generation	Parent Subprocess: Access Management					
Timeframe: Year 2023	3	Eff	ective Date: 01.01.202	3			
K Issues Roles Attachments and Links Change Request							
Request Status:	Approved	Ē	Field to be Changed	Proposed Change			
Effective Date:	01.01.2023		Description	Control description to be updated			
Requested On: 25.09.2023 14:26:49			Nature	Update the nature of the control			
Approved Oil.							
" Change Request.	Update the attributes of the control	-					
* Approval End Date:	30.09.2023						
* Comments:	Approved						

Figure 5.68 Review Change Request Details

Activ	ve Queries				
Wor	kitems All (84) Access Ma	nagement (0) Process Control (84) R	isk Management (0))
Wor	kitems - All				
			Chang	je Query Define Ne	ew Query Personalize
Viev	v: * [Standard View]]		Print Versi	on Export 🖌
	Subject	F Status	Created On	Due Date	Created By
	Review Change Log	Ready	25.09.2023 14:39:07	25.09.2023 Karthika G	
	Review Change Log	Ready	25.09.2023 14:39:07	25.09.2023	Karthika G

Figure 5.69 Work Inbox Screen with Review Items Pending for Action

Control: Monitor users with SAP_All access														
Parent Orga	nization: Powe	er Gener	ation		Parent Subprocess:	Access Mar	agement		Allow	v Local Changes: N	lo		ID: 500	01143
Timeframe:	Year 2023				Effective Date: 01.01.2023									
General	Regulations	Perfor	mance Plan	Business Rules	Control Performance	Evaluation	Monitoring Jobs	Requirem	ent Risks	Account Groups	Owners	Reports	Policies	×D,
	Mitigating Cont	Control ID: * Valid From:			01.01.2023	\$								
	* 1	Name:	Monitor user	s with SAP_All acc	ess			Valid To:	31.12.9999)				
	Descr	iption:	ion: Monitor users with SAP All and SAP New access				* Trigger:	Event Date						
					Operation I	Frequency:	cy:							
							* To	* To Be Tested: Yes No						
							* Test A	utomation:	 Automate 	ed 🔵 Manual	Semi-A	utomated		
							Testing	Technique:						
Co	ntrol or Process	Step:	Control	 Process Step 				Input:						
	Control Cate	egory:	IT General C	Control										
	Signific	cance:	Key Control				Output:							
	Level of Evid	dence:												
	Control	l Risk												· ·
												Save	Cancel	Finish
<														>

Figure 5.70 Review Updated Control

Change View "Activate Master Data Changes Workflow": Overview						
🦻 New Entries 🗈 🖶 🖙 🕃 🖡 BC Set: Change Field Values						
Activate Master Data	Changes Workflow					
Entity ID	Entity Type	Approval	Notify			
ACC_GROUP	Account Group			٠		
COBJECTIVE	Control Objective			•		
CONTROL	Control		 Image: A start of the start of	#		
CRISK	Risk Template					
ECONTROL	Indirect Entity-Level Control					

Figure 5.71Configuration to Notify Master DataChanges

Master Data Upload Generator
Mode
 Generate Template Upload Data
Options
 Maintain ID manually Include Regulation data Multiple languages Select languages to
Export Data

Figure 5.72 Generate Template for MDUG

Master Data Upload Generator
Mode
O Generate Template
 Upload Data
Options
✓ Maintain ID manually
✓ Include Regulation data
✓ Find ID by name
Import in background
File Name C:\Users\TNOW-033\Desktop\MDUG.xlsx

Figure 5.73 Upload the MDUG File into the System to Update the Master Data

Import Data	
₽	
File Selection	
✓ Use dataset File name	MDUG_20230912_114248.XML
Additional Function	
 ✓ Simulation ✓ Extended log 	
Validity	
Valid from	12.09.2023
Valid to	31.12.9999

Figure 5.74 Execution of the MDUG File in Simulation Mode

Display logs					
🕄 😯 🗞 Technical Information 🚺	l				
Date/Time/User	Nu External ID	Transac	Mode	Log number	
▶ 🔳 12.09.2023 11:42:48 KARTHIKA	4	SA38	Dialog proces	000000000000000208	535
12.09.2023 11:44:33 KARTHIKA	8	SA38	Dialog proces	00000000000000208	536
12.09.2023 11:45:10 KARTHIKA	8	SA38	Dialog proces	000000000000000208	537
			·		
«ILTM (27. 12.)	%, 🗅 🗗 , 🕒 .	, 🖽 🔎 I 💿	0 🖲 2 🛆 0	55	
Ty Message Text					
Content importing/exporting started	d at 2023-09-12 14:13:2	6			
Simulation mode entered					
Importing is triggered from STANDA	LONE				
Exit on error is off					
The direct risk model(SAS31) is used	d				
Start date is 2023-09-12 and end date	ate is 9999-12-31				
Object XPROCESS/50001390(Procu	re To Pay) has been cre	ated or upda	ted		
Object XPROCESS/50001079(Order	To Cash) has been crea	ted or updat	ed		
Object XPROCESS/50001195(Recor	d to Report) has been o	reated or upo	lated		
Object XPROCESS/50001391(Inform)	nation Technology) has l	been created	or updated		
Object XPROCESS/50001392(Human Resource) has been created or updated					
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001065(Maintain Vendor Master Data) has been created or updated					
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001069(Perform Invoice Verification) has been created or updated					
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001072(Purchase A/c Assignment Category) has been created or updated					
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001074(T	ransactional Purchasing)	has been cre	ated or update	ed	
Object XSUBPROCESS/50001076(In	ventory) has been creat	ted or update	d		

Figure 5.75 Logs after Uploading the MDUG File in Simulation for Review

SAP NetWeaver Business Client									
My Home	Master Data	Rule Setup	Assessments	Access Management	Reports and Analytics				
Surv Defin Quick	/eys e questions, anso c Links Question Library urvey Library	wers and surve	ys used for assessmen	ts					

Figure 6.1 Category Options in the Create Question Screen

Que	Question Library							
					Create	Delete Actions		
Ē	Category	Question 🚊	Active	Answer Type	Created By	Created On		
	Control Design	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?	Yes	Choice	Karthika G	27.06.2023 15:22:05		
	Risk Survey	How many events occurred in the past 3 years?	Yes	Choice	Karthika G	27.06.2023 15:25:41		
	Control Design	If the Control designed is meeting the organization ICS requirement	Yes	Yes/No/NA	Karthika G	27.06.2023 15:29:17		
	Subprocess Design	If the Organization structure designed meeting ICS requirement	Yes	Yes/No/NA	Karthika G	27.06.2023 15:30:05		
	Control Design	Is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	Yes	Yes/No/NA	Karthika G	27.06.2023 15:30:41		
	Risk Survey	What is the major impact if the risk materializes?	Yes	Choice	Karthika G	27.06.2023 15:31:16		
	Control Design	need access to critical tcodes related to basis?	Yes	Yes/No/NA	Karthika G	27.06.2023 15:32:38		

Figure 6.2 Question Library Maintenance Screen

Question				×
Create Ques	stion			
* Category:	Control Design	~		
* Question:	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?			
Active:	Yes	~		
* Answer Type:		~		
Question Comment:	Yes	~		
	Sa	ve	Cano	el

Figure 6.3 Create Question Screen for Control Design Assessment

Question		
Create Ques	stion	^
* Category:	Control Design]
* Question:	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?	_
Active:	Yes	
* Answer Type:	Rating ~	
Question Comment:	Yes 🗸	
* Rating Type:	Rating (15)	
Requires Comment:	🗹 Rating 1 🛛 Rating 2 🗌 Rating 3 📃 Rating 4 📃 Rating 5	\sim
	Sa	ave Cancel

Figure 6.4 Options for the Rating Answer Type

Question			
Create Ques	stion		
* Category:	Control Design	~	
* Question:	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?		
Active:	Yes	~	
* Answer Type:	Yes/No/NA	~	
Question Comment:	Yes	~	
Requires Comment:	Yes VN N/A		
		Save	Cancel

Figure 6.5 Options for Answer Type Yes, No, N/A

Question						×
Create Q	ues	tion				^
* Cate	gory:	Control Design		~		
* Ques	stion:	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are acc valid?	curate an	d		l
Ac	ctive:	Yes		~		
* Answer T	ype:	Choice		~		
Question Comn	nent:	Yes		~		
Answer Opti	ons					
Add Remov	e A	ctions _				
Selection	Valu	e	Score	Requ	ires Comment	
а	Yes,	all the company codes are covered and upto date	III the company codes are covered and upto date 0			
b	No, n	ew company codes creating during the assessment pe	✓			
с	There	e are few company codes which are no longer valid sh	0		✓	\sim
					Save Ca	ncel

Figure 6.6 Options for the Choice Answer Type

Su	Survey Library										
	Create										
	Category	Title .	Description	Active	Created By	Created On					
	Control Design	Control Design Survey(TEST)	Control Design Survey (TEST)	Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 18:50:37					
	Control Design	Critical basis access	Critical basis access	Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 18:54:34					
	Control Design	Quarterely design assessment		Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 18:51:28					
	Subprocess Design	Subprocess Design(TEST)	Subprocess Design (TEST)	Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 18:52:40					
	Control Design	Survey for Control Design _01	Survey for Control Design _01	Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 16:31:27					
	Risk Survey	Survey to perform risk assessment	Survey to perform risk assessment	Yes	Karthika G	27.06.2023 18:53:30					

Figure 6.7 Create Button in the Survey Library Maintenance Screen

Survey			
Create Survey	/		
Category: Control Des	ign		
General Attachme	nts and Links		
* Category:	Control Design	×	
* Title:	Control Design Survey		
Description:	Control Design Survey		
Valuation:	No Valuation	✓	
Active:	No Valuation		
Questions	Score based valuation		
		Add Add As Child	Remove

Figure 6.8 Valuation Types for Creating a Survey

aa	Questions							
Ava	ilable							
Find	:	Category:	Control Design	~	Created by:	Karthika G	~	Go
	Question					±.	Created by	
	Are all the company	codes in scope of	the control are accurate ar	id valid?			Karthika G	
	If the Control design	ned is meeting the	organization ICS requireme	nt			Karthika G	
	Is the design of the	control meeting the	standards of ICS of the or	ganization?			Karthika G	
	need access to critic	cal tcodes related t	o basis?				Karthika G	

Figure 6.9 The Option to Add Questions to the Survey

Create Surve	y		^
Category: Control Des	ign		
General Attachme	ents and Links		
* Category:	Control Design	~	
* Title:	Control Design		
Description:			
Valuation:	No Valuation	~	
Active:	Yes 🐱		
Questions			
		Add Add As Child Remove Open A	Actions ,
Cuestion		Answer Typ	e
Are all the compa	any codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?	Choice	
Is the design of t	he control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	Yes/No/NA	
			Save Cancel

Figure 6.10 The Questions Selected to Be Part of the Survey

Create Surve	у			^
Category: Control Des	sign			
General Attachme	ents and Links			
* Category:	Control Design		~	
* Title:	Control Design			
Description:				
Valuation:	No Valuation		~	
Active:	Yes 👻			
Questions				
		Always Display		
Ē		Yes, all the company codes are covered and upto date		
		No, new company codes creating during the assessment period	od are not updated in t	he scope
 Are all the co 	mpany codes in scope of th	There are few company codes which are no longer valid shou	ld be removed from th	e scope of the contro
Is the desi	gn of the control meeting the	e standards of ICS of the organization?	Yes/No/NA	ways Displa 🍟
				Save Cancel

Figure 6.11 Assigning a Child Question to a Root Question

My Home		Master Data	Rule Setup	Assess	sments	Access Management	Reports and Analytics	<
							Welco	ome Karthika G
	Surveys Define questions, answers and surveys used for assessments					Assessment F Plan evaluations	Planning and other assess	sments
	Quick Links					Quick Links Planner Planner Moni Notification H	itor listory	

Figure 6.12Planner Option in the AssessmentsWork Center

Plan	lans - Process Control & Risk Management											
Sho	Show Quick Criteria Maintenance											
View	View: * [Standard View] View Open Create Cancel Delete Copy Split Notification											
	Schedule Name	Schedule Activity	Created On	Changed On	Organizations	Start Date	Due Date	Next Runtime	Status			
	Design Assessment_Q2 2023	Perform Control Design Assessment	27.06.2023 17:10:34	27.06.2023 17:10:34	1	27.06.2023	14.07.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Design Assessment_Q2	Perform Control Design Assessment	25.06.2023 16:44:12	25.06.2023 16:44:12	1	25.06.2023	30.06.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Design Assessment_Q2	Perform Control Design Assessment	21.06.2023 22:15:29	21.06.2023 22:15:29	1	21.06.2023	30.06.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Design Assessment_Q2	Perform Control Design Assessment	15.06.2023 22:13:34	15.06.2023 22:13:34	1	15.06.2023	30.06.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Design Assessment_Q2	Perform Control Design Assessment	15.06.2023 20:36:54	15.06.2023 20:36:54	1	15.06.2023	30.06.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Risk Assessment	Perform Risk Assessment via Survey	01.06.2023 10:27:33	01.06.2023 10:27:33	4	01.06.2023	30.06.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Risk Assessment	Perform Risk Assessment via Survey	01.06.2023 10:24:36	01.06.2023 10:24:36	4	01.06.2023	30.06.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Risk Assessment	Perform Risk Assessment	01.06.2023 10:00:44	01.06.2023 10:00:44	4	01.06.2023	30.06.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Test of Effectiveness	Test Control Effectiveness	30.05.2023 18:27:57	30.05.2023 18:27:57	1	30.05.2023	23.07.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Test of Effectiveness	Test Control Effectiveness	29.05.2023 16:55:03	29.05.2023 16:55:03	1	29.05.2023	23.07.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	basis critical access planner	Perform Control Design Assessment	04.05.2023 12:11:39	04.05.2023 12:11:39	2	04.05.2023	10.05.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			
	Control Design Survey Planner (TEST)	Perform Control Design Assessment	30.03.2023 21:44:51	30.03.2023 21:44:51	2	30.03.2023	30.04.2023	00.00.0000 00:00:00	Completed			

Figure 6.13Planner Functionality to Schedule NewJobs

Planner	C
Create Plan	
Enter Plan Det	2 3 4 5 6 4 ails Select Regulation Select Organizations Select Object(s) Review Confirmation
* Plan Name:	Design Assessment_Q3 2023
* Plan Activity:	Perform Control Design Assessment
* Survey:	Survey for Control Design _01
* Period:	Quarter 3
* Year:	2023
Reference Timeframe:	O Yes 💿 No
* Start Date:	28.07.2023
* Due Date:	10.08.2023
	Previous Next Cancel Finish Activate Plan

Figure 6.14Create Plan: Navigational Scheduler

Planner	C
Create Plan	^
Plan Activity Perform Control Design Assessment Period Quarter 3 2023	
1 2 3 4 5 Enter Plan Details Select Regulation Select Organizations Select Object(s) Review O	6 Confirmation
* Regulation: Sarbanes Oxley * Evaluation Results Sharing: Do not share Share with some regulations. Share with all regulations	
	\checkmark
<	>
Previous Next Cancel Finish	Activate Plan

Figure 6.15 Don't Share Regulations Option while Defining the Evaluation Results Sharing

Plan	ner							
•	1 2 Enter Plan Details Select Regulation	3 Select Organizati	ions	4 Select Object((s) F	- 5 Review	Confirma	ation
* Ev	* Regulation: Sarbanes Oxley aluation Results Sharing: O Do not share	 ✓ Share with some re 	egulatio	ns 🔵 Share	with all r	egulations		
Ava	ilable		Selec	ted				
Ē	Regulation	•		Regulation				
	Companies Act	₩		IFRS				
	FDA							_
	SOX	•						_
								_
								_
		Notes						
Shari	ing of evaluation results defines the potential for	sharing.Actual sharir	ng depe	nds upon assigr	nments ir	n each con	trol.	~
<								>
~				Previous	Next	Cancel	Finish	Activate Plan

Figure 6.16 Share with Some Regulations Option while Defining the Evaluation Results Sharing

Create Plan							
Plan Activity Perform Control Design As	sessment Period Quarter	3 2023					
▶ 1 2	3		4 5		6 -		
Enter Plan Details Select Regu	lation Select Organizat	tions Select (Object(s) Review	Conf	irmation		
rganizations			ç	Sele	cted		
Show: ALL	View: Y Expand All	Collapse All			Organization	Valid from	Valid to
Find Find Next Description]			Tnow Basis	01.01.2022	31,12,9999
Crganization	Valid from	Valid to	1				
Electric Power	28.07.2023	31.12.9999	-				
	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	-				
▼ Lest							
Thow Basis	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	-				
Test Tnow Basis	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	Add >				
Thow Basis	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	Add > Add with children >				

Figure 6.17 Organizations Selected for Filtering the Controls for Assessment

Planr	ner						
С	reate Plan						
Pla	n Activity Perform (Control Design Assessme	nt Period Quarter 3 2023	Selected Organizat	ion 1		
•	1 Enter Plan Details	2 Select Regulation	3 Select Organizations	4 Select Object(s)	5 Review	6 Confirmation	-
	Selection Procedure:	 Select All Controls 	Select by Control Attri	butes O Select S	pecific Controls	;	
				Previous	ext Cancel	Finish Act	ivate Plan

Figure 6.18Select All Controls Option whileScheduling the Planner

Planner		
Create Plan		
Plan Activity Perform C	ontrol Design Assessment Period Quarter 3 2023 Selected Organization 1	
Enter Plan Details	2 3 4 5 6 Select Regulation Select Organizations Select Object(s) Review Confirmation	
Selection Proced	ure: Select All Controls Select by Control Attributes Select Specific Controls	
Select attributes wh	ich you want to use as filters	
Control Category:	Direct ELC IT General Control Transactional-Level Control	
Significance:	Key Control Standard Control	
Control Automat:	Automated Manual Semi-Automated	
Test Automation:	Automated Manual Semi-Automated	
Operation Frequ:	Annual Bi-Weekly Continual Daily Monthly	
	Quarterly Semi-Monthly Weekly ALL	
Control Risk:	High Low Medium	
Level of Evidence:	Tier 1: No Testing Tier 2: Self-Assessment Tier 3: Control Design Assessment + Control Effectiveness	N/A
Without Evaluation Result:	Yes	
Changed After:	1	
	Previous Next Cancel Finish Activate	Plan

Figure 6.19 Select by Control Attributes Option while Scheduling the Planner

Plan	ner								
Create Plan									
Pla	Plan Activity Perform Control Design Assessment Period Quarter 3 2023 Selected Organization 1								
•	Image: Constraint of the second se								
Sele	ect Controls								
						F			
Ē	Control	Subprocess	Organization	Control Category	Control ID	Evaluations			
	Global Accounting Manual Financial Reporting Tnow Basis Direct ELC CONTROL/R/50001190 0								
							\checkmark		
	Previous Next Cancel Finish Activate Plan								

Figure 6.20 Select Specific Controls Option while Scheduling the Planner

Planner									
Create Plan									^
Selected Organization	on 1								
▶ 1 Enter Plan Detai	2 Is Select Regulation	3 Select Organ	nizations	4 Select Object(s)	5 Review	Со	6	-	
Some objects dor	n't have recipients. Click on	Objects without	Recipients for	more information	1.				
Plan Details									
Plan Name:	Design Assessment_Q3	2023							
Plan Activity:	Perform Control Design A	ssessment							
Survey:	Survey for Control Design	n_01							
Via E-mail:	No								
Period:	Quarter 3								
Year:	2023								
Start Date:	28.07.2023								
Due Date:	10.08.2023								
Selected Organizations:	1								
Selection									
Selection Procedure:	Select Specific Controls								
Control Selected:	1	View Objects	Objects with	out Recipients					~
					Previous	Next	Cancel	Finish	Activate Plan

Figure 6.21Plan Details Selected for Schedulingthe Planner

Objects without Recipients								
Objects without Recipie	ents							
Objects	Organization	Valid from Date	Valid to Date					
Global Accounting Manual	Tnow Basis	28.07.2023	31.12.9999					
				_				
				-				
				Close				

Figure 6.22 Review Screen to Check the Objects with No Recipients Assigned

elected Objects and P	Recipients			<u>^</u>
Objects	Organization	Recipients	Valid From	Valid To
Global Accounting Manual	Tnow Basis	Karthika G,Sandeep (Fallback Recipient)	28.07.2023	31.12.99
				_
too. The above list above abi	aste based upon opeh objection	velidity data and status. Herveyer, if a	waar abanaaa an ahia	at the objects
ites The above list shows obje	ects based upon each objects v	validity date and status. However, if a	ruser changes an obje	ci, ille objects

Figure 6.23Review Screen to Check theRecipients of the Workflow for Each Object Control

Planner					
Create Plan					
Enter Plan Details Select Regulation	3 Select Organizations	4 Select Object(s)	5 Review	6 ⊣ Confirmation	
Oesign Assessment_Q3 2023 saved					
You have created a Perform Control Design Assess	ment				
What do you want to do next ?					
Create New Plan					
		Prev	ious Next	Cancel Finish	Activate Plan

Figure 6.24Confirmation Message for theScheduled Job Using the Planner



Figure 6.25 Stages in the Design Assessment Workflow with Owners' Information



Figure 6.26 Flowchart Depicting the Stages of Control Design Assessment



Figure 6.27 Stages Involved When the Design Assessment Is Adequate



Figure 6.28 Work Inbox Option in the My Home Work Center
A	Active Queries											
	Workitems All (76) Access Management (0) Process Control (76) Risk Management (0)											
v	Norkitems - Process Control											
								Change Query Define New (Query Personalize			
	View	r: * [Standard View]						Print Version	Export 🛓 🔒			
	Ē	Subject T	Organization	Regulation	Status	Due Date	Created On 🏾 🌹	Object Name	Created By T			
		Perform Control Design Assessment	Tnow Basis	Sarbanes Oxley	Ready	10.08.2023	28.07.2023 15:38:24	Global Accounting Manual	Karthika G			

for Action

Figure 6.29 Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending

Control Desig	gn Assessme	nt: Global	Accounting	g Manı	ual				^
Assessment Period: (Quarter 3 2023	Status: Draft	Organization:	Tnow Bas	sis Process:	BS00 Subp	rocess: F	inancial Report	ing
								You Can A	Also
Evaluation Regul	ation Control Details	Requirement	Account Groups	Risks A	Attachments and Links				
Questions									
								Report Iss	sue
Question					Answer		Co	mments	
Is the design of the c	ontrol meeting the stand	dards of ICS of the	e organization?		Yes		✓ Ad	d Comment	
General Data									
* Rating:	Not Defined	~	>						
Comments:									
									~
<									>
							Submit	Save Draft	Cancel

Figure 6.30 Questions and Answers in the Control Design Assessment

Att	ribute	DESIGN_RATING
Tex	ct	Control Design Rating
Со	ntrol Design	Rating
	Value	Text
	G	Adequate 🗘
	R	Significantly Deficient
	Y	Deficient

Figure 6.31 Navigation to the Specify Names for Ratings Configuration Step

Co	ontrol D	esign A	ssessme	nt: Globa	Account	ing Man	ual					^
Ass	essment Per	riod: Quarter 3	3 2023	Status: Draft	Organization: T	now Basis	Process	BS00	Subprocess:	Financial	Reporting	
											You Can Also	.
E	Evaluation	Regulation	Control Details	Requirement	Account Group	s Risks	Attachments	and Links				
At	tachment	s										
											Add 🔤 🔒	Þ
	Туре	Title	V	/ersion	File Size	File Type	Ado	led On	Added By	Ai	Add File	
											Add Link	
												Ť
										Submit	Save Draft	Cancel

Figure 6.32 Options Available for the Control Owner to Upload Evidences

Act	Active Queries												
w	Workitems All (84) Access Management (0) Process Control (83) Risk Management (1)												
Wo	Vorkitems - Process Control												
							Change Query Define New	Query Personalize					
Vie	ew: * [Standard View] 🗸						Print Version	Export]					
P	Subject T	Organization	Regulation	Status	Due Date	Created On	Object Name	Created By					
	Review Control Design Assessment	Test	Sarbanes Oxley	Ready	14.07.2023	12.09.2023 19:47:58	Monitor users with SAP_All access	Karthika G					

Figure 6.33 Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending for Action

Control Desig	gn Asses	sment: Mo	nitor users	s with SA	P_All ac	cess				
Assessment Period: Ye	ear 2023	Status: Revi	ew Organia	zation: Test	Process:	IT General Co	ontrols Se	ubprocess: Ac	cess Manag	ement
									You	Can Als
Evaluation Issues	Regulation	Control Details	Monitoring Jobs	Requirement	Account Gro	oups Risks	Attachments an	nd Links		
Questions										
									Rep	ort Issue
Question						Answer		Comments	;	
Is the design of the co	ontrol meeting th	e standards of ICS	of the organizatio	n?		No				
General Data										
* Rating:	Significantly D	Deficient								
Comments:										
Documents:	0 Attachments									
Performed by:	SAIKRISHNA1	SAIKRISHNA1				Performed Da	te: 12.09.2023			
Reviewer Comment										
Reviewed by:	SANDEEPL Sa	andeep				Review Da	te: 05.09.2023			
Reviewer Comment:	reject									
<										>
Review Control Des	sign Assessmen	t						Approve	Reject	Cance

Figure 6.34 Evaluations Tab from the Control Design Assessment Review Work Item



Figure 6.35 Assessment Result = Deficient/Significantly Deficient

Cont	trol Desi	gn Assessmei	nt: Monitor	Duplicate	e Invoice C	heck	Config					
Assessi	ment Period:	Second Half of Year 2023	3	Status: Draft	Organization:	Test	Proces	E Procure to	Pay Subp	process:	Invoice Proce	essing
												You Can Also
Evalu	uation Regul	ation Control Details	Monitoring Jobs	Requirement	Account Groups	Risks	Attachme	nts and Links				
Quest	tions											Penort Issue
No	Question							Answer		Cor	nments	Report issue
1	Are all the co	mpany codes in scope o	f the control are acc	urate and valid?				No, new company codes cre 🗸 Add Comment				
1.1	Is the design	of the control meeting th	e standards of ICS	of the organizati	on?			No		✓ Add	Add Comment	
Genera	I Data											
	* Rating:	Not Defined										
	Comments:	Not Defined										
		Adequate										
		Significantly Deficient										
	Documents:	0 Attachments										
	Performed by:								Perform	ned Date		
Admini	stration											
	Modified By:								Mo	dified On	:	

Figure 6.36 Response Screen for the Design Assessment Survey

Report Issue		□ ×
* Issue Name:	New company codes are not in scope of the	1
* Priority:	High 🗸	
* Owner:	KARTHIKA 🗇	
Description:	New Company codes added in scope of the organization are not considered in the control	
Compensating Controls:	NA	
Potential Impact:	Risk of duplicate invoices being processed or the new company codes	
		OK Cancel

Figure 6.37Report Issue Screen

Control Design Assessment: Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config											
Assessment Period: Second Half of	Year 2023	Status: Draf	t Organizatio	on: Test F	Process: Proc	cure to Pay	Subp	rocess: Invoice	e Processing		
									You Ca	an Also	
Evaluation Issues Regulation	Control Details	Monitoring Jobs	Requirement	Account Groups	Risks A	ttachments	and Links				
Issues											
				Assign Rer	mediation Plar	n Close	Without Plan	Reassign the i	ssue Void	7	
Name		Priority	Туре	Status	Reported	Repor	ted Date	Owner	Audit Trail		
New company codes are not in	scope of the control	High	Control Des	s Draft	Karthika G	05.09.2	2023	Karthika G	Audit Trail		
New company codes are not in sco	ope of the control										
* Owner: KARTHIKA											
Description:	es added in scope t considered in the	of the	Potential Impact: Risk of duplicate invoices being process) processed o	r the			
								Sub	mit Save	Draft	Cance

Figure 6.38 Issues Tab and Options

Cor	ntrol Desig	gn Assessment: I	Ionitor Dupl	icate Invo	ice Check	Config	g				^		
Asses	sment Period: 8	Second Half of Year 2023	Status: F	Review Org	anization: Test	Proc	cess: Procure to Pay	Subpro	ocess: Invoice Pro	essing			
										You Can	Also		
Eva	aluation Issues	Regulation Control Deta	ils Monitoring Jobs	Requirement	Account Groups	Risks	Attachments and Links						
Oue	Questions												
Que	Report Issue												
No	No Question Answer Comments												
1	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?						No, new company codes creating NO		NO				
1.1	Is the design	of the control meeting the stan	dards of ICS of the org	anization?			No						
Gene	al Data												
	* Rating:	Significantly Deficient	×										
	Comments:	NO											
	Documents:	0 Attachments											
	Performed by:	KARTHIKA Karthika G					Performed Date: 05.0	9.2023			~		
<											>		
💙 Re	view Control Des	sign Assessment							Approve	Reject	Cancel		

Figure 6.39 Approve and Reject Buttons in Review Assessment

Control Design Assessm	nent: Monito	or Duplio	cate Invoi	ce Chec	k Config					~	
Assessment Period: Second Half of Year 2	2023 Stat	tus: Validate	d Organizat	ion: Test	Process: Pro	cure to Pay Su	bprocess: Invoi	ce Processing			
Evaluation Issues Regulation Co	ontrol Details Moni	toring Jobs	Requirement	Account Grou	ps Risks A	ttachments and Links					
Issues											
Assign Remediation Plan Close Without Plan Reassign the issue											
Name Priority Type Status Reported Reported Date Owner Audit Trail											
New company codes are not in scope of the control High Control De Validated Karthika G 05.09.2023 Karthika G Audit Trail											
New company codes are not in scope of	the control										
* Owner: KAR	RTHIKA				Carryforw	ard: No Carryforwa	rd				
Description: New	v Company codes ad	ded in scope	of the		Potential Imp	act: Risk of duplica	te invoices being	processed or the	e		
organization are not considered in the control new company codes											
Compensating Controls: NA										~	
Remediate Issue: Control Design Assessment Submit Cancel											

Figure 6.40 Issue Remediation Options

Assign Remedia	ation Plan]	\square ×
* Plan Name:	Duplicate Inv Checks		
* Start Date:	05.09.2023	1	
* Due Date:	26.09.2023	1	
* Owner:	KARTHIKA		
* Description:	Check for invoices created against the company code and confirm about any duplicate invoices		
		OK	Cancel

Figure 6.41Assign Remediation Plan ScreenOptions

Control Design Asse	essment: Monitor	r Duplicate Invoi	ice Check Co	nfig		
Assessment Period: Second Half	of Year 2023	Status: Validated	Organization: Test	Process: Procure to Pay	Subprocess: Invoice	Processing
Evaluation Issues Regulation	on Remediation Plan Cor	ntrol Details Monitoring Jo	bs Requirement A	Account Groups Risks Atta	chments and Links	
Remediation Plan						
					Reassign the F	Plan Start the Plan
Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Plan Owner	Audit Trail
Duplicate Inv Checks	New Company Codes are	Karthika G	05.09.2023	26.09.2023	Sandeep Lakkam	Audit Trail
Duplicate Inv Checks	Sandoon Lakkam			t Olari Data'	05.00.2022	
Processor	Sandeep Lakkam			* Due Date:	26.09.2023	
Description	Check for invoices created	against the company		Carryforward Status:	No Carryforward	
	code and confirm about ar	y duplicate invoices		Reviewed By:		
				Reviewed On:		
Туре	Control Design Assessme	nt Issue		Created By:	Karthika G	
•				Created On:	05 00 2023	
Create Remediation Plan: Contr	ol Design Assessment					Submit Cance

Figure 6.42 Remediation Plan Options

Control Design Asse	essment: Monito	r Duplicate Invo	oice Check C	onfig		
Assessment Period: Second Half of	of Year 2023	Status: Validated	Organization: Test	Process: Procure to Pay	y Subprocess: Invoice P	Processing
Evaluation Issues Regulation	on Remediation Plan Co	ntrol Details Monitoring J	Jobs Requirement	Account Groups Risks Att	tachments and Links	
				As	sign Next Processor Complete	Change Due Date
Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Plan Owner	Audit Trail
Duplicate Inv Checks	New Company Codes are	Karthika G	05.09.2023	26.09.2023	Sandeep Lakkam	Audit Trail
Duplicate Inv Checks						
Owner	Sandeep Lakkam			* Start Date:	05.09.2023	
Processor	Sandeep Lakkam			* Due Date:	26.09.2023	
Description	Check for invoices create	d against the company		Carryforward Status:	No Carryforward	
	code and commit about a	ny duplicate involces		Reviewed By:		
				Reviewed On:		

Figure 6.43Remediation Plan ImplementationOptions

Evaluation Issues Regula	ation Remediation Plan	Control Details	Monitoring Jobs	Requirement	Account Groups	s Risks	Attachment	s and Links		
emediation Plan										-
							Assign Nex	t Processor	Complete	Change Due Date
Name	Issue Name	Issue Own	er	Start Date	Due	e Date		Plan Owne	r	Audit Trail
Duplicate Inv Checks	New Company Codes an	e Karthika G		05.09.2023	26.0	09.2023		Sandeep La	akkam	Audit Trail
Duplicate Inv Checks	ner: Sandeep Lakkam					* Start Da	te: 05.09.2	2023		
Process	sor: Sandeep Lakkam					* Due Da	te: 26.09.2	2023		
Descripti	ion: Check for invoices cre code and confirm abo	ated against the ut any duplicate i	company nvoices		Carry	forward Stat	us: No Ca	ryforward		
						Reviewed I	By:			
						Created	By: Karthik	a G		
Ty	pe: Control Design Asses	sment Issue				Created 0	Dn: 05.09.2	2023		
Complet	ion: H00%									
Reported	By: Karthika G		~							
Reported										

Figure 6.44 Options to Complete the Remediation Plan

	of Year 2023	Status: N	/alidated (Organization: Tes	t Proc	ess: Procu	re to Pay Subj	process: Invoic	e Processi
aluation Issues Regulation	on Remediation Plan Co	ntrol Details	Monitoring Jobs	Requirement	Account Grou	ps Risks	Attachments and Links		
ediation Plan								Close	Reopen
Name	Issue Name	Issue Ow	ner	Start Date	Due D	ate	Plan Owner	Audit	Trail
Duplicate Inv Checks	New Company Codes are	. Karthika C	3	05.09.2023	26.09.	2023	Sandeep Lakkam	Audit	Trail

Figure 6.45 Remediation Plan Options



Figure 6.46 Comments Screen in the Close without Plan Option



Figure 6.47Stages in the Self-AssessmentWorkflow with the Respective Owners



Figure 6.48 Flowchart That Details the Flow of Control Self-Assessment

Control											
Control: FA Accour	nt Deterr	mination C	onfiguration								
Parent Organization: TNOW-US		Par	ent Subprocess: Fixed	Assets		Allow	Local (Changes: Yes			ID: 5000
Timeframe: 04.09 2023		Effe	active Date: 04.09.2023	3							
K General Regulations Perform	rmance Plan	Business Rules	Control Performance	Evaluation	Monitoring Jobs	Require	ment	Access Risks	Risks	Account Groups	Owners
Mitigating Control ID:					* Vi	alid From:	27.0	7.2023			
* Name:	FA Account	Determination Con		Valid To:	31.1	2.9999					
Description:	Only valid cl	changes are made to the account determination configuration			on	* Trigger:	⊖ Ev	vent 💿 Date			
	to ensure ac general ledg	curate recording of are account	Operation F	Operation Frequency: Monthly							
	33	,			* To B	* To Be Tested: • Yes 🛛 No					
					* Test Au	tomation:	• Au	itomated 📀	Manual	Semi-Automation	ted
					Testing T	echnique:					
Control or Process Step:	 Control 	O Process Step				Input:					
Control Category:	Transaction	al-Level Control			¥						
Significance:	Key Control				¥	Output:					
Level of Evidence:	Use Syste	em Suggested Tier	r 3: Control Design Asse	ssment + C	¥						

Figure 6.49Access Local Control from anOrganization through Transaction NWBC

Control									
Cor	ntrol: FA Ac	count Deterr	nination C	onfiguration					
Parent Organization: TNOW-US Parent Subprocess: Fixed Assets Allow Local Changes: Yes Timeframe: 04.09 2023 Effective Date: 04.09.2023									
K Gen	eral Regulations	Performance Plan	Business Rules	Control Performance	Evaluation	Monitoring Jobs	Requirement	Access Risks	Risks
								Add	Remove
	Step	Description	Evi	dence Required	Comments R	equired Sec	uence	Step Per	former
	1 The table does n	ot contain any data							

Figure 6.50Performance Plan Tab from a LocalControl

Activ	ctive Queries											
Plan	ans Process Control & Risk Management (17)											
Plan	lans - Process Control & Risk Management											
Sho	Show Quick Criteria Maintenance											
View	w: *[Standard View] • Open Create Cancel Delete Copy Split Notification											
	Schedule Name	Schedule Activity	Created On	Changed On	Organizations	Start Date	Due Date	Status				
	Design Assessment_Q3 2023	Perform Control Design Assessment	04.09.2023 10:57:15	04.09.2023 10:57:15	1	04.09.2023	11.09.2023	Completed				
	Manual Test of Effectiveness_Q2 2023	Test Control Effectiveness	30.07.2023 09:53:00	30.07.2023 09:53:00	1	30.07.2023	05.08.2023	Completed				
	Design Assessment_Q3 2023	Perform Control Design Assessment	28.07.2023 15:38:21	28.07.2023 15:38:21	1	28.07.2023	10.08.2023	Completed				
	MCP_Q3 2023	Manual Control Performance	28.07.2023 15:20:58	28.07.2023 15:20:58	1	28.07.2023	01.08.2023	Completed				
	MCP_Q3 2023	Manual Control Performance	28.07.2023 08:50:16	28.07.2023 08:50:16	1	04.09.2023	05.09.2023	In Process				
	Design Assessment_Q2 2023	Perform Control Design Assessment	27.06.2023 17:10:34	27.06.2023 17:10:34	1	27.06.2023	14.07.2023	Completed				
	Design Assessment_Q2	Perform Control Design Assessment	25.06.2023 16:44:12	25.06.2023 16:44:12	1	25.06.2023	30.06.2023	Completed				

Figure 6.51Plans: Process Control & RiskManagement

Planner	
Create Pla	an
Enter Plan	2 3 4 5 6 Details Select Regulation Select Organizations Select Object(s) Review Confirmation
* Plan Name:	MCP_Q3_2023
* Plan Activity:	Manual Control Performance
* Recurring Plan:	Yes ONo
* Recurring Range:	From 04.09.2023
	To 04.11.2023 🔳 🚺
* Frequency:	Weekly V Recurrence Text: Week
* Recurrence:	Every 01 Week(s) Monday 🗸
* Due Date Lag:	001 Days
* Period:	Quarter 3
* Year:	2023
<	>
	Previous Next Cancel Finish Activate Plan

Figure 6.52Create Plan: Definition Screen

Planner	
Create Plan	
Plan Activity Manual Control Performance	
1 2 3 4 5 6 Enter Plan Details Select Regulation Select Organizations Select Object(s) Review Confirmation	
* Regulation: SOX * Evaluation Results Sharing: • Do not share Share with some regulations Share with all regulations	-
Previous Next Cancel Finish Activate	lan

Figure 6.53Select Regulation Option whileScheduling the Planner

lan	iner								
C	reate Plan								
Pla	an Activity Manual Control Performa	nce							
+	12		3	4		5	6	-	
	Enter Plan Details Select Reg	ulation Se	lect Organiza	ations Select Object(s)	Review (Confirmation		
Drg	anizations				Sel	ected			
Sho	w: ALL 🗸	View: 🗸			Ē	Organization	Valid from	Valid to	
Ex	pand All Collapse All Find Fir	nd Next Des	cription			TNOW-US	25.06.2021	31.12.9999	
Ō	Organization	Valid f	Valid to						
	▼ Test	01.01	31.12						
	TNOW-US	25.06	31.12						
	Tnow Basis	01.01	31.12						
				Add >					
				Add with children >					
				< Remove					
				< Remove All					
						<u> </u>			

Figure 6.54 Organizations Selected for Filtering the Controls for Assessment

Plan	ner					
С	reate Plan					
Pla	n Activity Manual Control Perfo	rmance Selecte	d Organization	1		
•	Enter Plan Details Select	2 Regulation	3 Select Organizati	ons Select Object(s)	5 6 Review Confirmation	-
Solo	Selection Procedure: O Select	ct All Controls	Select by Co	ntrol Attributes 💿 Select Sp	ecific Controls	
Sele	ct controis					8
	Control	Subprocess	Organization	Control Category	Control ID	Evaluations
	Changes to asset master data	Fixed Assets	TNOW-US	Transactional-Level Control	CONTROL/L/50001182	0

Figure 6.55Selection of Controls in the CreatePlan Screen

Planner					Ľ
Enter Plan Detai	2 ils Select Regulation	3 Select Organizations	4 Select Object(s)	5 Review	6 Confirmation
Plan Details					
Plan Name:	MCP_Q3_2023				
Plan Activity:	Manual Control Performance	e			
Period:	Quarter 3				
Year:	2023				
Range From:	04.09.2023				
Range To:	04.11.2023				
Frequency:	Weekly				
Recurrence Text:	Week				
Recurrence:	Every 1 Week(s) Monday				
Due Date Lag:	001				
Selected Organizations:	1				
Selection					
Selection Procedure:	Select Specific Controls				>
			Previous Next	Cancel	Finish Activate Plan

Figure 6.56 Review Screen

Planner						ß
Create Plan						
Enter Plan Details	2 Select Regulation	3 Select Organizations	4 Select Object(s)	5 Review	6 Confirmation	-
MCP_Q3_2023 saved	d Control Performance					
What do you want to do ne Create New Plan	ext?					
			Previous	Next Cance	el Finish Act	ivate Plan

Figure 6.57Confirmation Message for theScheduled Job Using the Planner



Figure 6.58 Stages in Control Performance with Owners' Information



Figure 6.59 Flowchart Depicting the Stages of Control Performance

Manual Control Performance: MCP_Q3 2023									
Manual Control Performance Control Name: Changes to asset master data Parent Subprocess: Fixed Assets Period: Qu Organization: TNOW-US						Ne Period: Quarter 3 20	W 23		
E2 Steps	Control Info	Forward Info							
Steps (3)									¢
Step	Description	Evidence R	Comments	Sequence	Step Perfor	Due Date	Status	Last Updat	
Asset Register	Obtain the list of assets acquired during the test period	Yes	Yes	001	SAIKRISHNA 1	Sep 5, 2023	In Process		>
Capitalizati on	validate the asset capitalization including the expenses incurred	Yes	Yes	002	Sandeep Lakkam	Sep 5, 2023	Pending		>
									Forward

Figure 6.60 Control Performance Work Item

<	Manual Control Performance Step	
General Info		
Descri	Step: Asset Register ption: Obtain the list of assets acquired during the	
Evidence Req Comments Reg	uired: Yes	
Com	ment: List of assets acquired during the month f July is gathered and attached herewith	
Evidence (1)		+ 🖉
Туре	Name	Uploaded By
	Asset Register.xlsx	WF-BATCH Sep 4, 2023, 7:01:19 PM
	Save	Set to Done Report Issue

Figure 6.61 Options for the Control Performer to Complete the Step Assigned



Figure 6.62 Control Performance Work Item with Steps Set to Done



Figure 6.63 Option to Forward the Performance Step

K Manual Control Performance Step						
General Info						
Step:	Asset Register					
Description:	Obtain the list of assets acquired during the test period					
Evidence Required:	Yes					
Comments Required:	Yes					
Comment:	List of assets acquired during the month f July is gathered and attached herewith					
Evidence (1)				+	P	
Type Name			Uploaded By			
Asset	Asset Register.xlsx		WF-BATCH Sep 4, 2023, 7:01:19 PM			
		Save	Set to Done	Report I	ssue	

Figure 6.64 Report Issue Option
SAP	Ad H	loc Issue:
Status: Draft Created By: SAI	KRISHNA1 Created On: 04.09.2023 Updated By: U	Jpdated On:
Issue Details Regula	tion Attachments and Links	
* Name:	Capitalization of few assets is not done	✓ Notes
* Description:	Capitalization of few assets is not done	
		T Add Note
* Priority:	High	
Object Type:	Control	
Object Name:	Changes to asset master data)pen
Owner:	KARTHIKA	7
Source:	Manual Control Performance	/
* Issue Date:	04.09.2023	
Due Date:	11.09.2023	
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail	

Figure 6.65 Submission of an Ad Hoc Issue as Part of Manual Control Performance



Figure 6.66 Options Available for the Reviewer as Part of Control Performance

Mass Editing Performance	e Plans	
•		
Mode		
 Export Performance Plan Import Performance Plan 		
Selection		
 Local Control Central Control Organization Local control Select languages Multiple languages 		to 🖻
Date From	04.09.2023	

Figure 6.67 Selection Screen in Mass Editing Performance Plans

1					
2	Control ID	Control Name	💌 Plan Step Name 💌	Plan Step Description	Commen
3	CONTROL/L/50000884	Mitigation Control ID for BASIS			
4	CONTROL/L/50000899	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config			
5	CONTROL/L/50001167	Monitor users with SAP_All access			
6	CONTROL/L/50001180	FA Account Determination Configuration			
7	CONTROL/L/50001181	assignmt of Screen Layout for G.data det			
8	CONTROL/L/50001182	Changes to asset master data	Asset Register	Obtain the list of assets acquired during the test period	х
9			Capitalization	validate the asset capitalization including the expenses incurred	Х
10			Report Issue	Report Issue and track it for closure if there are any deviations observed in the process	х
11	CONTROL/L/50001202	Account Reconciliations	Extract report	Extract the GL Account Report	Х
12	CONTROL/L/50001229	Monitor users with SAP_All and SAP_New			
13	CONTROL/L/50001230	Users with developer access in Productio			
14	CONTROL/L/50001231	Monitor Super User account maintenance			
15	CONTROL/L/50001232	Direct profile assignments			

Figure 6.68 Performance Plans Template

		Α					
1	40010 40010	D					
2	BASIS TG_B	ASIS					
3	BGUSER BG	USER					
4	DRISHTI DR	ISHTI					
5	GRC RPA Au	to Firefighter Control	ler GRCBOT001				
6	Homepage	Guest End User EUHO	ME				
7	KRISHNA K	RISHNA					
8	Karthika G	KARTHIKA					
9	9 LEPAKSHI LEPAKSHI						
10	0 Line Manager 300001						
11	RAGHU RAG	GHU					
12	RFC SCT SC	T_USER					
13	Shyam SB						
14	VARUN VA	RUN					
15	VISHNU VIS	SHNU					
16	VISNHU VIS	SNHU					
17	WF-BATCH	WF-BATCH					
18	bandi NAR	ESH					
	4 - F	Performance Plan	Performers				

Figure 6.69Performers Sheet in the PerformancePlan Template

Display logs						
🥞 📀 🗞 Technical Information 🔳						
Date/Time/User	Nu	Extornal ID	Transac	Modo	Log pumber	
	NU	Excellial ID	CE20	Diplog proces		22
	0		3530	Dialog proces	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	33
Problem class Other	8					
«III	ا 🖌	b ø.b.	🖽 🕽 I 💼	0 🖲 🛆 3	5	
Ty Message Text						
Content importing/exporting started	d at 20	23-09-04 16:52:05	5			
Control 50001182, step Asset Regis	ter, wi	I be created in En	glish languag	e version.		
Control 50001182, step Capitalizatio	n, will	be created in Engl	ish language	version.		
Control 50001182, step Report Issu	e, will	be created in Engl	ish language	version.		
Content importing/exporting ended	at 202	3-09-04 16:52:06				

Figure 6.70Successful Log after Uploading thePerformance Plan Template

Mar	ual Test Plans									
Show	w: Year	2023	B V Apply				Create	Open A	ssign to 🛓	T
	Test Plan Name		Description					Valid From	Valid To	
	Balance Sheet account reconcil	ations	Balance Sheet account recon	ciliations				01.01.2023	31.12.999	99
	Global Accounting Manual		Global Accounting Manual Te	est Procedures				01.01.2023	31.12.999	99
Con	trols for Test Plan:Glob	al Ac	counting Manual							
										T
	Control Name	Descri	ption	Control Type	Indirect ELC	Regulation	Organizati	on Valid Fr	om Valid 1	То
	Changes to asset master data	Chang	es to asset master data	Copied		SOX	TNOW-US			
	Global Accounting Manual	Global	Accounting Manual	Central		SARBANES OXLEY				

Figure 6.71Manual Test Plans Maintenance Screen

Timeframe: Year 2023 Effective Date: 01.01.2023 General Attachments and Links * Test Name: * Valid From: 01.01.2023 * Valid To: 31.12.9999 Test Steps Add Remove Up Down Step Number * Step Name Step Number * Step Name Step Number Step Name Step Name<	inual Test Plan	S							ß	>
General Attachments and Links * Test Name: * Valid From: 01.01.2023 Description: * Valid To: 31.12.9999 Test Steps Add Remove Up Down Step Number * Step Description Step or Test Required Fail Ends Test Initial Sample Sampling M	Timeframe: Year 202	23		Effective D	ate: 01.01.20	023				
* Test Name: * Valid From: 01.01.2023 1 Description: * Valid To: 31.12.9999 1 Test Steps Add Remove Up Down Step Number * Step Description Step or Test Required Fail Ends Test Initial Sample Sampling M	General Attach	ments and Links	•							ļ
I est Steps Add Remove Up Down Step Number *Step Description Step or Test Required Fail Ends Test Initial Sample Sampling M Step Number *Step Name *Step Description Step or Test Required Fail Ends Test Initial Sample Sampling M	* Test Name:		* Valid * Va	I From: 01.01. alid To: 31.12	.2023 .9999	T				
Step Number *Step Description Step or Test Required Fail Ends Test Initial Sample Sampling M Step Number *Step Name *Step Description Step or Test Required Fail Ends Test Initial Sample Sampling M	Test Steps						Add Rem	ove Up Down		
Save Can	Step Number	*Step Name	*Step Description	Step or Test	Required	Fail Ends Test	Initial Sample	Sampling M		

Figure 6.72 General Tab in the Manual Test Plan Definition

Mar	nual Test Pla	ans											
Sho	w: Year	~	202	3 🛩	Apply	1			Create	Open A	ssign to 🖌 😽		
	Test Plan Nam	е		Description						Valid Central Controls			
	Balance Sheet	account reconcilia	tions	Baland	ce Shee	et account recor	nciliations			Cen 01.01.2023	tral Indirect ELCs	\$	
	Balance Sheet	account reconcilia	tions	Baland	ce Shee	et account recor	nciliations			01.01.2023	31.12.9999		
	Global Account	ting Manual		Global	Accou	nting Manual Te	est Procedures			01.01.2023	31.12.9999		
Cor	ntrols for Te	st Plan:Balar	ice S	Sheet a	accol	unt reconci	liations						
											T		
	Control Name	Description				Control Type	Indirect ELC	Regulation	Organizati	on Valid Fro	m Valid To		

Figure 6.73 Central Controls Option in Manual Test Plans for the Control Assignment Screen

Ass	ign Test Plan to Co	ntrols	□ ×
Sel	ect Controls		^
			3
6	Control ID	Control	Subprocess
	CONTROL/X/50000709	IN_MC_P2P_PYTM_01	Payment Terms
	CONTROL/X/50000749	MONITOR_INACTIVE_USER-control	Tnow Basis
	CONTROL/X/50001067	Vendor master changes	Maintain Vendor Master Data
	CONTROL/X/50001071	Payments without goods recpt - ComCd	Perform Invoice Verification
<			>
			OK Cancel

Figure 6.74List of Manual Controls Available forAssignment to a Test Plan

Man	ual Test Plans								
Show	r. Year 🗸 2023	 ✓ Apply 				Create	Open	Assi	gn to 🖌 😽
	Test Plan Name	Description					Valid Fror	n V	alid To
	Balance Sheet account reconciliations	Balance Shee	t account recon		01.01.202	3 3	1.12.9999		
	Balance Sheet account reconciliations	Balance Shee	t account recon	ciliations			01.01.202	3 3	1.12.9999
	Global Accounting Manual	Global Accour	nting Manual Te	st Procedures			01.01.202	3 3	1.12.9999
Cont	trols for Test Plan:Balance S	heet accou	nt reconcil	iations					
			_						T
	Control Name	Description	Control Type	Indirect ELC	Regulation	Organizati	on Valid	From	Valid To
	Payments without goods recpt - ComCd	Payments without goods recpt - ComCd	Central						

Figure 6.75Controls for Test Plans: AssignmentScreen

Control														□ ×
Control: Account R	econcili	iations												
Parent Organization: Tnow Basis Timeframe: 05.09 2023		Parent	Subprocess: e Date: 05.09	GL Account Mai 9.2023	intenanc	e			Allow	Local Char	iges: Yes			ID:
K General Regulations Perfo	rmance Plan	Control Performance	Evaluation	Requirement	Acces	s Risks	Risks	Acco	unt Groups	Owners	Reports	Policies	Issues	Roles
Mitigating Control ID:							* Valid F	From:	01.01.2023	}				
* Name:	Account Re	conciliations					Vali	d To:	31.12.9999	0				
Description:							* Tri	gger:	Event	 Date 				
						Operati	on Frequ	ency:		<u></u>				
						*	To Be Te	sted:	• Yes	No				
						* Te	st Automa	ation:	 Automate 	ed 💿 M	anual () Semi-Aut	omated	
						Testi	ng Techn	ique:						
Control or Process Step:	 Control 	Process Step					Test	Plan:	Balance Sh	neet accour	nt reconcilia	tions		
Control Category:	Transaction	al-Level Control			~		I	nput:						
Significance:					~									
Level of Evidence:	🗸 Use Syste	em Suggested					Ou	utput:						
Control Risk:	🗸 Use Syste	em Suggested												
* Control Automation:	 Automate 	d 💿 Manual 🕓 S	emi-Automate	d										
* Purpose:	 Detective 	 Preventive 												
Nature:					~									
<														
<														>
													Save	Cancel

Figure 6.76Accessing the Local Control from anOrganization

itrol								
Control: Account Re	econciliations							
arent Organization: TNOW-US	Search: Test Plan	ant Cultura ana C	N. Account Maintar	Allow Less C	hongoo: Voc	= ×	ID: 4	50001264
meframe: Year 2023							-	
General Regulations Perfor	Search Criteria		I		Hide Sea	arch Criteria 🔞	toles	н 🗅
Mitigating Control ID:	Test Plan ID	~			ÐO			
* Name:	Test Plan Name	~			ÐO			1
Description:	Description	~			ÐO			
	Valid From	~		1	ÐΘ			~
	Search Clear Entries (Reset to Default						
	Results List: 3 results found	for Test Plan						~
Control or Process Step:	Test Plan ID	Test Plan Name		Description	Valid From	Valid To		
Control Category:	TESTPLAN/50001127	Global Accountir	ng Manual	Global Accounting Manual Tes.	. 01.01.2023	31.12.9999		
Significance.	TESTPLAN/50001193	Balance Sheet a	ccount reconc	Balance Sheet account reconc.	. 01.01.2023	31.12.9999		
Level of Evidence.	TESTPLAN/50001261	Balance Sheet a	ccount reconc	Balance Sheet account reconc.	. 01.01.2023	31.12.9999		
Control Risk:								
* Control Automation:								
* Purpose:							100	
			~					
Nature:								>

Figure 6.77 Selection of the Manual Test Plan



Figure 6.78 Stages in the Manual Control Testing Workflow with Owners' Information



Figure 6.79 Flowchart Depicting the Stages in the Test of Effectiveness



Figure 6.80 Stages Involved When the Control Effectiveness Test Result = Pass

riod: Quarte	r 4 2023 St	atus: Draft	Organi	ization: Tnow B	Basis	Process:	Record to Re	port	Subproces	s: GL Acc	ount Ma	aintenance
ral Regula	tion Control Perform	ance Cont	rol Details	Account Group	s Requir	ement Risks	Attachmen	ts and Links				
Steps												
									Report	Issue	ownloa	d Form Upload Form
tep Name	Step Description	Step/Test	Required	Fail En	Initial S	Sampli	Cumulati	Cumul	Revise	# Fail	R	Comments
nterview	Interview responsible personnel and understand the process and the frequency of the control	Step	Yes	Yes	0		0	0	0	0	~	Add Comment
ample collection	Select a sample of months/quarters and obtain the account reconciliations; verify that reconciliations were performed on a timely basis	Step	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	×	Add Comment
teconcilia	Verify that reconciliation items have been followed up and adjusted when necessary	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	~	Add Comment
pproval erification	Verity that the reconciliation has been adequately reviewed and approved	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	×	Add Comment

Figure 6.81 General Tab from the Control Effectiveness Manual Test Work Item

eriod: Quarte	r 4 2023 St	tatus: Draft	Organia	zation: Tnov	/ Basis	Process:	Record to Re	port	Subp	roces	s: GL Accour	t Maintenance
eral Regula	tion Control Perform	ance Cont	rol Details	Account Gro	ups Requir	ement Risk	s Attachmen	ts and Links				
Steps												
									F	Report	t Issue Dow	nload Form Upload Form
Step Name	Step Description	Step/Test	Required	Fail En	Initial S	Sampli	Cumulati	Cumul	R	#	Result	Comments
Interview	Interview responsible personnel and understand the process and the frequency of the control	Step	Yes	Yes	0		0	0	0	0	Done 🗸	Walkthrough sessions conducted
Sample Collection	Select a sample of months/quarters and obtain the account reconciliations; verify that reconciliations were performed on a timely basis	Step	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	~	Add Comment
Reconcilia	Verify that reconciliation items have been followed up and adjusted when necessary	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	~	Add Comment
Approval verification	Verity that the reconciliation has been adequately reviewed and approved.	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	~	Add Comment

Figure 6.82Responses to the Steps in ControlTesting

	Step Name	Step Description	Step/Test	Required	Fail En	Initial S	Sampli	Cumulati	Cumul	R	#	Result		Comments	^
	Interview	Interview responsible personnel and understand the process and the frequency of the control	Step	Yes	Yes	0		0	0	0	0	Done	~	Walkthrough sessions conducted	l
	Sample Collection	Select a sample of months/quarters and obtain the account reconciliations; verify that reconciliations were performed on a timely basis	Step	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	Done	~	Add Comment	
	Reconcilia	Verify that reconciliation items have been followed up and adjusted when necessary	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	Pass	~	Add Comment	
	Approval verification	Verity that the reconciliation has been adequately reviewed and approved.	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	Pass	*	Add Comment	
Test	Details														
	Test Name:	Log for Manual Test of	f Effectivenes	s Accoun			* Test	Date: 06.09.	2023				Ľ	1	
	Test Owner:	Karthika G					* Test R	esult: Pass					~	0	~
					Submit Save Draft Assign to Next Te									ester	

Figure 6.83Control Tester Providing the OverallControl Testing Result

eriod: Quarter	4 2023 St	atus: Review	Orga	nization: Tn	ow Basis	Proces	s: Record to Re	eport	Subproces	ss: GL Acc	ount Ma	iintenance
eral Regulat	ion Control Performa	nce Control	Details Ac	count Groups	Requireme	nt Risks	Attachments and	l Links				
Steps											Downlo	ad Form Upload Form
Step Name	Step Description	Step/Test	Required	Fail En	Initial S	Samplin	Cumulativ	Cumula	Revised	# Failed	R	Comments
Interview	Interview responsible personnel and understand the process and the frequency of the control	Step	Yes	Yes	0		0	0	0	0	Done	Walkthrough sessions conducted
Sample Collection	Select a sample of months/quarters and obtain the account reconciliations; verify that reconciliations were performed on a timely basis	Step	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	Done	Add Comment
Reconciliation	Verify that reconciliation items have been followed up and adjusted when necessary	Test	Yes	Yes	2	Random	0	0	0	0	Pass	Add Comment

Figure 6.84General Tab from the ControlEffectiveness Test Review Work Item



Figure 6.85 Stages Involved When the Control Effectiveness Test Result Is Fail

Co	ntrol Effec	tiveness Manı	ual Test:	Change	s to ass	et maste	er data							^
Test	Period: Second H	alf of Year 2023		Status: Draft	Orga	nization: TNC	W-US	Process:	Record To Re	port		Subpro	cess: Fixed Asse	ets
Ge	eneral Regulatio	n Control Performanc	e Control D	etails Accou	nt Groups F	Requirement	Risks Attac	hments and Link	S					
Tes	t Steps		_											
											Re	eport Issue	Download Form	Upload Form
	Step Name	Step Description	Step/Test	Required	Fail End	Initial Sa	Samplin	Cumulativ	Cumulat	R	#	Result	Comments	
	Step 1_Global	Obtain the latest Global Accounting Manual and access the intranet and verify that the accounting manual is accessible via intranet, the manual is up to date and the latest version has been uploaded to the intranet.	Step	Yes	Yes	0		0	0	0	0		 Add Commer 	nt
	Step 2_Global	Examine how and when personnel in charge communicated	Step	Yes	Yes	0		0	0	0	0		 Add Comme 	nt
												Subm	t Save Draft	Assign to Next Tester

Figure 6.86General Tab from the ControlEffectiveness Manual Test Work Item

Co	ntrol Effe	ctivenes	s Manual 1	Test: Ch	anges to a	asset m	aster da	ata						
Test	Period: Secon	d Half of Year 20	123	Sta	atus: Draft	Organiza	tion: TNOW-	·US	Process	Record To	Report	Subpro	cess: Fixed Asse	ts
Ge	eneral Regula	tion Control F	Performance Co	ontrol Details	Account Group	s Requirer	nent Risks	Attachments and	Links					
												seha riðtiriðaud	in 📊 Ađ Hóc ướn	rði Péhtofman
	Period		Year		Name		Regulatio	n		Status		Start Date	End Date	
	July		2023		MCP_Q3 2023		SOX			New		28.07.2023	01.08.202	3
	Quarter 3	er 3 2023			MCP_Q3 2023		SOX			New		31.07.2023	01.08.202	3
	Quarter 3	er 3 2023		MCP_Q3 2023		SOX			Done		07.08.2023	08.08.202	3	
	Quarter 3		2023		MCP_Q3 2023		SOX			New		14.08.2023	15.08.202	3
	Quarter 3		2023		MCP_Q3 2023		SOX			New		21.08.2023	22.08.202	3
Per	formance S	teps												
	Step	Description	Evidence Req	quired Com	ments Required	Sequence	Status	Last Changed On	Last C	hanged By	Comments	Control Evidence	Step Performer	Due Date
	Asset Registe	Obtain the list of assets acquired during the test period	Yes	Yes		001	In Process						SAIKRISHNA1	29.07.2023
<														>
												Submit Sav	e Draft Assign	to Next Tester

Figure 6.87Usage of Manual Control PerformanceResults as Part of Manual Control Testing

Control Ra	tings				Personalize
A tabular report sho	owing overall control ratings by o	rganization, process and subprocess			
Selection					^
Results					
					Print or Export
Organization	Subprocess	Control	Control Description	Significance	Control Design Rating (Sym)
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations	Key Control	
Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Vendor master changes	This rule tracks changes to critical fields of vendor master.	Key Control	
Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Duplicate invoice parameter changes	"This rule tracks changes to the system settings that prevent the same invoice from being posted more than once."	Key Control	
Power Generation	System Parameters	Monitor Password Parameter	Password Parameter Maintenance	Key Control	
Power Generation	Access Management	Monitor users with SAP_All access	Monitor users with SAP_All and SAP_New access	Key Control	
Power Generation	Access Management	Monitor users with SAP_All and SAP_New	Monitor users with SAP_All and SAP_New profiles access	Key Control	=
Power Generation	Access Management	Users with developer access in Productio	Users with developer access in Production System	Key Control	
Power Generation	Access Management	Monitor Super User account maintenance	Monitor Super User account maintenance	Key Control	
Power Generation	Access Management	Direct profile assignments	Monitor users with direct profile assignments	Key Control	
Test	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations	Key Control	Bignificantly Deficient
Test	Access Management	Monitor users with SAP_All access	Monitor users with SAP_All and SAP_New access	Key Control	
Test	Payment Terms	IN_MC_P2P_PYTM_01	India Manual Control P2P Payment Terms Control 01	Key Control	V
					Go Clear

Figure 6.88Control Ratings Report Providing theTest Results for the Controls

< SAP					С	hang	ge View "Enable Ad Ho	oc Issues
×	~	B	6%	\$.	00 00	BC Set: Change Field Values	Cancel [
Enable Ad Hoc Issues by O	bje	ect Typ	e	(
Entity		Ad Ho	2					
Activity	\sim			0				
Control	\sim	 Image: A start of the start of		н.				
Indirect Entity-Lev	\sim	✓						
Incident	\sim	✓						
KRI Implementation	\sim	\checkmark						
KRI Instance	\sim	\checkmark						
Loss Event	\sim	\checkmark						
Opportunity	\sim	 Image: A start of the start of						
Organization	\sim	✓						
Policy	\sim	\checkmark						
Process	\sim	\checkmark						
Regulation	\sim	✓						
Response	\sim	 Image: A start of the start of						
Risk	\sim	\checkmark						
🗌 Scenario Case	\sim	 Image: A start of the start of						
Monte Carlo Simulat	\sim	\checkmark						
Subprocess	\sim	✓						

Figure 7.1 Configuration to Review the SAP Process Control Entities Enabled for Ad Hoc Issues



Figure 7.2 Configuration to Maintain the Standard Entities in Scope of Ad Hoc Issues

< SAP		Chang	ge Vi	iew '	'Mai	ntenance view of Issue	е Туре
✓	✓ □ ◊ New Entries □ (⊖ 5		88	80	BC Set: Change Field Values	Cancel
Maintenance view of Iss	ue Type and text for GRC2010					@	
Source	Text						
ССМ	Continuous Monitoring					0	
СР	Manual Control Performance						
DB_NA	Data not available						
ICR_DB	Incorrect data entry						
□ INSP	Inspection						
SYS_D	System down						

Figure 7.3Option to Create New Entries in theSource List

< SAP									1	Vew	Entries
✓	~ 🖫	63	Θ		00	00	Cancel	ĹŶ	[]	C	. *
Maintenance view of Issue	e Type ar	nd tex	t for G	aRC2	010						(
Source	Text										
🗌 Insp	Inspection	n									0

Figure 7.4 New Entries Added to the Source List

< SAP			С	han	ge V	iew	"Mai	intenance view
✓	〇 協 参 New Entries	6	Θ	\$		80	00	BC Set: Change Fie
Maintenance view of Iss	ue Type and text for GRC2010							(C)
Source	Text							
ССМ	Continuous Monitoring							0
СР	Manual Control Performance							
DB_NA	Data not available							
ICR_DB	Incorrect data entry							
INSP	Inspection							
SYS_D	System down							

Figure 7.5Standard Source List for Ad Hoc Issues

< SAP			Ch	ange	e Vie	w
✓	✓ ☐ Ŷ New Entries	Θ	5	•	00	8
Relationship between Iss	ue Type and Entity					
Entity ID	Source					
ACTIVITY	ССМ					
ACTIVITY	DB_NA					
ACTIVITY	ICR_DB					
ACTIVITY	SYS_D					
CONTROL	ссм 🖸					
CONTROL	СР					
CONTROL	DB_NA					
CONTROL	ICR_DB					
CONTROL	INSP					
CONTROL	SYS_D					
ECONTROL	CCM					
ECONTROL	DB_NA					

Figure 7.6 Relationship between Issue Type and Entity

< 🐅									
✓	~ 6	62	Θ	•	00	00	Cancel	[î	
Relationship between Issue Type and Entity									
Entity ID	Source								
Control	INSP			δ	₽) <u>°</u>				
	_			Ĩ					

Figure 7.7 New Relationships Maintained for the Object Type and Source

Ad Hoc Submit Sa	Issue: ave Draft						
Status Draft Created By Karthika G Created On 25.07.2023 Updated By Updated On							
Issue D	Details Reg	ulation Attachments and Links					
*	* Name:			 Notes 			
	Description						
_	* Priority:	High	~	Add Note			
0)bject Type:	Control	~				
Ot	bject Name:		۲				
	Owner:		- D				
	Source:		<u> </u>				
*	Issue Date:		4				
	Due Date:	Continuous Monitoring					
	Audit Trail:	Manual Control Performance					
		Incorrect data entry					
	— Г	Inspection					
	. T	System down					

Figure 7.8 Option to Select a New Source while Reporting an Issue



Figure 7.9 Stages in the Ad Hoc Issue Remediation Workflow with Owners' Information



Figure 7.10 Flowchart Depicting the Stages of Ad Hoc Issue Remediation and the Flow

💷 My Home	×								
SAP NetWeaver Business Client									
My Home	Master Data	Rule Setup	Assessments	Access Management	Reports and Analytics				
My Home									
	Work Inbox View a comprehensive list of your GRC workflow tasks Quick Links Image: Work Inbox								
+	Ad Hoc Tasks Perform tasks as needed (unscheduled)								
	Quick Links								
	Response Proposals								
r	Incidents								

Figure 7.11Ad Hoc Issues Option in the My HomeWork Center

Active Queries								
Ad Hoc Issues All (0) Assigned to Me (0) Created by Me (0) Open Issues (0) Not Assigned (0)								
Ad Hoc Issues - Assigned to Me								
Show Quick Criteria Maintenance								
	View	[Standard View]	~	Create Open	Сору			
	ē	Issue Name		Object Type	Object Name	Priority	Issue Owner	

Figure 7.12 Option to Create an Ad Hoc Issue
Ad Hoc Issue: Submit Save Draft Status Draft Created B	y Karthika G Created On 26.07.2023 Updated By	Updat	ed On
Issue Details Re	gulation Attachments and Links		
* Name:	Duplicate Invoice payments		Notes
* Description:	As part of the regular internal audit process, we have tested the invoice records and identified there are duplicate payments made to 2 vendors against the same invoice record		
* Priority:	High ~		Payment records shows that duplicate payments were made to
Object Type:	Control ~		vendor 00012658 against the invoice number 1250000041 and 00013785 against the invoice number 1250000091
Object Name:	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Open	
Owner:	KARTHIKA		
Source:	Continuous Monitoring ~		X Cancel
* Issue Date:	26.07.2023		
Due Date:	27.07.2023		
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail		

Figure 7.13 Details to Be Filled in by the User Reporting the Ad Hoc Issue

< SAP						С	hange	View	/ "Ac	l-hoc
✓	~ 🖫	63	5	•2	80	00 00	Cancel	ſ	C 1	1
Ad-hoc Issue Owner is req	uired									
Indicator	Activate		٦	Text						
AH_ISSUE_OWNER_REQ			A	d-hoc	lssue (Owner	is required	ł		

Figure 7.14Configuration to Make the IssueOwner Mandatory in Ad Hoc Issues

Ad Hoc Issue: Adhoc	Issue								
Submit Assign Remediation Plan	Close Without Plan	Reassign The Issue							
Status Submitted Created By Karthika G Created On 03.07.2023 Updated By Karthika G Updated On 26.07.2023									
Issue Details Regulation Attachments and Links									
Regulations									
			Add Remove						
Name	Name Description Valid From Valid To								
Sarbanes Oxley SoX 01.01.2023 31.12.9999									

Figure 7.15 Regulation Tab

Ad Hoc Issu	ie:							
Submit Save Drat	ft							
Status Draft Creat	ed By Karthika G	Created On 26	.07.2023 Updat	ed By Updat	ed On			
Issue Details	Regulation At	tachments and Li	nks					
Issue Details Regulation Attachments and Links Attachments								
								Add 🔺 🍛
Туре	Title	Version	File Size	File Type	Added On	Added By	Attachm	Parent Add File
								Add Link

Figure 7.16 Options Available to Attach Evidence while Reporting an Issue

Ac	cti	ve Queries								
v	Vor	kitems All (76) Access Management (0) Process Control (76) Risk I	Management (0)							
w	/orkitems - Process Control									
V	/iev	r: ▼[Standard View] ✓	_							
η	Ē	Subject P	Organization	Regulation	Status	Object Name				
		Start Remediation for the Ad Hoc Issue 'Duplicate Invoice payments'	Power Generation	Sarbanes Oxley	Ready	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config				
			8							

Figure 7.17 Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending for Action

Ad Hoc Issue: D	uplicate Invoice payments									
Submit Assign Remedia	ation Plan Close Without Plan Reassign The Issu	е								
Status Submitted Created	By Karthika G Created On 26.07.2023 Updated By	Karthika G Updated On 26.07.2023								
Issue Details Regula	Issue Details Regulation Attachments and Links									
* Name:	Duplicate Invoice payments	 Notes 								
* Description:	As part of the regular internal audit process, we have tested the invoice records and identified there are duplicate payments made to 2 vendors against the same invoice record	Karthika G - 26.07.2023 19:47:34 Payment records shows that duplicate payments were made to vendor 00012658								
* Priority:	High	00013785 against the invoice number								
Object Type:	Control	125000091								
Object Name:	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config Open	n								
Owner:	KARTHIKA									
Source:	Continuous Monitoring									
* Issue Date:	26.07.2023									
Due Date:	27.07.2023									
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail	C Add Note								

Figure 7.18 Options Available for the Issue Owner while Responding to the Issue

Ad Hoc Issue: Duplicat	e Invoice pa	ayments		
Submit Assign Remediation Plan	Close Without Plan	Reassign The	Issue	
Status Submitted Created By Karthika	G Created On 26	.07.2023 Updated	By Karthika G	Updated On 26.07.2023
Issue Details Regulation Atta	chments and Links			
* Name:	Duplicate Invoice p	payments		 Notes
* Description:	lar internal audit provoice records and ic payments made to nvoice record	ocess, we lentified 2 vendors	Karthika G - 26.07.2023 19:47:34 Payment records shows that duplicate	
* Priority:	High	Assign Rem	ediation Pla	an
Object Type:	Control	* Plan Name:	Review and red	cover the duplicate payment:
Object Name:	Monitor Duplicate	* Start Date:	26.07.2023	1
Owner:	KARTHIKA	* Due Date:	02.08.2023	1
Source:	Continuous Monito	* Owner:	KARTHIKA	Ē
* Issue Date:	26.07.2023	* Description:	Work with the p	payments team to recover
Due Date:	27.07.2023		the duplicate p vendors mention	ayments made to the oned
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail			
				OK Cancel

Figure 7.19 Issue Owner Assigning a Remediation Plan to Fix the Issue

Ad Hoc Issue:	Duplic	ate Invoice	paym	ents						
Submit Assign Rem	rediation Pla	n								
Status Submitted Crea	ted By Kart	hika G Created Or	1 26.07.202	23 Updated By	Karthika G Update	d On 26.07	.2023			
Issue Details Re	gulation	Remediation Plan	Attachme	nts and Links						
Remediation PI	Remediation Plan									
								Reassign the	Plan	Remove
Name		Issue Name		Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date		Plan Owner	Audit	Trail
Review and rec	over the	Duplicate Invoice	payments	Karthika G	26.07.2023	02.08.202	3	Karthika G	Audit	Trail
Review and recover	the duplica	ite payments								
	Owner: K	Karthika G			* (Start Date:	26.07	.2023		1
Pr	ocessor: K	(arthika G			*	Due Date:	02.08	.2023		1
Des	Issue: Duplicate Invoice payments Assign Remediation Plan inited Created By Karthika G Created On 26.07.2023 Updated By Karthika G Updated On 26.07.2023 etails Regulation Remediation Plan Attachments and Links iation Plan etails Regulation Plan Attachments and Links etails Regulation Plan Attachments etails Regulation Plan Attachments and Links etails Regulation Plan Attachments etails Regulation Plan At									
	c n	nentioned	made to the	e vendors	Rev	viewed By:				

Figure 7.20 Issue Owner Submitting the Remediation Plan

Adl	loc Issue: Duplic	ate Invoice pavm	ents				
📀 Data	Data has been saved Status Remediation Started Created By Karthika G Created On 26.07.2023 Updated By Karthika G Updated On 26.07.2023 Issue Details Regulation Remediation Plan Attachments and Links Remediation Plan Reassign the Plan Name Issue Name Issue Owner Start Date Due Date Audit Trail Plan Owner						
64.4			20.07.2022.11		0 11 1 4 10	20.07.2022	
Status	Remediation Started Created	d By Karthika G. Created On	26.07.2023 Upc	атео ву калпка	G Updated Un	26.07.2023	
ls	ssue Details Regulation R	emediation Plan Attachmer	nts and Links				
_							
Re	mediation Plan						
						Re	assign the Plan
	Nama	Incure Minute	Income Operation	Otant Data	Due Dete	A	Dian Owner
	Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Audit Trail	Plan Owner
	Review and recover the	Duplicate Invoice payments	Karthika G	26.07.2023	02.08.2023	Audit Trail	Karthika G

Figure 7.21Remediation Plan Created for the Adhoc Issue

Ad H	loc Issue: Duplica	ite Invoice payme	nts					
Status	Remediation Started Created	By Karthika G Created On 2	6.07.2023 Upda	ted By Karthika G	Updated On	26.07.2023		
Is	sue Details Regulation Re	emediation Plan	and Links					
Rei	Issue Details Regulation Plan Attachments and Links							
						Reassign the Plan	Start the Plan	
	Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Plan Owner	Audit Trail	
	Review and recover the d	Duplicate Invoice payments	Karthika G	26.07.2023	02.08.2023	DRISHTI	Audit Trail	

Figure 7.22 Remediation Plan Actions

Ad H	loc Issue: Duplic	ate Invoice payn	nents							
Submit										
Status	Status Remediation Started Created By Karthika G Created On 26.07.2023 Updated By Karthika G Updated On 26.07.2023									
ls	Issue Details Regulation Remediation Plan Attachments and Links									
Ren	nediation Plan									
				Assign I	Next Processor	Complete Ch	nange Due Date			
	Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Plan Owner	Audit Trail			
	Review and recover the	Duplicate Invoice payme	Karthika G	26.07.2023	02.08.2023	DRISHTI	Audit Trail			

Figure 7.23 Options Available in the Remediation Plan Implementation Window

Ad	Hoc Issue: Duplicate	Invoice payments						
Subm	it							
Statu	s Remediation Started Created By	Karthika G. Created On. 26.07.202	3 Undated By K	arthika G II	ndated On 26.07	7 2023		
Statu	s Remediation Statted Created by	Kaninka G Created On 20.07.202.			puateu on 20.07	.2023		
	Issue Details Regulation Reme	diation Plan Attachments and Link	s					
R	emediation Plan							
				4	Assign Next Proce	essor	Complete	Change Due Dat
	Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Da	ate Due Date	;	Plan Owner	Audit Trail
	Review and recover the duplica	. Duplicate Invoice payments	Karthika G	26.07.20	023 02.08.202	23	DRISHTI	Audit Trail
R	eview and recover the duplicate pa	avments						
	Owner:	DRISHTI			* Start Date:	26.0	7.2023	
	Processor:	DRISHTI			* Due Date:	02.0	8.2023	
	Description:	Work with the payments team to reco	over	Carr	yforward Status:	No C	Carryforward	
		duplicate payments			Reviewed By:			
					Reviewed On:			
	Туре:	Ad Hoc Issue			Created By:	Kart	hika G	
	Status:	Remediation Started			Created On:	26.0	7.2023	
	Completion:	100%	~					

Figure 7.24Remediation Owner Submitting theWork Item for the Issue Owner's Review

A	Active Queries											
	Workitems All (77) Access Management (0) Process Control (77) Risk Management (0)											
v	Workitems - Process Control											
								Change Query Define New Qu	Jery Persona			
	View	r: * [Standard View] 🗸 🗸						Print Version	Export 🦼 🧯			
	Ē	Subject 🔻	Organization	Regulation	Status	Due Date	Created On	Object Name	Created By			
		Close Issue: Ad Hoc Issue	Power Generation		Ready	02.08.2023	26.07.2023 21:16:40	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Karthika G			

Figure 7.25 Work Inbox Screen with Items Pending for Action

Ad Hoc Issue: D	Ad Hoc Issue: Duplicate Invoice payments										
Submit											
Status Remediation Started Created By Karthika G Created On 26.07.2023 Updated By DRISHTI Updated On 26.07.2023											
Issue Details Regu	Issue Details Regulation Remediation Plan Attachments and Links										
Remediation Plan	ı										
						Close Reopen					
Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date	Audit Trail	Plan Owner					
Review and recover	Review and recover the Duplicate Invoice payme		26.07.2023 02.08.2023		Audit Trail	DRISHTI					

Figure 7.26 Remediation Plan Tab: Review Work Item for the Control Design Assessment

	-4-1					
Ad Hoc Issue: Duplic	ate invoice payn	nents				
Data has been saved						
Status Remediation Started Create	d By Karthika G Created O	on 27.07.2023 Upd	ated By Karthika G U	pdated On 27.07.2023		
Name	Issue Name	Issue Owner	Start Date	Due Date		
Review and recover the	Duplicate Invoice payme	Karthika G	27.07.2023	02.08.2023		
Review and recover the duplica	to navmonte					
Owne				* Start Date		
Process				* Duo Dato:		
Descriptio				Camfonward Status:		
Descriptio	duplicate payments ma	de				
				Reviewed By:		
				Reviewed On:		
Тур	e: Ad Hoc Issue			Created By:		
Statu	s: Closed	losed				
Completio	n: 100%					

Figure 7.27Issue Owner Approving theImplemented Remediation Plan

Ad Hoc Issue: Copy of Duplicate Invoice payments										
Submit Assign Remediation Plan	Close Without Plan	Reassign The Issue								
Status Submitted Created By Karthika G Created On 03.07.2023 Updated By Karthika G Updated On 03.07.2023										
Issue Details Regulation Attachments and Links										
* Name	Close Without F	Plan	□ ×	 Notes 						
* Description	* Comments:	The payments are already recovered from the vendors and evidences for the receipt of the same are attached								
* Priority				Add Note						
Object Type										
Object Name										
Owner			OK Cancel							
Source:	Continuous Monitori	ng								
* Issue Date	03.07.2023									
Due Date:	03.08.2023									
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail									

Figure 7.28 Issue Owner Closing the Issue without a Plan

Ad Hoc Issue: Co	Ad Hoc Issue: Copy of Duplicate Invoice payments								
Submit	Submit								
Status Closed Created By Karthika G Created On 03.07.2023 Updated By Karthika G Updated On 03.07.2023									
Issue Details Regulati	on Attachments and Links								
* Name:	Copy of Duplicate Invoice payments	 Notes 							
* Description:	As part of the regular internal audit process, we have tested the invoice records and identified there are duplicate payments made to 2 vendors against the same invoice record								
* Priority:	High	Add Note							
Object Type:	Control								
Object Name:	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config Op	en							
Owner:	KARTHIKA								
Source:	Continuous Monitoring								
* Issue Date:	03.07.2023								
Due Date:	03.08.2023								
Comments:	The payments are already recovered from the vendors and evidences for the receipt of the same are attached								
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail								

Figure 7.29 Ad Hoc Issue Closed without a Plan

Ad Hoc issue	e, Remediation Plan and CAPA Plan Status								
Ad Hoc issue, Remediation Plan and CAPA Plan Status									
✓ Selection									
Selection variant:	✓ Delete Variant Save Variant								
* Dariedi	Veer								
- Period.	fear								
* Year:	2023 🗸								
Organization:	C								
Object Type:	All 🗸								
Object Name:									
Status:	✓ Draft ✓ Submitted ✓ Initial ✓ Remediation Started ✓ Cancelled ✓ Closed								
Priority:	✓ High ✓ Medium ✓ Low								
Issue Regulation:	SOX Sarbanes Oxley								
Long text:	✓								
Execution Method:	Generate Report Online Generate Report in Background								

Figure 7.30 Selection Screen to Generate a Report of Ad Hoc Issues

Ad Hoc issue, Remediation Plan and C	APA Plan S	tatus				Personalize
Ad Hoc issue, Remediation Plan and CAPA Plan Status						
▶ Selection						
Result						
				Expand All	Collapse All	Print or Export
Hierarchy	Object Type	Organization	Original Object	ł	Report by (Issue)	Issue Priority
 Ethiopian Electric Power 	Organization	Ethiopian Electric Power				
Power Generation	Organization	Power Generation				
 EEP Process Hierarchy 	Process	Power Generation				
 A Procure to Pay 	Process	Power Generation				
 Duplicate Invoice payments 	Ad Hoc Issue	Power Generation	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check	Config I	Karthika G	High
Review and recover the duplicate payments	Remediation plan	Power Generation	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check	Config H	Karthika G	High
 Duplicate Invoice payments 	Ad Hoc Issue	Power Generation	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check	Config I	Karthika G	High
Review and recover the duplicate payments	Remediation plan	Power Generation	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check	Config I	Karthika G	High

Figure 7.31 Ad Hoc Issue Report to See the Details of Issues and Remediation Plans



Figure 8.1Process Depiction of the CCMFunctionality

Activ	/e Queries										
Data Sources Today (18) Fixed Date (0)											
Data Sources - Today											
Hide Quick Criteria Maintenance Change Query Define New Query Personalize											
*-											
* Da	te: 01.01.2023	3 1									
Ap	ply Clear										
View	r: [Standard View	w] V Create Open Delete Copy				Print Version	Export "	2			
Ē	Object ID	Name	Start Date	End Date	Description			^			
	EO/50000723	TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	Data source is related to critical profiles monitoring						
	EO/50000738	Monitor program changes for custom tcode	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	999 Monitor if a program for a custom transaction is changed without informing Security. Table TST captures changes to transaction codes. Report exception if program is changed for a custom transaction.						
	EO/50000740	to monitor plant open and close	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	to monitor plant open and close						
	EO/50000742	To monitor inactive users	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	To monitor inactive users						
	EO/50000753	to monitor quantity in goods receipt/inv	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	To ensure all the invoice in quantity equal to respective goods receipt						
	EO/50000761	MONITOR ASSIGNMENT OF SAP STANDARD ROLE	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	MONITOR ASSIGNMENT OF SAP STANDARD ROLE						
	EO/50000772	Access to maintain profile parameters	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	Access to maintain profile parameters in production via transaction R access to maintain profile parameters in production is restricted to ap	Z10 should be lin propriate roles	nited. Ensu	re			
	EO/50000777	Check Email Address is Blank for user	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	Check Email Address is Blank for user.All user should have valid Em	ail address					
	EO/50000779	Monitor access to critical actions SM30	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	Monitor access to critical actions SM30						
	EO/50000784	Self Assignmentt of Role	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	Self Assignment of Role						
	EO/50000796	USER GROUP NOT ASSIGNED LIST	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	USER GROUP NOT ASSIGNED LIST						
	EO/50000852	Critical action-RZ10 data source	01.01.2022	31.12.9999	Critical action-RZ10 data source			~			
					Last Refresh 11.09	.2023 12:05:20	NDIA Refre	sh 🗊			

Figure 8.2 Create a Data Source

Data Source	ce								
Save	h					0.			
Timeframe 01.01.2023 ID 50001382 Last Modified On									
General	Object Field	Attachments and Links							
General									
* Data Course	Duplicate Invesio Char	k Configurations		* Malid Farmer	01 01 2022				
Data Source.	Duplicate invocie chec	x Conligurations		Valid From.	1. 01.01.2023				
Description:	Fetch details of the cor	nfiguration duplicate invoice che	ck from the table	* Valid To:	31.12.9999	1			
	1169P			Status:	New	¥			
Search Term	1								
	Term 1:	Term 2	Term 3:	Term 4	Term 5				
		TGIIII Z.	Term J.	16111 4.	Territ J.				
	¥	· · · · ·	·	¥	*				

Figure 8.3 Data Source Configuration: General Tab

Data Sour	се								
Save Refres	h								
Timeframe 01.01.2023 ID 50001382 Last Modified On									
General	General Object Field Attachments and Links								
General									
* Data Source:	Duplicate Invoc	ie Check Configurations			* Valid From:	01.01.2023	1		
Description:	* Data Source: Duplicate Invocie Check Configurations Description: Fetch details of the configuration duplicate invoice check from the table T460P				* Valid To:	31.12.9999	1		
	T169P				Status:	is: New 🗸			
Search Term	1								
	Term 1:	Ten	m 2:	Term 3:	Term 4:	Term 5:			
	~		•	~	~	*			
Invoicing									
Purchase Orde	er								
Purchase Req	uisition								

Figure 8.4Selection of Search Terms fromDropdowns

< SAP	Change \	/iew	"Se	arch	Teri	m": (Over	view				
 ✓ 	8	62	New Entries		Θ	\$		•0	00	Cancel	[î	
Dialog Structure Search Term Enable Search Term Search Term Assignme	Searce S IN PO PR	ch Ter earch V	m Term ID	Se Invo Pur Pur	earch T <mark>bicing</mark> chase chase	erm Order Requis	sition	1	\$			

Figure 8.5 Configuration of Search Terms

< SAP		Dis	play	v View "	Enal	ble S	Sear	ch Term": Overview
 ✓ 	•0		80	Cancel	ĹŶ	C 1	(]	C.
Dialog Structure	Enabl	e Se	arch 1	[erm				(
Search Term	Er	Entity ID		Inde	Index			
Contraction Contraction	🗌 BR					\checkmark		0
Search Term Assignme	E0		\checkmark					

Figure 8.6 Activation Status of Search Terms

< SAP	Chan	ge View	"Search	Term	Assi	gnmei	nt": (Ovei	rview	/
	🌮 New Entries	9	5 👪	88	80	Cancel	ĹŶ	[]	[]	[₽
Dialog Structure	Entity ID	EO		þ						
✓ ☐ Enable Search Term	Entity Type	Data Source	9							
🕤 Search Term Assignment	Search Term Assig	gnment			Ę	ø				
	Search Term ID	S	earch Term							
	INV INV	Inv	Invoicing			0				
	D P0		Purchase Order							
	PR	Pu	rchase Requi	isition						

Figure 8.7Configuration to Map Search Terms toData Source

Data Sourc	e	
Save Refresh		
Timeframe 01.01.3	2023 ID 50001386 Last Modified On	
General C	Dbject Field Attachments and Links	
Sub Scenario)	
* Sub Scenario:	Configurable	 Connection Type:
	ABAP Report	
Parameters	HANA	
	SoD Integration	
	BW Query	
Fields	Configurable	
	Event	
	External Partner	
	Process Integration	
	Programmed	
	SAP Query	

Figure 8.8 Sub Scenario Selection in the Data Source Screen

Data Sourc	e					
Save						
Timeframe 14.11.2	2023 ID 50001459	Last Modified On				
General C	bject Field	Adhoc Query	Connecto	Attachments and Links	s	
Sub Scenario)					
* Sub Scenario [:]	Configurable		~	* Connection Type:	SAP System	~
Parameters			Sea	rch: Main Connector] = ×
Main Connector:			D	Target Connector	Connector Desc.	- 1
Main Table:				TGDCL100	GRC 12 TO TGD 100	
Fields				TNDCLNT100	For TND client 100	
Fields				TSDCLNT100	G12 to TSD 100	

Figure 8.9 Selection of the Main Connector in the Data Source

<	SAP	D	isplay View "Du	plicate Invoice Check": O	verview
✓ [~ 69	88 88		Technical Information	×
Duplica	te Invoice Check	-			
Co	Name	Check co. code	Screen Data		
0001	SAP A.G.		Program Name	SAPLOMRP	
REC0	Sondereigentum (WEG)	\checkmark	Screen Number	0024	
REOB	Referenz Objektmandate	\checkmark			
RERF	WEG Referenzbuchungskreis	\checkmark	GUI Data		
			Program Name	SAPLSVIM	
			Status	ESLG	
			Field Data		
			Table Name	V_169P_DC	
			Table Category	Generated view structure	
			Field Name	XBUKRS	
			Data Element	X_BUKRS	
			Field Description fo	or Batch Input	
			Screen Field	V_169P_DC-XBUKRS	
	→≣ Positic	n		~	Navigate 🗙 —

Figure 8.10 Identification of Table and Field Technical Information

General O	bject Field	Adhoc Query	Connector	Attachments and L	inks				
Sub Scenario									
* Sub Scenario:	Configurable		~	* Conne	ection Type:	SAP System	m		
Parameters									
Main Connector:	TNDCLNT100	6]						
Main Table:			Main Table Look	qu					
Lookup							ľ		×
Table Name T10	69P	Table Description	1	Table Type:	Transparen	t table		~ ,	~
Apply Clear]								
Table Nam	e				Description	1			
T169P					Parameters	s, Invoice Ve	rification	•	~
<					1		2	•	
							OK C	ance	4

Figure 8.11 Selection of Main Table in the Data Source

Data Source			
Save Refresh			
Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 50001459 Last Modified On			
General Object Field Adhoc Query Connector	Attachm	ents and Links	
Sub Scenario			
* Sub Scenario: Configurable	* Connection Ty	/pe: SAP System	
Lookup			□ ×
Table Name Table Description	Table Type:	Transparent table	
Apply Clear		Transparent table	
		Cluster table	I
Table Name		Pooled table	
		Generated View Strue	cture
			\sim
<			>
		OK	Cancel

Figure 8.12 Selection of Table Types

< SAP			Dictionary: Display Table						
✓	-> % ⊑ ∰ ≭	r 8 2	i 品 珀 Technical Settings Indexes More 🗸						
Transparent Table	T169P Active								
Short Description	Parameters, Invoice Verification								
Attributes Delive	ry and Maintenance Field	Input Help/C	/Check Currency/Quantity Fields						
	※自自()〇 ※注()、 Srch Help Built-In Type 1 / 31								
Field	Key Init Data element	Data Type Lengt	gth Deci Short Description						
MANDT	MANDT	CLNT	3 0 Client						
BUKRS	✓ ✓ <u>BUKRS</u>	CHAR	4 0 Company Code						
XEKAN		CHAR	1 0 Indicator: notification of purchase order header texts						

Figure 8.13 Identification of Table Type from Transaction SE11

Data Source		
Data Source		
Save Refresh		
Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 50001459 Last Modified On	Related Table Lookup	□ ×
General Object Field Adhoc Query Con	Table Name: T001	Reference Tables Dt
	Apply Clear	
Sub Scenario	Table Name Descr	iption
Sub Occinano		
* Sub Scenario: Configurable		
Parameters		
Main Connector: TNDCLNT100		
Main Table: T169P M	▼ ₹	
Select Base Table: T169P 🗸 Related Table Lookup	Table Name Des	scription
Tables	T001 Cor	npany Codes 🗸 🗸 🗸
	<	
		OK Calicel

Figure 8.14 Selection of Related Table

Data Source	
Save	
Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 50001459 Last Modified On	n
General Object Field Adhoc Query	Connector Attachments and Links
Sub Scenario	
* Sub Scenario: Configurable	* Connection Type: SAP System 👻
Parameters	
Main Connector: TNDCLNT100	Ð
Main Table: T169P	Main Table Lookup
Select Base Table: T169P 🗸 Related Table Loc	Join Conditions
Tables	Add Additional Join Condition Remove Join Condition
T001	Table Field Name = Table Field Name
	T001 BUKRS = T169P BUKRS
	T001 MANDT = T169P MANDT

Figure 8.15Join Conditions between the TwoTables

Par	rameters									
Ma	in Connector: Main Table:	TNDCLNT	100	<u>ل</u>	Main Table Looku	р				
Se	elect Base Tab	le: T169P	✓ Relate	d Table Looku	P Join Condit	ions				
	Tables					Add Additional Joi	n Condition	Remove Jo	in Condition	
	T001				Table	Field Name	= Table	Field	Name	
Add	Additiona	al Join Co	ondition							□ ×
Tabl	le: T169P		Field:	BUKRS	<u> </u>	Table: T001		Field:	BUKRS	^
										_
<										>
									OK	Cancel

Figure 8.16 Manual Join of Tables

Data Source Save Refresh Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 50001459 Last Modified On										
General Object Field Adhoc Query Connector Attachments and Links										
Fields										
T169P T169P T001 00000002	Source Table	Source Field T169P-BUKRS	Key	Field Type	Ref Field ID	Amount or Quantity	ect Additional Table Fields Field Description Company Code			

Figure 8.17Selecting Tables in the Data SourceConfiguration
1	Table-Field	Field Description	^		Ē	Table-Field	Field Description	
	T169P-AB_DYNNR	Version for item list (Logist				T169P-BUKRS	Company Code	
	T169P-BNK	Indicates unplanned delive				T169P-MANDT	Client	
	T169P-BTSTO	Threshold value for stocha						
	T169P-CTHW	Currency type and valuati						
	T169P-CTML1	Currency type and valuati						
	T169P-CTML2	Currency type and valuati	ſ		Π			
	T169P-INV_CHANGE	Allow Changes to Posted I		₩				
	T169P-IRTAX	Tax Treatment in Invoice	Г					
	T169P-KDHW	Treatment of Exchange R		•				
	T169P-KDML1	Treatment of Exchange R						
	T169P-KDML2	Treatment of Exchange R						
	T169P-KURST	Exchange rate type						
	T169P-PRAVT	Price change: carried over						
	T169P-PRSTO	Percentage for stochastic						
	T169P-RETDUEDATE	Due Date for Retention is	~					

Figure 8.18 Selection of Fields from the Table

Data Save	Data Source Save Refresh										
Inner	General Object Field Adhoc Query Connector Attachments and Links										
Fiel	Fields										
T1	69P 🗸								Select Additional Table Fields		
Ē	Field ID	Source Table	Source Field	Key	Field Type	Ref Field ID	Amount or Quantity	Field Description			
	00000002	T169P	T169P-BUKRS	\checkmark	С	00000000		Company Code			
	00000004	T169P	T169P-MANDT	\checkmark	С	00000000		Client			
	0000006	T169P	T169P-XBLDAT		С	00000000		Indicator: check invoice	e date		
	00000007	T169P	T169P-XBUKRS		С	00000000		Indicator: check compa	ny code		
	0000008	T169P	T169P-XEKAN		С	00000000		Indicator: notification of	purchase order header texts		
	0000009	T001	T001-BUTXT		С	00000000		Name of Company Coo	le or Company		

Figure 8.19 Selected Fields for Analysis in the Data Source Configuration

Data Sourc	e				
Save					
Timeframe 14.11.2	2023 ID	50001459 Last Modified On			
General	Object	Field Adhoc Query	Connector Attachm	ents and Links	
Target Connector Filter Results	TNDC	Max. Rows:	100 Execute C	Query	
Print Version	Export	I			
Company Code	Client	Indicator: check invoice date	Indicator: check company code	Indicator: notification of purchase orde	Name of Company Code or Company
0001	100	х	Х	х	SAP A.G.
RECO	100	х	х	Х	Sondereigentum (WEG)
REOB	100	Х	Х	Х	Referenz Objektmandate
RERF	100	х	Х	Х	WEG Referenzbuchungskreis

Figure 8.20Ad Hoc Query in the Data SourceScreen

Data Source Save Refresh							
Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 500014	^{.59} Last Modified	On Coloct/U	Incoloct Filts		= -		
General Object Field	Adhoc Qu	Select/u	Inselect Fille	ers	<u> </u>		
		Field ID	Source Field	Field Description	Select		
Target Connector: TNDCLNT100	Max. Rov	00000	T169P-BUK	Company Code	\checkmark		
Eiltor Fields		00000	T169P-MAN	Client			
• Filter Fields		00000	T169P-XBL	Indicator: check			
Filter Fielde		00000	T169P-XBU	Indicator: check			
Filler Fields		00000	T169P-XEK	Indicator: notific			
	_	00000	T001-BUTXT	Name of Compa			Select/Unselect Filters
Field ID Source Field	d Field De					Required	Variable Field Name
				C	K Cancel		

Figure 8.21 Selection of Filter Fields in the Data Source Ad Hoc Query

G	eneral	Object Field	Adhoc Query	Connector	r A	Attachments a	and Links		
Targo	t Connoctor		Max Dows:		100 5	vacuta Quan	1		
Talye	i connector.	TNDCLINTTOO	• Max. Rows.			xecule Query			
۲	Filter	Fields							
Filt	Filter Fields								
								Select/Unselect Filters	
	Field ID	Source Field	Field Description	Amount o	or Quantity	Field Type	Is Required	Variable Field Name	
	00000002	T169P-BUKRS	Company Code			С			
Filt	er Value								
								Add Delete	
	Sign		Option		Low		High		
	Range limi	t included	✓ Equals	Equals v 000					

Figure 8.22Ad Hoc Query in the Data Source withFiltered Values

General	Object Field	Adhoc Q	uery Conne	ctor Attachment	ts and Li	nks
Target Conne	ector	Sele Targ	ct Connector get Connector Target Connector TGDCL100 TSDCLNT100	Connector Desc. GRC 12 TO TGD 100 G12 to TSD 100 OK Ca	X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X	Add Remove Main

Figure 8.23 Selection of Additional Connectors

< SAP			Qualified ABAP	Report List
✓ []		🍇 Cancel		
			i	
Program Name	Variant Only	SAP Syste Crea	ated By Date	1

Figure 8.24Option to Add the ABAP Report to theQualified List

< SAP	AMF: ABAP Report Validation
✓	Cancel
Program Name	RSUSR100N

Figure 8.25 Selection of the ABAP Report to Add as a Qualified Report

< SAP	ABAP Report Requirements
✓ Cancel	
Main Check	
✓ Report can be executed in background mode	
T-code: SE38 -> Program -> Background Execution	с. С
\checkmark Review the ABAP report output that is displayed as ex	pected in spool graphical mode
T-code: SP01 -> Display Content (ICON) -> Graphic Form	nat
Additional Check	
Report contains the screen elements not referring to a	data element (e.g. radio button group) which will
lead to input fields without description in AMF Data Source	e
Exception Check	
✓ Report can not have nested selection screen	
✓ Report can not have popup window	
Report can only display data, no update to database	
Add Table To Transport Request	

Figure 8.26Confirmation of Checks to Add theReport to the Qualified List

<	SAP			Q	ualified AB	AP Repor	t List
~		\sim	0 🗑	🔅 Cancel			
Q [i		
Progr	am Name	Variant Only	SAP Syste	Created By	Date	Time	Value Check
RSUS	SR100N		G12	SAIKRISHNA1	21.09.2023	14:50:48	

Figure 8.27 Configuration to Enable the Value Check Option for an ABAP Report

<	SAP	Configure ABAP Report for Value Check Scenario
~		✓ □ ○ Cancel
Input I	Parameters	
Pro	gram Name	RSUSR100N
Vari	iant	

Figure 8.28Selection of ABAP Report for the ValueCheck Scenario

< S	AP		Qualified ABAP Report List					
✓ [~ 1	🗑 💥 Ca	ancel				
$ \mathbb{Q} \triangleq \mathbb{P} \mathbb{Q} \mathbb{V} \mathbb{Z} \mathbb{F}_{\mathbb{Z}} \textcircled{B} \mathbb{E} \mathbb{E} \mathbb{E} \mathbb{E} \mathbb{E} \mathbb{E} \mathbb{E} E$								
Program	Name	Variant Only	SAP Syste	Created By	Date	Time	Value Check	
RSUSR1	00N		G12	SAIKRISHNA1	21.09.2023	14:50:48	х	

Value Check Configuration for the

Figure 8.29 ABAP Report

Data Sourc	e				
Save					
Timeframe 14.11.2	2023 D 50001459	Last Modified 0	Dn		
General C	bject Field	Connector	Attachments and Links		
Sub Scenario)				
* Sub Scenario:	ABAP Report	~	* Connection Type:	SAP System	~
Parameters					
Main Connector:	G12CLNT100		Program Lookup		
ABAP Report:					
Report Variant:					

Figure 8.30Program Lookup Option in the ABAPReport Data Source

Loo	kup					\square ×
ABA Apr	P Report RSU	SR100N	Report Vari	ant		
	ABAP Report	Description		Report Variant		
	RSUSR100N	Change Documents	s for Users			
					OK	Cancel

Figure 8.31Selection of the ABAP Report in theData Source

Data								
Data	Data Source							
Save	Refresh							
Timefr	ame 14.11.2	023 ID 50001459 Last	Modified On					
		200						
0	General O	bject Field Con	nector	Attachments and Links				
		<u>^</u>						
				ADAD	Depart: D			
				ADAP	кероп. ка	USRIUUN		
Main	Connector:	G12CLNT100	Ć	Program Lookup Report	Variant:			
Field	ls							
F= -	5-1410	T	0	October Field			0.4534440	
	Field ID	lechnical information	Source Table	Source Field	Field Type	Amount or Quantity	Ref Field ID	Field Description
	00000053	ROLE	RSUSR100N	ROLE	С		00000000	
	00000054	F_ROLE	RSUSR100N	AGR_DEFINE-AGR_NAME	С		00000000	Role
	00000055	PROF	RSUSR100N	PROF	С		00000000	
	00000056	F_PROF	RSUSR100N	UST10S-PROFN	с		00000000	Profile
	00000057	SYS	RSUSR100N	SYS	С		0000000	
	00000058	F_SYS	RSUSR100N	USZBVSYS-SUBSYSTEM	С		0000000	Receiving system
	00000059	CROLE	RSUSR100N	CROLE	С		00000000	
	0000060	F_CROLE	RSUSR100N	USLA04-AGR_NAME	С		00000000	Role

Figure 8.32 Fields Selected from the ABAP Report in the Data Source

< SAP	InfoSet: Initial Screen
✓	🗣 忌 Trash Additional functions Cancel
Query area Global Area (Cross-client)	
InfoSet USERMASTER	Change Create
	62 Display
	Role/User Group Assignment

Figure 8.33 Creation of an InfoSet

InfoSet : Title and Database					
Name	User Master]
Authorization group					
Data Source					7
• Table join using basis t	able	USR02		1	
 Direct read of table 					
 Logical database 				Q	
Selection se	creen version				
 Data retrieval by prog 	ram				
	Data structure				
 Integra 	ated program				
⊖ Extern	al program:				
Options			_		
no automatic text reco	gnition				
✓ Fixed point arithmetic					
			ø	→ Further options	×

Figure 8.34 Definition of the InfoSet

< SA			
✓	✓ → InfoSet	t 🖺 📭	🗐 Alias 🛛 🞇 Join conditions
USR02 : Logon D	Data (Kernel-Side Use)	USR21 : User Name/Ad	ddress Key Assignment
Technical Nan	ne Long Text	Technical Name	Long Text
2 BNAME	User Name in User Master R 🔺 ——-		User Name in User Master 🔺
BCODE	Password Hash Key	PERSNUMBER	Person number
GLTGV	User valid from	ADDRNUMBER	Address Number
GLTGB	User valid to	KOSTL	Cost center
USTYP	User Type	START_MENU	Start Menu
CLASS	User group in user master ma	IDADTYPE	Address Type of the Identi
LOCNT	Number of failed logon attem	BPPERSON	Business Partner GUID
UFLAG	User Lock Status	ORGANIZATION	Business Partner GUID
ACONT	Account ID	RESPONSIBLE	Hear Responsible for Tank
•	F F	•	F I
	r		
	=	Add table	~
	—	Add table.	^
	Table /	ADR6	CP I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I
	L		
			A 8

Figure 8.35 Option to Join Additional Tables



Figure 8.36 Selection of Field Groups

<	SAP				Change InfoSet US	ERMASTER
~		69 n 🗣	Alias tables	-) Join 📫 Extras 🗐 🍐 🖾 Cancel	
≥	 Q Q Image: second second			♦		
	Data fields	Technical name	Field		Field Group/data fields	Technical name
	∨Join		0		〜 🗇 01 Logon Data (Kernel-Side Use)	
	🗸 🛗 Logon Data (Kernel-Side	USR02			Txt User Name in User Master Record	USR02-BNAME
	Client	USR02-MANDT				
	Txt User Name in User M	USR02-BNAME	01		Txt User Name in User Master Record	USR21-BNAME
	Password Hash Key	USR02-BCODE			∨ 🗇 03 E-Mail Addresses (Business Address Servic	
\checkmark	User valid from	USR02-GLTGV			_ Address Number	ADR6-ADDRNUMBER
\checkmark	User valid to	USR02-GLTGB			Person number	ADR6-PERSNUMBER
\checkmark	Txt User Type	USR02-USTYP			Valid-from date - in current Release only 00	ADR6-DATE_FROM
	Txt User group in user ma	USR02-CLASS			Sequence Number	ADR6-CONSNUMBER
	Number of failed logo	USR02-LOCNT				
✓	Txt User Lock Status	USR02-UFLAG				
	Account ID	USR02-ACCNT		1		
	Creator of the User N	USR02-ANAME		\sim	$\langle \rangle$	

Figure 8.37Selection of Additional Fields in theInfoSet

< SAP	User Groups: Initial Screen
✓	✓ ☐ A m ⇔ Additional functions Cancel
Query area	Global Area (Cross-client)
User group	SAPPCUSERGRP
	62 Display 🔂 Description
	Assign users and InfoSets

Figure 8.38Assigning Users and InfoSets with theUser Group

< SAP		L	lser Grou	p SAF	PPCU	SERG	RP: Ass	ign Users
✓	∨ 🖫 <u>च</u> User	Assign InfoSets	Cancel	[î		٦	[₽	
User group Overview	_SAPPCUSERGRP_SAPPC	CUSERGRP						
User and Change	Authorization for Q	ueries						

Figure 8.39Review of Users Mapped to the UserGroups

< SAP		User Group SAPPCUSERGRP: Assign InfoSets
 ✓ 	🖫 Cancel 🖆	
User group SAPPC	USERGRP SAPPCUS	ERGRP
InfoSet	Log. database	Title
TESTT100		Transport Test
USERMASTER		User Master

Figure 8.40 Mapping the InfoSet to the User Group

< SAP		Query from User Group SAPP	CUSERGRP: In	itial S	creen
 Image: Second sec	■ Query from L	Jser Group SAPPCUSERGRP:	Initial Screen	×	Saved Lists
Query area Global Area (Cro	Name	User group name			
Query	/SAPQUERY/BC	SAP Business Partner			
44017	/SAPQUERY/QD	Demo-User Group			
RuickViewer S InfoSet Qu	/SAPQUERY/SQ	SAP Query - technical content			
	BC_KUNDE	Flight Data Model for Customer			
Queries of user group SAPPCUSERGRP	BT	Query Course: Trainer			
	GPA_USER	Global Performance Analysis			
	GRRM_SUR	GRRM SURVEY			
Na Title InfoSet Logical Database Tab	INGO	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	INGOWBO	• · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	QDEMO	Demo-User Group			
	SAPPCUSERGRP	SAPPCUSERGRP			
	TESTQUERY	Test, Query delivery			
	≪ Choose Q A	uuthor and last user 🚊 👳 🔾	. 7 🗟 🛱	×	

Figure 8.41Selection of the User Group for QueryCreation

	Query from				
	Query nonn	Create New	Query - InfoSet Selection	×	
✓	~ 5 🗐 👫				
Query area	Global Area (Cross-cli				
		InfoSet	InfoSet text		
Query	USERMASTER	USERMASTER	USER MASTER		
RuickViewer	ি InfoSet Query				
Queries of user group S	SAPPCUSERGRP: sappc				
	7 Rai			< >	
Na Title InfoSet Log	jical Database Table/Vie	Environment			
		User Group	ppcusergrp (SAPPCUSERGRP)	~]	
				✓ ×	

Figure 8.42Selection of the InfoSet for QueryDefinition

<	SAP		InfoS	uery: User Master Da	ata)			
✓ ⊗			Output	Cancel	≡	Save Que	ry	≪ <u>+ Evi</u> # X
	Field group/fields	Selection	Output 5		Name and title	User Master Data		
		 × × × × × 		Query name USERMASTER	Query text/note User Master Data			
E Vali 01.0 11.0 30.0	Σ Σ Ξ <thξ< th=""> Ξ <thξ< th=""> <thξ< th=""></thξ<></thξ<></thξ<>	c List lser Type ervice Reference (Logon rervice	not possible)		CONTRACTOR	sappcusergrp	(SAPPCUSERGRF	< > ?) ~

Figure 8.43Option to Save the InfoSet QueryDefined

< SAP	Query fro	m Us	ser Grou	ıp SA	PPCUSER	GRP: Initial	Screen		
✓	~ B 🗐	AB	<u></u>	₹	🕒 🕒 With va	ariant More \sim	·		
Query area Global Area (Cross-client)									
Query USERMASTER Change Create									
RuickViewer	3 InfoSet Quer	y (6ð Di	splay		escription			
Queries of user group SAF	PCUSERGRP: sa	appcuse	ergrp						
A FQ (V) B B I									
Name Title	InfoSet		Logical Da	tabase	Table/View/Join	InfoSet Title			
USERMASTER	er Data USERMA	STER			USR02	USER MASTER			

Figure 8.44Execution of the InfoSet Query

Data Source										
Save										
Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 50001460 Last Modified On										
General Object Field Connector Attachments and Links										
Sub Geoperie										
Sub Scenario										
* Sub Scenario: SAP Query * Connection Type: SAP System *										
Parameters										
Main Connector: TNDCLNT100 Query Lookup										
Query Name: Query Area: Standard										
User Group:										
Fields										

Figure 8.45Query Lookup Option in the SAP QueryData Source

Lookup 🗆 ×											
Que	ry Name	USERMAST	ER	User Group	SAPPCUSERGRP	Query	Area	Global	~		
Apply Clear											
	Query Name		Query Text		Query Area	User Group					
	USERMASTER		User Maste	r Data	Global	SA	APPCU	JSERGRP			
								ОК	Can	cel	

Figure 8.46Selection of the Query in the DataSource

Data	Data Source										
Save	Save Refresh										
Timefr	Timetrame 14.11.2023 ID 50001467 Last Modified On										
(General C	bject Field Connector	Attachmer	nts and Links							
		^									
Sub Scenario											
* Sul	* Sub Scenario: SAP Query * Connection Type: SAP System *										
Para	meters										
Main	Connector	TNDCLNT100	-D Query	Lookup							
main		mboennoo									
Quer	y Name:	SERMASTER		Query	Area: Glob	al					
Use	r Group: S	APPCUSERGRP									
Field	ls										
Ē	Field ID	Technical information	Source Table	Source Field	Field Type	Amount or Quantity	Ref Field ID	Field Description			
	00000001	D001_USR02_GLTGV	USERMASTER	USR02-GLTGV	D		00000000	User valid from			
	00000002	D002_USR02_GLTGB	USERMASTER	USR02-GLTGB	D		00000000	User valid to			
	0000003	D003_TEXT_USR02_USTYP	USERMASTER	TEXT_USR02_USTYP	С		00000000	Text:User Type			
	00000004	D004_TEXT_USR02_UFLAG	USERMASTER	TEXT_USR02_UFLAG	С		00000000	Text:User Lock Status			

Figure 8.47 Fields Selected from the InfoSet Query in the Data Source

Su	Sub Scenario										
* Sub Scenario:		SoD Integration		Connection Type:		Local Data Source		~			
Fie	elds										
η	Field ID	Technical information	Source Table	Source Field	Field Type	Amount or Quantity	Ref Field ID	Field Description			
	0000001	IV_EXPIRED_USER		IV_EXPIRED_USER	с		00000000	Expired User			
	0000001	IV_LANGU		IV_LANGU	с		00000000	Language			
	0000001	V_LOCKED_USER		IV_LOCKED_USER	с		00000000	Locked User			
	0000001	V_OBJECT_TYPE		IV_OBJECT_TYPE	1		00000000	Object Type			
	0000001	V IV_OFFLINE_ANALYSIS		IV_OFFLINE_ANALYSIS	с		0000000	Offline analysis			
	0000001	IV_REPORT_FORMAT		IV_REPORT_FORMAT	N		00000000	Report Format			
	0000001	V_REPORT_VIEW		IV_REPORT_VIEW	N		0000000	Risk Analysis Report View			
	0000002	IV_ROLE_TYPE		IV_ROLE_TYPE	С		0000000	Role Type for risk analysis			
	0000002	IV_SIMU_RISK_ONLY		IV_SIMU_RISK_ONLY	с		00000000	Simulation risk only			
	0000002	VIV_USE_SIMU_AUTH_ONLY		IV_USE_SIMU_AUTH_ONLY	С		00000000	Use simulation authorization			

Figure 8.48SoD Integration SubscenarioConfiguration

Business R	ule										
Continue											
Usage:	Automated	Process Control									
Data Source:		Search									
Sub Scenario:	Search								×		
Connection Type:											_
		Data Source:		Dupl	icate Invoice check o	configuration					^
Sub Scenario:								~			
	Connection Type:			v							
		Search Term:			гі то						
		* Validity Date:		14.1	1.2023						
		Data Source Status:		Activ	e 👻						
		Search									
		Data Source									
	Data Source Sub Sce		nario	Connection Type	Valid from	Valid to	Status	Object ID			
	Duplicate Invoice Check Configuration Config		iguration Configura	able	SAP System	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Active	EO/50001402	•	~
		<								>	
									ОК	Cance	:

Figure 8.49 Selection of the Data Source to Create a Business Rule

Business Rule: Step 1 of 9 (Basic Information)											
< Previous Next > Save											
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 Basic Information Data for Analysis Filter Criteria Deficiency Criteria Conditions and Calculations Output Format Technical Settings											
Timeframe 14.11.2	Timeframe 14.11.2023										
General Connectors											
* Name:	Duplicate Invoice Check	* Valid from:	14.11.2023	1	Target Connector	Main Connector	Applied				
* Description:	Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check configuration	* Valid to: Usage: Data Source:	31.12.9999 Automated Process Control Duplicate Invoice Check Co	I	TNDCLNT100	\checkmark	✓				
* Category: * Analysis Type:	Change Log Check Changes	Sub Scenario: Connection Type:	Configurable SAP System								
* Status: In Review Data Source Status: Active Search Term											
Те	erm 1: Term 2:	Term 3:	Term 4:	Term 5:							
	× ×	~	*	~							

Figure 8.50Basic Information Tab in the BusinessRule

Business Rule: Duplicate Invoice Check, Step 2 of 9 (Data for Analysis) Previous Next > Save										
Image: Descent state 1 2 3 Basic Information Data for Analysis Filter Critical] iteria Defic	4 5 ciency Criteria Conditions and Calculations								
Timeframe 14.11.2023										
Available Fields	Se	elected Fields								
Field Description	r c	Field Description								
		Company Code								
		Indicator: check invoice date								
		Indicator: check company code								
		Indicator: notification of purchase order header texts								
		Name of Company Code or Company								

Figure 8.51 Selection of Fields for Analysis

Business Rule: Du	plicate Invoice Check,	Step 3 of 9 (Fil	ter Crite	ria)		
<pre> Previous Next > Save </pre>				C		
Basic Information Date	2 3 ata for Analysis Filter Criteria	4 Deficiency Criteria Con	5 ditions and Cal	culations		
Timeframe 14.11.2023						
Filter Fields	Select/Unselect Filters		× _			
	Filter Fields			elect/Unselect Filters		
Field Description	Field Description	Select	ire Va	ariable Field Name		
	Company Code					
	Indicator: check invoice date					
	Indicator: check company code					
	Indicator: notification of purchase o	rder header texts				
	Name of Company Code or Company					
	<	ОКСап	icel			

Figure 8.52Selection of Fields for Filter Criteria

Bu	Business Rule: Duplicate Invoice Check, Step 3 of 9 (Filter Criteria)									
< Pre	vious Next > S	ave								
⇒	1 Basic Information	2 Data for Analysis	3 Filter Criter	tia Deficiency Crite	eria Conditio	5 ons and Calculations	6 → Output Format			
Time	Timeframe 14.11.2023									
Filt	Filter Fields									
							Select/Unselect Filters			
	Field Description		Value Required	Field Analysis Type	Currency	Unit of Measure	Variable Field Name			
	Company Code			Filter						
Filt	er Value									
							Add Delete			
	Sign	Option	Low			High				
	Range limit inc 🗸	Equals	*		0001					

Figure 8.53 Addition of Filter Values in the Business Rule
Business Rule: Duplicate Invoi	Select/Unselec	t Deficie	ncy	□ ×	-	
l	Handlers				6	7
Basic Information Data for Analysis F	Select Handler	Remove H	andler		Output Format	Technical Settings
	Table Name	Handler	Handler Type	Description		
Timeframe 14.11.2023	T169P					
	T001		Select/Unse	elect Deficien	cy ⊡ ×	
Deficiency Fields			Handlers			Select/Unselect Deficiency
Field Description			Handler	Handler Type	Description ^	Lipit of Moasuro
	Deficiency Fie	ahla	V_169	Maintenance	Generated	Unit of Measure
	Field Description	Select	V_169	Maintenance	Generated	
		Sciect	V_169	Maintenance	Generated	
			T169P	Table	Parameter	
			T169P	SCU3	Get all cha 🗸	
					OK Cancel	
				OK Cancel		

Figure 8.54Selection of Handler for the Table

Select/Unselec	t Deficier	псу	
Handlers			
Select Handler	Remove Ha	ndler	
Table Name	Handler	Handler Type	Description
T169P	T169P	SCU3	Get all cha
T001			
Deficiency Fie	elds		
Field Description			Select
Indicator: check co	ompany code		✓
Indicator: check in	voice date		✓
Indicator: notificat	ion of purcha	se order header te	xts 🔽
			OK Cancel

Figure 8.55 Selection of Deficiency Fields

+	1	2	3	4		5		6		7 🔶
	Basic Information	Data for Analysis	Filter Criteria	Deficiency Crite	ria Conditions	and Calculations	Outpi	ut Format	Technic	al Settings
Time	frame 14.11.2023									
	Field Description				Calculated Field	Field Analysis Type		Currency		Unit of Measure
	Indicator: check com	pany code				Changes	~			
	Indicator: check invoi	ice date				Changes	~			
	Indicator: notification	of purchase order hea	der texts			Changes	~			
Defi	iciency Indicato	r								
•	High OMedium	OLOW								

Figure 8.56Selection of Field Analysis Type andDeficiency Indicator

< SAP	Maintain Profile Parameters
✓ ✓ 🔂 Cancel	
Profile Parameter Maintenance Parameter Name [rec/client 6ð Display Display Docu.	

Figure 8.57Transaction RZ11: Parameter Screen

< SAP Disp	lay Profile Parameter Details
✓ [l	□.
Metadata for Parameter rec/client	
Description	Value
Name	rec/client
Туре	String
Further Selection Criteria	^(OFF ALL ([0-9]{3},){0,9}[0-9]{3})\$
Unit	
Parameter Group	Database
Parameter Description	Activate/Deactivate table auditing
CSN Component	BC-DB-DBI
System-Wide Parameter	No
Dynamic Parameter	No
Vector Parameter	No
Has Subparameters	No
Check Function Exists	No
Value of Profile Parameter rec/client	
Expansion Level	Value
Kernel Default	OFF
Default Profile	ALL
Instance Profile	ALL
Current Value	ALL
Origin of Current Value: Default Profile	

Figure 8.58Review of rec/client Parameter Values

< SAP		Dictionar	y: Define Technical	Settings
✓	~ 🛙 😚	» D	Revised<->Active	i Cancel
General Properties	DB-Specific Prop	perties		
Logical Storage Para	meters			
Data Class	APPL2 Q Master	Data, Transpa	arent Tables	
Size Category	0 Expecte	d Data Reco	rds 2.900.000 to 110	.000.000
Buffering				
O Buffering Not Allow	red			
O Buffering allowed b	ut switched off			
Buffering Activated				
Buffering Type				
Single Records Bu	ıffered			
✓ Generic Area Buff	ered	Nur	nber of Key Fields	1
Fully Buffered				
✓ Log Data Changes				
Writes only with JAV	7			

Figure 8.59 Review the Log Data Changes Configuration for the Table

Business Rule: Duplicate	Invoice Check, Step 6 of 9 (O	utput Forma	at)
Previous Next > Save			0
Basic Information Data for Analy	3 4 sis Filter Criteria Deficiency Criteria Cor	5 nditions and Calculati	ions Output Format
Timeframe 14.11.2023	Select/Unselect Output Fields		
	Output Fields	^	
Deficiency: Indicator: check invoic •	Select All Unselect All		
	Field Description	Select	Select/Unselect Output Fields
Field Description	Company Code	✓	Seq. Number
Deficiency Sequence Number	Indicator: check company code		0000
Deficiency Type Description	Indicator: notification of purchase order header texts		0000
Deficiency Description	Name of Company Code or Company	✓ ✓	0000
Company Code	<	>	0010
Deficiency Field Description	C	OK Cancel	0000
Change Log Change Type Text			0000

Figure 8.60Selection of Additional Output Fields

Business Rule: Dup	olicate Invoid	ce Check, Ste	p7 of9 (Te
<pre> Previous Next > Save </pre>			
Conditions and Calculations	6 Output Format	7 Technical Settings	8 Ad-hoc Query
Timeframe 14.11.2023			
1			
Where to Calculate Deficiency:	Remotely I L	ocally	
Communication Mode:	 Asynchronization 	Synchronization	
Change Log Type:	🗸 Insert 🛛 🗸 Upda	ate 📃 Delete	
Max. No. of Records to Analyze:		100	
V Do Not Use OLSP			

Figure 8.61Technical Settings Configuration in aBusiness Rule

Business Rule: Duplicate Invoice Check, Step 8 of 9 (Ad-hoc Query)									
<pre></pre>	ext > Sa	ve					C		
8 9 Ad-hoc Query Attachment and Links									
Timeframe 14	.11.2023								
Target Connec	ctor: TNDCLN	T100 V Data Collection	Max. Rows:	100 Timeframe:	Year	✓ Year: 2023 ✓	Start		
View: * [Stan	dard View]	✓ Print Version Export ∡							
Table Name	Field Name	AM - Deficiency Field Description	Old contents of changed field	New contents of o	changed field	Creation date of the change document	Change Type		
T169P	XBLDAT	Check invoice date	х			27.05.2023	U		
T169P	XBLDAT	Check invoice date		х		27.05.2023	U		

Figure 8.62Data Collection in the Business RuleAd Hoc Query

Business Ru	le: Duplica	te Invoice Che	ck, Step 8	of 9 (Ad-hoc Query)				
< Previous Next >	Save					0		
Ad-hoc Query Attachment and Links								
Timeframe 14.11.20	23							
Target Connector:	TNDCLNT100 🗸	Apply Rule 🔒 Defic	ciency: All Deficie	ncies	Ŷ	Max. Rows:		
View: [Standard Vie	ew] ~ F	Print Version Export						
Sequence Number	Deficiency Type	Deficiency Description	Company Code	Name of Company Code or Company	Indicator: check invoice date	Deficiency Field Description		
1	High	High	0001	SAP A.G.		Check invoice date		
2	High	High	0001	SAP A.G.	х	Check invoice date		

Figure 8.63Apply Rule Option in the Business RuleAd Hoc Query

Business R « Previous Next	Rule: Step 1 of 9 (E	Basic Inform	ation)					[
Basic Infor	2 mation Data for Analysis	3 Filter Criteria	4 Deficiency Cl	riteria Cor	5 nditions and Calculations	6 Output Format	7 Technical Setting	• 5
Timeframe 14.11.	2023							
General						Connectors		
* Name:	Duplicate Invoice Check	* \	/alid from:	14.11.2023	1	Target Connector	Main Connector	Applied
* Description:	Monitor Values maintained for the configuration duplicate invoice of the configuration duplicate invoice duplicate invoi	ne heck Dai	* Valid to: Usage: a Source:	31.12.9999 Automated Pr Duplicate Invo	rocess Control Dice Check Configura	TNDCLNT100	V	✓
* Category:	Value Check	✓ Sub	Scenario:	Configurable				
* Analysis Type:	Monitor Value	Connec	tion Type:	SAP System				
* Status:	n Review	✓ Data Sour	ce Status:	Active				
Search Term	L							
Те	rm 1: Term 2:	Term 3:		Term 4:	Term 5:			
	× ×	~		~	¥			

Figure 8.64 Basic Information Tab in the Value Check Business Rule

Business Rule: Duplica	te Invoice Check, Step 4 of 9 (D	eficie	enc	y Criteria)	
	Select/Unselect Deficiency		×	6	7
Basic Information Data for A	Deficiency Fields		^	Output Form	nat Technical S
-	Field Description	Select			
Timetrame 14.11.2023	Indicator: check invoice date	$\mathbf{\overline{\mathbf{v}}}$			
	Indicator: check company code	\checkmark			
Deficiency Fields	Indicator: notification of purchase order header texts	~			
	Name of Company Code or Company			Select/Uns	elect Deficiency
Field Description	<	>		Analysis Type	Currency L
	ОК	Cance	el		

Figure 8.65Selection of Deficiency Fields: ValueCheck

Bu	Business Rule: Duplicate Invoice Check, Step 4 of 9 (Deficiency Criteria)													
< Pre	vious Next	Save												
I Þ	1 Basic Inform	2 3 hation Data for Analysis Filter Criteria	riteria C	onditio	5 ons and Calculations	•	6 Output For	mat Technie	- 7 → hical Settings					
Time	eframe 14.11.	2023												
Def	ficiency Fie	elds												
								Select/Uns	elect Deficiency	Calcula	ated Field			
	Field Descrip	otion		Calculated I	Field	Field Analysis Type	9	Currency	/	Unit of M	easure			
	Indicator: ch	eck invoice date				Value Check	~							
	Indicator: ch	eck company code				Value Check	~							
	Indicator: no	tification of purchase order header texts				Value Check	~							
Def	iciency Va	lue												
										Clea	in Values			
Deficiency Type Deficiency Description Sign					Opti	on	Low	/	High					
Hig	High Check for invoice date is not activated		Range limit	ange limit includ 👻		Not equal to 🗸				\bigcirc				
Ме	Medium 🗸			~ ~		~				\bigcirc				
Low	/ v			~		~				\bigcirc				

Figure 8.66 Selection of Field Analysis Type and Deficiency Value

Business Rule: Du	plicate Invoice Check, Step 6 of	9 (Outp	out Format)
<pre></pre>			0
Output Format Technica	7 8 9 al Settings Ad-hoc Query Attachment and Links		
Timeframe 14.11.2023			
Deficiency: Indicator: check in	Select/Unselect Output Fields	□ ×	Colort/Upgolact Output Fields
	Output Fields	^	Select/Onselect Output Fields
Field Description	Select All Unselect All		Seq. Number
Deficiency Sequence Number	Field Description	Select	0000
Deficiency Type Description	Indicator: check company code		0000
Deficiency Description	Indicator: notification of purchase order header texts		0000
Deficiency Field Value	Name of Company Code or Company	V	0000
	<	> Cancel	

Figure 8.67 Output Format Step in the Value Check Scenario

Business Rule: Duplicate Invoice Check, Step 7 of 9 (Technical Settings) Previous Next > Save
6 7 8 9 Output Format Technical Settings Ad-hoc Query Attachment and Links
Timeframe 14.11.2023
%
Where to Calculate Deficiency: Remotely Locally
Communication Mode: Asynchronization
Max. No. of Records to Analyze: 100
Do Not Use OLSP

Figure 8.68 Technical Settings Configuration in a Value Check Business Rule

Business Rule: Duplicate Invoice Check,	Step 8 of 9 (Ad-ho	oc Query)	
Previous Next > Save			0
Technical Settings Ad-hoc Query Attachment and Links	-		
Timeframe 14.11.2023			
Target Connector: TNDCLNT100 • Data Collection _ Max Year: 2023 • Start	x. Rows: 100 T	Timeframe: Year	
View: [Standard View]			2
Name of Company Code or Company Indicator: check invoice date	Indicator: check company code	Indicator: notification of purchase order heade	r texts
SAP A.G. X		х	

Figure 8.69Data Collection in the Value CheckBusiness Rule

Business Ru	ule: Duplic	ate Invoice Check, Step 8	8 of 9 (Ad	-hoc Query)										
<pre> Previous Next > Save</pre>														
7 8 9 Technical Settings Ad-hoc Query Attachment and Links														
Timeframe 14.11.20	Timeframe 14.11.2023													
Target Connector:	TNDCLNT100 V	Apply Rule Deficiency: All Defici	encies		~									
Max. Rows:	0 T	imeframe: Year 🗸	Year: 2023 🗸	Start										
View: [Standard Vi	iew] 🗸	Print Version Export												
Sequence Number	Deficiency Type	Deficiency Description	Company Code	Name of Company Code or Company	Indicator: check									
1	High	Check for Company Code is not activated	0001	SAP A.G.										

Figure 8.70Apply Rule Option in the Value CheckBusiness Rule

Bus	siness Rule: C	DHDR_CDP	OS											
Save														
Time	Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 50001415 Last Modified On 24.09.2023 20:44:17													
	Basic Information Data for Analysis Filter Criteria Deficiency Criteria Conditions and													
Filt	er Fields													
							Select/Unselect Filters							
	Field Description		Value Required	Field Analysis Type Currency		Unit of Measure	Variable Field Name							
	Creation date of the ch	ange document		Filter										
Valu	e Determination: 🧿 Va	lue Range 🛛 Run	time Value Determi	ination										
Filt	er Value													
							Add Delete							
	Sign	Option	Low		High									

Figure 8.71Options to Add Filter Values for a DateField

Value Determination	n: OValue Range	Runtime Value Determination										
* Runtime Method:	Runtime Method:											
	Between Job Step Period from Date and Period to Date											
	Customized Date F	Period										
	Equal to Job Step Period from Date											
	Equal to Job Step Period to Date											

Figure 8.72 Runtime Methods Available in Selection of Values for a Date Filter

Bu	isiness Rule: CDHDR_C	DPOS												
Save	e					0								
Tim	Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 50001415 Last Modified On 24.09.2023 20:44:17													
Filte	Filter Fields													
						Select/Unselect Filters								
	Field Description	Value Required	Field Analysis Type	Currency	Unit of Measure	Variable Field Name								
	Creation date of the change document		Filter											
Value	e Determination: 🔘 Value Range 🛛 💿	Runtime Value Dete	ermination											
* Rur	ntime Method: Customized Date Period			~										

Figure 8.73Selection of the Customized DatePeriod in the Runtime Method

< SAP		View Cluster Editir	ng: Initial Screen
✓	✓ Q Find Ma	aintenance Dialog C	ancel
View Cluster	GRFNVC_MDR	Enter co	nditions
6ð Display	🖉 Maintain	🖶 Transport	La Customizing

Figure 8.74 Access the View Cluster from Transaction SM34

< SAP				C	Chang	ge Vie	w "MDR	Usage	e Libra	ary": (Overvi	ew
✓	G	6j)	5				Cancel	ĹŶ		[↓	[€	
Dialog Structure	М	MDR Usage Library										
	N	IDR U	sage			Text						
✓ C MDR	✓ BF	BRVALUEDETERMINE					Runtime Business Rule Fiter Value Determination					
	🗌 CL	JRR_CO	DNV_DATE			Currency Conversion Date Determination						
CCI Additional Setting		TE_RE	CEIV	ER		Notification Receiver Determination						

Figure 8.75Selection of MDR UsageBRVALUEDETERMINE

Change View "MDR": Overview														
 ✓ 	8 %	🔍 New	Entries	9	5			88 N	lore∨	Ē	□.	2	ô	Exit
Dialog Structure	MDR													Q
✓ ☐ MDR Usage Library	MDR	Usage	Paramet	Parameter Name		Class Name			ABAF	ABAP Method Name				
	BRVAL	JEDETERMINE	BETWEEN	N_JOB_ST.	. CL_G	RFN_C	CI_ST	TATICMD	GET_P	ERIOD_ST	ART_A	ND_E	D_DA	ys 0
Context for each Me	BRVALU	JEDETERMINE		N_JOB_ST.	. CL_G	RFN_C	CI_ST	TATICMDF	GET_C	USTOMIZE	D_ST/	ART_E	D_DA	YS
CCL Additional Setting	BRVALU	JEDETERMINE	FROM_J	DB_STEP_	. CL_G	RFN_C	CI_ST	TATICMDF	GET_P	ERIOD_ST	ART_D	YAC		
	BRVALU	JEDETERMINE	UNTIL_	JOB_STEP	. CL_G	RFN_C	CI_ST	TATICMD	GET_P	ERIOD_EN	ID_DAY	(

Figure 8.76 Selection of the ABAP Method

<	SAP		New Entries: Overview of Added Entries											
>	~	8	6¢	Θ		86 8	20	Cancel	ĹŶ	00	i [¥			
Dialog Structure		Dat	Date Range											(
	MDR Usage Library	I	Param	MDR	Usage	Objec	t ID	Star	t Date	Range	End Date	e	Range Value	
C	∃ MDR		BETWEE	BRVAL	UEDE	50001	415	Afte	r 🗸	16	After	\sim	15	0
	🗅 Context for each Me													
	🗇 Date Range	ш.							~			~		
С	CCI Additional Setting								\sim			\sim		
									\sim			×		

Figure 8.77 Definition of Customized Date Range for a Business Rule ID

< SAP						Mai	ntain	Table	T162:	Field
✓	~ <	>	Cancel	[î		(]	[₽			
Field Selection Key	E22 Cha	ange pu	irchase ord	ler						
Selection group To	erms of	delivery	y and paym	nent						
Fields										
Field Label		Req	d.entry	Opt. e	entry	Di	splay			
Terms of payt. (days, percent)			✓						
Terms of payment				✓						
Incoterms part 1				\checkmark						
Currency				\checkmark						

Figure 8.78 Field Status Configuration

<	S	•					D	ata E	Brow	ser:	Tab	le T:	162	Sele	ect E	ntrie	S	1	L	
~			69 ~	୍	С	Check Table.		80	A	Ŧ	∇		E x	ſw	Ð		æ	畷	闘	Cancel
	CI.	FIdSI	Field selection strin	g		F	ield sel	ection	string					Field	selec	tion sti	ring			
	100	ME22											F							

Figure 8.79 Review the Table Data and Content

Business Rule: 1	est, Step 4 of	9 (Deficiency Cri	teria)		
Basic Information Da	2 3 ta for Analysis Filter Cr	4 iteria Deficiency Criteria	5 Conditions and Calculations	6 Output Format	7 8 Technical Settings Ad-hoc Quer
Timeframe 13.11.2023					
Deficiency Fields					
	Calculated Field		□ ×	Select/Unse	lect Deficiency Calculated Field
Field Description	* Field Description: * BRFplus Data Type:	Field Status configuration of Amount Boolean Number Timepoint Quantity Text	Terms of Payment	Currency	Unit of Measure

Figure 8.80 Calculated Field Data Type Options

Вι	usiness I	Rule: Pay	ment Terms Fie	eld Stat	us									
Sav	re													(2
Tim	eframe 14.11	2023 ID 5000	1423 Last Modified On 26	6.09.2023 15	:02:30									
	Basic Inf	ormation	Data for Analysis	Filter Cri	iteria D	eficiency	/ Cri	iteria	Con	ditior	ns and Cal	culations		3
De	eficiency F	ields												
											Select/Uns	elect Deficiency	Calcula	ated Field
	Field Desci	iption				Calculated F	ield	Field Ana	alysis Type		Currency		Unit of M	easure
	Field Statu	s configuration o	of 'Terms of Payment'			v		Value Che	eck	~				
De	eficiency V	alue												
													Clea	an Values
C	eficiency Type	Deficiency D	escription		Sign		Opti	on		Low	/	High		
н	igh 🗸	Terms of Pay	ment is not maintained as [Display	Range limit	included 👻	Not e	equal to	~	*			\bigcirc	
М	edium 🗸					~			~				\bigcirc	
Lo	w v					~			~				\bigcirc	

Figure 8.81 Definition of Deficiency Criteria Calculated Field

Business Rule:	Payment Terms	s Field Status	i		
Save					0
Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID	50001465 Last Modified	On *00.00.0000 00:00	:0		
Basic Information	Data for Analysis	Filter Criteria	Deficiency Criteria	Conditions and Calculations	Output Format 😕
Deficiency: Field Otatus	opfiguration of Tarma of Da	une ett.			
Field Status d	conliguration of Terms of Pa	ayment 🗸			
BRF Plus Function	S				
			Co	ndition Calculation In Open Delete M	ove Up Move Down
Seq. Number		Function Type		Fu. Field Value Calculation	
				Grouping/Aggregation	

Figure 8.82Selection of the Option Field ValueCalculation

ield Value Calculation		□ ×
Formula is syntactically correct		/
Business Rule Fields		
		F
Field Description	BRFplus Object Name	BRFplus Data Type
Field Selection Key	BR50001423_00000001	Text
Field selection string	BR50001423_00000002	Text
Purchasing document category	BR50001423_00000003	Text
Client	BR50001423_00000004	Text
Field Status configuration of 'Terms of Payment'	BR50001423_00009001	Text
Calculated Field: Field Status configuration of	'Terms of Payment'	
RFplus Data Type: Text		
Check Syntax Switch to Normal Mode		
Formula		
Amount Quantity Number String Da	ate Date Duration Is in	itial
> = < <> >= <= & + -	* / () AND	OR NOT IF
SUBSTRING (BR50001423_00000002 , 10 , 1)		
		OK Cancel

Figure 8.83 Definition of the Calculation Formula

Bus	siness Rule: Payme	ent Terms Fiel	ld Status					
Timet	rame 14.11.2023 ID 50001423	Last Modified On 26.	09.2023 15:02:30					
	Basic Information E	Data for Analysis	Filter Criteria	Defic	ciency Criteria	Conditions and	Calculations	, э
Defic	iency: Field Status configuration	of 'Terms of Payment'	~					
BRF	Plus Functions							
			Condit	tion 🛓 G	rouping/Aggregat	ion 🖌 Open Delete	Move Up Move D	Down
	Seq. Number	Function Type			Function Name			
	001	Field Value Calculation	n		BR50001423_9	001_001_0001		

Figure 8.84 Identification of the Function Name from Calculated Fields

SAP	Search	2、	×
Workbench V Tools V Repository Catalog	Search Criteria		
Show: My Applications V	Application \checkmark is equal to \checkmark *	+ •	
Create Application 注 ビ	Object Type \checkmark is equal to \checkmark Function \checkmark	+ •	
My Applications	Name \checkmark is equal to \checkmark 150001423*	+ •	
	Also include objects from default BRFplus application: Maximum Number of Results: 200 Search Clear Reset		
	0	k Cance	L

Figure 8.85 Option to Search for the Function

SAP	Business Rule Framework plus
Workbench V Tools V	
Repository Catalog	Function: BR50001423_9001_001_0001
Show: Search Result V Search	K Back Z Edit
E E	> General
Search Result S	✓ Detail
> BR50001423_9001_001_0001	Simulation
	Mode: Functional Mode
	Top Expression: \bigcirc BR50001423_9001_001_0001_LOOP \checkmark
	Signature
	Context

Figure 8.86 Option to Select and Edit the Function

Loop: BR50001423_9001_001_0001_LOOP								
K Back								
> General								
✓ Detail								
Context Overview Start Simulation								
Processing Mode: Return Value								
Result Data Object: 🔢 BR50001423_00009001_ET 🗸								
For each entry in table III BR50001423_00009001_IT with line type III BR50001423_00009001_IS								
Repeat the following operations:								
Rules								
(1) Rule: BR50001423_9001_001_0001_RULE								
Process rule: 🖾 BR50001423_9001_001_0001_RULE								

Figure 8.87 Option to Select Rule to Define BRFplus Formula

Switch to Expert Mode Context O	verview Start Simulation											
Result Data Object:	lesult Data Object:											
BR500015Inactive Users 🗸												
BR500015Inactive Users = DT_DU	RATION_DIFF_DAYS (BR500015Last L	ogon Date	, DT_G	ET_CUR	RRENT_DA	TE ())					
< Move Cursor > < Move Token Move Token > < 												
Selected Element: DT_GET_CURREN	T_DATE Documentation											
Context						F	ormula Functions					
Filter: Press Enter after value inp	H H	1	*	+	-	Filt	er by Category: Date and T	ime F				
Name	Description	<u>^</u>	&)		Name	De				
BR50001530_00000001	Last Logon Date	=	<>	•		۲	DT_GET_CURRENT_DATE	Re				
○ ♣ BR50001530_0000002	Account ID	<	<=	>	>=	0	DT_GET_CURRENT_DT	Re				
BR50001530_00000003	User group in user master maintenance	AND	OR	NOT	IF	0	DT_GET_CURRENT_TIME	Re				

Figure 8.88 BRFplus Workbench to Define Calculation Formula

Entity	7: Control	✓ Da	te:* 01.01.20	23	1 Apply					
Org Busi	Organization: ABC* Process: Business Rule: Search			ි Sut	pprocess:	Control:	Control: Monitor Duplicate Invoice			
F										
	Control		Valid From	Valid To	Description	Organization	Process	Subprocess	Test Automation	Trigger
	Monitor Duplicate 01.01.2023 31.12.9999 Invoice Check Config		Monitor Duplicate Invoice ABC India Pvt Check Configurations Ltd		Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing	Automated	Date		
Deta	ils of Assig	ned B	usiness R	ules						
										Modify
	Common Busin	ess Rules	Regulation	n-Specific Busi	ness Rules					

Figure 8.89 Option to Search for Control to Perform the Business Rule Assignment
Sele	ct Business I	Rules											
	Business Rule:	Duplicate inv	oice check cha	anges 🗇									
Busir	ess Rule Status:	Active											
Sear	ch Term: 🗇			To			c7 🖻						5
Sea	irch								Subproc	ess	Test Autom	ation Tri	gger
							F	o Pay	Invoice F	rocessing	Automated	Da	ite
Ð	Business Rule	Valid From	Valid To	Business Rule Category	Data Source	Connection Type	Sub Scenario						
	Duplicate invoice check changes	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Change Log Check	Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations	SAP System	Configurable						
_												Course	
												Save	Call
_								Adv	Pernove	Maintain F	aguancias	Drofessiona	View
								requenc	y	Monitoring	equencies (Compliance	II VIEW

Figure 8.90Selection of the Business to PerformAssignment to Control

Busin	ess Rule:	Ć	Search							
				Select Freque	ncy					F
	Control	Valid From	Valid To				-	Subprocess	lest Automation	Trigger
	Monitor Duplicate	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Frequency	Monitoring	Compliance	to Invoice Processing		Automated	Date
	involce oncer coming			Quarterly				Troccooning		
				Daily						
				Hourly						
				Monthly						
				Weekly						
) o to i	le of Acciment Ru	oinees Du	100	Yearly						
Jela	is of Assigned Bu	isiness Ru	les	Semi-Annually						Canaa
				Any Frequency	✓	✓			58	Cancel
(Common Business Rules	Regulation-	Specific Busines							
							nove	Maintain Free	uencies Professio	onal View
	Business Rule	Des	cription				F	Frequency N	Ionitoring Comp	liance
	 Duplicate invoice of changes 	Duplicate invoice check Monitor changes								
	Duplicate invoice check changes	e Mor	nitor changes to t				ľ	Any Frequency		
						OK Cancel				

Figure 8.91 Selection of Frequencies in the Business Rule Assignment

Active	Active Queries											
Continuous Monitoring Scheduler All (0)												
Contin	Continuous Monitoring Scheduler - All											
Show (Show Quick Criteria Maintenance Change Query Define New Query Personalize											
View:	Standard	View]	Create Jol	b Ca	Incel Job Co	opy Job Open	Job Notific	ation			2	
Job Name Regulation Time Frame Year Created On Created Time Created By Changed On Changed Time Changed By State										Status		

Figure 8.92Create Job Option for AutomatedMonitoring

Continuous Monitoring Scheduler								
🗸 Continue								
* Timeframe:	Quarter 3							
* Year:	2023							
* Job Type:	Automated Monitoring Job							
	Automated Monitoring Job							
	Incoming Event Handling Job							
	Standalone Job							

Figure 8.93 Selection of Job Type as an Automated Monitoring Job



Figure 8.94 Continuous Monitoring Scheduler Job Steps

Continuous	Monitorir	ng Scheduler: S	Step 1 (Header)									
< Previous Next >	Save											
l∳ 1 Header S	2 hare Regulation	3 Select Controls	Control Details									
Timeframe Quarter 3	Timeframe Quarter 3 2023											
* Job Type:	Automated Mo	onitoring Job										
* Job name:	AM_JOB_Q4_	2023										
* Execution Type:	Immediate	>										
* Frequency:	Monthly	*										
* Test Period From:	01.10.2023	1										
* Test Period To:	31.12.2023	1										
Target Connector:		ට										
Comment:												

Figure 8.95 Header Options in the Continuous Monitoring Scheduler

Continuous Monitoring Scheduler: Step 2 (Share Regulation)										
< Previous Next > Save										
Header Share Regulation Select Controls Control Details										
Timeframe Year 2023										
* Regulation: SOX * Monitoring Results Sharing: Do not share Share with some regulations Share with all regulations										

Figure 8.96 Selection of Regulation in Scheduler

Con	tinuou	s Monitoring S	cheduler:	Step 3	(Select C	ontrols)							
< Prev	ious Nex	t > Save											
I+	1 Header	2 Share Regulation 5	3 Select Controls	4 Control De	- I etails								
Timef	rame Year	2023											
Con	trol Sea	ch											
Org	anization:	ABC*	Process:		ď	Subprocess:			Cont	rol:		đ	
Busi	ness Rule:		Search										
ħ	Control		Valid From	Valid To	Description		Organizatio	n Pro	cess	Subproces	s Test Auto	mation	Trigger
	Monitor Du Config	plicate Invoice Check	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Monitor Duplic Configurations	cate Invoice Check	ABC India F Ltd	vt Pro Pag	ocure to	Invoice Processing	Automate	t	Date
								_					
						- +	▲ 🛣						
Ē	Control	Valid From	Valid To	Descrip	ption	Organization	Proc	ss	Subpro	cess Tes	t Automation	Trigg	er

Figure 8.97 Option to Search for Controls to be Scheduled for Automated Monitoring

Con	tinuous Monitoring S ous Next > Save Config	cheduler: gure Submission	Step 4	(Control Details)					
I+	1 2 Header Share Regulation S	3 Select Controls	4 Control De	-l etails					
Timef	rame Year 2023								
Sele	cted Controls								
1	Control	Valid From	Valid To	Description	Organization	Process	Subprocess	Test Automation	Trigger
	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations	ABC India Pvt Ltd	Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing	Automated	Date
-									
Con	trol Business Rules								
	Business Rule		Desc	ription	Targ	Target Connector			
	Duplicate invoice check changes		Monit	tor changes to the configuration dupl	icate invoice check		TND	CLNT100	

Figure 8.98Review the Control Details toSchedule the Job

Remediate Exception: Automated Monitoring											
Sarbanes Oxley Moni	toring: Monitor Dunli	cate Invoi	ce Check Co	onfia							
earbance exicy mon											
Test Period: September 2023	Status: Submitted	Organization:	ABC India Pvt Ltd	Process	Procure to	o Pay	Subprocess: In	voice Process	ing		
Evaluation Issues Regulation	Control Details Requirement	Risks Attachm	ents and Links								
	Control Details Requirement	Riaka Attacimi									
Issues											
			Sector Demediation D	lan Close With	out Plan	Desceion the	ieeua Evcanti	on Void	T		
			saigh Remoulation P	ian Ciose via	Iour Fian	reasign the	Lisade Excepti		Р		
Name			Priority	Status	Reported	Date Ow	vner	Audit Trail			
TNDCLNT100 : Monitor change	s to the configuration duplicate invoice	e check	High	Submitted	24.09.202	3 SAI	IKRISHNA1	Audit Trail			
* Issue Name:	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes to	the configur			Type: A	utomated Mor	nitoring Issue				
* Priority:	High		·		Status: S	Submitted					

Figure 8.99 Options Available for the Issue Owner

Exception	Exception 🗖 🗸												
Result	Result												
Please selec	Please select which result data to be shown: *Indicator: check company code (1) v												
View: [Stan	View: [Standard View] V Print Version Export												
Sequence Number	Deficiency Type	Deficiency Description	Company Code	Name of Company Code or Company	Indicator: check company code	Deficiency Field Description	Change Type	Changed Text	Changed On	Changed At	Changed By	Status	Comment
1	1 High U001 SAP A.G. Check company code Updated Value Updated : Old value X ; New value 24.09.2023 12:31:48 SANDEEPL V												

Figure 8.100Review of Exception Details from theIssue Work Item

Continuous Monitoring Scheduler: Step 2 (Select Business Rules)												
Previous Next > Save												
Header Select Business Rules Confirm												
Timeframe Year 2023												
Object ID: 《 다 다 다 수												
Analysis Type: To												
Category:	U 🥂 * Valid From: 01. 구 🕏	01.2023	1									
Search												
List of Business Rules	List of Business Rules											
Eusiness Rule ID Business Rule Status	Name	Start Date	End Date	Data Source Name	Sub Scenario							
BR/50001421 Active	Duplicate invoice check ch	01.01.2023 31.12.9999		Duplicate Invoice Check C	Configurable							

Figure 8.101 Option to Search for Business Rule to Be Scheduled for Standalone Jobs

Con < Prev	Continuous Monitoring Scheduler: Step 3 (Confirm) < Previous Next > Save											
I Þ —	Header Select Business Rules Confirm											
Time	Timeframe Year 2023											
Con	trol Business Ru	iles										
	Business Rule ID	Status	Business Rule Description	Start Date	End Date	Data Source	Sub Scenario					
	BR/50001421 30 Duplicate invoice check changes 01.01.2023 31.12.9999 EO/50000886 CONFIG											

Figure 8.102 Confirm Step

≡	<u>P</u> rogram	<u>E</u> dit	<u>G</u> oto	S <u>y</u> stem	<u>H</u> elp					
<	SAP	•					Prepare D	ata Sourc	e for trans	port
~			~		Cancel					
Ente	r data									
Ok	ject ID				50000886	P	to			
Co	onnection Ty	/pe					to			□
Su	b Scenario						to			□→
Tran	sport									
Re	quest/Task									
Sh	ort Descrip	tion								

Figure 8.103Prepare Data Source for Transport

<	SAP			Initia	lize Conector	s and St	tatus						
✓ ✓ Initialize Connector and Status Cancel								5	ô	Exit			
Q	≞₹Q		▲ [₹] ∕₂ ◢	i ,,, i									
	Object ID	Name		Start Date	End Date	Status	Con.Type	Sub Scen	Timestamp	Searc	hterm	ls Te	mplat
	50000886	Duplicate Invo	ice Check Configurations	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	30	SAP	CONFIG	20.230.926.030.908				
			Initial Do you really w (?) Connectors and Ves	ize Data Sou vant to initialize Status	Data Source	ors and s	Status		×				

Figure 8.104Option to Initialize Connectors andData Source

<	SA	Manual Transport Interface								
~	/			~	i e) Transport	 Transport 	Transport/De	elete Mor	re 🗸
Pla	Plan Ver. 01									
Q	Ē	Q	Q ⁺ Σ	Σ /Σ	fR	₽⊿⊞				
	Transp	ort	Delete	Ob	Object ID	Object ab	Start Date	End Date	Status	
\checkmark	\checkmark			ОТ	50000886	Duplicate In	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Active	
		=			Pror	mpt for Cust	omizing requ	est		×
		Req	luest		G1	2K900221	Po	Customizing requ	uest	
	Short Description GRC PC Configuration									
								≪ [] Ow	n Requests	⋇

Figure 8.105 Capturing the Data Source in a Transport Request

K SAP P	Prepare Business Rule	e and Data Source for tra	ansport
✓ ₪	Cancel		
Enter Data			
Business Rule			
Business Rule ID	50001421	to	
Business Rule Usage		to	
Business Rule Type		to	
Business Rule Category		to	
Business Rule Analysis Type		to	

Figure 8.106 Selection of the Business Rule ID

Data Source: Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations								
Save Refresh								
Timeframe 14.11.2023 ID 50000886 Last Modified On 26.09.2023 14:09:08								
General Object	t Field Adhoc Query	Connector	Business Rule	Atta	achments and	d Links		
Sub Scenario								
* Sub Scenario	urable		* Connec					
Sub Scenario.	urabic		Connec	uon rype.	AF System			
Parameters								
Main Connector:								
Main Table: T169F)	Main Table Lool	tup					
Select Base Table: T16	Select Base Table: T169P Related Table Lookup Join Conditions							
Tables			Add Additi	onal Join Cond	lition Remo	ve Join Condition		
T001		Tab	e Field N	ame =	Table	Field Name		
		T169	P BUKRS	=	T001	BUKRS		

Figure 8.107 Blank Connector Field after the Data Source Is Captured in a Transport

< SAP	Reset Connector and Status of Data Sources in Orig Sys After Transport
✓	✓ □ Cancel
Enter data	
Object ID	[50000886]□ to □
Connection Type	to d
Sub Scenario	to d

Figure 8.108Selection of Data Source ID to Resetthe Connectors

<	SAP	Restore Connectors and Status							
>	✓ Restore Connector and Status Cancel								2
Q É FQ C'V_I I I B B II I									
	Object ID Name	Start Date	End Date	Status	Con.Type	Sub Scen	Timestamp	Sear	chterm
\checkmark	50000886 Duplicate Invoice Check Configuration	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	30	SAP	CONFIG	20.230.926.030.908		
	Restore R Do you really w Connectors and Yes	ant Resotre Data S status	Source Conne a Source	ctors an Cancel	d Status	>	<		

Figure 8.109Option to Restore Data SourceConnectors and Status

K SAP Rese	et Connector and Status of	Bus. Rules & Data Srcs. A	After Transport
✓	Cancel		
Business Rule			
Business Rule ID	50001421	to	
Business Rule Usage		to	
Business Rule Type		to	
Business Rule Category		to	
Business Rule Analysis Type		to	

Figure 8.110 Selection of Business Rule ID to Reset the Connectors

	Set Connector and Status for Data Source
Cancel	
50000886	to
	to 🗖
Config	
	Cancel

Figure 8.111Selection of Data Source ID to SetConnectors

< 5	SAP Select Business Rule and Data Source to add connector								
✓ ✓ Add Connector/Set Status Cancel							□.	2	
Obje	Object ID Name Start Date End Date Status Con. Type Sub Scen Timestamp Searchtern							hterm	
500	00886 Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	30	SAP	CONFIG	20.230.926.030.908		

Figure 8.112Selection of Option to AddConnectors to a Data Source

< SAP	GRFN_AMF_TRANPORT_SETCONN
✓ 🗸 Cano	el
Enter Data	
Target Connector TNDCL	T100 Q
Set Status to Acitve	
Test Run	

Figure 8.113 Selection of Connector to Be Added to the Data Source

< SAP	Select Business Ru	le and Data Source to add C	onnetor and Active Status
✓ □	Cancel		
Business Rule			
Business Rule ID	50001421	to	
Business Rule Usage		to	
Business Rule Type		to	
Business Rule Category		to	
Business Rule Analysis Type		to	
Data Source			
Data Source ID		to	
Connection Type		to	
Sub Scenario	Config		

Figure 8.114Selection of Business Rule ID to SetConnectors

<	SAP Select Business Rule and Data Source to add connector														
~	✓ Add Connector/Set Status Cancel														
Q															
	BR ID	Business Rule	Usage	Туре	Category	Analy Ty	/pe	Ana Ty Ind	Status	Group	Searchterm	Business	Rule Ve	r. Is	Templat
	50001421	Duplicate invoice check changes	10	30	LOG	CC			30			20.230.926	.083.90	В	

Figure 8.115Selection of Option to AddConnectors to a Business Rule

< SAP	GRFN_AMF_TRANPORT_SETCONN							
✓	∨ 🖫 🕞 Cancel							
Enter Data								
Target Connector	TNDCLNT100							
Set Status to Acitve	L L							

Figure 8.116 Selection of Connector to Be Added to the Business Rule

<	SAP	Ex	Export BRFplus XML					
~		ı Ç	Cancel					
Expor	t BRFplus XML							
	Export BRFplus function							
0	Export BRFplus application							

Figure 8.117Selection of the Export BRFplusOption

<	sap -	Business Rule List								
~	✓ ✓ Export BRFplus Function XML Cancel									
	Q E T Q T I Z I H B B B									
-	Name	Object ID	Exception List ID	Exception List Description	BRFplus Function ID	BRFplus Function Name				
	Payment Terms Field Status	50001423	9001	Field Status configuration of 'Terms of Payment'	74D435E402F61EDE9783F18D0A2F20D6	BR50001423_9001_001_0001				

Figure 8.118Selection of Business Rule to Exportto BRFplus

< SAP	Export BRFplus XML	
✓ ✓ 🖾 🕓 Cancel		
Input Information BREalus Object ID to be exported 74043	5E402E61EDE0 -	
	Select File	×
Output Type	\leftarrow \rightarrow \checkmark \uparrow \blacksquare « Desktop \rightarrow BRFplus \checkmark \circlearrowright \checkmark Search BRFplus	
Download XML	Organise ▼ New folder III ▼	•
Display XML	OneDrive - Person Name Date modified	Туре
	This PC No items match your search. SD Objects Desktop	
	Documents v <	>
	File name: *.xml	∼ Cancel

Figure 8.119 Export BRFplus Function

< SAP	Export	BRFplus XML						
✓ Cancel [↑ [↑	а a		Q	ď,	6	G.	2	🗞 Exi
Export BRFplus XML								1
Following Errors,Warning,Information messag	e were received during XML export							
Message Type FDT Object	FDT ObjectID	Message Text						
Warning/InformationBR50001423_00009001_UDAT	74D435E402F61EDE9783F18D0A2DA0D6	No timepoint type is specified						
Warning/InformationBR50001423_00009001_UDAT	74D435E402F61EDE9783F18D0A2DC0D6	No timepoint type is specified						
Warning/InformationBR50001423_00009001_UTIM	74D435E402F61EDE9783F18D0A2DE0D6	No timepoint type is specified						
Warning/InformationBR50001423_00009001_UTIM	74D435E402F61EDE9783F18D0A2E00D6	No timepoint type is specified						
Warning/InformationBR50001423_9001_001_0001	74D435E402F61EDE9783F18D0A2F20D6	Context data object 74D435E402F61EDE9783F18D0A2	2EC0D	6 is	not u	used		
Warning/InformationBR50001423_9001_001_0001		XML has been exported successfully with transpo	ort r	eques	t ID	\$X1P	00000	0000000

Figure 8.120Message Indicating SuccessfulExport of XML File

< 🐅	Import BRFplus XML
✓ 🦳 🤤 Cano	cel
XML File	
Enter XML file path	\TNOW\Desktop\BRFplus\XML
Action	
Check before importing	
Save and activate after importing	
Version	
System XML version number 1.13	

Figure 8.121Selection of BRFplus File for Import



Figure 8.122 Options to Export Data

	2		3 ———								
Select Business Rules	Set Exporting Optic	ons Review ar	nd Confirm								
ee Search Criteria											
• Filter by Business R	Filter by Business Rule Filter by Data Source										
Object ID: 🗖 500	01421 🖸	Тс	» د	I							
Analysis Type: 🔶	C	Тс	D c			Name	e:				
Category: 🔶	C	Тс	b C		Ì	* Valid Fron	1: 14.11.20				
Search Term: 🔶		C To			₽♂						
Search											
Rusinoss Rulo ID	Rusiness Dule No	Rucinoss Rulo	Rucinoss Rulo	Rusiness Rule	Data Source Mr	ama Sub	Scopario				
	Busiliess Rule Na	A stive	Dusiness Rule	Business Rule	Data Source Na	arrie Sub	Scenario				
BR/50001421	Duplicate invoice ch	Acuve	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Duplicate Invol	ce C Con	ngurable				
<							>				
(j) 0						Previous	Next >				

Figure 8.123 Selection of Business Rules to Export

SAP	Export Data Sources and	Business Rules: Step 2	(Set Exporting Options)	
				⁰∨
Select Business Rules	2 Set Exporting Options	Review and Confirm		
Include Search Terms: Include Connectors: 	Yes No Yes No			
(j) 0			Previous	Next >

Figure 8.124Selection of Export Options

Export Business Rules Show Logs ① ② ③ ③ Select Business Rules Set Exporting Options Review and Confirm Include Search Terms: Yes Yes No Include Connectors: Yes Yes No Business Rule ID Business R Business Rule ID Duplicate invoi Active 01.01.2023 31.12.9999 Duplicate Invoi Configurable For TND clie EO/50000886 Image: Configurable Image: Do you want to open or save CCM_CONTENT_20230926.zip (1.99 KB) from g12grc.tnow.com?	Export Data Sources and Business Rules: Step 3 (Review and Confirm)									
Image: Select Business Rules Set Exporting Options Review and Confirm Include Search Terms: Yes No Include Connectors: Yes No Business Rule ID Business Rul Business R Business R Business R Business R Data Source Sub Scenario Main Conn Data Source ID BR/50001421 Duplicate invoi Active 01.01.2023 31.12.9999 Duplicate Invoi Configurable For TND clie EO/50000886 Image: Select Business Do you want to open or save CCM_CONTENT_20230926.zip (1.99 KB) from g12grc.tnow.com? Xelect Business	Export Business Rules Show Logs									
Include Search Terms: Yes No Include Connectors: Yes No Business Rule ID Business Rul Business R Business R Data Source Sub Scenario Main Conn Data Source ID BR/50001421 Duplicate invoi Active 01.01.2023 31.12.9999 Duplicate Invoi Configurable For TND clie EO/50000886	1 2 3 Select Business Rules Set Exporting Options Review and Confirm									
Business Rule ID Business Rul Business R Business R Business R Data Source Sub Scenario Main Conn Data Source ID BR/50001421 Duplicate invoi Active 01.01.2023 31.12.9999 Duplicate Invoi Configurable For TND clie EO/50000886	Include Search Terms: Ves No Include Connectors: Ves No									
Business Rule ID Business Rul Business R Business R Business R Data Source Sub Scenario Main Conn Data Source ID BR/50001421 Duplicate invoi Active 01.01.2023 31.12.9999 Duplicate Invoi Configurable For TND clie EO/50000886 All @ 1 @ Business Do you want to open or save CCM_CONTENT_20230926.zip (1.99 KB) from g12grc.tnow.com? X									⊻ ⊚	
BR/50001421 Duplicate invoi Active 01.01.2023 31.12.9999 Duplicate Invoi Configurable For TND clie EO/50000886	Business Rule ID	Business Rul	Business R	Business R	Business R	Data Source	Sub Scenario	Main Conn	Data Source ID	
All @ 1 @ Busines Do you want to open or save CCM_CONTENT_20230926.zip (1.99 KB) from g12grc.tnow.com?	BR/50001421	Duplicate invoi	Active	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Duplicate Invoi	Configurable	For TND clie	EO/50000886	

Figure 8.125 Option to Export the Business Rule in a Zip File and Save It
SAP		-		Export Data	Sources and Business Rules: Step 3 (Review and Confi	rm)	
Export Business Rules Show Logs		Logs 🛛					
	((Print Version Export V	•
Select Business Rules	Set Expor	Message Type	Message Class	Message Number	Message Text		
Industry Contraction of the			GRFN_CLM	1	Content importing/exporting started at 2023-09-26 08:14:56		
include Search Terms: (_	j res 🕑 No		GRFN_CLM	69	Importing is triggered from CCM		
Include Connectors: 🔘 Yes 💿 No			GRFN_CLM	77	Key date is 2023-01-01		
			GRFN_CLM	6	System starts to export entity EO		
	har second		GRFN_CLM	50	Metadata loaded successfully for entity EO		
Business Rule ID	Business F		GRFN_CLM	8	Object EO/50000886(Duplicate Invoice Check Configurations) i	s exported successfully	
BR/50001421	Duplicate		GRFN_CLM	7	Entity EO is exported successfully		ā
			GRFN_CLM	6	System starts to export entity BR		
			GRFN_CLM	50	Metadata loaded successfully for entity BR		
			GRFN_CLM	8	Object BR/50001421(Duplicate invoice check changes) is expo	ted successfully	
			GRFN_CLM	7	Entity BR is exported successfully		
			GRFN_CLM	80	Export: Object ID EO/50000886 mapping GUID 74D435E402F6	1EDE9782D59D5658E0D6	
			GRFN_CLM	80	Export: Object ID BR/50001421 mapping GUID 74D435E402F6	1EDE9782D59D565900D6	
			GRFN_CLM	2	Content importing/exporting ended at 2023-09-26 08:14:56		
				_			
						Clos	se

Figure 8.126 Option to Review the Export Logs

SAP	I	mport Data Source	s and Business Ru	les: Step 1 (Select	Entries)	
						? ~
- 1	2					
Select Entries Set De	efault Values Se	et Importing Options	Review and Conf	firm		
List of Business Rules						
Business Rule Name	Business Rule	Business Rule	Business Rule	Data Source Name	Sub Scenario	Main Connector
Duplicate invoice ch	Active	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Duplicate Invoice	Configurable	
③ •				Y Previou	us Next 🗲 🛙	mport Business Rule

Figure 8.127 Selection of Business Rules for Import

SAP	Import Data Sources and Business Rules: Step 2 (Set Default Values)								
									?∨
		2 —		- 3 -	4) ——			
Select Entries	Select Entries Set Default Values Set Importing Options Review and Confirm								
Default Value									
"Valid From", "Val	lid To" w	ill not be up	odated if the	rule already e	xist in target system				
Valid From:	01.01.2	2023 🗰							
Valid To:	31.12.9	9999 🗰							
Status:		\sim		Apply to All	Apply to Selected E	ntries			
Main Connector:			\sim	Apply to All	Apply to Selected E	ntries			
List of Business	s Rules								
Validate Selected	Connect	tor Status	Remove						⊥ ⊚
Business Rule	Na	Business R	ule S Bu	siness Rule V.	Business Rule	Data Source Name	Sub Scenario	Main Connector	Connector Stat
Duplicate invoi	ce ch	Active	~ 01	.01.2023	31.12.9999	Duplicate Invoice C	Configurable	For TND clie \smallsetminus	\checkmark
(j) 0							Yer Yer	evious Next > Ir	nport Business Rule

Figure 8.128 Option to Set the Connector and Status to the Business Rules

SAP		Import Data	Sources and Bu	siness Rules: Step 4	(Review and Cor	ıfirm)	
Simulate Importing							? ~
Select Entries Set Det	2 fault Values S	et Importing Options	s Review and	I Confirm			
Import Search Term: Yes List of Business Rules	Import Search Term: Yes No List of Business Rules						
							⊻ ⊚
Business Rule Na E	Business Rule S	Business Rule V	Business Rule	Data Source Name	Main Connector	Sub Scenario	Connector Sta
O Duplicate invoice ch	Active	01.01.2023	31.12.9999	Duplicate Invoice C	For TND client 1	Configurable	~
(i) 0					A Previous	Next >	nport Business Rule

Figure 8.129Option to Import Business Rules

COPYOFPO	New	
JPG_PO_VIE KENNY_TES	Find	Ctrl+F
📳 LARGER_TH	Refresh	F5
PC_SUPPOR	Paste	Ctri+V

Select the requir	ed view type and enter the details	
Name:*	PURCHASING_HEADER_WITH_AMOUNTS	
Label:	PURCHASING_HEADER_WITH_AMOUNTS	
Package:*	tmp.i808813.PCMonitoring	Browse
View Type:	Calculation View	
Copy From:		Browse.
Subtype:	Standard	
Calculation Vie	tw	
Type: SQL Scr	îpt	-

Figure 8.130 Option to Create New Calculation

Views

	Name	Data type		Length	Scale
1	Client	NVARCHAR		3	
2	PO_ID	NVARCHAR		10	
3	CoCode	NVARCHAR		10	
4	Currency	NVARCHAR		3	
5	LastChangedOn	NVARCHAR		10	
6	isDeleted	NVARCHAR		1	
7	PO_Amt	DECIMAL		15	2
8	ItemCount	INTEGER	-		
9	<click add="" to=""></click>				

Figure 8.131 Definition of Output Columns

Output ★ ★ ▼ ▼ ✓ + ▼	Create an Input Input parameters parameterize curr	Parameter are used to parameterize the view execution such as, to ency conversion, calculated columns or inner filters.
Edit Columns	Name:*	ClientParameter
(à) New Input Parameter	Label:	ClientParameter
	Parameter Type: Default Value Ocnstant (Value: 600	Direct
	Direct Semantic Type: Data Type:*	▼ NVARCHAR ▼ Length: 3 Ţ Scale:

Figure 8.132Definition of Input Parameters

```
SQL SQL
 ⊖ /**** BEGIN PROCEDURE SCRIPT ***** /
   BEGIN
       var_out =
       select L.MANDT AS "Client", L.EBELN AS "PO_ID", L.BUKRS as "CoCode"
           , L.WAERS as "Currency", to_date(L.AEDAT) as "LastChangedOn"
           , L.LOEKZ as "IsDeleted", sum (R.NETWR) as "PO_Amt"
           , count (*) as "ItemCount"
       from "SAPN60"."EKKO" as L right outer join "SAPN60"."EKPO" as R
           AS L.MANDT = R.MANDT and L.EBELN = R.EBELN
       Where
           L.MANDT like :ClientParameter
           and to_date(:DateForm) < To_date(L.AEDAT)
           and to_date(:DateTo) < To_date(L.AEDAT)
           group by L.MANDT, LEBELN, L.BUKRS, L.WAERS, L.AEDAT, L.LOEKZ
           order by L.EBELN, L.AEBDT;
   END /*******End Procedure Script *******/
```

Figure 8.133 Sample SQL Code in a Calculation View

New Entries: Details of Added Entries						
🦅 星 🔂 🗟						
DB Connection	HOtoo]				
DBMS	HDB					
User Name	sudhalkar					
DB password	*******	1	*****			
Conn. info	ld9227:30215					
Permanent						
Connection Limit	10					
Optimum Conns	5					

Figure 8.134 Establishment of a New Transaction DBCO Connection

RFC Destinatio	on HOTOO			
Connection Test 💖				
RFC Destination	НОТОО			
Connection Type L Logical Destination Description				
Description				

Figure 8.135Configuration of the Logical

Connection

Data Sour	ce							
Save Refres	Save Refresh							
Timeframe 01.01	.2023 ID 50001463	Last Modified On						
General (Object Field	Adhoc Query	Connector	Attachments and Link	s			
Sub Scenari	0							
* Sub Scenario:	HANA		~	* Connection Type:	HANA Database	,		
Parameters								
Main Connector: TSDCON								
Vie	ew name:							
Fields								

Figure 8.136Query Lookup Option in the SAPHANA Data Source

Data So	ource			
Save		0		
Timeframe	05/18/2015 ID 50005702 Last Modified On			
Lookup				
View Name:	*Purchasing*			
Apply C	Clear			
View N	lame	Description		
"_SYS	_BIC*."d024705/PurchasingDocumentScheduleLines*	*_SYS_BIC*.*d024705/PurchasingDocumentScheduleLines*		
*_SYS	_BIC"."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingDocumentHeader"	"_SYS_BIC"."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingDocumentHeader"		
"_SYS	_BIC"."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingDocumentItem"	"_SYS_BIC"."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingDocumentitem"		
"_SYS	_BIC"."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingDocumentItemHistoryValues"	"_SYS_BIC"."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingDocumenttlemHistoryValues"		
"_SYS	_BIC"."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingGroup"	"_SYS_BIC"."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingGroup"		
"_SYS	_BIC*."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingGroupAnalysisQuery*	*_SYS_BIC*."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingGroupAnalysisQuery*		
"_SYS	_BIC*."sap.hba.ecc/PurchasingOrganisation"	"_SYS_BIC"."sap.hba.ecoPurchasingOrganisation"		
"_SYS	_BIC*."Imp.1808813.PCMonitoring/PURCHASINGDOCAMOUNTS*	"_SYS_BIC"."Imp.1808813.PCMonitoring/PURCHASINGDOCAMOUNTS"		
SYS	BIC The ISOBE13 PCMonitoring/PURCHASING_HEADER_WITH_AMOUNTS	*_SYS_BIC*.*mp.i808813.PCMonitoring/PURCHASING_HEADER_WITH_AMOUNTS*		
• L		OK Cancel		

Figure 8.137Selection of the Query in the DataSource

Da	Data Source										
Save											
Time	Timeframe 05/18/2015 ID 50005702 Last Modified On										
	General Object	t Field Adhoc Query C	onnector Attachme	ents and Links							
Par	Parameters										
Mair	Connector: H0TOO	[] Query Loo	kup								
View	v name: "_SYS_BIC"."tm	p.i808813.PCMonitoring/PO_HDR_AM	IT_S								
Fiel	ds										
Ē	Field ID	Source Field	Field Type	Amount or Quantity	Field Description						
	00000001	Client	С		Client						
	0000002	PO_ID	с		PO_ID						
	0000003	CoCode	С		CoCode						
	00000004	Currency	с		Currency						
	0000005	LastChangedOn	С		LastChangedOn						
	0000006	IsDeleted	С		IsDeleted						
	0000007	PO_Amt	Р		PO_Amt						
	0000008	ItemCount	1		ItemCount						

Figure 8.138Fields Selected from the InfoSetQuery in the Data Source

Jo Sho	Job Monitor Show: Year 2023 Apply Max. Rows: 50										
Ex											
Viev	r: * [Standard View	I) View Print Version Export	w Results	View Events	Business Rule	Org. Level Sys	tem Parameters	Snapshot	Report Ad Hoc Issue	2	
	Regulation	Job Name	Job Step	Status 🌹	Total Deficiency Count	Deficiency Type	Execution Date	Start time	Control	Business Rule	
	SOX	MONITOR POFILE PARAMETER ACCESS	185	New	0		30.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters	
	SOX	MONITOR SM30 ACCESS	185	New	0		30.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization SM30	Monitor access to Critical action SM30	
	SOX	MONITOR POFILE PARAMETER ACCESS	184	New	0		29.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters	
	SOX	MONITOR SM30 ACCESS	184	New	0		29.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization SM30	Monitor access to Critical action SM30	
	SOX	MONITOR POFILE PARAMETER ACCESS	183	New	0		28.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters	
	SOX	MONITOR SM30 ACCESS	183	New	0		28.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization SM30	Monitor access to Critical action SM30	
	SOX	MONITOR POFILE PARAMETER ACCESS	182	New	0		27.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters	
	SOX	MONITOR SM30 ACCESS	182	New	0		27.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization SM30	Monitor access to Critical action SM30	
	SOX	MONITOR POFILE PARAMETER ACCESS	181	New	0		26.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters	
	SOX	MONITOR SM30 ACCESS	181	New	0		26.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization SM30	Monitor access to Critical action SM30	
	SOX	MONITOR POFILE PARAMETER ACCESS	180	New	0		25.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization	Access to maintain profile parameters	
	SOX	MONITOR SM30 ACCESS	180	New	0		25.09.2023	05:30:00	Monitor Critical Authorization SM30	Monitor access to Critical action SM30	E
	Sarbanes Oxley	AM_JOB_Q4 2023	9	Completed	3	High	25.09.2023	01:49:53	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate invoice check changes	
	Sarbanes Oxley	AM_JOB_Q4 2023	8	Completed	0	Adequate	25.09.2023	01:49:51	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate invoice check changes	
	Sarbanes Oxley	AM_JOB_Q4 2023	7	Completed	0	Adequate	25.09.2023	01:49:50	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate invoice check changes	
	Sarbanes Oxley	AM_JOB_Q4 2023	6	Completed	0	Adequate	25.09.2023	01:49:47	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate invoice check changes	~

Figure 8.139 Job Monitor Report

Monitoring	Monitoring Issue Status Personalia											
Tabular report by su	Tabular report by subprocess showing all issues generated and their current status											
Selection	> Selection											
Results												
					Print or Export							
Organization	Subprocess	Control	Issue	Description (Issue)	Issue Processor							
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes to the configuration duplicate invoice check	2 High 2 Medium 0 Low 0								
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes to the configuration duplicate invoice check	3 High 3 Medium 0 Low 0	SAIKRISHNA1							
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check	4 High 4 Medium 0 Low 0	Sandeep							
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check	4 High 4 Medium 0 Low 0								
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check	4 High 4 Medium 0 Low 0	Sandeep							
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check	4 High 4 Medium 0 Low 0	Sandeep							
Power Generation	System Parameters	Monitor Password Parameter	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor Password Parameter Settings	1 High 1 Medium 0 Low 0	SAIKRISHNA1							
Power Generation	System Parameters	Monitor Password Parameter	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor Password Parameter Settings	1 High 1 Medium 0 Low 0								
Power Generation	Access Management	Monitor users with SAP_All access	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor users with access to profiles : SAP_All	10 High 10 Medium 0 Low 0	Sandeep							
Test	Tnow Basis	Control to monitor user vs standard role	TNDCLNT100 : Business rule to monitor user vs standard role assignment	7 High 7 Medium 0 Low 0								
Test	Tnow Basis	Control to monitor user vs standard role	TNDCLNT100 : Business rule to monitor user vs standard role assignment	7 High 7 Medium 0 Low 0								
Test	Tnow Basis	Control to monitor user vs standard role	TNDCLNT100 : Business rule to monitor user vs standard role assignment	7 High 7 Medium 0 Low 0								

Figure 8.140 Monitoring Issue Status Report

Monitoring Remediation Status Personalize											
Tabular report showing the status of remediation plans by monitoring control											
> Selection											
Results	Results										
			N	Pr	int or Export						
Organization	Subprocess	Control	Issue 🗟	Issue Priority	Issue Processor						
Power Generation	r Generation Invoice Processing Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config		TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check High		Sandeep						
Power Generation Access Management Monitor users with SAP_All access		Monitor users with SAP_All access	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor users with access to profiles : SAP_All	High	Sandeep						

Figure 8.141Monitoring Remediation StatusReport

Policies	
Show Year 2023 Apply Advanced	Create Depen Copy Actions Actions
Name	Type
Policy Hierarchy	Policy Hierarchy

Figure 9.1 Policy Group Creation Option under Policies

Policy Grou	p			
Timeframe Year 202	3			
General	Policy Group Document			
* Name: Description:	Compliance Compliance Policy Group	* Valid From: * Valid To:	01.01.2023 31.12.9999	
* Approval Survey:	Policy Approval Survey ~]		

Figure 9.2 Configuration of Policy Group

Policies	Policy Grou	р
Show Year 2023 Apply Advanced Create Open Copy Actions Policy Group	Name: Valid From:	Compliance 01.01.2023
Policy Hierarchy Policy Hierarchy	Valid To:	31.12.9999
Compliance Policy Group		

Figure 9.3Policy Creation Option under PolicyGroup

ve Send for Review	V Submit for Approval		
licy Group Compliance	Distribution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey Stat	us Draft Version 002	
General Polic	y Document Policy Scope Risks Controls	Policy Sources Issues Roles	Review and Approval
* Name:	Anti Corruption Policy	Policy Category:	Global trade related policy
Description:	Policy to comply with anti-corruption laws	* Responsible Organization:	ABC International Ltd
		Created By:	SAIKRISHNA1
		Created On:	08.10.2023 22:27:31
* Policy Type:	Policy	* Valid From:	08.10.2023
* Distribution Methods:	Acknowledgement V Quiz Survey	* Valid To:	31.12.9999
Distribution Language:	6	Date for Next Revision:	01.01.2024
* Quiz Template:	Policy Quiz 🗸	Note:	Review the policy document
* Survey Template:	Policy Survey		
* Purpose:	No corruptive practices take place in the organization		

Figure 9.4 General Tab Options in Policy Creation

Policy: Anti Corruption Policy										
Save Send for F	Save Send for Review Submit for Approval									
Policy Group Comp	Policy Group Compliance Distribution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey Status Draft Version 002									
General PO	General Policy Document Policy Scope Risks Controls Policy Sources Issues Roles Review and Approval									
Attachments										
					Add _	Open Char	nge Remove E	Existing Versions		
Туре	Title	Version	File Size	File Type	Added On	Added By	Attachmen	Parent Object		
	Anti-Corrup	001	12 kb	application/v	02.10.2023	SAIKRISHNA	1 Document	Anti Corruption Policy(Version:001)		
Anti-Corruption Po	licy									
Title	Anti-Corruption	n Policy				Modified On:	02.10.2023 11:26:5	55		
Document Category	General					Origin:				
Version	001					Added On:	02.10.2023 11:26:5	55		
File Name	Anti Corruptior	Policy.doc	¢			Added By:	SAIKRISHNA1			
File Type	application/vnd	d.openxmlfor	mats-officed	ocument.wordproce	essingml.document	t				
File Size	12 kb									
Attachment Type	Document									

Figure 9.5 Policy Document Upload Options

Policy: Anti Corruption Policy										
Save Send for Review Submit for Approval										
Policy Group Compliance Distribution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey Status Draft Version 002										
General Policy Document Policy Scope Risks	Controls Policy Sources Issues Ro	oles Review and Approval								
Organizations Processes Activities People Exc	lusions									
Assign Organizations										
		Assign Remove								
Organizations	Assignment Method	Owner								
 ABC International Ltd 	Assign Directly									
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Inherited	SAIKRISHNA1								

Figure 9.6 Assignment of Organizations in the Scope of Policy

Pol	Policy: Anti Corruption Policy									
Save	Save Send for Review Submit for Approval									
Polic	Policy Group Compliance Distribution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey Status Draft Version 002									
	General Policy Document Poli	icy Scope Risks Co	ntrols Policy Sources	Issues Roles	Review and Approval					
Organizations Processes Activities People Exclusions										
					Assign Remove					
Ē	Processes	Туре	Description	Organization	Owner					
	Procure to Pay	Process		ABC India Pvt Ltd						
	Invoice Processing	Subprocess		ABC India Pvt Ltd						

Figure 9.7 Processes and Subprocess Assignment Screen in Policy Definition

	Delieur Anti Communica Delieur										
Pol	Policy: Anti Corruption Policy										
Save	Save Send for Review Submit for Approval										
Polic	Policy Group Compliance Distribution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey Status Draft Version 002										
	General Policy Document	Policy Sco	De Risks	Controls	Policy Sources	Issues	Roles	Review and Approval			
C	Organizations Processes	Activities Pe	ple Ex	xclusions							
Ass	sign Activities										
								Assign	Remove		
Ē	Activity	0	ganization					Owner			
	PO Creation	A	ABC International Ltd								
	PO Creation	A	ABC India Pvt Ltd								

Figure 9.8 Assignment of Activities in the Scope of Policy

Policy: Anti Corruption Policy				
Save Send for Review Submit for Approval				C
Policy Group Compliance Distribution Methods	Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey State	us Draft Version 002		
General Policy Document Polic	SCOPE Risks Controls	Policy Sources Iss	ues Roles	Review and Approval
Organizations Processes Activities	People Exclusions			
Select Poles				
Select Koles				Select Remove
Roles			Туре	
Cross Regulation Policy Viewer			GRC Role	
Select User Groups				
				Select Remove
User Group ID		User Groups		
Select Specific Users				
				Select Remove
People	Туре	Email Address		
Select Distribution List				
				Select Remove
Distribution List			Туре	

Figure 9.9Assignment of People in the Scope ofPolicy

Policy:	Anti	Corruption	Policy						
Save	end for R	Review Submit for	Approval						
Policy Grou	p Compl	iance Distribution	Methods Ack	nowledgerr	ient, Quiz	z, Survey Statu	is Draft Version 002		
Gener	al	Policy Document	Policy	Scope	Risks	Controls	Policy Sources	Issues	Roles
Organiz Exclusions:	Clause employe	Processes 1.2 mentioned in the ees from other team	Activities e attached polic s can ignore it	People y documen	Exc	cable only to Co	mpliance team and		

Figure 9.10 Exclusions in the Scope of Policy

Pol	icy: Anti	Corruption Po	licy						
Save	Send for	Review Submit for App	roval						?
Polic	y Group Com	pliance Distribution Meth	ods Acknowle	dgement, Quiz,	Survey Status	Draft Version 002			
	General	Policy Document	Policy Scope	Risks	Controls	Policy Sources	Issues	Roles	ы
Ris	ks								-
								Assign	Remove
Ē	Risk			Organization		Activity	Classification	Owr	ner
	Anti-competi	tion, corruption, AML laws		ABC Internation	nal Ltd	PO Creation	Compliance	RAG	GHU

Figure 9.11 Option to Add Risk to the Policy

Po Save	Send for Review Submit for Appr	icy oval					C
Polic	cy Group Compliance Distribution Method	ods Acknowledgeme	nt, Quiz, Survey Stat	us Draft Version	002		
	General Policy Document	Policy Scope F	Risks Controls	Policy Source	es Issues Roles	Review and	d Approval
Reg	gulation: 🗸						Personalize
Со	ntrols					A	ssign Remove
Ē	Name	Subprocess	Organization	Owner	Test of Effectiveness	Control Design Assessment	Self Assessment
	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Invoice Processing	ABC India Pvt Ltd	SAIKRISHNA1	Bignificantly Deficient		

Figure 9.12 Option to Add Controls to the Policy

Policy: Anti Corruption Po	licy				
Save Send for Review Submit for Appr	roval				0
Policy Group Compliance Distribution Meth	ods Acknowledgement	t, Quiz, Survey Stat	tus Draft Version 002		
General Policy Document	Policy Scope Ri	isks Controls	Policy Sources	S Issues Roles	Review and Approval
Policy Sources				Add Sources	Remove Expand All Collapse All
Policy Sources			Туре		~
Business goals and objectives	Add Sources			objectives	
Corporate strategy		D 11 (0			
Regulations and/or requirements	* Policy Sources:	Prevention of Corru	ption Act	requirements	
Other policies	Description: (Compliance with the Corruption Act	Prevention of		
Best practices					
Laws/legal requirements				ents	
Industry standards			OK Cancel		
Voluntary commitments			ORCOR	ents	
Organizational initiatives and progra	ms		Organizational init	iatives and programs	
Observed events/incidents			Observed events/i	ncidents	•

Figure 9.13 Assignment of Policy Sources

Policy: Anti Corruption	Policy
Save Send for Review Submit for	pr Approval
Policy Group Compliance Distribution	a Methods Acknowledgement Quiz Survey Status Draft Version 002
Tong aroup complance plothoutor	
General Policy Document	Policy Scope Risks Controls Policy Sources ISSUES Roles
<i>e</i> Ad Hoc Issue: - Internet Explorer	– 🗆 X
http://g12grc.tnow.com:8000/ui2/nwbc/	?sap-nwbc-node=navigate_absolute&sap-nwbc-new_window=X
Ad Hoc Issue:	Create Open Copy Refresh Li
Submit Save Draft	Date Attachments
Status Draft Created By Karthika G. C	Treated On 09 10 2023
Status Blan Groated By Ranning O C	Updated On
Issue Details Regulation Attac	chments and Links
* Name:	Incorrect Payments
* Description:	Payments made to a vendor multiple times
* Priority:	High
Object Type:	Policy
Object Name:	Anti Corruption Policy Open
Owner:	KARTHIKA
Source:	Continuous Monitoring
* Issue Date:	09.10.2023
Due Date:	16.10.2023
Audit Trail	Audit Trail

Figure 9.14Reporting an Issue for a Policy

Pol	icy: Anti Corr	uption Policy					
Save	Send for Review	Submit for Approval					
Polic	y Group Compliance	Distribution Methods Ackno	wledgement, Quiz	, Survey Status D	raft Version 002		
	General Policy	Document Policy Sc	ope Risks	Controls I	Policy Sources Iss	sues Roles	ж
Rol	es						
Sho	w: All	~				Assign	Replace Remove
	Role		Name		User	Valid From	Valid To
	Cross Regulation Poli	cy Approver	DRISHTI		DRISHTI	08.10.2023	31.12.9999
	Cross Regulation Poli	cy Owner	Karthika G		KARTHIKA	08.10.2023	31.12.9999
	Cross Regulation Poli	cy Reviewer	SAIKRISHNA		SAIKRISHNA	08.10.2023	31.12.9999
	Cross Regulation Poli	cy Viewer	Praveen Kumar	Sajjala	PRAVEEN	08.10.2023	31.12.9999
			RAGHU		RAGHU	08.10.2023	31.12.9999

Figure 9.15Assignment of Users to the Roles inthe Policy

Pol	icy: Anti Corr	uption Polic	ey 🛛							
Save	Send for Review	Submit for Approv	al							
Polic	y Group Compliance E)istribution Method	s Acknowledge	ment, Quiz	, Survey Statu	s Draft	Version 002			
	General Policy [Document F	Policy Scope	Risks	Controls	Polic	y Sources	Issues	Roles	Review and Approval
Appr Ass	oval Survey: Policy App sign Reviewers ar	roval Survey 1d Approvers								
	Reviewers/Approvers	Name					ID			
	Approvers	DRISHTI					DRISHTI			
	Reviewers	SAIKRISHNA					SAIKRISHNA	Ą		

Figure 9.16Reviewers and Approvers: PolicyDefinition

	Policy: Anti Corrupt	ion Policy	
Active Queries	Save Draft Submit Comments	Send for Review Submit for Approval	
Workitems All (1) Access Management (0) Process Co	Policy Group Compliance Distrib	ution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey Status Sent for Revie	ew Version 001
Workitems - Process Control	General Policy Docu	nent Policy Scope Risks Controls Policy Sour	ces Issues
View: [Standard View]	* Name:	Anti Corruption Policy	
Review Policy Anti Corruption Policy Version 001	Description:	Policy to comply with anti-corruption laws	
	* Policy Type:	Policy	
	* Distribution Methods:	Acknowledgement V Quiz Survey	
	Distribution Language:		
	* Quiz Template:	Policy Quiz	
	* Survey Template:	Policy Survey	
	* Purpose:	No corruptive practices take place in the organization	

Figure 9.17 Review Policy Work Item

Policy: Anti Corruption Policy	
Save Draft Submit Comments Send for Review Submit for	Approval
Policy Group Compliance Distribution Methods Acknowledgeme	nt, Quiz, Survey Status Sent for Review Version 001
Roles Review and Approval	
Approval Survey: Policy Approval Survey	
· + +	Comment:
Details are reviewed and they are in line with the policy	
Add Comment Comment History	

Figure 9.18 Option to Submit Comments while Reviewing the Policy

Policy: Anti Corruption Policy	
Save Draft Send Back for Rework Reject Approve	
Policy Group Compliance Distribution Methods Acknowledgement, Quiz, Survey Status Submitted for Approval Version 001	
K Review and Approval	
Approval Survey: Policy Approval Survey	
Questions	
Question Answer	Comments
Is the scope defined in the policy accurate? Yes	Add Comment
	Comment:
Approved	
Add Comment	
10.10.2023 11:09:25 - SAIKRISHNA1 (SAIKRISHNA1) on behalf of SAIKRISHNA (SAIKRISHNA)	
Details are reviewed and they are in line with the policy	

Figure 9.19 Policy Approval Screen

Acknowledgement option Ack. Text Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy.	🖗 New Entries 🗈 🗟 🖙 🖡 🖡	BC Set: Change Field Values	
Ack. Text Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy.	Acknowledgement option		
Yes I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy.	Ack.	Text	
	Yes 🔹	I acknowledge that I have read and understood this policy.	-
No I do NOT accept this policy.	No	t do NOT accept this policy.	

Figure 9.20 Acknowledgement Text Definition
< SAP						Cł	nange	View	/ "Pol	ісу Тур	e": Overview
✓	H 69	New Entries	i O	\$		Cancel	ĹŶ	<u>C</u>	1	[₽	
Dialog Structure	Policy	Гуре									۲
V D Policy Type	Туре	Description	on								
Distribution Method	🗌 T01	Policy									0
	T 02	Procedure	•								
	T03	Work Instr	uction								
	T 04	Standard									
	✓ T05	SOP									
	-	Ĩ									

Figure 9.21 Selection of the Distribution Method Option

< SAP					Chang	ge Vie	w "Di	istribu	tion Metho	d": Overview
 ✓ 	🖫 🌮 New B	intries 🗐 ⊝	5 👪		Cancel	ĹŶ	<u>C</u>	1	[¥	
Dialog Structure	Policy Type	T05								
└ Policy Type	Description	SOP								
🗂 Distribution Method										
	Distribution Me	thod	0							
	Method									
	Acknowledgeme	nt	~ 0							
	Quiz		\sim							
	Survey		\sim							

Figure 9.22 Delinking Distribution Methods

Create Plan					
1	2	3	4	5	
Enter Plan Details	Select Organizations	Select Object(s)	Review	Confirmation	

Figure 9.23Planner Functionality: New Plan

Planner]
Create	Plan		
I≯ Enter P	1 2 3 Ian Details Select Regulation Select Organizations	4 5 Select Object(s) Review Confirmation	
* Plan Name:	Control Disclosure Survery_Q3 2023		
* Plan Activity:	Perform Control Disclosure Survey	~	
* Survey:	Disclosure Survey	~	
Object Survey:	Control Disclosure Survey	~	
* Period:	Quarter 3	~	
* Year:	2023	~	
* Start Date:	09.10.2023	1 i	
* Due Date:	16.10.2023	1	
		Previous Next Cancel Finish Activate Plan	

Figure 9.24 The Enter Plan Details Tab to Schedule a Planner for Disclosure Survey



Figure 9.25 Stages in the Control Disclosure Workflow with Owners' Information

Ac	tiv	e Queries							
w	orl	kitems All (8) Access Management (0) Process Control (8) Risk	Management (0)						
Wo	ork	items - Process Control							
							Change Quer	y Define New Q	uery Personalize
Vi	ew	* [Standard View]						Print Version	Export 🖌 🤐
ſ	5	Subject	Organization 🔻	Regulation	Status	Due Date 🌹	Created On	Object Name	Created By
		Perform Disclosure Survey: Control Disclosure Survery_Q3 2023	TNOW-US		Ready	16.10.2023	09.10.2023 16:09:15		Karthika G

Figure 9.26 Perform Disclosure Survey Work Item in the Work Inbox

Perform Disclosure Survey:	Cont	rol Disclosure Survery_Q3 2	2023					
Save Close Send for Review								
Regulation SOX Status In Process								
Evaluation Disclosure At	tachments	and Links						
Controls to be Evaluated								
Object	Entity	Description	Subprocess	Organizati	on Frequency	Survey Status		
Changes to asset master data	Control	Changes to asset master data	Fixed Asset	5 TNOW-US	Monthly	•		
FA Account Determination Configuration	Control	Only valid changes are made to the account determination configuration to ensure accurate recording of depreciation expense to the correct general ledger account	Fixed Asset	s TNOW-US	Monthly			
Surveys Ad Hoc Issues								
					Survey Attac	hments and Links		
Questions								
Question			Answer		Comments			
Is the control being operated as per the policy expectations? Yes Add Comment								
Overall Comments:								

Figure 9.27 Evaluation Tab in Disclosure Survey

Save Close Send for Review	e Survery_	_Q3 2023
Regulation SOX Status In Process		
Evaluation Disclosure Attachments and Links		
Question	Su	rvey Attachments and Links
Questions Question Are there any issues in the control environment which needs to be addressed?	Answer	Comments

Figure 9.28 Option to Respond to the Survey in the Disclosure Tab

Per	form Disclos	ure Survey:	Contr	ol Disc	losure Surve	ery_Q3 2023					
Save	Close Send for	r Review									
Regu	Regulation SOX Status In Process										
E	Evaluation Disclosure Attachments and Links										
Cor	ntrols to be Eval	uated									
	Object		Entity	Description				Subprocess	Organization	Frequency	Survey Status
	Changes to asset ma	ister data	Control	Changes to	Changes to asset master data				TNOW-US	Monthly	•
	FA Account Determin	nation Configuration	Control	Only valid of accurate re	changes are made to the conding of depreciation	the account determination configur on expense to the correct general le	ation to ensure edger account	Fixed Assets	TNOW-US	Monthly	•
	Surveys Ad Hoc Iss	Jes									
Is	sues										
								Crea	ate Open	Copy Refre	esh List 🏼 🍞
	Name	Priority	Owner		Status	Reported by	Reported Date		Attach	ments	

Figure 9.29 Option to Report Ad Hoc Issue in Disclosure Survey

Ad Hoc Issue:				
Submit Save Draft				
Status Draft Created By	DRISHTI Created On 09.10.2023 Updated E	By I	Update	d On
Issue Details Reg	ulation Attachments and Links			
* Name:	Capitalization process is not streamlined			 Notes
* Description:	Capitalization process is not streamlined			
				Add Note
* Priority:	High	~		
Object Type:	Control			
Object Name:	Changes to asset master data	Op	ben	
Owner:	DRISHTI	Ó		
Source:	Inspection	~		
* Issue Date:	09.10.2023	1]	
Due Date:	16.10.2023	1		
Audit Trail:	Audit Trail			

Figure 9.30Ad Hoc Issue Reporting Screen

Acti	ve Queries							
Wor	kitems All (90) Access Management (0) Process Control (90) F	Risk Managemer	nt (0)					
Wor	kitems - Process Control							
						Change Query	Define New Qu	iery Personalize
Viev	v: * [Standard View]					[Print Version	Export 🛓 🔑
Ē	Subject	Organization	Regulation	Status	Due Date	Created On	Object Name	Created By
	Review Disclosure Survey: Control Disclosure Survery_Q3 2023	TNOW-US	SOX	Ready	16.10.2023	09.10.2023 18:25:46		Karthika G

Figure 9.31Option for the Reviewer to AccessDisclosure Survey Work Inbox Item

Re Sav Reg	Close Check History Finish ulation SOX Status In Process	Contro	ol Disclosure Survery_Q3 2	2023			0	4
	Evaluation Disclosure Att	achments	and Links					
Co	entrols to be Evaluated							
	Object	Entity	Description	Subprocess	Organization	Frequency	Survey Status	
	Changes to asset master data	Control	Changes to asset master data	Fixed Assets	TNOW-US	Monthly	۲	
	FA Account Determination Configuration	Control	Only valid changes are made to the account determination configuration to ensure accurate recording of depreciation expense to the correct general ledger account	Fixed Assets	TNOW-US	Monthly		

Figure 9.32 Finish Button in Review Disclosure Survey

< SAP	Change View "Main	itain Issue Ty	ypes for Sign-Of	f": Overview
 ✓ 	~ 🛱 🔗 ち 👯 👯	🗄 Cancel		C.
Maintain Issue T	ypes for Sign-Off			0
Ca Category	Text	Sign-Off	Priority	
G_AS CD	Control Design Assessment	\checkmark	Low	\sim \circ
G_AS CE	Self-Assessment	\checkmark	Low	\sim
G_AS MCOU	Assessment of Indirect Entity-Level Control	\checkmark	Low	\sim
G_AS PD	Assessment of Subprocess Design	\checkmark	Low	\sim
G_TE CO	Automated Test of Effectiveness		Low	\sim
G_TE MO	Automated Monitoring		Low	\sim
G_TE MTOU	Test of Indirect Entity-Level Control		Low	\sim
G_TE TE	Manual Test of Effectiveness	\checkmark	Low	\sim

Figure 9.33 Configuration of Maintain Issue Types Options for Sign-Off

Organization: ABC India Pvt Ltd											
Parent Organization: ABC International Ltd					ID: 50001226						
					Lilotaro D						
K General Subprocess	Indired	ct Entity-L	evel Controls	Regulations	Policies	Objectives	Key Ris	sk Indicators	Units of Measure	e Risk Appetite	
* Name: ABC India Pvt Ltd									* Valid From:	01.01.2023	
Description:									* Valid To:	31.12.9999	
					*			* Currency:	INR		
								Average 0	Cost Per Control:		
									Country:		
Subject to Sigr	n-Off:	Yes	O No						State:		
Shared Services Prov	vider:	🔵 Yes	No								
Deficiency Analysis	Flag:	Yes	No								
In Se	cope:	O Yes	No								
Org. Level System Param	neter:										

Figure 9.34 Sign-Off Settings at the Organization Level

Change View "Define Regulation Type": Overview											
 ✓ 	E 4	New Entries		Θ	5			80	BC Set: Change Field Values Cancel 🖆 🖆 🔂		
Dialog Structure Define Regulation Type											
Define Regulation Configu	Reg	ulation Type	Re	Regulation Type Text					DO NOT USE		
✓☐ Define Regulation Type	FINA	NCIAL	Fina	Financial Compliance							
Regulation Configuratio Master Data Susiness Transactions Settings	OPER	ATIONAL	Ope	erationa	al Con	npliano	ce				

Figure 9.35 Option to Access Business Transactions for a Regulation Type

< SAP	Change View "Business Transaction										ns": O	vervie	w	
 ✓ 	H 69	New Entries		Θ	5				BC Set: Change Field Values	Cancel	ĹŶ		1	[₽
Dialog Structure	ype	FINAN	CIAL											
Define Regulation Configu			Financ	Financial Compliance										
└☐ Define Regulation Type	Business	Transaction	ç		ത									
🗀 Regulation Configuratio	Dusiness													
🗀 Master Data	Business	Business Transaction		Active										
√ ☐ Business Transactions	AOD			✓	Ç									
Settings	CAPA		(
	SIGN-OF	F	(✓										

Figure 9.36 Option to Activate Sign-Off for a Regulation Type



Figure 9.37 Sample Organization Hierarchy

Planner											
Copy Plan				^							
Plan Activity Perform Sign-Off Period Quarter 4 2023											
Image: Details Image: Detail											
 Corporate Test is not subject to sign-off Corporate Electric Power is not subject to sign-off 											
Organizations											
Show: ALL Expand All Collapse All De	scription										
Organization	Subject to Sign- Off	Valid from	Valid to								
 ABC International Ltd 	х	01.01.2023	31.12.9999								
ABC India Pvt Ltd	х	01.01.2023	31.12.9999								
▼ Electric Power		28.07.2023	31.12.9999								
Power Generation		01.01.2023	31.12.9999								
▼ Test		01.01.2023	31.12.9999								
Tnow Basis		01.01.2022	31.12.9999	~							
	Previous 1	Next Cancel	Finish Activat	e Plan							

Figure 9.38Review Organizations That AreSubject to Sign-Off

Acti	Active Queries										
Wo	Workitems All (91) Access Management (0) Process Control (91) Risk Management (0)										
Wor	Workitems - Process Control										
	Change Query Define New Query Personalize										
Vie	w: * [Standard View]						Print Vers	ion Export 🛓 🔒			
Ē	Subject	Organization	Regulation	Status	Due Date	Created On	Object Name	Created By			
	Sign-Off for Organizational Unit	ABC India Pvt Ltd	Sarbanes Oxley	Reserved	05.11.2023	10.10.2023 12:32:25	ABC India Pvt Ltd	SAIKRISHNA1			

Figure 9.39 Option for the Organization Owner to Access the Sign-Off Work Inbox Item

Sign-Off: ABC Ind	ia Pvt Ltd										
Image: Construction Image: Construction Review Respond to Survey Comment & Sign-Off Complete											
Sign-Off Period Quarter 3 2023											
< Previous Next > Canc	el										
1. Review Issues for ABC India Pv	I. Review Issues for ABC India Pvt Ltd:										
Total Issues: 1 (In Proc	cess: 1)										
2. Review the Details of the Sign-C	Off for the Subordinated Org	anizations in Your A	rea of Responsibility.								
Sarbanes Oxley Monitor	Sign-Off										
Organization	Subject to Sign-Off	Signed-Off by	Signed-Off on	Comments	Open Issue	es A	All Issues	Documents			
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Yes				1	1	1	0 Attachment			
Issues for ABC India P	vt Ltd										
Issues List							^				
Evaluation Type	Issue	Issue									
Automated Monitoring Is	sue TNDCLNT100 : Mo	NDCLNT100 : Monitor changes to the configuration duplicate invoice check					ed				
							Ť				
							Close				

Figure 9.40 Option to Review the Details of Issues Reported in the Organization

S	Sign-Off: ABC India Pvt Ltd											
IÞ	Image: Provide with the second text of te											
Si;	Sign-Off Period Quarter 3 2023											
Que	estio	ns										
	No	Question	Comments	Answer								
	1	Are you aligned with the assessments and related issues reported?		្រីក្								
				Yes								
				N/A								

Figure 9.41Option to Respond to the Sign-OffSurvey

Sign-Off: ABC India Pvt Ltd										
Image: Market state Image: Market state Imag										
Sign-Off Period Quarter 3 2023										
Previous Next > Sign-Off Cancel										
Note:										
Note that by performing sign-off, you certify that operational internal controls are implemented within the organizations mentioned above. Furthermore, these and any subordinate organizations not relevant for sign-off are closed automatically, after which they cannot be changed.										
You are required to comment on any open issues designated as relevant for sign-off. You enter your comment in the comment field.										
You confirm sign-off by choosing Sign-Off. To terminate sign-off, choose Cancel.										
Add Sign-Off Comment and Attachments for all Open Issues within Your Entire Area of Responsibility										
Comments: Organization details are reviewed and also understand that the open issues are under process of remediation										
Attachments										
Add	2,									
Type Title Version File Size File Type Added On Added By Attachment Ty.										

Figure 9.42Option to Enter Comments and AddAttachments before Providing Sign-Off

Sign-Off: ABC India Pvt Ltd										
l∳ 1 Review Re	2 spond to Survey Cor	3 4 A nment & Sign-Off Complete								
Sign-Off Period Qua	rter 3 2023									
< Previous Next >	Sign-Off Cancel									
Note: Note that by performing si organizations not relevant You are required to comm You confirm sign-off by ch	ign-off, you certify that or t for sign-off are closed a nent on any open issues noosing <i>Sign-Off</i> . To tern	Confirmation × Confirm Sign-Off by choosing OK. Sign-Off CANNOT be reversed. If you are not ready to do this, select Cancel to return to prior screen.	the organizations mentioned above. Furthermore comment in the comment field.							
Add Sign-Off Comment	and Attachments for al	OK Cancel	nsibility							
Comments: Orga	nization details are revie	ou una alco anaoistana ana, mo opon locaco are	. Inder process of remediation							

Figure 9.43Sign-Off Confirmation Screen

< SAP	Edit Documents: Initial Screen
✓ 📈 Worklist 😤 Authorizations 🗑 🗐 Cancel	
Settings Document Class General text Language English	P
Document Name GRPCSIGNOFF_NOTE Biplay Change	

Figure 9.44 Transaction SE61: Document Class Maintenance Screen

<	Display General text: GRPCSIGNOFF_NOT								
~	✓ 参 昆 弛 尽 Cancel ① ① 〔↓ 〔↓								
F	R Row Text								
	····+···1···+···2···+···3···+···4···+···5···+···6···+···7··								
AS	Note that by performing sign-off, you certify that operational internal								
	controls are implemented within the organizations mentioned above.								
	Furthermore, these and any subordinate organizations not relevant for								
	sign-off are closed automatically, after which they cannot be changed.								
*	You are required to comment on any open issues designated as relevant								
	for sign-off. You enter your comment in the comment field.								
AS	You confirm sign-off by choosing <ls>Sign-Off>. To terminate sign-off,</ls>								
	choose <ls>Cancel</ls>								
AS									

Figure 9.45 Option to Modify the Sign-Off Note

Si	Sign-Off: ABC International Ltd										
•	Image: Complete state Image: Complete state Review Respond to Survey Complete										
Sig	Sign-Off Period Year 2023										
<	< Previous Next > Cancel										
1. Rev	iew	Issues for ABC Internat	ional Ltd:								
		Total Issues: 0 (In Pro	cess: 0)								
2. Rev	iew	the Details of the Sign-	Off for the Subordinate	d Organizations in Yo	ur Area of Respoi	nsibility.					
Sarb	an	es Oxley Monitor	r Sign-Off								
	Org	ganization	Subject to Sign-Off	Signed-Off by	Signed-Off on	Comments	Open Issues	All Issues	Documents		
	•	ABC International Ltd	Yes	(Missing);(Missing)			0	0	0 Attachment		
		ABC India Pvt Ltd	Yes	SAIKRISHNA1	07.10.2023	Organization details are reviewed and also understand that the open issues are under process of remediation	2	2	0 Attachment		

Figure 9.46Review Screen: Corporate Owner

Organizations								
View:	Standard Hierarchy							
Show	Year	✓ 2023	Apply Advance	i	Open Add Remove	Actions _		
N	ame							
-	Organization Hierarchy							
	 ABC International Ltd 							
	ABC India Pvt Ltd							
	 Electric Power 							
	Test							
	 Test Org 							
	TNOW-US							
Data cannot be changed due to the sign-off lock until 20231231								

Figure 9.47 Lock Message When the Signed-Off Organization Is Accessed

Organization								\square ×
Organization: ABC India Pvt Ltd								
Parent Organization: ABC International Ltd			226					
Timeframe: Year 2023		Effective D	ate: 01.01.202	23				
K General Subprocess Indirect Entity-Level Controls	Controls Regulations Policies Objectives Key Risk Indicators Units of Measure Risk Appetite					>		
Subprocess Assignment								
				Assign Subp	process Remov	ve Open N	love Actions	
Subprocess/Control	Description		Allow Lo	cal Changes	S	hared Service		
Invoice Processing			Yes		N	one		
Name: Invoice Processing				Valid Fr	om: 01.01.2023	3		
Parent: Procure to Pay				Valid	To: 31.12.9999)		
Description:				Transaction Ty	/pe:			~
							Save	Cancel

Figure 9.48Organization Screen Elements inDisplay Mode

Monitor Sign-Off								
Show: Year	✓ 2023 ✓ Sarba	anes Oxley 🗸 🖌 Ap	ply	Actions _				
Organization	Subject to Sign-Off	Signed-Off by	Signed-Off on	Documents				
 ABC International Ltd 	Yes	Karthika G;(Missing)	07.10.2023	0 Attachment				
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Yes	SAIKRISHNA1	07.10.2023	0 Attachment				
 Electric Power 	No							
Power Generation	No							
▼ Test	No							
Tnow Basis	No							

Figure 9.49 Monitor Sign-Off Report



Figure 10.1 Master Data Reports

Risk and Control Matrix Personalize									
A tabular report showing the master data of risk and control matrix									
▶ Selection									
Results									
				F	Print or Export				
Organization	Process	Subprocess	Risk	Control	Owner (Control)				
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing	Invoice Processing		SAIKRISHNA1				
Power Ltd	Record to Report	GL Account Maintenance		Maintenance of GL Accounts	SAIKRISHNA1				
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing		Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Sandeep				
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Improperly trained staff	Vendor master changes					
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Maintain Vendor Master Data		Duplicate invoice parameter changes					
Power Generation	IT General Controls	System Parameters		Monitor Password Parameter	SAIKRISHNA1				
Power Generation	IT General Controls	Access Management		Monitor users with SAP_All access	Sandeep				

Figure 10.2 Risk and Control Matrix

Risk Cover	Risk Coverage Personalize								
Tabular report show	ving process/risk catalog by orga	nization							
Selection						^			
Results									
					Print or Export				
Organization	Subprocess	Risk Source	Risk	Risk Level	Control				
Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Inherent to Subprocess	Improperly trained staff		Vendor master changes				
Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Account Group: Accounts Payable (Account Group Assertion: Completeness, Presentation and Disclosure, Completeness, Presentation and Disclosure)	Incorrect interpretation of Acctg. rules						
Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Control Objective: Accurate Accounting Records	Global consolidation process						
Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Inherent to Subprocess	Improperly trained staff		Vendor master changes				
Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Account Group: Accounts Payable (Account Group Assertion: Completeness, Presentation and Disclosure, Completeness, Presentation and Disclosure)	Incorrect interpretation of Acctg. rules			Ľ			
Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Control Objective: Accurate Accounting Records	Global consolidation process						

Figure 10.3 Risk Coverage Report

Financial Assertions Coverage Personalize									
Tabular report show	wing Account Grout As	sertion by organization							
Selection									
Results									
						Print or Export			
Regulation	Organization	Subprocess	Account Group	Assertion	Control				
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Completeness					
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Existence Or Occurrence					
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Presentation and Disclosure					
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Rights and Obligations					
Sarbanes Oxley	Power Generation	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Valuation or Allocation					
Sarbanes Oxley	Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Completeness	Monitor mainten	ance of vendor master			
Sarbanes Oxley	Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Existence Or Occurrence					
Sarbanes Oxley	Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Presentation and Disclosure					
Sarbanes Oxley	Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Rights and Obligations					
Sarbanes Oxley	Tnow Basis	Maintain Vendor Master Data	Accounts Payable	Valuation or Allocation					

Figure 10.4 Financial Assertion Coverage Report

Organization and Process Structure							
A hierachical report which shows the overall organization and process	structure						
➤ Selection							
Result							
				Expand All			
Hierarchy	Object Type	Owner	Significance	Assigned Regulations (Control)			
✓ ABC International Ltd	Organization						
✓ ABC India Pvt Ltd	Organization						
 A Process Hierarchy 	Process						
 Procure to Pay 	Process						
	Subprocess						
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Control	SAIKRISHNA1	Key Control	Sarbanes Oxley			
✓	Organization						
 Record to Report 	Process						
✓ [☐] GL Account Maintenance	Subprocess						
Maintenance of GL Accounts	Control	SAIKRISHNA1		Sarbanes Oxley			

Figure 10.5 Organization and Process Structure

Change Analysis

A summary report that chronologically shows all object changes and details, that occurred within specified time period

Selection

Results

Object Name	Object Type	Change Type	Field Changed	Old value	New value
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Valid from (Organization)	20210625	20230101
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Valid to (Organization)	20221231	99991231
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Currency (Organization)		ETB
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Validate iELC Effectiveness Test		Use Central Setting
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Validate iELC Assessment		Use Central Setting
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Retest iELC Effectiveness Test		Use Central Setting
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Retest iELC Assessment		Use Central Setting
TNOW	Organization	Modify	Organization	TNOW	Test

Figure 10.6 Change Analysis Report

Data Source Business Rule	assignmer	nt			Personaliz	e		
Data Source Business Rule Assignment								
Selection						/		
Result								
Expand All Collapse All Print or Export								
Hierarchy	Object Type	Data Source ID	Data Source	Data Source Description	Connection Type Key	^		
▼ TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Data Source	50000723	TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Data source is related to critical profiles monitoring	SAP	ľ		
TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Business Rule	50000723	TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Data source is related to critical profiles monitoring	SAP			
20230314112956	BR Version	50000723	TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Data source is related to critical profiles monitoring	SAP			
20230314113037	BR Version	50000723	TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Data source is related to critical profiles monitoring	SAP			
20230314113051	BR Version	50000723	TEST_MONITOR_CRITICAL_PROFILE	Data source is related to critical profiles monitoring	SAP			
 Monitor program changes for custom tcode 	Data Source	50000738	Monitor program changes for custom tcode	Monitor if a program for a custom transaction is changed without informing Security. Table TSTC captures changes to transaction codes. Report exception if program is	SAP			

Figure 10.7Data Source Business RuleAssignment Report
Monitoring	Monitoring Issue Status Personaliza								
Tabular report by s	Tabular report by subprocess showing all issues generated and their current status								
Selection									
Results									
				Pr	int or Export				
Organization	Subprocess	Control	Issue	Description (Issue)	Issue Processor				
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes to the configuration duplicate invoice check	2 High 2 Medium 0 Low 0					
ABC India Pvt Ltd	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes to the configuration duplicate invoice check	3 High 3 Medium 0 Low 0	SAIKRISHNA1				
Power Ltd	GL Account Maintenance	Maintenance of GL Accounts	TGDCL100 : Monitor maintenance of GL Account	1 High 1 Medium 0 Low 0	SAIKRISHNA1				
Power Ltd	GL Account Maintenance	Maintenance of GL Accounts	TGDCL100 : Monitor maintenance of GL Account	1 High 1 Medium 0 Low 0	SAIKRISHNA1				
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check	4 High 4 Medium 0 Low 0	Sandeep				
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	TNDCLNT100 : Monitor changes made to duplicate invoice check	4 High 4 Medium 0 Low 0					

Figure 10.8 Monitoring Issue Status Report

Monitoring Remediation Status Personal								
Tabular report showing the status of remediation plans by monitoring control								
▶ Selection								
Results								
					Print or Export			
Organization	Subprocess	Control	Remediation Plan	Status (Remediation Plan)	Remediator			
Power Ltd	GL Account Maintenance	Maintenance of GL Accounts	Update the configuration of GL	Closed	Karthika G			
Power Ltd	GL Account Maintenance	Maintenance of GL Accounts	Update the GL Account Configuration	Closed	Karthika G			
Power Generation	Invoice Processing	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Gather the evidences of approval	Closed	SAIKRISHNA SAI			
Power Generation	Access Management	Monitor users with SAP_All access	Remove access to non-relevant users	Closed	SAIKRISHNA1			

Figure 10.9 Monitoring Remediation Status Report

Evaluation Results by Organization Personaliz									
A hierarchical report which shows the list of organizations and their overall assessment ratings									
▶ Selection									
Result									
				Expand All Collapse All	Print or Export				
Hierarchy	Object Type	Rating (Symbol)	Control Design Rating (Sym)	Self-Assessment Rating (Sym)	Owner				
✓ □ Test	Organization								
 Process Hierarchy 	Process								
 A Procure to Pay 	Process								
▼ 📳 Invoice Processing	Subprocess	Significantly Deficient	5 Significantly Deficient						
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Control	Significantly Deficient	Bignificantly Deficient		DRISHTI				
 IT General Controls 	Process								
✓ [☐] Access Management	Subprocess) Significantly Deficient	5 Significantly Deficient						
Monitor users with SAP_All access	Control	🧕 Significantly Deficient	5 Significantly Deficient		DRISHTI				

Figure 10.10 Evaluation Results by Organization

Assess	ment Survey Details				Personalize				
Tabular report	Tabular report showing the assessment survey details of the scheduled surveys								
Results									
Organization	Control	Control Design Rating (Sym)	Survey Name	Question	Answer				
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Bignificantly Deficient							
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config		Quarterely design assessment	Are all the company codes in scope of the control are accurate and valid?	No, new company				
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config		Quarterely design assessment	Is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	No				
Test	Monitor users with SAP_All access	Significantly Deficient							
Test	Monitor users with SAP_All access		Survey for Control Design _01	Is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	No				
Test	Self Assignment of Role	Madequate							
Test	Self Assignment of Role		critical basis access	need access to critical tcodes related to basis?	Yes				
Tnow Basis	Self Assignment of Role	Bignificantly Deficient							
Tnow Basis	Self Assignment of Role		Survey for Control Design _01	Is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	No				
Tnow Basis	Global Accounting Manual	Bignificantly Deficient							
Tnow Basis	Global Accounting Manual		Survey for Control Design _01	Is the design of the control meeting the standards of ICS of the organization?	No				

Figure 10.11 Assessment Survey Details Report

Issue Sta	itus				Personalize				
Tabular report b	Tabular report by subprocess showing all issues generated and their current status								
Selection									
Results									
				Print	or Export				
Organization	Control	Issue	Issue Type	Duration in Days	Issue Status				
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	New Company codes are not in scope of the control	Control Design Assessment Issue	1	Closed				
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	Control Design Assessment Issue	122	In Process				
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Remediate Issue	Control Design Assessment Issue	53	In Process				
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	New Company Codes are not in scope of the control	Control Design Assessment Issue	1	Closed				
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	New company codes are not in scope of the control	Control Design Assessment Issue	1	Closed				
Test	Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	New Company Codes are not in scope of the control	Control Design Assessment Issue	46	In Process				
Test	Monitor users with SAP_All access	New company codes are not in scope of the coor	Control Design Assessment Issue	47	Review				
Tnow Basis	Self Assignment of Role	New company codes are not in scope of the control	Control Design Assessment Issue	47	Review				
Tnow Basis	Global Accounting Manual	New company codes are not in scope of the coor	Control Design Assessment Issue	48	Review				

Figure 10.12 Issue Status Report

Remediation Status Personalize								
Tabular report showing the status of remediation plans by subprocess and control								
Selection								
Results								
					Print or Export			
Control	Remediation Plan	Remediator	Reported by (Remediation Plan)	Status (Remediation Plan)	Duration (Remediation Plan)			
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	Sandeep	Karthika G	Closed	1			
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	Sandeep	Sandeep	Remediation Started	122			
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	SAIKRISHNA1	Karthika G	Draft	53			
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Invoice Checks	Sandeep	Karthika G	Closed	1			
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	Karthika G	Karthika G	Closed	1			
Monitor Duplicate Invoice Check Config	Duplicate Inv Checks	Sandeep	Karthika G	Resolved	1			

Figure 10.13 Remediation Status Report

<i>e</i> Reports	and Analytics	×				
SAP NetV	Veaver Business Clie	ent				
My Home	Master Data	Rule Setup	Assessments	Access Management	Reports and Analytics	Entry Page for Corporate Risk Manager
¢;	Access Management Display dashboards and reports for managing access Quick Links				Risk Histo	ry sk y Factors rvey Comparison gregation Report egation Report
 User Authorization Analysis Entity Authorization Analysis Role Authorization Analysis Object Authorization Analysis Access Rule Summary Access Rule Detail Mitigation Control Report 				Ĺ	Print Repor Print a summa Quick Links	r ts ary for risks and activities prts

Figure 10.14 Location to Access Reports and Analytics Reports



Figure 10.15 Evaluations Status Dashboard

Object A	Authorization Analysis				Personalize
Object Author	ization Analysis				
Selection					
Results					
					Print or Export
Object Type	Object Name	Role ID	User ID	Role	Start Date
Organization	Power Generation	SAP_GRC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER	KARTHIKA	Organization Owner	20.08.2023
Organization	ABC International Ltd	SAP_GRC_RM_API_CEO_CFO	KARTHIKA	CEO/CFO	06.10.2023
Organization	ABC India Pvt Ltd	SAP_GRC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER	SAIKRISHNA1	Organization Owner	06.10.2023
Control	Monitor_quantity_in_goods_receipt_or_inv	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	DRISHTI	Cross Regulation Control Owner	12.09.2023
Control	Self Assignment of Role	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	DRISHTI	Cross Regulation Control Owner	12.09.2023
Control	Monitor Password Parameter	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER	SAIKRISHNA1	Cross Regulation Control Owner	28.05.2023
Control	Monitor Password Parameter	Z_SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_REM_OWNER	SANDEEPL	Cross Regulation Remediation Owr	er 28.05.2023
Control	Global Accounting Manual	SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_PRC_TESTER	SAIKRISHNA1	Cross Regulation Control Tester	29.05.2023

Figure 10.16 Object Authorization Analysis Report

Risk and Con	trol Matrix	Personalize Mrn
A tabular report showing	g the master data of risk and control matrix	Personalize Fields Report Personalization
- Selection		Personalize General Reporting Settings
Selection variant:	Delete Variant Save Variant	
* Period:	First Half of Year	
* Year:	2023 🗸	
* Report structure:	Separate Regulation by Row	
Regulation:	SOX Companies Act Sarbanes Oxley	
Organization:	<u>م</u>	
In Scope (Organiz:	Ali 🗸	
Process:	C	
Subprocess:	<u>а</u>	
In Scope (Subproc :	All 🗸	
Control:	 []	
Control Category:	All	
Significance:	All	
Level of Evidence:	All	~
l ong text	√	
Execution Method:	Generate Report Online Generate Report in Background	~

Figure 10.17 Option to Access Personalize Fields



Figure 10.18 Maintenance of Report Output Fields Using the Personalize Fields Option

< SAP		Display View "Report": Overview
 ✓ 	■ 8 88 Cancel 😚 🗘 💭	C.
Dialog Structure	Report	۲
✓ ☐ Report	Report ID Report Name	
└ Columns	F4M Monitoring Remed	ation Status
Columns in Version	F5 Control Test Histor	ry with Ratings
└☐ Filters	EEM Control Monitoring	History with Patings
Filters in Version		
Column header texts	F6 Test Plan by Contr	ol
	F6T Test Step Details	
	✓ F7 Risk and Control N	latrix
	F8 Automated Contro	Rule Assignment
	F9 Automated Contro	Rule and Rule Criteria
	F9A Assessment Survey	/ Results
	F9B Assessment Survey	/ Details

Figure 10.19Selection of Columns to Maintainfrom the Dialog Structure

< SAP				Cha	nge View "Colum	ns": Over	view	
 ✓ 	6 6	New Entries	5 👪	Copy standa	ard columns Cance	el 🖆	11	i (*
Dialog Structure	Report ID	F7	þ					
Columns	Column	s				0		
Columns in Version	Field ID)	Text					
Filters in Version						\$		
Column header texts			_					
			_					
	-							
	-		_					
			_					

Figure 10.20 Option to Populate Standard Columns in the Configuration

< SAP		Chai	nge View "Columns": Overview
 ✓ 	🖫 🍪 New Entries 🗐 🕞	Copy standa	rd columns Cancel 🟦 🚺 🚺
Dialog Structure	Report ID F7		
✓ ¹ Columns	Columns		@
Columns in Version	Field ID	Field Category	MCE Vicibility
√ □ Filters	Fleta ID		
Filters in Version	BR_D	Common Field	✓ Not relevant to MC 🗘
🗅 Column header texts	CN CN	Common Field	\sim Not relevant to MC
	CN_ASSERTIONS	Common Field	\sim Not relevant to MC
	CN_ASSERTIONS_ID	Common Field	\sim Not relevant to MC
	CN_AUTOM	Common Field	\sim Not relevant to MC
	CN_AUTOM_T	Common Field	\sim Not relevant to MC
	CN_BR	Common Field	\sim Not relevant to MC

Figure 10.21 Option to Add New Columns to the Report



Figure 10.22Review the Newly Added Field to theReport Structure

< SAP			Display View "Report": Overview
 ✓ 	🔓 📴 🗄 Cancel	ម្ល ល្ ល្	
Dialog Structure	Report		0
✓☐ Report	Report ID	Report Name	
└☐ Columns		Test Plan by Control	0
Columns in Version	D EGT	Test Step Details	-
└□ Filters	FOI		
🕒 Filters in Version	✓ F7	Risk and Control Matrix	
Column header texts	F8	Automated Control Rule Assignment	
	🗌 F9	Automated Control Rule and Rule Criteria	
	F9A	Assessment Survey Results	
	F9B	Assessment Survey Details	

Figure 10.23 Configuration to Update Column

Header Texts

< SAP			New Entries: Overview of Added Entries
 ✓ 	₩ % ⊖ * ₩ ₩	Cancel 😭 🚺	ī (i
Dialog Structure	Report ID E7		[
✓ ☐ Report	Report ID P7		■ Report: Field ID (1) 89 Entries found
└ Columns	Column header texts		Restrictions
Columns in Version		Teret	
✓ ☐ Filters		lext	Report ID: F7
Filters in Version	OU_T	Entity	
🗇 Column header texts			
			Field ID
			OU_RE
			OU RE T
			OU REGION
			OU REGION T
			PR_D

Figure 10.24Option to Update the Report ColumnHeader Texts

< SAP	Chang	ge View "Maintain Users Responsible for Entity": Overview				
✓	\sim	□ ŵ New Entries 🗐 More ∨ 🗗	C.	5	ô	Exit
Maintain Us	sers Responsible	for Entity	0	}		
Entity ID	Rep. Area	Role				
ACTIVITY	RM Reports	SAP_GRC_RM_API_ACTIVITY_OWNER	0	;		
CONTROL	PC Reports	∽ <mark>SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_CTL_OWNER</mark> ସ୍				
CORPORATE	RM Reports	SAP_GRC_RM_API_CENTRAL_RM				
CORPORATE	PC Reports	<pre>> SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_ICMAN</pre>				
LOSS_EVEN	T RM Reports	<pre>SAP_GRC_RM_OB_API_OPRISK_MNGR</pre>				
OPP	RM Reports	<pre>SAP_GRC_RM_API_OPP_OWNER</pre>				
ORGUNIT	RM Reports	<pre>> SAP_GRC_RM_API_ORG_OWNER</pre>				
ORGUNIT	PC Reports	<pre>> SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_ORG_OWNER</pre>				
POLICY	RM Reports	<pre>> SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_POLICY_OWNER</pre>				
POLICY	PC Reports	<pre>> SAP_GRC_SPC_CRS_POLICY_OWNER</pre>				
PROCESS	RM Reports	<pre>SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_PRC_ADMIN</pre>				
PROCESS	PC Reports	<pre>> SAP_GRC_SPC_GLOBAL_PRC_ADMIN</pre>				
RISK	RM Reports	<pre>> SAP_GRC_RM_API_RISK_OWNER</pre>				

Figure 10.25 Configuration to Maintain Users Responsible for an Entity

Risk and Con	trol Matrix	Personalize
A tabular report showin	g the master data of risk and control matrix	Report Personalization
✓ Selection		Personalize General Reporting Settings Print Settings
Selection variant:	✓ Delete Variant	Save Variant
* Period: * Year: * Report structure: Regulation:	Year 2023 Separate Regulation by Row SOX Companies Act Sarbanes Oxley	
Organization: In Scope (Organiz :	⊡ All ✓	
Process:	 	
Subprocess:	<u>ප</u>	
In Scope (Subproc :	All 🗸	

Figure 10.26Selection of the ReportPersonalization Option

Risk and Control Matrix Persona					
A tabular report showin	g the master data of risk and control matrix				
✓ Selection					
Selection variant:	Delete Variant Save Variant				
* Period:	Penort Personalization				
* Year:					
* Report structure:	Output Format: Tabular V				
Regulation:	Aggregation Logic: Average of All Ratings				
Organization:	Subnodes: Include Subordinate Organizations in Selection				
In Scope (Organiz :	Include Assessments/Tests: Include Subordinate Organizations in Selection				
Process:	Include Carryforward Cases: Only Select Specified Organization				
Subprocess:	Bypass Buffer: Do not use reporting buffers 🗸				
In Scope (Subproc :	View: Standard Hierarchy 🗸				
Control:	Save Reset Personalization Cancel				
Control Category:					
Significance:	All				
Level of Evidence:	All				

Figure 10.27 Maintenance of the Subnodes Option in Report Personalization

Risk and Co	ontrol Matrix						Personaliz
A tabular report sho	wing the master data	of risk and control matrix					
Selection			Repo	rt Personalizatio	n		
Selection variant:		✓ Del		Output Format:	Tabular	~	
		- 1		Aggregation Logic:	Average of All Rat	ings 🗸	
* Period:	Year	~		Subnodes:	Include Subordina	te Organizations in Selectio	n v
* Year:	2023 🗸		Includ	e Assessments/Tests:	Most Recent Asse	ssments/Tests with Rating	~
* Report structure:	Aggregate Regulati	ons 🗸	Include	e Carryforward Cases:	Include Carryforwa	ard Cases 🗸 🗸	
Organization:	Power Ltd	ð		Bypass Buffer:	Do not use reportin	ng buffers 🗸 🗸	•
n Scope (Organiz :	All 🗸			View:	Standard Hierarch	у 🗸	
Process:		ß					
Subprocess:		ð				Save Reset Personali	zation Cancel
n Scope (Subproc :	All 👻		-				
Results							
							Print or Export
Organization	Process	Subprocess		Risk	Control		Owner (Control)
Power Ltd	Record to Report	GL Account Maintena	nce		Maintenance	of GL Accounts	SAIKRISHNA1
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Invoice Processing			Monitor Duplic	cate Invoice Check Config	Sandeep
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Maintain Vendor Mas	ter Data	Improperly trained st	aff Vendor maste	er changes	
Power Generation	Procure to Pay	Maintain Vendor Mas	ter Data		Duplicate invo	pice parameter changes	

Figure 10.28Results of the Include SubordinateOrganization in Selection Option

Risk and Con	trol Matrix					Personalize
A tabular report showin	ng the master data of risk and co	ntrol matrix				
✓ Selection			Report Perso	nalizatio	n	
Selection variant:		✓ Delete Varia	Outp	ut Format:	Tabular 🗸	
			Aggrega	tion Logic:	Average of All Ratings ~	
* Period:	Year ~		:	Subnodes:	Only Select Specified Organization	~
* Year:	2023 🗸	_	Include Assessme	ents/Tests:	Most Recent Assessments/Tests with Rating	~
* Report structure:	Aggregate Regulations	~	Include Carryforwa	ard Cases:	Include Carryforward Cases 🗸 🗸	
Organization:	Power Ltd	D'	Bypa	ass Buffer:	Do not use reporting buffers 🗸 🗸	
In Scope (Organiz :	All 🗸			View:	Standard Hierarchy ~	
Process:		- C			Devel Devel Devel	Versilian Operand
Subprocess:		- C			Save Reset Personal	Ization Cancel
In Scope (Subproc :	All 🗸					
Results						
						Print or Export
Organization	Process	Subprocess		Risk	Control	Owner (Control)
Power Ltd	Record to Report	GL Account Maintena	nce		Maintenance of GL Accounts	SAIKRISHNA1

Figure 10.29 Results of the Only Select Specified Organization Option

Evaluation R	Evaluation Results by Organization						
A hierarchical report w	nich shows the list of organizations and their overall assessment ratings						
- Selection							
Selection variant:	✓ Delete Variant Save Variant						
* Period: * Year:	Quarter 3 v 2023 v						
* Report structure:	Aggregate Regulations						
Organization:	<u>–</u>						
Process:	<u>–</u>						
Subprocess:							
Control:							
Evaluation type:	Subprocess Design Assessment Control Design Assessment Self-Assessment Effectiveness						
Long text:	\checkmark						
Execution Method:	Generate Report Online Generate Report in Background						

Figure 10.30Time Frame Filter while Executingthe Reports

Evaluation Re	esults by Organization
A hierarchical report whether the second sec	nich shows the list of organizations and their overall assessment ratings
- Selection	
Selection variant:	✓ Delete Variant Save Variant
* Period:	Quarter 3
* Year:	2023 🐱
* Report structure:	Separate Regulation by Hierarchy
Regulation:	Separate Regulation by Hierarchy es Oxley
Organization:	Aggregate Regulations
Process:	
Subprocess:	ت

Figure 10.31 Selection of Report Structure while Executing the Reports

Evaluation Results by Organization					
A hierarchical report which shows the list of organization	ons and their overa	II assessment ratings			
► Selection					
Result					
Hierarchy	Regulation	Control Design Rating (Sym)	Self-Assessment Rating (Sym)		
	SOX				
 Process Hierarchy 	SOX				
A Procure to Pay	SOX				
 Record To Report 	SOX				
	SOX				
Changes to asset master data	SOX				
 Other Processes 	SOX				
▼ 🎄 BS00	SOX				
	SOX	Bignificantly Deficient			
Self Assignment of Role	SOX	Bignificantly Deficient			
A Record to Report	SOX				

Figure 10.32 Execution of Report for a Specific Time Frame and Regulation



Figure 11.1Difference between SAP GUIArchitecture and SAP Fiori Architecture

Installed Software					
nstalled Softw	vare Compo	onent Ver	sions Installed Produc	ct Versions	
Q.(≞)≡(C	\ (^*)\[₹	∄₩⊿			
Component	Release	SP-Level	Support Package	Short Description of Component	
SAP_BASIS	752	0007	SAPK-75207INSAPBASIS	SAP Basis Component	
SAP_ABA	752	0007	SAPK-75207INSAPABA	Cross-Application Component	
SAP_GWFND	752	0007	SAPK-75207INSAPGWFND	SAP Gateway Foundation	
SAP_UI	754	0012	SAPK-75412INSAPUI	User Interface Technology	
ST-PI	740	0014	SAPK-74014INSTPI	SAP Solution Tools Plug-In	
SAP_BW	752	0007	SAPK-75207INSAPBW	SAP Business Warehouse	
UIBAS001	300	0007	SAPK-30007INUIBAS001	UI for Basis Applications 1.0	
GRCFND_A	V1200	0011	SAPK-V1211INGRCFNDA	GRC Foundation ABAP	
GRCPINW	V1200_750	0011	SAPK-V1211INGRCPINW	SAP GRC NetWeaver Plug-In	
UIGRAC01	100	0002	SAPK-10002INUIGRAC01	SAP FIORI FOR SAP AC 1.0	
UIGRRMPC	100	0003	SAPK-10003INUIGRRMPC	Fiori UI for SAP Process Control and Risk Management 100	
CLEMATIS	100_741	0000	-	Clematis Add-on Tool for Smart Client and ARC	

 \checkmark

Figure 11.2 Installed Component Versions

≡	Activate SAP Gateway
0	SAP Gateway is currently deactivated. Are you sure you want to activate it? Activation will cause the SAP Gateway services to start running.
	Activate Cancel

Figure 11.3 SAP Gateway Activation Screen

≡	Filter for Service Catalog	×
Technical Service Name	/UI2/PAGE_BUILDER_CONF	
Version		
Description		
External Service Name		
Namespace		
External Mapping ID		
	Ś	🗑 🗙

Figure 11.4Search Service Using Filter Conditions

Change View "Assign SAP System Aliases to OData Service": Overview									
✓ ₩	රාධි New Entries	ک ⊝ 🗈	∎b ∎b More ∨	Ē .	ع 😵 🗔				
Assign SAP System Aliases to OD	ata Service				¢				
Service Doc. Identifier	User Role	Host Name	SAP System Alias	Default System	Metadata Default				
ZPAGE_BUILDER_CONF_0001			LOCAL	\checkmark					

Figure 11.5 Adding System Alias

<	Activate and Maintain Services									
~	✓ Cancel								ô	Exit
Ser	vice Catalog									
0	≞≣q⊄₿⊿₩⊿	∏ Filter ⊕ Add Ser	vice 🗑 🛙	Delete Service	😫 Service Details 📿 Loa	ad Metadata] Error Log	iest S	tatistics	
CR	efresh Catalog 🗞 OAuth 🕅	≳ Soft State	sing Mode	e						
Туре	Type Technical Service Name 🗸 🔭 Service Description External Service Name									
B	B ZPAGE_BUILDER_CONF 1 Pagebuilder - Configuration level PAGE_BUILDER_CONF						ONF			
< >										< >
ICF	Nodes				System Aliases			Τ		
Ø IC	F Node 🖌 🕞 Call Browser		⊕ Add System Alias ⊖ Remove System Alias 6∂ Customizing							
Sta	Status ICF Node Session Time-out Soft State Description									
00	ODATA	00:00:00 Standard			CAD Sustem Alias	Description	Default Quata		Notodata	
						Local System	Alias		metauata	<u> </u>
	$\langle \rangle$			<>						$\langle \rangle$

Figure 11.6Screen That Appears after SystemAlias Addition

Servic	Service Catalog									
Q =	Q 🚊 (국) 오 🕼 🖉 🖉 Filter (④ Add Service) 🗑 Delete Service 🞼 Service Details 📿 Load Metadata 🕐 Error Log) 🔟 Request Statistics									
C Refres	h Catalog 🕅 🗞 OAuth 🕅	ू Soft State 🖉 Processing N	lode							
Туре	Fechnical Service Name	e V	Servic	e Description		External Service N	Name 📩	Namespace	OAuth	Soft State Status
BEP 2	GRC_ACCESSREQUE	ST_APPROVE 1	Acces	s Request Approval		GRC_ACCESSRE	EQUEST_APPROVE			Not Supported
\sim										<>
ICF N	odes				Sys	stem Aliases				
/ ICF No	ode 🖌 🕞 Call Browser	SAP Gateway Client			⊕A	dd System Alias	⊖ Remove System Alia	as 60 Custom	izing	
Status	ICF Node	Session Time-out Soft State	•	Description	6a s	Service Implementa	tion			
00	ODATA	00:00:00		Standard Mode	SVD	Svetom Alias	Description			D
							ODE Queterr			
	GRECLINI 900 GRE Systemi						×			
	< >			$\langle \rangle$						< >

Figure 11.7 System Aliases Option in the Frontend Services Hub Model

< SAF	Activate and Maintain Services	
 Image: A second s	✓ Cancel	C.
Service (Q = = C Refresh C	Catalog	est Statistics

Figure 11.8 Add Service Button

AP	Add Selected	d Services
\checkmark େ6d Get	ces Cancel	
Alias	P	Co-Deployed
l Service Name	AGE_BUILDER_CONF	Version
Service Name		External Mapping ID
Service Name		

Figure 11.9 Loading the Missing Service



Figure 11.10 Maintenance of the System Alias for SAP Process Control

< SAP New Entries: Overview of Added Entries									
>	✓ 🖫 🌮 ⊖ Mor	re 🗸	f	L	2	ô	Exit		
UI2: Mainten	ance of System Alias Mapping						(
Client	Source System Alias	Target System A	lias						
100	SOHGRPC	G12CLNT100					0		

Figure 11.11Maintenance of System AliasMapping for SAPProcess Control
< SAP Replicate Bac	ck-End Technical Catalog from Remote System	ı (DI	EV)
✓✓	Cancel	đ	G
Replication System Alias			
Replication Mode	Full replication		

Figure 11.12Replication of Backend TechnicalCatalog for SAP Process Control

< SAP	Display	y logs				
✓ [I] Q (?) 6ð Technical Informatio	n i Cancel		□ .	o 🖸	Exit
Date/Time/User	Nu External ID	Object text	Subobject Text	Transacti	Program	1
✓ ▲ 25.10.2023 19:42:00 SAIKRISHNA	16	SAP Fiori Launchpa	Service PAGE_BU	SE38	/UI2/GET_	API D
Problem class Additional Informati	16					
		1 15				
Ty Message Text						
						•
Page cache check triggered by class	s /UI2/CL_AD_REPL_CONT	ROLLER DOIT().				
Page Cache creation started in EN						
A Running in testmode						
Extraction started						
Replication from system alias SOHGI	RPC using RFC destination	G12CLNT100				
Catalog SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_APF	PS with 105 apps extracted					
Extraction finished for 1 catalogs and	d 105 apps					
*** End of log: 25.10.2023 19:42:00 *	***					<u>^</u>
1						~

Figure 11.13 Log Report



Figure 11.14Review of Replicated SAP ProcessControl Catalog

Catalogs Groups	X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_TC	GRC_PC 💿 - Read
Catalog Collection	ID : X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAF	2_TC_GR0 Search
Drag to add		([]) ¹⁰⁵
	Tiles Tiles Ta	irget Mapp
~		
Search for catalogs Q	Data Source	Business Rule
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T SAP_TC_GRC_AC_BE_APPS:SOHG		
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T	\$ 9 1	
SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_APPS:SOHG	Business Bules	Business Bule
Z_ACCESS_REQUEST_CATA 5	Business Rules	Assignment
\oplus		

Figure 11.15 Option to Create a New Custom Catalog

Catalogs	Groups	X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_TC_GRC_PC	• Read-Only
Catalog Collection	S.	ID · X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT·SAP TC GRO	arch
Drag to	add	Cicale Calalog	
		• Standard	
Search for catalogs	C	*Title:	ule
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT	SAP_T 260	ZPC_My Home	
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_4	SAP_T 210 APPS:SOHG	ZPC_MyHome	
Z_ACCESS_REQU	EST_CATA 5	Save Cancel	t
(-	+)		

Figure 11.16 Custom Catalog Creation Screen

Grou	ps			X-SAP-UI2-AE	CAT:SAP_TC_GRC_F	'C ● - Read-O	nly	Clier	nt: 100 🔅
Catalog Collection	52	ID : X-S	AP-UI2-ADCAT:SA	P_TC_GRC_PC_B	E_APPS:SOHGRP0		workinbox	\otimes	Q ^
Drag to add	^ v	Til	es 105 Tiles	farget Mapp					
	0	Icon	Title	Semantic Object	Action	Parameters	Target URL	Re	Ou
Search for catalogs	Q	⇒	Work Inbox	GRCWorkInbox	manage	sap-ui-tech-hint=W DA	#GRCWorkInbox-m anage?sap-ui-tech- hint=WDA		
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_APPS:SOHG	210								
Z_ACCESS_REQUEST_CATA Z_AR_EMP_CATALOG	5								
Z_ARM_APPROVER	3 🗸								
\oplus			Ē	* Create Tile 🛛 🏷 🕻	Configure	e Reference 🕅 🛛	elete	sed (Original

Figure 11.17 Adding Tiles to a Custom Catalog



Figure 11.18 Option to Select the Custom Catalog for Reference Mapping

Groups	X-SAF	P-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_TC_GRC_PC	• Read-Only Clien	t: 100 දිලිදි
Catalog Collection 🔗	ID : X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_TC	C_GRC_PC_BE_APPS:SOHGRP	workinbox	Q 1
Drag to add	Tiles Tiles	105 Mapp		
Search for catalogs			{ဂ္ဂ်ဲ} Configure Col	umns
Workspace Query Designer C	Semantic Object	Action	Navigation Type	Inforr
RSL_WQD_CAT	GRCWorkInbox	manage	Web Dynpro	
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T 260 SAP_TC_GRC_AC_BE_APPS:SOHG				
X-SAP-UI2-ADCAT:SAP_T 210 SAP_TC_GRC_PC_BE_APPS:SOHG				
\oplus	📑 Create Target Mapping 🛛 🗞 C	Configure	∭ Delete □- → Where Used	Original

Figure 11.19 Create Reference of Target Mapping for the Custom Catalog



Figure 11.20 Creating a Custom Group

Create Group
*Title:
My Home
*ID: Z_MYHome
Group personalization:
 Enable users to personalize their group
Save Cancel

Figure 11.21 Custom Group Creation Screen

<	Add Tile to Group 'My Home'
ZPC_My Home	
ZPC_My Home	
Work Inbox	
+	

Figure 11.22 Selection of Tiles in the Group

Role				
Role	ZS_IT_FIORI_ENDUSER	Obsolete	e	
Description				
Target System		No dest	ination	_
Q Description	enu • Workflow • Autho	rizations 🔸	User MiniApps	B Personalization
		<u></u> (<u></u>		hat Activities A 9 Other Node Details
	Transaction			
Hierarchy	Report			Node Details
🗌 🗸 🗇 Role Menu	Authorization [)efault		Туре
🗌 🛛 🗞 My Home	<u>A</u> utonization z	Cidutt		Object
ZPC_My Hor	ne <u>B</u> SP Applicatio	n 👘		Text
	Web Dynpro A	pplication		
	<u>S</u> AP Fiori Laun	chpad >	<u>S</u> AP Fiori Site	
	<u>S</u> AP BW	>	SAP Fiori Tile Catalog	
	<u>O</u> ther	>	<u>S</u> AP Fiori Tile Group	- L3

Figure 11.23Selection of the SAP Fiori TileCatalog Option in Transaction PFCG

SAP Home -				
My Home Compliance	Manager (GRC) Complia	nce Specialist (GRC)	Executive (GRC)	Risk Manager (GRC)
Work Inbox	My Delegation	Delegation		
	\$	8≣		

Figure 11.24End-User SAP Fiori LaunchpadScreen



Figure 11.25 New SAP Fiori Structure



Figure 11.26 Settings Option in SAP Fiori

Launchpad



Figure 11.27 Enabling Spaces and Pages

< SAP	Manage Launchpad Spaces $ imes $							Q	К
Customer-Created	Predefined								
Spaces (123)		Search		Q Create	Сору	Delete	î↓	∇	[=]
ID / Description	n Title		Roles	Created By / On	Created	Changed Changed	l By / I On	Ŧ	

Figure 11.28 Create Option in the Manage Launchpad Spaces Page

Create Space	
Space ID:*	
ZFAP_SP_Display	
Space Description: *	
Account Payable for Display	
Space Title:*	
Account Payable Display	
✓ Also create a page	
Page ID:*	
ZFAP_PG_Display	
Page Description: *	
Account Payable for Display	
Page Title:*	
Account Payable Display	
Create Cance	ł

Figure 11.29 Create Space Options

< SAP Space	e Details \checkmark						q	К
ZFAP_SP_DISPLAY Account Payable for Display General Data Pages (1)) Role Assignment	(0) Transports (0))					
		Remove Pa	ge Set Visible 🗸	↑	S	earch for pages	Q	000
ID	Description	Title	Page Visibility			SAP_BASIS_PG_BPM Business Process Management	Add	>
ZFAP_PG_DISPLA Y	Account Payable for Display	Account Payable Display	Hidden	>		SAP_BASIS_PG_ESS Employee - Self Services	Add	>
						SAP_BASIS_PG_SEC Security	Add	>
						SAP_BASIS_PG_TMC Technical Monitoring	Add	>
						SAP_BASIS_PG_TOOLS	S Add	>
[!] 1							Save	Cancel

Figure 11.30 Maintaining Pages

	Manage Launchpad Pages $ imes $		Q (K)
ZFAP_PG_[Account Payable	DISPLAY for Display		Page Preview
General Data	Page Content Space Assignment (1) Transports (1)		
		Hide Catalogs	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c } \hline Search \mbox{ for tiles} & Q & \end{tabular} \end{tabular} \begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } Add & \lor & \bullet \bullet \bullet \\ \hline \end{array}$
Section Title:	Account Data Display	Delete Section	Derived from Roles Manually Selected
	To start, drag/add content from catalogs here.		No tiles available for this page. Please check if the spaces are assigned to a role.
	+ Add Section		

Figure 11.31 Section Definition

< SAP	Manage Launchpad Pages \sim			(م (ĸ
ZFAP_PG_ Account Payabl	DISPLAY e for Display			Page	Previe	w
General Data	Page Content Space Assignment (1)	Fransports (1)				
		Search for tiles	Q			
Section Title:	Account Data Display	Derived from Roles	Manually	Add		
	<u></u>		No tiles available for thi	s page. Ple	Catal	ogs
	To start, drag/add content from catalogs here		the spaces are as	ssigned to a	Filter	
				[1↓ So	ort	
	+ Add Section					

Figure 11.32 Adding Apps from the Catalog

< SAP Manage Launchpad Pages 🗸			q	. К
ZFAP_PG_DISPLAY Account Payable for Display			Page F	Preview
General Data Page Content Space Assignment (1) Transports (1)				
	Hide Catalogs	Search for tiles Q	Add	~ ***
Section Title: Account Data Display	Delete Section	Derived from Roles Manually S	elected	
To start, drag/add content from catalogs here.		SAP_CA_BC_ACC_CONFIG Accounting - Configuration		
+ Add Section		Manage Substitution/Validation Rules Journal Entries	i	Add 🛛 🗸
		Manage Substitution/Validation Rules Service Documents	i	Add ~
		Set Substitution/Validation	i	Add 🗸 🗸

Figure 11.33Assigning Apps to Sections fromCatalogs

< SAP			(Change Roles					
✓ 6 ① Other	er role 🗉 Inheritance 🚺	More \vee							
Role									
Role: ZFIORI_R	OLE		Obsolete						
Description: Custom Fi	ori Role								
Target System:	Target System: No destination								
Q Description Menu Aut	horizations 🌢 User a 문	Personal	lization						
👎 🗅 🎼 🗸 🔿 🕀 Launchpad Sp	$pace \lor \bigcirc \bigcirc \lor \bigcirc $	→≣	From Me	enus \checkmark Additional Activities					
	Transaction								
Hierarchy	<u>R</u> eport			Node Details					
Role Menu	<u>A</u> uthorization Default								
	BSP Application								
	Web Dynpro Application	on							
	SAP Fiori Launchpad	>	Launchpad Catalog						
	<u>S</u> AP BW	>	Launchpad Group						
	Other	>	Launchpad Space]					

Figure 11.34 Adding Launchpad Space in the Transaction PFCG Role

<	SAP Manag	ge Controls 🗸	,							۹	JP
St	andard -		Editing Status:		Significance:	Control Risk Lev	el:			C	<u>è</u> ~
Sea	rch	Q	All			×	~	Go	Adapt Filt	ters (1	1)
	entrols (26)						Mass Edit	Create	~	61	
	Shirots (20)						Mass Edit	Create	\$	6	<u> </u>
	Name	Significance	Control Risk Level	Latest Effectivenes	Latest Control Perf	Latest Control Asse	Changed On ↓₹	Validity P	eriod		
	Check Assets 8	Key Control	High	○-○-○- ○-○	0-0-0-	0-0-0-	Dec 6, 2023, 5:57:49 PM	Jan 1, 202 9999	1 - Dec 31	1,	>
0	Vendors Without VAT ID 24	Key Control	High	○-○-○- ○-○	0-0-0- 0-0	○-○-○- ○-○	Dec 2, 2023, 3:30:19 AM	Jan 1, 202 9999	1 - Dec 31	1,	>
	Period End Cut-Off	Key Control	High	$\bigcirc -\bigcirc -\bigcirc -$	0-0-0- 0-0	0-0-0-	Dec 1, 2023, 12:00:12 PM	Jan 1, 202 9999	1 - Dec 31	1,	>

Figure 12.1 Option to Create a Control

< Manage Controls >							Q JF
New: Manage Contr	ols						
Header General Information Description	Additional Information	Procedures Related	Objects Attachme	nts and Links	Attachment	s and Links	(Deprecated
Name:* [] ID: 27	Significance:			Control Ri	sk Level:		~
General Information							
Valid From:* <u>MMM d, y</u> Valid To:* <u>MMM d, y</u>	Control Own	ded Monitoring Frequency	ہ م	Control C	Group:		~
Description							
B i U ↔ 至 ✓ Verdana	✓ 12 pt ✓	<u>A</u> ~ ~		0 8	5 2	X	ើ
						Create	Discard Draf

Figure 12.2 New Manage Controls Screen

CRG International Ltd -	Entities		Сору 🗸	Retire	2 LF	×
General Information Hierarchy	Attachments (0)					
General Information					Edit	
Validity Period: Dec 31, 2021 - Dec 31, 9999			Des	scriț		
Hierarchy		Search	Q	Preview	¢ ĝ	
ID	Name	Туре				_
✓ L1	CRG International Ltd - Entitie	s Root				
> L1.1	UKI	Org				
> L1.2	Americas	Org				
L1.3	Japan	Org				Ť
L1.4	Germany	Org				_

Figure 12.3 Organization Hierarchy

	New Org Hierarcl	ıy		S	23 ×	
	General Information					
	ID:*		Description:			
	Name:*					
>	Valid From*	Ф				
	Valid To*					
	Dec 31, 9999	Ë				
C				Crea	te Cance	əl

Figure 12.4 Details to Be Configured while Defining an Organization

r	New Process Catalog			53 S	×
	General Information				
	ID:*		Description:		
	Name:*				
	Valid From*				
	Dec 20, 2023	₿			
	Valid To*				
	Dec 31, 9999	Ē			
				Create	Car

Figure 12.5 Detials to Be Configured while Defining a Process

ernal Control System (ICS)-2211-000000	004	~			
eneral Information Requirements (0) Attachments (0)				
General Information				Save	Cancel
Name: *		Description:			
ABAC Regulation		Description			
Category:					
Internal Control System (ICS)		_			
Valid From: *					
Jan 1, 2021	#				
Valid To:*					
Dec 31, 9999					
Requirements (0)		Search	Q	Create Activa	ite 🔯
D	Name		Status		
	No da	ita available			
tto obmonto (0)					
llachments (0)					

Figure 12.6 Details to Be Configured while Defining a Regulation



Figure 12.7 Sample Dashboard: Distribution of Controls

Sap	Missing Assignment	s in Controls b	y Org	ganizations, Processes,	and Regulations	5	Landing Page	<u>Back</u>	<u>Next</u>
T	his page highlights the missing assignment Click on any control to navigate back to t	ent of organizations, proce he original app to perform	esses, ar needed	nd regulations to existing controls. adjustments of master data.					
/	Assignments of organizations to controls			Assignments of processes to controls			Assignments of regulations to controls		
	Organization unassigned 3 Organization assigned 9			Process unassigned 3	13		Regulation unassigned	11	
-	Control	Organization		Control	Process		Control	Regulation	
F	Review Tax Correctness	Unassigned		Check Product Data	Unassigned		Review Tax Correctness	Unassigned	
	Check Sales Orders	Unassigned		Period End Cut-Off_1	Unassigned		Check Assets	Unassigned	
	Check suppliers for low enforcement of child L	Unassigned		Review Tax Correctness	Unassigned		Check Sales Orders	Unassigned	
_	Vendors Without VAT ID	Global Shared Services		Check Assets	Unassigned		Investigate Changes to Documents	Unassigned	
-	Period End Cut-Off_1	Treasury		Check Sales Orders	Unassigned		Extract Journal Entries Posted for Past Fisca	Unassigned	1
-	Check Assets	UKI		Check General Journal Entries Entered on W	Unassigned		Check Product Data	Financial and Accounti	in
-		Finance (FIN)		Ensure Segregation of Duties	Unassigned		Vendors Without VAT ID	Financial and Accounti	in
	Check Constal, Journal Entries Entered on Ma	Clobal Shared Services		Detect Duplicate Payments	Unassigned		Period End Cut-Off_1	Financial and Accounti	in,
-	Check General Journal Entries Entered on We	ciobal shared Services		Investigate Changes to Documents	Unassigned		Period End Cut-Off	Financial and Accounti	in

Figure 12.8Sample Dashboard: MissingAssignments in Controls

< SAP Mana	age Automated Procedures ∨				Q	JP
	Name:	System Type:	Status:		Adapt Filter	
Search Q	0,	* *		•	Adapt Fitters	•
		Xx				
Procedures (141)				Create	\$\$ 6	~
System Type	Name		Status	Last Cl	nanged On	
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	AP Vendors Without VA	T ID v2	Active	Nov 15, 2023,	3:18:30 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	AP Vendors Without VA	TID	Active	Jul 10, 2023, 4	4:07:46 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Extract Journal Entries	Posted for Past Fiscal Period HM	Active	Jun 15, 2023, 1	2:59:46 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Contract Accounting Tax	x Determination Code	Error	May 3, 2023, 1	2:28:15 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Operational Journal En	try	Active	May 3, 2023, 1	2:14:40 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Operational Journal En	try Item	Active	May 2, 2023,	4:55:40 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Track contract account		Error	May 3, 2023, 1	0:15:08 AM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Test für EOT		Draft	Mar 20, 2023, 10	0:17:11 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA On-Premis	ise Manual Postings Create	ed By Dialog Users_1	Draft	Jan 30, 2023,	5:47:15 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA On-Premi	ise Manual Postings Create	ed By Dialog Users_OP	Active	Feb 16, 2023, 1	2:48:28 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA On-Premi	ise Extract Journal Entries	Posted for Past Fiscal Period_OP	Draft	Jan 30, 2023,	5:49:44 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Extract Journal Entries	Posted for Past Fiscal Period	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:48:20 AM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Manual Postings Create	ed By Dialog User Accounts	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:48:06 AM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Customers with No Pay	ment Terms Defined	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:47:52 AM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Extract Blocked Sales D	ocuments Released Manually	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:47:39 AM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Extract Journal Entries	Posted for Past Fiscal Period_FP	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:47:25 AM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Manual Postings Create	ed By Dialog User Accounts_FP	Active	Nov 4, 2022, 1	1:47:11 AM	>
SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Suspended Performance	e Obligations	Draft	Oct 26, 2022,	1:26:37 PM	>
SAP S/4HANA On-Premi	ise Suspended Performance	e Obligations	Draft	Oct 26, 2022	1-26-37 PM	>

Figure 12.9 Procedure

Option to Create an Automated

Extract Journal Entries Posted for Past Fiscal Period_FP							
System Type: SAP S/4HANA Cloud	Created On: Nov 4, 2022, 11:47:03 AM	Uses Personal Information	Status Active				
Source Type: OData Service OData Service Name: /sap/opu/odata/sap/c_jrnlentritmpriorfscl OData Entity Set Name: C_JrnlEntritmPriorFsclPerd	Created By: perd_cds Last Changed On: Nov 4, 2022, 11:47:25 AM Last Changed By: C5251505	No					
	 ∧ \$\$ 						
Description Run Settings ~							
This automated procedure finds all journal entries that were posted for a fiscal period that took place before the fiscal period in which the entries were created. The automated procedure compares the Creation Date with fiscal period information. Journal entries that have a Creation Date that is after the fiscal period end date but posting data pertains to before the fiscal period end date are classified as postings for past fiscal periods. These journal entries appear in the results. The automated procedure only finds journal entries where the Source Ledger and Ledger are the same. Reversals are excluded from the results.							
Run Settings ^{Systems}							
Destinations (1)							
Name		Туре					
FCMS4HC		Primary					
Time-Related Settings							
Reference Period: Fiscal Period	Field for Time Selection: Fiscal Year Period						
Parameters							
Fields (7)							
Name		Mandatory					

Figure 12.10Configuration of AutomatedProcedure

М	Manual Procedures (6)			Export Copy Create Delete 🗐 🗐 🚱 🛅 🗸 🗸		
Ľ	ID	Name	Status	Assurance Activity	Manual Procedure Type	
\bigcirc	9	MP Party does not violate child labour policy	Active	Control Performance	Steps	>
	Changed By:					
	Changed On:	Sep 27, 2023, 1:14:38 PM				
0	8	My MP	Draft	Control Effectiveness Test	Steps	>
	Changed By:					
	Changed On:	Jul 18, 2023, 7:32:41 PM				
	1	Cut-Off Testing	Active	Control Performance	Steps	>
	Changed By:					
	Changed On:	Jul 18, 2023, 6:41:33 PM				

Figure 12.11Option to Create a New/ReviewManual Procedure

Cut-Off Testing		Edit	Delete	Сору	Display Instances	· 신	
1 Created On: Oct 26, 2022, 1:36:45 PM Created By: system	Assurance Activity Control Performance	Manual Procedure Type Steps	Status Active	e			
Changed By:	Control Parling	×					
This manual procedure involves testing the unmatched reports, and reviewing any fluc	e adequacy of period end cut-off procedu tuations in purchases near the period en	ures, inquiring about any unrecord d.	ed liabilities,	, examinir	ng disbursement reco	ords and	
Steps							
Steps (5) Standard 🗸				Search	Q	\$	
Step †≞ Name							
I Identify and test cut-off Description: Identify and test the adequ	procedures	accounts payable.				>	
2 Inquire about unrecorde	d liabilities					>	
Description: Inquire about potential sou	rces of unrecorded liabilities, for exampl	le, inventory that has been rece	More				
3 Examine disbursement r	ecords after the balance sheet date					>	
Description: Examine disbursements re-	cords for the period after the balance sh	eet date. Determine if selected inv	More				
4 Examine files of unmatched receiving reports or invoices							
Description: Examine files of unmatche	Description: Examine files of unmatched receiving reports or unmatched or unpaid vendor invoices, files of pendin More						
5 Review fluctuations in purchases or returns near period end >						>	
Description: Consider key performance	indicators and management information	that would indicate unusual fluct	uati More				

Figure 12.12 Configuration of a Manual Procedure

Standard [*] ~	Status:	Run Frequ	ency: Recurrenc	ce Range:	<u>ଜ</u> ~		
Search Q All	-	~	✓ MMM d,	, y - MMM d, y 🛗 😡 🖌	Adapt Filters (1)		
Open (2) In Process (5) Completed (13) Error (7)							
Work Packages Terminate Create V Terminate Create V Terminate Create V							
🗌 Name	Status	Assurance Activity	Recurrence Range	Run Freque	nance		
WP Period End Cut-Off 2023	In Process	Control Performance	Jan 31, 2023 - End of Current Fiscal Year	Every Fiscal	ment		
WP Customer payments testing manual effectiveness test 26	In Process	Control Effectiveness Test	Jan 1, 2023 - Dec 31, 2023	3 Run Once on Activation	>		

Figure 12.13 Manage Work Packages App
New: Work Pa	ckages					Preview Next Run
Assurance Activity	Reference Period	Status				
Control Performance	Calendar Date	Draft				
General Information Descript	ion Runs Controls and F	Procedures		хх,		
Basic Information		Schedule Details			Procedure	
Name: *	Reference Period:* Calendar Date	Start Date:* MMM d, y End Date:* No End Date	-D-	Run Frequency:* Run Once on Activation Daily Weekly Monthly	Due Date Offset:	Checking Period: * ெ
Description B i ⊻ ⊕ ≡ ∽	Verdana 🗸 12 pt 🗸	_ ∆ ~ □ ~ i≣ ⊧	: ত	Quarterly Yearly Run Once on Activation		

Figure 12.14Work Package Configuration Screen

WP Period End Cut-Off	2023				Copy Termin	iate 🜈 🗸
21						
General Information Description	on Runs Controls a	nd Procedures				
Runs						
						鐐
Scheduled Run Time ↓₹	Actual Run Time	Recurrence Range	Status	Checking Period	Progress	
Dec 1, 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	Dec 1, 2023, 12:00:04 PM Asia/Calcutta	Dec 1, 2023 - Dec 31, 2023	In Process	011.2023 - 011.2023	100%	
Nov 1, 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	Nov 1, 2023, 12:00:27 PM Asia/Calcutta	Nov 1, 2023 - Nov 30, 2023	In Process	010.2023 - 010.2023	100%	•
Oct 1, 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	Oct 10, 2023, 3:55:01 PM Asia/Calcutta	Oct 1, 2023 - Oct 31, 2023	In Process	009.2023 - 009.2023	100%	>

Figure 12.15 Work Package Run Details

		Сору Те	rmi
		×	
neral Information Run	s (7) Controls a	and Procedures	
May 1, 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	In Process	004.2023 - 004.2023 Jul 19, 2023, 9:23:02 PM Asia/Calcutta	>
Apr 1, 2023, 12:00:00 PM Asia/Calcutta	I In Process	003.2023 - 003.2023 Jul 19, 2023, 9:23:02 PM Asia/Calcutta	>
		More	
		[5/7]	
ontrols and Proced In the column Enablec parameter values. The Name	UPES Destinations, you ca se changes will com	an define which destinations are enabled for an automated procedure. You can also edit the le into effect for future work package runs. Enabled Destinations Assignees Item Type	
ontrols and Proced In the column Enabled parameter values. The Name Period End Cut-Off Extract Journal	Destinations, you ca se changes will com ID 5	Enabled Destinations Assignees Item Type Control	
In the column Enabled parameter values. The Name Period End Cut-Off Extract Journal Entries Posted for Past Fiscal Period_FP	Destinations, you ca se changes will com ID 5 2	Enabled Destinations Assignees Item Type 	

Figure 12.16Details of Controls and Procedures ina Work Package

Cut-Off Testing	:					Edit 🔀 🗸
General Information	Description :	Steps Overall Results At	tachments Document	s Comments Activity History		
Controli	Assign Steps in	a Queue				
Period End Cut-Off	Step Assignm	nent		Add	Remove	
Description	Oueue	Assignee		Steps		
Constant State State State	1	TBROWNE	റ	3 Items	~	
This manual procedure near the period end.	2	MWONG	റ	(Examine files of unmatched receiving reports or invoices (4) \times	v	lations in purchases
Steps	3	JPEARSON	ð	Review fluctuations in purchases or returns near period en >	•	
Steps (5)	Leave a Note					ign ∽ i Ge i ∽
Step 1%						On
1						>
				Save and Start) Sa	ve Cancel	1

Figure 12.17 Assign Steps in a Queue Screen

it-Off T	esting	Draft 🗸	Results Attachments Documents	Comments Activity History		<u>ଜ</u> ~
teps (5)				Search	Q Check Progress	<u>6</u> 1 ~
tep	ţ4.	Name	Results	Last Changed By	Last Changed On	
		Inquire about unrecorded liabilities Inquire about potential sources of unrecorded liabilities, for example, inventory that has been rece More	Compared without Pound trems		,	
		Examine disbursement records after the balance sheet date Examine disbursements records for the period after the balance sheet date. Determine if selected inv More	Completed Without Found Items ~		,	
		Examine files of unmatched receiving reports or invoices Examine files of unmatched receiving reports or unmatched or unpaid vendor invoices, files of pendin More			>	
		Review fluctuations in purchases or returns near period end Consider key performance indicators and management information that would indicate unusual fluctuati More			>	

Figure 12.18 Responses to the Manual Procedure

10052 Draft ~	, Financial Reporting				~
Comments Inter	nal Controls over Financi	al Reporting Deta	ils Investigation and R	emediation Conclusi	on Y
Investigation a	nd Remediation				
Task Lists (2)			Search	Q Send Create	Delete
Sent	Task List Type	Origin Issue ID	Task List Template	Task List Owner	
Yes	Investigation	10052	General Finance Investigation		>
Yes	Remediation	10052	General Finance Remediation		>
Conclusion Conclusion			Conclusion Detail	:	
Confirmed			✓ High likelihood t	his will result in financial ex	posure in the short te \checkmark
Confirmed Su False Positive			_		
Omitted					
Withdrawn			U		
					Save Discard Draft

Figure 12.19 Conclusion on the Reported Issues

0052						Edit)
ernal Controls	over Financial Reporting		v			Ctrl+E
mment Ir	nternal Controls over Finar	ncial Reporting Details	Investigation and F	Remediation	Conclusion	
vestigatio	on and Remediatio	n				
Task Lists	: (2)		Search		Q Send	T - &
Sent	Task List Type	Task List Template	Task List Owner			
Yes	Investigation	General Finance Investigation	Jessica Pearson	>		
No No	Remediation	General Finance Remediation	Jessica Pearson	>		
⊳ nclusion				in.		
Shetasion	•-					
Conclusion: Confirmed			Conclusion Detail: High likelihood this v	vill result in fina	incial exposure in	n the short term

Figure 12.20 Options to Create Investigation and Remediation Tasks for the Issues

10052 Draft ~					6 ~
internal Controls over Financial Reporting					
Conclusion: Confirmed Created By: system Created On: Jul 18, 2023, 5:49:20 PM Changed By: Changed On: Dec 20, 2023, 12:48:47 PM	Medium	Complet	ed		
Transfer Status: Not Transferred					
ssue Creation: Standard					
		^	x.		
Comments Internal Controls over Fin	ancial Penorting	Details I	nvestigation and Pemediation	Conclusion Y	
				255 ci	naracters remaining
		(No Co	nments)		
Internal Controls over Financ	ial Reporting	{			
ICFR Severity:*			Issue Association:		
Material Weakness		~	Control		~
Relevant For:*					
Line of Business		~			

Figure 12.21 Responses to the Investigation or Remediation Task List

SAP Compliance	Analysis By Organ	nization		Landing Page	Back Organization Details
Derived Checking Peri NIA Select Measure: (1) Count of Failed Controls	This page shows the breakdo By default the checking period i	wn of control s the current n	s that failed for an organiz nonth. You can adjust the ch	ation. The number of found items per control and by risk level and ecking period as required.	significance can also be seen.
Number of failed controls per or Unassigned Treas 2	rganization ury USA 2		Global Shared Services Count of Failed 2 1	Top failed controls: number of found items per control Top 5 - Att Dimensions Vendors Without VAT ID Period End Cut-Off_1 Review Tax Correctness Period End Cut-Off Check suppliers for low enforcement of child labour protection 1	23 9 9
Number of found items per cont	rol by risk level			Number of found items per control by significance	
	Account Control Risk Level	Found Items High		Account Control Significance	Found Items Key Control
Control				Control	
Vendors Without VAT ID		23.00		Vendors Without VAT ID	23.00
Period End Cut-Off_1		9.00		Period End Cut-Off_1	9.00
Review Tax Correctness		9.00		Review Tax Correctness	9.00
Period End Cut-Off		2.00		Period End Cut-Off	2.00

Figure 12.22 Compliance Analysis Dashboard



Figure 12.23 Control Runs - Overview Dashboard

ue Galegory.	rssue owner.	ت بر (م) بر	Go Adapt Filters
Issues Created with Fallback Logic Number of issues Sumber of issues Issues by Creation Period	Issues by Conclusion Not Selected 9,834 Withdrawn Confirmed False Positive Confirmed Conitted Conitted Conitted	Open Issues Number of open issues 10 k All Open Issues by Status 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Quick Links ✓ Process Issues ✓ Organize Tasks ✓ My Inbox ↔ Display Automated Procedu ① Perform Manual Procedures
Tasks by Due Date and Priori Number of due tasks 45 Due Tasks by Priority 50	ity Very High High		

Figure 12.24 Issue Overview Dashboard



